
The Village Hall is handicapped accessible. If you have other special needs, please contact the  
Village Clerk’s Office, 9915 – 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, WI (262) 694-1400 

AGENDA 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 – 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 
February 18, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 
1. Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Roll Call

4. Recognition

A. Present Pleasant Prairie Police Department Recognition to Detective Andrea Brey to
commemorate her period of service to the Pleasant Prairie Honor Guard.   

B. Present Resolution #19-03 of Appreciation and Recognition to Walter Graeber for His 
Years of Service to the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  

5. Minutes of Meeting – February 4, 2019

6. Citizen Comments (Please be advised per State Statute Section 19.84(2), information will be received
from the public on items not on the agenda; however, no discussion is allowed and no action will be taken
under citizen comments.)

7. Administrator’s Report

8. New Business

A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance
#19-05 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment to Village of Pleasant Prairie’s Park 
and Open Space Plan 2018– 2023. 

B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 
#19-06 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment to a portion of the Whittier Creek 
Neighborhood Plan located north of 93rd Street and east of Old Green Bay Road. 

C. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of a Conceptual 
Plan for the vacant properties north of Creekside Crossing and adjacent vacant 
properties to the west to be known as The Vista at Creekside. 

D. Consider the Agreement between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and Clark Dietz, Inc., 
for the 47th Avenue Sewer and Water Extension project. 

E. Consider an award of contract for the 2019 Annual Paving Program to Payne & Dolan, 
Inc. 

F. Consider the McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. for the Fire and Rescue Study. 

9. Village Board Comments

10. Adjournment



Resolution No. 19-03 

Resolution of Appreciation and Recognition 
to Walter F. Graeber 

for His Years of Service to the Village of Pleasant Prairie

WHEREAS, Walter F. Graeber will retire on February 27, 2019, after twenty-three years of outstanding 
service and commitment to the Village of Pleasant Prairie; and 

WHEREAS, Walter began his career with the Village of Pleasant Prairie on December 4, 1995 in the Office 
of Assessment Administration; and  

WHEREAS, throughout his 23 years of service, Walter has served the Village with the highest degree of 
integrity in his role as Senior Appraiser within the Office of Assessment Administration; and 

WHEREAS, Walter has demonstrated great devotion to his work by mastering the methods of property 
appraisal and resolving complex valuation issues for all property types; and

WHEREAS, Walter has applied his knowledge and expertise of real estate analysis and valuation to the 
benefit of all property owners; and

WHEREAS, Walter worked tirelessly for the Village and all residents of our Assessment Consortium, 
providing the highest level of professional service; and

WHEREAS, Walter has honorably served all communities of our Assessment Consortium as an 
objective, unbiased, and credible resource of real estate information for residents and local officials of each of the 
municipalities within his sphere of responsibility; and 

WHEREAS, Walter’s unfailing integrity and credibility earned him tremendous respect with residents and 
municipal officials of our Assessment Consortium and officials of the Wisconsin Department of Revenue; and 

WHEREAS, the Village would like to acknowledge and sincerely thank Walter for his tireless dedication 
and commend him for the tremendous amount of knowledge and expertise he bestowed upon the community; and  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Village of Pleasant Prairie hereby extends to Walter F. 
Graeber our sincere respect and appreciation for his service to the Village, our congratulations on him well-earned 
retirement, and best wishes to his for continued success, happiness, and good health in the years to come.

Considered and adopted this 18th day of February, 2019

____________________________
John P. Steinbrink, President

Attest:

____________________________ 
Jane Snell, Village Clerk



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
 LEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 - 39th Avenue 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 
February 4, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 
 
 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on February 4, 2019.  Meeting 
called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris Keckler, Mike 
Pollocoff, Dave Klimisch and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator, Tom 
Shircel, Assistant Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director; Kathy 
Goessl, Finance Director; Craig Roepke, Chief of Fire & Rescue; Matt Fineour, Village Engineer; John 
Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Carol Willke, Human Resources Director; Dan Honore', IT 
Director; Sandro Perez, Inspection Superintendent; Craig Anderson, Recreation Director and Jane C. 
Snell, Village Clerk.  One citizens attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. RECOGNITION - CITIZEN RECOGNITION TO CORY BAKER AND GWEN 

GERNENZ  
 
Chief Roepke: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board good evening.  Tonight we have a great story to share 
with you on an event that we’d like to do more of these as they come up.  We had an incident on 
January 16th at Costco where we had a woman collapse.  And I’ll just share with you the events.  
January 16th, like I mentioned, at 1327, that’s 1:30 for normal people, in the afternoon received a 
call for a person who was pulseless and not breathing at the Costco parking lot. 

 
Pleasant Prairie Police and fire units responded as typical for this incident type.  Once on scene 
we kind of learned the following events.  As I mentioned a 60 year old person had fallen in the 
parking lot.  It was determined by a bystander who we’ll introduce shortly, Gwen, who found that 
this person was not breathing to which she immediately started CPR chest compressions.  A 
Costco employee, Cory Baker also arrived, and shortly thereafter an AED that Costco keeps 
onsite arrived.  Cory applied the AED, allowed it to perform its analysis, and the unit advised a 
shock was advised.  Cory immediately delivered the electric shock.  And to which both caregivers 
then determined that there was now a pulse and the person was breathing. 

 
When our ambulance arrive from Station 2 which as you know is a fairly short distance from 
Station 2 to Costco, the person was conscious and speaking with both individuals.  And the 
person was transported to a local hospital to receive further care.  So the interventions today, for 
them to become involved is fairly significant in today’s society as far as community involvement.  



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
2 

And undoubtedly this is the main reason why this person has survived today.  And it’s the reason 
why we train and we equip and this is what we strive for.  I’d like to also introduce Dave Piccolo 
and Terri Harold from Froedtert South who also would like to speak a little bit, and then we’ll 
make some presentations. 

 
Terri Harold: 
 

Good evening.  Nationwide there are over 350,000 sudden cardiac deaths which occur every year.  
Many of these victims are healthy with no known heart disease or other risk factors.  Sudden 
cardiac death is not a heart attack.  It occurs when the electrical impulses to the heart become 
very erratic or very rapid causing the heart to suddenly stop beating.  Effective bystander CPR 
provided immediately after a sudden cardiac arrest can double or triple a victim’s chance of 
survival.  But only 32 percent of cardiac arrest victims receive CPR from a bystander.  And 
although the number is growing, still only ten percent of the people who suffer a sudden cardiac 
arrest outside of a hospital actually survives. 

 
So we’re happy to commend the rescuers for staying level headed and providing the immediate 
care this patient needed.  It is Froedtert South’s pleasure to recognize everyone involved that 
afternoon, but especially Gwen and Cory by presenting some commendations to them.  So if we 
could have Gwen and Cory come up please. 

 
Chief Roepke: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, it should also be noted that Cory Baker who is a Costco 
employee is also a firefighter/EMT on Twin Lakes and Lake Geneva.  And Gwen is a nursing 
student at Herzing.  So, again, a fortunate situation to have two individuals that had education and 
background in life saving.  So with that we’re here to recognize both Gwen and Cory, and I’ll just 
read the plaque.  In recognition of your selfless act in an effort to save a life and render aid in 
time of need, the Village of Pleasant Prairie Police and Fire Departments offer our sincerest 
thanks and gratitude this day February 4, 2019. 

 
Dave Piccolo: 
 

Thank you, Dave Piccolo from Froedtert South as well.  And our commendation reads: Whereas 
Gwen and Cory trained in CPR AED responded with other rescuers to a report of a cardiac arrest; 
whereas on arrival the rescuers utilized the utmost in skill and judgment in a timely and decisive 
manner to intervene on behalf of the patient; and whereas the result of the rescuer effort was a 
successful resuscitation, Froedtert South hereby commends Gwen and Cory for their excellence 
in the performance of their skills. 

 
And if I just may add looking at the heart rhythm that the patient sustained, it’s a very uncommon 
rhythm, and it is very difficult to treat.  So I’m positive without the early intervention of the CPR 
and the early defibrillation that we would not have had the positive outcome that we had in this 
particular case.  So for somebody to take the initiative to step in early and to do that I think it 
shows great fortitude.  So, again, a great round of applause for them.  Gwen, Cory, any 
comments?  Any thoughts, comments? 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
3 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I think it just goes to prove a couple things.  One is the money that we spend on having the fire 
department provide CPR training you know when those classes are available, we’ve always 
known it’s money well spent, and we’ve got a great group of people to do it.  And, secondly, to 
Costco.  Sometimes when the Village tries to get people to put in the defibrillator equipment 
there’s some push back.  And Costco has always been a good corporate citizen, and they had the 
equipment available and they actually had somebody that was ready to use it, and you can’t ask 
for a better situation.  So this is a service and a capability that I just hope continues to keep 
growing and growing in our community.  Chief, thank you and your team for good work. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Chief, we should get a picture with all the firefighters and Gwen and Cory as well.  I think that 
will be nice.  Good, good. 

 
5. MINUTES OF MEETING - JANUARY 21, 2019 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Move approval of the minutes. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Any discussion or additions?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

KLIMISCH MOVED TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE VILLAGE BOARD 
REGULAR MEETING OF JANUARY 21, 2019, AS PRESENTED IN THEIR WRITTEN FORM; 
SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
4 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Please be advised per State Statute Section 19.84(2), information will be received from the public 
on items not on the agenda; however, no discussion is allowed and no action will be taken under 
citizen comments.  Do we have a signup sheet? 

 
Jane Snell: 
 

Mr. President, we have one signup this evening, it’s Stephanie Judge. 
 
Stephanie Judge: 
 

Hi all.  My name is Stephanie Judge.  I’m a representative of The Nature Conservancy.  And you 
would like my address, it’s 633 West Main Street in Madison, Wisconsin, 53703.  I’m leading the 
restoration project related to Items under number 8.  I just wanted to let you know I’m here for 
questions if you have any.  Thanks. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Anyone else wishing to speak under citizens’ comments?  Hearing none, I’ll close citizens’ 
comments. 

 
7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT  
 
Nathan Thiel:  Nothing to report 
 
8. TABLED BUSINESS 
 
 A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Resolution 

#19-01 to vacate a portion of the Schmidt's First Addition to Pleasant Prairie 
Subdivision rights-of-way. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Right away do we have a motion to remove from the table? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

So moved. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Second. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
5 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second to remove from the table.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

President Steinbrink, I would request that Items A, B and C all be removed from the table and 
action and discussion take place at the same time for all three items. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion to include A, B and C then. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

So moved. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

All right, we’re going to add it to it. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO REQUEST THAT TABLED ITEMS A, B AND C BE REMOVED 
FROM THE TABLED BUISINESS AND THAT ALL THREE ITEMS BE TAKEN AT THE SAME TIME; 
SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 

#19-02 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment to amend Village 2035 Land Use Plan 
Map 9.9 as it relates to property located between 116th and 128th Street east of 
Sheridan Road. 

 
 C. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 

#19-03 Zoning Map Amendment as it relates to property located between 116th and 
128th Street east of Sheridan Road. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Members of the Board, the three items before you, A, B and C were tabled at the last Village 
Board meeting.  I’d like to just briefly go over the project one more time and then provide some 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
6 

additional information that the staff has gathered since that time.  The Nature Conservancy 
known as TNC has purchased 150 acres of land generally located between 116th and 128th 
Streets, east of Sheridan Road for a wetland restoration project to be known as Chiwaukee West 
Restoration Plan.  The land area is west of the Chiwaukee Prairie State Natural Area which is 
west of the railroad tracks. 

 
This area over time has been ditched, drained and is a degraded agricultural land that the TNC 
intends to restore to its natural hydrology and vegetation to host a mix of dry prairie, wetland 
swales and oak savannas. The TNC plans to work with the Village in the future to plan for public 
access opportunities for this site, including walking trails.  The site will feature a mix of grassy 
habitats intermixed with shallow wetlands, providing additional habitat for shorebirds and other 
types of animals or mammals such as Blanding’s turtles that have already been documented as 
nesting in the site’s sandy agricultural fields.  But restoration will also enhance opportunities and 
enhance viability of the entire area. 

 
The site currently hosts about 67 acres of undesirable woody brush and trees interspersed with 
oak and hickory trees.  There’s almost 75 acres of agricultural fields and about 5.8 acres of low 
prairie and a few remnant native vegetation areas along the railroad tracks on the east side of the 
site.  These areas are more particularly described as part of their restoration plan.  Phase 1 is 
ongoing planning, permitting and neighbor notifications.  Phase 2 site preparation between now 
and 2019 including removal of some undesirable woody trees and shrubs and vines.  Phase 3 
covers the restoration of the site’s hydrology and replanting of native vegetation.  And Phase 4 
covers the intensive monitoring and followup for at least three years for the site. 

 
This is an area primarily with their recent acquisition, areas at the very south end of their site was 
identified at one time as the Schmidt’s First Addition of Pleasant Prairie Subdivision.  This was 
platted about 80 years ago.  This subdivision never developed along with a lot of areas along 
south Sheridan Road.  And, in fact, this property along with some of the other properties went 
back to Kenosha County through back taxes and has now been recently sold and purchase by The 
Nature Conservancy.  As part of their progress is towards the restoration.  They also intend to 
vacate or request to vacate any of the platted roads within the Schmidt’s First Addition 
Subdivision. 

 
Comprehensive Land Use Amendment Map 9.9 currently shows, and again this is based on the 
2010 Comprehensive Plan, that a Low Medium Density Residential Commercial and Mixed Land 
Use with and Urban Reserve Area could have developed on the site.  Isolated natural areas have 
also been designated, and field verified wetlands on the site have been identified as well.  Their 
intent is to modify the Comprehensive Plan so that no urban development occurs in this area. 

 
They also are requesting a Zoning Map Amendment to mirror the Land Use Plan Map.  And the 
petitioner specifically is requesting to rezone the properties from the Agricultural District, A-2, as 
well as the C-2, Upland Resource Conservancy District.  And then the areas would be placed into 
the C-3, Natural and Scientific Area Resource Conservancy District similar to Chiwaukee Prairie.  
And those areas that are specifically lowland or wetland they would remain unchanged.  And all 
of those that are classified as wetland would be placed into the C-1, Lowland Resource 
Conservancy District. 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
7 

 
So TNC continues to acquire land as identified in the Chiwaukee Prairie Carol Beach Land Use 
Management Plan for preservation based on a willing seller.  So this is land area that is east of the 
tracks.  As of 2015 when TNC transferred their property to the DNR, there were about 56 lots that 
still needed to be acquired.  Since that time Chiwaukee Prairie Preservation Fund has acquired 14 
additional lots within the area and three more lots further north.  So a number of groups come 
together in order for land to be continued to be acquired as part of the Chiwaukee Prairie 
Preservation.  Again, this area that’s identified in green is an extension of the Chiwaukee Prairie 
area also known as the Chiwaukee Prairie West Area. 

 
With that I would like to have one of our other planners, Aaron Kramer, go through some of the 
additional questions and concerns that were raised at the last Board meeting with respect to 
opportunities that would be lost because urban development would not take place on the east side 
of Sheridan Road south of 116th Street, and to address some of the other questions and concerns 
that were raised. 

 
Aaron Kramer: 
 

So the first thing to know about the area proposed for this area is that all sanitary and water 
assessments have been paid for the infrastructure that has gone in both in the 1990s the sanitary 
sewer and in the early 2000s the water.  There are several challenges with this site.  One being the 
wetlands which have forced the proposed subdivision to the south not to be built out.  As well as 
the topography actually dictates that any area further than roughly 300 feet from Sheridan Road 
to the east would require a sanitary lift station to support any development beyond that point.  
That combined with the placement of the wetlands as indicated by the Kenosha County Area GIS 
map have presented several challenges for this site. 

 
What this ultimately means is that we’re kind of left with in terms of an opportunity cost the 21 
acres immediately surrounding Sheridan Road to the east that would be from where that 
manufacturing residential area is to the north past the solitary residential site and to the south.  
This area is roughly broken into two segments.  The one on the north of that residence is zoned 
conservancy.  The one to the south is agricultural.  What this means is that the buildability of this 
area is roughly half of that 21 acres that immediately abut Sheridan Road. 

 
When calculating out what the Village actually spent to oversize both the water and the sanitary 
main what we’re looking at is for its total intended service area was a cost of over $200,000.  So 
the intended service area is to the west of Sheridan Road as well, and that’s actually where the 
lion’s share, the net land, that was intended to be serviced by these two utility mains is currently 
located.  So the area in blue is the area that would have to have a sanitary lift station in order to 
service it.  That area shaded in red is the area that is immediately assessable or buildable or 
readily buildable based on the infrastructure that is currently in place. 

 
So if we look at that cost of oversizing the sanitary sewer and water mains, that $200,000 is 
spread across that entire area that is surrounded by the dotted line.  So if we take away the area 
that would need a sanitary lift station to actually support that development as well as the wetland, 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
8 

what we’re looking at, that area shaded in red is roughly four percent of the remaining land that is 
able to be serviced by the sanitary main as well as the water main. 

 
So when we’re looking at the opportunity cost for the investment that the Village put in to 
oversize both the water and utility main, what we’re looking at is when we take out -- when we 
hold everything constant for the area as a whole and really break it down, we’re looking at 
roughly 21 acres of readily developable land.  From that 21 acres if we’re looking at the area that 
is currently zoned agricultural, if we wanted to say, hey, based on the current zoning at the time 
of installation what could the Village get instead of putting this area into conservancy, and that 
would be roughly around 12 homes could be built to the R-3 zoning standard if connected directly 
to Sheridan Road.  These 12 homes would provide in utility fees on average around $11,000 
annually, and these would all need DOT approval, but that’s not withstanding the point.  If the 
entire area shaded in red were to be developed which would require that northern part to be taken 
out of the conservancy zoning which it is currently and was in, then that number could double to 
roughly $22,000 or 24 homes. 

 
So at this time I think what we’re looking at is really the Village has had all of its assessments 
paid on this land.  The Village in order for the readily developable land in this area, that area 
shaded in red, which could be developed we could see based on the current zoning out there 
roughly 12 homes.  And from those 12 homes based on the utilities that were put in the 
opportunity cost if you were would be roughly $11,000.  At this time are there any questions on 
the numbers that we’re looking at in terms of the opportunity cost for the oversizing of the water 
utility mains for the area proposed for the Chiwaukee Prairie West area? 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Mike? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Just a couple questions.  So the annual opportunity cost is $11,000 if I understand you right, it’s 
an annual fee? 

 
Aaron Kramer: 
 

Roughly, yes, for that readily available land. 
 

Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Okay.  When you looked at the special assessments for the parcel were connection fees included 
in those assessments? 

 
Aaron Kramer: 
 

All outstanding fees that were levied have been paid.  So if the connection fees were listed against 
these tax parcels then they have been paid.  If they were not then they were not included. 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
9 

 
Matt Fineour: 
 

I don’t believe connection fees were included in the assessment [inaudible] frontage. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Did the assessment schedule show if there was laterals installed? 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 

That I can’t remember.  There probably was laterals per lot.  I don’t know if those several like 
large vacant lots how many laterals were placed in there.  I’d have to go back and check.  I’m 
thinking for the large vacant ones they usually don’t install the laterals on that one especially 
since this sanitary is off the road so they couldn’t connect it without going into the road. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Right.  Well, I’m glad -- I mean to most people $11,000 a year is a lot of money, but I’m glad it’s 
not larger than that.  And my only other question, and I didn’t ask you this at the time, but 
[inaudible] to check is if there was any stubs for the manholes out into the area that now is going 
to be conservancy, or if we have any laterals they’re going to be sitting there.  Its hydric soils so 
they’re going to be wet.  And I just as soon not see that opportunity for infiltration into the 
sanitary sewer main because that’s our opportunity to pay more for the treatment that we’re going 
to be paying to the City of Kenosha. 

 
I appreciate the analysis, good work.  And I do request, though, that going forward I think this is 
my second or third go around with The Conservancy purchasing land where there’s utility 
improvements.  And before they buy any more I’d really like to direct staff that an analysis be 
done on public improvements because I’m assuming The Conservancy doesn’t want to pay for it.  
So what is the level of improvements that the rate payers are going to be paying for so they can 
have land in conservancy?  We haven’t looked at that before, we’ve just dealt with it as a loss.  
But I appreciate on this one here that you got that number for us.  Going forward I think that’s an 
important part of the analysis that should take place. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

I think as we discussed last time there was an agreement way back that was the most contentious 
agreement we probably entered into was which lands would be developable, which lands would 
not be developable, which lands would be purchased willing buyer/willing seller, and that 
includes anything with willing buyer/willing seller.  But the Village when we do this we have to 
address the issue of failing systems in an area, and Sheridan Road has quite a few failing systems 
in the area or did at that time.  And that was the oversizing which would be negligent on our part 
not to design a sewer to meet the future needs of an area and we did that.  As Mike said we would 
like to always be notified if we could ahead of time.  And this was an area designed for 
development.  And fortunately or unfortunately it was purchased for conservative reasons.  And 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
10 

that’s probably not a bad thing, it’s a good thing.  But it puts the Village in somewhat of a bind 
when this happens.  So as one of the parties that has always abided by the agreement this is the 
position the Village gets put in by abiding by the agreement.  Further comment? 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

The only comment is, Mike, I think that’s a fair request for us moving forward to look at the 
investments that we have put into utilities and just making sure from our standpoint if there are 
any opportunity costs or a loss there.  One thing I would say just about the $11,000 I mean, yeah, 
that’s an opportunity cost, but when that $11,000 would actually come into play we haven’t seen 
a development on Sheridan Road for quite a while.  I think that these improvements have 
happened now for a good 20, 30 years or going on 30 years, and so I think that there are other 
areas within the Village that we’ll most likely see development and investment sooner.  Yeah, it’s 
sad to see any infrastructure go into play and not be utilized to its full potential.  But moving 
forward staff will make sure that we evaluate infrastructure that’s in play. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Because I think it’s apparent that it’s not going to be a concern of The Conservancy if we have 
improvements there or not.  So we’re the only ones that are going to check for it.  I think if 
they’re going to acquire lands that abut utility improvements we should know what it is and know 
what our loss is.  And I think that we need to evaluate the cost of buttoning that utility up so this 
is not going to be used or not going to be televised [inaudible] identify what that cost is for 
modifying that improvement so it’s tight once they start using it for their purpose.  But, again, 
that will be an ongoing cost that the utility has. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Right, making sure that we don’t have any other infiltration increasing our operating costs. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Right.  With that I would move -- are we ready for a motion? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Sure.  Jean, were you complete on your presentation?  Yes, we are. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Resolution 19-01, I move Resolution 19-01 supporting the vacation of the right of ways within 
Schmidt’s First Addition. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
11 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move approval of Ordinance 19-02. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Hearing none, a roll call vote has been 
requested. 

 
Jane Snell: 
 

Mike Pollocoff? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Aye. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Aye. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Aye. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
12 

Kris Keckler: 
 

Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Move approval of Ordinance 19-03. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries.  Thank you for coming down.  We know you made that long trip from 
Madison again, but the weather cooperated with you somewhat.  Thank you. 

 
POLLOCOFF MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #19-01 TO VACATE A PORTION 

OF THE SCHMIDT'S FIRST ADDITION TO PLEASANT PRAIRIE SUBDIVISION RIGHTS-
OF-WAY; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE ORDINANCE #19-02 FOR A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
AMENDMENT TO AMEND VILLAGE 2035 LAND USE PLAN MAP 9.9 AS IT RELATES TO 
PROPERTY LOCATED BETWEEN 116TH AND 128TH STREET EAST OF SHERIDAN 
ROAD; SECONDED BY  KECKLER; ROLL CALL VOTE – POLLOCOFF – YES; KLIMISCH – 
YES; SERPE – YES; STEINBRINK – YES; KECKLER – YES; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 

KECKLER MOVED TO APPROVE ORDINANCE #19-03 ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 
AS IT RELATES TO PROPERTY LOCATED BETWEEN 116TH AND 128TH STREET EAST 
OF SHERIDAN ROAD; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
13 

9. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of a Master 

Conceptual Plan request for vacant property located at 7821 120th Avenue for the 
development of a Hyatt Place Hotel and Kings and Convicts brewery. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

President Steinbrink and members of the Board, this is a request for a Master Conceptual at the 
request of Mark D. Eberle on behalf of Branko Tupanjac, and this is for that vacant property 
located at 7821 120th Avenue.  The project is proposing a hotel and a Kings and Convicts 
brewery.  The development of this site is about 7.4 acres.  This is just south of Highway 50 on the 
east side of 120th Avenue or the East Frontage Road in the Village.  And this would be for 
commercial and manufacturing development, again, for a hotel and the brewery.  As you can see 
on the slide it’s intended that there will be some land that’s acquired from the DOT on the north 
end for some additional parking.  There will be a proposed hotel, and then the brewery will be on 
the south end of their development. 

 
Specifically there will be two access points that are being requested from the Wisconsin DOT.  
Information is in house now with the DOT with respect to their TIA and the request of the two 
access locations.  As you can see there will be some infrastructure improvements to 120th 
Avenue that will be required as part of the TIA that involves some widening, accel/decel lanes as 
well as some turn lane movements for the property. 

 
The hotel on the north end is proposed to be 124 rooms with a private suite area with three rooms 
on the fifth floor.  The main floor is intended to include lobby and reception area, restaurant and 
bar area, banquet and meeting rooms, kitchen and a pool area with banquet facilities and a terrace 
area on the fifth floor.  Again, at this time it’s conceptual in nature, and we don’t have as much 
detail on the hotel at this point as it may be a Hyatt place or a similar franchise that would locate 
at that location. 

 
So the primary focus is the Kings and Convicts brewery that you have before you.  The Kings and 
Convicts derives from two founders’ heritage, an Englishman which is the King and an 
Australian which is the convict who reside on the shores of Lake Michigan to some of the best 
brewing water in the world in a town that is rich in immigrant history with an undercurrent of 
anti-authority and love of the scoundrel.  So as you can see what they’re trying to do is trying to 
create an opportunity for not only a brewery but a destination for tourism and for gatherings, a 
restaurant and a vat room and a number of other special things that really will provide a nice 
tourist destination here in the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 

 
The brew house and the cellar tanks will be visible from I-94 on the west side of the property.  
They’ll have very large arch windows, and the tap room, restaurant and event space will all face 
east and will overlook the natural areas of the Kilbourn ditch and the associated wetlands and 
shoreland area of the Des Plaines River.  The brewery will be an automated brew house will be 
the focal point.  It will be situated behind the tap room bar with towering fermenters standing 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
14 

immediately behind holding the attention of the people there.  The tanks will be on display 
internally and externally with glazed walls and lights highlighting the stainless steel. 

 
As you can see the building is intended of a more permanent brick precast and stone structure.  
The other thing that they are looking to try to do is to highlight that this is actually in Pleasant 
Prairie, Wisconsin so there will be some identification signage on the building that identifies it’s 
Pleasant Prairie.  And then there’s some illustrations and photographs that show a little bit about 
what the brewery is going to look like, the tap room, some other information about the floor plan 
that they intend to have. 

 
What’s really unique about the way the brewery is situated and where it’s oriented is that facing 
to the east they will have a deck area that will be open and canopied over the building over a 
drive through on the lower level.  And it will be overlooking, again, that conservancy.  And as 
part of their design elements and their storytelling they will be highlighting some recent stories 
that we uncovered recently with the Historical Society that relates to the powder plant and the 
powder plant explosion and just generate a whole interesting set of stories and decor related to 
that for the community. 

 
The brewery operations would be 5 a.m. to 5 p.m.  Their tap room hours would be from 11 to 12 
seven days a week.  The estimated truck trips 4 to 6 under full operation.  Production area 
employment 13 to 25 full and part-time staff.  And then that tap room, kitchen and event 
employment between 70 and 90 full and part-time staff.  Again, they have, and I’m not sure if I 
mentioned this, but they do have an existing facility down in Highwood, Illinois, and it’s a much 
smaller facility. 

 
And this will be a premier operation for them and actually create to be a very nice, again, tourist 
destination.  The tap room will have such amenities such as a bar area, dining area, lounge area, 
patio with fire pits.  Again, they’ll have food that will be more of a classic American fare that will 
be served by their kitchen.  And then the type of materials and equipment to be stored on the site 
that’s all listed in the staff report. 
Specifically this site will need to be serviced by municipal sewer and water.  And the public 
sewer and water will be required to be extended to service the development in 120th Avenue.  
The developer will also be responsible for doing some updating or upgrading to the existing 
Chateau Eau Plaines lift station in order to accommodate this additional under this new 
development.  A Certified Survey Map will also be required to create the parcel, divide some 
land.  If they create two parcels it will be used for identifying easements that will be needed on 
the site as well as dedication areas on the site. 

 
The total site is envisioned to provide for 492 parking spaces including the required handicapped 
accessible spaces.  And the parking allocated to the brewery is about 114.  We are continuing to 
review and evaluate this with them, and we will as the hotel begins to advance as well.  There are 
some opportunities for possibly additional parking underneath the hotel, underground parking if 
it’s going to be needed. 

 
A Comprehensive Plan Amendment would be needed to show any location of the wetlands on the 
property.  They had the wetland area field delineated last fall, last summer.  Zoning Map and Text 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
15 

Amendments would be required as we are creating a somewhat unique development here, and we 
would be creating a planned development because we’re doing a little bit of a mixture of 
manufacturing as well as commercial at this location because of the brewery operation.  They 
understand that they will need to work with our Village Clerk and Department of Revenue with 
respect to the permits and licenses that they will be needing not only for the manufacturing but 
for the sale and consumption and distribution of beer from this site. 

 
In addition because this is a retail use as well they will be complying with our DSIS agreements 
and requirements of the ordinance for the digital security imaging system for the camera system 
for the site.  One of the things I can say also as part of this planned development and because of 
the vast amount of open space to the east and to the south/southeast and to the north on this site 
that will be undevelopable that they will be requesting as part of the PUD some of the reductions 
in some of our setbacks.  But, again, there will be several hundred feet between this area and the 
nearby residential development.  And then finally because it is in the approach of the airport for 
the City of Kenosha they will need to get the approval from the Kenosha Planning Department 
through this site, the airport overlay site plan review approvals.   

 
So this is a Conceptual Plan.  The Plan Commission and the staff recommended approval subject 
to a number of comments and conditions as set forth.  Again, they will need to continue going 
through the process with respect to their TIA, infrastructure development and approval, site and 
operational plan approval, some Comprehensive Plan changes, they’ll need changes and so on 
and so forth. But they are looking for the direction from the Village Board in order to move 
forward with that next step.  If there’s any questions about the site plans as they’ve been drafted 
to date they would be happy to answer any for you.  Again, there was a public hearing before the 
Plan Commission at their last meeting. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Jean, I had a quick one.  With the two shared access pathways I believe I saw they only expecting 
about four to six deliveries or full sized semis that would be coming in. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Four to six, correct. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

They could use those shared pathways? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Yeah, the southern one as shown on the map that I have up on the screen, the southern one would 
be the one that’s used by the four to six trucks per day.  Obviously they would do some 
coordination as to when those trucks would come in, obviously not during a busier peek time of 
their customers.  But the trucks would enter and then go to the south and warp around the 
building, go around the east.  And at the very north/northeast corner of the brewery there is a 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
16 

dock there and garage doors where they would back up into that and do their loading and 
unloading.  And then circle around and come back right out that same entrance.  My 
understanding is they are not intending to use that north entrance for any truck deliveries or 
pickups. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

For the hotel, though? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

The hotel may be able to use those, but the brewery will not use that for brewery related truck 
deliveries. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

It just seems a little tight to me, but that’s what I thought was going to happen, okay. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

And we’ve had them put truck turning templates on the site to make sure that the turning 
movements could be made by the brewery.  And then the road that wraps around the back and the 
sides that’s a 30 foot wide fire lane. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Okay. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Since the Plan Commission last Monday when the paper came out Tuesday morning since then 
I’ve had about three or four people approach me.  They’re taking a lot of interest in this.  I think 
it’s going to be great for the Village.  It’s a unique concept.  And even a couple that I arrested 
called me up and wanted to know if they could get a job there because they’re ex-convicts. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Is that as tasters? 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Jean, I’ve got three questions.  The water is that coming down from the Highway 50 area or is 
that coming -- 

 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
17 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I’ll have Matt address the water. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Is that coming up from the east? 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 

The water is coming from the north so the water is already on 128th Avenue.  It would just need 
to be extended south to this development. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Okay.  And then the lights and the sound, there’s a housing development 1,000 feet to the east, 
and I know there’s trees and such in there.  But the lights on the highway side are bright and 
beautiful.  The lights on the other side, the east side, are they going to be minimized?  And the 
sound that comes out from the music a lot of it will be muffled I know by trees.  In the winter 
there’s no trees. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So two things.  I did speak with them after the Plan Commission when we talked and two things.  
First of all the sound cannot emanate from their property.  So if they have a band or wedding or 
some type of event there the doors need to be closed, or the sound has to be at a certain level that 
it’s not going to be going across past their property and then past that 500 or 1,000 feet to the 
Chateau area.  They’re aware of that, they understand that that it cannot cause a noise or 
disturbance for the adjacent landowners. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

So they do something special with the wall insulation or they shut the doors? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

They certainly can.  I can honestly say that if I’m in Chateau the road noise is intensively much 
louder than anything else that I’ve ever heard.  So I don’t believe that it would be a problem.  But 
we will talk to them specifically about that.  Because they won’t have amplified music on the 
outdoor patio area, for example.  The music would be inside where the band would be set up. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Okay, and then the lights? 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
18 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

And then with respect to the lighting I did talk to them about that as well.  Going back to the 
Kings and Convicts light itself everything is intended to be projected to the west.  So any lighting 
up or down, as you can just see the type of lighting we haven’t even gotten to that detail really 
yet, but it’s intended to be shining on the building up or down.  And if it’s in the back it all has to 
be shielded downwards or directed downwards.  It’s not intended to shine out into the 
conservancy area.  They don’t want that either.  And the same thing with the sign up on the roof, 
they would not have it shine so that it causes a problem for the east.  There would have to be a 
backing on it or something or shielding on it so that it does not cause a problem. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Especially being above the tree line that light can go a long ways. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

That’s right, correct. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Does this brewery cause an odor to be emitted outside of the building? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

It shouldn’t. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

It shouldn’t, okay. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Is the corporation looking at any financial participation from the Village? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

They’ve not asked to date unless they’ve talked to the Administrator. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

No. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

They have not asked. 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
19 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

One additional comment that I would make, and this is to Kris’s point, this is located on a DOT 
frontage road.  I know staff had discussed the need for a third access point.  And from our 
standpoint that would be preferred.  Unfortunately we don’t have a lot of control with that.  I 
know that the developer has approached the property owner to the south in an attempt to try to 
combine the sites so that there wasn’t any concern or conflict.  And to this point that property 
owner has not been a willing seller.  So just by way of update.  There is a thought process that if 
that site were every to be acquired there might be potential for that third access. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

As Trustee Serpe said people are excited about it.  It’s a great location, especially with the 
visibility there off the interstate and the proximity.  We’re all excited about it.  Anything you’d 
care to add to Jean’s presentation. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

I would add one more thing.  I hope everybody noticed that Pleasant Prairie was on the building.  
And considering that this is going to be a highly visible site at Highway 50 I realize that Highway 
50 and 90/94 I realize that might seem a very small thing.  But it’s probably one of the most 
exciting things for me personally is that we’ll get name recognition at this site. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Hopefully get them going soon.  I’d move approval of the Master Conceptual Plan. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Was there anything you folks wanted to add to the presentation?   All right, 
any further discussion.  Motion and a second.  Those in favor? 

 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
20 

SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE MASTER CONCEPTUAL PLAN REQUEST FOR 
VACANT PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7821 120TH AVENUE FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A 
HYATT PLACE HOTEL AND KINGS AND CONVICTS BREWERY; SECONDED BY 
KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Master 

Conceptual Plan request for vacant property located at 9201 Wilmot Road for the 
development of three limited use industrial related buildings. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

President Steinbrink and members of the Board, this is a request for a Master Conceptual Plan for 
the request of Kevin Risch with Clark Dietz, and this is on behalf of Prairie Holdings LLC.  This 
is for the vacant property east of 9201 Wilmot Road.  And it’s a combination because it’s a 
Master Conceptual Plan not only for a developer that’s in the audience for Extra Space Storage, 
but there are a total of three lots that are being created as part of a Master Conceptual Plan that 
accompanied the vacant land area just adjacent to 9201 Wilmot Road. 

 
There is approximately 17.6 acres of land located east of 9201 Wilmot Road at the southwest 
corner of Highway H and Highway C.  And this is for a limited manufacturing development.  The 
property is currently zoned M-1, Limited Manufacturing or light manufacturing.  And it’s 
proposed to be subdivided into three parcels and have its related site improvements. 

 
So in looking at the Conceptual Plan Lot 1 is intended to be 3.7 acres, and it could be developed 
with just over a 14,000 square foot building.  And that site would be located just to the west of the 
fire station and adjacent to a proposed stormwater basin that would be just south of that 
roundabout at that location.  And then Lot 2 would be for Extra Space Storage, and I will get into 
that a little bit.  They are looking for a 127,000 square foot climate controlled mini storage 
building.  And Lot 3 would be 7.7 acres which could be developed with just under a 44,000 
square foot building. 

 
And as you can see it’s intended to be developed as a unified business development.  And that 
means that there would be shared cross-access from the private road system as well as shared 
stormwater management and stormwater ponds for the development.  As you can see there is an 
existing road that the fire department accesses from Wilmot Road.  That will continue to be a 
private road and will service not only the Fire Station Number 2 but will service all three of the 
sites.   

 
There will be no new direct access points from any one of these buildings to the adjacent county 
highways, whether it’s C or Highway H.  Then there is another private road that is just kind of to 
the southwest of the fire station that is like the entrance to Lot 3 and would be the back door of 
Lot 2 Extra Space Storage.  So the private roadway system as well as the private storm sewer 
system would be designed and implemented by the developer of the property. 

 
The one project that is looking to get some initial conceptual plan approval this evening is Extra 
Space Storage.  And what they are proposing to do is construct a 127,000 square foot climate 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
21 

controlled mini storage with access in the building.  And what that means is just going back to the 
site plan real quick, as you come off of Wilmot Road or 88th Avenue, and then if you come up 
Wilmot and go to the right there will be an access which would be a garage door entrance as well 
as the main office entrance for the development.  And as you can see by the site plan you would 
enter from that side, the garage door would open, you drive right through the mini storage 
building facility right down the center.  And then through carts you would bring your storage 
items to any one of the units that you have rented. 

 
Again, as you can see on the chart there are eight different sizes of storage units, the smallest 
being 5 by 5 and the largest 30 by 10, 300 square feet.  So depending upon your needs that would 
be the size that you would be renting.  And like I said there’s a great variety to address any needs 
of the people that are looking for storage.  Again, you enter on the west, do what you need to do, 
you drive through and exit on the south.  There are a number of man doors on the east and west 
sides that in the event of an emergency you could get to a man door which gets to a sidewalk 
which gets you to the adjacent private roads.  But, again, the only way to enter and exist whether 
it’s a van or a truck or a car would be through the two doors that have been identified. 
 
Because this is a mini storage facility and because of the way it’s designed, there would be only 
one to two employees full-time at the site.  They envision about ten daily trips from their 
customers is expected.  Again, people store items for a month, but oftentimes it’s months or a 
year or more than a year, and so there’s not a lot of in and out by the people that are storing items 
at this facility.  There will be 11 parking spaces including one handicapped accessible space.  
Again, that will be just adjacent to the main office entrance in the parking lot that they will 
provide. 

 
A couple of comments were raised at the Plan Commission meeting.  That staff has put together 
comments and conditions of approval with respect to some things relating to this site and a few 
things related to the architecture and colors and things like that.  And they are working on those 
things for us.  But, again, for a manufacturing site this is a very low intensity, no real semis or 
trucks coming except obviously if someone is going to be bringing something to store at this 
facility. 

 
Our Village engineer has been working with Mr. Risch and Clark Dietz in order to put together, 
again, a Master Conceptual Plan with them to address sewer and water, stormwater, stormwater 
management through the retention basins and the overall development of this site.  Again, the 
intent is to get that grading done for the site and to get these basins created, and then one-by-one 
develop the three sites.  So with that the petitioner is in the audience as well as their engineer, and 
if Matt or I or anyone can answer any questions we’d be happy to. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I just have on, Jean.  I know it was brought up at the Plan Commission meeting about the green 
start color that the building has.  I’m not against this building at all, but that building is right next 
to a nice residential area.  If they have something that color next to a high end or relatively high 
end residential area I wish they would tone it down a little bit, something a little bit more pleasing 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
22 

if possible.  I know it’s your Arby’s thing, but it is in area that is nicely residential, and that thing 
would stand out a little bit.  As far as I’m concerned it would stand out too much. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Mike, just to clarify your point just a little bit further.  You have two presentations.  In the top 
you have the stark -- the building is the stark green, and then the signage is the white and the 
gray.  On the lower half you have a different display of signage that would be on the back side of 
the building where it’s the gray, and then the actual letters are the green.  Would you feel the back 
end is less -- 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

That’s fine. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Okay. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So the framing around the front area if that was in the darker gray with the bright green letters 
that would be fine.  We can certainly work with the developer. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

We still have no truck traffic on Highway C, is that correct? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I believe that’s how it’s signed.  This is a business on C so I mean we would want to make sure 
that any deliveries that come here come from the north.  But they would actually need to come 
onto C or H in order to enter this facility. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Lots number 2 and 3 are slated for manufacturing and that means semis just so they know about 
that. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Again, Lot 2 was Extra Space Storage.  So they’re right at the roundabout intersection, so they 
will probably come from the north, and they will come either direction off of 88th Avenue or 
Wilmot Road to get to the site. 

 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
23 

Michael Serpe: 
 

Hopefully. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I’d like to make sure that the construction for Lot 1, 2 and 3 make sure that whoever the 
developer is in this case the mini storage that the construction equipment come in on H and not C. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

I move approval of the Plan Commission recommendations for the Master Conceptual Plan. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I’ll second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Anything you folks care to add?  I know you want 
to store beer in there or something.  Could you come up here, please?  Just give us your name and 
address for the record. 

 
Bruno Haney: 
 

Good evening.  My name is Bruno Haney.  I’m the owner and developer of the Extra Space 
Storage facility.  At the last meeting it was brought to the attention of the color, and that is Extra 
Space’s brand nationwide, worldwide.  In looking at the LED screens it really comes across as a 
really high visibility -- it pops.  It’s much more like the Pleasant Prairie green.  And that’s really 
important because that is our brand.  But just me seeing it even at our other facilities that’s too 
bright.  That’s not what we have.  We have a building right now that is with these three tones it’s 
a fabulous looking building.  In fact, the Town of Grafton even made a comment of it, after it was 
completed they actually said that they were pleasantly surprised at how nice it looked.  So what I 
see here and what you see here the reaction of that green it’s just too much.  And that’s not what 
we have.  It’s toned down so it’s much more comfortable.  I would say it resembles closer to this. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Where would your closest facility be to us? 
 
Bruno Haney: 
 

I believe it’s in -- the closest facility I believe there’s one just across the border to the south, and I 
believe the north one would be Franklin. 

 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
24 

John Steinbrink: 
 

And this other one do you know where that is? 
 
Bruno Haney: 
 

There’s now seven in Wisconsin so it’s not something new. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Just to get a visual of the color. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

You’ll be bringing a color panel to Jean that shows the true colors. 
 
Bruno Haney: 
 

Yes. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Because even looking at your submitted artwork some of them are darker green, some are lighter 
green. 

 
Bruno Haney: 
 

Right.  And that is a very branded specific color for the architect stored.  We’re in Milwaukee 
County, Washington County, Ozaukee County, and as I mentioned Franklin, throughout the state. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

We’ll sell you the rights to that green if you’re interested. 
 

Bruno Haney: 
 

Pardon me? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Any other questions for the gentleman?  Thank you very much. 
 
Bruno Haney: 
 

Thank you. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
25 

John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries.  Thank you. 
 

KLIMISCH MOVED TO APPROVE THE MASTER CONCEPTUAL PLAN REQUEST 
FOR VACANT PROPERTY LOCATED AT 9201 WILMOT ROAD FOR THE DEVELOPMENT 
OF THREE LIMITED USE INDUSTRIAL RELATED BUILDINGS; SECONDED BY SERPE; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 C. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Resolution 

#19-02 for a Floodplain Boundary Adjustment for a culvert replacement located at 
8000 128th Street. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

President Steinbrink and members of the Board, this is Resolution 19-02 -- is it 19-02 or 19-04, 
19-02 for the support for a Floodplain Boundary Adjustment.  And this comes at the request of 
Matt Fineour who is our Village Engineer.  And this is on behalf of the Village for the proposed 
culvert replacements for the crossing of the tributary of the Des Plaines River.  And this would be 
on the access road as you enter north which is also going to be known as Greenway Court.  The 
Village is proposing to replace three existing culverts with two box culverts under the existing 
driveway access to the Residential Recycling Center at 8000 128th Street, and an additional 
pavement layer would be added to the roadway. 

 
These culverts allow for floodplain waters to flow under the access driveway, and for information 
this access driveway is proposed to be dedicated as a public street as part of the Certified Survey 
Map that’s being prepared for Greenway Court and Prairie Produce Farm.  The culvert 
replacement and additional pavement layer will not amend the location of the 100 year 
floodplain, but the hydrolic analysis shows that a modification would increase the one percent 
annual chance event water surface elevations by .20 feet on the downstream side of the culvert 
about ten feet west of the culvert on the Village’s property within the 100 year floodplain. 

 
As a result the water survey elevation increase a floodplain boundary adjustment is required.  
This was a matter that was before the Village Plan Commission as part of their public hearing 
process.  The Village Engineer is here if you have any questions with respect to anything related 
to these culverts. 

 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
26 

Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I move approval. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO APPROVE  RESOLUTION #19-02 FOR A FLOODPLAIN 
BOUNDARY ADJUSTMENT FOR A CULVERT REPLACEMENT LOCATED AT 8000 128TH 
STREET; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 D. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 

#19-04 to amend Section 395-72G of the Village Land Division and Development 
Control Ordinance. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Members of the Board, Ordinance 19-04 to amend Section 395-72G of the Land Division and 
Development Control Ordinance it’s related to basement level sanitary sewer service for 
residential developments.  The staff is recommending that Section 395-72G of the Village’s 
ordinance be amended to clarify that all public and private sanitary sewer mains shall be designed 
and constructed to provide gravity basement service.  Further new residential homes or units shall 
be connected with gravity basement sanitary sewer service unless approved by the Village 
Engineer based on a practical difficulty or an unnecessary hardship.  This clarification would 
allow for existing lots that have municipal sanitary sewer within an adjacent street to have hung 
plumbing or grinder pump or ejector pit if the existing sanitary sewer cannot provide for gravity 
basement sewer service.   

 
There was some ambiguity in the original ordinance.  And then as we started going through the 
process we were coming upon some of these last homes on some of the more rural areas of the 
Village that we ran sewer by where the depth of the sanitary sewer was 16, 18, 20 feet, very deep, 
and we were running into some problems with respect to being able to service them.  And so as a 
result there are a few of these, and the Village Engineer would like the opportunity not to have to 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
27 

go through a variance process every time that we run across one of these, but to be able to analyze 
the situation to determine if it makes some sense because of the difficulty created to allow for the 
hung plumbing. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

How many homes could you see being impacted by this? 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 

I don’t have an exact count, but some of the older areas if you will where sanitary sewer is it’s 
basically areas where an existing lot there’s existing sanitary sewer there, and they’re just not 
going to get basement service.  There’s just no way around it one way or the other that they can 
basically allow that hung plumbing versus a variance, them going through the process of a 
variance.  The number of homes it’s not really a lot, but we’re finding they’re more common like 
in the areas that are not a designed subdivision or something like that where design engineer 
design the sanitary sewer, design the home and everything works.  It’s a little bit of the older 
areas or stuff like that which is filling in now because these are the only lots available at this point 
in time. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Do you think we can interpret this if we just discover we’re having a hard time providing 
basement level service because the elevation of the sanitary sewer that the engineer would be able 
to authorize them to suspend pluming in their basement and come out at a higher elevation after a 
fact.  I mean the house it here, and whenever we’re having service problems there because of the 
difference between the inverted sewer and the basement is so tight. 

 
Matt Fineour: 
 

Right, like on Cooper Road or something like that.  I think so.  I mean the intent is really if there 
is a good reason to have hung plumbing then we authorize the hung plumbing but it’s not a given.  
I mean we basically prefer the gravity sewer.  But if there is a legitimate reason to approve it then 
we would. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I think that’s a great idea. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

For example, we’ve run into a couple areas where the soils are so terrible, off of 116th, Tobin.  
And to try to dig everything up and to go back in in that area would be very problematic and very 
costly, and it still might cause additional problems going into that main again. 

 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
28 

Dave Klimisch: 
 

Move approval of Ordinance 19-04. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 
 Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

KLIMISCH MOVED TO APPROVE ORDINANCE #19-04 TO AMEND SECTION 395-
72G OF THE VILLAGE LAND DIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL ORDINANCE; 
SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 E. Consider approval of the Agreement between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and 

Bluestem Energy Solutions, LLC. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Village Board, I was introduced to this company.  Basically their primary interest is looking to 
create public/private partnerships in which they come in, assess a community, assess facilities and 
determine whether or not there might be ways to establish renewable energy systems at the 
facility.  They provide the capital infrastructure at their cost and then basically sell the energy to 
the partnering municipality. 

 
So before you tonight is basically an agreement to perform a renewable energy study.  There’s no 
up front cost to the Village.  They come and they assess the Village goals, facilities, energy use, 
try to make a plan that caters to the specific community.  The study is typically completed within 
six months.  And then at the conclusion should the Village wish to implement the 
recommendations the Village would basically be obligated to make two choices.  They can either 
partner with Bluestem or they pay basically for the study.  And they could do the 
recommendations outside the purview of Bluestem.  The other alternative is for the Village to 
choose not to do anything, and basically we just separate as friends or not friends I guess, I don’t 
know. 

 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
29 

The capped amount basically is $25,000 for the study itself.  But there is also an early exit clause 
that if we were to choose to exit early there’s a ten percent potential penalty, and so that’s why I 
had the $27,500 there as the cap cost.  As far as benefits, again, the Village doesn’t have any up 
front costs.  There would be no capital cost or maintenance cost in the future.  It does diversify 
our energy supply.  It allows us to purchase renewable energy, and basically they create a rate 
that’s held for 25 years so there’s rate certainty for a portion of the energy cost. 

 
Clearly they’re not going to capture 100 percent of our energy with renewables, but the idea is to 
buy down at least a portion of our costs with renewable energies.  It’s a way to be sustainable and 
environmentally friendly.  Again, whether or not we choose that route is completely at our 
purview whether we want to accept the recommendations.  As far as benefits to Bluestem they 
expand their portfolio, they get tax credits for capital costs because they’re partnering with a 
public entity.  And then they have a new clientele for energy sales. 

 
I bring this forward primarily I know that We Energies made an announcement recently of 
wanting to do partnerships of energy sales and capital improvements with municipalities.  This 
basically I think just provides an alternative, and I think will give us a larger array of possibilities.  
Anyways, it’s before you if there’s interest.  I can answer any questions. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

So if this moves forward would we be buying energy from them, or would they be installing 
renewable equipment in the Village? 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Correct, they would be installing renewable equipment, and then we would be buying the energy 
that would be generated from that capital improvements or that infrastructure. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

So they might use our rooftops for solar -- 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Correct. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

-- similar to what We was offering. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Correct, what We Energies was offering.  And, again, there’s no obligation to proceed forward 
with Bluestem, but it does give us an alternative. 

 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
30 

Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Move approval to enter into an agreement with Bluestem Energy. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Further discussion? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

There is one other thing that I’d add.  Clearly if we go in this partnership they would be coming 
into our community, they would be engaging with staff.  I would welcome any of the Village 
Board that might have interest to participate in the discussion to come in and just let me know if 
you’d be interested. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Are they working anywhere else in the area? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

In my conversations with them Beaver Dam, there were a couple of communities in Wisconsin 
that they’re working with.  I know they approached me in my last community so I knew about 
them. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

If this is a possible competitor to We do we know what We’s deadline is for their system? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

I have not approached We Energies.  I can.  I will say, though, that entering into this agreement 
would kind of pigeonhole us to at least be a willing partner with Bluestem for the time being.  
Should we at the end of it say we probably prefer to go with We Energies then we would most 
likely have to pay whatever the cost was for the plan that they presented or the recommendation 
that they presented. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

If we say no we’d have to pay or we wouldn’t have to pay? 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
31 

Nathan Thiel: 
 

If we decided to implement the recommendation with another organization then we’d be clearly -- 
we’d be saying, hey, no thanks, but we’re going to take your ideas and implement them 
elsewhere.  So if the preference would be for me to go to We Energies and discuss potential 
possibilities with them first we could do that.  I like the idea of us diversifying so that we’re not 
completely -- any other questions? 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Trustee Serpe has a generator. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

It works, too.  The world is going to come to an end in 12 years anyway I heard, this New York 
Congressman says that. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Further comment or questions?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
POLLOCOFF MOVED FOR APPROVAL OF THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE AND BLUESTEM ENERGY SOLUTIONS, LLC.; 
SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 F. Consider approval of Sex Offender Residence Board Member Appointment. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

So before you Pauline Hammerbeck has been serving on this Board.  We’re recommending 
reappointment.  Her term would be May 5, 2019 to February 4, 2024. 
 

Michael Serpe: 
 

I’d move approval with a question. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
32 

Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Mike? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

How many cases have we heard for residency so far? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Jane, do you want to answer? 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

One. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

One? 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

Yes. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

In fact it was just two weeks ago? 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

January 7th or 9th, something like that. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We had a motion and a second.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
33 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO REAPPOINTMENT PAULINE HAMMERBECK AS A MEMBER 
OF THE SEX OFFENDER RESIDENCE BOARD FOR A TERM MAY 5, 2019 TO FEBRUARY 
4, 2024; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
10. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Welcome back John and Mike.  You missed the cold.  Glad you enjoyed yourself wherever it 
was, a cruise. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Oh, we did suffer, yes. 
 
11. ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO §19.85(1)(E) WIS. STATS, TO 

DISCUSS, DELIBERATE OR NEGOTIATE THE PURCHASE OF PUBLIC PROPERTY, 
INVEST OF PUBLIC FUNDS, OR CONDUCT OTHER SPECIFIED PUBLIC BUSINESS, 
WHENEVER COMPETITIVE OR BARGAINING REASONS REQUIRE A CLOSED 
SESSION. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move to adjourn to Executive Session. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We had a motion and a second.  You need a roll call? 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

Mike Serpe? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Aye. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
February 4, 2019 
 

 
34 

Dave Klimisch: 
 

Aye. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Aye.  The Board will return to open session for the purpose of adjournment only. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION AT 7:30 P.M.; SECONDED 
BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
12. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURNMENT 
 
After discussion, SERPE MOVED TO RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURN THE 
MEETING; SECONDED BY KECKER; ROLL CALL VOTE – STEINBRINK – YES; KECKLER 
– YES; POLLOCOFF – YES; KLIMISCH – YES; SERPE – YES; MOTION CARRIED 5-0 AND 
MEETING ADJOURNED AT 8:10 P.M. 
 



CODE1811-001 

 Consider approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #19-05) to consider 
adopting the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan 2018-2023, as a component 
of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan and amending Section 
395-6 B of the Village Municipal Code to reference this new plan as a component of the 2035 
Comprehensive Plan. 

Recommendation:  On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission held a public hearing, 
approved Plan Commission Resolution #19-01 and recommended that the Village Board to 
approve the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan 2018-2023 as a 
component of the 2035 Comprehensive Plan (Ord. #19-05) as presented.  
 

 
  



CODE1811-001 

VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF FEBRUARY 18, 2019 

Consider approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #19-05) to consider 
adopting the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan 2018-2023, as a component 
of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan and amending Section 
395-6 B of the Village Municipal Code to reference this new plan as a component of the 2035 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 

The Village Park Commission has been working with Ayres Associates to update the Village 

of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan (2013-2018).   Attached is the updated Plan 

for the years 2018-2023, as approved by the Village Park Commission at their November 7, 

2018 meeting.  

The Wisconsin Department of Administration requires that the Village update its 
Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan, a/k/a as the Village Park and Open Space Plan, 
every five (5) years to maintain eligibility for grant funding for the acquisition and 
development of park and recreational facilities through the State Stewardship and Federal 
LAWCON Programs and to ensure that the Village’s park planning goals, objectives, and 
policies are current. 

Park land, recreation trails and natural areas are key components of high quality living 
environments. Such open spaces provide a community with many benefits. These include 
helping to meet human needs for outdoor recreation, promoting and accommodating a 
healthy lifestyle for residents, enhancing the aesthetic quality of a community, increasing 
property values, attracting visitors and tourists, shaping development patterns, and 
protecting the natural environment.  

Over the years, the Village has planned for and developed a park and recreation system 
that is designed to meet the needs of the people who live in, travel to or vacation in the 
community. Along the way, the Village has not only accounted for its own park and open 
space needs, but has also maintained a regional perspective, taking measures to preserve 
critical ecosystems and watersheds, and providing parks and recreational facilities that 
serve the surrounding communities in Wisconsin and Illinois. This Park and Open Space Plan 
update was prepared to further this tradition of park and recreation planning in Pleasant 
Prairie.  

The primary purpose of the Park and Open Space Plan is to proactively plan for the Village’s 

future park and recreation needs. Furthermore, the policy recommendations and programs 
presented in the Plan will guide the acquisition, preservation, and development of land for 
parks, recreation trails, and other open spaces in the Village to meet the needs of a growing 
and changing population, including those with special needs. Such recommendations will 
also serve to protect and enhance the community’s natural resource base into the future.  

Although, the Park and Open Space Plan addresses the long-range park and open space 
needs of the community (through the year 2035), it also focuses on policy 
recommendations and programs to be implemented over the next five-year period.  

On January 14, 2019 the Plan Commission held a public hearing, approved Plan Commission 
Resolution #19-01 and recommended that the Village Board approve the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie Park and Open Space Plan 2018-2023 as amended as a component of the 2035 
Comprehensive Plan as presented.  
 



ORD. # 19-05 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 390-6 

OF THE VILLAGE MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

IN THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 

KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

THE VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 

KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN, do hereby ordain that the Village of Pleasant Prairie, 
Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan be amended to adopt the Village of Pleasant Prairie 
Park and Open Space Plan: 2018-2023 (Exhibit 1) as a component of the Village’s 

Comprehensive Plan and that Section 390-6 B of the Village Municipal Code is hereby 
amended to read as follows: 
 

B.  Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan: 2018-2023.  

 

The Village Community Development Director is hereby directed to record this Amendment 
to the Comprehensive Plan on the appropriate pages of said Plan and to update Appendix A 
in Chapter 390 of the Village Municipal Code to include said amendment. 

Adopted this 18th day of February, 2019. 

 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
 

ATTEST: 

  
John P. Steinbrink, 
Village President 

  
Jane C. Snell 
Village Clerk 
 
Ayes: ___ Nayes:  ___    Absent: ____ 

Posted:    

05 Park and Open Space Plan 

CODE1811-001 



PLEASANT PRAIRIE
PARK & OPEN SPACE PLAN

2018-2023

pherrick
Typewritten Text
Approved by Plan Commission on November 7. 2018Approved by Plan Commission on January 14, 2019 Res. #19-01Approved by Village Board on February 18, 2019 Ord. #19-05

pherrick
Typewritten Text
 

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 1



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 

Park Commission  

Michealene “Micky” Day, Chairperson 

Dave Klimisch, Vice Chairperson 

Cindy Schawb, Secretary 

Kristopher M. Keckler 

William Mills 

Dan Klemack 

Brock Williamson 

James Bandura, Alternate #1 

Christopher Bilik, Alternate #2 

 

Village Board 

John Steinbrink, Village President 

Kristopher M. Keckler, Trustee #1 

Michael Pollocoff, Trustee #2 

Dave Klimisch, Trustee #3 

Michael Serpe, Trustee #4 

 

Planning and Design Assistance 

Ayres Associates 

5201 East Terrace Drive, Suite 200 

Madison, WI 53718 

608.443.1200 

www.ayresassociates.com 

http://www.ayresassociates.com/


 

  

  TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Chapter 1: Introduction      

Executive Summary ............................................................................................. 1 

    Village of Pleasant Prairie Parks & Recreation Mission Statement ...................... 1 

    Statement of Need ........................................................................................... 1 

Goals and Objectives ........................................................................................... 2 

Review of Past Planning Documents (Local, Regional & State) ............................. 5 

    Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan (2013) ............................ 5 

    A Park and Open Space Plan for Kenosha County (2012) ................................. 6 

    Village of Pleasant Prairie 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan (2010) ........ 6 

    Pleasant Prairie Shoreline Assessment (2018) ................................................. 6 

                                                                    Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan (2009) ........... 7 

                                                                    Prairie Springs Park – Des Plaines River Planning Report (2007) ...................... 8 

    A Park and Open Space Plan for the Kenosha Planning District (1980) .............. 8 

    A Regional Park and Open Space Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin (1977) ....... 8 

    Wisconsin’s State Outdoor Recreation Plan ...................................................... 8 

Summary of Planning Process ............................................................................. 9 

    Work Plan and Timeline ................................................................................... 9 

    Meetings ......................................................................................................... 9 

    Online Survey .................................................................................................. 10 

Pleasant Prairie Demographics ............................................................................. 14 

    Social Characteristics ...................................................................................... 14                                                                                              

Physical Characteristics ....................................................................................... 17 

    Topography ..................................................................................................... 17   

    Soils................................................................................................................ 18   

    Land Cover ...................................................................................................... 19   

    Watersheds ..................................................................................................... 20   

    Major Property Owners .................................................................................... 21  

 

Chapter 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System         

Village Park and Open Space Facilities.................................................................. 23 

    Mini Parks ....................................................................................................... 23 

    Neighborhood Parks ........................................................................................ 23 

    Community Parks ............................................................................................ 23 

    Regional Parks ................................................................................................ 24 

    Special-Use Parks ........................................................................................... 24 

    Conservancy, Open Space and Natural Areas ................................................... 24 

    School Parks ................................................................................................... 24 

    Trail Corridors ................................................................................................. 24 

Parkland Classification Analysis ........................................................................... 25 

    Parkland Classification  .................................................................................... 25 

    Level of Service Standards ............................................................................... 27 

Park Service Area Requirements .......................................................................... 30 

GIS Age Cohort Analysis ...................................................................................... 32 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Connections ..................................................................... 32 

 

Chapter 3:  Recommendations          

General Recommendations .................................................................................. 33 

    Park Facility Recommendations ....................................................................... 33 

    Promotion/Education ....................................................................................... 37 

    Environmentally Sustainable Practices.............................................................. 37 

Future Parks and Open Spaces ............................................................................ 38 



      Future Park Locations .................................................................................................................................................... 38 

      Park Layout Concept/Park Master Plans ......................................................................................................................... 41 

Individual Park Recommendations ....................................................................................................................................... 42 

    Mini Parks ..................................................................................................................................................................... 43 

Becker Park ............................................................................................................................................................... 44 

Creekside Park (South) .............................................................................................................................................. 46 

Woodlawn (Harrison) Park ......................................................................................................................................... 48 

Neighborhood Parks ....................................................................................................................................................... 51 

Carol Beach Park ....................................................................................................................................................... 52 

Rolling Meadows Park ............................................................................................................................................... 56 

Community Parks ........................................................................................................................................................... 59 

Ingram Park .............................................................................................................................................................. 60 

Pleasant Prairie Park .................................................................................................................................................. 62 

Village Green Park ..................................................................................................................................................... 68 

Regional Parks ............................................................................................................................................................... 71 

Prairie Springs Park ................................................................................................................................................... 72 

Special Use Parks .......................................................................................................................................................... 77 

Lake Michigan Park ................................................................................................................................................... 78 

Conservancy, Open Space & Natural Areas ..................................................................................................................... 81 

Chiwaukee Prairie – Carol Beach Open Space ............................................................................................................ 82 

Chiwaukee View ........................................................................................................................................................ 85 

County Corner – Tobin Creek Open Space .................................................................................................................. 86 

Des Plaines River Open Space Land ........................................................................................................................... 88 

Edithton Beach .......................................................................................................................................................... 90 

Lakeshore Park ......................................................................................................................................................... 91 

Momper’s Woods ...................................................................................................................................................... 92 

Prairie Trails West Open Space .................................................................................................................................. 94 

Sorenson Woods at Kildeer Farm ............................................................................................................................... 96 

 

Chapter 4:  Implementation      

Plan Approval and Amendments .......................................................................................................................................... 99 

Park Acquisition and Development Mechanisms .................................................................................................................. 100 

    User Groups .................................................................................................................................................................... 100  

    Planned Giving ................................................................................................................................................................ 100  

    Grant Funding ................................................................................................................................................................. 100  

Grant Information for Park Acquisition and Development ...................................................................................................... 100 

    Projects that Require Grant Funding ................................................................................................................................. 100 

    Grant Programs ............................................................................................................................................................... 100  

Capital Improvements Plan .................................................................................................................................................. 106 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A:  Facilities Matrix 

 

Appendix B:  Maps 

▪ Map 1: Existing Parks 

▪ Map 2: Park Service Areas 

▪ Map 3: Bicycle Routes 

▪ Map 4: Park Facility Distribution 

▪ Map 5: Population Density 

▪ Map 6: Population Density by Age Group 

▪ Map 7: Potentially Underserved Areas 

▪ Map 8: Age Cohort Analysis 

▪ Map 9: Recent Improvements 

▪ Map 10: Proposed Facilities 



 

  

 

Appendix C:  Park Master Plans 

▪ Neighborhood Commons 

▪ Village Square 

 

Appendix D: Maps from 2013 Park & Open Space Plan 

 

Appendix E: Prairie Springs Park – Des Plaines River Planning Report (2007) 

 

Appendix F: Forest Stewardship Plans 

 

Appendix G: Pleasant Prairie Shoreline Assessment  

 

Appendix H: Village of Pleasant Prairie 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

 

Appendix I: Adoption 

 





V I L L A G E  O F 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

Park & Open Space Plan 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 

This plan has been prepared to guide the Village of Pleasant Prairie in developing and maintaining public parks and outdoor 

recreation facilities. It also serves as a tool to encourage participation in grant programs through the Department of Natural 

Resources and other agencies.  

 

1.1 Executive Summary  

Parks are gateways to healthy, prosperous and connected communities. The National Recreation and Park Association 

names “Three Pillars” by which a healthy park system can benefit a community: 

 

• Conservation – Parks play an important role in the conservation of natural resources. These protected open 

spaces not only benefit the environment but also serve as an important indicator to potential outside investment in 

the community. 

 

• Health and Wellness – Parks are essential in combating important health issues such as nutrition, hunger, obesity 

and physical inactivity. 

 

• Social Equity – Universal access to public parks and recreation should be considered a right, not a privilege. A 

healthy park system will provide equal access throughout the community. 

 

This Park and Open Space Plan sets forth Pleasant Prairie’s vision for the future growth and development of its outdoor 

recreation parks and facilities. The plan is intended to guide the community’s outdoor recreation facility development 

through the year 2023. 

 

The existing park system in Pleasant Prairie includes 18 parks owned and maintained by the Village. Many of these parks 

are larger community parks containing facilities such as recreation centers, athletic fields and event areas. Other parks are 

smaller scale neighborhood parks with traditional recreational facilities such as playgrounds, sport courts and open-air 

shelters. 

 

1.1.2 Village of Pleasant Prairie Parks & Recreation Mission Statement 

To preserve, protect, maintain and enhance the Village’s natural, cultural, historical, parkland, and recreational 

opportunities for all residents, visitors and for current and future generations in a safe and secure setting.  To connect all 

to the Village’s park and open space system, providing sustainable places to gather, celebrate, enjoy, contemplate, and 

engage in activities that promote health, well-being, and environmental preservation. 

 

1.1.2 Statement of Need 

The purpose of this project is to develop a Park and Open Space Plan for the Village of Pleasant Prairie, assess the vitality 

and needs of the current Village park system and provide direction for maintenance, growth and programming for the next 

five to ten years. 

 

As a working tool, the plan will provide officials with a clear understanding of park land inventory and future recreational 

facility and open space needs. The plan also creates an orderly and prioritized strategy for making incremental 

improvements. The plan will allow the Village to request DNR and other public funding for implementing proposed park 

improvements. 

 

 

 



  

2 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

1.2 Goals and Objectives 

The following section identifies goals and objectives to guide the future development or expansion of parks and 

recreational facilities in Pleasant Prairie. 

 

Goal 1.2.1: Establish and maintain high quality parks and recreational services. 

 Objectives:  

a. Ensure the number of parks and recreational facilities is reflective of community population needs. 

b. Upgrade and improve existing parks and facilities. 

i. Develop bi-annual inspections and inventory of existing park facilities to maintain an active log of facility 

improvements. 

ii. Continue funding the replacement of old and deteriorating equipment in all Village parks to ensure the 

health, safety and welfare of visitors. 

c. Pursue funding for park and recreation development and land acquisition. 

d. Pursue the development of revenue generating recreational facilities and activities, which can aid in the 

development of new facilities and/or the maintenance of existing facilities. 

 

Goal 1.2.2: Provide residents with safe and reliable recreation equipment throughout the community park system. 

 Objectives: 

a. Accurately inventory existing parks facilities and maintain an active log of facility improvements. 

b. Continue funding the replacement of old and deteriorating recreation equipment in all area parks. 

c. Continually monitor and maintain existing park equipment to ensure its longevity and safety. 

 

Goal 1.2.3: Offer recreational services in an efficient, effective and economical manner. 

 Objectives: 

a. Cooperatively work with surrounding municipalities, the school district and other partners. 

b. Conduct periodic reviews of programs and services and analyze their benefit to the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 3 

 

 

Goal 1.2.4: Evaluate and analyze park, open space and recreational services based on the needs of the community. 

 Objectives: 

a. Encourage citizen involvement with the development of the plan. 

b. Survey community to determine changing needs. 

 

Goal 1.2.5: Promote bicycle and pedestrian facilities throughout Pleasant Prairie. 

 Objectives: 

a. Improve local route connectivity throughout the area to parks, conservancies, schools, future downtown, local 

businesses and regional trails. 

b. Improve/establish wayfinding signage to allow new residents or visitors to effectively travel throughout the 

Village on foot or bicycle. 

c. Increase the availability and accessibility of bicycle parking. 

d. Study the feasibility of starting a bike share or similar rental program in the Village. 

e. Identify and coordinate improvements to walking trails within the Des Plaines River Conservancy Area and 

Chiwaukee Prairie. 

 

Goal 1.2.6: Ensure that the community’s existing open spaces, recreational facilities and programs are designed to 

meet the special needs of all residents regardless of age, gender or ability. 

 Objectives:  

a. Prepare a site Master Plan prior to improvement and/or development of any public park to assure the highest 

and best use of existing resources.  

b. Provide for barrier-free access in all new park facility construction and play areas. 

c. Achieve compliance with accessibility requirements in existing facilities by 2023. 

d. Encourage participation and accommodation of all interested participants at Park Commission meetings and 

in recreational programs. 

e. Comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act as it applies to communication with the public. This is in 

reference to the standard language that government agencies should use on their agendas and other public 

meeting documents stating accommodation of those with disabilities who wish to attend the meeting. 

 

Goal 1.2.7: Promote water recreation throughout the community.  

 Objectives: 

a. Improve visibility and awareness of water recreational opportunities at Prairie Springs Park, Lake Michigan 

Park and Ingram Park. 

b. Promote and maintain beaches, canoe/kayak launches and fishing areas. 

c. Continue to support community events that support water activity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

4 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

Goal 1.2.8: Coordinate subdivision review with all departments responsible for providing or maintaining adequate 

park facilities. 

 Objectives: 

a. Consult and incorporate the needs identified in the Park and Open Space Plan before subdivision plats and 

commercial developments are approved. 

b. Evaluate land dedicated for parks to differentiate between land appropriate for active park use, land 

appropriate for open space only and land requiring protection from development. Land requiring protection 

from development should be protected via development codes. 

c. Continually evaluate and update local zoning, land division and development control ordinances so that they 

adequately address the recreational needs of residents. 

d. Preserve any proposed trail corridors in any review of new development. 

 

Goal 1.2.9: Stress the benefits of larger neighborhood and community parks that provide a wide range of facilities 

over small playground and tot-lot facilities. 

 Objectives: 

a. Analyze the location, size and function of existing and proposed parks as annexations, residential development 

or land use changes occur. 

b. Communicate the importance of dynamic, multi-purpose parks and recreational facilities as a component of 

Pleasant Prairie’s regional draw and economic development potential.  

c. Use Park Service Area Criteria to help determine the location of future park sites (see Chapter 2). 

 

Goal 1.2.10: Recognize the importance of an adequate park budget, which can financially address existing park 

hazards and allow for future parkland acquisition and facility development. 

 Objectives: 

a. Use the Park and Open Space Plan as a guide to establish yearly park budgets and funding for the Pleasant 

Prairie park system. 

b. Invest funds for the development of facilities that will maximize existing park and recreation areas. Provide 

recreational programs with the intention of increasing park prominence, community visibility and use. 

 

Goal 1.2.11: Use all available resources to further enhance the quality of the Village’s park system. 

 Objectives: 

a. Continually pursue state and federal funding programs, which can aid in the purchase and/or development of 

desired park system improvements. 

b. Nurture positive relationships with public and private organizations for donations and volunteer-help to aid in 

park system development.   

c. Update the Park and Open Space Plan every five years to maintain grant eligibility. 

d. Pursue the development of revenue generating recreational facilities and activities, which can aid in the 

development of new facilities and/or the maintenance of existing facilities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 5 

 

 

1.3 Review of Past Planning Documents (Local, Regional & State) 

 

 

 

 

 

1.3.1 Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan (2013) 

The 2013 Village of Pleasant Prairie Park & Open Space Plan was an update to a previous version of the plan written in 

2006. The primary purpose of the plan was “to proactively plan for the Village’s future park and recreation needs” and to 

“guide the acquisition, preservation and development of land for parks, recreation trails and other open spaces in the 

Village to meet the needs of a growing and changing population.”  

 

The plan was organized by the following Chapters: 

• Chapter 1: Introduction 

• Chapter 2: Background Information 

• Chapter 3: Goals, Objectives and Standards 

• Chapter 4: Existing Park and Recreational Facilities 

• Chapter 5: Public Participation and Planning Process 

• Chapter 6: Analysis of Existing Park and Recreational Facilities 

• Chapter 7: Policy Recommendations and Programs Implementation 

• Chapter 8: Recommended Park, Open Space and Trail Conceptual Plans, Proposed Improvements and Future 

Park and Open Space Areas 

 

Some recommendations of the plan that have been implemented since its adoption include: 

• The construction of a 300-car, Park and Ride commuter parking lot at Prairie Springs Park 

• Development at Ingram Park including a dog park, parking lot, playground and fishing pier 

• Basketball and tennis courts at Pleasant Prairie Park 

• A parking lot, asphalt path, basketball court and tennis courts at Village Green Park 

 

The plan also made recommendations for policy and programming regarding parks and outdoor recreation. These policy 

and programming recommendations were based on five objectives described below: 

• The identification and acquisition of land for outdoor recreation sites and open spaces in the Village 

• Use marketing information to educate the community about park and recreation opportunities in the Village 

• Preserve natural, cultural and archaeological resources in the Village 

• Provide off-street and on-street bike and walking trails 

• Maintain and provide upgrades to the Village’s existing parks and facilities 

 

 



  

6 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

1.3.2 A Park and Open Space Plan for Kenosha County (2012) 

The Park and Open Space Plan for Kenosha County was originally adopted by the Kenosha County Board of Supervisors on 

October 18, 1988. The plan has been periodically updated since then with the latest version having been drafted in 2012.  

 

The objectives of the plan are established in Chapter 4 of the plan and listed below: 

• To provide an integrated system of public general use outdoor recreation sites and related open space areas 

which will allow the resident population of the County adequate opportunity to participate in a wide range of 

outdoor recreation activities. 

• To provide sufficient outdoor recreation facilities to allow the resident population of the County adequate 

opportunity to participate in intensive resource-oriented outdoor recreation activities. 

• To provide sufficient outdoor recreation facilities to allow the resident population of the County adequate 

opportunity to participate in intensive non-resource oriented outdoor recreation activities. 

• To provide sufficient outdoor recreation facilities to allow the resident population of the County adequate 

opportunity to participate in extensive land-based outdoor recreation activities. 

• To provide sufficient access areas to allow the resident population of the County adequate opportunities to 

participate in extensive water-based outdoor recreation activities on the major inland lakes, rivers and Lake 

Michigan which are consistent with enjoyable surface water use and the maintenance of adequate water quality. 

• To preserve sufficient high-quality open-space lands for protection of the underlying and sustaining natural 

resource base and enhancement of the social and economic well-being and environmental quality of the County. 

• To provide for the efficient and economical satisfaction of outdoor recreation and related open space needs 

meeting all other objectives at the lowest possible cost. 

 

Some recommendations of the plan pertaining to the Village of Pleasant Prairie include: 

• Protection of natural areas and critical species habitat on 41 acres of public and privately-owned land in Pleasant 

Prairie 

• Development of trails in the Des Plaines River Conservancy corridor 

• Canoe/kayak access along the Des Plaines River and development of the River as part of a water trail system 

• Reference to local park and open space plans for park specific recommendations 

 

1.3.3 Village of Pleasant Prairie 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan (2010) 

The stated goal of the Village’s 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan was to “Establish and maintain a safe, 

comprehensive and integrated bicycle and pedestrian trail network that encourages the use of bicycles and walking for 

commuting, recreation and other trips.” The plan was organized into eight chapters with sections focusing on topics such 

as the importance of bicycling and walking, design standards and recommendations for improvements. The plan called for 

the development of off-street paths, on-street bike lanes and sidewalks that would increase the Village’s bicycle and 

pedestrian network from 10 miles to 98 miles. The routes were developed based on the results of public participation, 

future development plans and the assessment of existing roadways. The goal of the proposed network was to provide 

coverage through the community, to establish routes to popular destinations and to create connectivity with neighboring 

communities. Several of the recommendations of the plan were implemented including the establishment of bike lanes on 

Old Green Bay Road, Prairie Ridge Boulevard and 88
th

 Avenue as well as an off-road trail north of Prairie Springs Park. This 

plan should be updated as part of the Village Transportation Plan. 

 

1.3.4 Pleasant Prairie Shoreline Assessment (2018) 

A shoreline assessment was performed in the Village in 2018 to evaluate the condition of shoreline protection structures 

on Lake Michigan. The condition of structures was evaluated by parcel and given a condition level of “Good”, “Fair” or 

“Poor”. “Good” structures were those in near perfect condition and functioning as designed. “Poor” structures were those 

with major structural damage and no longer functioning as designed. Observations were recorded for each parcel noting 

any unique or important circumstances that might exist related to shoreline protection. This report should be consulted 

before the construction of any improvements in shoreline parks recommended in this CORP. 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 7 

 

 

 

 

 

1.3.5 Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan (2009) 

The Pleasant Prairie Comprehensive Plan is intended as a long-range guide for the future development and natural 

resource protection of the Village through the year 2035. The plan establishes the Village’s planning goals and serves as a 

reference to aid in decisions made by Village staff and officials. This Park and Open Space Plan is intended as a 

component of the Comprehensive Plan. The Comprehensive Plan is scheduled to be updated in 2020-2021 to the design 

year of 2050. 

 

The plan focuses on nine elements required by Wisconsin statute including:  

• Issues and Opportunities 

• Housing 

• Transportation 

• Utilities and Community Facilities 

• Agricultural, Natural and Cultural Resources 

• Economic Development 

• Intergovernmental Cooperation 

• Land Use 

• Implementation 

 

The Agricultural, Natural and Cultural Resources element contains an inventory of State, County, Village and private parks 

and open spaces in Pleasant Prairie as well as recommendations for the improvement of the overall park system. 

 

Some recommendations of the plan regarding parks and open space include: 

• Implement the recommendations of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan and the Village of 

Pleasant Prairie Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan as components of the Comprehensive Plan 

• Ensure adequate areas are identified on the Village’s 2035 Land Use Map as park and recreation lands to meet the 

future needs of the Village 

• Provide an integrated system of public parks, trails and open spaces that will allow residents to participate in a 

wide range of outdoor recreation activities 

• Encourage the protection of high-quality open space lands 



  

8 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

• Apply for Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) Stewardship funds, WCMP grants and other State 

and federal funding 

 

1.3.6 Prairie Springs Park Natural Area - Des Plaines River Planning Report (2007) 

This plan was prepared for the Village to provide an assessment of the natural plant communities within the Prairie Spring 

Park Natural area. A summary of plant types, research opportunities and recommendations for best management practices 

were included in the report. 

 

Recommendations of the plan included: 

• Woody vegetation removal 

• Prescribed burns 

• Reed canary grass control 

• Native seed collecting and spreading 

• Common reed grass control 

• Invasive species monitoring and control 

 

A copy of this plan can be found in Appendix E. 

 

1.3.7 A Park and Open Space Plan for the Kenosha Planning District (1980) 

This plan, adopted in 1980, was the first Park and Open Space Plan for the City of Kenosha, the Town of Pleasant Prairie 

and the Town of Somers. The primary recommendations of the plan included the acquisition and development of new parks, 

the construction of new facilities in existing parks and protection of important open space areas in the region.  

 

1.3.8 A Regional Park and Open Space Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin: 2000 (1977) 

On December 1, 1977, SEWRPC adopted a regional park and open space plan for Southeastern Wisconsin consisting of 

two basic elements: an open space preservation element and an outdoor recreation element. The open space preservation 

element consists of recommendations for the preservation of primary environmental corridors within the Region. The 

outdoor recreation element consists of: 1) a resource-oriented outdoor recreation plan providing recommendations for the 

number and location of large parks, recreation corridors to accommodate trail-oriented activities, and water-access facilities 

to enable the recreational use of rivers, inland lakes, and Lake Michigan; and 2) an urban, outdoor recreation plan providing 

recommendations for the number and distribution of local parks and outdoor recreational facilities required in urban areas of 

the Region. The initial regional park and open space plan is documented in SEWRPC Planning Report No. 27, A Regional 

Park and Open Space Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin: 2000, November 1977. 

 

SEWRPC assists each of the counties in the Region in preparing county-level park and open space plans. These plans 

refine, detail, and extend the regional park and open space plan. Upon adoption by the Commission, the county plans serve 

as amendments to the regional park and open space plan.  

 

1.3.9 Wisconsin’s State Outdoor Recreation Plan 

Since 1965, the State has developed and maintained the Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP) in 

an attempt to classify, measure and ultimately provide for the preferences and needs of a statewide recreating public. 

Goals include the following: 

1. Improve integration of outdoor recreation interests and needs in land use and other relevant planning efforts. 

2. Continue to provide and enhance access to Wisconsin recreational land and waters. 

3. Promote outdoor recreation as a means of improving public health among Wisconsinites. 

4. Establish great urban parks and community green spaces. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 9 

 

 

1.4 Summary of the Planning Process 

 

1.4.1 Work Plan and Timeline 

This plan was developed between February and July 2018. The process 

included correspondence and meetings with Village staff, public outreach 

and a presentation to the Village Board. All parks were audited by Ayres 

staff with findings identified on inventory sheets.  

 

1.4.2 Meetings 

Meeting #1 – Public Information Meeting – April 2018: A public information 

meeting was held on April 25
th

 to present the proposed content and format 

of the plan and to gather public input on the future Pleasant Prairie parks. 

Comments regarding the hopes and concerns of meeting attendees was 

documented and referenced in the preparation of this plan. This list of 

comments is shown below. 

 

List of comments from the Public Information Meeting: 

• Better communication-Park Plan-Timeline 

• No park improvements – If taxes increase 

• Change Lake Michigan Park plan! Keep it natural! 

• Keep taxes low 

• Review Carol Beach survey 

• No improvements Carol Beach area 

• Self-sustaining prairies 

• Natural land and communication 

• Police at Village parks 

• No improvements before plan approval 

• Keep Lake Michigan Park natural 

• Why is plan being developed? 

• Green Bay Rd bike trail – East-west connection 

• Signs uniform 

• Pickleball 

• More porta-potties and garbage cans 

• Carol Beach – Neighborhood beach (Not public) 

• Change parking – CB (parallel) 

• Town club – Keep natural 

• Square park – Parking 

• Utilization of current parks 

• Cost to maintain new (proposed) parks 

• Put posts all along beach park – no parking 

• Restore native plants create dunes 

• 116
th

 and Sheridan bike crossing 

• No bike path north of 85
th

 St into dunes (too fragile!) 

 

Field Work – May 2018: All sites were audited by Ayres staff and issues 

photo documented. 

 

October 22, 2018: Notice sent to Kenosha news 

 

Meeting #2 November 2018: Park Commission presentation 



  

10 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

 

Meeting #3 - November 26, 2018: Plan Commission presentation. Plan Commission to amend the 2035 Comprehensive 

Plan with the park plan. 

 

December 10, 2018: Plan submitted to the Village 

 

December 14, 2018: Public notice 

 

January 14, 2019: Plan Commission meeting 

 

January 21, 2019: Village Board final review and approval 

 

1.4.3 Online Survey 

During the development of this plan, an online survey was created to record public opinion concerning key issues and 

opportunities for enhanced use and enjoyment of parks in Pleasant Prairie. The survey was used to formulate 

recommendations in Chapter 3. The survey went live on April 22, 2018, and a web link was made available during the 

public meeting and posted on the Village website. The survey was closed for tabulation of results on June 6, 2018. A total 

of 101 individuals responded to the survey, 89% of whom were Village of Pleasant Prairie residents.  

 

General findings of the survey are summarized on the following pages: 

 

The overall findings of the survey revealed general satisfaction with the Pleasant Prairie park system. Some of the key 

potential areas of improvement reflected in the survey results include: 

 

• A need for more park facilities for seniors 

• More hiking/biking trails 

• More community and natural gardens 

• Safe route to walk and bike to parks and facilities 

• A desire to return Lake Michigan to its natural dunescape condition 

 

Summaries of the results of the survey are on the following pages. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 11 

 

 

• Survey participants were asked to rate the overall condition of recreational facilities in Village parks. Items like 

baseball fields, boat launches, fishing access, picnic areas and park restroom facilities were the most common 

facilities rated “good” or “excellent” by respondents. Facilities that were most commonly rated “need 

improvement” included natural gardens, historic/educational sites, trails and community gardens. See Chart 1 

for complete results. 

 

Chart 1 – Please indicate the overall condition of each type of recreational facility that your community offers. 

 

 

 



  

12 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

• Survey participants were asked if the quantity of any facilities/amenities in Pleasant Prairie did not meet the 

demands of the community. The most frequently chosen facility that did not meet the demands of the community 

was natural gardens followed by trails, historic/educational sites and community gardens. 

 

Chart 2 – Please indicate whether Pleasant Prairie has sufficient quantities for each type to meet demand. 

 

 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 13 

 

 

• Survey participants were asked if the needs of any age group were not met by the existing facilities in Pleasant 

Prairie parks. Seniors (age 55+) were the age group the most people (33.3%) felt were not adequately served by 

park facilities. See Chart 3. 

 

Chart 3 - Considering the various age groups of people in the Pleasant Prairie area, please indicate whether the 

existing facilities adequately meet their needs. 

 

 

 

• Support components are accessory structures and facilities necessary for park use. These include public 

restrooms, parking lots, handicap accessibility, shelters, safe routes to facilities and programming. When asked if 

any of these facilities needed improvement in Pleasant Prairie, “Safe Routes to Walk and/or Bike to the Facility” 

received a significantly higher percentage of selections than any other choice. 92.6% of responses indicated that 

facilities supporting “Safe Routes to Walk and/or Bike to the Facility” needed improvement. See Chart 4 for survey 

results. 

 

Chart 4 – Please indicate which, if any, of the following support components at existing park facilities need 

improvement. Select all that apply. 

 

 

 



  

14 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

• Survey participants were asked to rank five types of general park improvements in order from most to least 

important. Forty percent of respondents felt “Maintenance of Existing Facilities” was the most important type of 

improvement. This was followed by “Improvements Added to Existing Facilities (18%), “Development of New 

Facilities” (16%), “Increased Staffing” (14%) and “Offering Additional Programs” (12%). 

 

Chart 5 – Highest Priority Improvements   

 

 

 

Other questions: 

 

• Survey participants were asked what specific facilities were desired but not provided in Pleasant Prairie. 

Generalized common responses included “Satisfaction with existing facilities/No new facilities needed,” “More 

hiking trails,” “More bicycle facilities” and “Preservation of the Carol Beach shore and natural area.” 

 

• Survey participants were asked which outdoor recreation activities they expected to gain popularity over the next 

five years. The most common responses included bicycling, hiking, water recreation, natural areas and pickleball. 

 

• Survey participants were asked if there were any specific facilities in Pleasant Prairie parks that need 

improvement. Most responses were regarding Lake Michigan Park (Prairie Shore Beach) and the desire to restore 

it to its natural dune and plant state. Survey respondents also expressed opposition to any new facilities in the 

park and the desire to increase police enforcement of park hours and rules. 

 

1.5 Pleasant Prairie Demographics 

 

1.5.1 Social Characteristics 

This section presents social factors that are important to understanding the community and its recreation needs. 

Particularly important to planning for the adequate provision of parks and open spaces are population trends and 

projections over the planning period (5-10 years) and the age characteristics of potential park users. 

 

Population Trends and Projections 

There is a direct relationship between population and the need for parks and recreational space. Predicting how the 

population might grow in the future provides important information about the amount of new parkland and recreational 

facilities that will be needed to serve the new populations.  

 

According to data provided by the U.S. Census Bureau, Pleasant Prairie has experienced fluctuating population growth 

rates over the last 50 years. The population increased 6% between 1970 and 1980 then decreased 5% between 1980 and 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 15 

 

 

1990. The Village experienced high population growth between 1990 and 2000 as well as between 2000 and 2010 with 

growth rates of 34% and 22% respectively. Since 2010, population has increased 6% for a total of 20,936 residents. There 

was an overall population increase of 8,917 people (74%) from 1970 to 2017. The Wisconsin Department of 

Administration (DOA) projects that Pleasant Prairie will experience a 37% population growth between the years 2017 and 

2040 resulting in an additional 7,764 residents. Population projection information for Pleasant Prairie and comparable 

communities is provided in Table 1.1. Current National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) standards recommend a 

minimum of 10.5 acres of dedicated parkland per 1000 residents. Chapter 2 will discuss this standard as it applies to the 

current and future populations of Pleasant Prairie. 

 

  Table 1.1: Population Projections for the Village of Pleasant Prairie and Comparables (2035) 

 

Name of 

Municipality 

Estimate 

2017 

Projection 

2020 

Projection 

2025 

Projection 

2030 

Projection 

2035 

Projection 

2040 

Percentage 

Change       

2017-2040 

V Pleasant Prairie 20,936 22,730 24,560 26,330 27,690 28,700 37% 

        

C Beaver Dam 16,845 17,340 18,090 18,740 18,990 18,900 12% 

V Caledonia 24,820 25,970 26,780 27,460 27,910 27,900 12% 

C Cudahy 18,186 18,510 18,450 18,460 18,820 18,940 4% 

C Muskego 24,628 26,120 27,630 29,010 29,690 29,820 21% 

C South Milwaukee 20,910 21,570 21,570 21,660 22,160 22,370 7% 

      
 

 

Source: Wisconsin Department of Administration Estimates and Projections (2013, 2017) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chart 4: Village of Pleasant Prairie Population Projections (2017 – 2040) 

 

 

 

Source: Wisconsin Department of Administration Estimates and Projections (2013, 2017) 

 

Note: The Wisconsin DOA estimate of population is shown for 2017. All other years show 

the predicted population based on Wisconsin DOA population projections made in 2013. 

 

 

 

 



  

16 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

Age 

Age distribution in Pleasant Prairie is shown in Table 1.2. Age cohorts are an important consideration when determining 

park facilities because different age groups utilize different recreation facilities. For example, in 2016 there were an 

estimated 3,072 people between the ages of 55 and 64 (15.0% of the population). This represents an increase of 111% in 

the population of this age group from the year 2000. The number of park facilities designed for this age group should be 

reassessed as there are many more people in this age group in Pleasant Prairie using park facilities than there were in 

2000. Facilities such as hiking trails, pickleball courts and park shelters are used by this age group and may be needed in 

higher quantities now than they had in the past.  

 

Table 1.2: Age Distribution, 2000-2016  

Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin   

  2000 2016 Percent Change 

  Number Percent Number Percent  2000-2016 

Under 5 years 1,002 6.2 1,000 4.9 0% 

5 to 9 years 1,241 7.7 828 4.1 -33% 

10 to 14 years 1,396 8.7 1,492 7.3 7% 

15 to 19 years 1,106 6.9 1,501 7.4 36% 

20 to 24 years 712 4.4 1,164 5.7 63% 

25 to 34 years 2,010 12.5 1,967 9.6 -2% 

35 to 44 years 3,042 18.9 2,821 13.8 -7% 

45 to 54 years 2,457 15.2 3,724 18.2 52% 

55 to 64 years 1,455 9.0 3,072 15.0 111% 

65 to 74 years 897 5.6 1,870 9.1 108% 

75 to 84 years 570 3.5 597 3.0 5% 

85 years and over 248 1.5 359 1.8 45% 

Total Population 16,136   20,395   26% 

 

Source: 2000 Census (SF-1), 2016 ACS 

5 Year Estimate     

 

 

 

 

                              Population Change (2000 – 2016)                                                Ethnic Background 

 

 

 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 17 

 

 

1.6 Physical Characteristics 

The following section highlights some of the physical characteristics of Pleasant Prairie. This section can be useful in 

giving an overall impression of the area, determining suitability for certain improvements and identifying areas that should 

be conserved due to their unique natural features. 

                                                                                       

Topography 

The map below shows a color-coded elevation model of the Village ranging from lower elevations in blue to the highest 

elevations in white. See the cross section below the map for corresponding colors and elevations. Pleasant Prairie has 

an approximate elevation range of 580 feet above sea level at Lake Michigan to 750 feet above sea level on the far west 

side of the Village.    

 

 

 

 
   Data Source: USGS National Elevation Database 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

18 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

Soils 

The most common soil type found in Pleasant Prairie is Ozaukee silt loam at 2 to 6% slopes. This soil type is found in over 

3,500 acres in the Village followed by Ashkum silty clay loam (0 to 2% slopes) on 2,000 acres and Ozaukee silt loam (2 to 

6% slopes, eroded) found on approximately 1,600 acres. Soils that occupy less than 500 acres in the village are not 

shown on the chart below and are shown as grey areas on the map. 

 

 

 Data Source: USDA Soil Survey Geographic Database 

 

 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 19 

 

 

Land Cover 

Approximately 37% of the Village is classified as an “Urban/Developed”, making it the most common land cover type in 

the Village. “Agriculture” is the next most common land cover type at 27% coverage, followed by “Wetland” at 19% and 

“Grassland” at 8%. 

 

 

  Data Source: Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 

 

 

 



  

20 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

Watersheds 

Approximately two-thirds of Pleasant Prairie is in the Des Plaines River watershed and drains to the south and southwest. 

The sub-continental divide bisects the Village from north to south with the Des Plaines River watershed to the west and the 

Pike River – Kenosha watershed to the east. A small area in north Pleasant Prairie is in the Pike River watershed. 

 

 

  Data Source: Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

CHAPTER 1: Recommendations | 21 

 

 

Major Property Owners 

The Village of Pleasant Prairie owns the most land of any other property owner in the Village with 1,708 acres owned. The 

State of the Wisconsin owns 625 acres divided between its divisions such as the DNR, DOT and University of Wisconsin.  

 

 

  Data Source: State Cartographers Office 

 

 

 

 



  

22 | CHAPTER 1: Recommendations 

 

 

 

 

 



V I L L A G E  O F 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

Park & Open Space Plan 
 

2 ANALYSIS OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

PARK AND OPEN SPACE SYSTEM 
 

This chapter analyzes the existing park system in the Village of Pleasant Prairie. Parks are inventoried and classified based 

on standards established by the National Recreation and Park Association.  

 

2.1 Village Park and Open Space Facilities 

The information for this section was gathered from site visits conducted by 

Ayres Associates, discussion with Village staff and review of past planning 

documents. A Facility Matrix for the Pleasant Prairie park system is located in 

Appendix A. See Appendix B for a map of park locations. 

 

2.1.1 Mini Parks 

Mini parks include specialized facilities that serve a concentrated population, 

limited population or specific group such as tots or senior citizens. Typical 

size is 1 acre or less but parks may be categorized as mini parks simply 

based on the type and quantity of facilities they offer. Complete park 

descriptions, inventories and recommendations for improvements for all 

parks can be found in Chapter 3. 

 

• Becker Park 

• Creekside Park (South) 

• Woodlawn (Harrison) Park 

 

2.1.2 Neighborhood Parks 

Neighborhood parks are areas for multiple and sometimes intensive 

recreational activities. Facilities may include athletic fields, sports courts, 

playgrounds, skate parks, trails, picnic areas and splashpads. Typical size is 

between 3 to 10 acres.  

 

• Carol Beach Park 

• Rolling Meadows Park 

 

2.1.3 Community Parks 

Community parks are areas of diverse recreational activity and may include 

amenities such as athletic complexes, trails and large swimming pools. 

Community parks are typically 10 acres or larger but may vary depending on 

facilities offered. 

 

• Ingram Park 

• Pleasant Prairie Park 

• Village Green Park 

 

 



24 | CHAPTER 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System 

2.1.4 Regional Parks 

A regional park is a larger park (over 200 acres) that serves several communities. Regional parks may include both active 

and passive uses and often contain unique facilities such as indoor athletic facilities, aquatic facilities and special event 

areas.  

 

• Prairie Springs Park 

 

2.1.5 Special-Use Parks 

Special use parks are areas for specialized or single purpose recreational activities such as golf courses, campgrounds, 

nature centers and skate parks. They may also be used to designate areas that are primarily used as event space, general 

gathering areas, expanded trail corridors or plaza space. 

 

• Lake Michigan Park 

 

2.1.6 Conservancy, Open Space and Natural Areas 

Conservancy parks and natural areas are established for protection and management of the natural or cultural environment 

with recreational facilities as a secondary objective. Open spaces are areas that currently offer no recreational facilities but 

have been reserved as future active or passive park lands. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.1.7 School Parks 

Although not maintained by the Village, school facilities offer community residents with outdoor recreation activities. 

School parks often contain structured play equipment, open space and athletic fields. This plan will not offer 

recommendations for improvements in these school parks as they are not owned by the Village, but they should be 

considered when analyzing facilities available to the community. The Kenosha Unified School District maintains the 

recreation areas of three schools in Pleasant Prairie with facilities open for public use.  

 

• Pleasant Prairie Elementary School 

• Prairie Lane Elementary School 

• Whittier Elementary School 

 

2.1.8 Trail Corridors 

A linear park or trail corridor is an area designated for one or more modes of recreational travel such as hiking, biking, 

snowmobiling, etc. There are a number of trails in, and adjacent to Pleasant Prairie. See Map 3 in Appendix B for existing 

trail locations. 

 

The Kenosha County Bike Trail bisects Pleasant Prairie with 3.4 miles of asphalt, multi-use trail within the Village limits and 

connects to trails in neighboring communities to the north and south. The trail continues for 12 miles to the south into 

Illinois ending in North Chicago. This Illinois portion of the trail is called trail Robert McClory Bike Path. A short on-road 

connection to the north allows riders to connect to the Pike Bike Trail through Kenosha, eventually connecting with the 

northern portion of the Kenosha County Bike Trail into Racine. 

 

Prairie Springs Park Trails include over 2 miles of multi-use trails and approximately 2 miles of natural surface hiking trails 

within the park. The multi-use trail is an 8-foot wide asphalt trail that encircles Lake Andrea. A new connection to the park 

trail, the Prairie Farms Trail, was completed in 2013 and gives access to neighborhoods to the north near Pleasant Prairie 

Park. The hiking trails are in the wooded area in the southwest portion of the park. 

• Chiwaukee Prairie – Carol Beach Open Space 

• Chiwaukee View 

• County Corner – Tobin Creek Open Space 

• Des Plaines River Open Space Land 

• Edithton Beach 

• Lakeshore Park 

• Momper’s Woods 

• Prairie Trails West Open Space 

• Sorensen Woods at Kildeer Farm 



CHAPTER 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System | 25 

 

 

 

The Prairie Farms Trail was under construction at the time of writing of the last Park and Open Space Plan. This dual-

purpose facility is intended as both a vehicle access road to Village utilities in the area and as a multi-use trail. The 8-foot 

wide, gravel trail extends from Prairie Spring Park to Wilmot Road near Pleasant Prairie Park. Plans for the trail include 

paving and a formal connection to Pleasant Prairie Park. 

 

Chiwaukee Prairie Trails include four hiking trails within the Chiwaukee Prairie – Carol Beach Open Space. These primarily 

natural surface trails were developed on roadways that were platted as part of a subdivision in the area before the land had 

been designated as a conservancy. The four trails are the Gen Crema Trail, the Al Krampert Trail, the Jim Olson Trail and 

the Phil Sander Trail. The trails contain interpretive signage describing prairie plants and other information pertaining to the 

natural area. 

 

The Highway 165 Trail was recently constructed adjacent to the expanded westbound lanes. The 10-foot wide, shared-use 

path extends 1.3 miles from 120
th

 Avenue to Terwall Terrace in Prairie Springs Park. The path connects to the bike lanes 

on County Highway H through the trail network in Prairie Springs Park. 

 

2.2 Parkland Classification Analysis  

The number and type of parks and recreation facilities needed within a community are dependent on the demands of the 

local residents. Identifying the recreational needs and wants of community residents provides the justification for funding 

the acquisition and development of new facilities as well as for the maintenance of existing recreational facilities.   

 

2.2.1 Parkland Classification 

A parkland classification system is a useful tool to determine if an existing park system serves the needs of a community.  

The definitions in this document are adapted from the National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) classification 

system. Total acreage alone does not guarantee that the community’s park needs are being met.  A community should 

have a number of different types of parks to serve the various needs of the residents.  They may have “met the standard” 

in acreage through the creation of one large park, but the community’s needs can best be met through a variety of 

recreational activities. Table 2-1 explains the seven park classifications most commonly used in the NRPA system, their 

associated use, service areas, desirable size and desired acres per 1,000 population.  A well-rounded park system offers 

at least one park in each classification.  

 

 

   Table 2-1    National Recreation and Park Association Parkland Classification System 

Component 

  

Use 

 

Service Area 

 

Desirable 

Size 

Acres/1,000 

Population 

A. Local/Close-to-Home Space 

Mini Park Specialized facilities that serve a 

concentrated or limited population or 

specific group such as tots or senior 

citizens. 

Less than ¼ mile radius 1 acre or less 0.25 to 0.5A 

Neighborhood 

Park 

Areas for intense recreational activities, 

such as field games, court games, 

crafts, playground apparatus area, 

skating, picnicking, wading pools, etc. 

¼ to ½ mile radius to 

serve a population up to 

5,000 (a neighborhood) 

3-10 acres 1.0 to 2.0A 

Community Park Areas of diverse environmental quality.  

May include areas suited for intense 

recreational facilities, such as athletic 

complexes and large swimming pools.  

May be an area of natural quality for 

Several neighborhoods.  1 

to 2-mile radius 

10+ acres 5.0 to 8.0A 



26 | CHAPTER 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System 

outdoor recreation, such as walking, 

viewing, sitting, picnicking.  May be 

any combination of the above, 

depending upon site suitability and 

community need. 

Total Local Space = 6.25 to 10.5 AC/1,000 

 

 

Table 2-1 (Continued) NRPA Parkland Classification System 

Component Use Service Area 
Desirable 

Size 

Acres/1,000 

Population 
 

B. Regional Space 

Regional/ Metro-

politan Park 

Areas of natural or ornamental quality 

for outdoor recreation, such as 

picnicking, boating, fishing, swimming, 

camping, and trail uses; may include 

play areas. 

Several communities. 

One hour driving time ~ 

40 miles 

200+ acres 5.0 to 10.0A 

 

C. Space that may be Local or Regional and is Unique to Each Community 

Linear Park Area developed for one or more varying 

modes of recreational travel, such as 

hiking, biking, snowmobiling, horseback 

riding, cross-country skiing, canoeing 

and pleasure driving.  May include active 

play areas.  (NOTE:  the above 

components may occur in the “linear 

park”) 

No applicable standard Sufficient 

width to 

protect the 

resource and 

provide 

maximum use 

Variable 

 

Special Use Areas for specialized or single purpose 

recreational activities, such as golf 

courses, nature centers, skateparks, 

marinas, zoos, conservatories, arboreta, 

display gardens, arenas, outdoor 

theaters, gun ranges, or downhill ski 

areas, or areas that preserve, maintain, 

and interpret buildings, sites, and 

objects of archeological significance. 

Also, plazas or squares in or near 

commercial centers, boulevards, 

parkways. 

No applicable standard Variable Variable 

     

Conservancy Protection and management of the 

natural/cultural environment with 

recreational use as a secondary 

objective. 

No applicable standard Sufficient to 

protect the 

resource 

Variable 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System | 27 

 

 

2.2.2 Level of Service Standards 

Once a community’s existing parks have been classified, a comparison can be made between the national standard for 

each park type and existing park acreage. While there is no formally established method to determine the Level of Service 

(LOS) provided by the existing facilities, the following parameters should be considered. 

 

Indicators 

 

  

Social 

Environmental    

Economic 

Acreage/Miles 

   

Population standards (Acres/1000 population) 

Benchmarking  

Facilities, Activities, Capacity Population standards 

Demographic Analysis 

Neighborhood area activities 

Supply/Demand 

Access Walking/Bicycling/Driving, Transit 

Parks 

Facilities 

Quality Evaluation 

Mapping/Distribution   

Programs Relevancy, quality, and variety 

Scheduling 

Mapping/Distribution     

 

 

The widely accepted NRPA standard for park acreage per 1,000 population is 10.5 acres. It is recommended that this 

acreage be distributed among park types as follows: 

 

 

Table 2-2    NRPA Recommended Park Standards 

Mini Parks 

Neighborhood Parks 

Community/Regional Parks 

0.5 acres/1,000 population 

2 acres/1,000 population 

8 acres/1,000 population 

Total  10.5 acres/1,000 population 

 

Park acreage totals in Pleasant Prairie compared to NRPA standards are shown in Chart 2-1. Applying the ratios from 

Table 2-2 to the Pleasant Prairie estimated 2017 population of 20,936, the park acreage standards (shown as the blue 

bars in Chart 2-1) are established. The Village is below the national standard in terms of mini park and neighborhood park 

areas, but far exceeds the standards for community/regional park and total park areas. In order to meet the standard for all 

park types, the Village would have to add 7.2 acres of mini park and 35.3 acres of neighborhood park. Due to the surplus 

of community park acreage, reclassification of a community park to neighborhood park could be one way to meet the 

standard for neighborhood park area without acquiring new park land. It should be noted that only Village owned, active 

use parks are used in this calculation. Conservancy parks, County parks and school parks are not counted toward the 

NRPA standard. 

 

Chart 2-2 uses the 2040 population projection (Wisconsin Department of Administration) of 28,700 residents and applies 

it to measure current acreage figures compared to future standards. Pleasant Prairie would require an additional 50.8 

acres of neighborhood park land and 11.1 acres of mini park land to meet the NRPA standard for the 2040 population (see 

Chart 2-3). The Village would still exceed the standard areas for community parks and total parks by a considerable 

amount. 

 



28 | CHAPTER 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System 

The NRPA acreage standards should only be seen as one tool by which to measure a community’s overall park level of 

service. Several other factors contribute to the value of parks in addition to overall acreage. The number of amenities in 

parks, the type of amenities in parks and the age makeup of the community are just a few other factors that must be 

considered when estimating the service level of a park system. 

 

 

 

Chart 2.1 – Pleasant Prairie park acreage compared to the recommended national standard 

 

 

 

 

 

Chart 2.2 – Pleasant Prairie park acreage compared to the 2040 population projection 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System | 29 

 

 

 

 

            Chart 2.3 –  Additional park acreage needed to serve forecasted 2040 Village population 

 

 

 

      *See page 38 for potential future park locations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



30 | CHAPTER 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System 

2.3 Park Service Area Requirements 

This method of evaluating a community’s parkland needs and adequacy of service includes plotting park service areas on 

a base map to identify areas that are underserved.  Utilizing the park service radii criteria established by the NRPA, park 

service areas were mapped for Village owned mini, neighborhood, community and regional parks.  

 

To more accurately depict true service areas for mini and neighborhood parks, the park buffer areas were trimmed at 

major street crossings. It is assumed that these major street corridors would be a barrier to accessing smaller parks. The 

community park and regional park service areas are not trimmed because these types of parks are considered driveable 

destinations, drawing people from outside the expected walking distance.  

 

 

    Mini Park Service Areas 

 

 

   

              Neighborhood Park Service Areas 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System | 31 

 

 

 

             Community Park Service Areas 

 

 

It should be noted that the Pleasant Prairie’s regional park, Prairie Springs Park, has a service area much larger than that of 

the other park classifications. A regional park has a service area equivalent to a one-hour drive time, or approximately, 40 

miles. It is a great asset to the community to have a destination park such as Prairie Springs Park. It also means that all 

Village residents reside in the service area of a park because Prairie Springs Park’s service area covers the entire Village. 

 

 

 

            Regional Park Service Area 

  

 

The park service area buffers were combined into a single map that can be found in Appendix B, Map 2. Park service area 

analysis reveals some significant gaps in coverage. While this is likely not an issue for some of the less densely populated 

parts of the Village (southwest), there are some more populated areas that are not in the reach of any nearby parks other 

than the regional park.  

 



32 | CHAPTER 2: Analysis of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space System 

Gaps should be examined that exist in populated areas in the north-central, northeast and south-central parts of the Village. 

New parks in these areas is the first solution to be considered to improve the reach of Village parks. Changing the 

classification of open space land by adding active use amenities could be one alternative to adding new park land. If 

features such as playground equipment and tennis courts were installed at one of the open space areas in the south-

central part of the Village, a new neighborhood park would be created with a service area that would reach residents within 

one-half mile. More detailed mapping and GIS analysis can be found in Appendix B. Maps showing population density as 

well as maps using GIS techniques such as overlay analysis were used to help formulate the recommendations of this 

plan regarding potential future park locations and amenities. 

 

2.4 GIS Age Cohort Analysis 

Age cohort analysis was developed to help prioritize improvements based on the distribution of residents by age and the 

availability of recreation facilities by geographic location. The methodology includes the layering of data on a map (See 

Map 8 in Appendix B). The result is a graduated scale of relative need or “priority” based on the absence of a particular 

set of amenities we would expect an age group to utilize. The map is used to identify areas of spatial mismatch where 

parks containing certain amenities are not located in neighborhoods containing user groups best suited for those 

amenities.  For example, if an area contains a high percentage of toddlers (age 2-5) but does not contain toddler-aged play 

equipment, the priority rating would be “high” because the area lacks the amenities to serve that population. 

  

The analysis was used for four populations:  

1. Under 5 years of age: toddlers are best served by play equipment such as sandboxes, toddler swings, tot slides, 

spring riders, and tilt cups. 

2. Ages 5 to 9: this group can be expected to use play equipment such as swings, climbing structures, teeter totters, 

merry-go-rounds and monkey bars.   

3. Ages 10 to 17 years of age: this group can be served by a variety of park facilities.  Amenities evaluated for this 

population include facilities related to baseball, softball, soccer, basketball, skateboarding and ice skating. 

4. Age 55+: service to this this group included facilities such as hiking trails, outdoor fitness stations, boat 

launches, pickleball and tennis. 

 

2.5 Bicycle and Pedestrian Connections 

A park-by-park analysis revealed a lack of barrier-free access to some park facilities and playgrounds. This is an important 

consideration for residents who have mobility limitations and require additional accommodation. Barrier-free access to 

many of the facilities can be accommodated by simple solutions such as installing curb cuts to allow easy access for 

pedestrians from the street to the park. This missing piece of infrastructure also poses a barrier for cyclists. Additional 

bike racks should be considered in some parks.  

 

Online survey results revealed a strong desire for more bicycle and pedestrian facilities in Pleasant Prairie. Survey 

participants citied a need for new facilities for both recreational purposes as well as to establish safer routes to community 

destinations. Map 3 (Appendix B) shows the existing and proposed bicycle network in Pleasant Prairie. Bike routes are 

shown as designated by the Village Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan. Although this plan will seek to identify opportunities 

to expand the bicycle network to reach more park spaces, the 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan should be 

referenced for bicycle and pedestrian facility development.   

                                                                                                                                                                                           

 

 

 

 

 

 



V I L L A G E  O F 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

Park & Open Space Plan 
 

3 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

This chapter includes a variety of recommendations specifically developed to meet the recreational needs of the community 

over the next five years. The recommendations incorporate local citizen input and have been developed as a result of 

extensive analysis and participation by Village officials, citizens and Village staff as presented in the preceding chapters. 

 

General recommendations are provided for direction on policy and design considerations while considering operational 

and maintenance procedures. This chapter also includes a detailed park inventory sheet for each Village park including 

general issues, possible improvement options and costs. This chapter is divided into the following sections: 

 

3.1 General Recommendations: system-wide policies and procedures 

 

3.2 Future Parks and Open Spaces: identification of general locations for new park land that would best serve the 

community 

 

3.3 Individual Park Recommendations: an inventory sheet has been provided for each Village Park (includes inventory 

and park improvement options) 

 

 

 

3.1 General Recommendations 

 

3.1.1 Park Facility Recommendations 

 

Several common issues were noted during the planning process resulting from observations made during site visits, 

meetings with community staff and community input. Those issues and recommendations for improvements related to 

those issues are listed below: 

 

1. ADA Accessibility 

 

Site visits revealed that some parks did not provide ADA accessibility to park facilities such as playground equipment, 

picnic shelters and sports courts. It was also observed that many of the support components at Village parks (picnic 

tables, drinking fountains, etc.) were not ADA approved models. 

 

 

 



34 | CHAPTER 3: Recommendations 

 

Recommendations:  

 

• Conduct an ADA audit system-wide, and develop a prioritized action plan to address documented issues. 

 

• Retrofit all parks and park facilities to be disabled accessible (when possible). This includes assuring barrier-free 

access to all play areas, shelters, sport courts, seating areas and restrooms. 

 

• Where possible with existing infrastructure, assure that all parks are improved with ADA approved drinking 

fountains, picnic tables and other park components. 

                      

 

        Examples of an ADA approved picnic table and drinking fountain. 

 

 

2. Safety Surfacing and/or Safety Mats at Playgrounds 

 

Many parks are missing safety mats under play equipment. Safety mats serves the dual purpose of providing a safe 

landing surface in fall zones as well as allowing for easier wheelchair access to equipment. Depending on the type of 

safety surfacing installed, safety mats may also be necessary. Mats are typically installed in playgrounds using sand or 

wood chip style safety surfacing and are located at critical points were children would enter or exit a piece of equipment.  

 

o Recommendations:  

 

• Install safety surfacing in all playgrounds. 

• Install safety mats where required under swings and at entry/exit points of play structures in all 

playgrounds. 

 

3. Missing Support Components  

 

Some parks did not have support components such as drinking fountains, trash/recycling receptacles and bicycle parking.  

 

o Recommendations:  

 

• All parks “Neighborhood Park” size or larger should have trash receptacles, recycling receptacles, drinking 

fountains and bike racks. These components should be installed on a hardscape surface such as concrete 

or asphalt. 

 

 



CHAPTER 3: Recommendations | 35 

 

4. Aging Play Equipment  

 

Park inventories revealed that some of the Village playground equipment is showing signs of age and will need to be 

replaced in the near future. It is often the case that a community purchases play equipment for several parks at the same 

time from the same manufacturer. This equipment will therefore begin to fail at similar times. Playground surfacing 

should be replaced in conjunction with replacement of play features. 

 

o Recommendations:  

 

• This plan recommends the replacement of play equipment in three Village parks during the five-year 

period after its adoption. After that period, another set of parks may need to have playground equipment 

replaced. We recommend this staggered approach to replacing playground equipment to avoid the 

situation in which all playgrounds begin to have equipment fail at the same time.   

 

• Play equipment condition for each park was noted during site visits. The following table was prepared to 

inventory play equipment condition from “Excellent” to “Needs Replacement”. All play equipment found 

to be in a condition of “Needs Replacement” is recommended to be replaced in this plan. Much of the 

play equipment found to be in “Fair” condition will likely be due to be replaced when this plan expires in 

five years. 

 

              

 

 

               

5. Baseball Fields 

 

An opportunity exists for improvements to Village ballfields that would improve recreational value as well as potentially 

reduce future maintenance costs. 

 

o Recommendations:  

 

• Develop smaller fields (70’ bases for 12 and under) throughout the Village for practices and drop-in use. 

 

• Convert all baseball fields to turf infields. This would result in reduced infield maintenance costs. 

 

• Install dugouts, batting cages and bullpens on all fields intended for game use. 

 

• Field restoration every three years (cut lips, add infield mix) 

 

Park Type Park
Condition of playground equipment and surfacing        

(Excellent, Good, Fair or Needs Replacement)

Becker Park Needs Replacement

Creekside Park Excellent

Woodlawn (Harrison) Park Fair

Carol Beach Park Needs Replacement

Rolling Meadows Park Fair

Ingram Park Excellent

Pleasant Prairie Park Excellent

Village Green Park Excellent

Regional Prairie Springs Park 3 Playgrounds (1 - Excellent, 2 - Needs Replacement)

Mini

Neighborhood

Community



36 | CHAPTER 3: Recommendations 

 

The following graphic illustrates some of the “best practices” for the type of park improvements recommended in 

this plan. Typical ADA requirements call for barrier free access to all park facilities. Hardscape paths, playground 

safety mats and ADA approved support components are examples of good design for accessibility. Other examples 

of necessary elements for general park design include bicycle parking, trash/recycling receptacles and park signage. 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 3: Recommendations | 37 

 

3.1.2 Promotion/Education 

a. Establish a community-wide wayfinding system that identifies key parks and bicycle routes along primary 

transportation corridors to and through the Village. Regularly update all bicycle and park system maps as new 

facilities are developed.  

 

b. Continue to communicate with user groups over facilities updates and promote donations and formalized use 

agreements for maintenance. 

 

c. Invite private partner groups to participate in periodic park update meetings to keep participation and awareness 

high for ongoing project endeavors. 

 

d. Create a parks location map on the Village web page to include interactive content and create specific site maps 

for each park illustrating site layout and amenities. 

 

3.1.2 Environmentally Sustainable Practices 

a. Trash and recycling receptacles should be evenly distributed throughout Village parks. The method of collection 

should also be used to determine receptacle locations. Placement of trash receptacles near sitting benches, for 

example, is not preferred since it may discourage use of the benches. 

 

b. Manage Emerald Ash Borer infestations in Village ash trees with replacement of removed trees, treatment of trees 

in key locations and pre-emptive removals. 

 

c. Consider integrating rain gardens and bio-retention facilities, rain barrels, and other stormwater best management 

practices into existing facilities and proposed improvements. 

 

d. Consider adopting a “grow not mow” policy in Village parks to limit how often (and what portions of) parks are 

mowed. Adding a day or more to the mowing cycle and preserving natural grasslands in parks can reduce the 

amount of fossil fuels consumed in Village operations. These new grasslands can also function as natural buffers 

around shoreland and wooded areas and help reduce soil erosion. 

 

e. There are a variety of operational and maintenance activities that often can be accomplished for less cost. Fuel is 

a big expense, prompting some communities to have strict idling policies that restrict how long a municipal 

vehicle can remain running before it is turned off. Similarly, warming up vehicles should be limited. An example 

would be restricting warm up to no more than five minutes.  

 

f. When replacing and/or installing new lighting in Village parks, consider fixtures that utilize solar regeneration and 

LED illumination to reduce long-term maintenance costs and minimize non-renewable energy use.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



38 | CHAPTER 3: Recommendations 

 

3.2 Future Parks and Open Spaces 

 

3.2.1 Future Park Locations 

 

Future growth of the Village will lead to the construction of new neighborhoods and new parks within potentially expanding 

Village limits. The process for determining the location, size and makeup of these parks is a multi-phase process involving 

public input and a series of conceptual plans.  

 

Park level of service analysis in Chapter 2 revealed that the total park area in Pleasant Prairie exceeds the necessary area 

needed to serve current and future Village populations. The analysis did however reveal a deficiency in the quantity of 

neighborhood and mini parks. The Village may want to consider adding additional parkland in the future to increase the 

availability of mini and neighborhood parks. This could be accomplished by acquiring new park land from private owners, 

developing Village owned land not currently classified as parkland or reclassifying existing parkland by adding recreational 

facilities. The adjacent map shows some potential locations for the development of neighborhood or mini parks.  

  

 

The development priority of any of these properties is dependent on several factors including but not limited to population 

change, proximity to other parks, existing service areas and construction costs. Two of the future parks are parks that 

have been established as potential park locations and have had master plans prepared. One of the parks is an existing park 

that could be converted to a mini or neighborhood park with the addition of recreational facilities. The remaining six 

locations are proposed future parks recommended in the Village’s 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan and the 2013-

2018 Village Park and Open Space Plan. 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 3: Recommendations | 39 

 

Potential future park locations suggested by Village representatives are numbered 1 to 2 on the adjacent map and shaded 

green.  

 

 Future Parks 

 

1 – Andrea Lake (Northwest) – This Village-owned property northwest of Andrea Lake contains the Prairie Farms 

Trail which links Prairie Springs Park to the Pleasant Prairie Park area. This land could potentially be formally 

dedicated as park land with improvements including additional trail connections to the trails in the Des Plaines River 

Open Space, the Ponderosa Trail system and the southern part of Kevek farm. 

 

2 – DNR Land – This is a DNR owned open space between Phil Sander Park and Chiwaukee View Park. Village 

acquisition or shared use with the DNR for the purpose of conversion to active park use should be considered. This 

would serve the dual purpose of increasing park acreage while also expanding and combining the existing parks. 

 

Proposed parks that have had master plans completed are numbered 3 to 4 on the adjacent map and shaded orange. See 

Appendix C for the Master Plan graphics detailing improvements for each of these parks. 

 

 Future Parks with Master Plans 

 

3 – Neighborhood Commons – This park master plan was prepared in 2017 with proposed facilities including entry 

plazas, an amphitheater and trails.  

 

4 – Village Square – The master plan for Village Square was also prepared in 2017 and included facilities such as a 

playground, splashpad and park pavilion. 

 

One existing park currently classified as open space would be a good candidate for conversion to an active-use park. This 

park is shaded purple on the adjacent map. 

 

 Existing Parks 

 

5 – Momper’s Woods – This is one of four parks located in the south-central part of the Village that are classified as 

“Conservancy, Open Space and Natural Areas.” GIS analysis revealed that this is an area in the Village that may be in 

need of additional active-use park land due to rising population and lack of nearby facilities (See Map 7, Appendix B). 

Conversion of one of these parks to a neighborhood park could be a solution to the apparent need in the area. 

Momper’s Woods seems to be the best candidate as other open space lands in the area are wetlands or serve as 

storm water detention areas. Momper’s Woods had a conceptual plan prepared for it’s development as a part of the 

2013 Park and Open Space Plan. Recommendations included an educational nature center, a ceremony lawn, trail 

improvements and rentable pavilions.  

 

The remaining future park lands were recommendations of the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan and the 2013-2018 

Village Park and Open Space Plan. Some of these are currently privately-owned properties with the expectation that they 

will become available with future residential development through parkland dedication. 

 

Future Neighborhood Parks per the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan and the 2013-2018 Village Park and 

Open Space Plan 

 

6 – Carol Beach Neighborhood Park – This Village owned, 13.4-acre parcel is located north of 90
th

 Street and west 

of 3
rd

 Avenue. 

 

7 – Pleasant Farms Neighborhood Park – This proposed parkland is located southwest of the intersection of Bain 

Station Road and 88
th

 Avenue. It contains approximately 5 acres and is privately owned. 



40 | CHAPTER 3: Recommendations 

 

 

8 – Pleasant Homes Neighborhood Park – Located on 47
th

 Avenue just north of the Wisconsin/Illinois border, this 

proposed parkland is approximately 11 acres and is privately owned. 

 

9 – Prairie Trails East Neighborhood Park – This privately owned, proposed parkland containing approximately 12 

acres is located at the south end of 26
th

 Avenue. 

 

Additionally, the 2013 Park and Open Space Plan included Conceptual Plans for improvements in existing Village parks. 

Some of these improvement recommendations have been completed while others are still being considered for 

development. These plans are worth noting as the development of new facilities can change the classification of existing 

parks.  

 

Existing park conceptual plan recommendations included: 

 

• Prairie Springs Park – Development of soccer fields, a 300-car park and ride lot and trail improvements. The 

park and ride and some trail improvements have been completed. 

 

• Ingram Park – The concept plan for Ingram Park includes many recommended improvements that have since 

been developed. Recently developed facilities include a fishing pond, a sledding hill, a dog run and a 

playground. 

 

• Pleasant Prairie Park – Concept plan recommendations that have been developed include tennis courts, a 

basketball court and playground. Additional recommendations included trail development, a dog park, a 

baseball field and a disc golf course. 

 

• Village Green Park – Concept plan recommendations that have been developed include tennis courts, a 

basketball court, an asphalt path, a playground and a parking lot. Additional recommendations included a 

park shelter, a sand volleyball court and a baseball field.  

 

• Becker Park – Recommendations included re-grading to improve drainage, installation of ADA accessible play 

equipment and softball field improvements. It does not appear that any of these improvements were 

completed. 

 

• Carol Beach Park – Recommendations included replacement of the basketball goals, replacement of the 

playground equipment, upgrading the pavilion and improvements to the softball field. It does not appear that 

any of these improvements were completed. 

 

• Creekside Park (South) – The concept plan for Creekside Park shows a playground that has been 

constructed. Additional recommendations of the plan included a gazebo and a paved path. 

 

• Lake Michigan Park – Recommendations included a concessions building, a lake overlook and paved parking 

lots. None of these improvements have been developed. 

 

• Rolling Meadows Park – The concept plan illustrated a park shelter, trailhead improvements and paving of the 

existing gravel trail. These improvements have not been developed.  

 

• Woodlawn (Harrison Road) Park – The concept plan for Woodlawn Park recommended an ADA accessible 

playground and updated park signage. A new park sign was installed at some point after 2013 but the play 

equipment has not been made ADA accessible.  

 

 

 



CHAPTER 3: Recommendations | 41 

 

3.2.2 Park Layout Concept /Park Master Plans 

Each proposed park should have a concept or master plan prepared prior to construction to guide its future development. 

This same process should be repeated for any park if significant improvements are planned. The goal of the master plan is 

to determine what type of improvements are possible in the given space and to provide a layout for the development of 

those improvements. 

 

 

 

                Park Master Plan Graphic Example 

 

The process for development of a park master plan includes research and data collection to identify drainage patterns, 

topography and other site features. After this initial reconnaissance, a public meeting is held to gather input on preferred 

park programming and amenities. Following this community engagement, concept development plans are created and 

cost estimates are prepared. These concept plans are further refined through public feedback and staff discussions into a 

final graphic and summary report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



42 | CHAPTER 3: Recommendations 

 

3.3 Individual Park Recommendations 

The following section discusses more detailed recommendations for each park. These recommended improvements are 

based on issues identified in site visits and comments from residents and local officials. Improvement options identified 

for each park are included in the 5-Year Capital Improvements Table in Chapter 4.  

 

Each park’s inventory sheets contain the location of the park, existing facilities, observed issues and recommendations for 

improvements. Not all improvements can be made in the next five years and many require substantial investment in the 

form of time, money or human capital to implement. Improvement recommendations should be viewed as options that 

could occur to mitigate, improve or promote aspects of the park site. 

 

A sample inventory sheet (shown below) illustrates how information is presented on each park sheet. Park sheets are 

presented by parkland classifications devised by the National Recreation and Park Association as identified in Chapter 2. 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |43  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MINI PARKS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



44 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

Becker Park 

 

Becker Park is a 1.4-acre mini park on 76
th

 Street between 48
th

 and 50
th

 Avenue. A playground with a play structure and swings is 

the main attraction of the park.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Play structure (5 to 12 

year old) 

• Panel games 

• Swings (3 belt, 1 bucket) 

• Sandbox 

• Sandlot backstop 

• Park sign 

• Picnic tables 

• Trash receptacles 

• Bench 

• Open space 

• Parking 

Issues: 

• Play structure is aging 

• Dead tree 

• Sandbox is aging  

• No safety mats under play 

equipment 

• No recycling receptacle 

• Some play equipment is not 

ADA accessible 
 

 

         

 

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Remove and replace playground equipment (play structure, 

swings, sandbox, bench and safety surfacing) …….....$150,000 

• Remove dead tree ……………………..………………..$2,000 

• Install concrete or asphalt path to play equipment…...…..$2,000 

• Install recycling receptacles ……….……………..……..$1,000 

  

TOTAL $155,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |45  

 

Becker Park 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          
 



46 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

Creekside Park (South) 

 

Creekside Park (South) is a 1.7-acre mini park on Creekside Circle in the Creekside Crossing development. 2012 improvements 

include the addition of a play structure and swing set.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Play structure (5 to 12 

year old) 

• Swings (2 belt, 2 bucket) 

• Spring rider 

• Open space 

• Gravel path 

• Picnic table 

Issues: 

• No safety mats under play 

equipment 

• No trash or recycling 

receptacles 

• Play equipment is not ADA 

accessible 

• Picnic table is not ADA 

accessible 

• Playground sign is damaged 

 
 

         

 

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones 

and ADA access to play equipment ……………………..$3,000 

• Install trash & recycling receptacles …… ………..……..$2,000 

• Install concrete or asphalt path to play equipment and picnic table 

………………………………………………...…...…..$1,500 

• Install ADA accessible picnic table ……………….……..$1,500 

• Remove and/or replace playground sign …………………..$500 

 

  

TOTAL $8,500 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |47  

 

Creekside Park (South) 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          

 



48 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

Woodlawn (Harrison) Park 

 

This 0.2-acre mini park is located at the intersection of 50
th

 Avenue and Harrison Road on the Village’s north side. Existing facilities 

include a small playground with a slide, swings and a sandbox.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Slide 

• Swings (1 belt, 1 bucket) 

• Sandbox 

• Trash receptacle 

• Bench 

• Park sign 

Issues: 

• Drainage issues 

• No safety surfacing under 

swings 

• No safety mats under play 

equipment 

• No ADA access to play 

equipment 

• No recycling receptacles  
 

         

 

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Resolve drainage issues ……………………….………..$5,000 

• Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones 

and ADA access to play equipment ……………………..$3,000 

• Install concrete or asphalt path to play equipment ..….…..$2,000 

• Install recycling receptacle …… ………..…………..…..$1,000 

 

TOTAL $11,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |49  

 

Woodlawn (Harrison) Park 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          



50 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |51  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD PARKS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



52 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

Carol Beach Park 

 

Carol Beach Park is a 3.0-acre neighborhood park near the intersection of 111
th

 Street and 10
th

 Avenue. Park facilities include a 

playground, a basketball court and a park shelter.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Park shelter 

• Basketball court 

• Play structure (5 to 12 

year old) 

• Swings (3 belt, 2 bucket) 

• Sandbox 

• Softball/youth baseball 

field (No infield) 

• Parking 

• Park sign 

• Benches 

• Lighting 

• Picnic tables 

• Trash receptacle 

• Open space 

 

Issues: 

• Park sign is damaged 

• No recycling receptacles 

• Drainage issue at parking lot 

• No parking lot striping 

• No ADA access to park facilities 

• No basketball court striping 

• Dead/dying tree with broken 

limbs overhanging play area 

• Park shelter is aging in some 

areas 

• Graffiti 

• No safety surfacing under 

swings 

• Exposed concrete footings at 

swings 

• Picnic tables not ADA approved 

models 

• No drinking fountains 

• No bike parking 

• Play structure is aging 

• No safety mats under play 

equipment 

• Infield is grown over 

• Sandbox is aging 

• Sharp edges exposed on team 

bench at baseball field 

 
 

         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |53  

 

Carol Beach Park 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Remove and replace playground equipment (play structure, swings, sandbox, benches and safety surfacing) ……................$150,000 

• Resolve drainage issue in parking lot ………………………………………………………………………………………...$10,000 

• Install drinking fountain …………………………………………………………………………………………………..….$10,000 

• Install concrete or asphalt path from parking lot to park amenities ……………………………………………………..………$8,000 

• Remove dead/dying tree with broken limbs overhanging playground …………………………………………………..………$5,000 

• Skin and resurface infield. ………………………………...…………………………………………………………………..$5,000 

• Replace picnic tables with ADA approved models ……………………………………………………………………………..$4,500 

• Repair park shelter …………………………………………………………………………………………………..………..$3,000 

• Repair/replace park sign …………………………………………………………………………………………….………..$3,000 

• Install recycling receptacles (2) ………………………………………………………………………………………….……$2,000 

• Paint lines on basketball court …………………………………………………………………………………………….…..$2,000 

• Stripe parking stalls …………………………………………………………………………………………………………..$1.500 

• Install bike rack on hardscape surface ……………………………………………………………………………………….. $1,500 

• Remove graffiti ……………………………………………………………………………………………….………………$1,000 

• Cap end of team benches ………………………………………………………………………………………………...…….$500 

 

TOTAL $207,000 

Site Photos: 

 

 

 

 

 

 



54 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

Carol Beach Park 

 

 

Site Photos: 

 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |55  
          

Carol Beach Park 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

   

 

         



56 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

Rolling Meadows Park 

 

This 3.6-acre neighborhood park is located at the intersection of 32
nd

 Avenue and 99
th

 Street adjacent to the Kenosha County Bike 

Trail. Park features include a playground, gravel trails and open space.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Swings (3 belt, 1 bucket) 

• Slide 

• Gravel trail 

• Pedestrian bridge 

• Connection to Kenosha 

County Bike Trail 

• Benches 

• Park sign 

• Open space 

• Natural area 

• Trash receptacle 

Issues: 

• No available parking 

• No recycling receptacles 

• Graffiti 

• No ADA access to play 

equipment 

• No safety mats under play 

equipment 

• No bike parking 

• No drinking fountain 

 
 

        

 

 

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Add small parking area along 32
nd

 Ave to accommodate two to 

three cars ……………………………………………..$30,000 

• Install ADA approved drinking fountain …………...…….$10,000 

• Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones 

and ADA access to play equipment ………………..…....$2,000 

• Install bike rack on hardscape surface ………….……….$1,500 

• Install recycling receptacle …………………………..….$1,000 

• Connect path to playground ………………………….....$1,000 

 

TOTAL $45,500 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |57  

 

Rolling Meadows Park 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          

 



58 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |59  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

COMMUNITY PARKS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



60 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

Ingram Park 

 

Ingram Park is a 30-acre community park on 93
rd

 Street, approximately 1,500 feet west of 51
st

 Avenue. Park amenities in include a 

sledding hill, a dog park, a playground and a fishing pond.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Sledding hill with lighting 

• Dog park (with 2 small 

shelters, a swimming 

pond, agility equipment, 

regulatory signage and 

picnic tables) 

• Fishing pond 

• Play structure (5 to 12-

year old) 

• Swings (2 belt) 

• Sandbox 

• ADA accessible fishing 

pier 

• Vietnam Memorial area 

(Bench, pavers and rock) 

• Gravel path 

• Parking lot 

• Benches 

• Park sign 

• Port-a-Potty 

• Trash receptacles 

• Open space 

 

Issues: 

• Faded parking striping 

• Bank erosion in some areas 

• No recycling receptacles 

• Missing playground entry point 

• No bicycle parking 

• No drinking fountain 

• No safety mats under play 

equipment 

 
 

         

 

 

 

  

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Construct shelter/restroom building ………………..…$125,000 

• Install ADA approved drinking fountain …………………$10,000 

• Add community garden ………………………………..$10,000 

• Install bank stabilization/erosion control measures …..…..$5,000 

• Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones 

and ADA access to play equipment ……………………. $3,000 

• Re-paint parking lot striping ………………………..……$3,000 

• Install recycling receptacles (2)………………………… $2,000 

• Add access point at playground for park visitor approaching on 

the path from the south (Create a gap in the fence and add a 

small section of gravel trail) ………………………….....$1,500 

• Install bike rack at playground …………………………..$1,500 

  

TOTAL $161,000 

 
 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |61  

 

Ingram Park 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          
 



62 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

Pleasant Prairie Park 

 

Pleasant Prairie Park is a 23-acre community park located near the intersection of 104
th

 Avenue and Bain Station Road. Park 

facilities include a softball field, soccer fields and a playground. New basketball courts and tennis courts were added in 2016. 

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Tennis/pickleball courts 

• Basketball court 

• Play structure (2 to 12 

year old) 

• (2) Softball/youth baseball 

fields with lights 

• Soccer (multi-use) fields 

• Restroom/storage 

building 

• Small concession stand 

• Natural area 

• Gravel parking lots (2) 

• Gravel path 

• Park sign 

• Bike rack 

• Trash receptacles 

 

Issues: 

• Torn basketball net 

• No recycling receptacles 

• No safety mats under play 

equipment 

• Drainage issue at soccer fields 

• Infields are grown over 

• Aging fences at softball fields 

• Exposed edges on team bench 

end sections 

• Tipping light pole at softball 

field 

• Bike rack should be on a 

hardscape surface 

• Restroom building and 

concession stand are aging 

• Exposed wires at concession 

stand 

• No drinking fountain 

 
 

         

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |63  

 

Pleasant Prairie Park 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• The softball fields (including lighting, backstops, fencing, concessions & restrooms) should be removed. Replace with re-oriented 

soccer fields. Some low spots may need to be filled to accommodate the desired field configuration (See graphics prepared by the 

Village on pages 66 and 67) ………………………….…………………………………………………………………......$30,000 

• Develop a trail network with interpretive signage in natural area …………………………………………….………………..$25,000 

• Install drinking fountain …………………………………………………………………………………………………….. $10,000 

• Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones and ADA access to play equipment ……………………….….. $3,000 

• Install recycling receptacles (2) ……………………………………………………………………………………………….$2,000 

• Replace basketball net(s) …………………………………………………………………………………………….…..Under $500 

• Move bike rack to a hardscape or gravel surface ……………………………………………………………..…………..Under $500 

 

TOTAL $71,000 

 

 

Site Photos: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



64 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

Pleasant Prairie Park 

 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |65  

Pleasant Prairie Park 
 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

   

 

 

 

 

 



66 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |67  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



68 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

Village Green Park 

 

Village Green Park is a 29-acre community park located at the intersection of 97
th

 Street and Cooper Road. Park facilities include 

tennis courts, basketball courts and a playground. 

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Tennis/pickleball courts 

• Basketball court 

• Play structure (5 to 12 

year old) 

• Swings (2 belt, 2 bucket) 

• Spring riders 

• Parking lot 

• Asphalt path 

• Open space 

• Natural areas 

• Trash receptacles 

• Benches 

• Park sign 

Issues: 

• No recycling receptacles 

• No drinking fountain 

• No bicycle parking 

• No nets on basketball hoops 

• Exposed footing on benches at 

playground 

• No safety mats under play 

equipment 

 

 
 

         

 

 

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Install splashpad ……………...…………………….. $400,000 

• Add summer beer garden ………………………..…….$20,000 

• Install youth baseball practice field (70’ bases) ………...$20,000 

• Install drinking fountain ……………………………..…$10,000 

• Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones 

and ADA access to play equipment ……………………..$3,000 

• Install recycling receptacles (2) …………………….….. $2,000 

• Install bike rack on hardscape surface …………….…… $1,500 

• Fill and maintain playground woodchip level above bench footings 

…………………………………………………….….  $1,000 

• Install basketball hoop nets ……………..………… Under $500 

 

TOTAL $457,500 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |69  
 

Village Green Park 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          

 



70 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |71  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

REGIONAL PARKS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



72 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

Prairie Springs Park 

 

Prairie Spring Park is a 478-acre community park on the west side of the Village off of Highway 165. The park hosts some of the 

Village’s best recreational facilities and is considered a regional draw. The Pleasant Prairie Rec Plex is 300,000 square foot 

recreational complex hosting indoor recreational activities such as hockey, basketball, soccer and swimming. Other amenities 

throughout the park include softball fields, a swimming beach, sand volleyball courts, an adjacent natural area with trails and a 

multi-use path around Lake Andrea. An Ecological Restoration and Management Plan was prepared in 2017 detailing 

recommendations for improvements to the natural area on the west side of the park. Recommendations included management of 

existing vegetative species, the removal of invasive species and improvements to the existing trail network. 

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Rec Plex recreation center 

• (6) Softball/youth baseball 

fields with lights 

• Open air park shelter 

• (2) Shelter/restroom 

buildings 

• Parking lots 

• Multi-use path 

• Natural area 

• Natural surface/gravel 

trails 

• Observation platforms 

• Swimming beach 

• Indoor beach pavilion 

• Sand volleyball courts 

• Drinking fountains 

• Park lighting 

• Archery range 

• Community garden 

• (3) Play structures (5 to 

12 year old) 

• Play structure (2 to 5 year 

old) 

• Merry-go-round 

• Swings (6 belt, 3 bucket, 

1 seat) 

• Panel games 

• Spring riders 

 

• Jungle gym 

• Pedestrian bridge 

• Boat launch 

• Park and ride 

• Flagpole plaza 

• Park signage (Wayfinding, entry 

feature, park signs, regulatory, 

trail maps, marquee sign, etc.) 

• Storage buildings 

• Bike racks 

• Picnic tables 

• Trash receptacles 

• Open space 

 

Issues: 

• Some worn areas on 

playground surfacing 

• Some play equipment is aging 

• Potential pinch point on bridge 

of play structure near south 

ballfields 

• No safety mats under play 

equipment 

• Few recycling receptacles 

• Damaged trail map kiosk 

• Some benches are aging 

• Drainage issue on Field #1, 

north ballfields 

 

 
 

      

  

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |73  

 

Prairie Springs Park 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Replace 5 to 12 and 2 to 5 play structures in playground near south ballfields …………………………………..………….$175,000 

• Construct concessions building near north ball fields ……………………………………………………………………….$125,000 

• Replace play structure and safety surfacing at the beach playground …………………………………………………….…$100,000 

• Install fitness stations with outdoor exercise equipment along the path throughout the park …………………………..………$50,000 

• Install scoreboards on all four north ballfields …………………………………………………………………..……………$15,000 

• Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones and ADA access to play equipment ………...…….…………..$10,000 

• Resolve drainage issues at Field #1, north ballfields ………………………………………………………………………...$10,000 

• Install recycling receptacles (8) ……………………………………………………………………………………………….$8,000 

• Replace aging benches (4) …………………………………………………………………………...……………………... $6,000 

• Install additional bike racks throughout the park ……………………………………………………………………………… $6,000 

• Repair trail map kiosk …………………………………………………………………………………………………………..$500 

• LONG TERM – Group all ballfields into one complex on site. New facility with dugouts, batting cages and bullpens for all fields…...TBD 

 

TOTAL $505,500 

Site Photos: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



74 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

Prairie Springs Park 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          



Chapter 3: Recommendations |75  

 

Prairie Springs Park 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

   

 

          



76 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |77  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

SPECIAL-USE PARKS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



78 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

 

 

 

Lake Michigan Park 

(Prairie Shores Beach) 

 

Lake Michigan Park is a 2.6-acre special-use park on the lake near the terminus of 110
th

 Street. The main feature of the park is the 

beach and public lake access. There are also benches, walking trails and an unpaved parking area.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Beach 

• Benches 

• Park regulatory signage 

• Natural area 

• Natural surface trail 

• Pedestrian bridge 

• Parking (Unpaved) 

• Trash receptacles 

Issues: 

• After hours/non-resident usage 

• Park rules violations 

• Parking lot drainage issue 

• Littering 

• No recycling receptacles 

 
 

         

 

 
 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Restore to natural dune condition and convert park to protected 

conservancy area. Maintain natural surface trails …..…$100,000 

• Resolve parking lot drainage issue ……………………. $10,000 

• Install recycling receptacles (2) ...……………………… $2,000 

 

TOTAL $112,000 

 

 

 

*Refer to the 2018 Pleasant Prairie Shoreline Assessment to confirm 

the feasibility of improvement options and for potential shoreline 

protection improvements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |79  

Lake Michigan Park 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          

 

 



80 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |81  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSERVANCY, OPEN 

SPACE & NATURAL AREAS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



82 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Chiwaukee Prairie – Carol Beach Open Space 
 

Approximately 480 acres of land on the Villages east side make up the Chiwaukee Prairie – Carol Beach Open Space conservancy 

area. Low prairie, wetland areas and sand dunes in the area are managed by The Nature Conservancy and the Wisconsin DNR. It 

has been recognized as a National Natural Landmark as a prime example of Lake Michigan shore low prairie and contains 75 types 

of grassland and wetland bird habitats.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Natural/conservancy 

areas 

• Trails 

• Park signage 

• Regulatory signage 

Issues: 

• Shoreline erosion 

 
 

         

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Refer to the 2018 Pleasant Prairie Shoreline Assessment to 

confirm the feasibility of improvement options and for potential 

shoreline protection improvements. 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |83  

 

Chiwaukee Prairie – Carol Beach Open Space 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          
 

 



84 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |85  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chiwaukee View 
 

 

Chiwaukee View is parkland along Lakeshore Drive and adjacent to Lake Michigan, bisected by the 116
th

 Street right-of-way. There 

are currently no recreational facilities. 

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Open space 

Issues:  

• None 

 
 

         

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Install benches ……………………………………...…..$3,000 

• Investigate the possibility of expanding the park west of 

Lakeshore Dr and south of 116
th
 St ……………………..… TBD 

TOTAL $3,000 

 

*Refer to the 2018 Pleasant Prairie Shoreline Assessment to confirm 

the feasibility of improvement options and for potential shoreline 

protection improvements. 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 



86 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

County Corner – Tobin Creek Open Space 
 

This 12-acre, primarily wetland, natural area is located north of 116
th

 Street between 39
th

 Avenue and the Kenosha County Bike 

Trail.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Natural/conservancy 

areas 

Issues: 

• None 

 
 

         

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• None 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |87  

County Corner – Tobin Creek Open Space  

 

Site Photos: 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



88 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Des Plaines River Open Space Land 
 

The Des Plaines River Open Space consists of over 650 acres of non-contiguous, environmental corridor land on the east side of the 

Village. The open space contains portions the Des Plaines River and adjacent floodplains, wetlands and wildlife habitats. 

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Natural/conservancy 

areas 

• Boardwalk 

• Natural surface trail 

• Interpretive signage 

• Trail & regulatory signage 

• Small pavilion 

Issues: 

• None 

 
 

         

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Expand trail network. Explore possibility of a multi-use trail from 

Hwy 165 through open space into Kenosha. (Per Bicycle and 

Pedestrian Plan) …………………………………...…$500,000 

 

TOTAL $500,000 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |89  

Des Plaines River Open Space Land 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          

 

 



90 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Edithton Beach 
 

Edithton Beach is located on Lakeshore Drive, north of 102
nd

 Street and adjacent to Lake Michigan. There are no existing facilities aside from a 

park bench. 

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Open space 

• Bench 

Issues: 

• None 

 
 

         

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Refer to the 2018 Pleasant Prairie Shoreline Assessment to 

confirm the feasibility of improvement options and for potential 

shoreline protection improvements. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |91  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lakeshore Park 
 

This park land is located on Lakeshore Drive north of 107
th
 Street and adjacent to Lake Michigan. There are currently no recreational 

facilities. 

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Gravel drive 

• Trash receptacle 

• Park rules signage 

Issues: 

• None 

 
 

         

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Benches (2) …………………………………...………..$3,000 

 

TOTAL $3,000 
 

 

 

*Refer to the 2018 Pleasant Prairie Shoreline Assessment to confirm 

the feasibility of improvement options and for potential shoreline 

protection improvements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



92 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Momper’s Woods 
 

This is a 26.6-acre natural area located on Green Bay Road approximately one-half mile south of 104
th

 Street. Archaeological 

findings on the site have revealed the remnants of Native American campsites and a historical trail. The area is not currently open to 

the public but future plans for the site include preservation and development of the site as an educational nature center.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Natural/conservancy 

areas 

• Archeological site 

• Natural surface trails 

• Historical landmark 

boulder 

Issues: 

• Closed to public 

• Poor accessibility 

 
 

         

 

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Install small parking area adjacent to Green Bay Rd ……$40,000 

• Expand natural surface trail network, install interpretive signage 

………………………………………………………..$15,000 

• Open park to public …………………………………...……. $0 

 

TOTAL $55,000 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |93  

 

Momper’s Woods 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          

 



94 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Prairie Trails West Open Space 
 

Prairie Trails West Open Space is a 7.9-acre wetland natural area on 39
th

 Avenue north of 122
nd

 Street.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Natural/conservancy 

areas 

 

 

Issues: 

• Poor accessibility 

 
 

         

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

None 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |95  

 

Prairie Trails West Open Space 

 

Site Photos: 

 

        

 

 

 

 

       

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



96 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Sorensen Woods at Kildeer Farm 
 

This 4.5-acre conservancy land is located on 47
th

 Avenue, 1,000 feet north of 116
th

 Street and is not currently open to the public. 

The land is intended to be restored as an oak savanna area as it was prior to 1835.  

 

Existing Facilities: 

• Natural/conservancy 

areas 

 

Issues: 

• Closed to public 

• Poor accessibility 

 

 
 

         

 

 

Improvement Options & Estimate 

• Install small parking area adjacent to 47
th
 Ave …….……$40,000 

• Create natural surface trail network …………………….$20,000 

• Open park to public …………………………………...……. $0 

  

TOTAL $60,000 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Chapter 3: Recommendations |97  

 

Sorensen Woods at Kildeer Farm 

 

Site Photos: 

 

       

 

   

 

          

 

 

 

          

 



98 | Chapter 3: Recommendations 

 



V I L L A G E  O F 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

Park & Open Space Plan 
 

4 IMPLEMENTATION 

The previous chapter of this report detailed a number of specific improvement options. This chapter provides the 

mechanism for implementing them. It includes a compilation of capital improvements, park development mechanisms and 

funding sources. The chapter also includes the process for adopting, monitoring and updating this plan. 

 

4.1 Plan Approval and Amendments 

 

Introduction  

A prerequisite to participation in outdoor recreation grant programs is the adoption and subsequent Department of Natural 

Resources acceptance of a local park and open space plan. 

 

Comprehensive planning is an overall survey of the existing facilities within a given jurisdiction that gives 

recommendations for future improvements. A park and open space plan is only the first step in the development of a 

recreational park site or system. 

 

Master planning, which follows the recommendations of park and open space plan, is an overall view and analysis of an 

existing or proposed park area. The purpose is to guide the orderly development of a park or recreational facility. 

 

Site planning is the detailed plan of how an area within a park or recreation area will be developed. Site plans supply the 

construction details needed to develop a facility recommended in the master plan. 

 

This plan provides strategies and recommendations for improving public parks in Pleasant Prairie. It is anticipated that 

master planning for community parks and proposed parks is a high priority and should be featured prominently when 

budgets are determined over the life of this plan. 

 

Formal Plan Approval 

This Park and Open Space Plan should be approved by the local governing body after thorough review by the Park 

Commission and Village Board. The Village should follow all rules and procedures established in the citizen participation 

plan adopted as part of the comprehensive planning process (per State Statute 66.1001) when adopting this plan.    

 

Amending the Plan 

Plan amendments are common and should be considered part of the planning process. They frequently represent good 

implementation or plan usage and should be acceptable for consideration by local decision-makers. Amendments must 

follow the same process as the original plan and should be developed in coordination with the Park Commission before 

they are presented to the Village Board for approval. Amendments generally prolong the effectiveness of the parent plan. 

 

The Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan will make the Village eligible for funding through the Wisconsin Department 

of Natural Resources through the year 2023. Since this plan was developed with a five-year timeframe, it should be 

amended in 2023 to ensure grant eligibility and to reflect progress made over time. 

 

  

 

 

 



100 | CHAPTER 4: Implementation 

 

 

4.2 Park Acquisition and Development Mechanisms 

 

4.2.1 User Groups 

Pleasant Prairie should coordinate with potential user groups when planning new facilities to see if cost-sharing, donation 

or outright purchase options exist. Groups that could potentially be involved include youth sports groups, private 

organizations and the school district. 

 

4.2.2 Planned Giving 

In many communities, parkland development occurs with the availability of land. Donations of private land for a public 

purpose is not uncommon, and criteria for accepting these lands is needed. A formal procedure should be in place for how 

the land will be planned and used in the best interest of the community. A planned giving program through the Village 

would allow prospective patrons to dedicate land in a legal manner that provides a legacy for how the land will be utilized 

over time. 

 

4.2.3 Grant Funding 

Implementation dollars are available for acquisition and development of recreation spaces and facilities. Linear parks and 

trails can be funded through the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) or the Department of Transportation 

(WDOT). The WDNR also provides monies for the acquisition of lands, the stabilization of shorelands and the protection of 

environmentally sensitive areas. A complete list of grant opportunities is provided in Section 4.3. 

4.3 Grant Information for Park Acquisition and Development 

The state and federal government provides grants to local governments for the acquisition and development of parks. 

Many of these programs require that a local government submit an approved park and open space plan or master plan to 

the Wisconsin DNR as a condition for eligibility. By adopting this Park and Open Space Plan, by ordinance, the Village of 

Pleasant Prairie will have met the eligibility requirement for these grant programs until 2023.  

 

4.3.1 Projects that Require Grant Funding 

The high cost of park improvement projects necessitates the acquisition of outside funding to enable development. Grant 

funding provides seed money and crucial capital for leveraging additional community dollars and support. While many 

projects identified in this plan would benefit from the acquisition of outside funding sources, some projects will require 

grant funding if they are to be realized. Grant programs are discussed in the following section (4.3.2). 

 

4.3.2 Grant Programs 

This section provides general information and details for many of the grant programs that may be used to acquire and 

develop local park facilities, linear trails or beaches. Categories, by authorization agency, include: 

- Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 

- Wisconsin Department of Transportation  

- Wisconsin Department of Administration 

- Other Programs (Various Agencies) 

 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) 

Knowles-Nelson Stewardship Program: Named for two of Wisconsin's most revered conservation leaders, Governor 

Warren Knowles and Senator Gaylord Nelson, the Wisconsin Legislature created this innovative program in 1989 to 

preserve valuable natural areas and wildlife habitat, protect water quality and fisheries, and expand opportunities for 

outdoor recreation.  

 

All grant program awards cover up to 50% of eligible project costs. Projects eligible for Stewardship grant programs 

require that all land acquisition and development projects provide public access for “nature-based outdoor recreation” 

purposes. DNR decisions as to whether a particular project activity is “nature-based outdoor recreation” are made on a 

case-by-case basis. Please note that purchase and installation of playground equipment and the purchase of land for 



CHAPTER 4: Implementation | 101 

 

 

recreation areas not related to nature-based outdoor recreation (dedicated sports fields, swimming pools, etc.) are not 

eligible.  

 

For more information and to submit applications contact the Southeast Region representative (listed below). All 

applications are due May 1. 

 

Sara deBruijn 

Telephone: (414) 263-8704 

 

Email: sara.debruijn@wisconsin.gov 

 

The Stewardship Program includes the four funds described below (A – D).  

 

A. Acquisition and Development of Local Parks (ADLP) 

Description: Stewardship sets aside 50% of funds for projects that improve community parks and acquire land for public 

outdoor recreation. Applicants compete against other applicants from their region. Funds may be used for both land 

acquisition projects and development projects for nature-based outdoor recreation such as fishing piers, hiking trails and 

picnic facilities. Funds are not available for non-nature based activities such as baseball and soccer fields. Costs 

associated with operation and maintenance of parks and other outdoor recreation facilities are not eligible for Stewardship 

funds. 

 

Eligible Project Examples: 

1. Land acquisition projects that will provide opportunities for nature-based outdoor recreation. 

2. Property with frontage on rivers, streams, lakes, estuaries and reservoirs that will provide water-based outdoor 

recreation. 

3. Property that provides special recreation opportunities such as floodplains, wetlands and areas adjacent to scenic 

highways.  

4. Natural areas and outstanding scenic areas where the objective is to preserve the scenic or natural values, 

including areas of physical or biological importance and wildlife areas. These areas shall be open to the general 

public for outdoor recreation use to the extent that the natural attributes of the areas will not be seriously impaired 

or lost. 

5. Land within urban areas for day-use picnic areas. 

6. Land for nature-based outdoor recreation trails. 

 

Ineligible Project Examples: 

1. Projects that are not supported by a local comprehensive outdoor recreational plan. 

2. Land to be used for non-nature based outdoor recreation such as athletic facilities. 

3. Acquisition and development of golf courses.  

 

B. Urban Rivers (UR) 

Description: Stewardship allocates 20% of funds annually to restore or preserve the character of urban riverways through 

the acquisition of land or easements adjacent to rivers. Funding will be provided for projects that are part of a plan to 

enhance the quality of a river corridor. Applicants compete against other applicants statewide. The purposes of the 

program are:  

1. To provide for economic revitalization through the restoration or preservation of urban rivers or riverfronts;  

2. To improve outdoor recreational opportunities by increasing access to urban rivers for a variety of public uses, 

including but not limited to fishing, wildlife observation, enjoyment of scenic beauty, canoeing, boating, hiking and 

bicycling; 

3. To preserve or restore significant historical, cultural or natural areas along urban rivers. 

 

Funding Priorities: Priority is given to projects that have one or more of the following characteristics: 

1. Acquires land or land rights that preserve or restore natural values, including aesthetic values, and enhance 

environmental quality along urban waterways. 



102 | CHAPTER 4: Implementation 

 

 

2. Provides new or expanded diverse recreational opportunities to all segments of urban populations. 

3. Provides new or expanded access to urban waterways. 

4. Acquires blighted lands that will be restored to complement riverfront redevelopment activities. 

5. Encourages comprehensive riverway planning within and between municipalities and other agencies. 

6. Provides opportunities for increasing tourism. 

7. Acquires lands that through proper management will improve or protect water quality. 

 

C. Urban Green Space (UGS) 

Description: The intent of the Urban Green Space Program (UGS) is to provide open natural space within or in proximity to 

urban areas; to protect from urban development areas that have scenic, ecological or other natural value and are within or 

in proximity to urban areas; and to provide land for noncommercial gardening for the residents of an urbanized area. 

 

Funding Priorities: Priority is given to projects that have one or more of the following characteristics: 

a.  Planning considerations, including: 

• Specifically implementing a priority of the Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan  

• Implementing the approved master plans of 2 or more units of government or regional planning agencies 

• Preserving land that is listed on the natural heritage inventory database 

• Implementing elements of water quality plans or initiatives 

b.  Project considerations, including: 

• Serving the greatest population centers 

• Serving areas of rapidly increasing populations 

• Providing accessibility 

• Having unique natural features, threatened/endangered species or significant ecological value 

• Providing open natural linear corridors connecting open natural areas 

• Having water frontage 

• Containing or restoring wetlands 

• Protecting sensitive wildlife habitat 

• Protecting an area threatened by development 

• Preserving a natural community or one that could be restored 

• Having regional or statewide significance 

• Relating to brownfield redevelopment 

c.  Administrative considerations, including: 

• Projects that are ready to be implemented and/or to continue previously started projects 

 

D. Acquisition of Development Rights 

Description: The purpose of the Acquisition of Development Rights Program is to protect natural, agricultural or forest 

lands that enhance nature-based outdoor recreation. "Development Rights” are the rights of a landowner to develop their 

property to the greatest extent allowed under state and local laws. The goals of the program are achieved through the 

purchase of those development rights and compensating landowners for limited future development on their land. 

 

Funding Priorities: Priority is given to projects that have one or more of the following characteristics: 

• Property with frontage on rivers, streams, lakes or estuaries 

• Property that creates a buffer between land that has been permanently protected for natural resource and conservation 

purposes and potential or existing residential, commercial or industrial development 

• Property that is within the boundaries of an acquisition project established by the DNR, a government unit or a non-

profit conservation organization where the uses of the property will complement the goals of the project and the 

stewardship program 

• Property that is within an environmental corridor that connects two or more established resource protection areas 

 

Federal Programs Related to the Stewardship Program: The Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) and 

Recreational Trails Act (RTA) programs fund projects that are similar to the Stewardship programs. One primary difference 



CHAPTER 4: Implementation | 103 

 

 

is that LWCF and RTA programs are not restricted to nature-based outdoor recreation projects. In these programs, nature-

based outdoor recreation projects compete against projects with non-nature based recreation elements for LWCF funds. 

Another difference is that federal programs have additional requirements that must be satisfied – for example, compliance 

with the National Environmental Policy Act, the Historic Preservation Act, etc. Federal programs administered through the 

DNR include the two funds described below (E, F).  

 

E. Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) 

Description: This program was established to encourage nationwide creation and interpretation of high quality outdoor 

recreational opportunities. The program funds both state and local outdoor recreation activities. 

 

Funding Priorities: Priority is given to projects that have one or more of the following characteristics: 

• Relationship to the Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan; activities must be in locally approved plans 

• Regional or statewide in nature 

• Acquires land where a plan supports need 

• Provides or enhances water-based activity 

• Serves the greatest populations 

• Involves other local government cooperation, volunteers, local donations 

• First time applicants 

• Sponsor has completed past projects 

• Provides multi-season, multi activity use 

• Basic, over elaborate, facilities 

• Participant over spectator facilities 

• “Nature based” restriction does not apply 

 

Eligible Project Examples: 

• Land acquisition 

• Development of outdoor recreation facilities, including active sports facilities 

 

F. Recreational Trails Act (RTA) 

Description: These funds are used to develop and maintain recreational trails and trail-related facilities for both motorized 

and non-motorized recreational trail uses. RTA funds may only be used on trails which have been identified in or which 

further a specific goal of a local, county or state trail plan included or referenced in a statewide comprehensive outdoor 

recreation plan. 30% of funds must be used on motorized trail uses, 30% on non-motorized trail uses and 40% on 

diversified (multiple) trail uses. 

 

Funding Priorities: Priority is given to projects that have one or more of the following characteristics: 

• Maintenance and restoration of existing trails. 

• Development and rehabilitation of trailside and trailhead facilities and trail linkages.  

• Construction of new trails (with certain restrictions on Federal lands).  

• Acquisition of easement or property for trails. 

 

Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WisDOT) 

The Wisconsin Department of Transportation offers a variety of programs that can provide financial assistance to local 

governments, along with other public and private entities, to make improvements to highways, airports, harbors, bike, rail 

and pedestrian facilities. The use of these funds in Pleasant Prairie would be most closely tied to developing trails to link 

parks to places of employment, residence and commerce.  

 

G. Surface Transportation Program – Urban (STP-U) 

Description: This program allocates federal funds to complete a variety of improvements to federal-aid-eligible roads and 

streets in urban areas. Projects must meet federal and state requirements. Communities are eligible for funding on roads 

functionally classified as major collector or higher. The WisDOT requires that pedestrian and on-street bicycle 



104 | CHAPTER 4: Implementation 

 

 

accommodations be part of all STP projects within or in the vicinity of population centers, unless extraordinary 

circumstances can be demonstrated to WisDOT for not providing these accommodations.  

 

Contact: Robert Schmidt, Southeast Region at (262)548-8789 or robert1.schmidt@dot.wi.gov 

 

H. Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) 

Description: The Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) allocates federal funds to transportation improvement projects 

that “expand travel choice, strengthen the local economy, improve the quality of life, and protect the environment." TAP is 

a legislative program that was authorized in 2012 by the federal transportation legislation, Moving Ahead for Progress in 

the 21st Century Act (MAP-21). The transportation alternatives program provides for the implementation of a variety of 

non-traditional projects, with examples ranging from the restoration of historic transportation facilities, to bike and 

pedestrian facilities, to landscaping and scenic beautification, and to the mitigation of water pollution from highway runoff. 

Examples of bicycle and pedestrian projects that TAP will likely fund include: multi-use trails, paved shoulders, bike lanes, 

bicycle route signage, bicycle parking, overpasses/underpasses, bridges, sidewalks and pedestrian crossings. Local 

municipalities contribute 20% of the project costs. Federal regulations restrict the use of funds on trails that allow 

motorized users, except snowmobiles.  

 

Contact: Tanya Iverson, State Coordinator at (608) 266-2574, tanya2.iverson@dot.wi.gov or  

Robert Schmidt, Southeast Region at (262)548-8789 or robert1.schmidt@dot.wi.gov 

 

Deadline: the next application cycle expected to open in the fall of 2019 

 

Wisconsin Department of Administration 

I. Community Development Block Grant – Public Facilities (CDBG-PF)  

Description: Available through the Wisconsin Department of Administration (DOA), communities receiving CDBG funds 

from the State may use the funds for many kinds of community development activities including, but not limited to:  

• Acquisition of property for public purposes 

• Construction or reconstruction of streets, water and sewer facilities, neighborhood centers, recreation facilities and 

other public works 

• Demolition 

• Rehabilitation of public and private buildings 

• Public services 

• Planning activities 

• Assistance to nonprofit entities for community development activities 

• Assistance to private, for profit entities to carry out economic development activities (including assistance to micro-

enterprises) 

 

Contact: Tom Clippert (BCD Director) at (608) 261-7538 

 

Other Programs 

J. 10-Minute Walk Planning Grants 

Description: The 10-Minute Walk campaign is a National Recreation and Park Association program that offers grants to 

support park related planning efforts in communities. The goal of this program is to increase access to parks in chosen 

communities that are within a 10-minute walk. The first round of $40,000 grants were awarded on April 1, 2018 with 

additional application periods expected in the future. 

 

To qualify for the 10-Minute Walk grants the applicant must: 

• Be a local government park and recreation agency 

• Provide a signed statement of support for the 10-Minute Walk Campaign from the Mayor of the applicant City 

• Provide a signed statement of support from at least two partners on the project (outside of parks and recreation) 

http://www.ta-clearinghouse.info/index
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/map21/
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/map21/


CHAPTER 4: Implementation | 105 

 

 

• Demonstrate a clear interest and commitment to the campaign, strong project management, and leadership 

support 

 

Contact: 10minutewalk@nrpa.org 

 

K. KaBOOM! Grants 

Description: KaBOOM! is a national non-profit partnered with businesses such as Home Depot that awards grants for 

playground development. KaBOOM! accepts applications for grants on a rolling basis from child serving non-profit 

organizations, schools and municipalities.  

 

Applicants with the best chance of receiving grants will: 

• Serve children from a low-income area, serve children with special needs or serve children in a disaster 

impacted area 

• Demonstrate the need for a playground 

• Have a space that does not currently have a playground on have a playground that needs to be replaced 

• Will implement a community-build model to engage the larger community in all aspects of project planning and 

playground build execution 

 

Contact: Grant applications can be filled out at the KaBOOM! website; kaboom.org 

 

L. Foundation Grants 

 

Anthem Foundation – Provide grants to communities to support health related programs. 

 

Clif Bar Family Foundation – Provides grants for projects that increase opportunities for outdoor activity, reduce 

environmental health hazards and build stronger communities. 

 

National Environmental Education Foundation – Awards grants for the promotion of a safer and healthier environment. 

 

Tony Hawk Foundation – Grants provided for the creation of skateparks.  

 

U.S. Bank Foundation Community Grant Program – Grant support for play spaces for K-12 students in low to 

moderate income areas. 

 

The U.S. Soccer Foundation – A grant program that supports soccer programs and field construction. 

 

Youth Outside – Provide grants to promote nature based outdoor experiences to children. 

 
 

M. Online Grant Provider Lists 

 

• Fundsnet Services • Grantmakers in Aging 

• SPARK Grant Finder • NPRA Grant Resources 

• The Grant Helpers • Grants.gov 

• Afterschool Alliance Funding 

Database 

• American Therapeutic 

Recreation Association 

• Federal Grantswire  

 

N. Purchasing Partnerships 

Description: Some equipment suppliers will allow multiple municipalities to make group purchases of equipment. Details of 

this type of agreement vary between manufacturers, but the result will often be a reduced cost to the purchasing 



106 | CHAPTER 4: Implementation 

 

 

municipalities. Examples include Buy Board https://www.buyboard.com/ and US Communities 

http://www.uscommunities.org/. 

 

O. Friends of the Park Foundation 

Description: The National Association of Park Foundations helps communities create Friend of the Park Foundations for 

their local park system. An annual fee for membership can be used to fund park projects. Membership in the foundation 

includes educational programs, advocacy, networking opportunities and other information related to local parks.  

 

4.4 Capital Improvements Plan  

Capital improvements to a park are the addition of labor and materials that improve the overall value and usefulness of that 

park. Capital improvements are designated and funded individually through segregated municipal funds. Routine 

maintenance, on the other hand, is considered to be the repair and upkeep of existing park facilities, such as painting a 

shelter building. Routine maintenance of park facilities does not appreciably increase the value or usefulness of the park, 

and is traditionally funded through the park department’s operations budget. Non-routine maintenance of park facilities, 

such as upgrading a toilet facility to be barrier-free, is usually considered to be a capital improvement. 

 

Most projects can be easily identified and categorized, but some are difficult. When a project falls on the borderline 

between a capital improvement and maintenance, the overall cost becomes the determinant. Projects with a high cost, 

such as that for seal coating roads or parking lots, are categorized as capital improvements. 

 

The capital improvements program for each park is a combination of several types of projects. These projects are ranked 

according to their importance and priority in the overall development of the park and the value of the project to the overall 

Village park system. Capital improvements for this plan are ranked in the following manner: 

 

a. Improvements to existing facilities that will: 

i. Correct health and safety hazards 

ii. Upgrade deficient facilities 

iii. Modernize adequate but outdated facilities 

 

b.  Installation of facilities as deemed appropriate and necessary through public demand (public meetings, park 

committee input, Village budgeting) 

 

c. Development of new facilities as deemed necessary through level of service, population projection, and age cohort 

analyses 

 

Generally, improvements to existing facilities rank the highest in the capital improvements program. New facilities are 

usually ranked lower, according to their relative need in each park location. Improvements that correct health and safety 

hazards are always given the highest priority. Improvements that are deemed necessary through empirical analyses are 

usually ranked the lowest.  

 

Parks have been divided by classifications established by the National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) including 

Mini, Neighborhood, Community, Conservancy, and Special Use parks. Improvement costs are shown by year (2019-

2023) which establishes a priority ranking – higher priority improvements would occur sooner in the schedule. In some 

cases a capital improvement may utilize a special fund. When this occurs, the improvement contains an identifier citing 

that particular funding source. Depending on the fund, it may or may not be reflected in the subtotal for each park type.  

 

Potential costs for site master plans have not been included in the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) table but should be 

accounted for the budget planning. Depending on the level of public involvement and final deliverables, the Village should 

anticipate a cost of $15,000-$25,000 for each site Master Plan. It should also be noted that if the Village brings on new 

parklands, the required maintenance for these new facilities will also carry a long-term cost implication. A basic mini-park 

for example will require at minimum, weekly mowing. Neighborhood and community parks will require mowing, snow 

https://www.buyboard.com/
http://www.uscommunities.org/


CHAPTER 4: Implementation | 107 

 

 

removal, playground maintenance and potentially other monthly or annual upkeep depending on the level of facility 

development. 

 

The total improvement cost by park classification and by year is assembled in Table 4. Costs associated with each park 

improvement option are based upon recent regional project construction costs and may be spread out over many years.  

 

 

 

Table 4: Total Improvement Costs by Year and Park Classification 

 

 

 

             Detailed CIP tables by individual park can be found on the following pages. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MINI PARKS

Subtotal $13,000 $5,000 $0 $164,325 $0 $182,325

NEIGHBORHOOD PARKS

Subtotal $14,500 $57,500 $2,563 $18,900 $172,000 $265,463

COMMUNITY PARKS

Subtotal $16,500 $55,000 $198,850 $423,150 $21,500 $715,000

REGIONAL PARKS

Subtotal $8,000 $27,500 $71,750 $420,000 $0 $527,250

SPECIAL USE PARKS

Subtotal $2,000 $0 $10,250 $0 $107,500 $119,750

CONSERVANCY PARKS

Subtotal $0 $58,000 $64,575 $0 $537,500 $660,075

ALL PARKS

Subtotal $54,000 $203,000 $347,988 $1,026,375 $838,500 $2,469,863

Grand Total2019 2020 2021 2022 2023



108 | CHAPTER 4: Implementation 

 

 

 

 

 

MINI PARKS

Becker Park

Remove and replace playground equipment (play structure, swings, sandbox, bench and safety surfacing) $150,000

Remove dead tree $2,000

Install concrete or asphalt path to play equipment and picnic table $2,000

Install recycling receptacles $1,000

Subtotals $3,000 $0 $0 $152,000 $0 $155,000

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 3,000$       -$           -$           159,600$   -$           162,600$   

Creekside Park (South)

Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones and ADA access to play equipment $3,000

Install trash & recycling receptacles $2,000

Install concrete or asphalt path to play equipment and picnic table $1,500

Install ADA accessible picnic table $1,500

Remove and/or replace playground sign $500

Subtotals $4,000 $3,000 $0 $1,500 $0 $8,500

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 4,000$       3,000$       -$           1,575$       -$           8,575$       

Woodlawn (Harrison) Park

Resolve drainage issues $5,000

Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones and ADA access to play equipment $3,000

Install concrete or asphalt path to play equipment $2,000

Install recycling receptacle $1,000

Subtotals $6,000 $2,000 $0 $3,000 $0 $11,000

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 6,000$       2,000$       -$           3,150$       -$           11,150$     

MINI PARKS

Subtotal $13,000 $5,000 $0 $164,325 $0 $182,325

Grand 

Total

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Grand Total

NEIGHBORHOOD PARKS

Carol Beach Park

Remove and replace playground equipment (play structure, swings, sandbox, benches and safety surfacing) $150,000

Resolve drainage issue in parking lot $10,000

Install drinking fountain $10,000

Install concrete or asphalt path from parking lot to park amenities $8,000

Remove dead/dying tree with broken limbs overhanging playground $5,000

Skin and resurface infield $5,000

Replace picnic tables with ADA approved models $4,500

Repair park shelter $3,000

Repair/replace park sign $3,000

Install recycling receptacles (2) $2,000

Paint lines on basketball court $2,000

Stripe parking stalls $1,500

Install bike rack on hardscape surface $1,500

Remove graffiti $1,000

Cap end of team benches $500

Subtotals $11,500 $27,500 $0 $18,000 $150,000 $207,000

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 11,500$       27,500$       -$             18,900$       161,250$     219,150$        

Rolling Meadows Park

Add small parking area along 32nd Ave to accommodate two to three cars $30,000

Install ADA approved drinking fountain $10,000

Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones and ADA access to play equipment $2,000

Install bike rack on hardscape surface $1,500

Install recycling receptacle $1,000

Connect path to playground $1,000

Subtotals $3,000 $30,000 $2,500 $0 $10,000 $45,500

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 3,000$         30,000$       2,563$         -$             10,750$       46,313$          

NEIGHBORHOOD PARKS

Subtotal $14,500 $57,500 $2,563 $18,900 $172,000 $265,463



CHAPTER 4: Implementation | 109 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Grand Total

COMMUNITY PARKS

Ingram Park

Construct shelter/restroom building $125,000

Install ADA approved drinking fountain $10,000

Add community garden $10,000

Install bank stabilization/erosion control measures $5,000

Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones and ADA access to play equipment $3,000

Re-paint parking lot striping $3,000

Install recycling receptacles (2) $2,000

Add access point at playground for park visitor approaching on the path from the south. $1,500

Install bike rack at playground $1,500

Subtotals $10,000 $0 $128,000 $3,000 $20,000 $161,000

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 10,000$          -$           131,200$   3,150$          21,500$         165,850$          

Pleasant Prairie Park

Remoe softball fields and support components. Re-configure soccer fields. $30,000

Develop a trail network with interpretive signage in natural area $25,000

Install drinking fountain $10,000

Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones and ADA access to play equipment $3,000

Install recycling receptacles (2) $2,000

Replace basketball net(s) $0

Move bike rack to a hardscape or gravel surface $0

Subtotals $2,000 $35,000 $33,000 $0 $0 $70,000

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 2,000$            35,000$     33,825$     -$              -$               70,825$            

Village Green Park

Install splashpad $400,000

Beer garden $20,000

Install youth baseball practice field (70' bases) $20,000

Install drinking fountain $10,000

Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones and ADA access to play equipment $3,000

Install recycling receptacles (2) $2,000

Install bike rack on hardscape surface $1,500

Fill and maintain playground woodchip level above bench footings $1,000

Install basketball hoop nets $0

Subtotals $4,500 $20,000 $33,000 $400,000 $0 $0

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 4,500$            20,000$     33,825$     420,000$      -$               478,325$          

COMMUNITY PARKS

Subtotal $16,500 $55,000 $198,850 $423,150 $21,500 $715,000

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Grand Total

REGIONAL PARKS

Prairie Springs Park

Replace 5 to 12 and 2 to 5 play structures in playground near south ballfields $175,000

Construct concessions building near north ballfields $125,000

Replace play structure and safety surfacing at the beach playground $100,000

Install fitness stations with outdoor exercise equipment along the path throughout the park $50,000

Install scoreboards on all four north ballfields $15,000

Install safety mats at play equipment to provide safe fall zones and ADA access to play equipment $10,000

Resolve drainage issues at Field #1, north ballfields $10,000

Install recycling receptacles (8) $8,000

Replace aging benches (4) $6,000

Install additional bike racks throughout the park $6,000

Repair trail map kiosk $500

Subtotals $8,000 $27,500 $70,000 $400,000 $0 $505,500

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 8,000$            27,500$     71,750$     420,000$   -$               527,250$          

REGIONAL PARKS

Subtotal $8,000 $27,500 $71,750 $420,000 $0 $527,250



110 | CHAPTER 4: Implementation 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSERVANCY, OPEN SPACE & NATURAL AREAS

Chiwaukee Praire - Carol Beach Open Space

None

Subtotals $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals -$           -$             -$           -$           -$           -$            

Chiwaukee View

Install benches (2) 3,000$         

Investigate the possibility of expanding the park west of Lakeshore Dr and south of 116th St -

Subtotals $0 $3,000 $0 $0 $0 $0

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals -$           3,000$         -$           -$           -$           3,000$         

County Corner - Tobin Creek Open Space

None

Subtotals $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals -$           -$             -$           -$           -$           -$            

Des Plaines River Open Space Land

Expand trail network from Hwy 165 through open space into Kenosha $500,000

Subtotals $0 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 $500,000

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals -$           -$             -$           -$           537,500$   537,500$     

Edithton Beach

None

Subtotals $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals -$           -$             -$           -$           -$           -$            

Lakeshore Park

Install benches (2) $3,000

Subtotals $0 $0 $3,000 $0 $0 $3,000

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals -$           -$             3,075$       -$           -$           3,075$         

Momper's Woods

Install small parking area adjacent to Green Bay Rd $40,000

Expand natural surface trail network, install interpretive signage $15,000

Open park to public $0

Subtotals $0 $55,000 $0 $0 $0 $0

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals -$           55,000$       -$           -$           -$           55,000$       

Prairie Trails West Open Space

None

Subtotals $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals -$           -$             -$           -$           -$           -$            

Sorensen Woods at Kildeer Farm

Install small parking area adjacent to 47th Ave $40,000

Create natural surface trail network $20,000

Open park to public $0

Subtotals $0 $0 $60,000 $0 $0 $60,000

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals -$           -$             61,500$     -$           -$           61,500$       

CONSERVANCY, OPEN SPACE & NATURAL AREAS

Subtotal $0 $58,000 $64,575 $0 $537,500 $660,075

Grand 

Total

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023



CHAPTER 4: Implementation | 111 

 

 

 

SPECIAL-USE PARKS

Lake Michigan Park

Restore to natural dune condition and convert park to protected conservancy area. Maintain natural surface trails $100,000

Resolve parking lot drainage issue $10,000

Install recycling receptacles (2) $2,000

Subtotals $2,000 $0 $10,000 $0 $100,000 $112,000

Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

Totals 2,000$             -$             10,250$     -$           107,500$   119,750$         

SPECIAL USE PARKS

Subtotal $2,000 $0 $10,250 $0 $107,500 $119,750

Grand Total2019 2020 2021 2022 2023





                                                         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Appendix A: 

 

Facilities Matrix 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie, WI                                                                                                                                                                       Existing Facilities Matrix Parks and Open Spaces

Designation Acreage Facility Op
en

 S
pa

ce

Do
g 

Pa
rk

Di
sc

 g
ol

f

Pi
cn

ic
 a

re
a

Pl
ay

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t

Bi
ki

ng
/w

al
ki

ng

So
cc

er

Sa
nd

lo
t b

ac
ks

to
p

Ba
se

ba
ll

So
ftb

al
l/Y

ou
th

 b
as

eb
al

l

Fo
ot

ba
ll

Sa
nd

 V
ol

le
yb

al
l

Ba
sk

et
ba

ll

Te
nn

is

Pi
ck

le
ba

ll

Ho
rs

es
ho

es

Sk
at

eb
oa

rd
 A

re
a

Ex
er

ci
se

 S
ta

tio
ns

Po
ol

/S
pl

as
h 

Pa
d

Sw
im

m
in

g 
Be

ac
h

Go
lf 

Co
ur

se
/D

riv
in

g 
Ra

ng
e

Co
m

m
un

ity
 G

ar
de

ns

Ca
m

pi
ng

 F
ac

ilit
ie

s

Ic
e 

Sk
at

in
g/

Ho
ck

ey

Sl
ed

di
ng

Fi
sh

in
g 

Ar
ea

Xc
ou

nt
ry

 S
ki

in
g

Bo
at

 L
au

nc
h

Ri
ve

r/L
ak

e 
Ac

ce
ss

Pe
de

st
ria

n

M
ul

ti-
Us

e

M
ou

nt
ai

n 
Bi

ke

Sn
ow

m
ob

ile

Pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 S

ta
ge

Zo
o

Ev
en

t a
re

a

Ot
he

r b
ui

ld
in

g

Re
st

ro
om

s

Pi
cn

ic
 S

he
lte

r

Pe
de

st
ria

n 
Ac

ce
ss

Tr
an

si
t C

ap
ab

ilit
ie

s

Dr
in

ki
ng

 W
at

er

AD
A 

Ac
ce

ss
ib

ilit
y

Bi
cy

cl
e 

Pa
rk

in
g

Au
to

m
ob

ile
 P

ar
ki

ng

MINI PARKS

1.37 Becker Park     

1.69 Creekside Park (South)   

0.21 Woodlawn (Harrison) Park 

NEIGHBORHOOD PARKS

2.98 Carol Beach Park       

3.59 Rolling Meadows Park     

COMMUNITY PARKS

30.72 Ingram Park        

23.33 Pleasant Prairie Park            

 29.40 Village Green Park         

REGIONAL PARKS

478.29 Prairie Springs Park (Outdoor Faciltites)                    

SPECIAL USE PARKS

2.64 Lake Michigan Park     

CONSERVANCY/NATAURAL AREAS

482.00 Chiwaukee Prairie Carol Beach Open Space   

0.58 Chiwaukee View 

 12.15 County Corner - Tobin Creek Open Space

 653.32 Des Plaines River Open Space Land  

0.38 Edithton Beach 

1.71 Lakeshore Park 

 26.62 Momper's Woods 

 7.91 Prairie Trails West Open Space

 4.54 Sorensen Woods at Kildeer Farm

1,763.43TOTAL ACREAGE:

Special Event Areas Service and BufferSeasonalPassive Areas Informal Active Games Hard Surfaced Courts Trails



                                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B: 

 

Maps 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



L   A   K   E     

       M   I   C   H   I   G   A   N

§̈¦94

UV31

UV165

§̈¦94

UV165

UV31

UV32

UV32

UV32

UV31
UV50

UV50

UV50

P   L   E   A   S   A   N   T
P   R   A   I   R   I   E

WISCONSIN
ILLINOIS WISCONSIN

ILLINOIS

125
th A
ve

§̈¦41

§̈¦41

L A K E A N D R E A

12

15

16

9

6

7

8 5

4
10

2

1
3

20

21

22

11

14

14

14

11

17
13

18

19

39t
h A
ve

88t
h A
ve

Co 
Hw
y H

85th St

128th St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

93rd St

136
th A
ve

7th
 Av
e

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
H

Co 
Hw
y U

67th St

89th St

Old
 Gre
en B
ay R
d

Co Hwy M l

W  Russell Rd

47t
h A
ve

17t
h A
ve

80t
h A
ve

Coo
per
 Rd

W ilm o
t Rd

60t
h A
ve

Cty A2

1st Ct

Ba in Sta t
ion Rd

5th
 Av
e

State Line Rd

26t
h A
ve

Co T runk Hwy M l

3rd
 Ave

73rd St

Riv
er R
d

116th St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
E Z

23r
d A
ve

Horto
n Rd

114th Ave

Co Hw
y Cj

57t
h A
ve118
th A
ve

122
 Av
e

8th Ave

16t
h A
ve

33r
d A
ve

W Fronta geRd

Spri
ngbr

ook R
d

144
th A
ve

Ken
osh
a  C
oun
ty B
ike 
T rl

County A2

28t
h A
ve

77t
h A
ve

63rd St

Park
 Dr

93 Pl

T a ft R
d

79th St

T erw a ll
T er

Cou
nty 
Bik
e T r
l

W  North Ave

69th St

24t
h A
ve

70t
h C
t

20t
h A
ve

47t
h C
t

Harris
on Rd

Pra irieRidge Blvd

109th St

29t
h A
ve

77th St

100th St

W ilso
n Rd

E Fr
onta
ge R
d

Birc h Dr

71st St

6th
 Av
e

Linc o
ln Rd

123rdPl

97th St

Hard
ing R
d

1st St

14th Ave

130
th A
ve

86th St

95th St

49t
h A
ve

65th Pl

128
th A
ve

97th Ct

42n
d A
ve

54t
h A
ve

141s
tAv
e

111
th A
ve

94t
h C
t

88th Pl

48t
h A
ve

49thCt

112th
St

61s
t Av
e

74th St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
Ez

State Hwy 50

9th Ave

34t
h A
ve

66th Ave

Oa k Hi Cir

98th Pl

Oa k St

4th
 Av
e

ERi

dg e
Dr

Mai
n S
t

78thAve

92nd Pl

115
th A
ve

110th St

15t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

E astS t

27t
h A
ve

44t
h A
ve

72n
d A
ve

State Hwy 165

81st St

41s
t Av
e

113th St

96t
h A
ve

59t
h A
ve

123rd Ave

70th St

110th Ave

84t
h A
ve

M a ple Rd

101st St

97t
h A
ve

91st St

Ceda r Ln

111th St

121st Pl

CorporateDr

51st Ct

95t
h A
ve

100
th A
ve

55t
h A
ve

68th St

Da b
bsF
arm

Rd

37t
h A
ve

65th St

10th Ave

85t
h A
ve

105th St

CreeksideCir

92n
d A
ve

76th St

66th St

32n
d A
ve

99th Pl

58t
h A
ve

53r
d A
ve

56th Ave

93r
d A
ve

102
nd A
ve

116th Ave

104th Ave

123rd
 St

82n
d A
ve

62n
d A
ve

Bentz Rd

87t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

98th St

124th 
St

51s
t Av
e

103rd St

31s
t Av
e

89th Pl

121st St

67th Pl

Lexington Pl

89t
h A
ve

SE 
Svc
 Rd
, 22
nd A
ve

81st
 Pl

74th Pl

86th Pl

93r
d C
t 44th Ct

Eve
rgre
en L
n

106th Ave

Ashb uryLn

Hic koryLn

64t
h A
ve

108th St
107th St

65t
h A
ve

99th St

72nd St

77th Pl

90th St

5th 
Ct

80th Pl

78th Pl

56thCt

30t
h A
ve

145
th Av
e

83rd Pl

63rdAve

109
th A
ve

98th Ave

Evergreen Dr

Beverly
 Ln

35t
h A
ve

92nd St

68th Pl

24th
 Ct

80th St

42nd Ct

82nd St

John
son R
d

87th Pl

38t
h A
ve

89t
h C
t

90t
h C
t

91st Pl

35t
h C
t

9th Ct

96th St

114th S
t

111th
 Ct

112th Ave

90th Pl

94th St

67th
 Ave

M a rt
in Lu
ther K
ing D
r

120th St

2nd Ave
113
th P
l

Gra nt R
d

50t
h A
ve

96th Pl

13t
h A
ve

102nd St

66th Pl

21s
t Av
e

11t
h A
ve

103
rd A
ve

101st Pl

94th Pl

Buc h
a na n
 Rd 12t

h A
ve

W  Sta te Line Rd

52n
d A
ve107
th A
ve

36t
h A
ve

36t
h C
t

64th St

114th Pl

88th St

115th St

105
th A
ve

122nd St

19t
h A
ve

Co Hwy Q

22nd Ave

66thCt

105th Pl

25t
h C
t

84th Pl

114
th C
t

49t
h A
ve

EFronta ge Rd

74th St

64th St

27t
h A
ve

78th St

86th Pl

25t
h A
ve

102nd St

68th St

18t
h A
ve

15t
h A
ve

She
rida
n R
d

22n
d A
ve

31s
t Av
e

83rd St
82nd St

34t
h A
ve

73rd St47t
h A
ve

91s
t Av
e

State 
Hwy 5

0

Sherida n Rd

76th St

State Hwy 32

102nd St

58t
h A
ve

107th St

68th St

70th St

36th
 Ave

68th St
71stSt 68th Pl

74th Pl

79th St

70th St

80th St

77th St

25t
h A
ve

88th St

79th St

5th
 Av
e

80t
h A
ve

83rd Pl

107th St

32n
d A
ve

Sta
te H
wy 
32

82nd St

104th St

33r
d A
ve

74th Pl

55t
h A
ve

122nd St

80thSt

84th St

28t
h A
ve

120th St

42n
d A
ve

91st St

66th
Ave

89th St

27t
h A
ve

28th Ave

Co Hwy C

68th St

105th St

65th St

43r
d A
ve

22n
d A
ve

87th Pl

83rd Pl

42n
d A
ve

116th St

4th Ave

31st Ave

30t
h A
ve

113th St

73rd St 71st St

8th Ave
91st Pl

21s
t Av
e

79th St

43r
dA
ve

101st St

40t
h A
ve

77th St

47t
h A
ve

4th
 Av
e

91st Pl
105
th A
ve

38th Ave

1st 
Ct

66th St

32n
d A
ve

80th Pl

72n
d A
ve

69th St
66th St

27t
h A
ve

84th St

87th Pl

86th Pl

34th Ave

87th St

22n
d A
ve

97th St

15t
h A
ve

US 
Hw
y 41

54th Ave

47t
h A
ve

89th Pl

32n
d A
ve

34t
h A
ve

29t
h A
ve

120
th A
ve

15t
h A
ve

90th St

107thAve

90th St

83rd St

72nd St

69th St 69th St

113t
h St

94t
h A
ve

95th St

74th Pl

21s
t Av
e

63r
d A
ve

107th St

43r
d A
ve

96th Pl

20t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

74th St

62n
d A
ve

97th St

91st St

3rd
 Av
e

W ilm ot Rd

Co Hw
y C

26t
h A
ve

108th St

63rd Ave

35t
h A
ve

3rd
 Av
e

49t
h A
ve

Birc h Dr

69th St

65th St

91st Pl

109th St

78th St

81st Pl

84th St

67th St

79th St

1st 
Ave

80th Pl

42nd Ave

50t
h A
ve 64th St

State Hwy 50

23r
d A
ve

32n
d A
ve

64th S t

93rdSt
8th Ave

12th Ave

101stS
t

26t
h A
ve

Gre
en B
ay R
d

122nd St

67th Pl

23rd Ave

52n
d A
ve

75th St

43r
d A
ve

81st St

86th Pl48t
h A
ve

State Hwy 165

31s
t Av
e

42n
d A
ve

50t
h A
ve

2 2ndA ve

3rd Ave

110th St

59t
h A
ve

90th St

26t
h A
ve

104th St

46t
h A
ve

79th St

63rd St

74th St

82nd St

122nd St

42n
d A
ve

71st St
70th St

65th St

88th St

39t
h A
ve

88th St 88th St

83rdSt

61s
t Av
e

45t
h A
ve

Fro
nta g
eRd

60t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

28t
h A
ve

99th St

110th St

82nd Ave

73rd St

19t
h A
ve

63rd St

49t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

11th Ave

66th St

85th St

82nd St

Co T
runk
 Hwy
 M l

84th St

66th St

85th Pl

116th St

107th St

66th St

43rdAve

28t
h A
ve

11th Ave

2nd
 Av
e

125th St

64th St

124th St

68th St

80th St

8thAv e

92nd St

State Hwy 165

53r
d A
ve

86th St

80th St

102nd St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

83rd St

65th St

33r
d A
ve

21s
t Av
e

83rd St

55t
h A
ve

92n
d A
ve

La keview Pkwy

31s
t Av
e

3rd Ave

23rd Ave

77th St

74th St

67th St 67th St

93rd St

104th St

87th St

82nd St

66th Pl

69th St

64t
h A
ve

63rd St

83rd Pl

72nd St

M a in St

114th St

14t
h A
ve

75th St

15t
h A
ve

24t
h A
ve

109th St

3rd Ave

33r
d A
ve

41s
t Av
e

81st St

67th St

27t
h A
ve

86t
h A
ve

78th St

63rd St 63rd St

8th
 Av
e

72nd St

94th St

70th St

20t
h A
ve

63rd St
64th St

144
th A
ve

43r
d A
ve

69th St

73rd St

25t
h A
ve

104th St

100th St

104th St

Sta
te H
wy 
32

65th St

91st St

Sprin
gbro
ok R
d

100thSt

68th St

76th St
75th St

72nd St

20t
h A
ve

74th St

100th St

84th St

68th St

85th Ave

64th St65th St
66th Pl

104
th A
ve

83rd St

76th St

81st St

71st St

67th St
70th St

95th St

38t
h A
ve

108th St

35t
h A
ve

67th St

88th Pl

68th St

102nd St

1st 
Ct

71st St

40th Ave

88th Pl

83rd St

111
th A
ve

87th Pl

81st St

45th Ave

73rd St

46t
h A
ve

31s
t Av
e

4th A
ve

Sh eridan Rd

102nd St

128
th A
ve

87t
h A
ve

93rd St

48t
h A
ve

106
th A
ve

24t
h A
ve

41 s
tAv
e

83rd Pl

79th St

29t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

80th Pl

Co Hwy 19

6th St

Cty
 W1
5

Cty
 W 2
6

Cty
 W 2
7

Cty
 W 3
2

City
 W 3
4

Co 
Hw
y 29

U S 
Hw
y 41

Lew
is A
ve

Co 
Hw
y 37Sko
kie 
Hw
y

N L
ewi
s A
ve

She
rida
n R
d

State Rte 131
Green Ba y Rd

N D
ela n
ey R
d

N H
unt
 Clu
b R
d

Sta
te R
te 1
37

N K
eno
sha
 Rd

Tru
mp
etP
ark
Dr

N K
ilbo
urn
e R
d

Tho
mp
son
 Av
e

Rob
ert
sR
d Ra vine Dr

5th St

M arina Dr

N P
oint
 Dr

Cav
in A
ve

Old DarbyLn Col
lege
 Av
e

Rus
sell
 Av
e

N P
rair
ieA
ve

W  3rd St
4th St

Meg
an P
l

M ea dow Ln Eng
lish
 Ln

2nd St

7th St Kirk
woo
d A
ve

Fore
st P
rese
rve

W h
itne
y A
ve

Ber
ron
g A
ve

N S
her
idan
 Oa
ks D
r

Gar
nett
 Av
e

Hol
drid
ge A
ve

Par
k Ln

Fos
slan
d A
ve

Rose Ct

Ged
des
 Av
e

Fa irha ven Dr Ceda r Ct

3rd St

5th St

Nor
th A
ve

Eng
lish
 Ln

3rd St

5th St

W  Russell Rd

Gar
nett
 Av
e4th St

Cav
in A
ve

Cty A1

N P
oint
 Dr

Col
lege
 Av
e

7th St

MAP 1Pleasa nt Pra irie Park & Open Spa c e Pla nExisting Parks VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39th AvenuePleasa nt Pra irie, W I 53158Project 27-1062.20 • 9.26.2018

Î Î Î

ÎÎÎ

A B C D

3

2

1

DCBA

2

1

3

I 0 3,6001,800 Feet

LEGEND
                 Mini Park
1.   Bec ker Park (C-1)2.   Creekside Park (B-2)3.   Woodla wn (Harrison) Park (C-1)
                 Neighborhood Park
4.   Carol Bea c h Park (D-3)5.   Rolling M eadows Park (C-2)
                 Community Park
6.   Ingra m  Park (C-2)7.   Pleasa nt Pra irie Park (A-1)8.   V illa ge Green Park (C-2)
                 Regional Park
9.   Pra irie Springs Park (B-2)
                 Special-Use Park
10.   La ke M ic higa n Park (D-2)
                 Conservancy, Open Space and Natural Areas
11. Chiwaukee Pra irie - Carol Bea c h Open Spa c e* (D-2)12. Chiwaukee V iew (D-3)13. County Corner - Tobin Creek Open Spa c e (C-3)14. Des Pla ines River Open Spa c e La nd (A-2)15. Edithton Bea c h (D-2)16. La keshore Park (D-2)17. M omper's Woods (B-3)18. Pra irie T ra ils W est Open Spa c e (C-3)19. Sorensen W oods at Kildeer Farm  (C-3)
                 School Parks
20. Pleasa nt Pra irie Elem entary Sc hool (B-1)21. Pra irie La ne Elem entary Sc hool (C-2)22. W hittier Elem entary Sc hool (C-1)

* Approxim ate extents shown of the Chiwaukee Pra irie - Carol Bea c h Open Spa c e



§̈¦94

UV31

UV165

§̈¦94

UV165

UV31

UV32

UV32

UV32

UV31
UV50

UV50

UV50

P   L   E   A   S   A   N   T
P   R   A   I   R   I   E

WISCONSIN
ILLINOIS WISCONSIN

ILLINOIS

125
th A
ve

§̈¦41

§̈¦41

L A K E A N D R E A

17

18

19

11

13

13

13

11

14
12

15

16

39t
h A
ve

88t
h A
ve

Co 
Hw
y H

85th St

128th St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

93rd  St

136
th A
ve

7th
 Av
e

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
H

Co 
Hw
y U

67th St

89th St

Old
 Gre
en B
ay R
d

Co Hwy Ml

W Russell Rd

47t
h A
ve

17t
h A
ve

80t
h A
ve

Coo
per
 Rd

Wilm o
t Rd

60t
h A
ve

Cty A2

1st Ct

Bain Stat
ion Rd

5th
 Av
e

State Line Rd

26t
h A
ve

Co Trunk Hwy Ml

3rd
 Ave

73rd  St

Riv
er R
d

116th St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
E Z

23r
d A
ve

Horto
n Rd

114th Ave

Co Hw
y Cj

57t
h A
ve118
th A
ve

122
 Av
e

8th Ave

16t
h A
ve

33r
d A
ve

W Frontage Rd

Spri
ngbr

ook R
d

144
th A
ve

Ken
osh
a C
oun
ty B
ike 
Trl

County A2

28t
h A
ve

77t
h A
ve

63rd  St

Park
 Dr

Ta ft R
d

79th St

Terwa ll
Ter

Cou
nty 
Bik
e Tr
l

W North Ave

69th St

24t
h A
ve

70t
h C
t

20t
h A
ve

47t
h C
t

Harris
on Rd

Pra irie Rid ge Blvd

109th St

29t
h A
ve

77th St

100th St

Wilso
n Rd

E Fr
onta
ge R
d

Birch Dr

71st St

6th
 Av
e

Linco
ln Rd

123rd Pl

97th St

Hard
ing R
d

1st St

14th Ave

130
th A
ve

86th St

95th St

49t
h A
ve

65th Pl

128
th A
ve

97th Ct

42n
d A
ve

54t
h A
ve

141s
tAv
e

111
th A
ve

94t
h C
t

88th Pl

48t
h A
ve

49thCt

112th
St

61s
t Av
e

74th St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
Ez

State Hwy 50

9th Ave

34t
h A
ve

66th Ave

O a k Hi Cir

98th Pl

O ak St

4th
 Av
e

ERi

d ge
Dr

Mai
n S
t

78thAve

92nd  Pl

115
th A
ve

110th St

15t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

E astS t

27t
h A
ve

44t
h A
ve

72n
d  A
ve

State Hwy 165

81st St

41s
t Av
e

113th St

96t
h A
ve

59t
h A
ve

123rd  Ave

70th St

110th Ave

84t
h A
ve

Maple Rd

101st St

97t
h A
ve

91st St

Ced a r Ln

111th St

121st Pl

Corporate Dr

51st Ct

95t
h A
ve

100
th A
ve

55t
h A
ve

68th St

Da b
bsF
arm

Rd

37t
h A
ve

65th St

10th Ave

85t
h A
ve

105th St

Creeksid e Cir

92n
d A
ve

76th St

66th St

32n
d A
ve

99th Pl

58t
h A
ve

53r
d A
ve

56th Ave

93r
d A
ve

102
nd  A
ve

116th Ave

104th Ave

123rd
 St

82n
d A
ve

62n
d  A
ve

Bentz Rd

87t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

98th St

124th 
St

51s
t Av
e

103rd  St

31s
t Av
e

89th Pl

121st St

67th Pl

Lexington Pl

89t
h A
ve

SE 
Svc
 Rd
, 22
nd A
ve

81st
 Pl

74th Pl

86th Pl

93r
d  C
t 44th Ct

Eve
rgre
en L
n

106th Ave

AshburyLn

HickoryLn

64t
h A
ve

108th St
107th St

65t
h A
ve

99th St

72nd  St

77th Pl

90th St

5th 
Ct

80th Pl

78th Pl

56thCt

30t
h A
ve

145
th Av
e

83rd  Pl

63rd Ave

109
th A
ve

98th Ave

Evergreen Dr

Beverly
 Ln

35t
h A
ve

92nd  St

68th Pl

24th
 Ct

80th St

42nd  Ct

82nd  St

John
son R
d

87th Pl

38t
h A
ve

89t
h C
t

90t
h C
t

91st Pl

35t
h C
t

9th Ct

96th St

114th S
t

111th
 Ct

112th Ave

90th Pl

94th St

67th
 Ave

Mart
in Lu
the r K
ing D
r

120th St

2nd Ave
113
th P
l

Grant R
d

50t
h A
ve

96th Pl

13t
h A
ve

102nd  St

66th Pl

21s
t Av
e

11t
h A
ve

103
rd  A
ve

101st Pl

94th Pl

Buch
anan
 Rd 12t

h A
ve

W State Line Rd

52n
d A
ve107
th A
ve

36t
h A
ve

36t
h C
t

64th St

114th Pl

88th St

115th St

105
th A
ve

122nd  St

19t
h A
ve

Co Hwy Q

22nd Ave

66thCt

105th Pl

25t
h C
t

84th Pl

114
th C
t

49t
h A
ve

EFrontage Rd

74th St

64th St

27t
h A
ve

78th St

86th Pl

25t
h A
ve

102nd  St

68th St

18t
h A
ve

15t
h A
ve

She
rida
n R
d

22n
d A
ve

31s
t Av
e

83rd  St
82nd  St

34t
h A
ve

73rd  St47t
h A
ve

91s
t Av
e

State 
Hwy 5

0

Sherid an Rd

76th St

State Hwy 32

102nd  St

58t
h A
ve

107th St

68thSt

70thSt

36th
 Ave

68th St
71stSt 68th Pl

74th Pl

79th St

70th St

80th St

77th St

25t
h A
ve

88th St

79th St

5th
 Av
e

80t
h A
ve

83rd  Pl

107th St

32n
d A
ve

Sta
te H
wy 
32

82nd  St

104th St

33r
d A
ve

74th Pl

55t
h A
ve

122nd  St

80thSt

84th St

28t
h A
ve

120th St

42n
d A
ve

91st St

66th
Ave

89th St

27t
h A
ve

28th Ave

Co Hwy C

68th St

105th St

65th St

43r
d A
ve

22n
d A
ve

87th Pl

83rd  Pl

42n
d A
ve

116th St

4th Ave

31st Ave

30t
h A
ve

113th St

73rd  St 71st St

8th Ave
91st Pl

21s
t Av
e

79th St

43r
dA
ve

101st St

40t
h A
ve

77th St

47t
h A
ve

4th
 Av
e

91st Pl
105
th A
ve

38th Ave

1st 
Ct

66th St

32n
d A
ve

80th Pl

72n
d A
ve

69th St
66th St

27t
h A
ve

84th St

87th Pl

86th Pl

34th Ave

87th St

22n
d A
ve

97th St

15t
h A
ve

US 
Hw
y 41

54th Ave

47t
h A
ve

89th Pl

32n
d A
ve

34t
h A
ve

29t
h A
ve

120
th A
ve

15t
h A
ve

90th St

107thAve

90th St

83rd  St

72nd  St

69th St 69th St

113t
h St

94t
h A
ve

95th St

74th Pl

21s
t Av
e

63r
d A
ve

107thSt

43r
d A
ve

96th Pl

20t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

74thSt

62n
d A
ve

97th St

91st St

3rd
 Av
e

Wilm ot Rd

Co Hw
y C

26t
h A
ve

108th St

63rd Ave

35t
h A
ve

3rd
 Av
e

49t
h A
ve

Birch Dr

69th St

65th St

91st Pl

109th St

78th St

81st Pl

84th St

67th St

79th St

1st 
Ave

80th Pl

42nd  Ave

50t
h A
ve 64th St

State Hwy 50

23r
d A
ve

32n
d A
ve

64th St

93rd St
8th Ave

12th Ave

101stS
t

26t
h A
ve

Gre
en B
ay R
d

122nd  St

67th Pl

23rd Ave

52n
d A
ve

75th St

43r
d A
ve

81st St

86th Pl48t
h A
ve

State Hwy 165

31s
t Av
e

42n
d A
ve

50t
h A
ve

2 2ndA ve

3rd  Ave

110th St

59t
h A
ve

90th St

26t
h A
ve

104th St

46t
h A
ve

79th St

63rd  St

74th St

82nd  St

122nd  St

42n
d A
ve

71st St
70th St

65thSt

88th St

39t
h A
ve

88th St 88th St

83rd St

61s
t Av
e

45t
h A
ve

Fro
nta g
e Rd

60t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

28t
h A
ve

99th St

110th St

82nd Ave

73rd  St

19t
h A
ve

63rd  St

49t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

11th Ave

66th St

85th St

82nd  St

Co T
runk
 Hwy
 Ml

84th St

66th St

85th Pl

116th St

107thSt

66th St

43rd Ave

28t
h A
ve

11th Ave

2nd
 Av
e

125th St

64th St

124thSt

68th St

80th St

8thAv e

92nd  St

State Hwy 165

53r
d A
ve

86th St

80th St

102nd  St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

83rd  St

65th St

33r
d A
ve

21s
t Av
e

83rd  St

55t
h A
ve

92n
d A
ve

La ke viewPkwy

31s
t Av
e

3rd  Ave

23rd Ave

77th St

74th St

67th St 67th St

93rd  St

104th St

87th St

82nd  St

66th Pl

69th St

64t
h A
ve

63rd  St

83rd  Pl

72nd  St

Main St

114th St

14t
h A
ve

75th St

15t
h A
ve

24t
h A
ve

109th St

3rd Ave

33r
d A
ve

41s
t Av
e

81st St

67thSt

27t
h A
ve

86t
h A
ve

78th St

63rd  St 63rd  St

8th
 Av
e

72nd  St

94th St

70th St

20t
h A
ve

63rd  St
64th St

144
th A
ve

43r
d A
ve

69th St

73rd  St

25t
h A
ve

104th St

100th St

104th St

Sta
te H
wy 
32

65th St

91st St

Sprin
gbro
ok R
d

100thSt

68th St

76th St
75th St

72nd  St

20t
h A
ve

74th St

100th St

84th St

68th St

85th Ave

64th St65th St
66th Pl

104
th A
ve

83rd  St

76th St

81st St

71st St

67th St
70th St

95th St

38t
h A
ve

108th St

35t
h A
ve

67th St

88th Pl

68th St

102nd  St

1st 
Ct

71st St

40th Ave

88th Pl

83rd  St

111
th A
ve

87th Pl

81st St

45th Ave

73rd  St

46t
h A
ve

31s
t Av
e

4th A
ve

Sh eridan Rd

102nd  St

128
th A
ve

87t
h A
ve

93rd  St

48t
h A
ve

106
th A
ve

24t
h A
ve

41 s
tAv
e

83rd  Pl

79th St

29t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

80th Pl

Co Hwy 19

6th St

Cty
 W1
5

Cty
 W2
6

Cty
 W2
7

Cty
 W3
2

City
 W3
4

Co 
Hw
y 29

US 
Hw
y 41

Lew
is A
ve

Co 
Hw
y 37Sko
kie 
Hw
y

N L
ewi
s A
ve

She
rid a
n R
d

State Rte 131
Gre en Bay Rd

N D
elan
ey R
d

N H
unt
 Clu
b R
d

Sta
te R
te 1
37

N K
eno
sha
 Rd

Tru
mp
etP
ark
Dr

N K
ilbo
urn
e R
d

Tho
m p
son
 Av
e

Rob
e rt
sR
d Ra vine Dr

5th St

Marina Dr

N P
oint
 Dr

Cav
in A
ve

O ld DarbyLn Col
lege
 Av
e

Rus
sell
 Av
e

N P
rair
ieA
ve

W 3rd St
4th St

Meg
an P
l

Me a d ow Ln Eng
lish
 Ln

2nd  St

7th St Kirk
woo
d A
ve

Fore
st P
rese
rve

Wh
itne
y A
ve

Ber
ron
g A
ve

N S
her
idan
 Oa
ks D
r

Gar
nett
 Av
e

Hol
drid
ge A
ve

Par
k Ln

Fos
slan
d A
ve

Rose Ct

Ged
des
 Av
e

Fairhaven Dr Ce d a r Ct

3rd  St

5th St

Nor
th A
ve

Eng
lish
 Ln

3rd  St

5th St

W Russell Rd

Gar
nett
 Av
e4th St

Cav
in A
ve

Cty A1

N P
oint
 Dr

Col
lege
 Av
e

7th St

MAP 2Pleasant Prairie Park & O pen Space PlanPark Service Areas VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39th AvenuePle asant Prairie, WI 53158Project 27-1062.20 • 9.26.2018

Î Î Î

ÎÎÎ

A B C D

3

2

1

DCBA

2

1

3

I 0 3,6001,800 Feet

Pleasant Prairie

Milwaukee

Muskego
New Berlin

Kenosha
Racine

Elkhorn Burlington
East Troy

Sullivan

Chicago

Elgin

Waukegan

DeKalb
Schaumburg

Crystal Lake Lake Forest

St. Charles

Fox LakeHarvard

Sycamore Evanston

PRAIRIE SPRINGS PARK SERVICE AREA

Due to its size and  num ber of recreational offerings, Prairie Springs Park is classifie d  as a regional park. A regional park has a m uch larger service are a than tra d itional m ini, neighborhood  and  com m unity parks. The NRPA uses a one-hour d rive tim e to estim ate the service are a of a regional park. This d rive tim e is approxim ate d  by a 40-m ile buffer from  Prairie Springs Park shown above.

1"=40 Miles

LEGEND
PARK SERVICE AREAS

Mini Parks (¼  Mile)
Neighborhood  Parks (½ Mile)
Com m unity Parks (1 Mile)

PARKS
Mini Parks
Neighborhood  Parks
Com m unity Parks
Regiona l Parks
Special-Use Parks
Conservancy, O pen Space & Natural Areas
School Parks



L   A   K   E 

 M   I   C   H   I   G   A   N

§̈¦94

UV31

UV165

§̈¦94

UV165

UV31

UV32

UV32

UV32

UV31
UV50

UV50

UV50

P   L   E   A   S    A   N   T
P   R   A   I   R   I   E

WISCONSIN
ILLINOIS WISCONSIN

ILLINOIS

125
th A
ve

§̈¦41

L A K E A N D R E A
KENOSHA COUNTY BIKE TRAIL 15

16

12

9

6

7

8
5

4
10

2

1
3

20

21

22

11

14

14

14

11

17
13

18

19

88t
h A
ve

Co 
Hw
y H

85th S t

128th S t

93rd S t

136
th A
ve

7th
 Av
e

Co 
Hw
y U

67th S t

89th S t

Old
 Gre
en B
ay R
d

Co Hwy Ml

W Russell Rd

47t
h A
ve

17t
h A
ve

80t
h A
ve

Coo
per
 RdWilm o

t Rd

60t
h A
ve

1st Ct

Bain  S tat
ion Rd

5th
 Av
e26t
h A
ve

3rd
 Ave

73rd S t

Riv
er R
d

116th S t

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
E Z

23r
d A
ve

Horto
n Rd

114th Ave

Co Hw
y Cj

57t
h A
ve118
th A
ve

122
 Av
e

8th Ave

16t
h A
ve

WFron tage Rd

144
th A
ve

Coun ty A2

28t
h A
ve

77t
h A
ve

63rd S t

Park
 Dr

93 Pl

Taft R
d

79th S t

Terw a

llT
er

W North Ave

69th S t

24t
h A
ve

70t
h C
t

20t
h A
ve

47t
h C
t

Harris
on Rd

109th S t

29t
h A
ve

77th S t

100th S t

Wilso
n Rd

E Fr
onta
ge R
d

Birc h Dr

71st S t

6th
 Av
e

L in c o
ln Rd

123rdPl

97th S t

Hard
in g R
d

1st S t

14th Ave

130
th A
ve

86th S t

95th S t128
th A
ve

97th Ct

42n
d A
ve

54t
h A
ve

141s
tAv
e

111
th A
ve

94t
h C
t

88th Pl

48t
h A
ve

49thCt

112th
S t

61s
t Av
e

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
Ez

S tate Hwy 50

9th Ave

34t
h A
ve

Oak Hi Cir

98th Pl

Oak S t

4th
 Av
e

ERi

dg e
Dr

Mai
n S
t

78thAve

92n d Pl

115
th A
ve

110th S t

15t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

E astS t

27t
h A
ve

44t
h A
ve

72n
d A
ve

S tate Hwy 165

81st S t

41s
t Av
e

113th S t

96t
h A
ve

59t
h A
ve

123rd Ave

70th S t

110th Ave

84t
h A
ve

Maple Rd

101st S t

97t
h A
ve

91st S t

Cedar L n

111th S t

121st Pl

CorporateDr

51st Ct

95t
h A
ve

100
th A
ve

55t
h A
ve

68th S t

Da b
b sF
arm

Rd

37t
h A
ve

65th S t

10th Ave

85t
h A
ve

105th S t

CreeksideCir

76th S t

66th S t

32n
d A
ve

99th Pl

58t
h A
ve

53r
d A
ve

56th Ave

93r
d A
ve

102
n d A
ve

116th Ave

104th Ave

123rd
 S t

82n
d A
ve

Ben tz Rd

18t
h A
ve

98th S t

51s
t Av
e

103rd S t

121st S t

89t
h A
ve

SE 
Svc
 Rd
, 22
nd A
ve

81st
 Pl

74th Pl

86th Pl

93r
d C
t

Hic koryL n

108th S t

72n d S t

77th Pl

90th S t

30t
h A
ve

145
th Av
e

63rd Ave

109
th A
ve

Evergreen Dr

92n d S t

24th
 Ct

80th S t

42n d Ct

82n d S t

91st Pl

35t
h C
t

9th Ct

96th S t

114th S
t

111th
 Ct

112th Ave

90th Pl

94th S t

120th S t

2n d Ave
113
th P
l

Gra n t R
d

50t
h A
ve

96th Pl

13t
h A
ve

102n d S t

66th Pl 11t
h A
ve

101st Pl

94th Pl

W S tate L in e Rd

52n
d A
ve107
th A
ve

36t
h A
ve

36t
h C
t

64th S t

114th Pl

88th S t

115th S t

105
th A
ve

122n d S t

19t
h A
ve

Co Hwy Q

22nd Ave

66thCt

105th Pl

49t
h A
ve

64th S t

78th S t

86th Pl

102n d S t

68th S t

18t
h A
ve

22n
d A
ve

31s
t Av
e

83rd S t
82n d S t

73rd S t47t
h A
ve

91s
t Av
e

S herida n Rd

76th S t

State Hwy 32

102n d S t

107th S t

68th S t

70th S t
68th S t

71stS t

74th Pl

79th S t

70th S t

80th S t

77th S t

25t
h A
ve

79th S t

5th
 Av
e

80t
h A
ve

83rd Pl

107th S t

32n
d A
ve

Sta
te H
wy 
32

82n d S t

104th S t

74th Pl

80th S t

84th S t

28t
h A
ve

42n
d A
ve

91st S t

66th
Ave

27t
h A
ve

28th Ave

Co Hwy C

68th S t

105th S t

65th S t

43r
d A
ve

22n
d A
ve

87th Pl

83rd Pl

42n
d A
ve

116th S t

4th Ave

31st Ave

30t
h A
ve

113th S t

73rd S t
71st S t

8th Ave

21s
t Av
e

79th S t

101st S t

77th S t

47t
h A
ve

4th
 Av
e

105
th A
ve

1st 
Ct

66th S t

32n
d A
ve

80th Pl

72n
d A
ve

69th S t
66th S t

27t
h A
ve

84th S t

87th Pl

34th Ave

87th S t

22n
d A
ve

97th S t

US 
Hw
y 41

54th Ave

47t
h A
ve

89th Pl

34t
h A
ve

120
th A
ve

15t
h A
ve

90th S t

107thAve

90th S t

83rd S t

72n d S t

69th S t 69th S t

113t
h S t

94t
h A
ve

95th S t

74th Pl

21s
t Av
e

63r
d A
ve

107th S t

43r
d A
ve

96th Pl

61s
t Av
e

74th S t

62n
d A
ve

97th S t

91st S t

3rd
 Av
e

Wilm ot Rd

Co Hw
y C

26t
h A
ve

108th S t

63rd Ave

35t
h A
ve

3rd
 Av
e

49t
h A
ve

65th S t

91st Pl

109th S t

78th S t

81st Pl

84th S t

67th S t

79th S t

1st 
Ave

80th Pl

42n d Ave

50t
h A
ve 64th S t

23r
d A
ve

32n
d A
ve

64th S t

93rdS t
8th Ave

101stS
t

26t
h A
ve

Gre
en B
ay R
d

122n d S t

23rd Ave

52n
d A
ve

75th S t

43r
d A
ve

81st S t

86th Pl48t
h A
ve

S tate Hwy 165

42n
d A
ve

50t
h A
ve

22nd Ave

110th S t

59t
h A
ve

90th S t

26t
h A
ve

104th S t

46t
h A
ve

79th S t

63rd S t

74th S t

82n d S t

122n d S t

42n
d A
ve

71st S t
70th S t

65th S t

88th S t

39t
h A
ve

88th S t

61s
t Av
e

45t
h A
ve

Fro
nta g
eRd

28t
h A
ve

99th S t

110th S t

82nd Ave

73rd S t

19t
h A
ve

63rd S t

49t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

11th Ave

85th S t

82n d S t

Co T
run k
 Hwy
 Ml

84th S t

66th S t

85th Pl

116th S t

107th S t

66th S t

28t
h A
ve

11th Ave

2nd
 Av
e

125th S t

64th S t

124th S t

68th S t

92n d S t

S tate Hwy 165

53r
d A
ve

86th S t

80th S t

102n d S t

Sta
te H
wy 
31

83rd S t

65th S t

33r
d A
ve

21s
t Av
e

83rd S t

55t
h A
ve

92n
d A
ve

31s
t Av
e

3rd Ave

77th S t

74th S t

67th S t 67th S t

93rd S t

104th S t

87th S t

82n d S t

66th Pl

69th S t

64t
h A
ve

63rd S t

83rd Pl

Main  S t

14t
h A
ve

75th S t

15t
h A
ve

24t
h A
ve

109th S t

33r
d A
ve

41s
t Av
e

81st S t

67th S t

27t
h A
ve

86t
h A
ve

78th S t

63rd S t 63rd S t

8th
 Av
e

72n d S t

94th S t

70th S t

20t
h A
ve

63rd S t
64th S t

144
th A
ve

43r
d A
ve

69th S t

73rd S t

25t
h A
ve

104th S t 104th S t

65th S t

91st S t

S prin
gb ro
ok R
d

100th S t

68th S t

76th S t
75th S t

72n d S t

20t
h A
ve

74th S t

100th S t

84th S t

68th S t

85th Ave

64th S t65th S t
66th Pl

104
th A
ve

83rd S t

76th S t

81st S t

71st S t

67th S t
70th S t

95th S t

38t
h A
ve

108th S t

35t
h A
ve

88th Pl

68th S t

1st 
Ct

88th Pl

83rd S t

111
th A
ve

87th Pl

81st S t

45th Ave

73rd S t

46t
h A
ve

31s
t Av
e

4th A
ve

Sh eridan Rd

102n d S t

128
th A
ve

93rd S t

48t
h A
ve

106
th A
ve

24t
h A
ve

83rd Pl

79th S t

29t
h A
ve

Co Hwy 19

6th S t

Cty
 W1
5

Cty
 W2
6

Cty
 W2
7

Cty
 W3
2

City
 W3
4

Co 
Hw
y 29

L ew
is A
ve

Co 
Hw
y 37S ko
kie 
Hw
y

N L
ew i
s A
ve

S he
rida
n R
d

S tate Rte 131
Green  Bay Rd

N D
ela n
ey R
d

N H
unt
 Clu
b  R
d

S ta
te R
te 1
37

N K
en o
sha
 Rd

Tru
mp
etP
ark
Dr

N K
ilbo
urn
e R
d

Tho
mp
son
 Av
e

Rob
ert
sR
d Ra vin e Dr

5th S t

Marin a Dr

N P
oint
 Dr

Cav
in A
ve

Old Darb y L n Col
lege
 Av
e

Rus
sell
 Av
e

N P
rair
ieA
ve

W 3rd S t
4th S t

Meg
an P
l

Meadow L n Eng
lish
 L n

2n d S t

7th S t Kirk
woo
d A
ve

Fore
st P
rese
rve

Wh
itn e
y A
ve

Ber
ron
g A
ve

N S
her
idan
 Oa
ks D
r

Gar
n ett
 Av
e

Hol
drid
ge A
ve

Par
k L n

Fos
slan
d A
ve

Rose Ct

Ged
des
 Av
e

Fairha ven Dr Cedar Ct

3rd S t

5th S t

Nor
th A
ve

Eng
lish
 Ln

3rd S t

5th S t

W Russell Rd

Gar
nett
 Av
e4th S t

Cav
in A
ve

Cty A1

N P
oin t
 Dr

Col
lege
 Av
e

7th S t

MAP 3Pleasa n t Prairie Park & Open S pac e Pla nBicycle Routes VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39th Aven uePleasan t Prairie, WI 53158Project 27-1062.20 • 9.27.2018

Î Î Î

ÎÎÎ

A B C D

3

2

1

DCBA

2

1

3

I 0 3,6001,800 Feet

Mini Park1.   Bec ker Park (C-1)2.   Creekside Park (B-2)3.   Woodlaw n  (Harrison) Park (C-1)
Neighborhood Park4.   Carol Beac h Park (D-3)5.   Rollin g Meadows Park (C-2)
Community Park6.   In gram  Park (C-2)7.   Pleasa nt Prairie Park (A-1)8.   Village Green Park (C-2)
Regional Park9.   Prairie S prin gs Park (B-2)
Special-Use Park10.   L ake Mic higa n  Park (D-2)
Conservancy, Open Space and Natural Areas11. Chiwaukee Prairie - Carol Beac h Open  S pac e* (D-2)12. Chiwaukee View (D-3)13. County Corn er - Tob in  Creek Open  S pac e (C-3)14. Des Plain es River Open  S pac e L a n d (A-2)15. Edithton Beac h (D-2)16. L akeshore Park (D-2)17. Momper's Woods (B-3)18. Prairie Trails West Open  S pac e (C-3)19. S oren sen  Woods at Kildeer Farm  (C-3)
School Parks20. Pleasa nt Prairie Elem en tary S c hool (B-1)21. Prairie L a n e Elem en tary S c hool (C-2)22. Whittier Elem en tary S c hool (C-1)
* Approxim ate exten ts show n  of the Chiwaukee Prairie - Carol Beac h Open  S pac e

PARKS

Note: Per 2010 Village of Pleasa n t Prairie Bic yc lean d Pedestria n Trails Pla n

LEGEND

Proposed Recreation Trail (L ow Priority)

Proposed Recreation Trail(High Priority)
Existin g Pedestrian  Trail
Existin g Multi-U se Trail/Route



§̈¦94

UV32

UV31

UV31

UV31

UV32

UV165UV165

UV50
UV50

MAP 4Pleasant Prairie Park & Open Space PlanPark Facility Distribution VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39th AvenuePleasant Prairie, WI 53158Project 27-1062.20 •  3.1.2018

BASEBALL & SOFTBALL

NOTE: Facility locationsand a one mile servicearea are show n

§̈¦94

UV32

UV31

UV31

UV31

UV32

UV165UV165

UV50
UV50

BASKETBALL

NOTE: Facility locationsand a one mile servicearea are show n

§̈¦94

UV32

UV31

UV31

UV31

UV32

UV165UV165

UV50
UV50

DOG PARK

NOTE: Facility locationsand a one mile servicearea are show n

§̈¦94

UV32

UV31

UV31

UV31

UV32

UV165UV165

UV50
UV50

PARK SHELTERS

NOTE: Facility locationsand a one mile servicearea are show n

§̈¦94

UV32UV31

UV31

UV32

UV165UV165

UV50
UV50

PLAY EQUIPMENT

NOTE: Facility locationsand a one mile servicearea are show n

§̈¦94

UV32

UV31

UV31

UV31

UV32

UV165UV165

UV50
UV50

SLEDDING HILL

NOTE: Facility locationsand a one mile servicearea are show n

§̈¦94

UV32

UV31

UV31

UV31

UV32

UV165UV165

UV50
UV50

SOCCER

NOTE: Facility locationsand a one mile servicearea are show n

§̈¦94

UV32UV31

UV31

UV32

UV165UV165

UV50TENNIS/PICKLEBALL

NOTE: Facility locationsand a one mile servicearea are show n

§̈¦94

UV32

UV31

UV31

UV31

UV32

UV165UV165

UV50
UV50

VOLLEYBALL

NOTE: Facility locationsand a one mile servicearea are show n



L   A   K   E     

       M   I   C   H   I   G   A   N

§̈¦94

UV31

UV165

§̈¦94

UV165

UV31

UV32

UV32

UV32

UV31
UV50

UV50

UV50

P   L   E   A   S   A   N    T
P   R   A   I   R   I   E

WISCONSIN
ILLINOIS WISCONSIN

ILLINOIS

125
th A
ve

§̈¦41

§̈¦41

L A K E A N D R E A

39t
h A
ve

88t
h A
ve

Co 
Hw
y H

85th St

128th St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

93rd St

136
th A
ve

7th
 Av
e

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
H

Co 
Hw
y U

67th St

89th St

Old
 Gre
en B
ay R
d

Co Hwy Ml

W  Russe ll Rd

47t
h A
ve

17t
h A
ve

80t
h A
ve

Coo
per
 Rd

W ilm o
t Rd

60t
h A
ve

Cty A2

1st Ct

Bain Stat
ion Rd

5th
 Av
e

State Line Rd

26t
h A
ve

Co Trunk Hwy Ml

3rd
 Ave

73rd St

Riv
er R
d

116th St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
E Z

23r
d A
ve

Horto
n Rd

114th Ave

Co Hw
y Cj

57t
h A
ve118
th A
ve

122
 Av
e

8th Ave

16t
h A
ve

33r
d A
ve

W Frontage Rd

Spri
ngbr

ook R
d

144
th A
ve

Ke n
osh
a C
oun
ty B
ike 
Trl

County A2

28t
h A
ve

77t
h A
ve

63rd St

Park
 Dr

93 Pl

Taft R
d

79th St

Terwall
Te r

Cou
nty 
Bike
 Trl

W  N orth Ave

69th St

24t
h A
ve

70t
h C
t

20t
h A
ve

47t
h C
t

Harris
on Rd

Prairie Rid ge Blvd

109th St

29t
h A
ve

77th St

100th St

W ilso
n Rd

E Fr
ont
age
 Rd

Birc h Dr

71st St

6th
 Av
e

Linc o
ln Rd

123rd Pl

97th St

Hard
ing R
d

1st St

14th Ave

130
th A
ve

86th St

95th St

49t
h A
ve

65th Pl

128
th A
ve

97th Ct

42n
d A
ve

54t
h A
ve

141s
tA
ve

111
th A
ve

94t
h C
t

88th Pl

48t
h A
ve

49thCt

112th
St

61s
t Av
e

74th St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
Ez

State Hwy 50

9th Ave

34t
h A
ve

66th Ave

Oak Hi Cir

98th Pl

Oak St

4th
 Av
e

ERi

d g e
Dr

Mai
n S
t

78thAve

92nd Pl

115
th A
ve

110th St

15t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

E astS t

27t
h A
ve

44t
h A
ve

72n
d A
ve

State Hwy 165

81st St

41s
t Av
e

113th St

96t
h A
ve

59t
h A
ve

123rd Ave

70th St

110th Ave

84t
h A
ve

Maple Rd

101st St

97t
h A
ve

91st St

Ce dar Ln

111th St

121st Pl

Corporate Dr

51st Ct

95t
h A
ve

100
th A
ve

55t
h A
ve

68th St

Dab
bsF
arm

Rd

37t
h A
ve

65th St

10th Ave

85t
h A
ve

105th St

Cre e ksid e Cir

92n
d A
ve

76th St

66th St

32n
d A
ve

99th Pl

58t
h A
ve

53r
d A
ve

56th Ave

93r
d A
ve

102
nd A
ve

116th Ave

104th Ave

123rd
 St

82n
d A
ve

62n
d A
ve

Be ntz Rd

87t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

98th St

124th 
St

51s
t Av
e

103rd St

31s
t Av
e

89th Pl

121st St

67th Pl

Le xington Pl

89t
h A
ve

SE 
Svc
 Rd
, 22
nd A
ve

81st
 Pl

74th Pl

86th Pl

93r
d C
t 44th Ct

Eve
rgre
en L
n

106th Ave

AshburyLn

Hic koryLn

64t
h A
ve

108th St
107th St

65t
h A
ve

99th St

72nd St

77th Pl

90th St

5th 
Ct

80th Pl

78th Pl

56thCt

30t
h A
ve

145
th A
ve

83rd Pl

63rd Ave

109
th A
ve

98th Ave

Evergre e n Dr

Beverly
 Ln

35t
h A
ve

92nd St

68th Pl

24th
 Ct

80th St

42nd Ct

82nd St

John
son R
d

87th Pl

38t
h A
ve

89t
h C
t

90t
h C
t

91st Pl

35t
h C
t

9th Ct

96th St

114th S
t

111th
 Ct

112th Ave

90th Pl

94th St

67th
 Ave

Mart
in Lu
ther K
ing D
r

120th St

2nd Ave
113
th P
l

Grant R
d

50t
h A
ve

96th Pl

13t
h A
ve

102nd St

66th Pl

21s
t Av
e

11t
h A
ve

103
rd A
ve

101st Pl

94th Pl

Buc h
anan
 Rd 12t

h A
ve

W  State Line Rd

52n
d A
ve107
th A
ve

36t
h A
ve

36t
h C
t

64th St

114th Pl

88th St

115th St

105
th A
ve

122nd St

19t
h A
ve

Co Hwy Q

22nd Ave

66thCt

105th Pl

25t
h C
t

84th Pl

114
th C
t

49t
h A
ve

EFrontage Rd

74th St

64th St

27t
h A
ve

78th St

86th Pl

25t
h A
ve

102nd St

68th St

18t
h A
ve

15t
h A
ve

She
rida
n R
d

22n
d A
ve

31s
t Av
e

83rd St
82nd St

34t
h A
ve

73rd St47t
h A
ve

91s
t Av
e

State 
Hwy 5
0

Sheridan Rd

76th St

State Hwy 32

102nd St

58t
h A
ve

107th St

68thSt

70thSt

36th
 Ave

68th St
71stSt 68th Pl

74th Pl

79th St

70th St

80th St

77th St

25t
h A
ve

88th St

79th St

5th
 Av
e

80t
h A
ve

83rd Pl

107th St

32n
d A
ve

Sta
te H
wy 
32

82nd St

104th St

33r
d A
ve

74th Pl

55t
h A
ve

122nd St

80thSt

84th St

28t
h A
ve

120th St

42n
d A
ve

91st St

66th
Ave

89th St

27t
h A
ve

28th Ave

Co Hwy C

68th St

105th St

65th St

43r
d A
ve

22n
d A
ve

87th Pl

83rd Pl

42n
d A
ve

116th St

4th Ave

31st Ave

30t
h A
ve

113th St

73rd St 71st St

8th Ave
91st Pl

21s
t Av
e

79th St

43r
dA
ve

101st St

40t
h A
ve

77th St

47t
h A
ve

4th
 Av
e

91st Pl
105
th A
ve

38th Ave

1st 
Ct

66th St

32n
d A
ve

80th Pl

72n
d A
ve

69thSt
66th St

27t
h A
ve

84th St

87th Pl

86th Pl

34th Ave

87th St

22n
d A
ve

97th St

15t
h A
ve

US 
Hw
y 41

54th Ave

47t
h A
ve

89th Pl

32n
d A
ve

34t
h A
ve

29t
h A
ve

120
th A
ve

15t
h A
ve

90th St

107thAve

90th St

83rd St

72nd St

69th St 69th St

113t
h St

94t
h A
ve

95th St

74th Pl

21s
t Av
e

63r
d A
ve

107thSt

43r
d A
ve

96th Pl

20t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

74th St

62n
d A
ve

97th St

91st St

3rd
 Av
e

W ilm ot Rd

Co Hw
y C

26t
h A
ve

108th St

63rd Ave

35t
h A
ve

3rd
 Av
e

49t
h A
ve

Birc h Dr

69th St

65th St

91st Pl

109th St

78th St

81st Pl

84th St

67th St

79th St

1st 
Ave

80th Pl

42nd Ave

50t
h A
ve 64th St

State Hwy 50

23r
d A
ve

32n
d A
ve

64th St

93rd St
8th Ave

12th Ave

101stS
t

26t
h A
ve

Gre
en B
ay R
d

122nd St

67th Pl

23rd Ave

52n
d A
ve

75th St

43r
d A
ve

81st St

86th Pl48t
h A
ve

State Hwy 165

31s
t Av
e

42n
d A
ve

50t
h A
ve

2 2ndA ve

3rd Ave

110th St

59t
h A
ve

90th St

26t
h A
ve

104th St

46t
h A
ve

79th St

63rd St

74th St

82nd St

122nd St

42n
d A
ve

71st St
70th St

65thSt

88th St

39t
h A
ve

88th St 88th St

83rd St

61s
t Av
e

45t
h A
ve

Fro
ntag
e Rd

60t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

28t
h A
ve

99th St

110th St

82nd Ave

73rd St

19t
h A
ve

63rd St

49t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

11th Ave

66th St

85th St

82nd St

Co T
runk
 Hwy
 Ml

84th St

66th St

85th Pl

116th St

107thSt

66th St

43rd Ave

28t
h A
ve

11th Ave

2nd
 Av
e

125th St

64th St

124thSt

68th St

80th St

8thAv e

92nd St

State Hwy 165

53r
d A
ve

86th St

80th St

102nd St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

83rd St

65th St

33r
d A
ve

21s
t Av
e

83rd St

55t
h A
ve

92n
d A
ve

Lake viewPkwy

31s
t Av
e

3rd Ave

23rd Ave

77th St

74th St

67th St 67th St

93rd St

104th St

87th St

82nd St

66th Pl

69th St

64t
h A
ve

63rd St

83rd Pl

72nd St

Main St

114th St

14t
h A
ve

75th St

15t
h A
ve

24t
h A
ve

109th St

3rd Ave

33r
d A
ve

41s
t Av
e

81st St

67thSt

27t
h A
ve

86t
h A
ve

78th St

63rd St 63rd St

8th
 Av
e

72nd St

94th St

70th St

20t
h A
ve

63rd St
64th St

144
th A
ve

43r
d A
ve

69th St

73rd St

25t
h A
ve

104th St

100th St

104th St

Sta
te H
wy 
32

65th St

91st St

Sprin
gbro
ok R
d

100thSt

68th St

76th St
75th St

72nd St

20t
h A
ve

74th St

100th St

84th St

68th St

85th Ave

64th St65th St
66th Pl

104
th A
ve

83rd St

76th St

81st St

71st St

67th St
70th St

95th St

38t
h A
ve

108th St

35t
h A
ve

67th St

88th Pl

68th St

102nd St

1st 
Ct

71st St

40th Ave

88th Pl

83rd St

111
th A
ve

87th Pl

81st St

45th Ave

73rd St

46t
h A
ve

31s
t Av
e

4th A
ve

Sh eridan Rd

102nd St

128
th A
ve

87t
h A
ve

93rd St

48t
h A
ve

106
th A
ve

24t
h A
ve

41 s
tAv
e

83rd Pl

79th St

29t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

80th Pl

Co Hwy 19

6th St

Cty
 W 1
5

Cty
 W 2
6

Cty
 W 2
7

Cty
 W 3
2

City
 W 3
4

Co 
Hw
y 29

US 
Hw
y 41

Le w
is A
ve

Co 
Hw
y 37Sko
kie 
Hw
y

N  L
ewi
s A
ve

She
rida
n R
d

State Rte 131
Gre e n Bay Rd

N D
elan
e y R
d

N  H
unt
 Clu
b R
d

Sta
te R
te 1
37

N  K
e no
sha
 Rd

Tru
mp
etP
ark
Dr

N K
ilbo
urn
e R
d

Tho
m p
son
 Av
e

Rob
e rt
sR
d Ravine Dr

5th St

Marina Dr

N P
oint
 Dr

Cav
in A
ve

Old DarbyLn Col
lege
 Av
e

Rus
se ll
 Av
e

N P
rair
ieA
ve

W  3rd St
4th St

Meg
an P
l

Mead ow Ln Eng
lish
 Ln

2nd St

7th St Kirk
woo
d A
ve

Fore
st P
rese
rve

W h
itne
y A
ve

Ber
ron
g A
ve

N S
her
idan
 Oa
ks D
r

Gar
ne tt
 Av
e

Hol
drid
ge A
ve

Par
k Ln

Fos
slan
d A
ve

Rose Ct

Ged
des
 Av
e

Fairhave n Dr Ce dar Ct

3rd St

5th St

Nor
th A
ve

Eng
lish
 Ln

3rd St

5th St

W  Russe ll Rd

Gar
nett
 Av
e4th St

Cav
in A
ve

Cty A1

N P
oint
 Dr

Col
lege
 Av
e

7th St

MAP 5Pleasant Prairie Park & Ope n Spac e PlanPopulation Density VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39th Ave nuePleasant Prairie, W I 53158Proje c t 27-1062.20 • 3.2.2018

Î Î Î

ÎÎÎ

A B C D

3

2

1

DCBA

2

1

3

I 0 3,6001,800 Fe et

LEGEND
Population De nsity (Persons per acre)

N OTE: Population d e nsity was d erive d from  2010 Ce nsus Bloc k population data. The population d e nsity was c lassifie d using the Ge om etric Interval c lassificationm ethod. This m ethod assigns an e q ual num ber of datavalues to eac h c lass.

0.00 - 0.03
0.04 - 0.18
0.19 - 1.00
1.01 - 5.29
5.30 - 27.94



L   a   k   e
M   i   c   h   i   g   a   n

§̈¦94
UV32

UV165

UV31

UV31
UV32

UV165

MAP 6Pleasant Prairie Park & Ope n Space PlanPopulation Density by Age Group VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39th Ave nu ePleasant Prairie, WI 53158Project 27-1062.20 • 2.19.2018

I
0 7,0003,500

Fe et

CHILDREN UNDER 5

L   a   k   e
M   i   c   h   i   g   a   n

§̈¦94
UV32

UV165

UV31

UV31
UV32

UV165
I

0 7,0003,500
Fe et

AGES 5 TO 9

L   a   k   e
M   i   c   h   i   g   a   n

§̈¦94
UV32

UV165

UV31

UV31
UV32

UV165
I

0 7,0003,500
Fe et

AGES 10 TO 17

L   a   k   e
M   i   c   h   i   g   a   n

§̈¦94
UV32

UV165

UV31

UV31
UV32

UV165
I

0 7,0003,500
Fe et

AGES 55 AND UP

Population Data: U.S.Ce nsu s Bureau  Blocks

Population De nsity
LOW HIGH

Population Data: U.S.Ce nsu s Bureau  Blocks

Population De nsity
LOW HIGH

Population Data: U.S.Ce nsu s Bureau  Blocks

Population De nsity
LOW HIGH

Population Data: U.S.Ce nsu s Bureau  Blocks

Population De nsity
LOW HIGH



O Population Density 

Darker areas represent areas 
with higher population density. 

Q OL----2,_..1 o_o __ 4_,,200 Feet 

0 Park Facility Density 

_r· 
I 
I 
L, 

"--··---~ 
I 

Darker areas represent areas with 
fewer available park facilities nearby. 

~ 
t~~---~------............ ______ ___ 

What is the purpose of this map? 

1. To determine if there are areas of Pleasant Prairie underserved by Village parks. 
The most underserved areas are indicated on the map by the yellow, dashed 
polygons. The Village may want to consider these areas first when planning for 
the installation of new park facil ities. 

Potentially Underserved Areas 
Pleasant Prairie Park & Open Space Plan 

2. To identify parks in which the faci lities may be subject to heavy use. High 
population combined with few alternative facil ities may result in higher than 
normal use of existing faci lities. Parks near these areas therefore may require 
more maintenance and repair than otherwise expected. 

Potentially Underserved Areas 
This map is an overlay of maps 0 & 0 and 
represents areas that are potentially underserved 
in terms of access to park facilities. Darker areas 
are areas that are both highly populated and 
without park facilities nearby. 

Overlayed Sum (Weighted) 

Low 

• 

High 

Most underserved areas 

Parks 

Overlay Analysis 

+ 

Overlay Analysis is a GIS technique 
in which each cell of a raster layer is 
added to the corresponding cell from 
another raster layer. This creates a 
third layer which is an overlayed sum 
or average of the two rasters. In this 
example, the value of each cell in the 
newly created raster is higher for cells 
that are both high in population density 
and low in facility density. 

I VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE MA p 7 
991 5 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Pra1ne, WI 53158 
Pro1ect 27-1062 20 • 9.28 2018 



§̈¦94
£¤41

UV31

UV165

UV32

UV31

UV165

§̈¦94
£¤41

UV31

UV165

UV32

UV31

UV165

§̈¦94
£¤41

UV31

UV165

UV32

UV31

UV165

§̈¦94
£¤41

UV31

UV165

UV32

UV31

UV165

LEGEND

!

PR OJECT LOCATION

Overlay of population density and 

access to park facilities by age group

Examples of park facilities by age group:

Under 5 - Toddler swings, sandboxes, sandbox 
diggers, tot slides, spring riders and tilt cups.

5 to 9  - Standard swings, climbing structures,
teeter totters, standard slides, merry-go-rounds 
and monkey bars.

10 to17 - Baseball/softball fields, basketball courts, 
sand volleyball courts, skate parks and ice rinks 

55 & up - Hiking trails, outdoor fitness stations, boat
launches, pickle ball, comunity gardens and tennis.

Darker areas indicate less access to park facilities 
designed for the specific age group and at the same 
time a high population density of that specific age 
group.

This map uses the same technique as Map 7 in that 
population density and park facility data layers are 
overlayed to create a new layer. The resulting layer 
in Map 7 gave new information about what areas of 
the Village might be in need of new facilities. This 
group of maps also show the overlay of population 
density and park facilities, but with a focus on four
specific age groups. This gives information not only 
on where new facilities might be needed but also 
what type of facilities should be installed.

Data sources: U.S Census Bureau, Village of Pleasant Prairie, WisconsinViewCoordinate System: NAD 1983 HAR N Wisconsin CR S Kenosh a

Underserved areas forchildren under 5

Underserved areas forchildren ages 5 to 9

Underserved areasfor ages 10 to 17

Underserved areasfor ages 55 and up

I 0 8,0004,000 Feet

MAP 8Pleasant Prairie Park & Open Space PlanAge Cohort Analysis VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39th  AvenuePleasant Prairie, WI 53158Project 27-1062.20 • 9.28.2018

I 0 8,0004,000 Feet

I 0 8,0004,000 Feet

I 0 8,0004,000 Feet

Need for additional facilities
HighLow

Parks!



L   A   K   E     

       M   I   C   H   I   G   A   N

§̈¦94

UV31

UV165

§̈¦94

UV165

UV31

UV32

UV32

UV32

UV31
UV50

UV50

UV50

P    L   E   A   S   A   N   T
P    R   A   I   R   I   E

WISCONSIN
ILLINOIS WISCONSIN

ILLINOIS

125
th A
ve

§̈¦41

§̈¦41

L A K E A N D R E A

PLEASANTPRAIRIEPARK

39t
h A
ve

88t
h A
ve

Co 
Hw
y H

85th St

128th St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

93rd  St

136
th A
ve

7th
 Av
e

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
H

Co 
Hw
y U

67th St

89th St

Old
 Gre
en B
ay R
d

Co Hwy Ml

W Russell Rd

47t
h A
ve

17t
h A
ve

80t
h A
ve

Coo
per
 Rd

Wilm o
t Rd

60t
h A
ve

Cty A2

1st Ct

Bain Stat
ion Rd

5th
 Av
e

State Line Rd

26t
h A
ve

Co Trunk Hwy Ml

3rd
 Ave

73rd  St

Riv
er R
d

116th St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
E Z

23r
d A
ve

Horto
n Rd

114th Ave

Co Hw
y Cj

57t
h A
ve118
th A
ve

122
 Av
e

8th Ave

16t
h A
ve

33r
d A
ve

W Frontage Rd

Spri
ngbr

ook R
d

144
th A
ve

Ken
osh
a C
oun
ty B
ike 
Trl

County A2

28t
h A
ve

77t
h A
ve

63rd  St

Taft R
d

79th St

Te rwall
Ter

Cou
nty 
Bik
e Tr
l

W North Ave

69th St

24t
h A
ve

70t
h C
t

20t
h A
ve

47t
h C
t

Harris
on Rd

P rairie Rid ge Blvd

109th St

29t
h A
ve

77th St

100th St

Wilso
n Rd

E Fr
onta
ge R
d

Birch Dr

71st St

6th
 Av
e

Linco
ln Rd

123rd P l

Hard
ing R
d

1st St

14th Ave

130
th A
ve

86th St

95th St

49t
h A
ve

65th P l

128
th A
ve

97th Ct

42n
d A
ve

54t
h A
ve

141s
tAv
e

111
th A
ve

94t
h C
t

88th P l

48t
h A
ve

49thCt

112th
St

61s
t Av
e

74th St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
Ez

State Hwy 50

9th Ave

34t
h A
ve

66th Ave

Oak Hi Cir

98th P l

Oak St

4th
 Av
e

Mai
n S
t

78thAve

92nd  P l

115
th A
ve

110th St

15t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

E astS t

27t
h A
ve

44t
h A
ve

72n
d  A
ve

State Hwy 165

81st St

41s
t Av
e

113th St

96t
h A
ve

59t
h A
ve

123rd  Ave

70th St

110th Ave

84t
h A
ve

Maple Rd

101st St

97t
h A
ve

91st St

Ced ar Ln

111th St

121st P l

Corporate Dr

51st Ct

95t
h A
ve

55t
h A
ve

68th St

Dab
bsF
arm

Rd

37t
h A
ve

65th St

10th Ave

85t
h A
ve

105th St

Cre eksid e Cir

92n
d A
ve

76th St

66th St

32n
d A
ve

99th P l

58t
h A
ve

53r
d A
ve

56th Ave

93r
d A
ve

102
nd  A
ve

116th Ave

104th Ave

123rd
 St

82n
d A
ve

62n
d  A
ve

Bentz Rd

87t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

98th St

124th 
St

51s
t Av
e

103rd  St

31s
t Av
e

89th P l

121st St

67th P l

Lexington P l

89t
h A
ve

SE 
Svc
 Rd
, 22
nd A
ve

74th P l

86th P l

93r
d  C
t 44th Ct

Eve
rgre
en L
n

106th Ave

AshburyLn

HickoryLn

64t
h A
ve

108th St
107th St

65t
h A
ve

99th St

72nd  St

77th P l

90th St

5th 
Ct

80th P l

78th P l

56thCt

30t
h A
ve

145
th Av
e

83rd  P l

63rd Ave

109
th A
ve

98th Ave

Eve rgre en Dr

Beverly
 Ln

35t
h A
ve

92nd  St

68th P l

24th
 Ct

80th St

42nd  Ct

82nd  St

John
son R
d

87th P l

38t
h A
ve

89t
h C
t

90t
h C
t

35t
h C
t

9th Ct

96th St

114th S
t

111th
 Ct

112th Ave

90th P l

94th St

67th
 Ave

Mart
in Lu
the r K
ing D
r

120th St

2nd Ave
113
th P
l

Grant R
d

50t
h A
ve

96th P l

13t
h A
ve

102nd  St

66th P l

21s
t Av
e

11t
h A
ve

101st P l

94th P l

Buch
anan
 Rd 12t

h A
ve

W State Line Rd

52n
d A
ve107
th A
ve

36t
h A
ve

36t
h C
t

64th St

114th P l

88th St

115th St

105
th A
ve

122nd  St

19t
h A
ve

Co Hwy Q

22nd Ave

66thCt

105th P l

25t
h C
t

84th P l

114
th C
t

EFrontage Rd

74th St

64th St

27t
h A
ve

78th St

86th P l

25t
h A
ve

102nd  St

68th St

18t
h A
ve

15t
h A
ve

She
rida
n R
d

22n
d A
ve

31s
t Av
e

83rd  St
82nd  St

34t
h A
ve

73rd  St47t
h A
ve

91s
t Av
e

State 
Hwy 5

0

Sherid an Rd

76th St

State Hwy 32

102nd  St

58t
h A
ve

107th St

68thSt

70thSt

36th
 Ave

68th St
71stSt 68th P l

74th P l

79th St

70th St

80th St

77th St

25t
h A
ve

88th St

79th St

5th
 Av
e

80t
h A
ve

107th St

32n
d A
ve

Sta
te H
wy 
32

82nd  St

104th St

33r
d A
ve

74th P l

55t
h A
ve

122nd  St

80thSt

84th St

28t
h A
ve

120th St

42n
d A
ve

91st St

66th
Ave

89th St

27t
h A
ve

28th Ave

Co Hwy C

68th St

105th St

65th St

43r
d A
ve

22n
d A
ve

87th P l

83rd  P l

42n
d A
ve

116th St

4th Ave

31st Ave

30t
h A
ve

113th St

73rd  St 71st St

8th Ave
91st P l

21s
t Av
e

79th St

43r
dA
ve

101st St

40t
h A
ve

77th St

47t
h A
ve

4th
 Av
e

91st P l
105
th A
ve

38th Ave

1st 
Ct

66th St

32n
d A
ve

80th P l

72n
d A
ve

69th St
66th St

27t
h A
ve

84th St

87th P l

86th P l

34th Ave

87th St

22n
d A
ve

97th St

15t
h A
ve

US 
Hw
y 41

54th Ave

47t
h A
ve

89th P l

32n
d A
ve

34t
h A
ve

29t
h A
ve

120
th A
ve

15t
h A
ve

90th St

107thAve

90th St

83rd  St

72nd  St

69th St 69th St

113t
h St

94t
h A
ve

95th St

74th P l

21s
t Av
e

63r
d A
ve

107thSt

43r
d A
ve

96th P l

20t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

74thSt

62n
d A
ve

97th St

91st St

3rd
 Av
e

Wilm ot Rd

26t
h A
ve

108th St

63rd Ave

35t
h A
ve

3rd
 Av
e

49t
h A
ve

Birch Dr

69th St

65th St

91st P l

109th St

78th St

81st P l

84th St

67th St

79th St

1st 
Ave

80th P l

42nd  Ave

50t
h A
ve 64th St

State Hwy 50

23r
d A
ve

32n
d A
ve

64th St

93rd St
8th Ave

12th Ave

101stS
t

26t
h A
ve

Gre
en B
ay R
d

122nd  St

67th P l

23rd Ave

52n
d A
ve

75th St

43r
d A
ve

81st St

86th P l48t
h A
ve

State Hwy 165

31s
t Av
e

42n
d A
ve

2 2ndA ve

3rd  Ave

110th St

59t
h A
ve

90th St

26t
h A
ve

104th St

46t
h A
ve

79th St

63rd  St

74th St

82nd  St

122nd  St

42n
d A
ve

71st St
70th St

65thSt

88th St

39t
h A
ve

88th St 88th St

83rd St

61s
t Av
e

45t
h A
ve

Fro
ntag
e Rd

60t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

28t
h A
ve

99th St

110th St

82nd Ave

73rd  St

19t
h A
ve

63rd  St

49t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

11th Ave

66th St

85th St

82nd  St

Co T
runk
 Hwy
 Ml

84th St

66th St

85th P l

116th St

107thSt

66th St

43rd Ave

28t
h A
ve

11th Ave

2nd
 Av
e

125th St

64th St

124thSt

68th St

80th St

8thAv e

92nd  St

State Hwy 165

53r
d A
ve

86th St

80th St

102nd  St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

83rd  St

65th St

33r
d A
ve

21s
t Av
e

83rd  St

55t
h A
ve

92n
d A
ve

LakeviewP kwy

31s
t Av
e

3rd  Ave

23rd Ave

77th St

74th St

67th St 67th St

93rd  St

104th St

87th St

82nd  St

66th P l

69th St

64t
h A
ve

63rd  St

83rd  P l

72nd  St

Main St

114th St

14t
h A
ve

75th St

15t
h A
ve

24t
h A
ve

109th St

3rd Ave

33r
d A
ve

41s
t Av
e

67thSt

27t
h A
ve

86t
h A
ve

78th St

63rd  St 63rd  St

8th
 Av
e

72nd  St

94th St

70th St

20t
h A
ve

63rd  St
64th St

144
th A
ve

43r
d A
ve

69th St

73rd  St

25t
h A
ve

104th St

100th St

104th St

Sta
te H
wy 
32

65th St

91st St

Sprin
gbro
ok R
d

100thSt

68th St

76th St
75th St

72nd  St

20t
h A
ve

74th St

100th St

84th St

68th St

85th Ave

64th St65th St
66th P l

104
th A
ve

83rd  St

76th St

81st St

71st St

67th St
70th St

95th St

38t
h A
ve

108th St

35t
h A
ve

67th St

88th P l

68th St

102nd  St

1st 
Ct

71st St

40th Ave

88th P l

83rd  St

111
th A
ve

87th P l

81st St

45th Ave

73rd  St

46t
h A
ve

31s
t Av
e

4th A
ve

Sh eridan Rd

102nd  St

128
th A
ve

87t
h A
ve

93rd  St

48t
h A
ve

106
th A
ve

24t
h A
ve

41 s
tAv
e

83rd  P l

79th St

29t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

80th P l

Co Hwy 19

6th St

Cty
 W1
5

Cty
 W2
6

Cty
 W2
7

Cty
 W3
2

City
 W3
4

Co 
Hw
y 29

US 
Hw
y 41

Lew
is A
ve

Co 
Hw
y 37Sko
kie 
Hw
y

N L
ewi
s A
ve

She
rid a
n R
d

State Rte 131
Gre en Bay Rd

N D
elan
ey R
d

N H
unt
 Clu
b R
d

Sta
te R
te 1
37

N K
eno
sha
 Rd

Tru
mp
etP
ark
Dr

N K
ilbo
urn
e R
d

Tho
m p
son
 Av
e

Rob
e rt
sR
d Ravine Dr

5th St

Marina Dr

N P
oint
 Dr

Cav
in A
ve

Old DarbyLn Col
lege
 Av
e

Rus
sell
 Av
e

N P
rair
ieA
ve

W 3rd St
4th St

Meg
an P
l

Mead ow Ln Eng
lish
 Ln

2nd  St

7th St Kirk
woo
d A
ve

Fore
st P
rese
rve

Wh
itne
y A
ve

Ber
ron
g A
ve

N S
her
idan
 Oa
ks D
r

Gar
nett
 Av
e

Hol
drid
ge A
ve

P ar
k Ln

Fos
slan
d A
ve

Rose Ct

Ged
des
 Av
e

Fairhaven Dr Ce d ar Ct

3rd  St

5th St

Nor
th A
ve

Eng
lish
 Ln

3rd  St

5th St

W Russell Rd

Gar
nett
 Av
e4th St

Cav
in A
ve

Cty A1

N P
oint
 Dr

Col
lege
 Av
e

7th St

PRAIRIESPRINGSPARK

INGRAMPARK

VILLAGEGREEN PARK

MAP 9P leasant P rairie P ark & Open Space P lanRecent Improvements VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39th AvenueP leasant P rairie, WI 53158P roject 27-1062.20 • 11.8.2018

Î Î Î

ÎÎÎ

A B C D

3

2

1

DCBA

2

1

3

I 0 3,6001,800 Feet

Note: This map represents park im provem entssince the 2013 P ark and  Open Space P lan

! Basketball
!Í Dog P ark
!l Fishing P ond
!i P arking Lot
! P lay Equipm ent
!3 Shelter
!- Sle d d ing Hill
¾ Tennis
!F Trails
¾ Volleyball

LEGEND



L   A   K   E     

       M   I   C   H   I   G   A   N

§̈¦94

UV31

UV165

§̈¦94

UV165

UV31

UV32

UV32

UV32

UV31
UV50

UV50

UV50

P   L   E   A   S   A   N   T
P   R   A   I   R   I   E

WISCONSIN
ILLINOIS WISCONSIN

ILLINOIS

125
th A
ve

§̈¦41

§̈¦41

L A K E A N D R E A VILLAGEGREENPARK

MOMPER'SWOODS
SORENSENWOODS AT KILDEER FARM

LAKEMICHIGANPARK
CAROLBEACHPARK

PRAIRIESPRINGSPARK

INGRAMPARK

39t
h A
ve

88t
h A
ve

Co 
Hw
y H

85th  St

128th St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

93rd St

136
th A
ve

7th
 Av
e

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
H

Co 
Hw
y U

67th  St

89th  St

Old
 Gre
en B
ay R
d

Co Hwy Ml

W Russell Rd

47t
h A
ve

17t
h A
ve

80t
h A
ve

Coo
per
 Rd

Wilm o
t Rd

60t
h A
ve

Cty A2

1st Ct

Bain Stat
ion Rd

5th
 Av
e

State Line Rd

26t
h A
ve

Co Trunk Hwy Ml

3rd
 Ave

73rd St

Riv
er R
d

116th St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
E Z

23r
d A
ve

Horto
n Rd

114th Ave

Co Hw
y Cj

57t
h A
ve118
th A
ve

122
 Av
e

8th  Ave

16t
h A
ve

33r
d A
ve

W FrontageRd

Spri
ngbr

ook R
d

144
th A
ve

Ken
osh
a C
oun
ty B
ike 
Trl

County A2

28t
h A
ve

77t
h A
ve

63rd St

Taft R
d

79th  St

Terwall
Ter

Cou
nty 
Bik
e Tr
l

W North  Ave

69th  St

24t
h A
ve

70t
h C
t

20t
h A
ve

47t
h C
t

Harris
on Rd

PrairieRidgeBlvd

109th St

29t
h A
ve

77th  St

100th St

Wilso
n Rd

E Fr
onta
ge R
d

Birch Dr

71st St

6th
 Av
e

Linco
ln Rd

123rdPl

Hard
ing R
d

1st St

130
th A
ve

86th  St

95th  St

49t
h A
ve

65th  Pl

128
th A
ve

97th Ct

42n
d A
ve

54t
h A
ve

141s
tAv
e

111
th A
ve

94t
h C
t

88th  Pl

48t
h A
ve

49th Ct

112th
St

61s
t Av
e

74th  St

Co 
Tru
nk H
wy 
Ez

State Hwy 50

34t
h A
ve

66th Ave

Oak HiCir

98th  Pl

Oak St

4th
 Av
e

Mai
n S
t

78th Ave

92nd Pl

115
th A
ve

110th St

15t
h A
ve

45t
h A
ve

E astS t

27t
h A
ve

44t
h A
ve

72n
d A
ve

State Hwy 165

81st St

41s
t Av
e

113th St

96t
h A
ve

59t
h A
ve

123rd Ave

70th  St

110th Ave

84t
h A
ve

Maple Rd

101st St

97t
h A
ve

91st St

Cedar Ln

111th St

121st Pl

CorporateDr

51st Ct

95t
h A
ve

55t
h A
ve

68th  St

Dab
bsF
arm

Rd

37t
h A
ve

65th  St

85t
h A
ve

105th St

CreeksideCir

92n
d A
ve

76th  St

66th  St

32n
d A
ve

99th  Pl

58t
h A
ve

53r
d A
ve

56th  Ave

93r
d A
ve

102
nd A
ve

116th Ave

104th Ave

123rd
 St

82n
d A
ve

62n
d A
ve

Bentz Rd

87t
h A
ve

18t
h  A
ve

98th  St

124th 
St

51s
t Av
e

103rd St

31s
t Av
e

89th  Pl

121st St

67th  Pl

Lexington Pl

89t
h A
ve

SE 
Svc
 Rd
, 22
nd A
ve

74th  Pl

86th  Pl

93r
d C
t 44th  Ct

Eve
rgre
en L
n

106th Ave

Ash buryLn

HickoryLn

64t
h A
ve

108th St

65t
h A
ve

99th  St

72nd St

77th  Pl

90th  St

5th 
Ct

80th  Pl

78th  Pl

56thCt

30t
h A
ve

145
th Av
e

83rd Pl

63rdAve

109
th A
ve

98th  Ave

Everg reen Dr

Beverly
 Ln

35t
h A
ve

92nd St

68th  Pl

24th
 Ct

80th  St

42nd Ct

82nd St

Joh n
son R
d

87th  Pl

38t
h A
ve

89t
h  C
t

90t
h  C
t

35t
h  C
t

96th  St

114th S
t

111th
 Ct

112th Ave

90th  Pl

94th  St

67th
 Ave

Mart
in Lu
ther K
ing D
r

120th St

2nd Ave
113
th P
l

Grant R
d

50t
h A
ve

96th  Pl

13t
h A
ve

102nd St

66th  Pl

21s
t Av
e

11t
h A
ve

101st Pl

94th  Pl

Buch
anan
 Rd 12t

h A
ve

W State Line Rd

52n
d A
ve107
th A
ve

36t
h A
ve

36t
h  C
t

64th  St

114th Pl

88th  St

105
th A
ve

122nd St

19t
h A
ve

Co Hwy Q

22nd Ave

66th Ct

105th Pl

25t
h C
t

84th  Pl

114
th C
t

EFrontageRd

74th  St

64th  St

27t
h A
ve

78th  St

86th  Pl

25t
h A
ve

102nd St

68th  St

18t
h A
ve

15t
h A
ve

She
rida
n R
d

22n
d A
ve

31s
t Av
e

83rd St
82nd St

34t
h A
ve

73rd St47t
h A
ve

91s
t Av
e

State 
Hwy 5

0

Sheridan Rd
State Hwy 32

102nd St

58t
h A
ve

107th St

68th St

70th St

36th
 Ave

68th  St
71stSt 68th  Pl

74th  Pl

79th  St

70th  St

80th  St

77th  St

25t
h A
ve

88th  St

79th  St

5th
 Av
e

80t
h A
ve

107th St

32n
d A
ve

Sta
te H
wy 
32

82nd St

104th St

33r
d A
ve

74th  Pl

55t
h A
ve

122nd St

80th St

84th  St

28t
h A
ve

120th St

42n
d A
ve

91st St

66th
Ave

89th  St

27t
h A
ve

28th Ave

Co Hwy C

68th  St

105th St

65th  St

43r
d A
ve

22n
d A
ve

87th  Pl

83rd Pl

42n
d A
ve

116th St

4th Ave

31st Ave

30t
h A
ve

113th St

73rd St 71st St

8th Ave
91st Pl

21s
t Av
e

79th  St

43r
dA
ve

101st St

40t
h A
ve

77th  St

47t
h A
ve

91st Pl
105
th A
ve

38th  Ave

1st 
Ct

66th  St

32n
d A
ve

80th  Pl

72n
d A
ve

69th St
66th  St

27t
h A
ve

84th  St

87th  Pl

86th  Pl

34th Ave

87th  St

22n
d A
ve

97th St

15t
h A
ve

US 
Hw
y 41

54th  Ave

47t
h A
ve

89th  Pl

32n
d A
ve

34t
h A
ve

29t
h A
ve

120
th A
ve

15t
h A
ve

90th  St

107th Ave

90th  St

83rd St

72nd St

69th  St 69th  St

113t
h St

94t
h A
ve

95th  St

74th  Pl

21s
t Av
e

63r
d A
ve

107th St

43r
d A
ve

96th  Pl

20t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

74th St

62n
d A
ve

97th  St

91st St

3rd
 Av
e

Wilm ot Rd

26t
h A
ve

108th St

63rd Ave

35t
h A
ve

3rd
 Av
e

49t
h  A
ve

Birch Dr

69th  St

65th  St

91st Pl

109th St

78th  St

81st Pl

84th  St

67th  St

79th  St

1st 
Ave

80th  Pl

42nd Ave

50t
h A
ve 64th  St

State Hwy 50

23r
d A
ve

32n
d A
ve

64th St

93rdSt
8th Ave

12th  Ave

101stS
t

26t
h A
ve

Gre
en B
ay R
d

122nd St

67th  Pl

23rd Ave

52n
d A
ve

75th  St

43r
d A
ve

81st St

86th  Pl48t
h A
ve

State Hwy 165

31s
t Av
e

42n
d A
ve

2 2ndA ve

3rd Ave

110th St

59t
h A
ve

90th  St

26t
h A
ve

104th St

46t
h A
ve

79th  St

63rd St

74th  St

82nd St

122nd St

42n
d A
ve

71st St
70th  St

65th St

88th  St

39t
h A
ve

88th  St 88th  St

83rdSt

61s
t Av
e

45t
h A
ve

Fro
ntag
eRd

60t
h A
ve

61s
t Av
e

28t
h A
ve

99th  St

110th St

82nd Ave

73rd St

19t
h A
ve

63rd St

49t
h A
ve

18t
h A
ve

11th  Ave

66th St

85th  St

82nd St

Co T
runk
 Hwy
 Ml

84th  St

66th  St

85th  Pl

116th St

107th St

66th  St

43rdAve

28t
h A
ve

2nd
 Av
e

125th St

64th  St

124th St

68th  St

80th  St

8thAv e

92nd St

State Hwy 165

53r
d A
ve

86th  St

80th  St

102nd St

Sta
te H
wy 
31

83rd St

65th  St

33r
d A
ve

21s
t Av
e

83rd St

55t
h A
ve

92n
d A
ve

LakeviewPkwy

31s
t Av
e

3rd Ave

23rd Ave

77th  St

74th  St

67th  St 67th  St

93rd St

104th St

87th  St

82nd St

66th  Pl

69th  St

64t
h A
ve

63rd St

83rd Pl

72nd St

Main St

114th St

14t
h A
ve

75th  St

15t
h A
ve

24t
h A
ve

109th St

33r
d A
ve

41s
t Av
e

67th St

27t
h A
ve

86t
h A
ve

78th  St

63rd St 63rd St

8th
 Av
e

72nd St

94th  St

70th  St

20t
h A
ve

63rd St
64th  St

144
th A
ve

43r
d A
ve

69th  St

73rd St

25t
h A
ve

104th St

100th St

104th St

Sta
te H
wy 
32

65th  St

91st St

Sprin
gbro
ok R
d

100th St

68th  St

76th  St
75th  St

72nd St

20t
h A
ve

74th  St

100th St

84th  St

68th  St

85th Ave

64th  St65th  St
66th  Pl

104
th A
ve

83rd St

76th  St

81st St

71st St

67th  St
70th  St

95th  St

38t
h A
ve

108th St

35t
h A
ve

67th  St

88th  Pl

68th  St

102nd St

1st 
Ct

71st St

40th Ave

88th  Pl

83rd St

111
th A
ve

87th  Pl

81st St

45th Ave

73rd St

46t
h A
ve

31s
t Av
e

4th  A
ve

Sh eridan Rd

102nd St

128
th A
ve

87t
h  A
ve

93rd St

48t
h A
ve

106
th A
ve

24t
h A
ve

41 s
tAv
e

83rd Pl

79th  St

29t
h A
ve

45t
h  A
ve

80th  Pl

Co Hwy 19

6th  St

Cty
 W1
5

Cty
 W2
6

Cty
 W2
7

Cty
 W3
2

City
 W3
4

Co 
Hw
y 29

US 
Hw
y 41

Lew
is A
ve

Co 
Hw
y 37Sko
kie 
Hw
y

N L
ewi
s A
ve

She
rida
n R
d

State Rte 131
Green Bay Rd

N D
elan
ey R
d

N H
unt
 Clu
b R
d

Sta
te R
te 1
37

N K
eno
sha
 Rd

Tru
mp
etP
ark
Dr

N K
ilbo
urn
e R
d

Tho
m p
son
 Av
e

Rob
ert
sR
d RavineDr

5th  St

Marina Dr

N P
oint
 Dr

Cav
in A
ve

Old DarbyLn Col
lege
 Av
e

Rus
sell
 Av
e

N P
rair
ieA
ve

W 3rd St
4th  St

Meg
an P
l

Meadow Ln Eng
lish
 Ln

2nd St

7th  St Kirk
woo
d A
ve

Fore
st P
rese
rve

Wh
itne
y A
ve

Ber
ron
g A
ve

N S
her
idan
 Oa
ks D
r

Gar
nett
 Av
e

Hol
drid
ge A
ve

Par
k Ln

Fos
slan
d A
ve

Rose Ct

Ged
des
 Av
e

Fairh aven Dr Cedar Ct

3rd St

5th  St

Nor
th A
ve

Eng
lish
 Ln

3rd St

5th  St

W Russell Rd

Gar
nett
 Av
e4th  St

Cav
in A
ve

Cty A1

N P
oint
 Dr

Col
lege
 Av
e

7th  St

PRAIRIESPRINGSPARK

BECKERPARK

ROLLINGMEADOWSPARK

MAP 10Pleasant Prairie Park & Open Space PlanProposed Facilities VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39th AvenuePleasant Prairie, WI 53158Project 27-1062.20 • 11.14.2018

Î Î Î

ÎÎÎ

A B C D

3

2

1

DCBA

2

1

3

I 0 3,6001,800 Feet

! Baseball

! Beer Garden

! Com m unity Garden

!F Hiking Trails

¾M Natural Area Restoration

! Outdoor Exercise Equipm ent

!i Parking

!3 Park Shelter

! Play Equipm ent

! Soccer

! Splash pad

LEGEND



                                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C: 

 

Park Master Plans 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



• PARCEL AREA= 4.5 ACRES 

• LENGTH OF PATHS & SIDEWALKS = 3, 145' 

~ 

~ 
8 ........ 
c:. ...... 

§ ) 
~ I ., 
J: 

~ I 
I 

;i I 
~ 

" I 
~ I a. 
llJ 

I (.l 
2: 
0 

I (.l 

Ci 
i'i I ;;; 
t: I .. 

I 
I 
I 
I 
l 

' \ 
' 

,,. 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

' ' \ 
\ 
\ 

LEGEND 

0 
e 
e 
0 
e 

ENTRY PLAZA # 1 -
ARCHITECTURAL 
FEATURE/POND WALL 

ENTRY PLAZA #2 

AMPHITHEATER WITH 
STAGE, SEATING 
& RESTROOMS 

POND 

10' PAVED PATH 

0 
8 
0 
0 
0 • 

l O' CONCRETE 
SIDEWALK 

BRIDGE 

FOUNTAIN 

PARK SIGN 

BIKE RACK 

UNPAVED TRAIL 

/. 

I 
. I 

·1 
\ 

' 

I 
I 

I 

\. 
\ . \ 

\ 
\ 

"' ....... -- -

---

0 
0 

--- I ---- ! I 
I 

I 

r---1 I 
I 

I 
I 

AYRES 
ASSOCIATES 
101 East Bodger Rood 
Madison, WI 53713 
608.255.0800 

I 
www .AyresAssociotes.com 

I 
1 · 
l 
I 

~. 

I 
I 
I 

(/) 

1J 
::0 -z 
(j) 
ID 
::0 
0 
0 

"' ::0 
0 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I I 
I I 
I I 
I I 
I I 
I I 

\ - .J \ 
====;::::= --~-
-==---===~\ 

\ 
\ 

Professional Seal 

Revision Date 

I 
/ Project Name 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

\ 
\ 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

NEIGHBORHOOD 
COMMONS 

MASTER PLAN 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 

Drawn By: 
Checked By: 
File: 
Issued For: PRELIMINARY 
Date: 1/27/2017 
Project No. 27-1062 

SheetTiUe 

CONCEPT 1 

N 

C) 
0 25 50 

Sheet Number 

NC-1 



----- -:-::-r-~~~~~~~~ 
------~ .... --- ==-==-=-==-- - - -------

--------- ' 

• PARCEL AREA -
• LENGTH OF p - 3.4 ACRES 

ATHS & SIDEWALKS --2.853' 

,---- I 
..... J ----,_~/ 

/ 

' --- r-
____ ./ ' 

'\ 
\ 

LEG EN D 

0 ENTRY PLAZA # 1 - PARK SIG 
f) ENTRY PLAZ N/PLANTER 

FEATURE A #2-ARCHITECTURAL 

e ENTRY PLAZA # 3 

0 PAVILION 

0 2 TO 12 YEAR OLD A PLAYGRO 

V SPLASHPAD UNO 

f) BRIDGE 

0 10' PAVED PATH 

0 BENCHES 

G) POND 

• FOUNTAIN 

4!) SHADE STRUCTURE 

e PICNIC TABLES 

C) PUBLIC ART 

41) PLANTER 

C) PARKSIGN 

• BIKERACKS 

• SKATING RINK 

• FARMER'S MARKET TEMPORARY TENTS 

' I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 
/ 

/ 

' .... 
' \ 
' I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I .-+-', 

,·"r 
, : ·J . 

-:--

" 
\ 
I 

\ 
~ 

®·'i 
.,, 
c: \ 
-I c: . ~ 

:0 
Ill 

\-
. \ . 

\ 

t 
/.' 

,,.,. 

.....,_ 

. I . I 

- ---

I 
I 

--....-- --:-. -

I 

-~ -

• 0 

WET POND -

- - - '"- ...:.... 2-YE . - 47,000 SF 
. ~ ~ ~ STOR _ . · • -- .M - S7 0 0 . 

-- · _ . _ Q SF 

- 100-YEAR sr · . -- Q_RM =- 9 1 06 - -· ~~ 
.\ .. : """ ,···~A ., .. ~- ." . . ·: .v i·:·< . 

j 

I 
I 

I 

. - . 

. -./ \ 

• 0 

4D 
0 

. ~.i . . . ~ 
• ·j. !1 

I . 

I 
l 
t 

I 
I 

. I 
J 

I 

1 

I 

AYRES 
AS SOCIA 
101 East Bad TES 
Madison WI ~j' Road 
6os.2ss'.osoo 7 1 3 
www.AyresAssociote s.com 

VILLAGE SQU M ARE 
ASTER PLAN 

Pleasant p .. rairie, WI 

Drawn By: 
Checked By· 
File: . 

Issued For: 
Date: 

Project No. 

N 

PRELIMINARY 
1127/2017 

27-1062 

C) 

VS-1 



                                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D: 

 

Maps from 2013 Park and Open Space Plan 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



1 
 

Figure 8.1 

Conceptual Plan for additional improvements at Prairie Springs Park 

  



2 

Figure 8.2 

Ingram Park Conceptual 



I ' - '. 

Prepared for: 
The Village of Pleasant Prairie 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 

P ~easant Prairie Park 

Pleasant Prairie Parks & Open Space Plan 

L~lb1D I 

~ November2012 
DllllgnParsQecUYes.. Revised: November 2014 

IMlliln~ 

1ZIQ"""uala-uo 
S.lloUQ 
N1p&'YIJo, llliloll 60563 

'r>Motoo•: (IJQJ +21~u. 

"""' (llG) 421-31Se _,..,...,....,... ...... 
0 

9'+-'t' 0 
I l ~l 

SCALE: NTS cs 



4 

Figure 8.4 

Conceptual Plan for Village Green Park 



5 

Figure 8.5 

Conceptual Plan for Becker Park 



6 
 

 

 

Figure 8.6 

Conceptual Plan for Carol Beach Park 

  



7 

Figure 8.7 

Conceptual Plan for Creekside Park 



Brookside Gardens Park
Concept Plan

Figure  8.8



9 
 

 

Figure 8.9 

Conceptual Plan for Rolling Meadows Park 

  



10 
 

 

Figure 8.10 

Conceptual Plan for Woodlawn Park 

  



11 
 

Figure 8.11 

Conceptual Plan for Carol Beach Unit W Neighborhood Park 

  

jsteinbrink
Text Box
Gesualdo Park

jsteinbrink
Line



12 
 

Figure 8.12 

Conceptual Plan for Prairie Lane Neighborhood School/Community Park 

  



13 
 

 

 

Figure 8.13 

Conceptual Plan for Highpoint Neighborhood School/Community Park 

  



14 
 

 

Figure 8.14 

Conceptual Plan for Prairie Farms Neighborhood High School/Regional Park 

  



15 
 

 

Figure 8.15 

Conceptual Plan for Mompers Woods 

 



                                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix E: 

 

Prairie Springs Park Natural Area  

Des Plaines River Planning Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Prepared by: 

Prairie Springs Park Natural Area 
Des Plaines River Planning Report 

April, 2007 

Prepared for the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 

Kenosha County, Wisconsin 

Lori Artiomow 
1637 Chatham Street 
Racine, WI 53402 
262.634.2276 

Development of this plan was funded through a Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources River Planning Grant: Project Number RP-121-06 



T able of Contents 

Introduction, _ _________________________ I 
Project Area 3 
Historic Landscape 3 
Landscape Changes 4 
Current Landscape 8 
Management/Restoration Recommendations 9 

Woody Vegetation Removal 10 
Prescribed Burns 11 
Reed Canary Grass Control 13 
Nat ive Seed Collecting & Spreading 14 
Commo1t Reed Grass Control 14 
lnvasi\'C Species Monitoring & Control (Other Species) 14 

Future Stre.am Corridor Restoration & Enhancement 15 
Research Opportun ities 16 

Vegetation Surveys and Population Monitoring 16 
Stream I labicat Monitoring 16 
Wildlife Monitoring & Surveys 16 

Trails 17 



Figure l. 
"Figure 2. 
Figure 3. 
Figure 4. 
Figure 5. 
Figure 6. 
Figure 7. 
Figure 8. 
Figure 9. 
Figure 10. 
l~igure 11. 
Figlu·e 12. 
Figure 13. 
Figure 14. 

J.,ist of Figures 

Des Plaines River Watershed and Project Area. _________ 19 
P~~A= 20 
Joshua Hatha\vay's Map fron1 the 1836 Public Land Survey 21 
Project Area I--Iistoric Vegetatio11 Based on Soils Data 22 
1941 Aerial Photo of Project Area 23 
1908 Plat Map of Pleasant Prairie____ 24 
Modified Strea1n Channels 25 
Wetland Mitigation Sites ................ ___ 26 
Existing Natural Con1n1unities 27 
Thicket 28 
Manage1nent Units 29 
Woody Vegetation Manage1nent 30 
Reed Canary Grass Management 31 
J>roposed Trail Route 32 

List of Tables 

Table I. Soil Series Descriptions, __________________ 33 
"!'able 2. Vertebrate Species of Conservation Need 35 

List of Appendices 

Appendix A. Invasive Species Manageinent 
Buckthorn 
I-Ioneysuckle 
Reed Canary Grass 
Comn1on Reed Grass 

Appendix B. Prescribed Burn Plan 
Appendix C. Incidental Take Protocols 
Appendix D. Ducks Unli1nited l{ecommendations 
Appendix E. Grant Opportunities 



INTRODUCTION 

This Des Plaines River Planning Report \Vas developed to provide the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie a detailed assessment of the natural plant co1nn1unities that occur within the 
Prairie Springs Park Natural Area and information on ho\V to best 1nanage them. This 
plan covers about 385 acres located in Sections 19 & 20 ofTlN, R22E, in the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha, Wisconsin. The project area lies in the Des Plaines River 
floodplain and contains a coinplex of quality wetlands and uplands. 

The Prairie Springs Park Natural Area is located \Vithin a large prin1ary environ1nental 
corridor delineated by Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
(SEWRPC). lt extends from the Illinois border, north along the Des Plaines River, and 
branches at the Kilbourn Road Ditch and Center Creek (Figure 1). Primary 
environtnental corridors are defined by SEWRPC as areas that contain concentrations of 
Wisconsin's most significant natural resources, such as lakes, rivers, floodplains, 
vvetlands, \Voodlands, and wildlife habitat areas. They are at least 400 acres in size, at 
least 1\VO miles long, and at least 200 feet \Vide. 

SEWRPC identified this project area as the Des Plaines River Lowlands in its 1997 
Planning Report 42, A Regional Na!ural Areas and Critical Species Habitat Protection 
and Manage111en1 Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin, \Vhere it is classified as a natural area 
site of local significance. SE\VRPC also classifies it as a Class I Wildlife Area, which is 
defined as "habitats of the highest value i11 the Region in that they contain a good 
diversity of wildlife, are adequate in size to tneet all habitat require1nents for the species 
concerned, and are generally located in proxi1nity to other wildlife habitat areas." 

Past land uses, lack of fire, and the introduction of invasive species have disturbed the 
re1naining native ecosystems in this area. Their quality \Viii continue to decline and 
habitat loss will occur unless long-tenn active land management is undertaken. Active 
!and manage1nent will improve wildlife habitat and the overall biodiversity of the project 
area. 

This plan describes the past natural history of the site, provides information about 
historical land use \Vithin and surrounding the project area, it identifies the type and 
locations of the different plant co1n1nunities and describes their current condition, and 
prioritizes 1nanage1nent activities to enhance or restore the ecological health of this large 
floodplain/wetland syste1n. l'his plan also identifies possible opportunities for strea1n and 
habitat enhance1nent along the Des Plaines River and Jerome Creek, provides information 
about possible research and education opportunities at the site, and proposes a route for a 
trail syste1n. 

Page I of36 



The wetland plant con11nunities referred to throughout this plan follow Eggers and Reed 1 

and are sun1111arized as follo\vs: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Wet to Wet-mesic Prairie: Don1i11ated by native grasses such as prairie cord 
grass, big bluesten1, and Canada blue-joint grass, with various forbs such as 
New England aster, Culver's root, prairie dock, and sawtooth suntlov-1er 
present, gro\ving on saturated to inundated soils \Vith a high groundwater 
table. 

Wet {fresh) rvfeado\v: Don1inated by grasses such as reed canary grass and 
redtop, and by forbs such as giant goldenrod, S\Vru11p aster, and sneeze\veed, 
gro\ving on saturated, rarely inundated, soils. Wet {fresh) n1eado\vs indicate 
areas that \Vere disturbed in tl1e past by drainage, siltatio11, cultivation, or other 
disturbru1ces. 

Sedge Meadow: Do1ninated by sedges such as species i11 the Carex genus, 
spike-rushes, bulrushes, and nut-grasses, gro\ving on saturated soils with a 
l1igh groundwater table. Native grasses, rushes, and diverse forb species 1nay 
also be present. 

Shallow Marsh: The soils are saturated to inundated by standing water up to 6 
inches in depth throughout 1nost of the growing season. Don1inated by 
herbaceous e1nergent vegetation such as cattails, bulrushes, arrowheads, and 
lake sedges. 

Shrub-Carr: Don1inated by deciduous woody sbrubs such as \Villo\VS, red
osier dog\vood, silky dog\vood, n1eadows\veet, and buckthorn, with fe1ns, 
grasses, sedges, and forbs in the groundlayer, grO\'ling on saturated to 
seasonally flooded soils. 

Other plant con1n1unities referred to are: 

• Mesic Prairie or Prairie: Don1inated by grasses such as big and little 
bluestem, and forbs such as yarrow, flowering spurge, \Vild stra\vberry, 
Culver's root, coneflowers, 1nonarda, asters, and goldenrod. 

• Oak Savru1na: Oak canopy of about fifty percent, with grasses and forbs 
underneath, such as big and little bluesten1, asters, goldenrods, yellow 
coneflo\ver, leadplant, ru1d inonarda. 

• Oak woodland or forest: Woodland canopy doininated by oaks. 

• Meadow: Vegetation that colonizes fallow fields such as aster, goldenrod, 
Kentucky blue grass, Queen A11ne's lace, chico1y, milkweed, etc. 

Develop1nent of this plan \Vas funded through a Wisconsin Departn1ent ofNatural 
Resources l~iver Planning Grant: t>roject Nu1nber RP-121-06. 

1 Eggers, Steven D., and Donald tvl. Recd. 1997. rVe1/a11d Plants and Plant Co1111n1111ities oj.1\1inneso1a & 
B1isco11si11. U.S. Anny Corps of Engineers, St. Paul District. 263pp. 

Page 2 of 36 



PROJECT AREA 

The project area lies north of State Trunk Highway 165, east ofl-94, and \Vest of County 
Trunk High\vay Hin the Village of Pleasant Prairie (Figure 2). It is a relatively lo\v
lying area within the Des Plaines River floodplain that contains a complex of wetlands 
that grade from 1narsh to sedge 1neadov.- to wet ineadow to prairie to oak savanna, 
depending on slight elevation changes. Elevations range from a lo\v of about 668 feet 
above mean sea level to a high of686 feet above inean sea level, with most of the land 
belo\v 672 feet. 

The majority of the project area has a conservation easen1ent placed on it that is held by 
The Nature Conservancy (1'NC). This conservation ease1nent restricts the types of 
activities that can occur on the land and protects its conservation value in perpetuity. 
TNC placed this ease1ne11t on the !and in 2001, after donating the land to the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie. 

TNC acquired the !and tfom \V1SPARK, a real estate development company, in the late 
1980s as pa1t of a proposal to develop the Lake Vie\v Corporate Park. This development 
required the extension ofCTH Q (nO\V STH 165) from CTH H, west, across \Vetlands and 
floodplain of the Des Plaines River, to 1-94. Because \Vetlands were going to be 
destroyed for this high\vay extension, the U.S. Ar1ny Corps of Engineers (ACOE) and 
U.S. Envirorunental Protection Agency (EPA) required WlSPARK to compensate for 
these losses through wetland mitigation as part of their 404 Clean Water Act per1nit. 
Three \Vetland creations for the mitigation requirement are in the project area; t\VO are 
located just north of Jeron1e Creek, bet\veen the Des Plaines River and CTH H, and the 
third wetland creation is just south of the River Road cul-de-sac. Also part of the 
mitigation are two prairie restoration areas that su1Tound the \Vetland mitigation sites. 

HISTORIC LANDSCAPE 

Infonnation about Wisconsin's historic landscape prior to Europea11 settle1nent can be 
found in the federal General Land Office Public Land Survey records. The Public Land 
Survey began in 1785 and \Vas undertaken to divide the public lands into salable-sized 
lots. It established the township, range, and section grid still used today to identify 
property. During December 1835 and January 1836, Joshua Hatha\vay2 surveyed and 
1napped l'ownship TIN, R22E, 'vhere the project area lies. His re1narks about this 
'fo\vnship: 

"The land of this To\\1nship is slightly rolling and except marshes, good, tolerably \Veil 
timbered with handson1e prairies---\Vaters only by "sloughs" and marshes ---The Aux 

2 The Wisconsin Public Land Survey original field notes have been digitized and n1ade available online by 
Wisc-0nsin Board ofC01nmissioners of Public Lands, and the University of \Visconsin Board of Regents: 
hnp://d igicol !.! ibrary. \Visc.edu/SurveyN otes/. 

Page 3 of36 



Plaine drags itself through the west side v<ith its usual accompaniment "Grand Marais" 
joining it in this Town whence they travel i11 con1pany, hale fellov<s ,.,,ell n1et" 

l-Iatha\.,,ay's n1ap of this Township (Figure 3) sl1ows the Des Plaines (Aux Plaines) River 
entering the Township between Sections 7 and 18, \Vith the "Grand M," or "Grand 
Marais" (grand 111arsh), joining the Des Plaines River fro1n the northeast through Section 
20. 1:;-or his illustration, it is assumed fron1 his section line descriptions that circles (o) 
represent pralrie/,.,,et prairie, double lines(=) represent n1arsb, and crosses(+) represent 
timber. Hathaway 1napped prairie and rnarsh through n1uch of the area that is now the 
Prairie Springs Park Natural Area (Sections 19 and 20). 

Frain data collected by the Public Land Survey surveyors, it is esti1nated that during the 
1nid~ 1830s about 43 percent of the Des J>Jaines River watershed v,ras savanna, 26 perce11t 
prairie, 17 percent oak fOrest, and 14 perce11t wetlai1d3

• 

Soils can also provide historic infor1nation about a landscape. Soil ibr1nation is 
influenced by n1any things including glacial deposits, 1noisture levels, vegetation, and 
slope, and can take thousands of years to fOrm. Cli1nate and plant and animal life, 
particularly vegetation, are the active forces in soil for1natio114

• Moisture availability will 
influence the type of vegetation that can grow in an area. Areas that are wet, or saturated, 
during most of the gro'rving season suppo1t plants that require or tolerate anaerobic (lov.' 
or no oxygen) soil conditions. These ,.,,et areas are poorly drained due to a high water 
table or because they are located in drainageways or depressions. Soils forn1ed under 
these conditions are called hydric soils. Sedges, bulrushes, cattails, water~tolerant 
grasses, \Villows, and dogwoods are among the vegetation that can gro\.,, in saturated 
soils. Areas without saturated soils, or are well drained during inost of the growing 
season, suppo1t plants that require or tolerate aerobic soil conditions. The United States 
Departn1ent of Agriculture (USDA) Soil Conservation Service, nov.1 called the USDA 
Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS), co1npleted their soil surveys for 
Kenosha and Racine Counties in the mid~ 1960s and published their findings in 19704

• 

The NRCS soil descriptions contain informatio11 about the vegetation types that fb11ned 
the soils ('fable 1) and have been used to create a detailed picture of the historic 
landscape (Figure 4). Marsh, sedge meadow, ,.,,et prairie, and shrub co1nn1unities 
do1ninated the vegetation in the project area. Wet alluvial land refers to poorly drained, 
unconsolidated alluviu1n (soil or rock inaterial) recently deposited on lo\V floodplains by 
strean1 flow, and is generally stratified. Wet alluvial land is generally the sedin1ent 
deposition along and within a strerun. 

LANDSCAPE CHANGES 

1 Southeastern \\/isconsin Regional Planning Commission. 2003. Planning Report Nun1ber 44: A 
Co111prehe11sil'e Plan for the Des Plaines River 1¥alershed. SEWRPC. I 158pp. 
4 United States Department of Agriculture Soil Conservation Service. 1970. Soil Sur1,ey: Kenosha and 
J?acine C'o1111ties /J!isconsi11. U.S. Govemnient Printing Office. 

Page 4 of36 



The landscape of Prairie Springs Park Natural Area has seen n1any changes since the 
Public Land Survey. Following the survey, 1nany Europeans came to settle in the 
\Vatershed and began clearing the land for farming. During this titne the plow was being 
redesigned to work more efficiently on the deep, rich prairie soils of the Mid\vest5

, which 
later helped conve1t much of the native landscape to productive agricultural fields. The 
fires that maintained the once large expanses of prairie and savanna \Vere suppressed, 
allo\ving shrubs and trees to become established on the remaining prairie and savanna 
remnants, converting the1n to forest over time. 

Agriculture had widespread impacts \Vithin the \vatershed such as changes in hydrology 
and increased sediment and nutrients flows into the river, as well as habitat loss. 
Ditching and the installation of drain tiles in agricultural fields lowered \Vater tables to 
allo\V fanning on the hydric soils, but also reduced ground\vater recharge, and increased 
the volume of water directed to the Des Plaines River and its tributaries. 

The agricultural fields, themselves, have less ability to absorb v.1ater during rain events 
than native prairie/savanna vegetation, leading to increased water runoff and soil erosion. 
The increased volume of\vater entering the river began the cycle of flash flooding during 
storm events and, along with the topsoil carried in from the fields, the scouring down of 
the river channel, and the undercutting of banks, causing large volumes of sedi111ent being 
transported to other locations downstreatn. Son1e of the banks along Des Plaines River 
\Vithin the Prairje Springs Park Natural Area have accumulated almost two feet of 
sediment on top of the native vegetation, in part because of this process6

• The NRCS soil 
survey identifies this recent accumulation of sediment as \\1et alluvial land4 (Figure 4). 

Transported sediI11ent also collects on the riverbed. During 1996, SEWRPC measured 
1.5 feet of unconsolidated sedi1nent on the Des Plaines River riverbed at CTH C, just 
north of the Prairie Springs Park Natural Area, and 0.6 feet at STH 1653. Sedin1ent 
deposition on the riverbed and banks and the undercutting of riverbanks have destroyed 
native fish habitat by covering or washing away native vegetation that served as feeding 
and breeding areas, as well as destroying habitat for aquatic invertebrates, a food source 
for many native fish. 

By 1941, the higher elevations of the Prairie Springs Park Natural Area \Vere under 
agricultural use, including row cropping, grazing, and haying (Figure 5). Areas in the 
southwest portion of the site that v.•ere too wet to fann or graze v.1ere used to 11arvest 
1narsh hay. A co1n1non practice was to seed reed canary grass into these wet areas to 
increase marsh hay production. Ditching \Vas used help drain the \Yater away fi·on1 this 
area and created \Vhat SEWRPC no\v refers to as Unna1ned Tributary 7 (UT-7)3

, The 
"Grand Marais" \Vas also ditched prior to 1941, creating Jeron1e Creek. A portion of the 
Des Plaines River, itself, \Vas likely modified to flo\v along the section line between 
sections 19 and 20 someti1ne between 1908 and 1941. This 1nodification of the river 

5 http://www.deere.com/en _ US/con1 pinfo/history /index.html. Retrieved I 2/9/06. 
6 Personal conununication with Steve Apfelbaum of Applied Ecological Services, Inc. Applied Ecological 
Services, Jnc., \Vas hired by WJSP ARK and then TNC during the late 1980s to 1994 to work on the \Vetland 
mitigations and other ecosystem n1anagement at the site. 

Page 5 of36 



course was probably done to atlo\V the landow11er on the west side of the Des Plaines 
River access to the s111aU portion of land that would have been east of the river (F'igure 6). 

During 1969, Jeron1e Creek "\-Vas straighte11ed ai1d widened to its current course and reed 
cana1y grass n1ay have been utilized again, but tl1is time to stabilize the spoil piles 
following channel modification (Figure 7). 

In addition to its early use as ±Drage or hay, reed canary grass has been \videly used i11 
Wisconsin to stabilize roadsides and streambanks because it is a vigorous, sod-forming 
perennial grass. Reed canary grass growing in southeast Wisco11sin is now considered a 
non-native, ecologically invasive plant with the ability to fOrtn dense 1nonocultures. It 
outco1npetes native wetland vegetation, threatening the biodiversity of native ecosysten1. 
Nutrients entering the river froin crop fertilizers, livestock, and sev.1age treatinent, along 
with past disturbru1ces, such as ditching and sedin1e11t deposition on top of native 
riverbank vegetation, likely pro1noted the rapid and expansive spread of reed canary grass 
found along the Des Plaines River and its tributaries. 

While much of the \vatershed is still under agricultural use, conversion of the agricultural 
landscape to con11nercial, industrial, and residential develop1nent was well under\vay by 
the last quarter of the last century. Construction of the Pleasant Prairie Power Plant and 
the excavation of Lake Andrea v.1ere undervvay by the 1970s. By the late 1980s, 
WISPARK's plan to develop the Lake Vie\v Corporate Park led to the construction of old 
CTI-IQ to the current STl-1165. This changed the landscape of\vl1at is now the Prairie 
Springs Park Natural Area 

"fo cross the river, the ST'H 165 construction would destroy m<u1y acres of wetland and 
stricter federal environmental protection laws now required wetland n1itigatio11 if 
wetlands were to be destroyed. To obtain its 404 Clean Water Act pern1it, WJSPARK 
agreed to the v.1etland initigation obligation, witb three of the n1itigations occurring in 
what is now the Prairie Springs Park Natural Area. 'fhcse 1nitigations included two 
wetland creation ponds just north of Jerome Creek and a sn1all, excavated 1nitigation 
wetland south of the River Road cul~de-sac (Figure 8). During this tin1e, WISPARK 
contacted The Nature Conservancy (TNC) and offered to donate this prope1ty to then1 for 
long-term preservation, as long-term preservation of the n1itigation sites was a 
requiren1ent of the 404 Clean Water Act per1nit. 

'fo accept the donation, TNC had several require111ents that would improve overall 
ecosyste1n health to the property, including prairie restorations on forn1er agricultw·al 
fields surrounding the wetland n1itigation areas and aggressive ina11age1nent of the 
degraded wetlands on the property. These requirements becan1e an a1nendment to 
WISPARK's 404 Clean Water Act Pern1it. 

On accepting the donalio11, TNC oversaw imple111entation ofa five-year restoration and 
manage1nent progran1 on the 425 acres of donated land. 'fhe \Vork v.1as conducted by the 
consulting firm Applied Ecological Services from J 989 through 1993. During that ti1ne, 
prairie was seeded around the two wetland creation ponds north of Jeron1e Creek, and 

Page 6 of 36 



prairie was also seeded around the River Road culwdewsac initigation site, \Vhich would 
become a prairie seed nursery for use during future prairie enhancement on the donated 
property. Seeds from existing native vegetation were also collected and spread 
throughout the site to increase plant diversity. Other \Vork included prescribed burns and 
the re1noval of\voody vegetation that \Vas encroaching on \Vetlands and prairie re1nnants. 
Prescribed burns \Vere used 1nultiple years throughout the property to control invasive 
plant species and enhance native prairie and \Vetland gro\vth. Dense inonocu!tures of 
reed canary grass do1ninated areas along the Des Plaines River and the Jerome Creek 
spoil piles and, unfortunately, were not brought under control with prescribed burns. 
Ho\vever, the \Vork on this site did restore and enhance the native ecosystems. 

By 1990, only 13.6 percent of the Des Plaines River \vatershed was covered by native 
ecosystems3

. About half of the original wetland, 0.2 percent of the original prairie, and 
virtually none of the original savanna ren1ained in the \vatershed. About 5.6 percent of 
the watershed was now \\1ood!and, but not all of it original. Because of a lack of fire, 
so1ne undisturbed land such as re1nnant prairie and savanna, and fallo\V agricultural lands 
grew into \Voodlands. 

Ecosyste1n restoration activities throughout the \Vatershed have been gro\ving since the 
1990s. In 1996, congress passed the 1996 Farm Bill, which simplified existing farn1 
conservation progra1ns, such as the Wetland Reserve Program and the Conservation 
Reserve Progran1, and created new ones. The bill gives landO\Vners incentives to 
voluntarily enroll in land conservation programs. Progra1ns included in the 1996 Farm 
Bill are the Conservation Reserve ]lrogram, Environ1nental Quality Incentives, Wetland 
Reserve Program, Wetland Conservation, and Wildlife Habitat Incentives Program. 
These programs are designed to reduce topsoil losses and agriculture's negative 
enviro111nental impacts, and to i1nprove stream quality and wildlife habitat throughout the 
United States. Thousands of acres of land in Kenosha County are enrolled annually in 
these conservation progra1ns7

. The NRCS oversees and monitors their outcomes, such as 
reduced soil erosion and wetland gains and losses. These prograins will help to reduce 
±lash flooding, nutrient loads, and sedin1ent deposition in the Des Plaines River. 

Sometime bet\veen 1985 and l 987 a quarter 1nile road was excavated in the west portion 
of the prope1ty and may have been used as a private racing strip. The road is excavated 
dov.'n several feet fro1n the surrounding land. It is not clear where the excavated material 
was deposited-if it Y.1as deposited on site or used as fill elseY.1here. 

Currently, development \Vithin the Des Plaines River \Vatershed continues to convert 
natural vegetation and agricultural fields to co1n1nercia! and industrial sites, subdivisions, 
and widened roads, creating large areas of impermeable surfaces that prevent water from 
infiltrating into the soil and ground\vater. Water runoff:fro1n these surfaces can pick up 
pollutants and nutrients that, unless captured in detention or retention basins, can enter 
the Des Plaines River and its tributaries and have a negative itnpact on the \Vatershed. 

7 NRCS Wisconsin Area 4: Southeast \Visconsin, Union Grove Service Center. 

Page 7 of36 



CURRENT LANDSCAPE 

While past land use has had a negative in1pact on the site, high quality natural areas still 
exist (1~igure 9). Jn its 1997 Planning Repo1t Nu1nber 42: A Regional Natural Areas and 
C'ritical Species flabitat and Pro1ectio11 Plan for Soutl1ec1s.ter11 Wisconsin, SEW-RPC calls 
this area the Des Plaines River Lowlands and describes it as: 

Extensive wetland and upland co1nplex along the Des Plaines River, significant because 
of its ope11 space and \Vildlife habitat. Contains xeric oak \¥oods, n1esic aJ.ld wet~111esic 
prairie, fresl1 (\.,,et) 1neadow, and riverine fOrcst. 

Slight elcvatio11 changes influence the plant co1n1nunities at this site. Elevations fro1n 
about 668 to 670 feet above 1nean sea level support two distinct shallo\V nlarsh 
con1munitics. At about 668-669 feet the 1narsh con11nunities are don1inated by river 
bulrush (Bolboschoenusjluviatilh)·J· Elevations from about 669 to 670 feet suppo1i 111arsh 
co1n1nunities dominated by native reed grass (Phragn1i1es auslra/is). These t\vo shallow 
1narsh co1nn1unities are the least ilnpacted wetland types in the project area. Because the 
!and of these shallo\V 1narshes is saturated, often covered in standing water, this land V.'as 
likely too wet fOr past agriculture activities and too low to drain. The current threat to 
these shallo\V n1arsh types is the invasion by non-11ative reed grass (also Phragn1ites 
australis), whicl1isa1nuch larger and aggressive pla11t, often developing into a large 
monoculture in the areas it invades, Non-native reed grass is found growing throughout 
the Village of Pleasant l)rairie, including Prairie Springs Park, and along the interstate 
highways and road\vays that surround the project area, Tl1is plant is a severe ecological 
threat to Prairie Springs Park Natural Area. 

Elevations fron1 about 670 to 672 feet support cattail 1narsh, and sedge meadow, \Vet 
(fi·esh) 1neado\v, \vet prairie, and shrub~carr co1n1nu11ities. Cattail marsh is associated 
\Vith the deeper, shallow 1narsh and \Vetla11d creatio11 areas and is 111ixed with the native 
con11non cattail (Typha latifO/ia), the non-native narrow-leaved cattail (1)pha 
angustifolia), and the hybrid of the two (Typl1a x glauca). Cattails can be invasive, 
for1ning n1011ocult11res, but the non-native cattail, and its hybrid, are more problematic in 
that they can tolerated a \Vider range of conditions and \Viii cro\vd out 1nore native plant 
species and i1npact site biodiversity. While eli1nination of al! cattail is not necessary, 
so1ne 1nanagement will preve11t its spread, such as elin1inating small and new stands that 
beco1ne e::;tablished. 

The sedge 1neado\V, \vet (fresh) 1neadow, wet prairie, and shrub~carr co1n1nunities, also at 
elevations of about 670 to 672 feet, are the plant co1n1nunities n1ost in1pacted by invasive 
reed canary grass, particularly the areas that have been disturbed by 1narsh haying, 
diiching, and sedilnent deposits. The best re1nnants of sedge 1neado,v, prairie, and shrub
carr are growing east of the Des Plaines River, north of Jero1ne Creek, and west of the 
\Vet!and n1itigation/prairie restoration area. This is an area that had the least agricultural 

s Sa1nples were subn1itted to both the \Visconsin State Herbariun1 and Coniell University on September 29, 
2006 and \Vere confirmed to be the native variety of Phragn1ites aus/ralis. 

Page 8 of36 



ilnpact on the site. West of the Des Plaines River, these cominunities are interspersed 
vvith reed canary grass. 

Elevations from 672 to 674 feet suppo1t \Vet-1nesic to 1nesic prairie and are inost 
impacted by invasive woody vegetation such as buckthorn (Rha111nus catharica) and non
native bush honeysuckles (Lonicera sp.), though gray dogwood (Cornus rcrce111osa) and 
other native \\'oody species are also i1npacting these areas due to a lack of fire (Figure 
I 0). Saine of these areas are co1npletely covered in a dense thicket of brush, do1ninated 
by buckthorn and honeysuckle. On the \Vest side of the Des Plaines River, these areas, 
and higher elevations, \\'ere put into agricultural use. The southwest corner of the project 
area \vhere UT-7 co1nes through the property, there is a particularly dense stand of reed 
canary grass, \Vith trees beginning to fill in along the tributary. The variety of reed 
canary grass growing here gro\VS inuch taller (6+ feet) than so1ne of the other varieties 
growing nearby. It appears that this area was probably plowed and planted, possibly with 
reed canary grass for marsh hay or grazing. The lo\ver, \11.'etter area to the east was 
probably just mowed for marsh hay, with reed canary grass broadcast seeded someti1ne 
earlier. 

The areas higher than 674 feet in elevation are the upland areas of the site that are planted 
as prairie restorations, or are the fallo\V agricultural fields that are transitioning fro1n 
meadow vegetation, such as aster, goldenrod, and Kentucky blue grass, to \Voody 
vegetation. The prairie restoration areas are perfonning \Veil, though are in need of fire 
1nanagen1ent. Woody vegetation, such as buckthorn, gray dogwood, n1ultiflora rose 
(Rosa 1nultiflora), and green ash (Fraxil1us penn.5J!/Vanica) are becoming established on 
the River Road cul-de-sac prairie restoration, with reed canary grass also tnoving in. 

MANAGEMENT/RESTORATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

The manage1nent and restoration recom1nendations in this plan focus on restoring the 
historic ecosysten1s within the project area, following recon11nendations outlined in the 
Wisconsin Depart1nent of Natural Resources report PUBL WT-701-2002, The State of 
!he Southeast Fox River Basb1, specifically: 

11 Manage \Vetlands lo protect diversity of species, wildlife health and ecological 
integrity 

11 Burning grasslands and prairies to restore and 1naintain native prairie species 

The plan activities focus on eradicating invasive species to enhance native species 
diversity and wildlife habitat, \Vhile 1nanaging potential negative impacts on Species of 
Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) identified in the Wisconsin Wildlife Action Plan9 

developed by WDNR. While habitat enhancement will ultimately benefit these SGCN, 

9 The \Visconsin Wildlife Action Plan \\las developed follo\ving the creation of the Federal State \l,lildlife 
Grants Progrrnn, which seeks to prevent \\lildlife from becon1ing endangered. Each state is required to 
prepare a \Vi!dlife Action Plan to remain eligible for funding ai1d n1ust focus on "Species of Greatest 
Conservation Need". 

Page 9 of36 



breeding and nesting habitat, and the species the1nselves 1nay be negatively i1npacted as 
ecosyste1n 111anagc1nent and restoration activities are carried out. A list of the vertebrate 
SGCN that 1nay possibly use the site, along \¥ill1 their l1abitat needs and special 
considerations, is provided in Table 2. 

Tl1e manage1ne11t and restoration rcco1n1ncndations range fron1 relatively straightfor\vard 
tasks, such as \voody vegetation re1noval, to 111orc complicated tasks requiring detailed 
planning, floodplain 1nodeling, engineering, and pertnitting. 'fhe reco1nmendations are 
grouped into six areas: 1. Ren1ove undesirable woody species; 2. Develop and begin a 
prescribe burn regitne; 3. Control reed canary grass; 4. Control non~native Phrag1niles in 
and around Prairie Springs Park; 5. Monitor and control other invasive species; and 6. 
Possible streatn restoration and enhancen1ent projects. Woody vegetation n1anagen1ent, 
prescribed burns, reed canary grass and Phrag111i1es control, and invasive species 
1nonitoring and control, are long~te1111 activities that will be required in perpetuity to 
1naintain ecosysten1 integrity. The stream enhancement and restoration projects will 
require the creation of advisory tean1s n1ade up of individuals fro1n organizations and 
agencies such as Ducks Unlin1ited, WDNR, FWS, U.S. Ar1ny Corps of Engineers 
(ACOE) and others who have the expertise to develop appropriate and achievable plans 
for this site. 

The project area is divided into three 1nanagen1ent units: Jeron1e Creek Unit, River Road 
Unit, and the Frontage Road Unit (Figure 11). 

WOODY VEGETATION RE1\10VAL 

1-listorically, periodic fires controlled the spread oftrccs and shrubs on this site, allo\ving 
the develop1nent of the n1arsh, sedge n1eado\v, prairie, and savanna co1n1nunities. With 
the suppression of fire and the introduction of invasive, non~native woody species, native 
prairie con1111unities on this site are overgro\vn with \Voody vegetation that have spread 
and forn1ed dense thickets, cro\vding out tl1e native plant com1nunities. Prescribed burns 
are not always effective at killing and eli1ninating woody vegetation once it is \Veil 
established. For prescribed burns to be most effective the undesirable \'loody vegetation 
should first be eradicated. 

'fhe goal is not to elin1inate all of the shrubs m1d trees. Son1e wildlife species require a 
variety of habitats for their lifecycle. For exa1nple, both the Eastern Massasauga 
Rattlesnake and Blanding's Turtle require brushy or sl1ady areas for ther1noregulation, 
and so1ne birds require shrubs for nesting. Willov,.,s, dog\voods, n1eadowsweet, 
elderberry, hawthorn and oaks are native woody species that naturally occur within 
ecosyste1n co1nplexes such as the ones found 011 this site. The n1ost proble1natic shrubs 
are the non~native, invasive species buckthorn (J?han1nus cathart;ca), the bush 
honeysuckles (Lonicera sp.), and 111ultiflora rose (Rosa n1ultiflora), \Vhich form dense 
thickets. Birds eat the fruit and spread the seeds of these species. Tl1ese shrubs are found 
growing on the on the slightly dryer elevations and 011 upland areas of the site. In so1ne 
areas, native sh.rubs ai1d trees will also be re1noved to restore native prairie reinnants and 
to 1nanage the prairie restoration areas. Ahnost 30 acres of land require woody vegetation 
ren1oval (Figure 12). 

Page 10 of36 



T\VO 1nain techniques \vill be used to kill woody vegetation: tree girdling and cutting \Vith 
herbicide stu1np treatment. Tree girdling will be used for large trees during the early 
summer and the cut and stu1np treat1nent 1nethod will be used on s1naller trees and shrubs 
fi·om Nove1nber through March. Spray paint can be used to mark the trees to be girdled 
and the other woody vegetation to be removed, or in so1ne cases, the woody vegetation to 
be saved. The locations of the trees to be girdled and brush to be ren1oved and saved 
should be identified on a map to help track progress. Work should begin in the Jero1ne 
Creek Manage1nent Unit, then the River Road Management Unit, and finally the Frontage 
Road Management Unit, 1noving :fro1n the highest quality areas to areas that need the 
most restoration. 

Girdling kills a tree by stopping the transport of food, eventually starving it to death. A 
cut is made all the way around the base of the trunk using a hatchet. The cut must be clear 
through the bark and about six inches above the ground. The tree should die in about a 
year, but should be checked for resprouting. Dead trees can provide nesting and perching 
sites for birds and do not need to be removed. 

The cut and stu1np treat1nent 1nethod for woody vegetation removal \vorks best with 
tean1s of about three or four individuals. Before the work begins, each tea1n \Vill need to 
kt10\V the specific boundaries of their \\1ork area and what, if any, \\'oody vegetation needs 
to be saved. For each team, one person \vill have backpack sprayer with herbicide and is 
responsible for applying herbicide to freshly cut stun1ps-the quicker the herbicide 
applicatio11, the 1nore effective it is; one person \Vill be armed with a lopper to cut l Yz 
inch or less trunks/steins; one person will be armed with a chainsa\V to cut larger 
diameter trunks; and one person \vill remove the cut brush and pile it for burning or 
prepare it for re1noval. The stu1nps 1nust be cut close to the ground. A mechanical brush 
cutter 111ay also be en1ployed i11 upland areas with dense thickets ofbuckthom and 
honeysuckle. I1n1nediate stump herbicide application will also be required. 

Each sum1ner follo\ving girdling and cut and stu1np treatn1ent \York, the \Vork areas need 
to be revisited to check for any resprouting. 

There is ongoing research to itnprove the effectiveness of invasive plant eradication 
techniques, therefore, prior to beginning any cut ru1d stump treatment activity, the 
WDNR's and the Invasive Plant Associatio11 of Wisconsin's (IPA W) invasive species 
websites should be revie\\1ed for ne\v methods or more effective herbicides for \Voody 
vegetation (buckthorn) manage1nent, www.dnr.state.wi.us/invasives/plants.hbn and 
ipa\v.org, respectively. 

PH.ESCI~IBED BURNS 

A prescribed bur11 is a n1ethod to reintroduce fire to an area that historically was shaped 
by fire, such as our native prairie and savanna. Prescribed burns can increase plant 
diversity and control woody vegetation establishn1ent in prairie and wetland 
con1munities. A prescribed burn has to be used \Vilh caution to have the !east negative 
impact on \Vildlife. Early spring and late fall burns are the best ti1ne to prevent hann to 

Page 11 of36 



l3landing's Turtle and the Easter11 Massasuaga Rattlesnake, which should hibernating, 
and the many bird species that have either not arrived or have left on their 1nigration. 
Unfortunately, early spring and late fall burns are the 1nost beneficial to reed cana1y 
grass. l'rescribed burns \Vilhout attention to reed canary grass control can increase the 
density and spread of reed canary grass. This n1eans that the prescribed burns \Vill have to 
be coupled with Sl1Jnn1er 111anage111ent of reed canary grass to be the inost effective. 

Each prescribed burn will require the approval of a written plan that describes the area to 
be burned and the objectives of the burn. 1'he plan includes the a 1nap of the area, 
\Vindow oftin1e for the burn, number and qualifications of personnel, acceptable weather 
conditions, s1noke considerations, equipn1ent, ignition ru1d 1nop up plans, rchabilitatio11 
plan, other biological considerations, as \\'ell as contingency and safety plans (See 
Appendix !3). Approval and permission to carry out the prescribed bum will con1e fron1 
the Village of Pleasant Prairie. The fire departn1ent should be contacted prior to the burn 
and n1ay be present during the bum. All needed fire breaks nJust be in place at the tin1e of 
the burn. Jero1ne Creek, the Des Plaines River, and roadways are considered fire breaks. 
In grassy areas, a wide 1nowed strip with a burned black line to re1nove fuel will serve as 
a fire break. 

Each 1nanagement unit (Jeron1e Creek, River Road, and Frontage ]{oad) will be separate 
burn units, each requiring separate burn plans. Management units will be bun1ed on 
different years so that some habitat is available for any displaced \Vildlife. Prescribed 
burns should be rotated an1ong the management areas so that eacl1 area is burned 011ce 
every three to five years. Ideally, invasive \\'oody vegetation will be cleared prior to any 
prescribed bur11. 

Agencies and organizations 111ay be available to provide expe1tise and personnel for the 
prescribed burns, such as the WDNR (Mruty Jolmson), TNC, Prairie Enthusiasts, and 
Pheasants Forever. Burn personnel required: 

11 Burn Boss: 1'akes the lead in planning and in1plen1enting the bum, and is the 
final authority on the burn. 

• Squad/Line Boss: Directs a portion of the prescribed burn crew, usually 3-6 
crew members. 

• Crew Member: lias basic knowledge gained fi·om formal training and 
experience to follow directions, with duties such as ignition, control, mop-up, 
suppression, nlonitoring, etc. 

• Apprentice: Has insufficient prescribed burning training or experience to 
qualify as cre\V 1ne1nber. Must be given instructions on-site the day of the 
burn and n1ust know the chain of con11nand. 

The Wisconsin Prescribed Fire Council provides trai11ing courses and \Vorksbops in 
prescribed bun1ing. (See http://www.prcscribedfire.org/training.htn1!) 

Page 12of36 



REED CA.NARY GRASS CONTROL 

Much \Vork is currently under\vay to find the inost effective control techniques for reed 
canary grass because it is so difficult to eradicate. lt ranked number l in importance in 
the Invasive Plant Association of Wisconsin's survey of invasive plants10

• In 2006, the 
Wisconsin Reed Canarygrass Working Group developed a table that provides information 
about different control practices, their effects, and 1nanagement recon11nendations (see 
Appendix A). The recommendations belO\V follow the information provided on that 
table. 

Reed canary grass is gro\ving in wel!Mestablished inonocultures and is also interspersed 
\vith native vegetation throughout the site (Figure 13). Control \Viii require a variety of 
techniques. Also, early spring and late fall prescribed burns pro1note reed canary grass 
growth, so special e1nphasis on reed canary grass control must begin the first su1n1ner 
following a prescribed bu1n treatment. Some of the \Vel!Mestablished 1nonocultures of 
reed canary grass that are located on the spoil piles and sediment buildup along the banks 
of Jerome Creek and the Des Plaines River inay be most effectively treated by excavation 
of the spoil piles and sediment and restoring native vegetation, which could possibly 
occur during future stream restoration activities such as the Jerome Creek meander 
creation and the Des Plaines River streambank restoration (see below). 

Localized control of reed canary grass \Vill begin by eradicating it fro1n, or preventing its 
spread into, the prairie remnants and sedge meadows using cutting (1nachete or shears) 
and grass-specific herbicide application. Grass-specific herbicides are not labeled for 
aquatic use and should not be used if standing \Vater is present. 

Cut reed canary grass to a height of about six inches as it begins to bloo1n, but before it 
sets seed, to deplete energy reserves in the rhizomes. Blooming occurs in June. Use ofa 
OPS will be helpful to n1ark waypoinl locations \Vhere reed canary grass \Vas cut and to 
keep track oftreat1nent areas. When ne\V gro\vth reaches six to twelve inches (after about 
a inonth or longer), apply a grass-specific herbicide, such sethoxydi1n or fluazifop, using 
a dripless wick applicator or backpack sprayer and applying the herbicide directly on the 
new leaves, but not during su1n1ner dormancy if weather conditions have been 
exceptionally d1y. If draughty conditions and dor1nancy do occur, wait to apply herbicide 
until gro\vth is active again. Grass-specific herbicides are 1nost effective when 
temperatures are greater than 70 degrees Fahrenheit, and some lose effectiveness in 
bright sunlight. Care must be taken to avoid applying the grass-specific herbicide on 
native grasses. Several seasons oftreabnent may be required. This technique will also 
be used in areas \vhere brush and woody vegetation was recently ren1oved to prevent reed 
canary grass's spread into the ne\vly cleared areas. The dense stands of reed canary grass 
can also be treated using this inethod by treating a portion of a stand each year and 
gradually reducing the stand size. 

Control of reed canary grass will be time consuming and \vill be ongoing for many years. 

w http://ipa\v.org/invadcrs/reed _canary __grass/index.htrn. Retrieved 4/16/07. 

Page 13 of36 



NA'l'lVE SEED COLI,EC1'ING & SPREADING 

It is in1portant to revegetate areas \Vith native plants follo,ving any activities that leave the 
soils bare or open so that invasion by invasive species is prevented. An inexpensive and 
ecologically beneficial \'lay to revegetate is to collect native seed fro1n surrounding areas 
and so\V or broadcast the1n into these areas. Seed collection should begin in the fall after 
seeds have ripened and can be seeded into ne\\1 sites i1111nediately. Seeds collected in 
sedge meadows should be seeded into sedge 1neadow areas. Likewise, seeds collected 
fi·on1 prairie re1nna11ts should be seeded into prairie ren1nant areas. New gro\vth in 
seeded areas rnay take several years to fill in. 

COrt-lMON llEED GRASS CONTROL 

The non-nati'le, invasive variety of con1n1on reed grass (Phrag111ites austral is) poses a 
severe threat to the Prairie Springs l)arlc Natural Area's nlarshes. lt is a very aggressive 
plant, forn1ing dense monocultures and cro\vding out 11ative species. A real concern with 
the non-native variety is that it can interbreed with the native Phr<.1g111ites gro\'ling on the 
site, producing aggressive, invasive hybrids. The no11-native Phrag111ites is found 
growing in Prairie Springs })ark and along the l-94 Frontage Road, S1'.1-l l65, and CTH H. 
Al! attempts should be 1nade to eradicate this plant, especially in areas surrounding the 
Prairie Springs Park Natural Area because it will severely alter the ecology of the site if it 
does invade. 

Currently, the 1nost effective control n1ethod is the foliar application of the herbicide 
l1abitat (In1azapyr) during early fall. WDNR found that a foliar application of l .25 
percent of 1-:Iabitat with crop oil \Vas close to 100 percent effective if applied later in the 
growing seaso11 (see Appendix A). The plants do not die i1nmediately, but will be dead 
the following year. 

Control of the invasive Phragn1ites should begin as soon as possible. 

Stands of the native Phrag1nites \Viii require n1onitoring to detennine if possible 
hybridized strains are present. If the presence of hybridized stains is suspected, flo\'lering 
tops should be ren1oved before seed is ripe and these plants should be treated as above, 
along with a buffer of plants surrounding then1, 

INVASIVE SPECIES MONJTORING & CONTROL (0TI-IER SPECIES) 

The threat of invasive plant species will al\vays be present and new invasive species \\1ill 
likely be introduced in the future. Currently, \Vhite-s\'leet clover (Jvfelilotus alba) is 
gro\Ving in the River Road cul-de~sac prairie restoration area. It is not as severe of a 
threat as reed canary grass. It can easily be controlled by prescribed burns and pulling. 
Purple loosestrife (Lythru111 salicaria) is a potential threat that can be difficult to 
eradicate. Currently, Galerucella beetles are being used in Wisconsin as a biological 
control 1nethod for large populations. 

Quick identification and eradication of new invasions is one of the best strategies fbr 
invasive species 1nanage1nent. 

Page 14of36 



The WDNR and lPAW invasive species websites should be checked regularly to learn 
about any new invasive threats to the area and to keep up-to-date \Vith control techniques, 
\V\Vw.dnr.state.wi.us/invasives/ and ipaw.org, respectively. 

FUTURE STREAM CORRIDOR RESTORATION & ENHANCEMENT 

There are several opportunities to improve the water quality and ecology of the sections 
of the Des Plaines River and Jero1ne Creek that flow through the Prairie Springs Park 
Natural Area. These restoration and enhancement opportunities would require the 
creation of advisory tea1ns made up of individuals fro1n organizations and agencies such 
as Ducks Unlimited, WDNR, FWS, ACOE, and others \Vho have the expertise to develop 
appropriate and achievable plans for this site. 

During April of2005, a biologist from Ducks Unli1nited visited the project area to 
detennine whether the property could be enhanced for waterfowl. An1ong his 
recommendations \Vas to restore some of the hydrology along Jerome Creek by re1noving 
the spoil piles and creating a 1neander to slo\V the flow of water and alJo,ving it to spill 
onto its floodplain during high \Vater events. This will improve water quality by reducing 
sediment flo\vs into th!! Des Plainl!s River and \vill reduce Ilood impacls down strl!an1. 
Restoring native vegetation along the 1neander banks will improve fish spawning and 
feeding habitat in Jerome Creek. 

Before nleander creation planning can begin, floodplain modeling is necessary to 
detennine how the change in \Vater flo\v inight affect areas upstream. SEWRPC has 
indicated that they could do the modeling, but will require a \Vritten request from the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie. For a general floodplain study there \Vould be no charge to 
the Village. After SEWRPC receives a request, it may be six inonths or longer before the 
modeling is con1pleted. lfthe Village decides to inove ahead with this request, they 
could request a floodplain study for a larger area that includes the any potential future 
projects within the floodplain. 

If floodplain modeling indicates that upstrea1n flooding could occur \Vith the ineander 
creation, there may be opportunities to restore other \Vetlands upstream to provide 
stonnwater storage areas that could reduce or eliminate potential flooding. 

Other suggestions by Ducks Unlimited could impact neighboring properties and \vould 
require cooperation by all affected landowners (see Appendix D). 

A second strean1 restoration and enhancement opportunity is to restore the stea1nbanks 
\Vhere the Des Plaines River channel \Vas moved to flo\V along the section line. It is not 
necessary to move the channel. Lo\vering the banks and restoring native vegetation will 
iinprove \vater quality and strean1 ecology. Currently, t\Vo or 1nore feet of sediment lay 
on top of the native vegetation along the banks of the Des Plaines River, fron1 the north 
property boundary to Jeron1e Creek. By recontouring the banks to a gradual slope, the 
Des Plaines River can spill over onto the floodplain during high \Vater events. This \Vill 

Page 15 of36 



elin1inate u11dercutting of the banks, thereby reducing the amount of sedin1ent deposition 
into the river. Restoring native vegetation along the banks will also provide fish 
spa\vning and feeding habitat in the Des Plaines River. 

RESEARCH OPPORTUNITIES 

VEGETATION SURVEYS ANI> POPULA1'ION MONITORING 

Vegetation surveys and plant species population 1nonitoring can be a very useful too! for 
assessing the in1pact of111anagen1ent activities. 'fwo types of vegetation surveys can be 
in1plen1ented: long-tenn sa1npling of per1nanent sai11pling quadrats along transect lines 
and detailed plant surveys. Long-tern1 sampling ofperma11ent san1pling quadrats \Vill 
help determine whether ecological 111anage1nent at the site is increasing the overall plant 
diversity and decreasing invasive plant species. Detailed vegetation surveys can be used 
to identify the locations of rare plai1t populations. Long-ter1n inonitoring of these 
populations can include docllinenting the area covered by the populations, ntunber of 
individual plants in each populatio11, and whether the populations are reproducing. The 
locations of rare plant populations should be kept confidential due to the risk of poaching. 
Protocols for pern1anent quadrat sa1npling and population n1onitoring should be 
developed so that data collection is consistent, allowing data analysis across years. 

STH.EAM 1-lABlTA 1' MONITORING 

Stream habitat n1onitoring for fish and 1nacroinvertebrate co1n1nunities can help 
deter1nine river water quality. WDNR has developed standardized protocols for strean1 
habitat sampling and can use the data collected using these protocols to detern1ine 
whether \\later quality is in1proving or declining. Baseline stream habitat n1onitoring can 
help deter1nine \Vhether future streain enhance1nent activities such as creating meanders 
in ditched strean1s and relaxing strea111 banks by re1noving accun1u!ated sedi1nents and 
restoring native vegetation does i1nprove water quality and wildlife habitat. Strean1 
habitat 1nonitoring led by trained instructors can be accon1plished as a classroom activity 
at the high school or college level. 

WILDLIFE MONITORING & SURVEYS 

Comprehensive \Vildlite surveys ca11 help determine what species are using this site 
during all or a pa1t of their lifecycle. Understanding \Vhat species use the Prairie Springs 
Park Natural Area is an iinpoitant pait of designing and imple1nenting ecological 
n1anage1ne11t and restoration activities, as well as docu1nenting the success of 
1nanage1ne11t activities. Wildlife surveys of birds, 1na1n1nals, reptiles, a1nphibians, and 
invertebrates can help fill gaps it1 existing state \Vildlife data. Many wildlife survey 
opportunities exist for the Prairie Springs Park Natural Area, especially surveys for 
Wisconsin's Species of Greatest Conservation Need (see Table 2). Examples include: 

• Wisconsin Frog & Toad Survey: The Wisconsin Frog and 'foad Survey 
(WFTS) is a citizen-based 1nonitoring program coordinated by the WDNR, in 

Page 16 of36 



cooperation with the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) and the North A1nerican 
A1nphibian Monitoring Prograin (NAAMP). The pri1nary purpose of the 
WFTS is to deter1nine the status, distribution, and long-term population trends 
of Wisconsin's thirteen frog species. The WFTS \vas initiated in 1981 in 
response to kno\Vn and suspected declines in several Wisconsin species, 
particularly northern Jeopard frogs (Rana pipiens), Blanchard's cricket frogs 
(Actis crepitans blanchardi), pickerel frogs (Rana pa!ustris), and bullfrogs 
(Rana catesbeiana). The WFTS began an11ual state\vide surveys in 1984 and 
is now one of the longest running amphibian 1nonitoring projects in North 
America. 11 

• Eastern Massasauga Rattlesnake & Blanding's Turtle Sunreys: There are 
no docun1ented surveys for the Eastern Massasauga Rattlesnake or Blanding's 
Turtle in this area. Long-term surveys will help detennine whether these 
species are present, their population size, and any ilnpact ofmanagen1ent 
activities. These surveys can be conducted by volunteer herptologists, or by 
paid professionals. 

• Bird Blitz Sunreys: Participate i11 the Chicago Wilderness Breeding Bird 
Blitz Surveys every June. Kenosha County is included in the Chicago 
Wilderness Biodiversity Recovery Plan. The Breeding Bird Blitz is a one-day 
event in n1id-June that begins at da\vn (-5:00 a.m.) until 10:00 a.m. 
Experienced volunteer birders are assigned specific survey areas within a 
larger project area and document the birds they see or hear follo\ving the 
protocols developed by Chicago Wilderness. 1'he data is collected and 
analyzed by Chicago Wilderness, \vhich then identifies trends in area bird 
populations. For 2007, the e1nphasis is on shrubland birds. During spring 
2005, Kenosha/Racine Land Trust spo11sored a Grassland Bird Blitz on this 
site and has the bird data that was collected during the blitz. 

• Hine's Emerald Dragonfly (Son1atocl1/ora /1i1iea11a) Sunrey: This dragonfly 
is listed as both federally and state endangered. It is known to exist in the 
lower Des Plaines River valley in Illinois, the Upper Peninsula of Michigan, 
and in Door County and Cedarburg Bog, Wisconsin. 12 It occupies marshes 
and sedge meadows fed by calcareous groundwater seepage and underlain by 
dolomite bedrock. The geology and habitat of Prairie Springs Park Natural 
Area could support populations of the Hine's E1nera!d Dragonfly. Surveys 
could determine \Vhether this species is present at this site. 

TRAILS 

The large expanse of the Prairie Springs Park Natural Area makes it a desirable location 
for a trail systen1. Its 1nany different native habitat types offer a great opportunity for 
public education, especially as habitat restoration \Vork begins. The challenge of 
establishing a trail system is ho\v low and \Vet much of the landscape is. To provide 

11 http:/ !inventory, wiatri.nei/fro!:,>1.0adsurvey /index.cfrn. Retrieved 4/16/07 
12 US Fish & Wildlife Service. 2001. Hine's Einera!d Dragonfly (So111atochlora hineana) Recovery Plan. 
Fort Snelling, t-.1N. 120 p. 

Page 17 of36 



public access 1vhile n1aintaining the ecological integrity of the vast \¥et!and co1nn1unities 
will require careful planning of trail routes and generous use ofboard\¥alks. 

Currently, the Village of Pleasant Prairie is planning to build a bridge across the Des 
Plaines River fro1n the Prairie Springs Park oak v-.1oods located on the west end of Park 
Drive to the River Road Manage1nent Unit. 'fhe bridge, a boardwalk, and trail, will link 
Prairie Spring Park to the Prairie Springs Jlark Natural Area, and to River Road, which 
\¥ill becon1e part of a regional trail system. The River Road cul~de~sac prairie restoration 
area is one of the drier areas on the site and good location to establish the first trail route. 
A proposed route could loop around ai1d through this prairie restoration area (F<'igure 14). 
Any extensions of this trail route to access the Jerome Creek Managen1ent Unit or the 
Frontage Road Manageme11t Unit \vould require a bridge or a board\valk, respectively. 

Page 18 of36 



Figure 1. Des Plaines River Watershed Environmental Corridors 

ILLI' 'S BORDER 

II Watershed 
L,__J Boundary 

Environmental Corridors 

._ ..... Primary 

CJ Secondary 

CJ Isolated 

Page 19 or· -



Figure 2. Project Area 
Kenosha County, T1N, R22E 

Sections 19 & 20 

Section Linea & Numbers 

2' Contour Lines 

Prai lrlo Spc1n91 Pal1c 

Pro]"tAnia 

~ TNC.ftald Conservadofl Eaumont 

• Hydrlc Solis 

I Solla With Hydric l"'luaions 

f P~rM Agtlwltur•I Solla 

Page 20 of36 



-- --~- -·'-'""'7 '··- ·'·-.> · zaa AiiUi.-, J!.,S," & J(, J I Lil$.. J . jj 

- 'Ffgu;e 3 . .- 1836.Surveyor Field Notes & Illustration for T1'~. R22E 

i:,,"'1. 
' • ·?:"!--

7'$11~ ~41- < - -~·.·. ~ .. 
: ~··· . etc -· ~ ~~i{.;.;,,.,~c;.. } 

. / ~~. 
--~~'_,,,, ~'--· ' -- ' ··_-_ ._'".-._:- -' 

Copyright Wisi:o.nsin Board ofComniissioneri;'ofPubli 
•• · .·.·. · • .. · •• .. ·• and the University of Wisconsin Board of 

· · ·• .. Page 2 
-. __ _<;,~~--~:'' "---· ; 



Figure 4. Soils & Associated Vegetation 

- Wet Alklvial Land 

Marsh to Wet Prairie 

- H()(Jghton 13] Asl(um 
- Ogden E1J Montgomety 

- Palma 0 Peua 
E"3 Sebcw~ 

Wet-Mesic Prairie 
:::::=: Ai1alan _ Navan 
it-. .:; Darroch 1-.:0:.: Martinlon 

-~-" Mundelein 

Prairie 
S)·merton 
vama 

·:! Vian.aw 

Savanna 
Bee en er Malktlam 
Dresden Mathcrton 

FcbiuJ 

Kenosha County, T1N, R22E 
Sections 19, 20. SO 
Prairie Springs Partc 

_....,._ TNC-Held ConsecvM!on EAMmlflt 

Page 22 of36 



Figure 5. 1941 Aerial Photo of the Project Area (10/28/41) 

Page 23 of 36 



Figure 6 . 

;; ... :.~ 
.--.- - -,"""4 "' ~ ~• c f\.• '( 

'h) ' . ...... 

··t 

~ ,_, .. ~ .. 
. ·. ·1· 

~~.t..ul-..=:..&!:::.:::... ..-1 - --
... 
:;, 

Plat book of Racine and Kenosha oounties. Wisconsin : inciuding plats of the villages. cities and townships of the oounties, map of the slate, 
United States and world Delavan, Wisconsjn: Hennessey and Co .• 1908. rittp:J/dlgltal.llbrary.wlsc.edu/1711 .dl/Wl.WPLAtHenCo Page 24 of 36 



Figure 7. Stream Channel Modifications in the Project Area 

Page 25 of · 



Figure 8. Wetland Mitigation & Prairie Restoration Locations 

ProjectArea 

TNC Easament 

Prairie Restoration 

Page 26of36 



Figure 9. Remaining Natural Communities in the Project Area 

Page 27 of.,"l 



Kenosha County, T1N, R22E 
Section;7. 18, 19,20,30 

Hrcttc &oh 

---.;;_.;;;.al Soila""'"'~ lnduMw 

""""'"--'--'' Prltftt Atrieulbnl Soll• 

F igure 10. The photo on the len shows dense woody 
vegetation growing on slightly higher elevations. Wet 
prairie and sedge meadow are in the foreground. The 
photo above shows the thicket crowding out the wet
mesic prairie vegetation growing this sl ightly elevated 
land. 

Page 28of36 



Figure 11. Management Units 

Page 29 or ·' 



Figure 12. Woody Vegetation Management Areas 

TNC Easement 

Woody Vegetation 
Management Areas 

Page 30 of36 



Figure 13. Major Reed Canary Grass Management Areas 

ProjectArea 

TNC Easement 

Reed Canary Gtass 
Management Areas 

Page 31 of· " 



Figure 14. Proposed Trail Route 

TNC Easement 

Proposed Trail Route 

Page 32 of36 



Table 1. Soil Series Description 

Svmbol Series Series Description Native V""etation 
AzB, ALtalan Very deep, somewhat poorly drained soils fom1ed in !oan1y outwash and in the underlying mostly clayey Prairie grasses vvith a fe\V trees. 
A2A and silty stratified lacustrine deposits on glacial lake basins and stream terraces. Permeability is 

moderate in the loamy ouhvash and n1oderately s\o\v in the stratified Jacustine deposit. Slope ranges 
from 0 to 6 nercent. 

Be A Beecher Son1ewhat poorly drained, slowly permeable soils on moraines and till plains. They forn1ed in up to J 8 Mixture of hardwood trees and 
inches of silty n1aterial and silty clay loanl or clay loam glacial till. Tl1ey are moderately deep or deep to prairie grasses. 
dense till. Slo,,,.s ran,,.. froin 0 to 6 Dercent 

B"B Boyer Very deep, \¥ell drained soils forn1ed in sandy nnd !oan1y glacial drift underlain by sand or gravelly sand The don1inant forest trees are oaks, 
outwash at depths of20 to 40 inches. The soils are on outwash plains, valley train, kan1es, beach ridges, hickories, and maples. 
river terraces, lake terraces, deltas and moraines. Penneability is 1noderately rapid in the loamy horizons 
and ve"' ranid in the sandv horizons. Slones ranve from 0 to 50 nercent. 

DoA Darroch Very deep, son1ewhat poorly drained soils that formed in silty and loan1y sedi111ents. Penneability is Prairie grasses. 
n1odernte. These soils arc on Jake plains, out-..vash plains, and till plains. Slopes range fronl 0 to 3 
nercent. 

FoB Fox Very deep, well drained soils \Vhich are moderately deep to stratified calcareous sandy outwasl1. These Hardwood forest. Co111n1on trees 
soils fanned in thin loess and in loamy al!uviuin or just in loamy alluvium overlying stratified calcareous are northern red oak, "\¥hile oak, 
sandy out,vash on outwasli plains, streain terraces, valley trains, kames, and glacial nioraines. sugar nu1ple, black cheny, and 
Permeability is n1oderate in the loamy mantle and rapid or very rapid in the outwash. Slopes range fi·on1 white ash. 
0 to 35 nercent. 

1-:lbB, Hebron Very deep, n1oderately well drained soils fanned in loan1y outwash and in the underlying 1nostly clayey Mixed hardwood forest, 1nainly of 
HeB2 and silty stratified Jacustrine deposits on glacial Jake basins and strean1 terraces. Permeability is oaks. 

moderate in the loamy out\vash and 1noderately slow in the stratified Jacustrine deposits. Slope ranges 
fro1n O to 6 percent. 
Also, at least some of the areas correlated as 1-:lebron are fanned in loa1ny outwash over clayey till. This 
includes at least some of the acreage in the Kenosha-Racine survey and possibly in t11e Milwaukee-
Waukesha, Ozaukee, and Washington surveys. These areas are outside the concept ofthe Hebron series. 
Thev need to be correlated to another (new?) series when these survevs are updated. 

Ht Houghton Very deep, very poorly drained soils formed in herbaceous organic deposits more than 51 inches thick in Primarily n1arsh grasses, sedges, 
closed depressions on Jake plains, outwasl1 plains, ground and end inoraines and on floodplains. These reeds, buttonbush, and cattails. 
soils have 1noderalely slow to moderately rapid permenbility. Slope ranges fron1 Oto 2 percent. Son1e water-tolerant trees were 

near the n1argin of the bog. 
MgA Martinton Very deep, somewhat poorly drained soils forn1ed in lacustrine sediments on nearly level and gently Prairie grass. 

s!onini> lake n!ains. Permeabilitv is 111oderate!v slow. S!ones rani•e froin 0 to 6 nercent. 
MkA Matherton Very deep, some\vhat poorly drained soils forn1ed in loamy glaciofluvia! n1aterial and gravelly or sandy Sparse hardwoods and prairie 

outwash on ouh¥ash plains, valley trains, and strean1 terraces on terrace landscapes. Per1neability is grasses. 
n1oderate in the loamy n1aterial and rapid or very rapid in the underlying n1ateria1. Slope ranges fr~n1 O 
to 6 percent. 

Page 33 of 36 



Table I continued 

Mzc Montgomery Consists of very deep, poorly drained or very poorly drained soils formed in fine-textured lacustrine Dominantly herbaceous \.vetland, 
sedin1ents. They formed dominantly on broad flats and on slight depressions of lake plains, and to a with shrubs. 
lesser extent on slack water flood-plain steps. Slopes range from 0 to l nercent. 

MzdB, Morley Very deep, 1noderately wel! drained soils formed in clay loam or silty clay loan1 till that can be capped Mixed deciduous hardv.'ood forest. 
with up to 18 inches ofloess on till plains and moraines. They are moderately deep to dense till. 
Permeability is n1oderale to slow in the soluin and very slow in the substratum. Slope ranges from 1 to 
18 nercent. 

M,fA Mundelein Very deep, somewhat poorly drained soils formed in loess or silty 111ateria! and the underlying calcareous Water-tolerant grasses and shrubs. 
stratified loan1y Wisconsinan out-.•rash on ouhvash plains and lake plains. Penneability is moderate. 
Slooe e:radients rane:e from 0 to 5 percent. 

Oo Ogden Mucky, very poorly drained soils that developed from soil remains. Clayey material is at a depth of less Water-tolerant grasses, sedges, and 
than 42 inches. These nearly level soils occur on flats and in depressions "vith Palms and Adrian soils. shrubs. 

Po Pa!n1s Very deep, very poorly drained soils fanned in herbaceous organic material 16 to 51 inches thick and the Marsh vegetation of grasses, reeds, 
underlying loamy deposits in closed depressions on moraines, lake plains, till plains, outwash plains, and and sedges; and alder, aspen, 
hillside seep areas, and on backswamps of flood plains. Permeability is moderately slow to moderately vrillow, and dogwood. 
rapid in the organic n1aterial, and moderate or 1noderately slow in the loamy material. Slope ranges from 
0 to 6 percent. 

ShB Saylesvil!e Very deep, well drained soils. They formed n1ostly in silty clay Joain lacustrine deposits v.·ith a thin silty Mixed hardwoods. 
or loamy n1antle on glacial lake basins, strea1n terraces, and slackwater areas. Permeability is moderately 
slow. Slope rani:i:es from 0 to 40 percent. 

Sm Sebewa Very deep, poorly drained or very poorly drained soils forn1ed in loamy outwash and the underlying Water-tolerant grasses and shrubs. 
gravelly and sandy outwash on outwash plains, valley trains, and stream terraces on terrace landscapes. 
They are moderately deep to the gravelly and sandy outwash. Penneability is moderate in the upper 
loainy materials and rapid or very rapid in the underlying gravelly and sandy 1naterials. Slope ranges 
from 0 to 3 nercent. 

WhB Warsaw Well drained soils formed in loan1y sedin1ents and in the underlying gravelly outwash on outwash plains, Tall prairie grasses. 
terraces, kames, and valley trains. These are very deep soils that are deep or very deep to calcareous, 
stratified gravel!y or very gravelly coarse sand and sand. Permeability is moderate in the solum and very 
rapid in the underlving material. S!ones ranPe fro1n 0 to 15 nercent. 

ZuA Zurich Very deep, moderately well drained, n1oderately permeable soils which formed in Joess or silty material Hard-.vood forest of oak, hickory 
and in the underlying calcareous, loa1ny outwash. These soils occur on outwash plains. Slope ranges and maple. 
from Oto 35 nercent. 

Source: United States Departn1ent of Agriculture Soil Conservation Service. J 970. Soil Survey: Kenosha and Racine Counties 1-Visconsin. U.S. Government Printing Office. 

Page 34 of 36 



Table 2. Wisconsin Wildlife Action Plan: Wildlife Species of Greatest Conservation Need 

Species that may use Prairie Springs Park Natural Area during part of their lifecycle: 

Common Name Scientific Name Type• Habitat Requirements Special Considerations 

Mammals Prairi9 Vole Microtus ochroaaster Sc Prairie. Grasslands. Pasture. Unknown 

Franklin's Ground Spcrmophilus frenklinii Sc Prairte, Savanna, Shrub. Unknown 
S<Julrref 

Herptlles BlandJng's Turtle Emydoidee bfandingii Thr Shallow marshes, slow moving Active Apr.-Nov.: ear1y sprfng & faJI mating, 
rivers & streams, uplands. with egg.taying in June on uplands up to 1.5 
Hibernates in mud or debris under mi from water. Sexually mature In 14-20 yrs. 
water. 

Eastern Massasauga Sistrurus catenatus End (1) open, S\lnlit intermixed with Breeds spring & fall. Live young born in late 
Rattlesnake catenatus shaded areas for thermoregulatory Aug. Maintain open and shrub habitats. 

purposes; (2) presence of the water 
table near the surface for 
hibernation: and (3) variable 
elevations between adjoining 
lowland and upland areas.1 

Blrds2 American Bittern Botaurus tentiginosus Sc Large wetland complexes with Migration begins early Apt. Egg laylng from 
adjacent upland grass cover. May to eatly Jun. Fall mlgtatlon from Sep 

through Oct. 

American Woodcock Scolopax minor Sc Forest edges next to wetlands. Migration begins Mar.-Apr. Ground-nesting, 
with egg laying in Apt.· Jun. Faa migration 
from SeP. - Oct. 

81\Je-winged Teal Anas dlscors Sc Wetlands, shallow marshes. creeks, Migration begins mid-Apr Egg laying from 
sloughs, & riv9rs. mid-Apr to mid-Jul. Fall migration begins 

mld-Aoo throuqh Ool 
Klng Rail Rallus elegans Sc Marshes. Migration begins late Apr to early May. Egg 

laying from mid·May to early July. Fall 
miQratlon from mld·AUQ throuqh Sep. 

Short·eared Owl Asio flammeus Sc Grasslands. Meadow voles are its Migration begll'\S mid·Mar to earty May. Nest 
main piey. on ground In grassy vegetation. Egg laying 

late Apr to early May. Fall migration from Oct 
throuClh Nov. 

Pap,,. 35 of36 



I 

Table 2 continued 

• 

' 

Willow Flycatcher 

Bobolink 

Brown Thrasher 

Eastern Meadow 
Lark 

Northern Harrier 

i Marbled Godwit 

Buff Breasted 
Sandoioer 

Bell's Vireo 

Field Sparrow 

Henslow's Sparrow 

I rncksissel 

End = Endangered 
Thr =Threatened 
Sc= Species of Concern 

Empidonax traif/ii 

Do/ichonyx oryzivorus · Sc 

Toxostoma rufum Sc 

Sturne/fa magna Sc 

Circus cyaneus Sc 

Limosa fedoa Sc 

Tryngites subruficol!is Sc 

Vireo bel/fi Thr 

Spizel/a pusif/a Sc 

Ammodramus hens/owii Thr 

Spiza americana Sc 

Prefers lowland shrubby habitat for Migration from mid-May to early Jun. Egg 
breeding. laying in Jun. Fall migration from Aug to mid-

Seo. 

Large, open grasslands, with Migration begins late Apr- May. Egg laying 
somewhat dense vegetation, May- Jun. Fall migration from late Jul - early 
pastures, old-fields, and alfalfa Sep. 

. fields. 

Shrubby hedgerows, upland forest Migration begins Apr-May. Nests in dense 
shrubs. Egg laying from May-Aug. Fall 
miaration Seo-Oct 

Grasslands, pasture, old-fields, Migration begin Feb through Mar. Egg laying 
hayfields mid-May to early Jul. Usually has two 

broods. Fall migration from mid-Sep to early 
Nov. 

Grasslands and marshes. Long migration period from late Feb-May. 
Ground-nesting, with egg laying beginning in 
late Aor. Fall miaration mid Aua-mid Nov. 

Ephemera! mudflats and shallow -
flooded fields 

Ephemeral mudflats and shallow -
flooded fields 

Grasslands, shrub carr, upland Migration begins May-Jun. Nests in shrubby 
woods. areas, with egg laying late May to Jul. Fall 

miaration Aua-Seo. 

Grassland, shrub carr, shrubby Migration is in Apr. Nests in grasses or low in 
areas, forest edges shrub, with egg laying in May. Fall migration 

from Sen-Oct. 

Grasslands, sedge meadows Migration begins Apr-May. Egg laying is from 
!ate May to mid Jul. Fall migration begins mid 
Auq-mid Oct. 

Grasslands, fallow fields, savannas. Migration begins May-Jun. Egg laying from 
late May-early Aug. Fall migration from late 
Jul-late Aua. 

Syzmanski, J. 1998. Status Assessment of the Eastern Massasauga (Sistrurus c. cantenatus). U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service. 
Habit requirements and special considerations for bird species are taken from Cutright, N., BR Harriman, and RW Howe. 2006. Atlas of the Breeding Birds of 
Wisconsin. Wisconsin Society for Ornithology. Waukasha, WL 

Page 36 of 36 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 
Invasive Plants Assocla11on of Wisconsin 

Buckthorn Identification & Control 

European buckthom is a troublesome exotic invasive that spreads readily 
through woods and savannas. It is a major threat to Wisconsin's ecosystems. 

Invasion of a pine f0toest by lxicfdhom. Such '2 dcnso 
cover nxluces fight to the foresl floor. thus effectively 
eNmlneting native vegelstion. 

Characteristics 
Common buckthom (Rhamnus calhartlca) and its retative glossy buckthom 

(Rhamnus frangula) are serious invaders of Wisconsin's wooded areas. They also 
commonly invade hedge rows of open fields, from which they may gradually spread 
throughout a whole field. Both common and glossy buckthom are small trees or shrubs 
that can reach a height of 20-25 feel Bucklhorn most often grows as a shrub, where it 
may send out several shoots. 

The outer bark is dark gray or brown, and when 
cut the inner bark is brown, red, or orange. 

Buckthom has separate male and female plants; 
the latter are often easy to recognrze because they 
produce copious amounts of deep purple berries. It is 
especially important to remove the berT}'-producing 
plants, because they will otherwise be a constant source 
of infection for the area. 

Status 
Buckthom is of Eurasian origin and was 

introduced in North America as an ornamental. It was 
planted for hedge rows in V\Asconsin as early as 1849. 
Despite its insidious nature, it is still legally sold in the 
state as an ornamental. It has become naturalized and 

Chsracterisllc 018119e inner b8r1< 
of buckthom. ·scratching the 
surface• is a good way of 
ensuring that one has 8 
buckthom planL 

has spread over most of the southern and eastern parts of the state. Buckthorn is an 
especially troublesome invader of natural oak savanna and oak woodland areas of 
southwestern Wisconsin. 

1 
.Appe ndix A 

Page 1 

http://IPAW.org 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 
Invasive Plants Associ<Jtion of Wisoonsln 

Many bird species relish buckthorn berries. However, the berries contain a 
chemical which acts as a laxative (hence the species 
name cathartica). The defecation by the blr9s insures 
the spread of the seeds through the habitat. Since 
female trees may produce abundant fruit, w ithin a few 
years there can be thousands of buokthorn seedlings in 
the area of a mature tree. Buckthom seeds are able to 
remain alive in the soil for years, and new seedlings will 
continue to appear for years after the plants have been 
removed from an area. 

Buckthorn threats 

• Destroys wildlife habitat 

• Replaces native vegetation 

• Forms an impenetrable understory layer 

Lc~vos OM1 ffl.lil of common 
buclcthom, Rhtlmnvs c.otMrtico. 

• Causes long-term decline of a forest by preventing the growth of native 
ttee seedlings 

Control 

Ear1y identification, before seed production has started, is vital. Small buckthom 
seedlings can be readily rem<>ved by hand, or with the use of a '\veed wrench." Although 
effective, mechanical removal disturbs the soil and encourages reinfestation or 
colonization of other vleeds so that loose soil should be tamped down to make a firm 
surface. 

Fire 

Controlled bums will usually top-kill seedings or small buckthom trees, but does 
not eradicate them. In order to control buckthorn by controlled burning, it is essential that 
fire be continued annually until native (fire-resistant) vegetation has become established. 
Use of fire is best reserved for fire-<1ependent ecosystems such as prairies or oak 
savannas. 

Herbicides 

There are several herbicides that are very effective in control of bucicthorn. One 
of the most effective Is triclopyr (Garton; Dow Agrochemical). When using an herbicide, it 
is essential that the label on the package be read completely before use. 

Basal bark treatment 

An effective way to control buckthom is by the use of basal bark treatment with 
Garlon in oil. Treatment is best done in the late fall or winter when native vegetation has 
died back and will not be affec1ed. Because buckthorn plants retain their leaves long 
after native vegetation has lost its leaves, they are readily recognized n the late fall A 
concentration of 12-15% triclopyr (active ingredient) in diesel fuel or kerosene is 
recommended by the manufacturer. Use the herbicide in a backpack sprayer with a 
nozzle that produces a solid cone or flat fan spray. Spray the lower part of the trunk in 
such a manner that it becomes thoroughly wet. inciuding the root collar, but not to the 

2 
Appendix A 

Page2 

http://lPAW.org 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 
Invasive Plants Association of Wisconsin 

point of runoff. Each stem of the plant must be treated. Properly done, this basal bark 
treatment is extremely effective and the plant will not leaf out the following growing 
season. Once dead, the plant can be cut and removed, or allowed to stand to rot. 

Cutting followed by herbicide treatment of the cut stumps 

Another very effective way of eradicating buckthorn is to cut the plant just above 
the ground level and treat the cut stump 
with triclopyr. 

The same concentration of 
triclopyr should be used as for basal bark 
treatment, but only the cut stump should 
be treated. !tis useful to include a blue or 
red dye in the herbicide mixture so that 
the cut stump treatment can be monitored. 
A backpack sprayer or spray bottle can be 

It should be emphasized that cutting 
buckthorn without treating the cut 
stumps is ill advised, because cut 
plants will resprout heavily from the 
roots, leading to a worse situation than 
if the plant had not been cut at all. 

used. Be sure that the stump is thoroughly wetted with herbicide. This procedure is 
economical of herbicide and confines the chemical to the stump itself, but is more labor
intenslve than basal bark treatment. However, it has the advantage that the buckthorn 
plants themselves are being removed from the habitat. 

Although the cut stump procedure can be used at any time of the year, the fall or 
winter is preferable because nontarget plants are not affected. Also, this procedure is 
effective with plants of any size, even large ones. Place all the cut material in a pile for 
subsequent burning. 

Basal bark or cut stump? 

Bark treatment is best in large infected areas, whereas cutting and treating the 
cut stumps is best in relatively small areas, or in areas of high Interest. 

3 
Appendix A 

Page 3 

http:f/IPAW.org 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 
Invasive Pion ts A$Sod~tion of W1scon8'n 

Honeysuckle Identification and Control 

Honeysuck le (species of Lonicera) is a nonnative plant that is a major 
threat to Wisconsin's woodl:inds. 

There are several species of honeysuckle that cause probaems in Wisconsin 
natural areas, but there is no reason to classify them since they are all nonnative and 
they are all bad. The native honeysuckles In our area can easily be distinguished from 
the bad ones because the natives are all woody vines rather than bushes. 

Bush honeysuckles are upright shrubs ranging from a few feet to 15 feet tall. 
They form many branches from the base, and the spreading branches shade other 
plants. In a honeysuckle "thicker, almost nothing will be found under the canopy. (After 

An flFCfl ~vily i1ifcs1ed witli hoJ~':ruc.k.lt:s. /11 
wch areaf, tit~ may IN- dor-011.s of llfch bNJf>res 
co1~rir1g iM 1to1rrrol arta. 'nte sl.-atk lltey 
prodNCtt is so hNvy thot 11(1/il~ferbs or.ti 

gr<1ss~s art! unable to fltJUri111. 

the honeysuckle is removed, the soil is often 
bare.) Honeysuckles form fragrant tubular 
flowers, followed later by red fn.Jits . Bi rds are 
attracted to the fruits and spread the seeds. 
Bush honeysuckles have a wide tolerance, but 
they prefer partial to full sunlight and are most 
commonly found in abandoned fields, forest 
edges, roadsides, and other open upland 
habitats. They are extremely invasive and can 
easlty take over and dominate a habitat. 

Honeysuckle is one of the plants that 
w lll invade a habitat if it is protected from fire. 
Onoe honeysuckles have conquered a habitat, 
there Is no possibility of fire because there is no 

fuel. The ground under a honeysuckle patch is often completely bare. In order to 
reintroduoe fire. it is essential first to eliminate the honeysuckles and then reseed with 
native plants, preferably seed mixtures contain ing grasses such as Indian grass or 
bluestem that will carry a fire. 

Control of honeysuckle 
Both mechanical and chemical methods must be 

used together on honeysuckle. The most assured method is 
to cut all the stems of a ptant and treat each cut stump w ith a 
20% solution of glyphosate. The concentration given here is 
peroent of the active ingredient. Concentrated g lyphosate. 
such as Roundup Ultra, is around 40% out of the bottle, so 
that a 20% solution can be made by mixing equal parts of 
glyphosate and water. (Some sources recommend lower 
concentrations of glyphosate, but with the higher 
conoentration resprouts are less likely to ocour.) 

Honeysuckle can be cut with either a brush cutter or 
a hand lopper. The hand lopper wor1<s well and is suitable in 

Clo.sc ttpofhom>"Stdlc 
/T<MCT$. /11 $0rrllii!1'11 

IV"1SCQ11SiJ1, flowering occurs 
i11 latt: Ap.-il"" t.'lrrly .Way. 

volunteer w0tk parties, because each volunteer can participate In cutting. tf a stem is too 
large to cut with a lopper, a handsaw can be used . With a brush cutter, it is important 

' Appendix A 
Page4 

hUp:/11 PAW.org 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 
Invasive Plants Association ofWisoonsin 

that the cutting bJade be sharp. With a dull blade, the cut stems are often shredded and 
splintered. making them harder to treat with herbicide. For the largest stems, a chain 
saw may be necessary. No matter which cutting method is used, it is essential that the 
stumps be cut sharp and straight across. so that the cut stumps can be treated with 
herbicide (as described betow). 

Here is a procedure guaranteed to work: 

• Cut each stem with a hand lopper or 
handsaw, counting the stems as you cut. 

• Cut the stems as close to the ground as 
possible, but still leave a small amount of 
stem showing above the soil layer. 

• Pull all CtJt stems away from the base. 
Now treat each cut stump carefully with 
the glyphosate mixttire. It Is strongly 
recommended that a red or blue dye be 
added to the herbicide mixture, so that 
treated stumps can be distinguished from 
untreated ones. (Dyes StJitable for 
herbicide use can be obtained from an 
agricultural chemical supply company.) 

Tha tools of the honeysuckla 
tr&de. Hand loppers. a spray 
botlfo contttinlng 20% gfypho.$tltc 
end a red dye, and pet$1Stence. 

• As you treat, count each stump again, and do not stop treating until you 
have treated every stump you have cut. 

• tf a spray bottle is used. do not spray the whole base, since this wastes 
herbicide and spreads it around. Instead, place the tip of the spray bottle 
onto each cut stump, press gently to bring up several drops of solution. 
and spread them around the cut stump with the tip of the bottle. 

• The whole cut stump should be covered with the dye/herbicide mixture. 

With practice, this prooedure works quite well and the honeyStJckJe plants should 

~ .• ... : 
Honeysuckle cut stumps treated with 
gfyphosate. The red dye {blue will also 
W<>llc) ensures that all stumps have 
been treated. Count the stumps es 
th~y are cut. end again as they are 
treated. 

not resprout. Note that with this procedure, the 
herbicide is confined only to the cut stumps and is 
not spread around the environment 

Research has shown that in southern 
'Msconsin honeysuckle can be cut at any time of 
the year. Winter is an excellent time to cut. and 
glyphosate works quite well then. 

Honeysuckle is very persistent, and will 
resprout readily if not treated with herbicide. Please 
note: There is no point in cutting honeysuckles 
if they are not going to be treated with 
herbicide. 

We do not recommend hand pulling, as 
some authorities do, because it disturbs the soil 
and opens it up for establishment of weeds. 

After the honeysuckles have been taken 
care of, the area shot1ld be reseeded with native species. This ls especially important 

2 
Appendix A 

Pages 

http://IPAW.org 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 
Invasive PIMI$ Association or Wsoonsln 

because when tfle honeysuckles are removed a "hole'" has been created, Into wtich 
weeds w ill readily move. In fact, if the honeysuckles were a lmost solid, tt might be 
preferable not to remove them all at once, but to gradually 
cut them back, seeding with native species as you go. It may 
take several years to eliminate tfle honeysuckles in this way, 
but this may be preferable to creating a habitat full of weeds. 

Once honeysuckles have been eliminated from a 
natural habitat, they can usually be kept out by controlled 
burning. Remember, there will be a seed bank, so that small 
honeysuckles will appear next year. If the habitat is not 
burned, these small honeysuckJes \WI grow big and you wi ll 
have the same problem again. Once established, native 
grasses w ill carry a fire and help keep the honeysuck1e 
seedlings in check. 

This honeysuckfe bush was cut 
and the cut stumps were not 
tn18tod WJ1h hcrb.icido. 
Resproutfng has re-suited in a 
largo numbCJ' of stems. 

Please note: Eradication of honeysuckle should not begin until an approved 
burn plan has been developed. For the first few years after removal of honeysuckle 
from an area, annual burning ts recommended, so that the new seedlings are destroyed. 

3 
Appendix A 

Page6 

h11,p://IPAW.org 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 

REED CANARY GRASS (RCG) Phalaris arundinacea 

Reed canary grass is a very iinportant invasive plant in Wisconsin and nearby states, and 
its eradication is especially difficult. It ranked #I in importance in IPA W's survey of 
invasive plants. 
Reproduction and Basic Ecology 
Reed canarygrass (Phalaris arundinacea - RCG) is a perennial, cool-season, rhizomatous 
plant in the grass family (Poaceae I Gran1ineae) that gro\vs successfu!ly in northern 
latitudes. Its creeping rhizoines often forin a thick sod layer which can exclude all other 
plants. Its upright stems grow to 2 1neters tall from the rhizomes, and its flat leaf blades 
measure up to 0.5 m long by 2 c1n. RCG has open sheaths, hollow stems, small clasping 
auricles and membranous ligules. Reed canary grass can gro\v on dry soils in upland 
habitats and in the partial shade of oak woodlands, but does best on fertile, moist organic 
soils in full sun. It is a major problem in natural \'fetlands, including marshes, \Vet 
prairies, sedge 1neado\'fS, fens, stream banks, and seasonally \Vet areas. It also gro\VS in 
disturbed areas such as bergs and spoil piles. These stands exclude and displace desirable 
native plants. Areas invaded by reed canarygrass 1nay be of little use to wildlife 
(Hoffman & Kearns, 1997). Huinandisturbance and alteration of water levels encourage 
reed canarygrass invasion. 
RCG can reproduce vegetatively by its rhizomes and rhizome fragments, as \'fell as 
sexually by its abundantly produced seed. Although each inflorescence can produce 
approxllnately 600 seeds, it probably has a low successful establishment rate fro1n seeds, 
especially within dense infestations. Most plants and recurring populations ofRCG 
develop from rhizomes. RCG seeds can be dispersed in anllnal fur, on human clothing or 
on auto1nobiles. The 1nost co1n1non vector for RCG seeds and rhizo1ne fragments 
however, is probably dispersal by water. RCG seeds have a relatively low rate of 
gennination, and do not germll1ate in dense shade. Seedlings are susceptible to prolonged 
flooding, prolonged drought, and do rot appear to be highly competitive with perennial 
native species. Established populations can survive prolonged drought and can survive 
over one year of flooding, especially if parts of the plant are not submerged. 

Prevention 
Prevention of new invasions is the inost efficient and cost effective method of invasive 
species management and control, and the prevention of new RCG infestations are no 
exception to this rule. Recent research completed in Wiscoiisin and Minnesota have 
shown that when levels of available soil nutrients (such as nitrogen) are reduced via 
carbon enrichment, a native sedge, Carex l1ystericina, is able to con1petitively suppress 
the grovvth of RCG. Sustaining a mosaic of nlicrotopographies (by preventing sediment 
accun1ulation) facilitates native species richness, and maintaining complex herbaceous 
canopies also work to prevent RCG infestation, since RCG seed germination is dependent 
on a1nounts of light penetration. 

Manual & Mechanical Control Methods; 

Digging 
Isolated plants or sinall patches ofRCG can successfully be removed by digging out and 
removing the entire root mass. Removal is easiest when the soi I is moist. Be sure to 

Appendix A 
Page 7 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 

ren1ove all rhizo1nes and roots, as small rhizo1ne frag1nents can rcsprout. Properly dispose 
of plant 1naterial, since rhizo1nes and stems can develop new roots if inundated, or if kept 
in contact with n1oist ground. Be sure to fOllow-up to catch any resprouted stems. 
Mo,ving/Cutting 
Mowing or cutting (using a 111ower, bn1sh cutter, weed eater, tractor-drawn 1no\ver, 
machete, etc.) by itself will not kill RCG. ln fact, ifRCG is 1nowed only once or twice 
per year, it actually stimulates additional stein production. Continued inowing (5x or 
inore per year) for 5 to 10 years is repo1ted as successful in controlling RCG, but this has 
not been demonstrated on a large scale. 
Mowing can be used in co1nbi11ation \¥ith another control 1nethod, such as a subsequent 
herbicide application, for good control. Additionally, n1owing prior to or at tl1e onset of 
flo\veri11g can eliminate seed set for that year. So, you cm1 choose to 1now RCG fOr 
several years to eli1ninate the seed bank, and then a final mow followed by herbicide 
application to eli1ninate mature RCG. Mowing can also facilitate the installation of shade 
cloth, or be used as a pre-treatn1ent for tillage, since it will ren1ove or break up the t11ick 
layer of dead litter. 
Tillage/Cultivation 
The use of large tillage inachinery can successfully elin1inate RCG if co1nbined with a 
proper flooding regitne. This 1netl1od, however, requires the use of large, expensive 
equipn1ent, and requires the ability to 1nanipulate water levels. Additionally, use of tillage 
to tnanage RCG assu1nes that you have no species or communities of conce111 that you 
are trying to preserve at the site. lfyou are Y..1orking in a sensitive area or in a relatively 
intact native systen1, this may not be a viable option. The purchase of the large tillage 
equipment (48-i11ch tillage plates and tractor) can be prohibitively expensive, but it tnay 
be available locally for rental or borro\¥ing.· 

To eli1ninate large, dense RCG infestations using tillage+ flooding, you should till 
through the RCG sod layer as soon as it is possible in the field season (usually, as soon as 
it is dry enough). The initial tillage may require several passes of the equipn1ent, si11ce the 
RCG sod layer 1nay be thick and tough. I.et the exposed sten1s and rhizomes dry-out. You 
will need to till several tin1es during the fieldseason to break-up and dry all rhizome 
fragments (until you have nothing left but broken-up clods of soil). l'inally, when the 
winter flooding begins, close floodgates and keep the entire area inundated at least 18 
inches deep througl1 late spring (late May-June) the following year. T'his co1nbination of 
1nethods \Vil! eliminate large infestations ofRCG, but follow-up (i.e. spot terbicide 
treatn1ent with a backpack sprayer) will still be required for several years, since some 
RCG plants will survive or will reinvade the site. Active restoration will be necessary if a 
remnant seed bmtic does not exist. 
Flooding without tillage 
Controlling the hydrology of the site to lengthe11 the tiine an area spends totally 
submerged 1nay be a viable control strategy if you ha\1e control over the hydroperiod of 
your site. 

Prescribed Fire 

Burning generally does not kill 1nature RCG, and si1nilar to occasional 1nowing, actually 
appears to stimulate additional stem production unless the fire burns through the entire 

Appendix A 
Page 8 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 

RCG sod layer down to the mineral soil (which in tum, 1nay create other proble1ns). In 
1nost cases, RCG re1nains green long into the season, and so does not bum very hot. 
I-lerbicide treatment prior to burning can facilitate a prescribed fTre, especially outside of 
typical "fire seasons." Prescribed fire can hov-/ever, be used as a pretreat1nent to tillage, 
shade cloth, or prior to herbicide application for good results, since the fire 
will remove the aboveground dead litter and standing vegetation. Burning for several 
years in a row is generally not possible because of lack of fine fuels after the first-year 
bum. 

Solarization, Shade Cloth, & Mulching 

Solarization (essentially baking under clear or black plastic) or the use of a thick woven 
geotextile shade cloth can be used to eliminate RCG. In dense areas of patchy RCG 
growth, this method can provide specific, targeted control . In areas \Vhere RCG is 
inixed-in with desirable species, the kill of those desirable species may or may not be an 
option. Also, the use of certain materials for this method depends on your overall 
1nanagement goals. Excellent control ofRCG can also be accomplished by using a thick 
woven plastic fabric (Mirafi(r) or Amoco(r) brands), held in place by 7-inch gutter spikes 
and washers and duck-bill tree anchors. The fabric is kept in place for over one year (over 
an entire growing season), even under inundation. This method will kill all plants under 
the cloth. Revegetation or reseeding is generally necessary \Vith this method. 
Shade cloth is initially expensive (approximately $400 per 12 ft x 350 ft roll), but can be 
reused several times, and this method does not require follo\v-up visits during treatment. 
Mowing prior to the installation of shade cloths greatly facilitates instaUation. Small 
patches can likely be treated using black plastic bags, if they are kept in place for the 
entire duration, the edges are tacked-down firmly, and the bags do not shred. 

Grazing 
Grazing may be effective means for controlling reed canarygrass but the palatability of 
RCG is questionable--the genus Phalaris is notoriously unpalatable and an 
illness associated \Vith the affects of consumption is called 'Phalaris staggers' (Marten et 
al., 1976). Cattle prefer RCG when stems and leaves are young and succulent, but do not 
prefer it once stems become old and tough. Goats and_ sheep will graze on RCG. Grazing 
can be co1nbined with another treattnent n1ethod (followed by tillage, herbicide, shade 
cloth), for good control. Grazing can also be inappropriate in wetland settings 
(Hutchison, 1992). 

Biological Control 
There are no kno\vn biological control agents for RCG. 

Chemical Control Methods 
RCG can be successfully controlled by the proper use of herbicide. S1naU stands or 
clu1nps ofRCG can be effectively killed with one application, but large infestations will 
likely require applications over several years to be effective. Since RCG frequently gro\Vs 
in wet areas, only herbicides approved for aquatic habitats are allowed in 111any 
situations. As with all herbicide use, be sure to read and follo\Y all label instructions and 

Appendix A 
Page 9 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 

to abide by all state regulations. Glyphosate (Rodeo®, Aqua1naster®, or Glypro® an1ong 
others) applied in a 2% solution (l.08o/u active ingredient (a.i.)) with a nonionic surf3ctant 
\'forks well to kill RCG. Glyphosate (Rodeo) is a non-selective herbicide that kills or 
injures nearly all plant species. Glyphosate is also available in 1nany other fom1ulations 
(e.g. RoundUp®). 'fhese \Vork well to kill RCG, but are not labeled for aquatic use, so be 
aware of the areas where you plan on applying herbicide. Sethoxydhn (V3ntage®) is a 
grasswspecific herbicide that has been used to kill RCG with so1ne success, but it is also 
not labeled for aquatic use. Depending on the size and distribution of your infestation, the 
herbicide can be foliar-applied using a dripless wick applicator, backpack sprayer, or 
boom sprayer. Herbicide should be applied to foliage during the growing season. 
Applicatio11 can occur in n1id-sum1ner Oust prior to su1n1nertilne dormancy) or preferably 
in !ate fall Oust prior to fi·ost and \Vinterti1ne dieback). It is recon11nended to apply 
herbicide at these tilnes, since it is speculated that these are the times of year when RCG 
is most actively translocating carbohydrates (along \Vith the herbicide) down into the root 
system. You may also con1bine an herbicide trcatlnent with another control treatment for 
good results. First, eliininate the aboveground dead litter by 1nowing or burning, then 
allo\v the RCG sten1s and leaves to regro\V to boot height This helps obtain better 
herbicide coverage and reduce total herbicide use, since you are spraying only living 
green RCG that is 12" tall vs. 6' tall sten1s inixed with old dead leaves. Follow.up 
monitoring and treatment is necessary tOr several years to ensure complete kill. 

Restoration/Com pc ti tio n 
Planting fast-growing shrubs or trees 1nay eventually eliminate RCG since it is intolerant 
of year-round shade, but depe11ding on your management goals and objectives, this 1nay 
not be a viable option. 

Best Management Practice Recommendation 
The best 1nanagement approach to use will depend on your overall 1nanage1nent goals 
and objectives, the size, distribution and location of your RCG infestation(s), your 
capability and willingness to use herbicides (or not), and your available resources (staff 
and volunteer thne, money, equiptnent, etc). Tl1e following recommendations are not 
necessarily the best n1anage1nent 1nethods for every situation, 1nr are they presented in an 
order of preference. The n1etl1ods listed below have however, been used \Vith son1e 
success. Also, every 1nethod will require follow.up monitoring and treatlnent (including 
replanting native species if necessary) to ensure the long-ter1n success of your treatments. 
Scattered individual plants or sn1all patches in l1calthy native vegetation 
l. Dig out using a shovel 
2. Spotwspray or wick vvith herbicide 
3. Spot lla111e with a propane torch (only works for seedlings or young individuals) 
Distinct patches ofRCG \Vithin a matrix of native vegetation 
1. Dig out using a shovel (depends on size) 
2. Cover with shade cloth (1nay be preceded by n1owing) 
3. Mow (to elin1inate seeds), then spot~spray or wick with herbicide 
4. Spot-spray or \Vick with herbicide 
Large patches (up to several acres) ofRCG lvith scattered native vegetation 

Appendix A 
Page 10 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 

(Which method you choose \Viii depend on ho\V much you want to keep your native 
vegetation) 
1. Mo\V then cover with shade cloth 
2. Mo\v then herbicide (wick, spot-spray or boom) 
3. Herbicide usi.ng appropriate application technique 
4. Spot-bum then spot-spray regro\\1h 
5. Cover \Vith shade cloth (may be preceded by a mow treatment) 
Large (hundreds of acres) monocultures ofRCG 
1. Mow using large mower. herbicide spray using boom sprayer 
2. Prescribed bum, then herbicide spray using boom sprayer 
3. 1'illage and flooding 

Sun11narized belo\V are references to papers providing 1nore detail. 

Mandy Tu, Ph.D., works with the Invasive Species Intiative of The Nature Conservancy, 
Oregon Chapter. 

1-ler PowerPoint presentation chronicles the con1parison of various control efforts in 
Oregon. (5.4 MB) Do\\1nload now. 

For a quick look at the results of the study, here's a single l>owerPoint slide (53 KB): 
Download now. 

The following is the now published paper discussing the study: Controlling Phalaris in 
thePNW 
Authored By: Mandy Tu, The Nature Conservancy's Wildland Invasive Species Teain 

The report by Galatowisch and Reinhart (UMn) on best 1nanagement practices for reed 
canary grass can now be downloaded/printed from the U.S. Shorebird Conservation Plan 
\\

1ebsite at:_http://shorebirdplan.fws.gov/USShorebird/ManageinentReports.htm 

Appendix A 
Page 11 



Treatment Effect Should use\ppendix dokta.Ne Species 

Burning 

Excavation 

Tree/shrub 
planting 

Grazing 

Mowing & 
harvesting 
(haying) 

Mowing 
without 
harv~sting 

Herbicide: 
glyphosate 

Herbicide: 
gras.s
specific (i.e. 
setboxydim 
or ftuazifop) 

Tillage 

Altering 
hydrology 

-Mulching I 
solari:zation 
with plastic 
or fabric 

• Removes biomG.SS and litter; 
might kill seeds on soil 
• Reduces avail:i.ble N over 
multiple bums (N volatlliied) 
• Seed bmk released, both 
dcsirablc/undesi~ble sp«ies 
• Stimul11es dormant buds of 
R.CG, rhb:omes re-sprout 
• CM jumpst:an growing 
season b)' wacmin soil 

• RemO\'CS rhiiomes and seed 
bank 
• Removes sediment a.nd 
nutrients 
· Alters hydroloSY 

• Wben woody species overtop 
RCG. sba.de slows ics SJ'Owth 
• May change plant co1nn,unity 
• Adds structure to habitat 

• Reduces bi<>mass in sprina 
• CaUS<:s djsturba.noe 
· Allows scedlins 
esca.blishment (good/bad) 
• Adds nultients to S)'Stcm 

• Rcmo\ICS biomG.SS and 
nutrients th:it :Ui! accumulated 
in biomass 
• Directly dam.igc:s RCG 
• Similar effecr.s to fire 
(promotes seed eslabli$hment, 
stimulates plant gro,~1h by 
increasing light) 

• Reduces plant heiaht 
• lllCrc:IScs light-promotes 
competition 
• Depletes rbiz.omc rc:scl"'t$ 
• Creates dry biom3M for fire 

• Reduces plant heig.hc 
• Jnerea.se.s Hght--prom04cs 
C001pe1ition 
• Depletes rhizome reserves 
• Creates dry biomass for fire 

• Suppresses growth of mOSt 

perennial a:r:isses 
• Rcl~s native plant 
community (except for 
grasses) 

• exposes rhizomes to light; 
mighl ~ctivate dormant buds 
• Slices rftizomcs 
• ~n conttibute lO erosion 

• To reduce RCG in late 
spring after RCG is active 
but before nath'CS break 
dormancy 
• To foroc RCG to ro
sprout and use reserves 
from rhizomes 
• Use in combina1ion with 
ottier praeciees 

• Where matcriill c.'.ln be 
pushed to fill drainage 
ditches or wftere it can 
be moved off site; where 
deeper water is desired 
• Ou.ring winter, to reduce 
soil compaction 
• During s11mmer '~en 
wet sites arc dr)' 

• Where herbaoeous 
vegetation e:innot g.ain a 
compctith·c advo.ntage 

• In hight)' disturt>cd sites 
to reduce RCC biomass 
•In fa ll, :af\er I\ pre$cribcd 
oorn (RCG ttgro\\1h more 
pal3table} 

• To reduoe biomass before 
herbicide treatment 
• To remove P from site 
• Si:fore seed heads appe:ir 
(boot to late boot)• 
• To prepare for Rx fire 
• To prepare for herbicide 
O\pplieation 

• To prepare for Rx fire 
· To prepare fo r hert>icide 
:'lpplac~tiM 

· To stress RCG 
• When hm·csting 
equipmooc is not avaiJable 

• On sites without nacivt 
plants prior co rcscedin1. 
• To dry out RCG in order 
to bwn 
• In late summer for 
maximum translocalion to 
root$ 

• On sites with desirable. 
native, non-grass species 
• When a~th·c ifOwth 
resumes l\fter buming/ 
mowing, when RCG is 
6· 12'" t.all 

• To prepare site for 
herbicide oy m<lk1n,g more 
rhizome buds responsive co 
cltt:mieal control 
• On monotypic, damaged 
sites to prepare for crop 
production 

•Prolong/increase water levels • If new wacer depth is> 
· Prevents RCG seed 12" 
gennination 
• Kills RCG mil.omcs 

• NoD-sclcctive treatment; 
$hades out aJI plants 
• Kills adult plants 
• Kills RCG rhizomes 

• If high waler can be 
mO\intained through Ifie 
growing season. 

• For small, isolated RCG 
clones 
• For 1-3 coos~utivc ycars 
• On patches with high 
edae:.area r:u.io, to ftieilitate 
ree<>lonization by soil 
fauna 

• To remove thatch prior 
to a planting/seeding of 
desirable natives 
• To remove thatch and 
prompt earl>• spring 
sprouting of RCG, which 
can then be treated with 
glyphosate or selhoxyd im 

• To remove alluvium 
over native wetland soils 

• In an area wbere 
landsc:lpe is receiving 
RCG seed inputs 
• Where inflows can•t be 
diverted 
• To connect existing 
wood)' patches 

• To reduce biomiw ;ind 
hcigJ!t before hert>i(1de 
treatment 
• To ~uce seed 
production 
• Lig.h1Jy. to SlJSlain 
diversity 

• As a su~t1tute for fire 
I (though noc qui~ the 

same) 
• To change nrc beha,•ior 

• To elunge fire behavior 

• For treating clones 
"ithfo areas of desirable 
natives 
•As an initial ba-bicide 
treattnenl on monot)'pic 
stands of RCO 
• Where RCG heig.hl 
procludes use of other 
herbicides 
• In early spring or lace 
fill, '~hen RCG ls live, 
bul othei plants donnant 
• On w~ .sites. use 
Rodeo• 

• Following other 
herbicide rreatments to 
conltol residual or re
erncrg.ing RCG 

• To prepare a seedbed 
• To reduce RCG seed 
bW< 

• To promote the growth 
of cmergenc plants such 
as native cattail, burr-recd 
and bulrush species 

· To facilitate seeding or 
plantins of natives 

Jd not use 
• In fall to oontrol RCG in short 
cenn, be~use RCG benefits from 
high Light conditions that follow fire 
• Lo earl)' spring in mixed vese1a1ion 
Siles. because R.CG arowth will 
be encouraged by inCTe~d light, 
unless )'Ou pl:in to combine with 
another treatment 
• On organic Siles when \ 'crf dry 

• J f there is no soil dir.pos.al site. 
• Jfeornpacciorl is an issue 
• Jfyo..1 don·t wMt a dcc~water 
marsh. 
• l f Ill ere i.$ a high-quali ty remnant 
plant oo:nmunit)' in area 

• Where manogement goal is to 
mainUtio giasslMd habitat 

• During wet conditions in sprins 
whet"e trampling and compaction 
can damage a site 
• On high qu;ility sites 

• Where tussocks and 
miorotopoguph)' will be damaged 
• If gra.~s.huid bird habitat will be 
ime:-ctecL 
• When site is coo wet for 
equipment 

• Where tussocks and 
microtopography will be darna,ged 
• If gtassland bird habitat will be 
impacted. 
• When sice is too wet for 
equipment 

• On .sites with desirable native 
p~nts a:ctively growing 
• Whc:re desirable plants are 
intermixed with RCG 
• Soon after mowing/burning 
• When amphibians arc on site 
(Roundup® surfactant has negach·c 
effects) 

· To obtain immediate eradication 
• If standing w<iter is presient 
• On high quality sites wi th 

desirable grasses 
• When RCG is > 12·· tall 

• Where mi~otopogr<'lphy needs to 
be maintained. 
• Where desirable nati\'cs are mi.ted 
with RCG 
• On wet sites, where soil could 
become compacted. or equipment 
can get stuck/d<lmascd 
• Whe-re otrsuc Impacts arc p<>Miblc 
($edimentatloo/croslon) 

• lf new water depth is< 12" or site 
seasonally dries out 
• If ocher invnsivcs are ne:irby 
(Typha x glouca, f>hrogmites) 

• Where desirable natives arc mixed 
with RCG 
• For abatement on large sites 
· If native species are present 
• ln l1I'CilS witb mjc:rotopoaraphy 

Comments 
• Jumpstrut 0«urs ifbwn done in fall 
or spring 
• No research Ort critical density of 
RCG that ~ be controlled by burning 
alone 
• Earl)' bums will stimulate RCG; 
timing and frequency critical 

• May cause soil com~cion 
• RCG will r3pidl)' re-colonize 
djsposcd soil; use caution when 
selecting a disposal site 
· Addition:.\! tre11m1cnts will be 
nee~ry on drier sites 
• Seed with ruuivcs afterwards. except 
in tile deepe$1 water, or ifa rich native 
seed b3.nk exisits 
• May require special permits 

• Need to ~pply herbicide/mulch 
o.roun>d newly planted trcc.s/shrobs 
• Co1lifers may be the mOS1 effeC1i\•e at 

sbo.dlng RCG 
• )llccd to con(l'()l RCG for 3-5 ycars to 
allow trees to esuibl ish 
• Shelter tubes may be eost-effeetive 

• Once started, ca.rn'IOt $top, unless you 
switch to tlllOther tr'l?aunent 
• Not an effective practice alone 
• Use proper stocking rates to prevent 
ovCJiraiiog of desirable sp~ies 

• On high quality sites, avoid use 
during gro~ ins season 
• Mow before RCG seed heads appear 
(boot co late boot stage)• 

• Mow before R.CO 1eed hi:ads appear 
(boot to late boot stage) 
• Could impede establishment of 
natives, due to f(fll:tining m:u of 
vegetation 

• Should be part of a continued control 
Slftlle&Y, where natives would be later 
introduced 
• Multiple treatments may be 
necessary 
• May need a permit for application on 
\\etlO'nds 
• Trao.slocation ineffective wboo 
temperature is >70• F 
· Other herbicide/mowing treattntflls 
may influence herbicide ctfecth·cncss 
• Add ammonium sulfate to tank mix if 
wa1e:r is hard 

· Appl)' with surfactant or crop oil 
· Appl)' when temperature >70° F 
(better rhizome trnnslocation) 
• >one ~tment rtquired 
· Effectiveness of sethoxydim is 
redu~d by UV light 
• Add a ·water conditioner or acidifier 
if water is hnrd 
• Need to combine with another 
treatment, or repeat tillage 

• Depth shoold be 4-o" to target RCG 
rhizomes 
• Spring or early summer tilling 
preferred 
• Could till every four weeks durins 
growing ~a.son, deper,dlng on 
moo emenl ao;il 

• Effects vary by site 
· High water can promote gro,,1h 
of other invasi\'CS (Typha x glauco, 
Pltragm11es) i( present in the ~rea 
• Co.n be combirltd with tillage 
• May require special permits 

• Resursence from scedbank may 
occur wtien tarpins removed 
• May have advem effeccs on soil 
mieioorganism.s 
• M3Y alter soil chemistry 
• Not al\lt'SYS an effective treatment 

RCG= Reed anarygrass N=Nitto~cn • For 0 d15¢npcion of .~,h $UJ.Ci; sec the bulletin. ~fi81)cS~si11g o/ lVlit'al. Burley Wl<l m w Om at m19:1/plsu'll.$Ci.mii..~01Jri.edi..'cropsys/growth..htrnl 

Page 12 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 

Backpack spraying 
1. Foliar application of Habitat herbicide 

1.25% Habitat+ crop oil + dye 

• First tried mid-summer application 
(June 27-29, 2005) - effective, but not 100% 

• Late summer/early fa ll application (Oct 4, 5 2005) -
very close to 100% effective on all sites treated 

Advantages 

• Ideal for sparsely distributed stems 
• Much quicker than bundl ing/treating 
• Effective - minimal rctreatment needed 

Disadvantages 

• Equipment cost - 3 gal backpack costs - $ t 00 
• Overspray - impacts on desirable vegetation, exposure to applicator 
• Once dye has faded, treated areas look identical to non-treated 
• Slow activity of chemical - effects are not apparent until following 

year 
• If treating a large clone, a source of clean water to refill 
• Tall clones are difficult to treat 

Contacts: 
Ryan J. Magana ryan.rnagana@wi.gov 
(608) 273-5943 

Rick Schulte (Herbicide sales) 
(608) 770-4041 

Invasive Plant Association of Wisconsin (IPA W) 
http://\.\rww.ipaw.org (website - links to listscrv) 

Appendix A 
Page 14 



Appendix A Invasive Species Control 

Phragmites spp. Control 2003 - 2006 
Door Co. - Wisconsin DNR 

Bundle/cut treatment (mid-August) 
l. Using pre-cut strands of binder twine, tie up multi pie stems 
2. Cut stems over the twine with hedge shears 
3. apply herbicide to cut stems 

• First tried Rodeo (aquatic use G lyphosate) 1: l with water 
o Topkilled treated stems, but clone persisted at reduced level 

• Habitat (lmazapyr) 6 oz/gallon water 
o Superior results compared to Rodeo 

Advantages 

• Minimal equipment needed 
• Only the herbicide appl icator needs to have certification 
• Almost no herbicide drift/overspray - safe for applicators, reduce 

¢collateral damage' to desirable spp. 
• Easy to track what has/has not been treated, and track results the 

following season 
• Possible to treat any height of stems - some tat lcr clones cannot be 

safely treated with backpack spraying 
• Effective - minimal retreatment needed 
• Results can be seen in the same growing season - although the true 

results are not apparent until following growing season 

Disadvantages 

• Only possible with relatively small clones, OR with larger clones -
more personnel are needed 

• Can only treat dense clones, not individual stems 
• Slow - going 

Appendix A 
Page 13 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

Wisco11sin Prescribed Fire Cou11cil 
Proposed Burn Plan Elen1ents 

4/12/2005 

Responsible organization, entity, individual ie. Prairie Enthusiasts, Jim Sitne, Clark 
Forestry (including na1ne, address, phone nu1nber) 

Landowner(s) name, address, phone nuinber, fire nu1nber and burn location address. 

Location 1naps: 
I) General location 1nap (ie. County inap or gazetteer) large enough to show 
access roads from all directions. Include access roads, lanes, and escape routes 
and nearest town. Describe how vehicles cru1 use roads and lanes to get to areas if 
escape happens. 
2) Topo or aerial photo with property boundaries, site location, fire breaks, 
hazards, escape routes, extra resources cg. drinking water, tank \Vater. 
3) Topo or aerial photo sho\ving larger field of view than the bum unit 

Burn Unit description- Describe 1naterials to be burned ie. tall grass, brushy prairie etc., 
Describe fire break locations, adjacent land uses, potential hazards, escape routes, brief 
fire history, ru1d acreage to be burned. 

Objective(s) of burn- ie. Control invasives, seed bed preparation, increased propagation 
of seed, invigorate native species, etc. (should be measurable ie. 10% of woody 
vegetation under 4" dbh scorched). 

Pern1its required - List 

Prescription for the burn: 1) Acceptable date window,# of personnel and qualifications 
required, 2) Weatber- wind speed, wind direction, te1nperature, hu1nidity 3) Sinoke 
considerations- list up to Y:i 1nile distance, 4)Equiptnent needed ~ list all equip1nent ie. 
drip torches, A'fV's, hand tools, radios etc., 5) Ignition plan, 6) Mop up plan, 7) 
Rehabilitation plan - include remediation of damage or in1pacts of the burn ie. filling ruts 
fro1n equip1nent, replacement offences etc., 8)Additiona! considerations ie. refugia, 
cultural resources, peat soils or wet soils, otl1er biological considerations such as 
phenological timing, insect einergence etc., 

Contingency Plan - Include en1ergency contact information, contingency resources ie. 
rural fire departinents, and DNR, and identify seconda1y control lines. 

Safety Plan- Identify safety zones, escape routes and co1n1nunications plan, identify 
other safety concerns ie. topography, abandoned wells etc. 

Identification of individuals and orga11izations to be notified the day of burn, or earlier as 
appropriate - ie. Sheritl: DNR Fire, local unit of gov't. neighbors, local fire departn1ents, 
media. Include phone numbers and fire nun1bers. (Make a record of contacts) 

Appendix B 
Page 1 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

Go/No-Go checklist (attached) 

Durn Boss Signature and date -

OayofBurn-
List crew members and responsibilities -
Have crew members sign in and include contact and emergency medical 

information 
Date and time of bum -
Fire operation - preparation, start time, mop-up time, additional days to mop-up 
Plant phenology at time of bum -
Wind speed -
Wind direction -
Relative Humidity -
Temperature-
Fire Behavior: 

Bum Patterns 
Flame Lengths 
% of unit burned 

Briefing list for the crew 
Map of what was burned and map of ignition pattern 
Signed off by bum boss 
Rec-0mmendations 

Appendix B 
Page2 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

4/12/2005 

Wisconsin Prescribed Fire Council's Particitlation Classifications 

APPRENTICE 
Descri1>tion: This individual has insufficient prescribed bun1ing training or experience to qualify 
for the Crew Member classification. 
Training l{equirements: An Apprentice 1nust be given instructions on-site the day of the burn 
including the regular ere\¥ briefing, and at least the following specific instructions: 

• Chain of com1nand 
• Use of personal protective equipn1e11t 
• Use of assigned tools or equipment 
• Escape route and safety zone 

An Apprentice must be directly supervised during the bu111 by an individual qualified as a Crew 
Me1nber or higher. 

CREW MEMBER 
Description: 'fhis individual has the basic kl10\.vledge, gained fro1n formal training and 
experience, to participate in prescribed burns and follow directions from 1nore experienced 
personnel. Duties include ignition, control, mop-up, suppression, n1onitoring, etc. under the 
direction of a Squad Boss. 
l'raining Requirements: To be qualified as a Crew Men1ber, an individual must: 

I-lave attended a one day training course covering the learning objectives listed in 
Attachment 1, and have pa1ticipated in two bums (S 130, SI 90 1neets this requirement). 

SQUAD/LINE BOSS 
Description: An individual in the Squad Boss classification (soinetimes referred to as Line 
Boss) directs a portion of the prescribed burn crew, usually 3-6 Crew Members. Squad Bosses 
may direct holding, ignition, and lookout (spotter) functions. Squad Bosses are expected to be 
able to take appropriate action if spot fires occur in their portion of the lir1e, directing the work of 
their assigned personnel and directly com1nunicating with the fire boss. 
Training Rcquircntents: 

1. Qualification as a Crew Me1nber. 
2. Participation in at least 5 prescribed burns within the past three years as a trained Crew 

Men1ber. 
3. Two day training course with content, exatnples and photos geared to Wisconsin fuels 

and terrain, The course should 1neet the require1ne11ts of Advanced Firefighter Training 
(S131) 01· its equivalent. 

BURN BOSS 
Description: Tb.is person takes the lead i11 planning and implementing a burn, including all 
phases of planning, preparation, operations, safety and evaluation. 'fhe Burn Boss is the final 
authority on a burn. To be qualified as a Burn Boss an individual must 1neet the following 
training and experience requirements: 

Appendix B 
Page 3 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

l . Qualification as Crew Member 
2. Qualification as Squad Boss 
3. Serve as a Squad Boss on at least l 0 bu ms 
4. Serve as an apprentice Bun\ Boss on at least th~ fires of comparable 

complexity * 
5. Take the Wisconsin Rx Fire Counci l workshop on Bum Boss or 

equivalent, or meet NWCG Bum Boss requirements. •• 

• An apprentice burn is when an experienced fire leader allows the individual apprenticing co run 
all capacities of the prescribed tire from start to finish, while offering coaching, constructive 
criticism and mentoring. The bums that an individual serves as an apprentice on should be 
comparable in complexity to the bums that they will be leading as bum bosses. For example. if 
the apprentice bums are in small flat grassland units, then one can boss burns in small, flat, grass 
land units. If the apprentice bums are served on large woodland units with high fuel load ing and 
topography then the individual may boss bu rns similar. 

** The Wisconsin Rx Fire Council Training Committee is 
working on developing theses courses. The Bum Plan Writing workshop will teach individuals 
how to use the proposed bum plan and will comprise of an indoor workshop to provide training. 
The Workshop co provide Burn Boss Train ing will also be developed. The Bum Plan Writ ing 
workshop will be offered for the first time in January 2006. The Burn Boss workshop will be 
offered for the first time in Fall of 2006. Skills check li sts will be developed for both courses so 
an alternate course can be compared for equivalency. 

Appendix B 
Page4 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

Wisconsin Prescribed Fire Council Burn Unit Plan 

Burn Unit Name: 

Responsible Organization: (name, address, phone#} 

Landowner(s}: (name, address, phone number, fire number, burn address) 

Burn Unit Description: Describe materials to be burned, Le., tall grass, brushy prairie, 
etc. Describe fire break locations, adjacent !and uses, potential hazards, escape 
routes, brief fire history and acreage to be burned. 

Appendix B 
Page 5 



Appendix B Prescribed Bum Planning 

Objectives: i.e., control invasives, seed bed preparation, increased propagation of 
seed, invigorate native species, etc. (should be measurable, i.e., 10% of woody 
vegetation under 4" dbh scorched. 

Permits - list 

Appendix B 
Page6 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

...... , .. _,,_ 
Burn Prescription ··-···· 

Date Window: Humidity: 

Personnel required and qualifications: Smoke considerations: (list up to 1h mile 

Wind speed: 

Wind direction: 

Temperature: 

... 

Ignition Plan: 

distance): 

Equipment needed (list all equipment, i.e., 
drip torches, ATV's, hand tools, radios, 
etc. 

Appendix B 
Page 7 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

Mop up Plan: 

Rehabilitation Plan: (include remediation of damage or impacts of the burn, i.e., filling 
ruts from equipment, replacement of fences, etc. 

Additional considerations: (i.e. refugia, cultured resources, peat or wet soils, other 
biological considerations such as phonological timing, insect emergence, etc. 

Appendix B 
Page 8 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

Contingency Plan: (include emergency contact information, contingency resources, i.e., 
rural fire departments, and DNR, and identifying secondary control lines.) 

Safety Plan: (identify safety zones, escape routes and communications plan, identify 
other safety concerns, i.e. topography, abandoned wells, etc. 

Appendix B 
Page 9 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

Individuals and organizations to be notified the day of burn or earlier as appropriate, 
i.e. Sheriff, DNR Fire, local unit of government, neighbors, local fire departments, 
media (include phone numbers and fire numbers, make record of contacts. 

Burn Goss signature: --------------- Date: 

List of attachments: 

GO-NO-GO Checklist 

Location maps: 
1) General location map (Le., County map or gazetteer) large enough to 

show access roads from all directions. Include access roads, lanes, 
and escape routes and nearest town. Describe how vehicles can use 
roads and lanes to get to areas if escape happens. 

2) Topo or aerial photo with property boundaries, site location, fire 
breaks, hazards, escape route, extra resources., e.g., drinking water, 
tank water, 

3) Topo or aerial photo showing larger field of view than the burn unit. 

Appendix B 
Page 10 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

Day of Burn 
Crew members: list and responsibilities: 

Date: Time: 

Fire Operation: (preparation, start time, mop-up time, additional days to mop up. 

Plant phenology: 

Wind Speed and direction: 

Relative humidity: 

Appendix B 
Page 11 



Appendix B Prescribed Bum Planning 

Temperature: 

Fire behavior: 
Burn patterns: 
Flame lengths: 
% of unit burned: 

.Appendix B 
Page 12 



Appendix B Prescribed Burn Planning 

- ···-
Burn Boss signature: 

-
Recommendations: 

Attachments -
Crew member sign in, emergency contact, and medical information sheet. 
Briefing list for crew. 

Appendix B 
Page 13 



Authorized 
February 2000 

Appendix C Incidental Take Protocols 

Protocol 
For 

Incidental Take Authorization 

Blanding's Turtle (Emydoidea blandingii) 

Note 

1f carrying out a given protocol is not feasible, or 111ultiple listed species in a given 1nanage1nent 
area pose conflicts, contact the Bureau of Endangered Resources at 6081264-6057. Staff in BER 
\Vil! workivith Integrated Science Services (Research) staff, species experts and 1nanager1;· ro 
establish an acceptable protocol for a given site that \Viii al Ion' for incidental rake 1vithout 
ji1rther legal Consultation or public notice 

I. Species Background Information 

A. Status 

State Status: Threatened. 

USFWS Region 3 Species of Management Concern: Yes 

Nu1nbcr of Known 'VI Sites: 122; in Wisconsin it occurs in every county 
except four in the northern hardwoods region adjacent to Lake Superior. 

Global Range: Southern Ontmio andno1thwest PeMsylvania west to central 
Minnesota, Nebraska and south into central Illinois. 

B. Habitat 

General Habitat Description: Prefers shallow to deep marshes dominated by 
1noderate to dense submergent vegetation and often co-dominated by emergent 
vegetation (usually cattails) along the shorelines. May also be found in almost 
every other wetland type excluding northern bogs and oligotrophic lakes. 
Strongly prefers lentic water although individuals will use riverine con·idors ±Or 
travel and hibernation. As a semi-terrestrial species, Blanding's often forage in 
wet prairies, sedge meadows or shrub-ean·s adjacent to aquatic habitats. (See 
"Nest Location" below.) 

Over-lvintering Habitat: Blanding's utilize a wide variety of aquatic habitats 
for hibernation ranging from small ponds with less than 30 inches of water to 
trout streains, bays of lakes and drainage ditches. They have a preference for 

Appendix C 
Page 1 



Authorized 
February 2000 

Appendix C Incidental Take Protocols 

mucky bottoms, although so1ne individuals may not burrow in but remain semi
activc throughout the winter, n1oving about under the ice. 

C, Life Histoiy 

Home Range: }lome range is highly variable and is quite dependent on the 
availability and proxinlity offOraging, hibc1uation and nesting sites. B!anding's 
are se1ni-te1Testrial and will often move betv•een different wetlands throughout 
the active season. 

Com1nunal Behaviors: NA 

Site Fidelity: Blanding's often exhibit nest-site fidelity. 

Nest Location; Blanding's do not nest conununally. Many herpetologists have 
observed nest-site fidelity they believe is associated with the turtle's natal 
hatching site, although this has not been documented. Nesting occurs fron1 along 
the shoreline to> 1.5 miles from aquatic habitat. They have a strong preference 
for nesting in sandy soils, which may partially explain why they travel so far 
fro1n water to nest. 

Breeding: Blanding's turtles 1nay breed in any n1onth but prima1ily breed in 
spring and fall. They are the slowest to mature of all the North Anlerican 
fresh\vater turtles, taking 16-20 years in Wisconsin. 

Nesting Period: Nesting usually occurs :fi·orn early-nlid June but tnay occur as 
early as May 20 or as late as early July. Most nesting begins around dusk. 
Fen1ales can produce one viable clutch of eggs annually, but the majority 
typically lay eggs in alternating years (eve1y other year). Eggs generally hatch in 
60-80 days in \Vl (early August through September). Blanding's have not been 
docwnented to overwinter in the nest. 

Activity periods! 

Seasonal: Blanding's become active as soon as ice begins to recede in 
March mid April and they can be seen basking along or adjacent to open 
shorelines on sunny days \Vhen temperatures reuch about 50°F. Shotily 
after emergence, they seek out shallow aquatic environn1ents due to 
wanner water and increased foraging opportunities. Gravid fcniales will 
often bask for exte11ded periods in the spring to speed egg development. 
Dwing the heat of su1runer, especially dw·ing extre1ne heat, Blanding's 
may aestivate, becoming inactive in either an aquatic or te1Testrial 
habitat. 1'hey begin heading for overwintering sites du1ing Septe1nber 
and hibernate in October. 

Daily: Blanding's usually are active during the day, begirnUng with 
1non1ing foraging. 

Appendix C 
Page2 

2 



Authorized 
February 2000 

Appendix C Incidental Take Protocols 

II. Management Protocols For Authorizing Incidental Take 

If the management activity is for the purpose of recovering, maintaining or ilnproving the 
grassland, prairie or savanna ecosystem that includes habitat for Blanding's tu1tles, tbeu 
incidental take is allowed if these conditions are followed. 

If incideutal take ofBlanding's twtles occurs from the activity, please notify BER so we 
can reevaluate this guidance. 

A. Burning: 

Spring or Fall burning is allowed lUlder the following conditions: 

1. If spring or fall burning \vill occur when temperatmcs are below 50°F, or above 
50°F but overcast, then there are no restrictions. 

2. If spring or fall burning \Vill occur \Vhen temperatures are at or above 50°F and 
skies are sunny to partly cloudy, then wetlands where Blanding's are known or 
suspected to occur should be surveyed immediately prior to burning to locate and 
n1ove ("rescue") speeimens (e.g., place in the water). -i: 

*Surveys involve a walk along the perimeter of each affected wetland searching 
for turtles basking in the vegetation within a border extending approxbnate/y 15 
feet inland fi·o111 the existing su1face water area. On niost properties, these 
surveys can be done ivith n1ini111al tilne and effort. If conducting the burning lvill 
take several hours, it ntay be advantageous to burn a buffer area around the 
1vetland (15-20 feet 1vide) following surveJ'S, to 1ninilnize take. Contact Bob Hay 
iii BER if these "rescue" surveys are 11ot practicable, 

B. Mo\ving/Haying: 

For mowing that may occur in upland sandy habitat suitable for nesting: 

1. If done between July 6 and May 19, there are no restrictions. 
2. If done between May 20 and July 5, conduct mowing only during the hours 

of 10 a.m.- 5 p.m.. 

C. Selective BrushJTrec-cutting: 

Non-mechanical brush and tree cutting (i.e., chain saw) may be done without restriction. 

Appendix C 
Page 3 

3 



Authorized 
February 2000 

D. Grazing: 

Appendix C Incidental Take Protocols 

lflight-to-n1oderate grazing (0 to< 1.0 head per acre) is used during the nesting and 
incubation period (May 20-Septen1ber 30) there arc no restrictions. For heavier grazing, 
contact BER. 

E. Herbiciding: 

In areas where Blanding's twtlcs are suspected or known to nest, herbiciding should be 
conducted as follows: 

Spot treat l1erbaceous vegetation, preferably with a Jo\\/ persistence/short half-life 
herbicide (i.e. Round-up©), and apply by wick, sponge or hand-held spray application. 
A void broadcast applications. 

Use basal bark or cut-stwup-treatn1ent n1ethods when controlling woody vegetation. 

Appendix C 
Page 4 

4 



Authorized 
February 2000 

Appendix C Incidental Take Protocols 

Protocol 
For 

Incidental Take Authorization 

Eastern Massasauga Rattlesnake (Sistrurus cate11at11s cate11atus) 

Note 

If ca1rying out a given protocol is not feasible, or 1nultiple listed species in a given 1nanage111ent 
area pose conflicts, contact the Bureau of Endangered Resources at 6081264-6057. Stajf in BER 
lVill work with Integrated Science Services (Research) staff, species experts and 1nanagers to 
establish an acceptable protocol for a given site rhat 1vill allo1v for incidental take 1vithout 
farther legal Consultation or public notice 

I. Species Background Information 

A. Status 

State Status: Endangered. 

USFWS Region 3 Species of Management Concern: Yes and a candidate for 
federal listing. 

Number ofkno,vn \VI sites: 6 extant sites are known since the 1nid-1980's 
although a total of 49 occurrence records exist; several historical locations are 
currently being surveyed to determine presence/absence. 

Global Range: Southern Ontario and central New York west to extreme easte1n 
Minnesota and south into northe1n Missouri and central Illinois. In Wisconsin it 
is presently occurring to Buffalo, Juneau, Monroe, Pepin, Trempealeau and 
Wal\vorth counties. 

B. Habitat 

General Habitat Description: The massasauga is not a habitat specialist, but it 
requires wetland habitat for ovenvinter survival. This species often occupies 
sedge meadow complexes associated with nledium to large river systems in the 
state, although they also live in floodplain (lowland hardwood) forests, They are 
typically found in openings within these forests created by beaver activity, 

Appendix C 
Page 5 



Authorized 
February 2000 

Appendix C Incidental Take Protocols 

logging, or other natural openings. Gravid females '.'.'ill oflen 111igrate to d1y-
111esic upland openings to incubate their developing yotu1g. 1'Liesc upland sites 
also include road or railroad dikes and levees built through or adjacei1t to 
occupied \vetlands. 

Over-\vintcring Habitat: Massasaugas aln1ost always hiben1ate in wetlands, 
using crayfish bu1Tows, crevices or rotted-out root canals to reach down to and 
below the \Vatcr table to avoid freezing in winter. 1"hey inay hibernate 
underwater in these settings. 'fhese areas typically flood in spring with 110 

apparent in1pact to individuals. 

C. Life History 

Home l:t.ange: Variable across its rai1ge. Average home range for adult WI 
n1alcs is about 400 acres and non-gravid adult WI fe1nales about 102 acres. 
Gravid Wl feinales' ho1ne range is about 7 acres. 

Communal Behaviors: NA 

Site l<~idelity: Some individuals return to the same hibe1nation location annually. 

Nest Location: NA 

Breeding: Mating can occw· at any thne during the active season but peaks in 
spring and fall. Females are capable of producing young annually, but likely 
only a po1tion breeds am1ually. Eight to twenty yow1g arc live-born, usually in 
August. Young mature in their third or fourth full year. 

Nesting Period: NA 

Activity periods: 

Seasonal; Etuergeucc fro1n hibc1nation occurs fro1n early-late April and 
is temperature and frost-out dependent. Usually three consecutive days 
of inid-60° weather following frost-out will trigger en1erge11ce, 
especially if accompanied by a wann rain. 

Daily: Massasaugas arc primarily diurnal but \Vill become active arnight 
during especially wai111 \\'Cather in surruner. They typically cn1crgc in 
nlld-tnorning (8:30-10 am) to bask to wann their body temperatw·es. 
Once sufficiently wa11n they often beco111e very difficult to locate as they 
either begin to forage or continue to bask under filtered cover to avoid 
overheating. Surveys for massasaugas are typically best during spring 
before vegetation beco1nes dense and tall or on cool (n1id-upper 60's) 
overcast days in suIDiner when they tend to be i11ore exposed while 
seeking radiant heat. Survey periods should include both n1on1ings and 
evenings and avoid te1nperatures above 8a° F \Vb en sunny. 

Appendix C 
Page 6 

2 



Authorized 
Februnry 2000 

Appendix C Incidental Take Protocols 

II. Management Protocols For Authorizing Incidental Take 

If the management activity is for purpose of recovering, maintaining or in1proving the 
grassland, prairie or savanna ecosystem that includes habitat for rnassasauga rattlesnakes, 
then incidental take is allowed if these conditions are followed. 

Since there are no apparently stable inassasauga populations in Wisconsin and each 
individual is dee1ned critically important to species survival, no incidental take is 
allov.:ed. The following protocols are for avoiding take. Only the unlikely taking that 
may occur inadvertently despite follov;ing all the conditions of this consultation and the 
following management prescriptions is authorized, If incidental take of eastern 
massasauga rattlesnakes results from the activity, please notify BER so we can 
reevaluate this guidance. 

A. Burning: 

l. Burns ofwetlands 1 (i.e. sedge n1eadows, fresh wet meadov;s, wet pasture) is 
allowed only between November 1 and April 5 with the following exceptioru;: 

a) After April 5, burning 1nay be conducted on days \Vheu the ambient air 
temperature is not expected to reach 50° F during the hours involving the 
burn. 

b) On bllln days prior to April 5 in years where there is an unusually warm 
spring (frost-out occurs in mid~late March and temperatures reach 60°F 
on any 3 consecutive days), follow the guidance in the above sentence or 
contact Bob Hay if you are unsure about the decision. 

2. Burning of upland grassland habitats (i.e. mesic or dry inesic prairies or old 
fields): Allowed only if coudueted bet\veen October I and May 1. 

B. Mowing/Haying: 

l. lf done in wetlands between November 1 and April 4 there are no 
restrictions. 

2. If done bet\veen April 5 and October 31, should only occur when 
temperatures are below 50° F. 

3. If done in uplands between October 1 and May l there are no 
restrictions. 

1 Note: Since surveying for massasaugas is most productive under post-bum periods (the vegetation and 
duff is gone), please contact BER whenever you conduct a v.•etla.nd burn on a known or likely 1nassasauga 
site, so BER can conduct surveys in1n1ediate!y following the burn and prior to green-up. This is our best 
opportunity to conduct presence/absence surveys and assess population status. 

Appendix C 
Page7 

3 



Appendix D Ducks Unlimited Recommendations 

June 22, 2005 

John Steinbrink, Jr. 
Superintendent of Streets & Parks 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 
8600 Green Bay Road 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 

Dear John, 

Thank you fOr taking the ti1ne to meet with us to discuss and tour Prairie Springs Park on 
April 19111 

•. 1'he Village has a great parcel that not only provides benefits for vvaterfowl 
and other wildlife but also the public. Because of the park's location and high use, you 
have a unique opportunity to educate the public with respect to the i1npo11ance of the 
enviro1unent and the need for protecting, enJ1ancing and 1nanaging our natural resources. 

Frain what we observed on site, I believe there are four wetland enhancement 
opportunities on the property. The first involves Jero1ne Creek north of Lake Andrea 
(our first stop or Site A on the attached map). It is apparent that Jeron1e Creek at soine 
tiine \Vas channelized and dredged to facilitate draining this area. The creek could be 
restored to its historic channel and the spoil banks removed fro1n the north side of the 
creek. 1'he old strea1n channel can be identified by exan1ining historic aerial photos. 
Restoring historic 1neanders and eli1ninating the spoil banks on the north side of the creek 
vvill restore hydrology to this stretch of the creek dampening flood events by slowing 
flows and allowing the creek to spill into its floodplain during high \Vater events, which 
\Viii provide valuable habitat tOr wetland dependent wildlife. Given the high visibility of 
this location, Site A would be an outstanding place for an observation platfor1n or 
board\valk along with educational/partnership signage. 

The second opportunity (and the best in 1ny opinion) is the drainage \vith the beaver da1n 
on the far norlh\vest end oft11e property (Site Bon tl1e attached 1nap). The culvert under 
the road crossing could be replaced with a water control structure to facilitate water level 
managernent on the wetland basin that lies directly north of-the old horse track. 'fhis 
wetland is currently choked with cattail, which provides limited value to wetland wildlife. 
A water control structure would give you the opportunity to d1y out and reilood this 
wetland n1ilnicking wet/dry cycles that naturally occur in wetlands. Following a dra\\1 

down, the area could be bun1ed and subsequently flooded to control cattail and allo\v 
beneficial 111oist soil plants such as s1nartweed and inillet to reestablish. Because this 
\Vetland basin extends onto private land a flood easement or \-Vritten per1nission fron1 the 
landowner would need to be secured prior to this work. lfthis enhancement project 
interests you I would suggest starting a dialogue with this landowner to inform hin1/her of 

Appendix D 
Page 1 



Authorized 
February 2000 

Appendix C Incidental Take Protocols 

C. Selective Brush/Tree-cutting: 

Selective cutting (i.e., using a chain saw) may be done without restriction. 

D. Grazing: 

Light to moderate grazing (0- <1.0 head per acre) is allowed but should be ceased if 
n1ore than 50% of the vegetation is cropped below 8 inches in height. 

E. Herbiciding: 

To tl1e maxi1num extent possible, herbiciding should occur during the snake's 
dormant period (Nov. I-April 5). 

\Vhere active season berbiciding is necessary to control herbaceous vegetation, 
spot treat, preferably with a low persistence/short half-life herbicide (i.e. Round
up©), using \Vick, sponge or hand-held spray applications, not broadcast 
spraying. 

Basal-bark or cut-stwnp-treatment 1nethods should be used when treating woody 
vegetation. 

Appendix C 
Page 8 

4 



Appendix 0 Ducks Unlimited Recommendations 

the Village's desire and how the project 1nay iinpact their land (i.e., increasing water 
levels on their property). 

The last tvvo opportunities are where tl1e s1nall creek that runs under the Interstate enters 
the Des Plaines River from the \Vest (Site Con the attached 1nap) and where the lo\V 
drainage area that runs north south enters the Des l)laines River (Site D on the attached 
1nap). Depending upon your goals for the area, you could co11struct earthen berms with 
water control structures to facilitate water 1nanagement 011 tl1ese low areas. Both these 
areas are choked with vegetation (Site C with plrrag1nites & Site D with Three-square) 
and have few open water areas for waterfo\vl. Water control structures would allow you 
to create openings by stacking additional water on these areas. l-Io\vever, these areas 
appear to be functioning naturally \Vith water backing into these areas fi·on1 the river 
during high \Vater events and receding as \Vater levels return to normal. In addition, these 
sites are located in the floodway of the Des Plaines River and it may be difficult to obtain 
the necessary permits for this work. 

Finally, the botto1nland forest areas adjacent to the Des Plaines River provide an ideal 
opportunity to erect and 1naintain \Vood duck boxes. My understanding is that the local 
l)ucks Unlimited (DU) chapter has expressed an interest in building, erecting and 
1naintaining wood duck boxes on the property. 

Below 1 have developed what I envision as logical steps in the process should the Village 
decide to pursue these wetland enhancement opportunities in partnership with DU. 

Year 1 

• DU biological/engineering reco11 \Vitl1 partner. 
• Determine scope ofrestoration/enhance1nent project(s). 
• Develop cost estimate for detailed survey work (we recominend completing a 

detailed topographic survey for the property because contours provided on tl1e 
Conservation Plan working 1nap Jack the necessary detail for designing wetland 
enhance1nents of this nature). 

• Identify and secure funding source(s) to pay for survey \Vork. 
• Co1nplete survey and develop conceptual plan and cost esti1nate for wetland 

restoration \\'Ork. 
• lde11tify and secure funding source(s) to pay for restoration \\'Ork. 
• Develop DU Site Specific Agree1nent outlining DU and partner responsibilities. 
• Co111plete fmal restoration plans and refine cost estiinate. 
• Acquire necessary per1nits. 

Year 2 

• Send bid packages to potential contractors, conduct pre~bid 1neeting on site and 
award bid. 

• Stake restoration site(s) aI1d conduct pre~construction n1eeting on site. 
• Co11struct project with DU engineering oversight. 

Appendix 0 
Page 2 



Appendix D Ducks Unlimited Recommendations 

• Conduct final project walk through with partners and perfonn project as-builts. 
• Conduct project dedication to publicize partnership and project. 

Since 1937, DU has worked to conserve, restore, and 1nanage wetlands and associated 
habitats for the benefit ofNorth America's \Vaterfowl, other wildlife, and people. DU is 
the world's largest private waterfowl and wetlands conservation organization, with a 
1ne1nbership exceeding 650,000. To date, DU has conserved 1nore than 11 million acres 
of habitat on private and public lands in Canada, Mexico, and each of the 50 United 
States. In Wisconsin, our membership exceeds 47,000 and since 1988 we have invested 
over $10 million to conserve more than 73,000 acres of critical wildlife habitat statewide. 

Our professional staff of biologists and engineers specializes in the planning, survey and 
design of wetland restorations. Our staff can conduct the necessary survey work and 
provide a conceptual restoration plan at an estimated cost of $16,571 (please see attached 
topographic survey proposal). Ducks Unlimited also may be able to provide some cost 
share assistance and also help identify and pursue additional funding sources such as 
North American Wetland Conservation Act and foundation grants to assist in getting this 
\\'Ork done. 

Thanks again for taking the time to meet \vith us and please contact n1e at your earliest 
convenience if you are interested in pursuing these exciting opportunities. 

Sincerely, 

John M. Coluccy, I>H.D. 
Regional Biologist 

CC: Ji1n Grueber, Lon Knoedler, Chad Navis 

Enclosures 

Appendix D 
Page3 



Prairie Springs P_ Natural Area 
-----.. 

M~n gement Pl 

'M$CONS 
ILLINOIS BORDER 

11 Watet"$hed 
L.....J Boundary 

Environmental Corridors 

.. Primary 

Secondary 

lsole'ed 









Kenosha County, T1N, R22E 
s.ctions 19 & 20 



Figure 4. Soil Series and Historic Vegetation 

- 'Wel Allu\..al land 

Marsh to Wit PcaicJa 

- Hough(on __J Askt.m 
- 09den ::::J Mon:ge>meiy 
- PPT\a CJ ~") 

.. 1 SebeWll 

Wet-Mule Prairie 

-:._' ... 01.rroch 
-• Ell!Ott 

~n 

Mund!fe1n 

Syme:ton 
VOrQ;I 

\\'ara.aw 

Savanna Har<lwoo<IS 
Beecher Markl\am - So)'tf - Sa:f4S'tlllt 
Oreaden t.'.3tl'lenon - Fox - Sl~n 
F~u• - Hebron D Zunth 

• r.1ct1e-1 

Kenosha Coun~. T1N. R22E 
sect«is 19. 20. 30 

Pnll'lt ~· Partt 
,. TNC.tltld CoettfWllloft t.ltlfttftl 





Stea111 Channel Modifications 







Wetland Mitigation and 
Prairie Restoration Locations 





Existing Native Plant Communities 

TNC Easement 

.. M91'an 

g Cattail Marsh 

CJ Sedge Meadow 







Reed Canary Grass Infestation 







Invasive Tree and Shrub Gro\Nth 











Management Plan 

• Eradicate invasive woody vegetation 

• Implement a long-term prescribed burn program, 
coupled with a reed canary grass control program 

• Eradicate invasive Phragmites from areas 
surrounding the Prairie Springs Park Natural Area 

• Monitor for and eliminate other invasive plant species 



Management Units 





Other Possibilities 

Establish a Technical Advisory Team to 
Determine: 

• If adding meanders to Jerome Creek could be 
implemented to slow stormwater flow and improve 
native ecosystems 

• How to best relax the stream banks and reestablish 
native sedges and grasses along the modified portion 
of the Des Plaines River 



Natural Area Preservation Project 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 



Site A - Restore historic creek meanders & remove spoil banks 
Site B - Install water control structure 
Site C - Install ditch plug with water control structure 
Site D - Install ditch plug with water control struct\Jre 
Site E - Erect wood duck boxes 



Appendix E Grant Opportunities 

Recreational Trails Program ~ 
(1998 Transportation Equity Ad for the 21st Century (TEA- 21) 

Funding for the Recmational Trails Program (RTP) is provided through federal gas excise taxes paid on 
fuel used by off-highway vehicles. Towns, villages, cities, coontlos, tribal governing bodies, school 
distrids, state agencies, federal agcncios and Incorporated organizations are efigible to reoelve 
re mbursoment for development and maintenance of recreational trails and ttaiJ.rolatod facilities for both 
motorized and non-motorized recreational 1rail uses. Eflgible sponsors may be reimbursed for up 1o 50 
pe1oen1 of the total project costs. 

Eligll>Je projects indude: 

• Maintenance and res1oralion of existing trails. 
• Development and rehabilitation of trailside and lrallhead facilities and trail linkages. 
• Construct.ion of new trails (with certain restrictions on Federal lands). 
• Acquisition of easement or property for trails. 

Projects are ranked in Older of funding priority: 

• Rehabilitation of existing trails. 
• Trail maJntonanoo. 
• Trail dcwolopment 
• Trail acquisition. 

Regional ONR staff reviews and ranks eligible projects. Profccts ate then ranked in a sta1ewide priority 
listing. The highest ranking projects will be funded to the extent that funds are availabie. 

River Pro~tfon Planning 
(ss. 281 .70 and 281.71, Wis. Stats.; ch. NR 195, Wis. Admin. Code) 

Counties, cities, towns, vill09es, tn'bes, other local govcmmental units as defined in s. 66.0301 (1 )(a) Wis. 
Stats, qualtfied river manag-0mont 01ganizalions, and qualified nonprofit conservation organizations aro 
ellglbSe to apply for funding to: 

Collect, assess and disseminate Information on riverine ooosystems. 
Assist in developing organizations to help manage rivers. 
Assist the public in understanding riverine ecosystems. 
Create management plans for the long term protection and imptovement of riverine ecosystems. 

Ellgibfe gra11tees can be reimbursed up to 75 percent of eligible project costs. not to exceed $10,000. 
EJigible projects include: 

• Organizational development for existing river protection/improvement organizations 
• Assistance with the fo'1nation of a qualified river management organization. 
• Pubic education profee1s. 
• Planning and assessment projects sud'I as: 

• DevoJopmont of management strategies, plans, and special project doslgns to Identify 
appropriate river protection projects. 

• Collect.ion and assessment of wator quaJity, water quantity, and biological/environmental 
data. 

• Collection of sociological data necessary for the developmont of a river management plan. 
• Description and mapping of existing and potential land and water resource conditions. 

Grant Opportunities 
Appendix E 

Page 1 

Page 1 of 5 



                                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix F: 

 

Forest Stewardship Plans 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 1 
 

 

Prairie Springs Forest Stewardship Plan (2016) 

 
Name(s) and Address of Landowner(s): 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 
9915 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 
 
County: Kenosha Municipality: Village of Pleasant Prairie 
 
Town: 1N;  Range 22E;  Section 19 part of the NESE -Section 20 part of the NWSW               Total Plan Acreage: 53 
 

 
 
 



Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 2 
 

The Purpose of this Forest Stewardship Plan is to encourage the growth of future commercial crops through sound 
forestry practices which recognize the objectives of individual property owners for aesthetics, wildlife habitat, erosion 
control, protection of endangered or threatened plants and animals, compatible recreational activities, economic 
returns, etc.  By state law, "forestry" means managing forest lands and their related resources, including trees and other 
plants, animals, soil, water and air.   
 
Landowner Objectives for Management of the Enrolled Lands: 

 Sustainable Timber Management 

 Maintain aesthetic qualities of park 
 
Key to Size Classes (DBH) - Diameter in inches at Breast Height): 
 0-5  Seedlings and Saplings  
 5-9 / 5-11 Pole timber (Conifers/Hardwoods)  
 9-15/11-15 Small Sawtimber (Conifers/Hardwoods) 
 15+  Large Sawtimber 
 

Key to Stocking Densities (shown by superscripts after the size class): 
Basal area is the cross-sectional area of a trees stem at 4 ½ feet above ground (DBH), measured in feet squared (ft2).   
Reported basal area densities are calculated as the sum of each tree’s basal area divided by the total acres involved. 
 
Stocking Density 
Code 

Seedlings 
(Stem count) 

Saplings 
(Stem count) 

Poletimber 
(basal area) 

Small Sawtimber 
(basal area) 

Large Sawtimber 
(basal area) 

1  (Poor) 200-600 100-300 10-40 ft2 / acre 10-40 ft2 / acre 10-40 ft2 / acre 

2  (Medium) 601-1,500 301-900 41-80 ft2 / acre 41-80 ft2 / acre 41-80 ft2 / acre 

3  (Good) 1,501 + 901 + 81-130 ft2 / acre 81-130 ft2 / acre 81-130 ft2 / acre 

4  (Very Good) NA NA 131-180 ft2 / acre 131-180 ft2 / acre 131-180 ft2 / acre 

5  (Excellent) NA NA 181ft2 +/ acre 181ft2 +/ acre 181 ft2 +/ acre 

 
County Cutting Notice (Section 26.03, Wis. Stats.): 
A written declaration must be filed with the County Clerk prior to cutting any forest products.   
 
Resource Protection:  Wisconsin Foresters consult special records and data banks to make sure your forest 
management prescriptions benefit or avoid risk to important natural, historical or archeological resources.  Prior to 
starting management practices, these inventories will again be consulted.  If new records are found, management 
prescriptions will be evaluated and, if necessary, modified to protect the resource from disturbance.  In developing this 
Stewardship plan; management prescriptions incorporate concerns for below listed species. 
 
Endangered and threatened resources are those plants, animals and natural communities that are thought to be rare 
and easily threatened by changes in the landscape.  The Natural Heritage Inventory (NHI) is a statewide listing of 
known locations for these plants and animals.   
 
A review of the NHI data was completed (6/17/16), and lists the following within your property: 

 9 element occurrences were found within the project area 

 1 special concern turtle will have a recommended avoidance period of 3/15 through 10/ 15  
 
For additional information on rare plants, animals and natural plant communities, visit 
http://dnr.wi.gov/topic/endangeredresources/ 
 
The Archaeological Resources Inventory lists no archaeological resources within your property. 
The Historical Resources Inventory lists no historical resources within your property. 
 
If during the life of this Stewardship plan, endangered or threatened resources are identified, management prescriptions should be modified to 
incorporate protection of the endangered or threatened resource.  Recognize that much of the state has not been inventoried so an absence of 
evidence is not evidence of absence. 

http://dnr.wi.gov/topic/endangeredresources/


Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 3 
 

 
Invasive Plant Species 
Invasive plants may decrease the productivity, regeneration, wildlife habitat, and recreational value of your property. It 
is essential to identify and control small populations of invasive plants to minimize their spread. The individual stand 
descriptions list any invasive plant species identified on your property. For information on invasive plant control, 
consult Wisconsin Council on Forestry’s Forestry Best Management Practices for Invasive Species; go to http://dnr.wi.gov and 
search ‘Forest Management’ to review all BMPs for invasive species. 
 
Best Management Practices for Water Quality (BMPs) 
To protect the water quality in Wisconsin’s lakes, streams and wetlands and to prevent soil erosion, implement 
Wisconsin's Forestry Best Management Practices for Water Quality during all forest management activities, such as road 
building or timber harvesting. Specific BMPs will be included in detailed practice or harvest plans. You may require 
water regulations permits to cross wetlands and streams. Please go to http://dnr.wi.gov and search ‘Forest 
Management’ to review all BMPs for water quality. 
 
Forest Health 
Over time, your forest may suffer from insects, disease, windstorm, fire, flooding or drought, etc. These problems may 
alter your management prescriptions. If you are concerned about forest health, please contact your local WDNR 
Forester or go to http://dnr.wi.gov and search ‘Forest health’. 
 
Stand descriptions and management Please refer to the map for stand locations. 
A “Stand” is an area with similar timber conditions that is useful to describe and manage the area.  Details of the 
management practices are found under the stand description. 
 

 
STAND 1 DESCRIPTION Volume Basal Area  Stand 

Acres 

OAK 15+3 
CH 5-111 
CH 0-51 

Oak hardwood sawtimber (Good Stocking) 
Central hardwood poletimber (Poor Stocking) 

Central hardwood seedlings (Poor Stocking) 

9,250 bd ft/acre 
7 cords / acre 

~250 saplings/ac 

97 ft2 / acre 
22 ft2 / acre 
na 

 

 30 

 
Description 
This stand primarily consists of mature white oak, black oak & black cherry. The understory is dominated by invasive 
plants, shrubs & cherry saplings.  
 
While oaks are still very common trees in Wisconsin, the abundance of high-quality red and white oaks on nutrient-
rich sites has declined considerably due to forest succession and failed regeneration. In general, oaks grow best on well-
drained loamy soils. All oaks require drastic disturbance of the forest, both overstory and understory, in order to 
regenerate. On richer sites, oak forests are particularly difficult to regenerate and competition control is essential. Fire 
is one tool that facilitates the regeneration and maintenance of oak forests. To regenerate oak, foresters commonly 
mimic the effects of fire using mechanical tools or chemical application.  
 
Stand 1 is expected to naturally convert to buckthorn, cherry and box elder species which are present in the understory 
unless intensive brush treatments are conducted to provide proper conditions for oak and hickory regeneration. 
 
Stand Age & Year of Origin 
Oaks in this stand were not aged but are estimated to be over 100 years old in 2016. Many of the mature overstory 
trees are starting to decline in vigor and health. An established forest is evident in the 1937 aerial photo and little 
cutting has taken place since. Average Stand Diameter =21" 
 
 
 



Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 4 
 

Tree Species Details 
 Species Basal Area  

(ft2 / acre) 
Cords 
/acre 

Board Feet  
/ acre 

1st major species White Oak 50 1 4,720 

2nd major species Black Cherry 34 3 1,980 

3rd major species Black Oak (Some Red Oak) 25 1 2,000 

4th major species Shagbark Hickory 7 1 450 

*Minor amounts of Bur Oak, Swamp White Oak, Silver Maple & Basswood are also present 
 
Stand Conditions, Special Features or Characteristics 
Stand contains an area of oak pocket mortality & should be intensively managed when harvesting to avoid spread 
through lateral roots. The isolated island of trees has a sandy loam soil and would be more ideal for oak regeneration 
when harvesting. 2019 Patch Selection harvest would primarily target declining & over mature oak and cherry for 
cutting. Tree regeneration is lacking in much of the stand & conducting a site preparation treatments is highly 
recommended if a harvest is conducted. Retain snag/den trees for wildlife when harvesting. 
 
Invasive plants 
These trees, shrubs and vines have a major impact on timber production by preventing or restricting the establishment 
and growth of more desirable new tree seedlings.  
STAND 1 Species Density 

Primary invasive plants common buckthorn, garlic mustard, multi-
flora rose, 

Abundant (>50% coverage) 

Secondary invasive plants Honeysuckle,  reed canary grass, Japanese 
barberry, grapevines & raspberry 

Present 

 
Soils 
This stand has primarily a silt loam soil. Loam soils are a mixture of sand, silt and clay particles. Loam soils are 23% to 
52% sand, 28% to 50% silt, and 48% to 78% clay. Silt loam or silt soils have relatively higher amounts of silt particles. 
Loam soils typically have an abundance of moisture and nutrients to sustain excellent growth rates for many tree 
species. Take care to prevent compaction and rutting when using equipment on these soils. USDA Soils map is 
included on page 10.  
 
Stand management (Silvicultural) System 
NATURAL REGENERATION & CONVERSION via PATCH SELECTION HARVEST. 
Naturally convert this stand using the patch selection regeneration method. This involves harvesting to create even-
aged patches from ½ to 2 acres in size. This system is most appropriate for the management of species mid-tolerant of 
shade, but can also be applied to manage shade intolerant and tolerant tree species. Sources of regeneration may 
include any of: well-established advanced regeneration, vegetative sprouts, or seed. If depending on seed, time 
regeneration practices, including site preparation, to take advantage of good seed years. In most stands, thin the 
remainder of the stand to reduce stocking and concentrate growth on more desirable trees by following the order of 
removal and tree retention guidelines. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 5 
 

STAND 1 - RECOMMENDED PRACTICES YEAR ACRES Comments 

INVASIVE PLANT CONTROL. Take specific measures to 
manage the species listed above whose aggressive growth or 
reproductive patterns threaten the health or regeneration of the 
stand.  

2017 
continuous 

effort 

30 
Target 
areas 
where 

trees are to 
be cut 

Herbicide treatments to 
reduce buckthron 
(target female plants 
with berries)  

PATCH SELECTION HARVEST. Naturally regenerate this 
stand using the patch selection regeneration method. This 
involves harvesting to create even-aged patches from ½ to 2 
acres in size. This system is most appropriate for the 
management of species mid-tolerant of shade, but can also be 
applied to manage shade intolerant and tolerant tree species. 
Sources of regeneration may include any of: well-established 
advanced regeneration, vegetative sprouts, or seed. If depending 
on seed, time regeneration practices, including site preparation, to 
take advantage of good seed years. In most stands, thin the 
remainder of the stand to reduce stocking and concentrate 
growth on more desirable trees by following the order of removal 
and tree retention guidelines. 

2019 30 This harvest would 
primarily target 
declining & over 
mature oak and cherry 
for cutting. Tree 
regeneration is lacking 
in much of the stand & 
conducting a site 
preparation treatments 
is highly recommended 
if a harvest is 
conducted.  
 

SEEDBED PREPARATION. Prepare a seed bed to encourage 
natural or direct seeding of desired trees and shrubs. To 
encourage quick establishment of seedlings, expose the soil in the 
seedbeds. 

2019 30 
Target  cut 

areas 

Preparing a seedbed & 
controlling competition 
is needed to encourage 
new tree growth 

SURVIVAL CHECK. Conduct a follow-up field survey to 
determine the success of regeneration in a stand. Plan your next 
steps with your Forester after obtaining results. 

2022 30 Planting or Direct 
Seeding may be 
necessary if tree 
regeneration is lacking 

RELEASE. Remove or kill overtopping or competing trees to 
benefit trees that are more desirable. (via hand, herbicide or fire) 

2022 
continuous 

effort 

30 
Target  cut 

areas 

Shagbark Hickory is 
expected to naturally 
regenerate if site 
preparation is 
conducted properly 

HAND PLANT. Hand plant a mixture of bur oak, white oak, 
swamp white oak, red oak, basswood,  at a rate of 600 per acre. 
 
 

Only needed 
if natural 

regeneration 
fails 

30 
Target  cut 

areas 

Only plant in areas of 
full sunlight 

DIRECT SEED. Broadcast or drill a mixture of oak, walnut & 
hickory.  

Only 
needed if 
natural 

regeneratio
n fails 

30 
Target  cut 

areas 

Only direct seed in 
areas of full sunlight 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 6 
 

STAND 2 DESCRIPTION Volume Basal Area  Stand 
Acres 

OAK 15+2 
CH 5-112 
CH 0-51 

Oak hardwood sawtimber (Medium Stocking) 
Central hardwood poletimber (Med. Stocking) 

Central hardwood seedlings (Poor Stocking) 

3,850 bd ft/acre 
10 cords / acre 

~150 saplings/ac 

51 ft2 / acre 
36 ft2 / acre 
na 

 

 23 

 
Description 
This stand primarily consists of mature white oak, bur oak, swamp white oak, black oak & black cherry. The 
understory is dominated by invasive plants, shrubs & cherry saplings.  
 
While oaks are still very common trees in Wisconsin, the abundance of high-quality red and white oaks on nutrient-
rich sites has declined considerably due to forest succession and failed regeneration. In general, oaks grow best on well-
drained loamy soils. All oaks require drastic disturbance of the forest, both overstory and understory, in order to 
regenerate. On richer sites, oak forests are particularly difficult to regenerate and competition control is essential. Fire 
is one tool that facilitates the regeneration and maintenance of oak forests. To regenerate oak, foresters commonly 
mimic the effects of fire using mechanical tools or chemical application.  
 

Stand 2 is expected to naturally convert to buckthorn, cherry and box elder species which are present in the understory 
unless intensive brush treatments are conducted to provide proper conditions for oak and hickory regeneration. 
 
Stand Age & Year of Origin 
Oaks in this stand were not aged but are estimated to be over 100 years old in 2016. Many of the mature overstory 
trees are starting to decline in vigor and health. An established forest is evident in the 1937 aerial photo. Average Stand 
Diameter =12" 
 

Tree Species Details 
 Species Basal Area  

(ft2 / acre) 
Cords 
/acre 

Board Feet  
/ acre 

1st major species Black Oak (Some Red Oak) 25 2 1,530 

2nd major species Black Cherry 23 4 120 

3rd major species White, Bur, Swamp Oak   21 2 1,590 

4th major species Shagbark Hickory 10 1 450 

*Minor amounts of Aspen, Basswood, box elder are also present 
 
Stand Conditions, Special Features or Characteristics 
Stand 2 is less stocked but contains more composition of hickory, basswood & bur oak compared to stand 1.Group 
Selection harvest would primarily target declining & over mature oak and cherry for cutting. Favor hickory and 
basswood where feasible and encourage any new growth. Retain snag/den trees for wildlife when harvesting. 
 
Invasive plants 
These trees, shrubs and vines have a major impact on timber production by preventing or restricting the establishment 
and growth of more desirable new tree seedlings.  
STAND 2 Species Density 

Primary invasive plants common buckthorn, garlic mustard, multi-flora rose, Abundant (>50% coverage) 

Secondary invasive plants Honeysuckle,  reed canary grass, Japanese barberry, 
grapevines & raspberry 

Present 

 
Soils 
This stand has primarily a silt loam soil. Loam soils are a mixture of sand, silt and clay particles. Loam soils are 23% to 
52% sand, 28% to 50% silt, and 48% to 78% clay. Silt loam or silt soils have relatively higher amounts of silt particles. 
Loam soils typically have an abundance of moisture and nutrients to sustain excellent growth rates for many tree 
species. Take care to prevent compaction and rutting when using equipment on these soils. USDA Soils map is 
included on page 10.  



Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 7 
 

 
Stand management (Silvicultural) System 
NATURAL CONVERSION via GROUP SELECTION HARVEST. 
Naturally convert this stand by harvesting to create canopy group openings from 75 feet (1/10 acre) to 160 feet (1/2 
acre) in diameter. This group selection regeneration method sets up natural conditions that benefit different tree 
species. The smaller openings benefit more shade tolerant species and the larger openings encourage growth of those 
species that do well in less shade. The stand might require site preparation. Thin the remainder of the stand to reduce 
stocking and concentrate growth on trees that are more desirable by following the order of removal and tree retention 
guidelines.  
 
For most Wisconsin forest types, adequate tree reproduction will be established in 3 to 5 years following the 
regeneration practice or additional management practices may be required to ensure successful tree reproduction. 
Some forest stands may need a longer regeneration period, but these situations must be documented and closely 
monitored to ensure success. 
 

STAND 2 - RECOMMENDED PRACTICES YEAR ACRES Comments 

INVASIVE PLANT CONTROL. Take specific measures to 
manage the species listed above whose aggressive growth or 
reproductive patterns threaten the health or regeneration of the 
stand.  

2017 
continuous 

effort 

23 
Target 
areas 
where 

trees are to 
be cut 

Herbicide treatments to 
reduce buckthorn 
(target female plants 
with berries)  

GROUP SELECTION HARVEST. Naturally convert this stand 
by harvesting to create canopy group openings from 75 feet 
(1/10 acre) to 160 feet (1/2 acre) in diameter. This group 
selection regeneration method sets up natural conditions that 
benefit different tree species. The smaller openings benefit more 
shade tolerant species and the larger openings encourage growth 
of those species that do well in less shade. The stand might 
require site preparation. Thin the remainder of the stand to 
reduce stocking and concentrate growth on trees that are more 
desirable by following the order of removal and tree retention 
guidelines.  

2019 23 This harvest would 
target declining & over 
mature oak and cherry 
for cutting. Tree 
regeneration is lacking 
in much of the stand & 
conducting a site 
preparation treatments 
is highly recommended 
if a harvest is 
conducted.  

SEEDBED PREPARATION. Prepare a seed bed to encourage 
natural or direct seeding of desired trees and shrubs. To 
encourage quick establishment of seedlings, expose the soil in the 
seedbeds. 

2019 23 
Target  cut 

areas 

Preparing a seedbed & 
controlling competition 
is needed to encourage 
new tree growth 

SURVIVAL CHECK. Conduct a follow-up field survey to 
determine the success of regeneration in a stand. Plan your next 
steps with your Forester after obtaining results. 

2022 23 Planting or Direct 
Seeding may be 
necessary if tree 
regeneration is lacking 

RELEASE. Remove or kill overtopping or competing trees to 
benefit trees that are more desirable. (via hand, herbicide or fire) 

2022 
continuous 

effort 

23 
Target  cut 

areas 

Shagbark Hickory is 
expected to naturally 
regenerate if site 
preparation is 
conducted properly 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 8 
 

ALL MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES SUMMARY SHEET 
STAND # PRACTICE YEAR 

1 INVASIVE PLANT CONTROL 2017-19 

2 INVASIVE PLANT CONTROL 2017-19 

1 PATCH SELECTION HARVEST 2019 

1 SEEDBED PREPARATION 2019 

2 GROUP SELECTION HARVEST 2019 

2 SEEDBED PREPARATION 2019 

1 SURVIVAL CHECK 2022 

1 RELEASE 2022 

2 SURVIVAL CHECK 2022 

2 RELEASE 2022 

1 HAND PLANT As needed 

1 DIRECT SEED As needed 

 
 
 

TIMBER SALE PROCESS SUMMARY  
1. A Forester shall mark the timber according to harvesting system described above. 
2. A Forester shall advertise the timber sale to all interested parties. 
3. Invasive brush treatments shall be conducted on all female buckthorn and in areas where trees are to be cut. 

This should be done prior to cutting for ease of access when conducting treatments. 
4. A Logger shall cut all marked trees according to agreed contract. 
5. Follow-up treatments should be conducted in areas of open canopy where tree regeneration is desired. 
6. A Forester shall conduct a regeneration survey in canopy openings 3-5 years after harvest to recommend 

follow-up practices to ensure adequate regeneration takes place where desired.  
 
 *Timber sale contracts between the landowner & logger generally are 2-3 years in length. 
 
When conducting a selection harvest or thinning: 
The standard order of removal shall be followed.  Mark trees in the following priority: 

1. Risk – Cut high risk trees that are likely to die between cutting cycles. 
2. Release crop trees – Cut poorer quality competitors to provide crown growing space around crop trees to 

promote growth and quality development. 
3. Vigor – Cut low vigor trees, based on crown size and condition, crown class, and potential stem decay. 
4. Stem form and quality – Cut poorly formed stems, based on usable log length and potential decay. 
5. Undesirable species (determined by landowner objectives) 
6. Improve spacing.  

 
When conducting a regeneration harvest: 
 1. Look to create canopy openings where regeneration is already present. 
 2. Look to create openings where natural regeneration is most likely to establish. 
 
River Management Zones -  Jerome Creek & Des Plaines River are 100+ feet away from the border of Stands 1 & 2 
thus need no additional consideration when harvesting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 9 
 

 
Prepared by: 
John Gritt 
Sunset Forestry LLC 
3821 Busse St. 
Madison, WI 53714 
office: 608-467-2379 
cell: 920-912-8007 
jjgritt@gmail.com 
www.wix.com/jjgritt5/sunset 

 
 

 
As owner(s) of this property, I hereby accept this Forest Stewardship management plan, recognizing that this is a 
voluntary management plan. 
 
To be signed by the individual landowners (or legal agent, if any) as listed on the deed or other instrument of title.   
 

 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
 

 
Approved for the Department of Natural Resources by: 
 
 
________________________________________________ _______________________ 
Signature of DNR Forester      Date Signed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

www.wix.com/jjgritt5/sunset


Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 10 
 

 
USDA - SOIL MAP 

 

 



Prairie Springs Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 11 
 

 
 

 
   Topography 

 
 

 
   1937 aerial 



Sorenson Woods Forest Stewardship Plan Page 1 
 

 

Sorenson Woods Forest Stewardship Plan (2016) 

 
Name(s) and Address of Landowner(s): 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 
9915 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 
 
County: Kenosha Municipality: Village of Pleasant Prairie 
 
Town: 1N;  Range 22E;  Section 26  part of the SESW                                        Total Plan Acreage: 6.5 
 
 

 
 
 
 

The Purpose of this Forest Stewardship Plan is to encourage the growth of future commercial crops through sound 
forestry practices which recognize the objectives of individual property owners for aesthetics, wildlife habitat, erosion 
control, protection of endangered or threatened plants and animals, compatible recreational activities, economic 
returns, etc.  By state law, "forestry" means managing forest lands and their related resources, including trees and other 
plants, animals, soil, water and air.   
 
 



Sorenson Woods Forest Stewardship Plan Page 2 
 

Landowner Objectives for Management of the Enrolled Lands: 

 Sustainable Timber Management 
 

Key to Size Classes (DBH) - Diameter in inches at Breast Height): 
 0-5  Seedlings and Saplings  
 5-9 / 5-11 Pole timber (Conifers/Hardwoods)  
 9-15/11-15 Small Sawtimber (Conifers/Hardwoods) 
 15+  Large Sawtimber 
 

Key to Stocking Densities (shown by superscripts after the size class): 
Basal area is the cross-sectional area of a trees stem at 4 ½ feet above ground (DBH), measured in feet squared (ft2).   
Reported basal area densities are calculated as the sum of each tree’s basal area divided by the total acres involved. 
 
Stocking Density 
Code 

Seedlings 
(Stem count) 

Saplings 
(Stem count) 

Poletimber 
(basal area) 

Small Sawtimber 
(basal area) 

Large Sawtimber 
(basal area) 

1  (Poor) 200-600 100-300 10-40 ft2 / acre 10-40 ft2 / acre 10-40 ft2 / acre 

2  (Medium) 601-1,500 301-900 41-80 ft2 / acre 41-80 ft2 / acre 41-80 ft2 / acre 

3  (Good) 1,501 + 901 + 81-130 ft2 / acre 81-130 ft2 / acre 81-130 ft2 / acre 

4  (Very Good) NA NA 131-180 ft2 / acre 131-180 ft2 / acre 131-180 ft2 / acre 

5  (Excellent) NA NA 181ft2 +/ acre 181ft2 +/ acre 181 ft2 +/ acre 

 
County Cutting Notice (Section 26.03, Wis. Stats.): 
A written declaration must be filed with the County Clerk prior to cutting any forest products.   
 

Resource Protection:  Wisconsin Foresters consult special records and data banks to make sure your forest 
management prescriptions benefit or avoid risk to important natural, historical or archeological resources.  Prior to 
starting management practices, these inventories will again be consulted.  If new records are found, management 
prescriptions will be evaluated and, if necessary, modified to protect the resource from disturbance.  In developing this 
Stewardship plan; management prescriptions incorporate concerns for below listed species. 
 
Endangered and threatened resources are those plants, animals and natural communities that are thought to be rare 
and easily threatened by changes in the landscape.  The Natural Heritage Inventory (NHI) is a statewide listing of 
known locations for these plants and animals.   
 
A review of the NHI data was completed (6/17/16), and lists the following within your property: 

 No element occurrences were found within the project area, no concerns for habitat. 
 
For additional information on rare plants, animals and natural plant communities, visit 
http://dnr.wi.gov/topic/endangeredresources/ 
 
The Archaeological Resources Inventory lists no archaeological resources within your property. 
The Historical Resources Inventory lists no historical resources within your property. 
 
If during the life of this Stewardship plan, endangered or threatened resources are identified, management prescriptions should be modified to 
incorporate protection of the endangered or threatened resource.  Recognize that much of the state has not been inventoried so an absence of 
evidence is not evidence of absence. 

 
Invasive Plant Species 
Invasive plants may decrease the productivity, regeneration, wildlife habitat, and recreational value of your property. It 
is essential to identify and control small populations of invasive plants to minimize their spread. The individual stand 
descriptions list any invasive plant species identified on your property. For information on invasive plant control, 
consult Wisconsin Council on Forestry’s Forestry Best Management Practices for Invasive Species; go to http://dnr.wi.gov and 
search ‘Forest Management’ to review all BMPs for invasive species. 
 
 

http://dnr.wi.gov/topic/endangeredresources/


Sorenson Woods Forest Stewardship Plan Page 3 
 

Best Management Practices for Water Quality (BMPs) 
To protect the water quality in Wisconsin’s lakes, streams and wetlands and to prevent soil erosion, implement 
Wisconsin's Forestry Best Management Practices for Water Quality during all forest management activities, such as road 
building or timber harvesting. Specific BMPs will be included in detailed practice or harvest plans. You may require 
water regulations permits to cross wetlands and streams. Please go to http://dnr.wi.gov and search ‘Forest 
Management’ to review all BMPs for water quality. 
 
Forest Health 
Over time, your forest may suffer from insects, disease, windstorm, fire, flooding or drought, etc. These problems may 
alter your management prescriptions. If you are concerned about forest health, please contact your local WDNR 
Forester or go to http://dnr.wi.gov and search ‘Forest health’. 
 
Stand descriptions and management Please refer to the map for stand locations. 
A “Stand” is an area with similar timber conditions that is useful to describe and manage the area.  Details of the 
management practices are found under the stand description. 
 

 
STAND 1 DESCRIPTION Volume Basal Area  Stand 

Acres 

OAK 15+2 
CH 5-111 
CH 0-51 

Oak hardwood sawtimber (Medium Stocking) 
Central hardwood poletimber (Poor Stocking) 

Central hardwood seedlings (Poor Stocking) 

5,617 bd ft/acre 
6 cords / acre 

~280 saplings/ac 

69 ft2 / acre 
23 ft2 / acre 
na 

 

 6.5 

 
Description 
This stand primarily consists of scattered mature white oak, swamp white oak and bur oak but is more heavily stocked 
with younger pole sized and small saw-timber red oak. The understory is dominated by invasive plants & shrubs with 
some seedlings and saplings present.  
 
While oaks are still very common trees in Wisconsin, the abundance of high-quality red and white oaks on nutrient-
rich sites has declined considerably due to forest succession and failed regeneration. In general, oaks grow best on well-
drained loamy soils. All oaks require drastic disturbance of the forest, both overstory and understory, in order to 
regenerate. On richer sites, oak forests are particularly difficult to regenerate and competition control is essential. Fire 
is one tool that facilitates the regeneration and maintenance of oak forests. To regenerate oak, foresters commonly 
mimic the effects of fire using mechanical tools or chemical application.  
 
Stand 1 is expected to naturally convert to buckthorn & central hardwood species which are present in the understory 
unless intensive brush treatments are conducted to provide proper conditions for oak, hickory & cherry regeneration. 
 
Stand Age & Year of Origin 
Oaks in this stand were not aged but are estimated to be less than or right at 100 years old in 2016. An established 
scattered and likely grazed forest is evident in the 1937 aerial photo. A more complete canopy forest is evident by 1970 
and thus makes this stand have 2 different established age classes. Average Stand Diameter =15" 
 
Tree Species Details 
 Species Basal Area  

(ft2 / acre) 
Cords 
/acre 

Board Feet  
/ acre 

1st major species Red Oak  50 2 3,633 

2nd major species White Oak / Swamp 
White/ Bur Oak 

18 0 1,300 

3rd major species Black Walnut 13 1 683 

4th major species Shagbark Hickory 5 1 0 

*Minor amounts of cherry, box elder, aspen & cottonwood are also present 



Sorenson Woods Forest Stewardship Plan Page 4 
 

 
Stand Conditions, Special Features or Characteristics 
2027 Thinning should follow the order of removal and focus on crop tree production. Retain snag/den trees for 
wildlife when harvesting. Walnuts should be harvested when at optimal timber value. 
 
Invasive plants 
These trees, shrubs and vines have a major impact on timber production by preventing or restricting the establishment 
and growth of more desirable new tree seedlings.  
STAND 1 Species Density 

Primary invasive plants common buckthorn & garlic mustard Abundant (>50% coverage) 

Secondary invasive plants multi-flora rose,  honeysuckle, raspberry & 
grapevines 

Present 

*Native shrubs present: maple leaf viburnum, dogwood, elderberry 
 
Soils 
This stand has primarily a silt loam soil. Loam soils are a mixture of sand, silt and clay particles. Loam soils are 23% to 
52% sand, 28% to 50% silt, and 48% to 78% clay. Silt loam or silt soils have relatively higher amounts of silt particles. 
Loam soils typically have an abundance of moisture and nutrients to sustain excellent growth rates for many tree 
species. Take care to prevent compaction and rutting when using equipment on these soils.  
 
This stand has secondary clay loam soil. Clay loam soils are a mixture of sand, silt and clay particles, but have a higher 
amount of clay than loam soils. Clay loam soils are 20% to 45% sand, 15% to 53% silt, and 55% to 80% clay. Clay 
loam soils have an abundance of moisture and nutrients to sustain excellent growth for many tree species, but they 
drain slowly and wetness can be a limitation. Excessive moisture may limit equipment operations, and make the site 
unsuitable for some tree species. Take care to prevent compaction and rutting when using equipment on these soils. 
USDA Soils map is included on page 8. 
 
Stand management (Silvicultural) System 
NATURAL REGENERATION & CONVERSION via THINNING. Remove trees to reduce stand density 
thereby improving tree growth and enhancing forest health, or to utilize trees that are at risk of mortality. Thin the 
stand to reduce stocking and concentrate growth on trees that are more desirable by following the order of removal 
and tree retention guidelines.  
 

STAND 1 - RECOMMENDED PRACTICES YEAR ACRES Comments 

THINNING. Remove trees to reduce stand density thereby 
improving tree growth and enhancing forest health, or to utilize 
trees that are at risk of mortality. Thin the stand to reduce 
stocking and concentrate growth on trees that are more desirable 
by following the order of removal and tree retention guidelines. 

2027 6.5 Cutting should 
primarily focus on risk 
and crop tree release . 

SURVIVAL CHECK. Conduct a follow-up field survey to 
determine the success of regeneration in a stand. Plan your next 
steps with your Forester after obtaining results. 

2030 6.5  

RELEASE. Remove or kill overtopping or competing trees to 
benefit trees that are more desirable. 

As needed 6.5  

INVASIVE PLANT CONTROL. Take specific measures to 
manage the species listed above whose aggressive growth or 
reproductive patterns threaten the health or regeneration of the 
stand.  

As needed 6.5 
 

Herbicide treatments to 
reduce buckthorn 
(target female plants 
with berries)  

 
 
 



Sorenson Woods Forest Stewardship Plan Page 5 
 

 
 

ALL MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES SUMMARY SHEET 
STAND # PRACTICE YEAR 

1 THINNING 2027 

1 SURVIVAL CHECK 2030 

1 RELEASE As needed 

1 INVASIVE PLANT CONTROL As needed 

 
 
 
 

 
TIMBER SALE PROCESS SUMMARY  

1. A Forester shall mark the timber according to harvesting system described above. 
2. A Forester shall advertise the timber sale to all interested parties. 
3. Invasive brush treatments shall be conducted on all female buckthorn and in areas where trees are to be cut. 

This should be done prior to cutting for ease of access when conducting treatments. 
4. A Logger shall cut all marked trees according to agreed contract. 
5. Follow-up treatments should be conducted in areas of open canopy where tree regeneration is desired. 
6. A Forester shall conduct a regeneration survey in canopy openings 3-5 years after harvest to recommend 

follow-up practices to ensure adequate regeneration takes place where desired.  
 
 *Timber sale contracts between the landowner & logger generally are 2-3 years in length. 
 
When conducting a selection harvest or thinning: 
The standard order of removal shall be followed.  Mark trees in the following priority: 

1. Risk – Cut high risk trees that are likely to die between cutting cycles. 
2. Release crop trees – Cut poorer quality competitors to provide crown growing space around crop trees to 

promote growth and quality development. 
3. Vigor – Cut low vigor trees, based on crown size and condition, crown class, and potential stem decay. 
4. Stem form and quality – Cut poorly formed stems, based on usable log length and potential decay. 
5. Undesirable species (determined by landowner objectives) 
6. Improve spacing.  

 
When conducting a regeneration harvest: 
 1. Look to create canopy openings where regeneration is already present. 
 2. Look to create openings where natural regeneration is most likely to establish. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Sorenson Woods Forest Stewardship Plan Page 6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: 
John Gritt 
Sunset Forestry LLC 
3821 Busse St. 
Madison, WI 53714 
office: 608-467-2379 
cell: 920-912-8007 
jjgritt@gmail.com 
www.wix.com/jjgritt5/sunset 

 
 

 
As owner(s) of this property, I hereby accept this Forest Stewardship management plan, recognizing that this is a 
voluntary management plan. 
 
To be signed by the individual landowners (or legal agent, if any) as listed on the deed or other instrument of title.   
 

 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
 

 
Approved for the Department of Natural Resources by: 
 
 
________________________________________________ _______________________ 
Signature of DNR Forester      Date Signed 
 
 
 
 
 

file:///C:/Users/Sunset/Desktop/OTHER/Kenosha_Co_Pleasant_Prairie/www.wix.com/jjgritt5/sunset


Sorenson Woods Forest Stewardship Plan Page 7 
 

 
 

USDA - SOIL MAP 

 

 
 
 
 
 



Sorenson Woods Forest Stewardship Plan Page 8 
 

    
 

 
   Topography 

 

 
   1937 aerial 
 

 
   1970 aerial 



Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 1 
 

 

Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan (2016) 

 
Name(s) and Address of Landowner(s): 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 
9915 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 
 
County: Kenosha Municipality: Village of Pleasant Prairie 
 
Town: 1N;  Range 22E;  Section 23  parts of the SENW, NESW, SWNE                                Total Plan Acreage: 15.7 
 
 

 
 
 

The Purpose of this Forest Stewardship Plan is to encourage the growth of future commercial crops through sound 
forestry practices which recognize the objectives of individual property owners for aesthetics, wildlife habitat, erosion 
control, protection of endangered or threatened plants and animals, compatible recreational activities, economic 
returns, etc.  By state law, "forestry" means managing forest lands and their related resources, including trees and other 
plants, animals, soil, water and air.   
 
 



Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 2 
 

Landowner Objectives for Management of the Enrolled Lands: 

 Sustainable Timber Management 

 Maintain aesthetic qualities of park 

 Establish a new trail through the woods 
 

Key to Size Classes (DBH) - Diameter in inches at Breast Height): 
 0-5  Seedlings and Saplings  
 5-9 / 5-11 Pole timber (Conifers/Hardwoods)  
 9-15/11-15 Small Sawtimber (Conifers/Hardwoods) 
 15+  Large Sawtimber 
 

Key to Stocking Densities (shown by superscripts after the size class): 
Basal area is the cross-sectional area of a trees stem at 4 ½ feet above ground (DBH), measured in feet squared (ft2).   
Reported basal area densities are calculated as the sum of each tree’s basal area divided by the total acres involved. 
 
Stocking Density 
Code 

Seedlings 
(Stem count) 

Saplings 
(Stem count) 

Poletimber 
(basal area) 

Small Sawtimber 
(basal area) 

Large Sawtimber 
(basal area) 

1  (Poor) 200-600 100-300 10-40 ft2 / acre 10-40 ft2 / acre 10-40 ft2 / acre 

2  (Medium) 601-1,500 301-900 41-80 ft2 / acre 41-80 ft2 / acre 41-80 ft2 / acre 

3  (Good) 1,501 + 901 + 81-130 ft2 / acre 81-130 ft2 / acre 81-130 ft2 / acre 

4  (Very Good) NA NA 131-180 ft2 / acre 131-180 ft2 / acre 131-180 ft2 / acre 

5  (Excellent) NA NA 181ft2 +/ acre 181ft2 +/ acre 181 ft2 +/ acre 

 
County Cutting Notice (Section 26.03, Wis. Stats.): 
A written declaration must be filed with the County Clerk prior to cutting any forest products.   
 

Resource Protection:  Wisconsin Foresters consult special records and data banks to make sure your forest 
management prescriptions benefit or avoid risk to important natural, historical or archeological resources.  Prior to 
starting management practices, these inventories will again be consulted.  If new records are found, management 
prescriptions will be evaluated and, if necessary, modified to protect the resource from disturbance.  In developing this 
Stewardship plan; management prescriptions incorporate concerns for below listed species. 
 
Endangered and threatened resources are those plants, animals and natural communities that are thought to be rare 
and easily threatened by changes in the landscape.  The Natural Heritage Inventory (NHI) is a statewide listing of 
known locations for these plants and animals.   
 
A review of the NHI data was completed (6/17/16), and lists the following within your property: 

 1 element occurrence was found within the project area, no concerns for habitat. 
 
For additional information on rare plants, animals and natural plant communities, visit 
http://dnr.wi.gov/topic/endangeredresources/ 
 
The Archaeological Resources Inventory lists no archaeological resources within your property. 
The Historical Resources Inventory lists no historical resources within your property. 
 
If during the life of this Stewardship plan, endangered or threatened resources are identified, management prescriptions should be modified to 
incorporate protection of the endangered or threatened resource.  Recognize that much of the state has not been inventoried so an absence of 
evidence is not evidence of absence. 

 
Invasive Plant Species 
Invasive plants may decrease the productivity, regeneration, wildlife habitat, and recreational value of your property. It 
is essential to identify and control small populations of invasive plants to minimize their spread. The individual stand 
descriptions list any invasive plant species identified on your property. For information on invasive plant control, 
consult Wisconsin Council on Forestry’s Forestry Best Management Practices for Invasive Species; go to http://dnr.wi.gov and 
search ‘Forest Management’ to review all BMPs for invasive species. 

http://dnr.wi.gov/topic/endangeredresources/


Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 3 
 

 
Best Management Practices for Water Quality (BMPs) 
To protect the water quality in Wisconsin’s lakes, streams and wetlands and to prevent soil erosion, implement 
Wisconsin's Forestry Best Management Practices for Water Quality during all forest management activities, such as road 
building or timber harvesting. Specific BMPs will be included in detailed practice or harvest plans. You may require 
water regulations permits to cross wetlands and streams. Please go to http://dnr.wi.gov and search ‘Forest 
Management’ to review all BMPs for water quality. 
 
Forest Health 
Over time, your forest may suffer from insects, disease, windstorm, fire, flooding or drought, etc. These problems may 
alter your management prescriptions. If you are concerned about forest health, please contact your local WDNR 
Forester or go to http://dnr.wi.gov and search ‘Forest health’. 
 
Stand descriptions and management Please refer to the map for stand locations. 
A “Stand” is an area with similar timber conditions that is useful to describe and manage the area.  Details of the 
management practices are found under the stand description. 
 

 
STAND 1 DESCRIPTION Volume Basal Area  Stand 

Acres 

OAK 15+3 
CH 5-111 
UB 

Oak hardwood sawtimber (Good Stocking) 
Oak poletimber (Poor Stocking) 

Brush (Buckthorn & Hawthorn) 

5,889 bd ft/acre 
4 cords / acre 

~90 saplings/ac 

72 ft2 / acre 
13 ft2 / acre 
na 

 

 13.3 

 
Description 
This stand primarily consists of mature white oak, swamp white oak, red oak, black oak & bur oak. The understory is 
dominated by invasive plants & shrubs with very few seedlings and saplings present.  
 
While oaks are still very common trees in Wisconsin, the abundance of high-quality red and white oaks on nutrient-
rich sites has declined considerably due to forest succession and failed regeneration. In general, oaks grow best on well-
drained loamy soils. All oaks require drastic disturbance of the forest, both overstory and understory, in order to 
regenerate. On richer sites, oak forests are particularly difficult to regenerate and competition control is essential. Fire 
is one tool that facilitates the regeneration and maintenance of oak forests. To regenerate oak, foresters commonly 
mimic the effects of fire using mechanical tools or chemical application.  
 
Stand 1 is expected to naturally convert to buckthorn & hawthorn which are present in the understory unless intensive 
brush treatments are conducted to provide proper conditions for oak, hickory & cherry regeneration. 
 
Stand Age & Year of Origin 
Oaks in this stand were not aged but are estimated to be over 100 years old in 2016. Many of the mature overstory 
trees are starting to decline in vigor and health. An established forest is evident in the 1937 aerial photo and little 
cutting has taken place since. Average Stand Diameter =18" 
 
Tree Species Details 
 Species Basal Area  

(ft2 / acre) 
Cords 
/acre 

Board Feet  
/ acre 

1st major species White Oak 33 1 2,644 

2nd major species Black /Red Oak 26 1 1,755 

3rd major species Swamp White/ Bur Oak 16 1 1,244 

4th major species Shagbark Hickory 6 0 244 

5th major species Black Cherry 3 1 0 

 



Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 4 
 

Stand Conditions, Special Features or Characteristics 
2019 Patch Selection harvest would primarily target declining & over mature oak for cutting. Tree regeneration is 
lacking in much of the stand & conducting a site preparation treatments is highly recommended if a harvest is 
conducted. Harvest goals would be to encourage new oak & hickory growth in canopy openings. Retain snag/den 
trees for wildlife when harvesting. 
 
Invasive plants 
These trees, shrubs and vines have a major impact on timber production by preventing or restricting the establishment 
and growth of more desirable new tree seedlings.  
STAND 1 Species Density 

Primary invasive plants common buckthorn, hawthorn Abundant (>50% coverage) 

Secondary invasive plants honeysuckle, garlic mustard, multi-flora 
rose,  Japanese barberry & grapevines 

Present 

 
Soils 
This stand has primarily a silt loam soil. Loam soils are a mixture of sand, silt and clay particles. Loam soils are 23% to 
52% sand, 28% to 50% silt, and 48% to 78% clay. Silt loam or silt soils have relatively higher amounts of silt particles. 
Loam soils typically have an abundance of moisture and nutrients to sustain excellent growth rates for many tree 
species. Take care to prevent compaction and rutting when using equipment on these soils. USDA Soils map is 
included on page 9.  
 
Stand management (Silvicultural) System 
NATURAL REGENERATION & CONVERSION via PATCH SELECTION HARVEST. 
Naturally convert this stand using the patch selection regeneration method. This involves harvesting to create even-
aged patches from ½ to 2 acres in size. This system is most appropriate for the management of species mid-tolerant of 
shade, but can also be applied to manage shade intolerant and tolerant tree species. Sources of regeneration may 
include any of: well-established advanced regeneration, vegetative sprouts, or seed. If depending on seed, time 
regeneration practices, including site preparation, to take advantage of good seed years. In most stands, thin the 
remainder of the stand to reduce stocking and concentrate growth on more desirable trees by following the order of 
removal and tree retention guidelines. 
 
 

STAND 1 - RECOMMENDED PRACTICES YEAR ACRES Comments 

INVASIVE PLANT CONTROL. Take specific measures to 
manage the species listed above whose aggressive growth or 
reproductive patterns threaten the health or regeneration of the 
stand.  

2017 
continuous 

effort 

13 
Target 
areas 
where 

trees are to 
be cut 

Herbicide treatments to 
reduce buckthorn 
(target female plants 
with berries)  

PATCH SELECTION HARVEST. Naturally regenerate this 
stand using the patch selection regeneration method. This 
involves harvesting to create even-aged patches from ½ to 2 
acres in size. This system is most appropriate for the 
management of species mid-tolerant of shade, but can also be 
applied to manage shade intolerant and tolerant tree species. 
Sources of regeneration may include any of: well-established 
advanced regeneration, vegetative sprouts, or seed. If depending 
on seed, time regeneration practices, including site preparation, to 
take advantage of good seed years. In most stands, thin the 
remainder of the stand to reduce stocking and concentrate 
growth on more desirable trees by following the order of removal 
and tree retention guidelines. 

2019 13 This harvest would 
primarily target 
declining & over 
mature oak for cutting. 
Tree regeneration is 
lacking in much of the 
stand & conducting a 
site preparation 
treatments is highly 
recommended if this 
harvest is conducted.  
 



Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 5 
 

SEEDBED PREPARATION. Prepare a seed bed to encourage 
natural or direct seeding of desired trees and shrubs. To 
encourage quick establishment of seedlings, expose the soil in the 
seedbeds. 

2019 13 
Target  cut 

areas 

Preparing a seedbed & 
controlling competition 
is needed to encourage 
new tree growth 

SURVIVAL CHECK. Conduct a follow-up field survey to 
determine the success of regeneration in a stand. Plan your next 
steps with your Forester after obtaining results. 

2022 13 Planting or Direct 
Seeding may be 
necessary if tree 
regeneration is lacking 

RELEASE. Remove or kill overtopping or competing trees to 
benefit trees that are more desirable. (via hand, herbicide or fire) 

2022 
continuous 

effort 

13 
Target  cut 

areas 

Oaks & Shagbark 
Hickory "could" 
naturally regenerate if 
site preparation is 
conducted properly 

DIRECT SEED. Broadcast or drill a mixture of oak, walnut & 
hickory.  

Only needed 
if natural 

regeneration 
fails 

13 
Target  cut 

areas 

Only direct seed in 
areas of full sunlight 

 
 

 
 
STAND 2 DESCRIPTION Volume Basal Area  Stand 

Acres 

Brush Brush (Buckthorn & Hawthorn) na na 
 

 1.7 
*A handful of oaks, cherries & cottonwood are present in this stand. 
 
Description 
Upland Brush sites have 50% tall persistent shrubs and less than 10% trees. This stand primarily contains Hawthorn 
and buckthorn brush. Upland brush can grow on a variety of soils. 
 
Stand Conditions, Special Features or Characteristics 
Stand is primarily brush. Release any natural tree regeneration that is affected by competing brush. 
 
Invasive plants 
These trees, shrubs and vines have a major impact on timber production by preventing or restricting the establishment 
and growth of more desirable new tree seedlings.  
STAND 2 Species Density 

Primary invasive plants common buckthorn, garlic mustard Abundant (>50% coverage) 

Secondary invasive plants Honeysuckle, Japanese barberry & grapevines  Present 

 
Soils 
This stand has primarily a silt loam soil. Loam soils are a mixture of sand, silt and clay particles. Loam soils are 23% to 
52% sand, 28% to 50% silt, and 48% to 78% clay. Silt loam or silt soils have relatively higher amounts of silt particles. 
Loam soils typically have an abundance of moisture and nutrients to sustain excellent growth rates for many tree 
species. Take care to prevent compaction and rutting when using equipment on these soils. USDA Soils map is 
included on page 10.  
 

STAND 2 - RECOMMENDED PRACTICES YEAR ACRES Comments 

RELEASE. Remove or kill overtopping or competing trees to 
benefit trees that are more desirable. (via hand, herbicide or fire) 

2017 
continuous 

effort 

1.7 
Target  cut 

areas 

Target any oaks present 
for release  



Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 6 
 

 
STAND 3 DESCRIPTION Volume Basal Area  Stand 

Acres 

Brush / Grass Brush (Buckthorn & Hawthorn) / Lowland 
Grass 

na na 
 

.7 
*A handful of cottonwood are present in this stand. 
 
Description 
Upland Brush sites have 50% tall persistent shrubs and less than 10% trees. This stand primarily contains Hawthorn 
and buckthorn brush. Upland brush can grow on a variety of soils. Lowland Grass.Lowland Grass areas predominantly 
consist of reed canary grass, bluejoint, redtop, cordgrass, and other grasses that grow in wet or periodically flooded 
conditions. Lowland grasses can grow in a variety of soils, but usually grow in wetter silt and clay soils that retain a lot 
of water. 
 
Stand Conditions, Special Features or Characteristics 
Stand needs no management. 
 
Invasive plants 
These trees, shrubs and vines have a major impact on timber production by preventing or restricting the establishment 
and growth of more desirable new tree seedlings.  
STAND 3 Species Density 

Primary invasive plants common buckthorn, reed canary grass Abundant (>50% coverage) 

Secondary invasive plants Honeysuckle, Japanese barberry & grapevines  Present 

 
Soils 
This stand has primarily a silt loam soil. Loam soils are a mixture of sand, silt and clay particles. Loam soils are 23% to 
52% sand, 28% to 50% silt, and 48% to 78% clay. Silt loam or silt soils have relatively higher amounts of silt particles. 
Loam soils typically have an abundance of moisture and nutrients to sustain excellent growth rates for many tree 
species. Take care to prevent compaction and rutting when using equipment on these soils. USDA Soils map is 
included on page 10.  
 

STAND 3 - RECOMMENDED PRACTICES YEAR ACRES Comments 

NONE na na na  

 
 

 
 

ALL MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES SUMMARY SHEET 
STAND # PRACTICE YEAR 

1 INVASIVE PLANT CONTROL 2017-19 

2 RELEASE 2017- As needed 

1 PATCH SELECTION HARVEST 2019 

1 SEEDBED PREPARATION 2019 

1 SURVIVAL CHECK 2022 

1 RELEASE 2022 - As needed 

1 DIRECT SEED As needed 

 
 
 
 



Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 7 
 

 
TIMBER SALE PROCESS SUMMARY  

1. A Forester shall mark the timber according to harvesting system described above. 
2. A Forester shall advertise the timber sale to all interested parties. 
3. Invasive brush treatments shall be conducted on all female buckthorn and in areas where trees are to be cut. 

This should be done prior to cutting for ease of access when conducting treatments. 
4. A Logger shall cut all marked trees according to agreed contract. 
5. Follow-up treatments should be conducted in areas of open canopy where tree regeneration is desired. 
6. A Forester shall conduct a regeneration survey in canopy openings 3-5 years after harvest to recommend 

follow-up practices to ensure adequate regeneration takes place where desired.  
 
 *Timber sale contracts between the landowner & logger generally are 2-3 years in length. 
 
When conducting a selection harvest or thinning: 
The standard order of removal shall be followed.  Mark trees in the following priority: 

1. Risk – Cut high risk trees that are likely to die between cutting cycles. 
2. Release crop trees – Cut poorer quality competitors to provide crown growing space around crop trees to 

promote growth and quality development. 
3. Vigor – Cut low vigor trees, based on crown size and condition, crown class, and potential stem decay. 
4. Stem form and quality – Cut poorly formed stems, based on usable log length and potential decay. 
5. Undesirable species (determined by landowner objectives) 
6. Improve spacing.  

 
When conducting a regeneration harvest: 
 1. Look to create canopy openings where regeneration is already present. 
 2. Look to create openings where natural regeneration is most likely to establish. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 8 
 

 
 
Prepared by: 
John Gritt 
Sunset Forestry LLC 
3821 Busse St. 
Madison, WI 53714 
office: 608-467-2379 
cell: 920-912-8007 
jjgritt@gmail.com 
www.wix.com/jjgritt5/sunset 

 
 

 
As owner(s) of this property, I hereby accept this Forest Stewardship management plan, recognizing that this is a 
voluntary management plan. 
 
To be signed by the individual landowners (or legal agent, if any) as listed on the deed or other instrument of title.   
 

 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
___________________________________________ ________________________ 
Signature       Date Signed 
 
 

 
Approved for the Department of Natural Resources by: 
 
 
________________________________________________ _______________________ 
Signature of DNR Forester      Date Signed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

file:///C:/Users/Sunset/Desktop/OTHER/Kenosha_Co_Pleasant_Prairie/www.wix.com/jjgritt5/sunset


Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 9 
 

 
 

USDA - SOIL MAP 

 
 

 
 
 
 



Village Green Park Forest Stewardship Plan Page 10 
 

    
 
 

 
   Topography 

 
 

 
   1937 aerial 



                                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix G: 

 

Pleasant Prairie Shoreline Assessment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CD Definitions and Ratings Explanations 

 

“Good” – this designation means the existing structures appear to be in perfect condition or near 
perfect condition. Minor structural damage with minimal loss of integrity may be present, but the 
structure is still performing as designed. The structure may show some signs of deterioration and loss of 
function, either due to minor damage and or changing external physical or environmental conditions. 
Structures in this category may require some general maintenance or repair within the next 5 years.  

 

“Fair” – This designation means the existing structure appears to be in marginal condition, with 
moderate or more than moderate loss of integrity and structural damage. The structure is only 
marginally function, with significant performance losses due to structural damage and/or to adverse 
physical or environmental conditions. The remaining life span of the structure relies on future water 
level conditions, with the life span shortening under high water conditions. This structure requires 
extensive monitoring, maintenance and/or repair.  

 

“Poor” – This designation means the existing structure has major structural damage and is no longer 
functioning as designed. This structure is providing minimal erosion protection and will likely require 
replacement. This structure may have large cracks, large sections missing, be undermined, submerged 
or completely falling apart.  

 

 

Revetment - A sloped structure of stone or concrete designed to protect a bluff or bank from erosion 
and wave attack. Usually oriented parallel to shore.  

Rip-Rap / Rubble – Concrete or rock debris of varying sizes placed or dumped along the shore to provide 
protection. Usually oriented parallel to shore.  

Groin - A shore protection structure built (usually perpendicular to the shoreline) to trap sand and 
retard erosion of the shore. Structure is solid and can be permeable or impermeable to water and 
sediment.  Usually oriented perpendicular to shore.  

Sea Wall/Bulkhead - A vertical structure, usually made of concrete, steel or wood beams, designed to 
protect a bluff or bank from erosion and wave attack. Usually oriented parallel to shore.  

Retaining Wall – A vertical structure, usually made of concrete, steel, rock, or wood beams, designed to 
resist the lateral pressure of the material behind it and to prevent the downslope movement of material 
on a slope.  May serve to protect bluff or bank from erosion.  Usually oriented parallel to shore. 

 



93-4-123-202-0035

93-4-123-202-0030

93-4-123-202-0040

93-4-123-202-0025

93-4-123-202-0020

93-4-123-202-0015

93-4-123-172-0110

93-4-123-184-0135

93-4-123-172-0226

93-4-123-184-0130

93-4-123-184-0080

93-4-123-184-0125

93-4-123-184-0118

93-4-123-172-0200

93-4-123-172-0210

93-4-123-184-0155

93-4-123-172-0175

93-4-123-184-0095

93-4-123-184-0100

93-4-123-172-0235

93-4-123-172-0185

93-4-123-172-0165

93-4-123-184-0030

93-4-123-202-0090

93-4-123-172-0131

93-4-123-172-0170

93-4-123-172-0025
93-4-123-172-0030

93-4-123-184-0025

93-4-123-184-0005

93-4-123-202-0095

93-4-123-172-0136

93-4-123-172-0160

93-4-123-172-0141

93-4-123-172-0143

93-4-123-172-0005

93-4-123-172-0015

93-4-123-172-0020

93-4-123-202-0100

93-4-123-172-0155

93-4-123-172-0010

93-4-123-172-0150

93-4-123-202-0115

93-4-123-202-0011

93-4-123-202-0061

93-4-123-184-0041

93-4-123-202-0045

93-4-123-202-0075

93-4-123-172-0216

93-4-123-202-0070

93-4-123-202-0080

93-4-123-184-0140

93-4-123-172-0126

93-4-123-184-0075

93-4-123-172-0115

93-4-123-184-0145

93-4-123-184-0070

93-4-123-202-0050

93-4-123-184-0150

93-4-123-202-0055

93-4-123-202-0085

93-4-123-172-0190

93-4-123-184-0085

93-4-123-172-0195

93-4-123-184-0160

93-4-123-172-0205

93-4-123-184-0110

93-4-123-202-0125

93-4-123-184-0090

93-4-123-184-0105

93-4-123-172-0230

93-4-123-172-0145

93-4-123-172-0180

93-4-123-184-0010

93-4-123-202-0120

93-4-123-184-0015

93-4-123-202-0141

93-4-123-202-0110

93-4-123-184-0065

93-4-123-184-0055

93-4-123-184-0117

93-4-123-184-0060

93-4-123-184-0050

93-4-123-184-0045

93-4-123-184-0020

93-4-123-202-0130

93-4-123-202-0105

3R
D A

VE

4TH AVE

90TH ST

98TH ST

2N
D A

VE

96TH ST

86TH PL

93R
D ST

91ST PL

85TH ST

87TH PL

87TH ST

3RD AVE

Legend

Shoreline Parcel

Public Parcel

Condition

Good

Fair

Poor

Pleasant Prairie Shoreline

Overall Map Location

Village of Pleasant Prairie

Ë
0 500250

Feet

Date Created: June, 2018
Path: P:\P0200190_Pleasant Prairie-Lake Michigan
Shoreline\15-0 GIS Files\Shoreline Map.mxd

91ST ST

116TH ST

128TH ST

104TH ST

85TH ST



93-4-123-293-0300

93-4-123-203-0140

93-4-123-203-0051

93-4-123-203-0017

93-4-123-203-0007

93-4-123-203-0155

93-4-123-203-0160

93-4-123-203-0145

93-4-123-293-0230

93-4-123-293-0265

93-4-123-293-0260

93-4-123-293-0285

93-4-123-293-0235

93-4-123-293-0280

93-4-123-203-0045

93-4-123-293-0290

93-4-123-292-0280

93-4-123-203-0025

93-4-123-202-0150

93-4-123-202-0155

93-4-123-203-0040

93-4-123-293-0310

93-4-123-292-0290

93-4-123-292-0285

93-4-123-203-0080

93-4-123-203-0030

93-4-123-292-0321

93-4-123-292-0346

93-4-123-202-0141

93-4-123-203-0150

93-4-123-293-0225

93-4-123-202-0125

93-4-123-293-0275

93-4-123-293-0220

93-4-123-293-0270

93-4-123-202-0145

93-4-123-203-0060

93-4-123-203-0065

93-4-123-203-0075

93-4-123-292-0295

93-4-123-293-0240

93-4-123-203-0035

93-4-123-293-0315

93-4-123-292-0300

93-4-123-203-0135

93-4-123-203-0085

93-4-123-203-0090

93-4-123-293-0215

93-4-123-203-0095

93-4-123-203-0130

93-4-123-203-0100

93-4-123-203-0125

93-4-123-203-0115

93-4-123-203-0120

93-4-123-203-0105

93-4-123-203-0110

93-4-123-292-0411

93-4-123-292-0391

93-4-123-202-0130

93-4-123-292-0405

93-4-123-203-0070

93-4-123-292-0330

93-4-123-293-0245

93-4-123-293-0320

93-4-123-292-0305

93-4-123-293-0255

93-4-123-292-0370

93-4-123-293-0250

93-4-123-292-0365

93-4-123-292-0360

93-4-123-293-0325

3RD AVE

4T
H A

VE

2ND AVE

108TH ST

1ST CT

113
TH

 ST

102ND ST

110TH ST

100TH ST

107TH ST

98TH ST

114TH ST

3RD AVE

2ND AVE

Legend

Shoreline Parcel

Public Parcel

Condition

Good

Fair

Poor

Pleasant Prairie Shoreline

Overall Map Location

Village of Pleasant Prairie

Ë
0 500250

Feet

Date Created: June, 2018
Path: P:\P0200190_Pleasant Prairie-Lake Michigan
Shoreline\15-0 GIS Files\Shoreline Map.mxd

91ST ST

116TH ST

128TH ST

104TH ST

85TH ST



93-4-123-322-0191

93-4-123-323-0320

93-4-123-322-0165

93-4-123-322-0105

93-4-123-323-0087

93-4-123-322-0100

93-4-123-323-0350

93-4-123-293-0210

93-4-123-322-0070

93-4-123-322-0040

93-4-123-322-0065

93-4-123-322-0045

93-4-123-322-0090

93-4-123-293-0230

93-4-123-323-0081

93-4-123-323-0100

93-4-123-323-0070

93-4-123-322-0060

93-4-123-293-0205

93-4-123-293-0265

93-4-123-322-0050

93-4-123-322-0110

93-4-123-322-0055

93-4-123-293-0260

93-4-123-293-0285

93-4-123-293-0235

93-4-123-293-0280

93-4-123-293-0290

93-4-123-293-0300

93-4-123-322-0020

93-4-123-322-0015

93-4-123-322-0005

93-4-123-322-0010

93-4-123-323-0060

93-4-123-322-0075

93-4-123-293-0225

93-4-123-322-0035

93-4-123-293-0275

93-4-123-293-0220

93-4-123-293-0215

93-4-123-293-0270

93-4-123-322-0030

93-4-123-322-0150

93-4-123-293-0240

93-4-123-293-0200

93-4-123-323-0360

93-4-123-323-0315

93-4-123-323-0310

93-4-123-323-0325

93-4-123-323-0330

93-4-123-322-0160

93-4-123-323-0064

93-4-123-322-0155

93-4-123-323-0050

93-4-123-323-0075

93-4-123-293-0245

93-4-123-322-0025

93-4-123-322-0080
93-4-123-322-0085

93-4-123-323-0365

93-4-123-293-0255

93-4-123-293-0250

1ST CT

2ND AVE

122ND ST

116TH ST

125TH ST

115TH ST

127TH ST

1S
T C

T
Legend

Shoreline Parcel

Public Parcel

Condition

Good

Fair

Poor

Pleasant Prairie Shoreline

Overall Map Location

Village of Pleasant Prairie

Ë
0 500250

Feet

Date Created: June, 2018
Path: P:\P0200190_Pleasant Prairie-Lake Michigan
Shoreline\15-0 GIS Files\Shoreline Map.mxd

91ST ST

116TH ST

128TH ST

104TH ST

85TH ST



                                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix H: 

 

Village of Pleasant Prairie 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails 

Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





Village of Pleasant Prairie 

2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

 

 
Adopted by Ord. #10-27 on April 19, 2010 

 





Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

i 

Acknowledgements 
 

Village of Pleasant Prairie Village Board 
John Steinbrink, Village President 

Monica M. Yuhas, Trustee #1 

Steve Kumorkiewicz, Trustee #2 

Clyde R. Allen, Trustee #3 

Michael Serpe, Trustee #4 

 

Project Manager 
John Steinbrink, Jr., Director of Public Works 

 

Steering Committee 

John Steinbrink, Jr., Village of Pleasant Prairie Director of Public Works 

Jean Werbie-Harris, Village of Pleasant Prairie Community Development Director 

Mike Spence, Village Engineer of Pleasant Prairie 

Brian Wagner, Village of Pleasant Prairie Chief of Police 

Glenn Christiansen, Village of Pleasant Prairie Parks Commission 

Troy Holm, Village of Pleasant Prairie Parks Commission 

Gregory Scheppler, Village of Pleasant Prairie Recreation Commission 

John Roscioli, Village of Pleasant Prairie Recreation Commission 

Patrick Finnemore, Kenosha Unified School District #1 

Kathy Van Duyn, RecPlex Fitness Instructor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by 

 
The Bicycle Federation of Wisconsin is a statewide nonprofit bicycle education and 

advocacy organization. The Bicycle Federation of Wisconsin’s mission is to make 

Wisconsin a better place to bicycle. Bicycling is a viable, healthy, and 

environmentally sustainable means of transportation, recreation, and sport. The 

Bicycle Federation of Wisconsin provides bicyclists of all ages with information on 

recreational rides, safety tips, and commuting skills while educating decision 

makers about the importance of bicycling to our communities. 

Learn more at http://www.bfw.org. 

 

http://www.bfw.org/


Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

ii 

Table of Contents 
 

Executive Summary ...................................................................................................... iii 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................. 1 

1.1 Purpose ................................................................................................................. 2 
1.2 Scope..................................................................................................................... 3 
1.3 Summary of Public Input....................................................................................... 4 

2. The Importance of Bicycling and Walking ................................................................. 6 
2.1 Social and Health Benefits .................................................................................... 6 
2.2 Environmental and Transportation Benefits ........................................................ 7 
2.3 Economic Opportunities ....................................................................................... 8 

3. Existing Conditions ................................................................................................... 9 
3.1 Regional Context ................................................................................................... 9 
3.2 Population and Demographics ............................................................................ 10 
3.3 Land Use ............................................................................................................. 11 
3.4 Parks and Open Space ........................................................................................ 12 
3.5 Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities ......................................................................... 14 
3.6 Existing Plans and Policies................................................................................... 15 

4. Education, Encouragement, and Enforcement .........................................................18 
4.1 Education ............................................................................................................ 18 
4.2 Encouragement ................................................................................................... 20 
4.3 Enforcement ....................................................................................................... 22 

5. Goals, Objectives and Policies .................................................................................23 
5.1 Goals ................................................................................................................... 23 
5.2 Objectives ........................................................................................................... 23 
5.3 Policies ................................................................................................................ 24 

6. Design Standards .....................................................................................................26 
6.1 Federal and State Design Guidance .................................................................... 26 
6.2 On-Street Facilities .............................................................................................. 27 
6.3 Off-Street Facilities ............................................................................................. 41 
6.4 Support Facilities ................................................................................................ 44 

7. Recommended Bike and Pedestrian Network ..........................................................48 
7.1 Proposed Network .............................................................................................. 48 
7.2 Facility Recommendations and Conceptual Costs .............................................. 49 
7.3 Funding Opportunities ........................................................................................ 52 
7.3 Funding Opportunities ........................................................................................ 53 

8. Conclusion ...............................................................................................................57 
Appendix A: Public Meeting ........................................................................................58 
Appendix B: Public Survey Results ...............................................................................59 
Appendix C: Rules for Bicycling on the Road ................................................................70 
Appendix D: Wisconsin State Bicycle Laws ..................................................................73 
 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

iii 

Executive Summary 
 

Bicycling and walking are inexpensive, non-polluting forms of transportation and 

recreation that are accessible to nearly everyone. Children, many elderly and those 

without access to motor vehicles can rely on cycling and walking as an autonomous 

form of transportation. Other residents may rely on cycling for transportation due to 

its low cost, sustainability, or simply the joy of being on a bike. In addition to 

transportation, residents of all ages and abilities commonly participate in cycling, 

walking and running activities as a form of recreation and exercise. 

 

For cycling and walking to be viable forms of transportation and recreation, there 

must be facilities that allow residents to safely and comfortably participate in these 

activities and reach their destinations. The Village of Pleasant Prairie recognizes the 

importance of providing these options for its citizens. Focused on bicycling and 

walking, the 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan demonstrates the Village’s 

commitment to providing facilities for walking and cycling. Based on current 

development as well as future development outlined in the 2035 Village of Pleasant 

Prairie Comprehensive Plan, this plan proposes a ten-fold increase in facilities 

designated for bicycle and pedestrian use. The plan also details encouragement, 

education, enforcement and evaluation programs and recommendations to boost 

bicycle ridership and walking within the Village. 

 

The primary goal of this plan is to: 

 

Establish and maintain a safe, comprehensive and integrated bicycle and 

pedestrian trail network that encourages the use of bicycles and walking for 

commuting, recreation and other trips. 

 

A series of eight specific objectives and 27 policies are recommended in Chapter 6 to 

achieve this goal. Primary among these recommendations is the development of a 

robust and well-connected system of on-street bicycle lanes and off-street shared-

use paths that tie together current and future Village neighborhoods, recreation 

areas, commercial areas and employment centers. The development of this network 

will allow residents to quickly and safely travel around the Village on bike or foot, 

no matter what their destination or the reason for their trip. 

 

By proactively planning for bicycle and pedestrian facilities and programs and 

policies that encourage cycling and walking, Pleasant Prairie is demonstrating a 

commitment to offering Village residents and visitors accessible, environmentally 

friendly and inexpensive transportation and recreation options. 

 

 





Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

1 

1. Introduction 
 

Communities across the nation are recognizing that facilities for bicycling and 

walking are an important part of their infrastructure. These facilities, including 

shared-use paths, sidewalks and on-street bicycle lanes, offer transportation choices 

that are available to all ages and socioeconomic groups. Bicycle and pedestrian 

networks increase travel and recreational opportunities for residents. At the same 

time, a robust bicycle and pedestrian network can boost the local economy. Urban 

bicycle greenways have a positive impact on home values. Studies have shown that 

people walking or cycling to local businesses spend more than those who drive. 

Bicycle tourism can also draw increased traffic to local businesses. 

 

Bicycling and walking are important modes of transportation. Bicycling in particular 

is a convenient and efficient form of transportation, and for some people, bicycling is 

their main mode of transportation. Like the automobile, but unlike public transit, a 

bicycle provides its user with autonomy and flexibility regarding travel schedules 

and destinations. Bicycling is also a form of transportation that is accessible to many 

people who cannot drive: the young, some elderly and those who do not to own a 

motor vehicle. A complete transportation system serves motorists, cyclists and 

pedestrians in a safe and efficient manner. 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

2 

1.1 Purpose 
Prior to incorporation as a village, Pleasant Prairie developed in a way that was not 

conducive to bicycling or walking: development was dispersed throughout the area 

and was linked by narrow, sometimes busy streets with no sidewalks or paved 

shoulders. Since incorporation the Village has grown rapidly. Residents and staff 

have worked to ensure that this growth and development better serves all forms of 

transportation while also being environmentally sensitive. This Bicycle and 

Pedestrian Trails Plan will complement that development by designating a system of 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities that connect all parts of the Village as well as 

surrounding communities. This plan will guide the development of shared-use 

paths, demarcate on-street facilities, provide design guidelines and policies for 

facilities and highlight funding opportunities for the Village to pursue. 

 

The Plan will build on past bicycle and pedestrian planning, including that in the 

Village’s 2006 Park and Open Space Plan and the Southeast Wisconsin Regional 

Planning Commission’s (SEWRPC) Regional Transportation Plan for Southeastern 

Wisconsin: 2035, A Regional Land Use Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin: 2035, and 

Amendment to the Regional Bicycle and Pedestrian System Plan for Southeastern 

Wisconsin: 2020. The Plan should be updated every five years to reflect the needs of 

the community and progress that has been made in implementing new facilities. 

 

 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

3 

1.2 Scope 
The Village of Pleasant Prairie Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan focuses on bicycling 

for transportation. For bicycle transportation, trip origins, destinations and trip 

purpose are of utmost importance (e.g. commuting to work or school, shopping, 

attending a social event, etc.), and the bicycle is simply the means to the end. 

Conversely, recreational bicycling trips are made expressly for the enjoyment of 

bicycling, and the destination, if there is one at all, is of minor importance. Most 

trips, and most facilities, serve both functions, but the bicycle facility network must 

be complete in order to serve the needs of transportation bicyclists while also 

serving recreational bicyclists and pedestrians. 

 

Bicycle projects must be primarily for transportation purposes to be eligible for 

funding under most Federal aid programs, although the Recreational Trails Program 

is an exception. Federal guidelines generally consider any bicycle path other than a 

closed loop as being principally for transportation and eligible for federal funding. 

 

The Plan is a comprehensive approach to bicycle transportation planning that 

encompasses the “four E’s:” 

 Engineering: facility creation and improvement 

 Education: increasing cyclist and motorist awareness of the rules of the 

road 

 Encouragement: programs to increase cycling 

 Enforcement: applying the rules of the road to all users: motorists, 

bicyclists, and pedestrians 

 

When combined with facility improvements, education and encouragement can 

dramatically increase the levels of bicycling and walking. Educating bicyclists and 

motorists on how to share the road safely is important. Education of elected 

officials, planners, engineers and others involved in land use development will help 

ensure that bicyclists’ needs are included when planning new neighborhoods and 

roadways. Educating law enforcement officers about the illegal behaviors that are 

the most common factors in crashes can allow them to better target these behaviors. 

 

The plan identifies existing facilities and recommends new programs, policies and 

facility projects including off-street paths, on-street facilities, signed routes and 

support facilities, such as bicycle parking. Implementation of the plan will encourage 

the use of this practical, non-polluting, affordable mode of transportation. The 

bicycle and pedestrian facility recommendations are necessary for safety, mobility 

and access to destinations such as schools, employment centers, commercial areas, 

public and institutional land uses and recreational areas. Recommendations are 

prioritized to augment the existing bicycle and pedestrian transportation network 

in the Village and its connections to other municipalities. 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

4 

1.3 Summary of Public Input 
An effective planning effort requires the participation of the public. Public input 

during the planning process was solicited via a survey administered online by the 

Village of Pleasant Prairie and through a public information meeting. Both the 

survey and the meeting provided the public with opportunities to voice their 

concerns over bicycle and pedestrian issues as well as offer opinions on the 

direction of the planning effort and what they would like to see as the end product. 

 

Public Informational Meeting 
An informational meeting for the public was held on Thursday, May 28, 2009, from 

5:00pm – 7:00pm at the IcePlex in Pleasant Prairie. Notice of the meeting was 

provided through the Village newsletter that was sent to each Pleasant Prairie 

household, as well as on the Pleasant Prairie official webpage. A total of 34 people 

attended the meeting including members of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

Steering Committee and the general public. After a brief introduction to the planning 

process and a description of a map of proposed bicycle and pedestrian trails drawn 

from the 2006 Park and Open Space Plan, the meeting was opened up for public 

comment. Comments were wide-ranging, but specific themes emerged repeatedly: 

 

 Connections: The plan should identify a network of on- and off-street 

routes that connect throughout Pleasant Prairie as well as into the City of 

Kenosha, the State of Illinois and other recreational areas. 

 Signage: Provide a signage system that clearly indicates where users are 

within the trail system, how to get to popular destinations and times and 

distances to locations. 

 Secure parking: Provide secure bicycle parking facilities at employment 

centers, retail destinations, parks and other locations. 

 Maintenance: Ensure that the bicycle and pedestrian system, both on- and 

off-street, is well maintained so as to be safe and efficient for all users. 

 Funding: The plan should identify funding sources for bicycle and 

pedestrian trails and maintenance. 

 Trail amenities: Provide off-street bicycle and pedestrian path and trail 

amenities including trash and recycling receptacles, drinking fountains, 

restrooms, picnic tables, signage and lighting. 

 Multimodal options: The plan should identify and tap into opportunities to 

expand multimodal travel options, particularly rail and bus. 

 

Attendees at the public meeting as well as written comments that were received at 

the meeting are listed in Appendix A. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

5 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan Steering Committee 

A Steering Committee was established at the beginning of the planning process to 

oversee development of the plan and to provide input from different areas of the 

community. The Steering Committee included representatives of the Parks 

Commission, the Kenosha Unified School District, the Recreation Commission, the 

Village Public Works, Engineering, Police, and Community Development 

Departments, and local recreation facilities. The Steering Committee met monthly 

during the planning process to review progress and provide input on the plan. 

 

Survey of Public Opinion 

A public survey was administered online to Village residents and others interested 

in bicycling and walking in the Village. Notice of the survey was placed on the Village 

website as well as in the Village newsletter that was mailed to each household in the 

Village. A total of 82 people participated in the survey, with the majority of those 

people residing within the Village. Results of the survey helped guide the planning 

process and the full survey results are presented in Appendix B. 

 

 

 

Pleasant Prairie hosts numerous triathlons 

throughout the year drawing thousands of 

athletes to the Village. 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

6 

2. The Importance of Bicycling and Walking 
 

Bicycling and walking are both important forms of transportation and recreation 

that provide numerous benefits to individuals and communities as a whole. 

Bicycling and walking are good forms of exercise and are nonpolluting forms of 

transportation that are accessible to all. By encouraging bicycling and walking 

participation, particularly for transportation, Pleasant Prairie can provide social, 

health and environmental benefits to its residents. 

 

 

2.1 Social and Health Benefits 
Bicycling offers low cost mobility. For those who do not use or have access to an 

automobile, such as school-age children, bicycling and walking are particularly 

important. While bicycling and walking may not replace all trips by motor vehicle, 

they can be a practical mode for many trips and part of multi-modal trips as well 

(such as a trip to a park-and-ride carpool facility or transit stop).  

 

Increased bicycling levels along with increased quality and quantity of bicycle 

facilities can benefit the community by providing those unable to drive or without 

access to a car with more independence; reducing the need for parents to chauffeur 

their children to school, social and recreational activities; allowing households to 

meet their transportation needs with fewer cars; and increasing recreational 

opportunities and, by extension, improving public health. 

 

A total of 76% of respondents to the survey conducted for this plan reported that 

they regularly walk or jog for exercise while 65% reported bicycling regularly for 

exercise. Clearly walking and bicycling are important forms of exercise for local 

residents. Improving bicycle facilities for transportation purposes benefits those 

who bicycle for recreation and fitness as well. Recreational bicycle rides can begin at 

home and be combined with other, often utilitarian, trip purposes. When linked with 

a larger bikeway system, off-street paths can provide important transportation 

linkages, and a complete bikeway network benefits everyone, regardless of how 

they use the road. 

 

 

A sign near the RecPlex reminds motorists 

of pedestrian rights. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

7 

2.2 Environmental and Transportation Benefits 
Bicycling is a convenient and efficient form of transportation, and for some, their 

primary mode of transportation. Bicycling is a popular mode of transportation 

because a bicycle provides its user with autonomy and flexibility regarding travel 

schedules and destinations, including multiple destinations. Bicycling is the most 

energy efficient form of transportation and is often faster than driving for short 

trips. Bicycling is an important element of a transportation system. Multi-modal 

trips allow commuters to use their bicycles to reach a bus stop or to ride to their 

final destination from a convenient parking area. Bicycling levels are much higher 

during the warmer months, and the development of inexpensive, more versatile 

bicycles and clothing have increased both the appeal and the practice of bicycling in 

wetter and colder weather. 

 

While travel within southeastern Wisconsin is predominantly by personal motor 

vehicle, walking and bicycle travel represent the next largest percentage of internal 

weekday travel by resident households of the region. 

 

Although the Kenosha Transit bus system provides limited service to the LakeView 

Corporate Park and small portions of the north side of Pleasant Prairie, most of the 

residential areas in Pleasant Prairie are not served by transit. However, for the areas 

that are served, Kenosha Transit’s buses have bicycle racks on them which 

encourage multimodal trips by users. 

 

Increasing bicycle opportunities improves the efficiency of the transportation 

system and increases environmental benefits. It improves neighborhood livability 

by reducing motor vehicle traffic and its associated pollution and congestion, 

reducing the need for motor vehicle parking and reducing motor vehicle crashes, 

injuries and property damage.  

 

When compared to a motor vehicle, bicyclists take up very little roadway space. In 

most urban traffic conditions, bicyclists do not significantly limit traffic flow. 

Providing adequate roadway width for all users, including bicyclists, will increase 

roadway capacity, reduce congestion and decrease trip times for everyone.  

 

 

Kenosha Transit buses accommodate up to 

two bikes on front racks. 

Credit: Kenosha Transit 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

8 

2.3 Economic Opportunities 
Improving the bicycling environment can provide non-transportation related 

benefits as well. The community benefits from bicycle riders who purchase food and 

other needs locally. The tourism industry benefits as more bicyclists are attracted 

from outside the community. Most importantly, the quality of life of the community 

is enhanced by the presence of bicyclists and pedestrians when social interactions 

occur spontaneously and when people feel safer being outdoors. 

 

Bicycle facilities have been shown to have a positive effect on nearby property 

values1 and an increase in business reported by owners of businesses near bicycle 

facilities.2 A study by North Carolina’s Department of Transportation of bicycle 

facilities in the Outer Banks reveals an annual economic impact from the facilities 

that is six times greater than the one-time capital costs.3 A Wisconsin study showed 

39% of responding businesses indicated increased business as a result of users of 

the Fox River Trail. The same study showed that a bicycle facility had positive 

effects on real estate values and therefore property tax revenues. Lots adjacent to 

the Mountain Bay Trail in Brown County, Wisconsin, sold faster and for an average 

of 9% more than similar property not located next to the trail. The study also 

suggests that by providing workers an alternative to driving to work, the trail 

became an inexpensive alternative to increasing road capacity.4 The conclusion that 

trail facilities generate increased revenue through higher property values is 

corroborated by the Consumer’s Survey on Smart Choices for Home Buyers. In that 

survey, trails ranked the second most important amenity out of a list of 18 choices.5 

 

                                                                    
1 National Association of Realtors and National Association of Builders, Consumer’s Survey on 

Smart Choices for Home Buyers, April 2002. 
2 Runge, Cole. Fox River Trail Study, Prepared for the Brown County Planning Commission, 

December 2002. 
3 Lawrie, Judson, John Guenther, Thomas Cook, and Mary Paul Meletiou. The Economic Impact 

of Investments in Bicycle Facilities: A Case Study of the North Carolina Outer Banks, summary 

report, April 2004. 
4 Runge, Cole. Fox River Trail Study, Prepared for the Brown County (WI) Planning 

Commission, December 2001. 
5 National Association of Realtors and National Association of Home Builders, Consumer’s 

Survey on Smart Choices for Home Buyers, April 2002 

Buffered bicycle lanes add additional 

separation between travel lanes and the 

bicycle lane which increases cyclists’ 

comfort level. 

 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

9 

3. Existing Conditions 
 

This chapter focuses on the existing conditions in the Village of Pleasant Prairie. The 

chapter provides an overview of the region, demographic information, the parks 

system, bicycle and pedestrian facilities and plans and policies currently in effect 

that impact bicycle and pedestrian planning and facilities. It should be noted that 

much of the demographic information is drawn from the 2000 Census, and the 2010 

Census will provide a more accurate picture of current conditions in Pleasant Prairie 

when the data is released in 2011. 

 

 

3.1 Regional Context 
The Village of Pleasant Prairie is a rapidly growing community in Kenosha County in 

the far southeastern corner of Wisconsin. The Village is bordered by Illinois on the 

south, Lake Michigan on the east, the unincorporated Town of Bristol on the west 

and the City of Kenosha on the north. The Village is approximately 40 miles south of 

Milwaukee and 70 miles north of downtown Chicago. 

 

The Village was incorporated in 1989 from the former Town of Pleasant Prairie. 

Because it incorporated from a Town with no central core, development is largely 

dispersed throughout the Village. Since incorporation Pleasant Prairie has grown 

rapidly: the population increased 63% while the number of housing units in the 

Village grew by 76%. Employment within the Village has increased rapidly as well, 

particularly with the industrial development of LakeView Corporate Park and 

commercial sites along 75th Street (State Highway 50) and near the I-94 corridor. 

 

This rapid growth created a need for better bicycle and pedestrian planning and 

facilities. Many streets that were relatively quiet and safe for bicycling or walking 20 

years ago are now busy and uncomfortable for cyclists and pedestrians. 

Additionally, while bicycle and pedestrian use may be safe and easy within many of 

the new office parks, industrial sites and residential developments, there are few 

good links or connections between these developments. Adequate links to popular 

destinations including Lake Michigan, schools, the RecPlex and IcePlex, and 

employment centers are also lacking. 

 

 

It is important to provide bicycle parking at 

destinations throughout the Village. 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

10 

3.2 Population and Demographics 
Demographic characteristics help determine the amount of bicycle and pedestrian 

trails that the Village now requires and will need in the future. As part of the 

transportation network, it is important that trail facilities link not only current 

housing, employment, and recreation centers, but future ones as well. 

 

Since incorporation, the Village of Pleasant Prairie has experienced a significant 

population increase. From 1990 to 2009, the population increased from 12,037 to 

19,570. This increase of 63% is a far greater growth rate than Kenosha County 

(27%) and the State (16%). Additionally, the Village’s work-day population is 

significantly higher than this number due to the large number of people who 

commute to the Village for employment or other opportunities. Pleasant Prairie’s 

population is projected to continue growing rapidly over the next 20 years, although 

at a slightly lower rate than it has over the last 20 years. The Village’s projected 

population in 2030 is 28,911, a 48% increase over the 2009 estimated population. 

This growth rate is again significantly higher than the rate for Kenosha County and 

the State. 

 

The average age of residents of Pleasant Prairie slightly higher than their 

counterparts in Kenosha County or Wisconsin as a whole: in 2000, the residents of 

Pleasant Prairie had a median age of 37.0 years, while Kenosha County had a median 

of 34.8 years and the State of Wisconsin had a median of 36.0 years. In 2000, 34% of 

the Village’s population was under the age of 25, while 11% of the population was 

65 or older. 

  

In 2000, the average household size in Pleasant Prairie was 2.73 persons per 

household, a decrease since the 1990 Census count of 2.83 persons. This average 

household size was slightly higher than that of the County and State. 

 

Although the size of the average household is decreasing, the statistical trends 

indicate that Pleasant Prairie has a growing population with many families. 

Providing a bicycle and pedestrian network that is comfortable and easy to use by 

users of all ages and skill levels will increase the quality of life of Village residents. 

 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

11 

3.3 Land Use 
 

 Current and future land use is important for bicycle and pedestrian planning as the 

location of housing, employment centers, retail areas and recreational areas dictates 

where people will begin and end many of their trips. A well connected bicycle and 

pedestrian network should connect all of these areas so that residents can safely 

and conveniently travel from one location to another. 

 

Current and Future Land Use 
As mentioned in section 3.1, Pleasant Prairie incorporated in 1989. With this step, 

the new village gained the authority to zone land for specific uses including 

residential, industrial, commercial and other uses. This authority allows the Village 

to steer its growth and development in a desirable manner. The Village of Pleasant 

Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan provides a detailed description of 

existing land uses in the Village, as well as the planned growth over the next 25 

years. 

 

 Reflecting its recent incorporation, the majority of Pleasant Prairie is comprised of 

agricultural land, natural open space, and natural resource areas such as woodlands, 

wetlands, and surface water. These land uses cover approximately 76% of Village 

land. The remaining land is more developed and is comprised primarily of 

residential land uses, although commercial, industrial, governmental, 

transportation, and recreational land uses also cover significant areas of the Village. 

The 2035 Comprehensive Plan envisions significant growth in residential, mixed-use, 

and commercial areas, with additional growth in industrial, governmental and 

transportation land uses. This growth will occur primarily on land that is currently 

agricultural and in non-environmentally sensitive open space areas. 

 

Land Use Impacts on Walking and Cycling 
Development in Pleasant Prairie is relatively dispersed today, although much of it is 

clustered at the northern end of the Village, close to Kenosha. Because development 

is dispersed, it is often difficult for residents to rely on walking or cycling as 

transportation, as destinations may be too far away or they may not feel safe using 

the existing streets for walking or cycling. As the Village continues to develop, it 

should become easier for residents to walk or cycle to destinations as urban street 

sections with bicycle facilities, sidewalks, and multi-use paths are installed in areas 

not currently developed. These connections will make it easier for residents to reach 

destinations and will allow residents to more reliably use walking and cycling as 

transportation and recreation. 

 

 

 

Village Land Use, 2000

14%
1%

2%

10%

1%

36%

36%

Residential

Commercial & Mixed Use

Industrial

Transportation, Communication &

Utilities

Governmental & Institutional

Recreational, Natural Resource &

Open Space Areas

Agricultural

Village Land Use, 2035

30%

6%

10%
18%

3%

33%

0%



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

12 

3.4 Parks and Open Space 
The 2006 Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan inventoried existing 

parks, open space and recreation facilities within the Village. These spaces offer 

residents the opportunity to participate in organized recreational activities, exercise 

in areas away from motor vehicles or simply enjoy nature. Residents should be able 

to safely and easily access these spaces on bicycle or foot. 

 

Regional Park 

Three large community parks exist in Pleasant Prairie. The largest of these parks is 

Prairie Springs Park. This 930-acre park is located in the western portion of the 

Village, north of 104th Street and west of 88th Avenue. The park offers numerous 

sporting and recreation activities in addition to playgrounds, softball fields, 

volleyball pits, and picnic areas. The park also contains some of the Village’s only 

paved bicycle and pedestrian trails. Although Prairie Springs Park contains 

pedestrian and bicycle trails and other recreational opportunities, many residents 

noted that it is difficult to access on foot or bicycle. 

 

Community Parks 
Anderson Park is a large existing park just north of the Village in the City of 

Kenosha. The 95-acre park offers City and Village residents amenities including two 

baseball diamonds, 20 soccer fields, a swimming pool with water slides and 

picnicking and other opportunities. Village Green Park and Ingram Park are planned 

for future development in the Village. All of these parks provide or will provide 

numerous benefits and amenities to Pleasant Prairie residents and should be readily 

accessible by bicycle or on foot. 

 

Neighborhood and School Parks 

The Park and Open Space Plan identified six existing neighborhood parks 

distributed throughout the Village: Carol Beach Park, Becker Park, Woodlawn Park, 

Pleasant Prairie Park, Rolling Meadows Park and Lake Michigan Park. These parks 

range in size from 0.14 acres to 22 acres and offer residents recreational 

opportunities and open space near their homes. Park space also exists at three 

Kenosha Unified School District elementary school sites in the Village, with two 

additional sites planned for future schools. These smaller park spaces provide 

recreation and open space that is dispersed throughout Pleasant Prairie.  

 

Prairie Springs Park is a large regional park 

located in the western portion of the 

Village. The park contains a popular shared-

use path around Lake Andrea. 

Carol Beach Park is one of six neighborhood 

parks dispersed throughout the Village. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

13 

Open Space and Natural Areas 

Numerous other open spaces and recreation areas exist throughout the Village. 

These areas include recreation areas such as two private driving ranges and a golf 

course, a private marina and a significant amount of preserved open space and 

natural areas. 

 

The open spaces and natural areas throughout the Village are very popular with 

local residents as well as visitors to the area. These lands preserve critical plant and 

animal habitats and environmental corridors. They also allow residents and others 

to experience outdoor environments that are more natural and less controlled than 

what they experience in formal park space. Bicycling and walking can be an ideal 

match for these areas as they are quite, nonpolluting forms of transportation and 

recreation that require minimal impact in the way of trails and other facilities. 

 

The largest of these areas is the Chiwaukee Prairie State Natural Area which is home 

to one of the largest prairie complexes in the State and the largest coastal wetland in 

southeastern Wisconsin. The southern portion of the area is managed by The Nature 

Conservancy, and the northern parcels are managed by the Wisconsin Department 

of Natural Resources, including the Kenosha Dunes, which contains open and 

stabilized sand dunes. Chiwaukee Prairie is recognized as a National Natural 

Landmark and a State Natural Area. 

 

Other large open spaces and natural areas include the Carol Beach Natural Area 

Open Space, the Des Plaines River Natural Area Open Space and Momper’s Woods. 

These areas cover over 250 acres throughout the Village and combine with 

approximately 200 acres of privately held land to form a significant natural 

presence within the Village. These areas are popular destinations for cyclists and 

offer opportunities for hiking and other recreational activities. 

The Chiwaukee Prairie Nature Preserve is a 

popular destination for cyclists. 

The Des Plaines River Open Space includes 

over 750 acres of preserved 

environmentally sensitive land. 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

14 

3.5 Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities 
Currently, the only major bicycle trail in Pleasant Prairie is the Kenosha County Bike 

Trail. This north-south trail runs from the Illinois border through the Village and the 

City of Kenosha and north to the Kenosha/Racine County line. The trail is built in a 

former railway corridor and lies at approximately 30th Avenue. The gravel trail is 

unpaved and is not maintained during the winter months. Although a popular 

facility, residents voiced concerns over maintenance issues with the trail and 

problems with crushed gravel from the trail spreading onto connecting roadways 

and creating hazards. 

 

Prairie Springs Park contains an eight foot wide paved trail that forms a loop around 

Lake Andrea and other portions of the park. While this trail is a popular recreation 

facility, it is not connected with any larger network of bicycle or pedestrian facilities 

and is not useful as a transportation facility. 

 

There are approximately five miles of bike lanes in Pleasant Prairie, primarily in the 

far northern section of the Village. Residential streets in Pleasant Prairie with low 

traffic volumes are safe and recommended for bicycling with no additional facilities. 

Arterial streets that have higher traffic volumes and speeds are in need of better 

facilities which may include bike lanes, wide curb lanes or paved shoulders to 

accommodate bicycles. In these cases, critical corridors connecting neighborhoods 

and destinations are recommended for either bicycle routes or lanes. Some arterial 

streets are wide enough to accommodate bike lanes without any additional 

pavement. In areas where there is not enough roadway width to add a full bike lane, 

bicycle routes may be recommended. Bicycle parking at key destinations is also 

needed.  

 

Most streets in Pleasant Prairie developed prior to 1989 have a rural cross-section 

with no curb and gutter or sidewalk. On low-traffic minor residential streets the 

roadway may be able to safely serve as a pedestrian facility. However, pedestrian 

accommodations are needed on arterial and connector streets and intersections. A 

total of 44% of survey respondents reported that they do not feel Pleasant Prairie is 

pedestrian friendly because of personal safety concerns, and 61% thought the lack 

of sidewalks made Pleasant Prairie unfriendly for pedestrians. At the same time, 

62% of respondents cited automobile traffic as a reason for Pleasant Prairie’s 

pedestrian unfriendliness, a reason that is closely linked with the lack of sidewalks. 

 

A map at the back of this plan depicts the existing as well as proposed bicycle and 

pedestrian facilities. 

Many residential streets with very low 

traffic volumes are safe and recommended 

for bicycling in their current condition. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

15 

3.6 Existing Plans and Policies 
Numerous plans exist at the federal, state, regional and local levels that impact 

bicycling and walking in Pleasant Prairie. This section provides a brief summary of 

the most relevant of those plans. Additionally, Section 6.1 details federal and state 

guidance on the development of bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

 

Federal Plans and Policies 
Congress firmly established the principle that the safe accommodation of bicycling 

and walking is the responsibility of state and local transportation agencies. This 

responsibility extends to the planning, design, operation, maintenance and 

management of the transportation system in federal transportation law, including 

the Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act (ISTEA), and its 

reauthorizations, the Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century (TEA-21) and 

the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users 

(SAFETEA-LU). 

http://www.americabikes.org/resources_policy_biyclefriendly.asp 

 

The Federal Highway Administration Program guidance on the federal 

transportation bills states that “In the planning, design, and operation of 

transportation facilities bicyclists and pedestrians should be included as a matter of 

routine and the decision not to accommodate them should be the exception rather 

than the rule. There must be exceptional circumstances for denying bicycle and 

pedestrian access either by prohibition or by designing highways that are 

incompatible with safe, convenient walking and bicycling.” 

http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bikeped/Design.htm  

 

Wisconsin Plans and Policies 

The Wisconsin Bicycle Transportation Plan 2020 (WisDOT September 1998) is 

intended “to establish bicycling as a viable, convenient, and safe transportation 

choice throughout Wisconsin.” The role of the state plan is “ensuring an 

interconnected transportation system across government boundaries and highway 

jurisdictions that can work safely for bicyclists….” The two primary goals of the state 

plan are doubling the number of bicycle trips by 2010 and reducing crashes 

involving bicyclists and motor vehicles by 10% or more by 2010. 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/projects/state/bike2020.htm 

 

The Wisconsin Pedestrian Policy Plan 2020 outlines statewide and local measures to 

promote pedestrian comfort and safety. The plan lays out a policy framework to 

better integrate pedestrians into the transportation network by 2020 and describes 

WisDOT’s role in meeting pedestrian needs. 

http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/projects/state/ped2020.htm 

 

Regional Plans and Policies 
The Regional [I-94] Freeway System Reconstruction Plan for SE WI (SEWRPC) 

includes plans to reconstruct the I-94 interchange at County Highway C in Pleasant 

Prairie. The interchange reconstruction includes a redesign of portions of East 

Frontage Road and West Frontage Road that will separate the frontage roads from 

the highway interchange ramps. This should be safer for bicycles and still 

accommodate motor vehicle traffic. A separate paved shared-use path and wide 

http://www.americabikes.org/resources_policy_biyclefriendly.asp
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bikeped/Design.htm
http://www.dot.state.wi.us/projects/state/docs/bike-facility.pdf#search=%22Wisconsin%20Bicycle%20Facility%20Design%20Guidelines%22
http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/projects/state/ped2020.htm


Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

16 

shoulders on the West Frontage Road are included as part of this reconstruction. 

Construction was completed in November 2009.  

http://www.sewrpc.org/freewaystudy 

 

The Regional Transportation System Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin: 2035 (SEWRPC 

Planning Report No. 49) includes SEWRPC’s vision for transportation in the region: 

“A multimodal system with high quality public transit, bicycle and pedestrian, and 

arterial street and highway elements which add to the quality of life of Region 

residents and support and promote expansion of the Region’s economy, by 

providing for convenient, efficient, and safe travel by each mode….” 

http://www.sewrpc.org/regionalplans/regionaltransysplan.shtm 

 

The Amendment to the Regional Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities System Plan for 

Southeastern Wisconsin: 2020 (SEWRPC) “seeks to remove existing impediments to 

bicycle travel related to the lack of bicycle paths, the lack of safe accommodation on 

streets and highways, and the lack of support facilities such as bicycle parking and 

storage lockers. The plan recommends that improvements such as extra-wide 

outside travel lanes or paved shoulders be considered to be provided whenever an 

arterial street or highway is constructed or reconstructed to better accommodate 

shared roadway use by bicycles and motor vehicles.” 

http://www.sewrpc.org/transportation/amendmentbikeped.asp 

 

SEWRPC has identified several roads in and around the Village for expansion and/or 

extension. These projects will have significant impacts on bicyclists’ ability to move 

safely and conveniently around the region. If the goals of the state and SEWRPC’s 

own plans regarding bicyclists are to be realized, it is imperative that the bicyclists 

be accommodated as an integral part of every project.  

 

While SEWRPC has proposed many projects in and around Pleasant Prairie in the 

future, the following projects are specifically identified in the 2009 – 2012 

Transportation Improvement Program (TIP): 

 Project 510 (2009): Resurfacing of State Highway 50 (75th Street) from I-94 

to State Highway 31 

 Project 513 (2009): Reconstruct State Highway 165 (104th Street) 

intersections with County Highway ML and County Highway EZ 

 Project 516 (2009): Install flashing lights and gates at the 113th Street at-

grade crossing of the Canadian Pacific railroad tracks 

 Project 523 (2010)Preliminary engineering for reconstruction with 

additional lanes of County Highway C from County Highway U to West 

Frontage Road 

 

It is critical that these projects properly accommodate pedestrians and bicycles, 

particularly since many of these are high-volume roads that are often difficult for 

cyclists and pedestrians to negotiate. 

http://www.sewrpc.org/publications/tip/TIP_2009-2012.pdf 

Local Eagle Scouts constructed boardwalks 

through environmentally sensitive areas to 

allow bicycle and pedestrian access. 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/projects/state/docs/bike-facility.pdf#search=%22Wisconsin%20Bicycle%20Facility%20Design%20Guidelines%22
http://www.sewrpc.org/regionalplans/regionaltransysplan.shtm
http://www.sewrpc.org/regionalplans/regionaltransysplan.shtm
http://www.dot.state.wi.us/projects/state/docs/bike-facility.pdf#search=%22Wisconsin%20Bicycle%20Facility%20Design%20Guidelines%22
http://www.dot.state.wi.us/projects/state/docs/bike-facility.pdf#search=%22Wisconsin%20Bicycle%20Facility%20Design%20Guidelines%22
http://www.sewrpc.org/publications/tip/TIP_2009-2012.pdf


Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

17 

Local Policies and Plans 

The Village of Pleasant Prairie 2035 Comprehensive Plan will guide development in 

the Village for the next 25 years. The plan includes numerous chapters that will 

impact bicycling and pedestrian facilities in the Village, including the 

Transportation; Utilities and Community Facilities; Agricultural, Natural, and 

Cultural Resources; and Land Use chapters. The Comprehensive Plan is Pleasant 

Prairie’s definitive guiding document regarding land use, transportation and other 

planning and the Transpiration chapter has the following goal: 

 

Provide an accessible interconnected network of highways, streets, and 

bicycle and pedestrian trails within the Village in order to present a safe, 

affordable, and efficient transportation system that meets the needs of 

multiple users; and to assure the functionality of the transportation network 

within Pleasant Prairie and the surrounding region while minimizing the 

impacts upon the transportation system. 

 

The Village of Pleasant Prairie 2006 Parks and Open Space Plan serves as the 

planning document guiding park and open space development in the Village. The 

plan includes a number of policies and recommendations regarding bicycle facilities. 

The top priority to emerge from public participation in the planning process was the 

development of a multi-use trail system. Accordingly, the plan includes a map of 

existing and future bicycle trails and facilities. Additionally, a number of objectives 

and policies in the plan recommend or support the development of a robust bicycle 

and pedestrian trail network. No additional bicycle or pedestrian trails have been 

developed since the adoption of the plan. 

 

It is important for the Village of Pleasant Prairie to work with surrounding 

jurisdictions to ensure that connections between the various jurisdictions are 

created concurrently with any new development or redevelopment. Additionally, 

Pleasant Prairie should encourage the other municipalities to begin creating bicycle 

plans of their own to incorporate into their long range transportation and land use 

plans. 

 

 

 

 

Appropriate signage can draw attention to 

locations where shared-use paths intersect 

local streets. 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

18 

4. Education, Encouragement, and Enforcement 
 

There is a common perception that bicycling on streets and crossing streets as a 

pedestrian is dangerous, when in fact it is not. This concern keeps people from 

bicycling and walking more or at all. Education, encouragement, and enforcement can 

all be used to effectively counter the perception that bicycling or walking is unsafe. 

When including engineering (facilities discussed in Chapter 6), the “four Es” are 

popular and effective components to achieving the goals of increasing the number of 

trips by foot or bicycle and improving the safety and convenience of the bicycling 

and walking environment. 

 

 

4.1 Education 
Educating motorists and bicyclists to share the road will establish safer, more 

inviting streets for bicycling. Educating motorists and pedestrians about proper 

yielding and crossing procedures will establish a more encouraging and safe 

environment for pedestrians. Bike Rodeos, Bike Ed and Safe Routes to School 

initiatives are three examples of established bicycle education programs. 

 

Safe Routes to School 
The Federal Safe Routes to School (SRTS) program addresses the decline in children 

walking and bicycling to school. In 1969, about half of all students walked or biked 

to school. Today, fewer than 15% of all school trips are made by walking or 

bicycling, while over half of all children arrive at school in private automobiles. This 

decline in walking and bicycling has had an adverse effect on traffic congestion and 

air quality around schools as well as pedestrian and bicycle safety. In addition, a 

growing body of evidence has shown that children who lead sedentary lifestyles are 

at risk for a variety of health problems such as obesity, diabetes and cardiovascular 

disease. Safety issues are a concern for parents who cite traffic danger as a reason 

why their children are unable to bicycle or walk to school. The SRTS program 

empowers communities to make walking and bicycling to school a safe and routine 

activity once again. The program funds a wide variety of programs and projects, 

from building safer street crossings to establishing programs that encourage 

children and their parents to walk and bicycle safely to school. A Safe Routes to 

School toolkit is available from WisDOT at: 

http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/localgov/aid/saferoutes-toolkit.htm 

 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Education Efforts 
Bike Rodeos can be effective tools for teaching children safe bicycling basics, but 

only when those running the rodeos know what the most common kinds of child 

bicycle crashes are and the skills needed to avoid them. Teaching Safe Bicycling is a 

free course coordinated by WisDOT’s Bureau of Transportation Safety that provides 

instructors with this critical knowledge. For more information contact the WisDOT 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Safety Program Manager at 608-267-3154 or view course 

information at: 

http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/safety/vehicle/bicycle/docs/tsb-brochure.pdf 

Bike Ed is a group of courses developed by the League of American Bicyclists (LAB) 

to suit the needs of any cyclist. LAB certifies, insures and equips League Cycling 

Bicycles and walking should be safe and 

convenient ways for all students to travel to 

school. 

http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/localgov/aid/saferoutes-toolkit.htm
http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/safety/vehicle/bicycle/docs/tsb-brochure.pdf


Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

19 

Instructors (LCIs) to teach anything from basic skills to college level courses. LCIs 

are the experts in bicycle education and safety. Courses offered include: Road I, 

Road II, Commuting, Motorist Ed, Kids I and Kids II. LCI's can also offer modified 

versions of these courses, design bike rodeos and provide general safety consulting. 

Residents can take these classes on their own or community centers, senior centers, 

schools and employers can coordinate and host group classes. 

 

Road I 
Gives cyclists the confidence they need to ride safely and legally in traffic or on the 

trail. The course covers bicycle safety checks, fixing a flat, on-bike skills and crash 

avoidance techniques and includes a student manual. Recommended for adults and 

children above age 14, this fast-paced, nine-hour course prepares cyclists for a full 

understanding of vehicular cycling.  

 

Road II 
For more advanced students with an understanding of vehicular cycling principles, 

this 12 hour course includes fitness and physiology, training for longer rides, 

advanced mechanics, paceline skills, advanced traffic negotiation, foul weather 

riding and night riding. Student manuals are included with each class. 

 

Commuting 
For adult cyclists who wish to explore the possibility of commuting to work or 

school by bike. This three hour follow-up to Road I covers route selection, bicycle 

choice, dealing with cargo and clothing, bike parking, lighting, reflection and foul 

weather riding. Included with the class are handouts and student materials.  

 

Motorist Education 

A 3-hour classroom session, this course can be easily added to a driver's education 

curriculum, such as diversion training for reckless drivers or a course designed for 

local bus drivers. Directed towards motorists in general, topics covered include 

roadway positioning of cyclists, traffic and hand signals, principles of right-of-way 

and left and right turn problems. Materials include Share the Road literature for 

bicyclists and motorists as well as other fact sheets. 

 

Kids I 

Designed for parents, instructors explain how to teach a child to ride a bike. Topics 

covered include how to perform a bicycle safety check, helmet fitting and bike 

sizing. The course includes the 10-minute “Kids Eye View” video and a brochure for 

parents. 

 

Kids II 
This 7-hour class for 5th and 6th graders covers the same topics as Road I, including 

on-bike skills as well as choosing safe routes for riding.  

 

The Bicycle Federation of Wisconsin has trained dozens of people in Wisconsin to 

teach the League of American Bicyclist courses and the Bike Fed can connect those 

interested in taking Bike Ed with the closest LCI. For more information on Bike Ed in 

Wisconsin, visit the Bike Fed’s website: 

http://www.bfw.org 

Participants gather in the rain for a Road I 

course teaching safe bicycling skills. 

http://www.bfw.org/


Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

20 

 

To find the nearest LCI, visit the League of American Bicyclists website: 

http://www.bikeleague.org/cogs/resources/findit 

 

 

4.2 Encouragement 
Publicizing bicycling and walking is both education and encouragement. By 

producing and distributing bicycle and walking education material, the Village can 

provide bicyclists, pedestrians and potential bicyclists with the information they 

need to bicycle safely and comfortably. WisDOT provides a range of safety materials 

for free to anyone requesting them by their publication number. 

 

Bicycle and pedestrian related safety materials provided by WisDOT include: 

 

 Wisconsin Bicycle Laws card (HS 221) 

 Bicycle Safety-What Every Parent Should Know (HS 239) 

 From A to Z by Bike (HS 214, for ages 11-adult) 

 Bicycle Safety: A ‘Wheely’ Good Idea (HS 213, handbook for ages 8-11) 

 Bicycles & Traffic-Get Over Your Fear (brochure HS 238) 

 Two-Wheeled Survival (brochure HS 227) 

 Sharing The Road: Survival of the Smallest (brochure HS 228) 

 Street Smarts (updated brochure HS 207) 

 Share the Road with Bicycles (bumper sticker HS 237) 

 I Stop for Pedestrians (bumper sticker HS 233) 

 

Request materials from WisDOT by publication number using the form found at: 

http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/forms/docs/dt1265.doc 

 

Partnering with other agencies and organizations will help deliver bicycle 

information more effectively. For example, bicycle education should be integrated 

into school curricula and park programs so that many more children learn to bicycle 

more safely and frequently. Partnering with media outlets and the private sector 

will further increase the reach of education campaigns. The Village could also make 

use of the website www.Streetshare.org to promote bicycling and walking, and to 

educate citizens about bicycling and walking in the community. 

http://www.StreetShare.org. 

 

Bike to Work Week 

Bike to Work Week (BTWW) is a promotional campaign that has succeeded in 

increasing the numbers and safety of individuals who bike to work, shop, school or 

wherever they need to go in the communities where it has taken place. A recent 

BTWW campaign in Sheboygan County resulted in a 7% gain in bicycling mode 

share. The Bicycle Federation of Wisconsin produces a toolkit for concerned citizens 

to encourage bicycling in their community through Bike to Work promotions: 

http://www.bfw.org/  

 

Bicycle Map 
Producing and distributing a Village map for bicyclists can go a long way towards 

encouraging and educating citizens. A total of 92% of respondents to the survey 

http://www.bikeleague.org/cogs/resources/findit
http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/forms/docs/dt1265.doc
http://www.streetshare.org/
http://www.bfw.org/


Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

21 

indicated that a bicycle map of the area would positively (54% “strongly,” 38% 

“moderately”) affect their decision to bicycle more. Such a map could educate 

citizens about the best routes for bicycling and help teach them to safety share the 

road with motor vehicle traffic by using safety tips and illustrations on the reverse 

of the map itself.  

 

In creating a bicycle map it is important to gather information from the public 

regarding the map content. From previous bicycle mapping projects completed by 

the Bike Fed, map users have expressed that it is important to include the following 

items: 

 

 All bicycle facilities, including signed routes, bike lanes, and bike trails. 

 Public amenities, such as restrooms, parks, and emergency services. 

 Private amenities, such as bike shops. 

 A map scale that is appropriate for users to easily determine travel 

distance, with as many roads as feasible labeled. 

 A digital version of the map should be available on-line. 

 

Often some of the funds for a bicycle map can be procured from advertising fees 

from local businesses wanting representation on the map. It might also be possible 

to partner with the local tourism board or chamber of commerce for support. A 

bicycle map is more likely to be an effective educational strategy if it is available for 

free. 

 

Other Public Education Opportunities 
In addition to a bicycle map and education programs described above, there are 

other ways to get the word out that bicycling is a viable means of transportation and 

recreation. The Village could work with the Kenosha Area Chamber of Commerce, 

the Kenosha Area Convention and Visitors Bureau and the Wisconsin Department of 

Tourism to publicize bicycling. Television and/or radio Public Service 

Announcements about safe bicycling and motorists safely sharing the road with 

bicycles could be produced and aired, particularly on Chanel 25 WLIP. Advertising 

in newspapers, on billboards and on buses can gain bicycling exposure. 

 

Bicycle facility openings and other events also provide opportunities for education 

and outreach. “Earned media,” e.g. a press release in conjunction with a ribbon 

cutting ceremony, is a great way to get publicity and to generate interest in 

expanding the bikeway network. 

Quiet rural roads offer excellent cycling 

opportunities just outside the Village. A 

map showing bicycle routes within the 

Village as well as links to areas outside the 

Village would be appreciated by cyclists. 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

22 

4.3 Enforcement 
For enforcement to be effective, law enforcement officers need to know which illegal 

behaviors are the most common factors in crashes. Wisconsin’s Pedestrian and 

Bicycle Law Enforcement training course, available through the Wisconsin 

Department of Transportation (WisDOT) Bureau of Transportation Safety, provides 

education for law enforcement officers. The course qualifies towards the training 

hours required of most law enforcement agencies. For more information, contact 

the WisDOT Bicycle and Pedestrian Safety Program Manager at 608-267-3154. 

 

The rules for riding bicycles on the road (and rules for motorists sharing the road 

safely with bicycles) are available online: 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/safety/vehicle/bicycle/rules.htm. 

 

WisDOT also distributes free printed safety materials such as a Summary of 

Wisconsin Bicycle Laws (HS226), and Bicycle (HS221) and Pedestrian (HS244) Law 

Cards that fit in a wallet. These materials may be requested using form DT1265: 

http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/forms/docs/dt1265.doc 

 

WisDOT’s Division of Motor Vehicles Motorist Handbook includes nearly 10 pages of 

information on bicycling safely and on motorists sharing the road safely with 

bicyclists. 

 

In addition to training police in law enforcement for bicycle safety, training drivers 

of commercial vehicles to model behavior can bolster enforcement by police 

officers. The Cities of Madison and Milwaukee educate all drivers of city vehicles 

about the regulations that require drivers to yield to pedestrians in crosswalks and 

to give all vehicles (including cyclists) three feet of clearance when passing. By 

training Village staff and partnering with Kenosha County or City agencies that 

operate in Pleasant Prairie, the Village can increase compliance with traffic laws on 

its streets. 

 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/safety/vehicle/bicycle/rules.htm
http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/forms/docs/dt1265.doc


Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

23 

5. Goals, Objectives and Policies 
 

In order to produce an implementable plan, it is necessary to have an overarching 

set of goals that are supported by specific objectives and policies. These goals, 

objectives and policies help guide the overall recommendations of the plan and 

emerged from the planning process including public input. 

 

 

5.1 Goals 
Goals are broad statements that express general public priorities. Goals are 

formulated based on the identification of key issues, opportunities and problems 

that impact bicycling and pedestrian issues in the Village. 

 

 Establish and maintain a safe, comprehensive and integrated bicycle and 

pedestrian trail network that encourages the use of bicycles and walking for 

commuting, recreation and other trips. 

 

 

5.2 Objectives 
Objectives are more specific than goals and are usually attainable through strategic 

planning and implementation activities. Implementation of an objective contributes 

to the fulfillment of a goal. 

 

1. Provide a network of facilities that meets the transportation and recreation 

needs of users and links neighborhoods, schools, parks, employment centers 

and other key destinations. 

2. Provide robust support facilities including bicycle parking, route signage and 

lighting that encourage commuter and recreational usage. 

3. Provide a safe and easy to use bicycle and pedestrian network. 

4. Maintain bicycle and pedestrian trails and support facilities to a level that 

provides safe, comfortable and convenient usage for users. 

5. Increase enforcement of traffic violations by street users so as to reduce the 

number and severity of motor vehicle, bicycle and pedestrian crashes. 

6. Provide safe bicycling and walking education to local children, teens and adults. 

7. Conduct encouragement activities such as Bike to Work Week throughout the 

year to increase participation in bicycle commuting and recreation. 

8. Ensure that relevant Village policies encourage and support bicycling and 

walking. 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

24 

5.3 Policies 
Policies are rules and courses of action used to ensure plan implementation. Policies 

often accomplish a number of objectives. 

 

Facilities, Operations, and Maintenance 
1. In the planning, design and operation of transportation facilities, bicyclists and 

pedestrians should be included as a part of the public participation process. 

2. New and reconstructed arterial streets shall include bike lanes, wide curb lanes 

or paved shoulders, whenever possible. 

3. New and reconstructed collector streets shall include bike lanes, although bike 

routes may be substituted in specific instances after consideration of traffic 

speeds and volumes, route continuity, nearby bicycle facilities and adjoining 

land uses, whenever possible. 

4. As bicycles are legal users of the road, off-street bicycle facilities (paths or 

trails) should be provided as a supplement to on-street facilities. 

5. Sidewalks should be included in all new development or redevelopment 

projects and new and reconstructed streets that have an urban cross section, 

when appropriate. 

6. Include pedestrian actuation signals and count-down timers at all signalized 

street crossings with pedestrian facilities, including shared-use paths, at either 

side of the street. 

7. Provide bicycle signal detectors per State standards at all new signalized 

intersections with bike lanes and, if feasible, when modifying existing signalized 

intersections with bike lanes. 

8. Meet or exceed standard design guidelines on all new bicycle and pedestrian 

facilities; bring existing facilities that do not meet those standards up to 

standard as funding allows. The primary resources for these design guidelines 

are the Wisconsin Bicycle Facility Design Handbook, the WisDOT Facilities 

Development Manual (FDM), the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices 

(MUTCD) and the AASHTO Greenbook. 

9. Maintain Village bicycle and pedestrian facilities to a safe and comfortable level. 

Maintenance should include frequent sweeping to remove hazards, immediate 

plowing after snowfall and prompt attention to potholes and other hazards as 

funding allows. 

10. Develop guidelines for routine and long-term maintenance of off-street bicycle 

and pedestrian paths. 

11. Replace sewer or other drainage grates that are not safe for bicycle operation as 

funding allows. 

 

Support Facilities 

12. Provide short-term bicycle parking (racks) at destination locations throughout 

the Village including retail and recreation areas, parks, schools, and 

employment centers. 

13. Promote bicycle parking in all new commercial, industrial and multi-unit 

housing developments. 

14. Include support facilities along bicycle and pedestrian paths. Such facilities may 

include trailhead parking lots, route map displays, rest areas/benches, drinking 

water, bike racks, restrooms and lighting where deemed necessary for safety. 

Wide paved shoulders provide space for 

pedestrians and cyclists on rural roads. 

Providing or requiring short-term bicycle 

parking at destination locations can 

encourage bicycle use for transportation. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

25 

15. Consistently sign on-street and off-street bicycle and pedestrian facilities to 

provide users with directional and distance information; on-street signage 

should comply with the Wisconsin Bicycle Facility Design Handbook and the 

Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices. 

16. Work with adjoining communities to ensure that the bicycle and pedestrian 

network connects to facilities in those communities. 

17. Work with Kenosha County and WisDOT to include and implement bicycle 

facilities on all projects within the Village that fall under County or State 

jurisdiction. 

18. Conduct regular bicycle and pedestrian counts around the Village. Require 

bicycle and pedestrian counts in all manual traffic counts conducted for specific 

projects. 

 

Education and Encouragement 

19. Include at least one piece of bicycle or pedestrian education at least quarterly in 

the Village newsletter. 

20. Provide bicycle and pedestrian safety and education materials on the Village 

webpage. 

21. Form a Safe Routes to School (SRTS) Committee to develop and implement a 

SRTS plan and apply for federal, State-administered funding. 

22. Provide bicycle and pedestrian education to all students enrolled in public and 

private schools located in the Village through a Safe Routes to School program. 

23. Provide Village police officers with educational materials on bike issues by 

offering Wisconsin Pedestrian & Bicycle Law Enforcement Training Course on a 

biennial basis. 

24. Adopt Bike to Work Week as a Village-sponsored event, helping with promotion 

and encouragement of biking. 

 

Enforcement 
25. Request that the Village Police Department allocate more time to enforcement 

of traffic violations, particularly failure to stop/yield violations, speeding and 

safe passing distance violations.  

 

Funding 
26. Pursue funding for bicycle and pedestrian facilities and resources from federal, 

State and local sources. 

27. Apply for federal funding for Safe Routes to School and other bicycle education 

programs targeted at students. 

 

 

Directional signage, like this in the Boston 

area, can aid cyclists in finding destinations. 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

26 

6. Design Standards 
 

All bicycle and pedestrian facilities in the Village must meet State and federal design 

standards for such facilities. These standards help ensure that facilities are safe and 

meet guidance that has been vetted by professionals in the field. Additionally, 

meeting proper design standards may help lessen or remove the Village’s liability 

should a crash or accident occur on one of the facilities. 

 

The design standards presented on the following pages are intended as an 

informational guide and should not be used as engineering documents. All facilities 

should meet the standards presented in the federal and State guidance noted below, 

particularly the Wisconsin Bicycle Facility Design Handbook and the Manual on 

Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD). 

 

 

6.1 Federal and State Design Guidance 
The Guide for the Development of Bicycle Facilities by the American Association of 

State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) is commonly accepted as the 

“best practices” for building bicycle facilities.  

http://www.sccrtc.org/bikes/AASHTO_1999_BikeBook.pdf 

 

The Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) by the United States Federal 

Highway Administration (FHWA) contains currently acceptable signage for use on 

bicycle facilities as well as experimental signs. 

http://mutcd.fhwa.dot.gov/ 

 

The Wisconsin Department of Transportation Facilities Development Manual (FDM) 

details bicycle facility design (Chapter 11, Section 45, Subject 10). The manual 

provides definitive guidance from the State on all facility design standards. 

http://roadwaystandards.dot.wi.gov/standards/fdm/index.htm 

 

The Wisconsin Bicycle Facility Design Handbook expands on the FDM and meets or 

exceeds AASHTO guidelines. The Handbook uses information from the AASHTO 

Guide for the Development of Bicycle Facilities and is tailored to meet Wisconsin’s 

needs and conditions. 

http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/projects/state/docs/bike-facility.pdf 

 

Although intended for larger communities, the Wisconsin Bicycle Planning Guidance: 

Guidelines for MPOs & Communities in Planning Bicycle Facilities contains useful 

information about the importance of planning a complete bikeway network. 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/projects/bikes.htm 

 

In addition to this guidance, all bicycle and pedestrian facilities shall meet the 

requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Accessibility Guidelines. 

http://www.access-board.gov/adaag/html/adaag.htm 

 

The Wisconsin Bicycle Facility Handbook 

provides definitive guidance on bikeway 

design for all Wisconsin municipalities. 

http://www.sccrtc.org/bikes/AASHTO_1999_BikeBook.pdf
http://mutcd.fhwa.dot.gov/
http://roadwaystandards.dot.wi.gov/standards/fdm/index.htm
http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/projects/state/docs/bike-facility.pdf
http://www.dot.wisconsin.gov/projects/state/docs/bike-facility.pdf
http://www.dot.state.wi.us/projects/state/docs/bike-facility.pdf#search=%22Wisconsin%20Bicycle%20Facility%20Design%20Guidelines%22
http://www.access-board.gov/adaag/html/adaag.htm


Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

27 

6.2 On-Street Facilities 
Under Wisconsin law bicyclists are legal users of the roadway and are entitled to all 

of the rights and responsibilities of motor vehicles. All streets other than limited 

access highways are an important part of the bicycle transportation network 

regardless of if they are specifically designated for bicycle use. However, there are 

specific on-street facilities that can make streets safer, more comfortable and more 

convenient for bicycles to use. These facilities are detailed below. 

 

Bike Lanes 
A bicycle lane is a portion of the roadway designated for exclusive or preferential 

use by bicyclists. Bicycle lanes are always one-way facilities and are identified with 

pavement markings and signing. On two-way streets, a one-way bicycle lane should 

be provided on each side. Bicycle lanes are the preferred bicycle facility on higher 

volume urban and suburban roadways (i.e., collector and arterial streets) but are 

seldom justified on residential streets. Bike lanes provide a significant benefit to 

safe and efficient bicycle circulation by providing separate identifiable areas on the 

street for bikes and autos. Bicycle lanes can be used on streets with and without on-

street parking. For more information and frequently asked questions regarding bike 

lanes, see the Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center: 

http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/engineering/facilities-bikelanes.cfm 

 

Bike Routes 
Signed bike routes are on-street routes intended to provide connectivity and 

continuity to the bikeway system. Bike routes are usually established along through 

routes not served by bike routes or as an alternative to bicycling on busy streets. 

Bike routes are designated by signs or permanent pavement markings and are 

shared by motorists. Bike routes should provide direct travel from one destination 

to another or connect discontinuous segments of shared use paths, bike lanes, or 

bike routes. Efforts should be made, if necessary, to adjust traffic control devices to 

give greater priority to bicyclists on the route as opposed to other parallel streets. 

For more information and frequently asked questions regarding bike routes, see the 

Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center: 

http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/engineering/facilities-roadways.cfm 

 

Wide Shoulders 

On rural highways smoothly paved shoulders can serve as a bicycle facility. 

Shoulders provide clearance between bicyclists and high-speed motor vehicle traffic 

and they reduce the “wind blast” effect of passing trucks. In addition to benefiting 

bicyclists, wide paved shoulders provide an area for vehicles to pull onto during 

emergencies and maintenance benefits due to elimination of rutting adjacent to the 

edge of travel lane, improved drainage, and lateral support for the roadway base. 

For more information and frequently asked questions regarding wide shoulders, see 

the Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center: 

http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/engineering/facilities-shoulders.cfm 

 

http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/engineering/facilities-bikelanes.cfm
http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/engineering/facilities-roadways.cfm
http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/engineering/facilities-shoulders.cfm


Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

28 

Roundabouts 

Although not specific bicycle facilities, roundabouts deserve a special mention due 

to their recent approval for construction on State Highway 165 in Pleasant Prairie 

and design issues that can be problematic for bicycles. In general, single-lane 

roundabouts are excellent facilities for bicycles due to the relatively low speed of 

traffic and the ability of bicyclists to “take the lane” as they proceed through the 

roundabout. Double-lane roundabouts much be approached with greater caution 

due to higher motor vehicle speeds and lane changing within the roundabout. 

 

Bicycle lanes should end before the roundabout with signage indicating that bicycle 

traffic may use the full travel lane. Additionally, a shared-use path should be 

provided around the circumference of the roundabout with bicycle entrance and 

exit ramps from the street; this allows bicyclists who are not comfortable moving 

into the travel lane through the roundabout to use the path instead. Signage on the 

path should indicate that it is a one-way facility for bicycles and the path should 

provide adequate width for pedestrians and bicyclists. It should be noted that 

WisDOT will fund 100% of construction costs for roundabout shared-use paths on 

projects the State is responsible for as long as the local municipality assumes 

maintenance for the facility. For detailed information on design see the WisDOT 

Roundabout Guide, found in Chapters 11, Sections 25 and 26 of the Facilities 

Development Manual: 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/safety/motorist/roaddesign/roundabout-design.htm 

  

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/safety/motorist/roaddesign/roundabout-design.htm


Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

29 

General Urban Street Cross Section with Bike Lanes 
This generalized cross section provides minimum dimensions for an urbanized street with bicycle lanes. It provides: 

 

 One traffic lane in each direction 

 One bicycle lane in each direction 

 May include parking lanes on one or both sides of the street 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Handbook, Wisconsin Facilities Design Manual (FDM) and 2009 Manual on 

Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) for full guidance and engineering specifications. Diagram is for informational 

purposes only and is not to scale. 

 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

30 

R-2 49’ Cross Section 
This cross section provides dimensions for Pleasant Prairie’s R-2 Residential Collector. It provides: 

 

 One traffic lane in each direction 

 One bicycle lane in each direction 

 Parking lanes on both sides of the street 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Handbook and Wisconsin FDM for full guidance and engineering 

specifications. Diagram is for informational purposes only and is not to scale. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

31 

R-5 37’ Cross Section 
This cross section provides dimensions for one side of Pleasant Prairie’s divided R-5 Arterial. It provides: 

 

 Two traffic lanes in each direction (divided by a median) 

 One bicycle lane/wide curb lane in each direction 

 Parking lanes on both sides of the street (divided by a median) 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Handbook and Wisconsin FDM for full guidance and engineering 

specifications. Diagram is for informational purposes only and is not to scale. 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

32 

Generalized Intersection with Bike and Parking Lanes 
This is a generalized intersection approach for an unban street with one travel lane, one bike lane and one parking lane. 

Specific Pleasant Prairie intersection engineering documents are provided on pages 34 through 37. 

 

 The parking lane should drop in advance of the intersection 

 The right turn only lane should be added in place of the parking lane 

 The travel and bicycle lanes may need to shift away from the curb to provide adequate width for the turn lane 

 The bicycle lane should be dashed across the area where cars merge into the turn lane 

 Signage should indicate that cars merging to the turn lane must yield to bikes 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Handbook, Wisconsin Facilities Design Manual (FDM) and 2009 Manual on 

Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) for full guidance and engineering specifications. Diagram is for informational 

purposes only and is not to scale. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

33 

Generalized Intersection with Bike and Turn Lanes 
This is a generalized intersection approach for an unban street with one travel lane, one bike lane and an added turn lane. 

 

 The right turn only lane should be added to the right of the bike lane 

 The bicycle lane should be dashed across the area where cars merge into the turn lane 

 Signage should indicate that cars merging to the turn lane must yield to bikes 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Handbook, Wisconsin Facilities Design Manual (FDM) and 2009 Manual on 

Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) for full guidance and engineering specifications. Diagram is for informational 

purposes only and is not to scale. 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

34 

 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

35 
 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

36 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

37 

 

 

 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

38 

Rural Collector/Arterial Cross Section 
This cross section provides dimensions for a rural collector or arterial street with wide paved shoulders. It provides: 

 

 One traffic lane in each direction 

 One bicycle lane/paved shoulder in each direction 

 May include parking lanes on one or both sides of the street 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Handbook and Wisconsin FDM for full guidance and engineering 

specifications. Diagram is for informational purposes only and is not to scale. 

 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

39 

Signed Bicycle Routes 
Signed bicycle routes are typically designated on low traffic streets and do not feature any special on-street marking for 

bicycles. Signs for bicycle routes should be placed before and after every turn, at every signalized intersection, every ¼ 

mile in urbanized areas and every ½ mile in rural areas. 

 

Bicycle route signage should be combined with directional signage that allows users to easily determine the distance to 

specific destinations. Common destinations include parks, schools, cultural centers, retail areas, and other popular 

locations. 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Handbook, the MUTCD and Wisconsin FDM for full guidance and engineering 

specifications. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

40 

Roundabouts 
Roundabouts are increasingly replacing intersections of collector and arterial streets. These facilities provide numerous 

benefits, but can be challenging for bicyclists to navigate. When approaching a single-lane roundabout, bicyclists should be 

given the option to “take the lane” and proceed through the roundabout as a motor vehicle would or to use a shared-use 

path around the exterior of the roundabout. 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Department of Transportation Roundabout Guide and Wisconsin FDM for full guidance and 

engineering specifications. 
 

 

 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

41 

6.3 Off-Street Facilities 
Off-street facilities are a critical part of the bicycle and pedestrian network. For 

bicyclists, off-street facilities provide a supplement to on-street facilities and can 

provide more direct access to specific destinations than on-street facilities do. For 

pedestrians, off-street facilities can also provide more direct access to destinations. 

Both sets of users can benefit from facilities that are designed for their specific use 

without the use of motor vehicles. It should be stressed that as a part of the bicycle 

network, off-street facilities are a complement to, and not a replacement for, on-

street facilities. 

 

Shared-Use Paths 
Shared-use paths are paved facilities located in a separate right of way, for the 

exclusive use of bicycles and pedestrians, with minimal cross flow by motor 

vehicles. Off -street bike paths are typically located within open space corridors 

along creeks, high voltage power line corridors and community/city-wide parks. 

They may also be located within greenways, which are landscaped areas created for 

the purpose of providing important bicycle and pedestrian linkages between uses. 

Shared-use paths offer important bicycle commuting opportunities, but on their 

own are not sufficient to fully support bicycle commuting because of limited 

connections to destinations. Shared-use paths provide an important recreational 

amenity for bicyclists, pedestrians, dog walkers, runners, roller blades and other 

non-motorized forms of travel. 

 

Shared-use paths are paved facilities that should be wide enough to offer a wide 

range of users a comfortable and safe experience. They are also often located and 

designed to provide service vehicle access to utility corridors and emergency 

vehicle access to open space, including police and fire vehicles. 

 

Recreational Trails 
Recreational trails are typically non-paved, narrower trails designed specifically for 

pedestrian use. Such trails are appropriate in sensitive ecological areas or areas 

where high levels of bicycle and pedestrian traffic are not desired. Recreational 

trails are designed primarily for recreational and not transportation purposes, 

although some may use them for transportation. These trails should be provided as 

a supplement to the off-street shared-use path network and the on-street bicycle 

facility network. 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

42 

Shared-use Paths 
Shared-use paths are off-street bicycle facilities that serve two-way bicycle and pedestrian traffic. Because shared-use 

paths are intended for pedestrian use, the design must conform to Americans with Disabilities (ADA) guidance. 

 

Shared-use paths should be considered a supplement to, and not a replacement for, on-street bicycle facilities. 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Handbook and Wisconsin FDM for full guidance and engineering 

specifications. Diagram is for informational purposes only and is not to scale. 

 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

43 

Recreational Trails 
Recreational trails are dirt or gravel trails intended for pedestrian only use. These trails are appropriate in 

environmentally sensitive areas. 

 

Refer to the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Handbook and Wisconsin FDM for full guidance and engineering 

specifications. Diagram is for informational purposes only and is not to scale. 

 
 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

44 

6.4 Support Facilities 
With the provision of bicycle and pedestrian facilities it is critical that the Village or 

private sponsors offer support facilities and services to ensure that paths and 

roadways are safe and comfortable to use. These facilities and services include high-

level maintenance and the provision of signage throughout the bicycle and 

pedestrian network. Additionally, trailheads, lighting, and parking areas can be 

appropriate in specific locations to ease access to the network and increase safety. 

 

General Maintenance 
Good maintenance is critical for the safe operation of bicycle and pedestrian 

facilities. Debris in bicycle lanes or on paths presents a hazard to users as bicyclists 

can easily fall or be pushed into traffic while pedestrians also risk falls. 

 

On-street bicycle facilities should be maintained as part of regular street 

maintenance. However, due to the susceptibility of bicycles to damage and danger 

risks from debris or pavement damage, priority should be given to sweeping bicycle 

lanes and repairing potholes or other damage more frequently than standard travel 

lanes. Frequent sweeping of priority bicycle lanes and routes is particularly 

important because cars in adjoining lanes push rocks and other debris into the less 

traveled bicycle lanes. 

 

Off-street bicycle and pedestrian facilities, including sidewalks, should also receive 

frequent regular maintenance. Off-street facilities should be swept as needed, with 

particular attention paid to areas adjoining gravel paths where gravel may spread 

onto the pavement and present a slip hazard. Sweeping should also be conducted 

more frequently during the fall and spring seasons when leaves may present a 

hazard on trails and paths. The appearance of potholes or cracks is less common on 

off-street facilities, but those that do appear should be promptly patched and sealed. 

Regular inspection of sidewalks should check for cracking or lifting due to pressure 

from tree roots. Vegetation adjoining sidewalks and paths must be pruned to 

maintain visibility along the facility. 

 

Appendices A.3 and A.4 of the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design Manual provide 

additional details on maintenance of on- and off-street facilities 

 

Bicycle lanes and access should be 

maintained through street construction or 

projects that impede into the bike lane. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

45 

Snow Plowing 

For bicycle and pedestrian facilities to serve as true transportation alternatives they 

must be accessible and usable year round. Snow should promptly be cleared from all 

priority portions of the network. On-street facilities should be plowed when the 

street is cleared. It is critical that travel lanes are not plowed into the bike lane 

therefore forcing bicyclists into the regular travel lane, particularly on high-speed 

arterials. Sidewalks should be cleared of snow in a timely manner especially in key 

corridors and areas around schools. 

 

Priority off-street paths should be plowed at the same time as major arterials and 

collectors. These priority routes should be those that parallel major roadways, serve 

as cross-Village links, or provide access to major destinations including employment 

centers, schools, and recreation facilities. Assigning snow clearance duties to the 

Public Works Department allows path plowing concurrent to the plowing of streets. 

Plowing of minor off-street paths can occur after major paths and streets have been 

cleared, but should be cleared in a timely manner after each snowfall. 

 

Bicycle Parking 
Bicyclists must have a reasonable expectation that there will be a safe location to 

lock their bike at their destination for bicycling to serve as a practical form of 

transportation. The Village should ensure that adequate bicycle parking exists both 

at recreational sites such as parks, the RecPlex and trailheads, as well as 

commercial, industrial and employment sites. This can be accomplished by direct 

installation of racks by the Village, offering a cost sharing program for rack 

installation with interested businesses, and through changes in the local ordinance 

that require minimum amounts of bicycle parking at employment and commercial 

buildings, as is currently done for motor vehicles. 

 

It is important that racks adequately support bicycles and are securely fastened to 

the ground. The City of Madison has produced a one-page handout that describes 

racks that do and do not meet the City’s standards for bicycle parking. The 

document also describes minimum dimensions for the installation of bicycle racks. 

http://www.cityofmadison.com/trafficEngineering/documents/MadisonBikeParkin

g.pdf  

 
Bicycle racks should be prominently located so that cyclists can easily find them 

when arriving at destinations. Cyclists should not have to search around a building 

for a rack or lock their bike to objects such as street signs or railings because racks 

are not available. Studies have shown that patrons arriving by bike or on foot 

typically spend more money at local restaurants and shops than those arriving in 

motor vehicles. Additionally, employees who regularly commute by bike tend to be 

healthier and have lower medical costs than those who do not commute by bike. It 

may be useful to highlight these facts to business owners when requesting or 

requiring that they install bicycle parking. 

Ample bicycle parking should be provided at 

popular destinations. 

Shared-use paths should be plowed 

immediately after a snow fall. 

http://www.cityofmadison.com/trafficEngineering/documents/MadisonBikeParking.pdf
http://www.cityofmadison.com/trafficEngineering/documents/MadisonBikeParking.pdf


Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

46 

Signage and Markings 

Adequate signage is essential throughout the bicycle and pedestrian network. This 

signage provides regulatory, warning and directional information to users on both 

on-road and off-road facilities.  

 

Regulatory signage and marking should provide users with a clear indication of how 

they should behave. Common markings and signage indicates proper direction of 

travel, speed limits and establishing right of way for users. 

 

Warning devices alert users to potential hazards. These devices often warn of 

hazardous conditions including steep grades, sharp curves or changes in path 

conditions. Signage can also alert users to approaching intersections or railroad 

crossings. When used on off-street facilities, warning signage should be the same as 

MUTCD-approved on-road signage, although it is often scaled down slightly in 

recognition of the lower speeds of path users compared to street users. 

 

Users often consider informational signage the most important signage on a path or 

street. This signage commonly points users to popular destinations, orients users 

within the larger network and provides travel distances and approximate times to 

specific locations. Informational signage should generally follow MUTCD guidance, 

although there is more freedom to use custom colors or designs with this signage, 

particularly on off-street paths. 

 

All signage and markings should comply with the Wisconsin Bicycle Facilities Design 

Manual, which details signage and marking requirements throughout the manual. 

Section 4.14 of the Manual presents guidance specific to off-street paths, although 

much of the signage detailed there is also relevant to on-street facilities. 

 

Lighting 
Bicyclists in the State of Wisconsin are required to use a front headlight when 

traveling between dusk and dawn. Despite this requirement, fixed-source lighting 

should be considered to improve visibility and safety along paths and at 

intersections with streets. Lighting allows bicyclists to better see their surroundings 

and observe potential hazards, while also providing pedestrians who may not have a 

light the same advantages. Lighting should be strongly considered where night use 

of paths is expected; paths to and from the RecPlex are a good example in Pleasant 

Prairie. Regardless if lighting is provided along paths, lighting should always be 

provided at intersections between paths and streets or other paths. Additionally, 

lighting should be strongly considered through underpasses or tunnels, on 

overpasses and in areas where personal safety may be a concern, even if lighting is 

not provided on other portions of the path. 

 

All path lighting should comply with the guidance provided in the Wisconsin Bicycle 

Facility Design Manual, section 4.13. Additionally, lighting should be provided at a 

scale that is appropriate for bicycles and pedestrians. Tall street lamps intended for 

lighting streets or parking lots are not appropriate for path or sidewalk lighting, 

although they may be used where paths intersect streets. 

Trailheads Pedestrian scale lighting should be closely 

spaced. These lights in Madison are solar 

powered. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

47 

Trailheads located at a number of locations throughout the Village can provide an 

important amenity to path and trail users. Trailheads should be located at heavily 

used path and street intersections. At a minimum, these locations should provide a 

small parking lot, bicycle racks, a large map of the bicycle and pedestrian network 

and benches for resting. Additional amenities can include drinking fountains, public 

restrooms and lighting. The trailheads should provide a safe and welcoming 

environment for path users whether they are beginning and ending their trip there, 

or using the area for a rest during their commute or workout.  The Village should 

consider integrating trailheads and with existing and planned parks, this allows 

shared use of facilities with park visitors. 

 

 

 

 

 

Trailheads can be provided at popular 

destinations such as parks where parking 

and other facilities can be shared. 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

48 

7. Recommended Bike and Pedestrian Network 
 

This section describes the recommended bicycle and pedestrian trail network in the 

Village. The network was developed through the public participation process, future 

development plans and plats, an assessment of local roadways and current 

transportation plans. The network was designed to provide coverage throughout 

the community, including access to schools, parks, and other popular destinations, 

and connectivity into surrounding municipalities. 

 

 

7.1 Proposed Network 
A map of the proposed bicycle and pedestrian network is presented on the following 

page. As shown in Table 1, the proposed network expands the bicycle and 

pedestrian facilities in the Village from approximately 10 miles to 98 miles. Slightly 

more than half of the total network is comprised of on-street bicycle lanes, while the 

remainder is primarily composed of paved shared-use paths. These facilities, 

combined with installation of sidewalks in new developments and along rebuilt 

roadways, will result in a robust network for pedestrians and bicyclists. 

 
Table 1: Existing and Planned Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities (miles) 

 Existing Proposed Total 

Bicycle Lanes 2.29 50.98 53.27 

Shared-use Path (Paved) 3.74 27.18 30.92 

Shared-use Path (Gravel) 3.53 2.24 5.77 

Recreational Trails 0.80 7.52 8.32 

Total 10.36 87.92 98.28 

 

The proposed facilities will need to be individually evaluated for feasibility and 

environmental constraints before implementation, particularly the shared-use paths 

and proposed future streets. 

 

A full map of existing and proposed bicycle and pedestrian facilities is located at the 

back of this plan. Small maps on the following pages divide Pleasant Prairie into 

thirds and detail the proposed facilities within those areas. 

 

 

A newly striped street providing one travel 

lane, one bike lane and one parking lane in 

each direction. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

49 

7.2 Facility Recommendations and Conceptual Costs 
This section provides more detailed information on the proposed bicycle and 

pedestrian facilities, including segment lengths and conceptual costs. Costs for 

bicycle projects vary widely across the state and the country and the figures 

provided should be treated only as very rough planning figures. 

 

Cost Calculator 
A detailed project cost calculator is provided Pedestrian and Bicycle Information 

Center. This tool provides regional averages for construction, planning, 

administrative and other costs while also allowing users to specify known costs. 

http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/bikecost/ 

 

Bicycle Lanes 
The cost assumptions for bicycle lanes are for pavement markings and signage only. 

It is assumed that streets with proposed bicycle lanes either have adequate width to 

add lanes or that space for lanes will be added when the street is next reconstructed. 

Construction costs are not included in the cost estimates for bicycle lanes. Based on 

costs provided by WisDOT and from recent City of Milwaukee projects, an estimate 

of $5,000/mile is used for painted bike lanes. 

 

Shared-Use Paths 
Cost estimates vary widely for paved shared-use paths depending on the 

topography, soil and water features, drainage issues and other environmental 

constraints. Common figures for a 10’ paved shared-use path vary from 

$240,000/mile (Florida Department of Transportation) to over $1.3 million/mile 

(Roseville, CA Bike Plan) for basic paths. Road crossings, environmental constraints, 

drainage issues, and path amenities can rapidly escalate these costs. For the 

purposes of this plan, an estimated cost of $500,000/mile is used. 

 

The proposed gravel multiuse paths are estimated to cost $25,000/mile. Pricing for 

recreational trails is not provided as costs can vary widely given ground conditions. 

 

Budgeting 
The Village should budget for engineering costs, including a contingency for cost 

overruns. Federal and State funding is awarded for a fixed amount, and will not 

cover cost overruns, so budgets should be made carefully. A common figure to 

budget for engineering and contingencies is 20% of the total project cost. 

 
Table 2: Proposed Bicycle Network Conceptual Costs 

 Length Cost per mile Total 

Bicycle Lanes 50.98 $5,000 $254,900 

Shared-use Path (Paved) 27.18 $500,000 $13,590,000 

Shared-use Path (Gravel) 2.24 $25,000 $56,000 

Recreational Trails 7.52 N/A N/A 

Total 80.40  $13,900,900 

A divided shared-use path in Madison 

provides separate space for bicyclists and 

pedestrians. 

http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/bikecost/


Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

50 

Ex
is

ti
n

g 
an

d
 P

ro
p

o
se

d
 F

ac
ili

ti
es

 

W
e

st
 S

e
ct

io
n

 

W
e

st
 V

ill
ag

e
 B

o
rd

e
r 

– 
8

8
th

 A
ve

 

 

 

 

Pr
op

os
ed

 F
ac

ili
tie

s 
W

es
t S

ec
tio

n 
Vi

lla
ge

 B
or

de
r –

 8
8th

 A
ve

 

N
am

e
#

Fr
om

To
M

ile
s

Es
tim

at
ed

 C
os

t
Pr

op
os

ed
 B

ik
e 

La
ne

s 
(O

n 
St

re
et

)
P

ra
ir

ie
 R

id
g
e
 B

lv
d

1
0
4
th

 A
ve

8
8
th

 A
ve

1
.0

3
$
5
,1

6
3

8
2
n
d
 S

t
E

 o
f 
1
1
1
 A

ve
1
0
8
th

 A
ve

0
.3

3
$
1
,6

5
2

B
a
in

 S
ta

ti
o
n
 R

d
1
0
4
th

 A
ve

8
8
th

 A
ve

1
.0

2
$
5
,1

1
4

C
ty

 H
w

y 
C

W
e
s
t 
F

ro
n
ta

g
e
 R

d
8
8
th

 A
ve

2
.5

0
$
1
2
,5

1
6

1
0
4
th

 S
t

W
 V

il
la

g
e
 B

o
rd

e
r

8
8
th

 A
ve

3
.0

0
$
1
4
,9

8
4

1
2
2
n
d
 S

t
W

e
s
t 
F

ro
n
ta

g
e
 R

d
8
8
th

 A
ve

2
.0

9
$
1
0
,4

3
1

W
e
s
t 
F

ro
n
ta

g
e
 R

d
S

o
u
th

 o
f 
C

ty
 H

w
y 

C
1
2
2
n
d
 S

t
3
.0

2
$
1
5
,1

0
9

E
a
s
t 
F

ro
n
ta

g
e
 R

d
1
0
4
th

 S
t

S
 o

f 
C

ty
 H

w
y 

C
1
.2

2
$
6
,1

0
5

1
1
4
th

 A
ve

1
0
4
th

 S
t

1
1
6
th

 A
ve

0
.3

6
$
1
,7

7
5

R
iv

e
r 

R
d

C
ty

 H
w

y 
C

E
n
d

1
.1

1
$
5
,5

6
7

1
0
8
th

 A
ve

8
2
n
d
 S

t
8
4
th

 S
t

0
.2

4
$
1
,2

1
8

1
0
4
th

 A
ve

P
ra

ir
ie

 R
id

g
e
 B

lv
d

B
a
in

 S
ta

ti
o
n
 R

d
0
.7

3
$
3
,6

6
8

8
8
th

 A
ve

S
 V

il
la

g
e
 B

o
rd

e
r

N
 V

il
la

g
e
 B

o
rd

e
r

5
.5

4
$
2
7
,6

9
8

Pr
op

os
ed

 B
ik

e 
La

ne
s 

(F
ut

ur
e 

St
re

et
s)

E
a
s
t 
F

ro
n
ta

g
e
 R

d
1

S
o
u
th

 o
f 
C

ty
 H

w
y 

C
N

o
rt

h
 o

f 
C

ty
 H

w
y 

C
1
.1

5
$
5
,7

3
5

 
2

1
0
8
th

 A
ve

1
0
4
th

 A
ve

0
.2

6
$
1
,3

0
4

Pr
op

os
ed

 M
ul

tiu
se

 P
at

hs
 - 

Pa
ve

d
P

a
th

 3
3

N
 V

il
la

g
e
 B

o
rd

e
r

8
4
th

 S
t

1
.0

0
$
4
9
8
,3

8
2

P
a
th

 4
4

W
 V

il
la

g
e
 B

o
rd

e
r

8
4
th

 S
t

0
.3

3
$
1
6
3
,5

8
4

P
a
th

 5
5

B
a
in

 S
ta

ti
o
n
 R

d
P

a
th

 6
0
.4

8
$
2
4
0
,6

5
5

P
a
th

 6
6

P
a
th

 7
8
8
th

 A
ve

1
.2

4
$
6
2
1
,6

4
4

P
a
th

 7
7

C
ty

 H
w

y 
C

L
a
k
e
 A

n
d
re

a
 P

a
th

1
.8

4
$
9
1
8
,9

2
0

P
a
th

 8
8

R
iv

e
r 

R
d

J
e
ro

m
e
 C

re
e
k

0
.5

0
$
2
4
8
,8

6
3

Pr
op

os
ed

 M
ul

tiu
se

 P
at

hs
 - 

G
ra

ve
l

P
a
th

 9
9

J
e
ro

m
e
 C

re
e
k

L
a
k
e
 A

n
d
re

a
 P

a
th

1
.5

7
$
3
9
,1

8
2

P
a
th

 1
0

1
0

E
a
s
t 
F

ro
n
ta

g
e
 R

d
1
0
4
th

 S
t

0
.6

7
$
1
6
,8

6
9

Pr
op

os
ed

 R
ec

re
at

io
na

l T
ra

ils
 - 

G
ra

ve
l

T
ra

il
 1

1
1
1

E
a
s
t 
F

ro
n
ta

g
e
 R

d
E

a
s
t 
F

ro
n
ta

g
e
 R

d
1
.2

2
N

o
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

n

n

a

^

® v

® v

88TH AVE

I-94  

W
IL

M
O

T
 R

D

136TH AVE

1
2

2
N

D
 S

T

104TH AVE

80TH AVE

H
O

R
T
O

N
 R

D

9
5

T
H

 S
T

EAST F RONTAGE R
D

1
2

8
T

H
 S

T

B
A

IN
 S

T
A
T

IO
N

 R
D

120TH AVE

1
1
6

T
H

 S
T

R IVE R R
D

P

A

R
K

 D

R

WEST FRONTAGE RD

1
0

9
T

H
 S

T

108TH AVE

114TH AVE

9
3

R
D

 P
L

115TH AVE

W
EST FRONTAGE RD

8
2

N
D

 S
T

7
9

T
H

 S
T

1
1
6

T
H

 S
T

C
I

T
Y

 
O

F
 

K
E

N
O

S
H

A

TOWN OF
BRISTOL

0
0
.4

0
.8

0
.2

M
ile

s

§̈ ¦I-9
4 §̈ ¦I-9

4

¬ «165

" )C

" )C

" )H
¬ «50

" )H " )H

¬ «1

¬ «2

¬ «3 ¬ «4

¬ «5

¬ «6

¬ «7

¬ «8
¬ «9

¬ «10

¬ «11

¬ «12

¯
TOWN OF
BRISTOL

P
ar

k
s 

/ 
P

u
b

li
c 

L
an

d
s

V
il

la
g

e 
B

o
u

n
d

a
ry

E
x

is
ti

n
g

 F
a

ci
li

ti
e

s

B
ic

yc
le

 L
an

e

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 P
av

ed

W
a

te
r

P
ro

p
er

ty
 L

in
es

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 G
ra

ve
l

R
ec

re
at

io
n

a
l T

ra
il

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 F
a

ci
li

ti
e

s

B
ic

yc
le

 L
an

e

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 P
av

ed

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 G
ra

ve
l

R
ec

re
at

io
n

a
l T

ra
il

Si
d

ew
al

k
¬ «1

P
ro

je
ct

 #

-L
e

g
e

n
d

-



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

51 

 

 

Ex
is

ti
n

g 
an

d
 P

ro
p

o
se

d
 F

ac
ili

ti
e

s 

C
e

n
tr

al
 S

e
ct

io
n

 

8
8

th
 A

ve
 –

 3
9

th
 A

ve
 

N
am

e
#

Fr
om

To
M

ile
s

Es
tim

at
ed

 C
os

t
Pr

op
os

ed
 B

ik
e 

La
ne

s 
(O

n 
St

re
et

)
B

a
in

 S
ta

ti
o
n
 R

d
8
8
th

 A
ve

G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

1
.2

3
$
6
,1

2
7

8
0
th

 S
t

6
0
th

 A
ve

V
il
la

g
e
 B

o
rd

e
r

0
.5

5
$
2
,7

3
0

8
2
n
d
 S

t
6
0
th

 A
ve

C
o

o
p
e
r 

R
d

0
.5

0
$
2
,4

7
9

8
5
th

 S
t

G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

3
9
th

 A
ve

1
.8

9
$
9
,4

7
2

8
6
th

 P
l

4
3
rd

 A
ve

3
9
th

 A
ve

0
.2

5
$
1
,2

5
0

1
0
4
th

 S
t

8
8
th

 A
ve

3
9
th

 A
ve

2
.9

9
$
1
4
,9

3
7

1
2
2
n
d
 S

t
8
8
th

 A
ve

E
n
d

0
.2

2
$
1
,0

9
6

1
2
3
rd

 P
l

G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

E
n
d

0
.4

5
$
2
,2

4
2

1
2
2
n
d
 S

t
4
3
rd

 A
ve

3
9
th

 A
ve

0
.1

9
$
9
6
2

1
2
3
rd

 S
t

E
n
d

1
2
2
n
d
 S

t
0
.1

5
$
7
5
4

G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

B
a
in

 S
ta

ti
o
n
 R

d
8
5
th

 S
t

0
.3

0
$
1
,5

1
9

O
ld

 G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

B
a
in

 S
ta

ti
o
n
 R

d
S

p
ri

n
g
b
ro

o
k
 R

d
3
.8

1
$
1
9
,0

7
5

C
o

o
p
e
r 

R
d

8
0
th

 S
t

8
5
th

 S
t

0
.5

0
$
2
,5

1
5

S
p
ri

n
g
b
ro

o
k
 R

d
G

re
e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

3
9
th

 A
ve

2
.6

4
$
1
3
,2

1
3

3
9
th

 A
ve

P
a
th

 8
1
0
0
th

 S
t

0
.2

6
$
1
,2

9
0

4
3
rd

 A
ve

V
il
la

g
e
 B

o
rd

e
r

8
5
th

 S
t

0
.2

5
$
1
,2

5
1

4
3
rd

 A
ve

8
5
th

 S
t

8
6
th

 P
l

0
.2

2
$
1
,0

8
9

4
7
th

 A
ve

1
1
6
th

 S
t

1
2
3
rd

 S
t 
(F

u
tu

re
)

0
.6

5
$
3
,2

5
7

7
2
n
d
 A

ve
1
0
4
th

 S
t

1
0
8
th

 S
t

0
.3

5
$
1
,7

3
9

6
4
th

 A
ve

1
0
4
th

 S
t

1
0
0
th

 S
t

0
.2

9
$
1
,4

4
4

Pr
op

os
ed

 B
ik

e 
La

ne
s 

(F
ut

ur
e 

St
re

et
s)

8
9
th

 S
t 
(F

u
tu

re
)

1
G

re
e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

8
9
th

 S
t 
(E

xi
s
ti
n
g
)

0
.9

0
$
4
,5

2
3

1
2
3
rd

 P
l 
E

xt
e
n
s
io

n
2

1
2
3
rd

 P
l 
(E

xi
s
ti
n
g
)

4
7
th

 A
ve

1
.0

1
$
5
,0

4
9

1
2
3
rd

 S
t 
E

xt
e
n
s
io

n
3

4
7
th

 A
ve

1
2
3
rd

 S
t 
(E

xi
s
ti
n
g
)

0
.2

0
$
1
,0

0
3

6
4
th

 A
ve

 E
xt

e
n
s
io

n
6
4
th

 A
ve

0
.1

1
$
5
5
8

Pr
op

os
ed

 M
ul

tiu
se

 P
at

hs
 - 

Pa
ve

d
C

o
o
p
e
r 

R
o
a
d
 P

a
th

4
8
5
th

 S
t

C
o

o
p
e
r 

R
d
 (

S
 S

e
c
ti
o
n
)

1
.5

4
$
7
6
8
,4

6
2

P
a
th

 5
5

#
1

1
0
4
th

 S
t

1
.5

4
$
7
6
8
,8

7
7

P
a
th

 6
6

8
9
th

 S
t 
(F

u
tu

re
)

9
3
rd

 S
t

0
.6

4
$
3
1
8
,0

3
3

9
5
th

 S
t 
P

a
th

7
8
8
th

 A
ve

O
ld

 G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

1
.0

6
$
5
3
0
,9

8
0

P
a
th

 8
8

6
4
th

 A
ve

 E
xt

e
n
s
io

n
P

a
th

 9
0
.7

2
$
3
6
1
,9

0
1

P
a
th

 9
9

O
ld

 G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

3
9
th

 A
ve

2
.4

7
$
1
,2

3
7
,3

6
6

7
2
n
d
 A

ve
 E

xt
e
n
s
io

n
1
0

7
2
n
d
 A

ve
P

a
rk

0
.1

7
$
8
5
,9

1
5

G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d
 P

a
th

1
1

1
1
6
th

 S
t

P
a
rk

0
.3

5
$
1
7
2
,6

0
9

1
1
6
th

 S
t 
P

a
th

1
2

8
8
th

 A
ve

3
9
th

 A
ve

2
.9

8
$
1
,4

9
2
,4

8
8

S
p
ri

n
g
b
ro

o
k
 R

d
 P

a
th

1
3

1
1
6
th

 S
t

G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d

0
.6

3
$
3
1
3
,4

0
6

1
2
2
n
d
 S

t 
E

xt
e
n
s
io

n
1
4

1
2
2
n
d
 S

t
0
.4

6
$
2
3
0
,9

7
7

5
4
th

 A
ve

 P
a
th

P
a
rk

8
9
th

 S
t

0
.3

7
$
1
8
6
,7

8
5

8
9
th

 S
t 
P

a
th

5
4
th

 A
ve

E
n
d

0
.1

2
$
6
0
,2

2
0

G
re

e
n
 B

a
y 

R
d
 P

a
th

S
p
ri

n
g
b
ro

o
k
 R

d
1
2
3
rd

 P
l

0
.1

9
$
9
2
,7

8
2

Pr
op

os
ed

 R
ec

re
at

io
na

l T
ra

ils
 - 

G
ra

ve
l

T
ra

il
 1

5
1
5

1
1
3
th

 S
t

3
9
th

 A
ve

0
.4

6
N

o
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

n

n

n

nn
a

a
a

a
n

n

n
n

â

88TH AVE

39TH AVE

8
5

T
H

 S
T

8
0

T
H

 S
T

9
3

R
D

 S
T

1
0

4
T

H
 S

T

8
9

T
H

 S
T

S
PRIN

G
BRO

O
K R

D

47TH AVE

OLD GREEN BAY RD

80TH AVE

COOPER RD

9
5

T
H

 S
T

B
A

IN
 S

T
A
T

IO
N

 R
D

6
7

T
H

 S
T

P

A

R
K
 D

R

1
0

9
T

H
 S

T

1
2

3
R

D
 P

L

72ND AVE6
3

R
D

 S
T

8
7

T
H

 S
T

9
3

R
D

 P
L

45TH AVE

6
4

T
H

 S
T

50TH AVE

1
0

9
T

H
 S

T

1
1
6

T
H

 S
T

43RD AVE

1
1
6

T
H

 S
T

8
9

T
H

 S
T

1
2

8
T

H
 S

T

0
0
.4

0
.8

0
.2

M
ile

s

¯

P
ar

k
s 

/ 
P

u
b

li
c 

L
an

d
s

V
il

la
g

e 
B

o
u

n
d

a
ry

E
x

is
ti

n
g

 F
a

ci
li

ti
e

s

B
ic

yc
le

 L
an

e

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 P
av

ed

W
a

te
r

P
ro

p
er

ty
 L

in
es

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 G
ra

ve
l

R
ec

re
at

io
n

a
l T

ra
il

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 F
a

ci
li

ti
e

s

B
ic

yc
le

 L
an

e

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 P
av

ed

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 G
ra

ve
l

R
ec

re
at

io
n

a
l T

ra
il

Si
d

ew
al

k
¬ «1

P
ro

je
ct

 #

-L
e

g
e

n
d

-

" )H

" )ML

" )WG

" )EZ

" )EZ

¬ «165

¬ «31 ¬ «31

¬ «50

" )H

" )EZ

" )H

¬ «1

¬ «2

¬ «3

¬ «4
¬ «5

¬ «6

¬ «7
¬ «8

¬ «9

¬ «10

¬ «11
¬ «12

¬ «13

¬ «15

¬ «14

C
I

T
Y

 
O

F
 

K
E

N
O

S
H

A



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

52 

 

 

 

 

Pr
op

os
ed

 F
ac

ili
tie

s 
Ea

st
 S

ec
tio

n 
39

th
 A

ve
 –

 L
ak

e 
M

ic
hi

ga
n 

Ex
is

ti
n

g 
an

d
 P

ro
p

o
se

d
 F

ac
ili

ti
e

s:
 

Ea
st

 S
e

ct
io

n
 

3
9

th
 A

ve
 –

 L
ak

e 
M

ic
h

ig
an

 

N
am

e
#

Fr
om

To
M

ile
s

Es
tim

at
ed

 C
os

t
Pr

op
os

ed
 B

ik
e 

La
ne

s 
(O

n 
St

re
et

)
S

p
ri

n
g
b
ro

o
k
 R

d
3
9
th

 A
ve

9
1
s
t 
S

t
1
.3

8
$
6
,9

2
2

8
9
th

 S
t

V
il
la

g
e
 B

o
rd

e
r

V
il
la

g
e
 B

o
rd

e
r

0
.1

7
$
8
3
2

8
9
th

 S
t

2
2
n
d
 A

ve
1
7
th

 A
ve

0
.2

5
$
1
,2

4
8

8
5
th

 A
ve

7
th

 A
ve

3
rd

 A
ve

0
.2

2
$
1
,1

2
1

3
rd

 A
ve

8
5
th

 A
ve

8
6
th

 P
l

0
.0

6
$
3
0
9

8
6
th

 P
l

3
rd

 A
ve

1
s
t 
A

ve
0
.1

0
$
5
1
6

1
0
0
th

 S
t

3
9
th

 A
ve

3
2
n
d
 A

ve
0
.4

3
$
2
,1

4
3

3
2
n
d
 A

ve
3
9
th

 A
ve

P
a
rk

0
.0

6
$
3
1
0

1
0
4
th

 S
t

3
9
th

 A
ve

8
th

 A
ve

1
.8

0
$
8
,9

9
0

2
2
n
d
 A

ve
1
6
6
th

 S
t

E
n
d

0
.2

5
$
1
,2

5
9

1
2
2
n
d
 S

t
3
9
th

 A
ve

3
2
n
d
 A

ve
0
.3

7
$
1
,8

3
7

3
2
n
d
 A

ve
1
2
2
n
d
 S

t
K

e
n
o
s
h
a
 C

o
u
n
ty

 P
a
th

0
.0

6
$
3
2
1

M
a
ri

n
a
 R

d
1
1
6
th

 S
t

E
n
d

0
.8

7
$
4
,3

6
3

L
a
k
e
s
h
o
re

 D
r

1
1
6
th

 S
t

8
6
th

 P
l

2
.9

8
$
1
4
,8

7
6

Pr
op

os
ed

 B
ik

e 
La

ne
s 

(F
ut

ur
e 

St
re

et
s)

1
0
4
th

 S
t 
E

xt
e
n
s
io

n
1

1
0
4
th

 S
t 
(E

xi
s
ti
n
g
)

2
n
d
 A

ve
0
.3

0
$
1
,4

9
0

 
2

0
.4

5
$
2
,2

7
1

 
3

K
e
n
o
s
h
a
 C

o
u
n
ty

 P
a
th

0
.8

0
$
4
,0

0
0

 
4

K
e
n
o
s
h
a
 C

o
u
n
ty

 P
a
th

1
6
6
th

 S
t

1
.5

1
$
7
,5

2
9

M
a
ri

n
a
 R

d
 E

xt
e
n
s
io

n
M

a
ri

n
a
 R

d
L
a
k
e
 M

ic
h
ig

a
n

0
.2

4
$
1
,1

8
8

2
2
n
d
 A

ve
 E

xt
e
n
s
io

n
2
2
n
d
 A

ve
#
3

0
.0

9
$
4
5
2

Pr
op

os
ed

 M
ul

tiu
se

 P
at

hs
 - 

Pa
ve

d
P

a
th

 5
5

S
p
ri

n
g
b
ro

o
k
 R

d
P

a
rk

0
.9

5
$
4
7
6
,5

8
2

P
a
th

 6
6

1
0
4
th

 S
t

P
a
th

 5
1
.1

0
$
5
4
8
,1

0
5

1
1
6
th

 S
t 
P

a
th

7
3
9
th

 A
ve

L
a
k
e
s
h
o
re

 D
r

2
.2

8
$
1
,1

3
9
,6

6
6

 
3
2
n
d
 A

ve
K

e
n
o
s
h
a
 C

o
u
n
ty

 P
a
th

0
.0

5
$
2
2
,9

9
7

Pr
op

os
ed

 R
ec

re
at

io
na

l T
ra

ils
 - 

G
ra

ve
l

T
ra

il
 8

8
3
9
th

 A
ve

K
e
n
o
s
h
a
 C

o
u
n
ty

 P
a
th

0
.4

5
N

o
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

T
ra

il
 9

9
S

 o
f 
1
1
6
th

 S
t

E
 o

f 
R

R
 C

o
rr

id
o
r

3
.7

0
N

o
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

nn

n

a
a

n

n

n

n
n

n
n

n

â

39TH AVE

SHERIDAN RD

8
5

T
H

 S
T

8
0

T
H

 S
T

7TH AVE

22ND AVE

9
3

R
D

 S
T

8
9

T
H

 S
T

S
PR

IN
G

BRO
O

K R
D

47TH AVE

LAKESHORE DR

COOPER RD

9
1

S
T

 S
T

MARINA RD

8
7

T
H

 S
T

45TH AVE

50TH AVE

8
5

T
H

 S
T

1
0

9
T

H
 S

T

22ND AVE

1
1
6

T
H

 S
T

43RD AVE

0
0
.4

0
.8

0
.2

M
ile

s

¯

P
ar

k
s 

/ 
P

u
b

li
c 

L
an

d
s

V
il

la
g

e 
B

o
u

n
d

a
ry

E
x

is
ti

n
g

 F
a

ci
li

ti
e

s

B
ic

yc
le

 L
an

e

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 P
av

ed

W
a

te
r

P
ro

p
er

ty
 L

in
es

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 G
ra

ve
l

R
ec

re
at

io
n

a
l T

ra
il

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 F
a

ci
li

ti
e

s

B
ic

yc
le

 L
an

e

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 P
av

ed

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
 -

 G
ra

ve
l

R
ec

re
at

io
n

a
l T

ra
il

Si
d

ew
al

k
¬ «1

P
ro

je
ct

 #

-L
e

g
e

n
d

-

L a k e  M i c h i g a n

" )EZ

" )EZ

¬ «165

¬ «32

¬ «32

" )EZ

¬ «50

¬ «1

¬ «2

¬ «3

¬ «4

¬ «5

¬ «6

¬ «7
¬ «8

¬ «9

C
I

T
Y

 
O

F
 

K
E

N
O

S
H

A



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

53 

7.3 Funding Opportunities 
Many different funding sources are available for accommodating bicycles and 

pedestrians through on-street or off-street facilities. In order to be eligible for 

funding under most federal aid programs, bicycle projects must be primarily for 

transportation purposes. In general, federal guidelines consider any bicycle path or 

trail other than a closed loop trail as being principally for transportation and eligible 

for federal funding. State funding for the construction of on-street and off-street 

bicycle facilities is available through programs administered by the Wisconsin 

Department of Transportation (WisDOT), and includes funds provided directly by 

the state and “pass-through” funds provided by the Federal government as part of 

the Federal-aid Highway, Transit, and Highway Safety Programs. 

 

Transportation-Based Funding Sources 
The following is a summary of potential transportation-based funding sources for 

accommodating bicycles from WisDOT: 

 

Local Transportation Enhancement (TE) Program 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities Program (BPFP) 

The Transportation Enhancement Program funds projects that increase shared-

modal transportation alternatives and enhance communities and the environment. 

Federal funds administered through this program provide up to 80% of costs for a 

wide variety of projects such as bicycle or pedestrian facilities, landscaping, 

streetscaping and the preservation of historic transportation structures. Examples 

of bicycle projects include shared-use trails, paved shoulders, bike lanes, bicycle 

route signage, bicycle parking, overpasses/underpasses/bridges and sidewalks.  

 

The Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities Program (BPFP) was merged with the TE 

program beginning with the 2008 application cycle. As the name implies, BPFP 

funds bicycle and bicycle/pedestrian facilities. Per state statute, BPFP cannot fund 

exclusive pedestrian projects or streetscaping projects even if they include some 

bicycle and pedestrian elements. Because the TE program also extensively funds 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities, the two programs share the same application, 

review and selection process. 

 Central Office Program Manager: 608-264-8723 

 SE Region Program Manager: 262-548-8789 

 

Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Program (CMAQ) 

The primary purpose of the Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ) 

Improvement Program is to fund projects and programs that reduce travel and/or 

emissions in areas that have failed to meet air quality standards for ozone, carbon 

monoxide (CO), and small particulate matter. Bicycle and pedestrian projects are 

eligible for CMAQ if they reduce the number of vehicle trips and miles traveled. 

Approved projects are reimbursable at 80% of the cost, and a local match of 20% is 

required. Almost all bicycle projects eligible for Transportation Enhancements are 

likely to be eligible, but a higher burden of proof that the project will reduce air 

pollution will be required for CMAQ funding. CMAQ is not a statewide program; only 

bicycle projects in Milwaukee, Kenosha, Racine, Ozaukee, Waukesha, Washington, 

Sheboygan, Kewaunee, Manitowoc, and Door Counties are eligible. 

 

Shared-use paths should contain traffic 

control and directional signs where they 

intersect streets. 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

54 

Hazard Safety Improvement Program  

Bicycle and pedestrian projects are eligible for this program that focuses on projects 

intended for locations that have a documented history of previous crashes. 

 Contact WisDOT SE Region Traffic Safety Engineer, 262-548-5958, for more 

details before contacting the statewide coordinator at 608-266-3341. 

  

Surface Transportation Program - Urban 

Metropolitan areas receive an allocation of funds annually. These funds can be used 

on a variety improvement projects including bicycle and pedestrian projects. Most 

of the Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) that administer this program 

have been using these funds to integrate bicycle and pedestrian projects as larger 

street reconstruction projects are taken on. SEWRPC is the MPO for Southeast 

Wisconsin. 

 Contact SEWRPC, 262-547-6722  

 

Recreation-Based Funding Sources  
The following information for potential recreation-based funding sources was culled 

from the Wisconsin Department of Transportation website. 

 

Funding for the Recreational Trails Program (RTP) is provided through federal gas 

excise taxes paid on fuel used by off-highway vehicles. Towns, villages, cities, 

counties, tribal governing bodies, school districts, state agencies, federal agencies 

and incorporated organizations are eligible to receive reimbursement for 

development and maintenance of recreational trails and trail-related facilities for 

both motorized and non-motorized recreational trail uses. Eligible sponsors may be 

reimbursed for up to 50% of the total project costs.  

 

Eligible projects include: 

 Maintenance and restoration of existing trails 

 Development and rehabilitation of trailside and trailhead facilities and trail 

linkages  

 Construction of new trails (with certain restrictions on Federal lands) 

 Acquisition of easement or property for trails 

 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR) regional staff review and rank 

eligible projects. Projects are then ranked in a statewide priority listing. The highest 

ranking projects will be funded to the extent that funds are available. 

 

Following you will find general program information for programs that provide up 

to 50% funding assistance to acquire land or conservation easements and develop 

facilities for outdoor recreation purposes – the Stewardship Local Assistance Grant 

Programs, the Federal Land & Water Conservation Fund Program, and the Federal 

Recreation Trails Program. Any project application submitted will be considered for 

each of the following programs that it is eligible for. 

 

Under the Knowles-Nelson Stewardship Local Assistance Grant Program, the 

following programs provide 50% funding assistance to acquire land and easements 

and develop trails, facilities, etc. for nature-based outdoor recreation purposes.  

 

Aids for the Acquisition and Development of Local Parks (ADLP) 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

55 

ADLP helps to buy land or easements and develop or renovate local park and 

recreation area facilities (e.g. trails, fishing access, and park support facilities). 

Applicants compete for funds on a regional basis. 

 

Urban Green Space Grants (UGS) 

UGS helps to buy land or easements in urban or urbanizing areas to preserve the 

scenic and ecological values of natural open spaces for outdoor recreation, including 

non-commercial gardening. Applicants compete for funds on a statewide basis. 

 

Acquisition of Development Rights Grants (ADR) 

ADR helps to buy development rights (easements) for the protection of natural, 

agricultural, or forestry values, that would enhance outdoor recreation. Applicants 

compete for funds on a statewide basis. 

 

Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) 

LWCF provides 50% funding assistance for the acquisition and development of 

public outdoor recreation areas and facilities. Similar to the Stewardship ADLP 

program above except that active outdoor recreation facilities are eligible for grant 

assistance and school districts may be eligible project sponsors. Applicants compete 

for funds on a statewide basis. 

 

Recreational Trails Act (RTA) 

RTA provides 50% funding assistance for the development and maintenance of 

recreational trails and trail related facilities for both motorized and non-motorized 

recreational trail uses. Applicants compete for funds on a statewide basis. 

 

These programs are administered by the Wisconsin Department of Natural 

Resources. The Stewardship Advisory Council, with representatives from local units 

of government and nonprofit conservation organizations (NCOs), advises the 

department on matters relating to the Stewardship program. Similarly the State 

Trails Council advises the department on matters relating to the Recreational Trails 

Program. The National Park Service plays the major role in working with the 

Department on the Land & Water Conservation Fund Program and the Department 

of Transportation plays a role with the Recreational Trails Program. Key 

components of the programs are cooperation and partnership between the 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, the federal government, local units of 

government and NCOs. The programs recognize the important role each partner 

plays in meeting the conservation and recreation needs of Wisconsin residents and 

is designed to assist groups in meeting those needs. The application deadline for all 

of the programs is May 1 each year and complete applications should be submitted 

to the regional Community Services Specialist (CSS). 

 

Pedestrian Specific Funding 
 

Traffic Signing and Marking 

Enhancement Grants Program 

The Traffic Signing and Marking 

Enhancement Grants Program provides 

funds to local units of government for the 

installation of traffic signing and roadway 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

56 

marking enhancements, with the goal of improving visibility to assist elderly drivers 

and pedestrians. The program distributed approximately $3.8 million in state 

funding in 2005 and 2006. Funding for the TSMEGP was eliminated in the 2007-

2009 State Biennial Budget, but continues by Wisconsin State Statute 85.027 

through June 30, 2009. 

 

Other potential funding sources 
 

Impact Fees and Dedications 

Many of the paths and trails proposed in this plan are on land that has yet to be 

developed. Whenever possible, as new development is proposed, impact fees, 

easements, or dedications should be required to provide paths through the 

development and connecting to the larger network.  

 

Additional federal, state and county programs 

In addition to the funds administered by the state, funding for public bicycle and 

pedestrian projects can come from federal highway traffic safety programs, federal 

traffic safety (section 402) funds, the County (Kenosha County Department of Public 

Works), impact fees required of new development or redevelopment, public/private 

partnerships or wholly from the private sector. Additionally, TIF funding and Block 

Grants can be leveraged as local matching funding for state and federal grants. 

 

 

Properly designated crosswalks and 

warning signs can alert motorists to the 

potential presence of pedestrians. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

57 

8. Conclusion 
 

Bicycling and walking are inexpensive, non-polluting forms of transportation and 

recreation that are accessible to nearly everyone. The Village of Pleasant Prairie is 

proactively planning for these activities to ensure that residents and visitors can 

safely and efficiently travel throughout the village on foot or bike. 

 

The 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan calls for a ten-fold increase in the 

amount of bicycle lanes, shared-use paths and recreational trails in the Pleasant 

Prairie. When fully implemented, these facilities will create a robust network 

throughout the Village and will allow users to safely bicycle and walk to specific 

destinations or simply for exercise or personal enjoyment. 

 

The 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan will serve as the guiding document for 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities as well as encouragement, education and 

enforcement programs in the years to come. By actively planning for bicycling and 

walking, the Village demonstrates the importance of these activities. Providing the 

facilities proposed in this plan will offer low-cost and environmentally friendly 

transportation and recreation options that are accessible to all residents. 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

58 

Appendix A: Public Meeting 
 

Attendees at May 28, 2009, Public Meeting 

First  Last  City/Village 

Clyde R  Allen  

Karen   Armstrong Pleasant Prairie 

Stan  Armstrong Pleasant Prairie 

Jim  Bandura Pleasant Prairie 

Dennis  Bell  Pleasant Prairie 

Brian & Carol Boehm  Pleasant Prairie 

Dale  Brandes  

Mildred M. Carlson  Kenosha 

Sally  Fennema-Jansen  

Cliff  Folkers  Pleasant Prairie 

Kate & Tom Fuller  

Jim   Hart  Pleasant Prairie 

Carolyn  Henry  

Peggy   Herrick  Pleasant Prairie 

Troy  Holm  Pleasant Prairie 

Richard & Carol Hunt  Pleasant Prairie 

Kim  Jensen  Pleasant Prairie 

Carla   Knickrehm Pleasant Prairie 

Karen   Kostizke  

Jeff & Dorene Martin  

Don  Moldenhaner Kenosha 

Mike  Pollocoff Pleasant Prairie 

John  Roscioli  Pleasant Prairie 

Greg  Scheppler Pleasant Prairie 

Mike  Schmitz  

Mike  Spence  Pleasant Prairie 

John  Steinbrink, Jr. Pleasant Prairie 

Dave   Steck  Pleasant Prairie 

Brian   Wagner  Pleasant Prairie 

Jean & Jessie Werbie  Pleasant Prairie 

 

Public Comments from May 28, 2009, Public Meeting 
The following written comments were submitted at the meeting: 

 

 I am interested in putting in bike friendly trails going east-west from Kenosha. 

 Please recommend that all major and minor roads, when widened, be widened 

to the max. Wilmat Road (Hwy C) – many children in the area by Pleasant 

Prairie School, eventually this road is going to be widened, please create a 

separate lane like on University Ave in Madison. Cars drive on this road way fast 

now and will probably be faster once widened. 

 A good map that can be carried and passed out would be ideal – similar to 

Racine map. 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

59 

Appendix B: Public Survey Results 
 

An online survey was available for public input from mid-May 2009 through the end 

of September 2009 to gauge pubic opinion on bicycle and pedestrian facilities and 

usage. The survey was advertised in the Village of Pleasant Prairie The Village 

newsletter that is mailed to all Pleasant Prairie households. Additionally, a link to 

the survey was posted on the official Village website. Because the survey was 

available online, it was open to anyone who wanted to participate, regardless of if 

they were a Pleasant Prairie or not. 

 

The survey had a total of 82 participants. The results of the survey are printed 

below, as are verbatim responses to open-ended questions, although personal 

information has been removed. Although there were 82 total participants, the 

number of responses to each question may not sum to 82 as some participants 

skipped some questions and some questions allowed participants to enter more 

than one response if appropriate. 

 

 

Question 1: How important do you think it is to include bicycle issues in the 

Village's transportation planning process? 

Very 

Important 

Somewhat 

Important 

Somewhat 

Unimportant 

Very 

Unimportant 
No Opinion 

Did Not 

Answer 

58 16 0 8 0 0 

70.73% 19.51% 0.00% 9.76% 0.00% 0.00% 

 

 

Question 2: Where do you live? 

Village of 

Pleasant Prairie 

Kenosha County, 

Outside VPP 

Outside of 

Kenosha County 
Other Did Not Answer 

64 17 1 0 0 

78.05% 20.73% 1.22% 0.00% 0.00% 

 

 

Question 3: If you are employed, how far do you live from your primary job? 

Less than 1 

mile 
1-2 miles 2-5 miles 5-10 miles 10+ Miles 

I am not 

employed 

Did Not 

Answer 

6 5 11 11 32 16 1 

7.32% 6.10% 13.41% 13.41% 39.02% 19.51% 1.22% 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

60 

Question 4: Do you walk or jog regularly? 

Yes No 
Did Not 

Answer 

74 8 0 

90.24% 9.76% 0.00% 

 

If yes, do you primarily walk/jog (check all that apply) 

For Exercise 
Personal 

Enjoyment 

Means of 

Transportation 
Year-Round 

Did Not 

Answer 

63 53 9 29 2 

76.83% 64.63% 10.98% 35.37% 2.44% 

 

 

Question 5: Do you have access to a bicycle? 

Yes No 
Did Not 

Answer 

80 2 0 

97.56% 2.44% 0.00% 

 

If yes, do you (check all that apply) 

Ride 

Regularly 

Personal 

enjoyment 
Exercise 

Means of 

Transportation 

Ride Year-

Round 

Did Not 

Answer 

39 63 53 23 10 2 

47.56% 76.83% 64.63% 28.05% 12.20% 2.44% 

 

 

Question 6:  What's the longest distance you would consider riding a bicycle? 

0-1 Mile 1-5 Miles 5-10 Miles 10+ Miles 
Did Not 

Answer 

1 9 16 53 1 

1.25% 11.25% 20.00% 66.25% 1.25% 

 

 

Question 7: If you have school-age children in your household, do they 

regularly walk or bike to school?  

Yes No 
Not 

Applicable 

Did Not 

Answer 

4 35 39 0 

5.13% 44.87% 50.00% 0.00% 

 

If you answered no, why not? 

1. Not allowed; have to ride bus or be driven 

2. KUSD schools are too far away 

3. Rural 

4. Prairie Lane Elementary discourages it because there are no sidewalks 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

61 

5. School won't allow it 

6. They attend Prairie Lane; it is not allowed as there is not access 

7. Teen 

8. I don't want them riding their bikes on Sheridan Rd 

9. No safe route to school 

10. No sidewalks, cars drive too fast down Cooper Rd 

11. Too far away, unsafe roads to ride 

12. Speeders on 7th Ave.  Potholes on 91st St.  Dangerous cross at Sheridan/91ST 

13. Because it is too far and roads don't have sidewalks! 

14. not safe 

15. No sidewalks, dangerous road to walk 85th Street 

16. 7 miles and 25 miles from home; no safe route either 

17. Too far away, busy roads 

18. We drive them 

19. Crossing Springbrook Road 

20. Too far 

21. Roadway to school is dangerous even though bike route (91 St into 7 Ave) 

 

 

Question 8:  Do you feel that Pleasant Prairie is pedestrian friendly? 

Yes No 
Did Not 

Answer 

7 70 3 

8.75% 87.50% 3.75% 

 

If no, why? 

Personal 

Safety 

Concerns 

Bad 

Weather 

Automobile 

Traffic 

Bad Driver 

Behaviors 

Destinations 

are too far 

away 

No 

Sidewalks 

Unsafe 

Intersections 

35 4 50 24 25 49 27 

43.75% 5.00% 62.50% 30.00% 31.25% 61.25% 33.75% 

 

Other Responses (12): 

1. No shoulder on the road 

2. Rural Community 

3. No shoulder to walk on 

4. Roadways unsafe 

5. Need sidewalk - Carol Beach 

6. No shoulders to walk on 

7. No police enforcement 

8. Poor roads, no bike lanes 

9. No accommodations 

10. Narrow roads - no bike lanes 

11. RecPlex is only destination 

12. Other walking paths to lake 

Question 9:  Do you feel that Pleasant Prairie is bicycle-friendly? 

Yes No 
Did Not 

Answer 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

62 

11 69 0 

13.75% 86.25% 0.00% 

 

If no, why? 

Personal 

Safety 

Concerns 

Bad 

Weather 

Automobile 

Traffic 

Bad Driver 

Behaviors 

Destinations 

are too far 

away 

No Bike 

Lanes 

Unsafe 

Intersections 

38 4 46 26 11 60 26 

47.50% 5.00% 57.50% 32.50% 13.75% 75.00% 32.50% 

 

Other Responses (11); 

1. Rural Community 

2. Poor road conditions 116th St. 

3. Road condition - 93rd, 116th 

4. Rough roads 

5. No police enforcement 

6. Some areas are good 

7. Little or no shoulder 

8. Only on bike trail 

9. It depends on which part of Pleasant Prairie you are talking about.  For instance 

85th Street between Cooper Road and 39th Avenue is great because it provides 

a large paved shoulder on each side.  This is great to encourage non-motorized 

travel.  Then there is the stretch of 7th Avenue between 75th Street and 91st 

Street, with its narrow bike lane to be shared by both north and southbound 

travelers.  While I do like striped bike lanes on roadways as a way to bring 

bicycles on the road into the mind of car drivers, this stretch is not only unsafe, 

it perpetuates a myth that it is best to ride a bicycle against traffic.  I will save 

space by not listing the many reasons why riding a bicycle against traffic is not 

safe since you are working with the Bike Fed they can educate the Village on the 

many reasons why bicycling against traffic is unsafe.  This stretch of striped bike 

lane is also unsafe because it is not wide enough to accommodate two bicycles 

traveling in opposite directions, put two cars driving in opposite directions at 

the same time and you have a recipe for disaster. 

10. No shoulders on Cooper, 85th, 92nd, etc 

11. Narrow bike lanes 

 

 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

63 

Question 10:  What places in Pleasant Prairie would you like to be able to 

reach by bike or foot? 

Parks/ 

Recreation 

Trails 

Shopping 

Areas/ 

Supermarket 

Schools 
Downtown 

Kenosha 
Work 

Doctor's 

Offices/ 

Hospitals 

Did Not 

Answer 

79 43 20 46 13 16 1 

96.34% 52.44% 24.39% 56.10% 15.85% 19.51% 1.22% 

 

Other Responses (10): 

1. Restaurants 

2. RecPlex 

3. Bike trails, RecPlex 

4. Restaurant/café 

5. Carol Beach area 

6. North Point Marina 

7. I-94 and west 

8. Lake County, Des Plaines River trail 

9. Lakefront 

10. Lakefront 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

64 

Question 11:  How would the factors below affect your decision to bicycle or 

walk? 

 

More on-street bicycle facilities (bike lanes, paved shoulders, wide travel 

lanes, etc.) 

No Affect Moderately Affect Strongly Affect 

4 13 60 

5.19% 16.88% 77.92% 

 

More sidewalks 

No Affect Moderately Affect Strongly Affect 

17 26 31 

22.97% 35.14% 41.89% 

 

More greenway trails 

No Affect Moderately Affect Strongly Affect 

1 29 47 

1.30% 37.66% 61.04% 

 

More bicycle parking 

No Affect Moderately Affect Strongly Affect 

18 39 20 

23.38% 50.65% 25.97% 

 

Increased enforcement of laws applying to motorists and bicyclists 

No Affect Moderately Affect Strongly Affect 

12 35 30 

15.58% 45.45% 38.96% 

 

Education programs for bicycle safety 

No Affect Moderately Affect Strongly Affect 

27 32 19 

34.62% 41.03% 24.36% 

 

A map of bicycle facilities for planning routes 

No Affect Moderately Affect Strongly Affect 

6 29 41 

7.89% 38.16% 53.95% 

Question 12:  Where do you feel comfortable bicycling? 

 

Streets containing bike lanes 

Yes No 

66 12 

84.62% 15.38% 

Streets signed as designated bike routes 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

65 

Yes No 

51 27 

65.38% 34.62% 

 

 

Low traffic neighborhood streets 

Yes No 

78 1 

98.73% 1.27% 

 

Main Village thoroughfares 

Yes No 

14 63 

18.18% 81.82% 

 

Rural thoroughfares 

Yes No 

41 36 

53.25% 46.75% 

 

Greenway trails 

Yes No 

71 8 

89.87% 10.13% 

 

 

Question 13:  Whenever possible, the Village will seek grants for development 

of bike routes and trails.  Would you be willing to support this endeavor using 

tax dollars? 

Yes No 
Did Not 

Answer 

72 6 2 

90.00% 7.50% 2.50% 

 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

66 

Question 14:  Any additional concerns or comments? 

1. Huge savings and pollution abatement if kids had a safe way to ride or walk to 

schools 

2. The trails in the park areas should be routed to keep the hiker/biker in natural 

surroundings.  They should not be near any houses or manmade structures 

where possible without a natural barrier between them 

3. The Des Plaines River trail is great but we need to utilize biking/walking to 

replacing "driving" everywhere we need to go. 

4. I feel this is an awesome idea.  I feel that Cooper Rd. is especially a horrible 

place for walking or riding bikes and you see many adults and children walking 

and riding to school every morning down this road.  I would love to see this 

issue addressed.  I would most definitely vote yes to spend tax dollars on this 

endeavor!! 

5. It would be terrific if Pleasant Prairie could connect with the Des Plaines River 

trail that ends just across the border in Illinois.  Good luck. 

6. It is unsafe to ride on Village Streets and I will never allow my children to ride 

on Village Streets either.  Want to make an impact on the Village?  Build a train 

station. 

7. I would love to see a bike lane or trail on 116th Street.  I use that street quite 

often to bike from Carol Beach out to the industrial park and it is very bumpy 

and very narrow without shoulders. 

8. Thanks for fixing 93rd Street… however 116th Street is a major E/W street that 

crosses the bike path and the road is horrific to bike due to cracks and bumps 

especially going east from Old Green Bay Road. 

9. Poorly maintained roads (especially along the triathlon route) make training 

more difficult. 

10. Pleasant Prairie has a great chance to change the roads and make the bike path 

more reachable for families to travel to safely. 

11. That would be great to have bike lanes, sidewalks and more trails. 

12. Some street conditions are rough.  Particularly 116th Street.  116th is a main 

road I would like to use to get to the current trails, however it is just too rough 

so I end up driving my car and unloading out bikes to avoid 116th Street 

13. I regularly bike the triathlon route and 93rd Street is in extremely poor 

condition for bikes between Cooper and Green Bay Rd.  It is dangerous the road 

is in such poor condition. 

14. 116th Street and especially 93rd Street are bad roads for biking.  Need road 

improvement and bike lanes!  Thanks! 

15. Streets containing bike lanes that I've seen have only one lane - so all traffic 

going in both directions use this lane - it does not seem safe and the lane is 

narrow.  Also - in Pleasant Prairie where I live, you have to use Sheridan to 

access any other roads/trails in the community.  Sheridan is very busy, drivers 

travel very fast and intersections are difficult/unsafe for turning.  It is tough 

turning onto our road (101st) in a car, let alone a bike.  I believe adding bike 

lanes and making the roads safe for bikers and pedestrians would greatly 

enhance the appeal of living in Pleasant Prairie.  Thanks for this opportunity. 

16. I frequently ride 10-15 miles per day, 4-5 days per week and I frequently ride 

on the bike trail from 89th Street south to the IL border and further south.  It is 

not in as good a condition as in IL.  There are spots were ruts are deep and 

gravel is loose.  I also do not feel it is safe to ride alone on the bike trail, 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

67 

especially after dark.  If you have more questions please feel free to contact me:  

[omitted]. 

17. The Village has always held an "edge" in exercise/fitness needs for individuals 

and families.  This project would continue that tradition and support the 

"green" needs of the future. 

18. Present bike trails need to be maintained, large gravel or stone should not be 

used especially at street crossings and access to street crossing should not be 

inclined. 

19. I currently bike at times when traffic is low to minimize safety issues.  I would 

like to bike to work, but traffic is worst during commuting hours.  Please 

consider providing more bike trails such as the Kenosha Bike trail and Des 

Plaines River trail.  These trails eliminate most of the encounters between bikes 

and cars, providing a much safer route for commuting. 

20. Having a bike trail from Prairie Ridge subdivision to RecPlex center instead of 

hwy H 

21. One of the most popular and scenic areas of our town is Lakeshore Drive.  Many 

people walk, jog, bicycle and push baby strollers down this road.  It is dangerous 

to do these activities on this road regardless of automobile speeds because 

there is just not enough room for both autos and pedestrians to safely use this 

road.  Dedicated paths are needed along Lakeshore Drive and the surrounding 

Chiwaukee Prairie areas in order for the citizens to more fully utilize and to 

safely access these areas. 

22. I live on Cooper Road, not far from Whittier School.  I would love to see 

sidewalks or something that my child could use when she goes to middle school 

next year at Lance.  Currently, I would not allow her to ride her bike or walk to 

school.  Even though the speed limit is 30 all the way down Cooper, drivers 

constantly exceed the speed limit.  I'd love to see the road widened, bike lanes 

and /or sidewalks put in, but that could also encourage drivers to go even 

faster.  I think enforcement of the speed limits in the Village would help a great 

deal. 

23. I do enjoy the Kenosha bike trail and the path from Southport Park through 

Kenosha.  There are some great bike paths available.  I would like to see more so 

that we are encouraged to bike and walk to destinations. 

24. The current location of the winter snowmobile trails on Hwy 165 would be an 

excellent place for a paved bike trail with connections to Prairie Springs Park 

and to the gravel trail east of 39th Avenue. 

25. A paved trail would be nice to have.  My 5-year old child slipped on the gravel 

on the Kenosha County bike trail last fall and was injured.  The dirt trail is not 

compatible with road bikes and makes bikes and riders very dirty.  Lack of 

neighborhood sidewalks for safe walking is also a concern.  We often take 

evening walks between Springbrook Meadows and Village Green subdivisions.  

The busier streets (like Cooper Rd) are not safe for strollers and small kids on 

bikes and scooters.  Finally, a paved trail linking Lake Andrea to residential 

neighborhoods to the East of Green Bay Road would be used heavily.  Currently, 

riding on Hwy 165 is the only option, clearly not safe for children.  A trail from 

the Kenosha County Bike trail to the Lake Andrea trail would provide access to 

the lake for users of this widely used trail. 

26. I'd focus less on public safety/law enforcement issues as it relates to 

cycling/walking.  The number of cyclists I see pass in front of my house tells me 

that the problem isn't one of unsafe conditions or safety but, rather, the need to 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

68 

better connect Village parks, transit areas, etc. with potential pathways.  Don't 

focus on nanny-state politics, just look at how you can make efficient use of our 

tax dollars to make this a more navigable village. 

27. As a Carol Beach resident I am strongly interested in sidewalks for walking 

alone and with my children.  With the many bicycles we get in the area in 

addition to automobile traffic it has become very unsafe to walk with children 

or with strollers.  Vehicles also drive VERY fast especially down Lakeshore Dr.  

They take the curves at high speeds and you cannot react once you see the car 

coming at a high speed.  I have not taken my children for many walks in the 

neighborhood because of the vehicle and bike traffic.  Sidewalk would be a 

fantastic addition for the residents here and would significantly improve the 

safety of the area.  [Name and address omitted]. 

28. There is no police presence on Lakeshore Drive.  It's a drag way for speeders 

from 90th Street to the south.  Everyone is driving way too fast on this street:  

residents, school buses, UPS, Fed Ex, Pat's Sanitation all drive at dangerous 

speeds. 

29. Pleasant Prairie needs to connect better to Kenosha especially with Main Street 

(39th) via a well marked bike lane.  The bike path is not safe for female 

individuals biking alone. 

30. We'd like to see more paved or fine gravel trails in natural settings, similar to 

the abandoned railroad trails in the state (Elroy-Sparta trail, Red Cedar trail etc) 

A trail in the northwest corner of Pleasant Prairie would be great! 

31. Let's Do It! 

32. Both "Main" and "Rural" thoroughfares should be marked No.  Is it possible to 

have bike lanes marked on Hwy C from 50 to I94.  Traffic is getting heavy and 

the new interchanges worry me.  Also, I stay off of H during much of the day due 

to traffic from the industrial park, especially between 50 and 165.  I really miss 

not going past John Steinbrink's house as much as I used to. Bain Station Road 

could also use shoulders, especially between H and C.  Thanks for the 

opportunity to voice my opinion.   

33. Let's get bike friendly! 

34. It's obvious that the time for more bike/walking is upon us. For the 

environment and economy. 

35. Good Idea.  Keep putting 3' paved shoulder on all new roads and resurface 

roads. 

36. I commend you for taking the initiative to look into improving our community 

37. Paint crossing lines on the roads where the bike trails cross.  The openings are 

not clearly marked and hard to judge the distance in a car. 

38. I would most like to see the 7th Avenue stretch corrected.  What bothers me 

most about it is the way it is telling people that it is safe to ride a bicycle against 

traffic when this is wrong and very dangerous.  I believe what the Village of 

Pleasant Prairie is doing by asking for input and more importantly working with 

the bicycle federation of Wisconsin is fantastic.  I am very optimistic that these 

steps are going to go a long way to help the Village of Pleasant Prairie become a 

great place to live, work and visit. 

39. The village needs a safe East-West bicycle corridor to connect RecPlex with the 

lakefront.  93rd St sees a lot of bicycle traffic, but is EXTREMELY unsafe 

(narrow, bumpy road, no shoulders, dangerous intersection at CR ML 

40. We live in Prairie Village condos and would like to be able to get to Lake Andrea, 

but 93rd Street is just to narrow with most traffic seeming to go faster than the 



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

69 

posted speed limit.  When I'm driving my car through there at 35-40 mph, I 

often have a car or truck running up behind me.  Then too, to go east over to the 

bike trail on 93rd Street from 39th Ave, it'll rattle the fillings out of your teeth 

on a bike or car. 

41. Carol Beach Lake Shore Drive has a bike trail that would that could use a little 

more widening.  Its very appealing to everyone who has walked or biked along 

the lakeshore. 

 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

70 

Appendix C: Rules for Bicycling on the Road 
 

The following information is drawn from the Wisconsin Department of 

Transportation Safety and Consumer Protection webpage. 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/safety/vehicle/bicycle/rules.htm 

 

General rules 
 Bicycles are vehicles. They belong on the road. 

 Ride at least three feet from the curb or parked vehicles. 

 Ride in a straight line. Don't swerve in and out around parked vehicles.  

 Always ride in the same direction as traffic.  

 Sidewalk riding for bicyclists past the learning stage can be more dangerous 

than on the road, obeying traffic laws. It is also illegal in most communities. 

 Obey all traffic laws.  

 Be predictable! Let other users know where you intend to go and maintain 

an understood course.  

 

Narrow lanes 
 Ride in the center of the lane.  

 Keep at least three feet between yourself and passing or parked traffic.  

 

 
 

Wide lanes 
 Ride just to the right of the actual traffic line, not alongside the curb.  

 Keep at least three feet between yourself and the curb or parked vehicles. 

 Motorists should be passing you with at least 3 feet of clearance.  

 

 
 

 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/safety/vehicle/bicycle/rules.htm


Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

71 

Don't get doored! 

 Ride in a straight line three feet out from parked cars. You'll avoid car doors 

that open in front of you and you'll be more visible to other drivers.  

 

 
 

 Don't pull into the space between parked cars. Ride just to the right of the 

actual traffic line, not alongside the curb.  

 

 
  

Take the lane 
You will fare better with other road users if you function like a legal vehicle 

operator, which you are.  

 

 Right turning motorists can be a problem, but taking the lane or more of the 

right portion of the wide curb lane can prevent this. Take an adult bicycling 

course to learn skills and develop confidence in traffic.  

 Left turning motorists are the cause of most adult bicyclists’ crashes. 

Motorists claim not to see the cyclist who is traveling in a straight path in 

the opposite direction.  

 

Bicyclists, when making your own left turn look over your left shoulder for traffic, 

signal your left turn and change lanes smoothly, so you are to the left side or center 

of the through lane by the time you reach the intersection. If a left turn lane is 

present, make a lane change to center of that lane. Do not move to left of that lane as 

left-turning motorists may cut you off. 

 Do not wait until you reach the crosswalk, then stop and try to ride from a 

stop across other traffic. If you need to cross as a pedestrian, leave the 



Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

72 

travel lanes, then get into the crosswalk, walking or riding your bicycle like 

a pedestrian travels, not fast, and with pedestrian signals. 

 

Lane positioning can be especially important in approaching a downhill intersection. 

Moving to the center makes you more visible to intersecting and left turning 

motorists in opposing lanes. 

 Going downhill, your speed is likely to be closer to traffic speeds or posted 

speed limits. Hugging the curb when there are visual barriers increases 

your chances of being struck by a bigger vehicle, or of hitting a pedestrian 

or sidewalk riding bicyclist. 

 Take the lane, be seen and see other traffic better if you are close to traffic 

speeds  

 

How to ride 

Wear bright colors during the day and retro-reflective items at night along with 

headlight and taillight to increase your visibility to other road users. 

 Wear a bicycle helmet on every ride to reduce your chance of head injury in 

event of a fall or crash. Most serious injuries from a fall or crash are to the 

head and most frequently, the forehead, so wear helmet level with the 

ground, just above the eyebrows.  

 

Be aware of changing road surfaces, new construction or unusual barriers on the 

roadway, distracters for both you and other vehicle operators. 

 Leaves can be slippery in the early morning and are a hazard even when 

slightly damp. Distractions such as dogs, wild animals and even humans can 

draw attention from the roadway and lead to a crash. Expect them.  

 

Motorist reminders 

 Bicycles are vehicles. They belong on the road. 

 Cyclists need room to get around potholes, sewer grates and other 

obstructions.  

 Leave at least three feet when passing bicycles, more room at higher 

speeds.  

 Change lanes to pass any bicycle traveling in a narrow lane.  

 Train yourself to scan for fast moving (it's hard to tell speed) bicycles and 

motorcycles in the opposing lane to you when turning left, and scan 

sidewalks and crosswalks for pedestrians and bicyclists using the sidewalk 

and crosswalk as a pedestrian. Always scan to your right side sidewalk 

before you leave a stop light or stop sign. And to the left and right side 

sidewalks when on a one-way street.  



Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan  Village of Pleasant Prairie 

73 

Appendix D: Wisconsin State Bicycle Laws 
 

The information below is a summary of current Wisconsin State Laws relating to 

bicycling. The numbers in brackets refer to the specific state statute; for the 

complete statutes, consult the Wisconsin Department of Transportation Summary of 

Wisconsin Bicycle Laws. 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/safety/vehicle/bicycle/docs/bikelaws.pdf 

 

A. Vehicular Status 
 The bicycle is defined as a vehicle. [340.01(5)] 

 The operator of a vehicle is granted the same rights and subject to the same 

duties as the driver of any other vehicle. [346.02(4)(a)] 

 

B. Lane Positioning 
 Always ride on the right, in the same direction as other traffic. 

[346.80(2)(a)] 

 Ride as far to the right as is practicable (not as far right as possible). 

[346.80(2)(a)] 

 Practicable generally means safe and reasonable. 346.80(2)(a) lists a few 

situations when it is not practicable to ride far to the right: 

 When overtaking and passing another vehicle traveling in the same 

direction; 

 When preparing for a left turn at an inter-section or driveway; 

 When reasonably necessary to avoid unsafe conditions, including fixed or 

moving objects, parked or moving vehicles, pedestrians, animals, surface 

hazards or substandard width lanes [defined as a lane that is too narrow for 

a bicycle and a motor vehicle to travel safely side by side within the lane].  

 

C. One Way Streets 
 Bicycles on a one-way street with 2 or more lanes of traffic may ride as near 

the left or right-hand edge or curb of the roadway as practicable (in the 

same direction as other traffic). [346.80(2)(b)] 

 

D. Use of Shoulders 
 Bicycles may be ridden on the shoulder of a highway unless prohibited by 

local authorities. [386.04(1m)] 

 

E. Riding 2-Abreast 
 Riding 2 abreast is permitted on any street as long as other traffic is not 

impeded. When riding 2 abreast on a 2 or more lane roadway, you both 

have to ride within a single lane. [346.80(3)(a)] 

 

F. Hand Signals 
 Bicyclists are required to use the same hand signals as motorists [346.35].  

 Hand signals are required within 50 feet of your turn. It is not required 

continuously if you need both hands to control the bicycle [346.34(1)(b)] 

G. Passing 

http://www.dot.state.wi.us/safety/vehicle/bicycle/docs/bikelaws.pdf


Village of Pleasant Prairie   Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Plan 

74 

 A motorist passing a bicyclist in the same lane is required to give the 

bicyclist at least 3 feet of clearance, and to maintain that clearance until 

safely past. [346.075] 

 A bicyclist passing a stopped or moving vehicle is also required to give at 

least 3 feet of clearance when passing. [346.80(2)(c)] 

 

H. Use of Sidewalks 
 State Statutes allow local units of government to permit vehicles on 

sidewalks through local ordinances. [346.94(1)] 

 When bicycles are allowed to be operated on sidewalks, bicyclists must 

yield to pedestrians and give an audible warning when passing pedestrians 

traveling in the same direction. [346.804] 

 At intersections and other sidewalk crossings (alleys, driveways), a bicyclist 

on the sidewalk has the same rights and duties as pedestrians. [346.23, 24, 

25, 37, 38] 

 

I. Bicycling at Night 
 Bicycling at night requires at least a white front headlight and a red rear 

reflector. The white front light must be visible to others 500 feet away. The 

red rear reflector must be visible to others between 50 and 500 feet away. A 

red or amber steady or flashing rear light may be used in addition to the 

required reflector. These are required no matter where you ride--street, 

path or sidewalk. [347.489(1)] 

 

J. Duty to report accident 

 The operator of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury to or 

death of any person, or total damage to property owned by any one person 

of $1,000 or more shall immediately give notice of such accident to the 

police. [346.70] 

 “Injury” means injury to a person of a physical nature resulting in death or 

the need of first aid or attention by a physician or surgeon, whether or not 

first aid or medical or surgical treatment was actually received;  

 “Total damage to property owned by one person” means the sum total cost 

of putting the property damaged in the condition it was before the accident, 

or the sum total cost of replacing such property. 

 This section does not apply to accidents involving only vehicles propelled 

by human power. 

 

 



                                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix I: 

 

Adoption 

 



1 

 

Consider an Amendment (Ord. #19-06) to a portion of the Whittier Creek 

Neighborhood Plan, a component of the Village Comprehensive Plan, generally located 

north of 93rd Street and east of Old Green Bay Road. 

 

Recommendation: Plan Commission held a public hearing on January 28, 2019 and 

approved Plan Commission Resolution #19-05 and recommended that the Village 

Board approve the amendment to the Comprehensive Plan (Neighborhood Plan) as 

presented at the February 18, 2019 Plan Commission meeting. 

 

 

Consider a Conceptual Plan for the request of Dan Szczap of Bear Development LLC, agent 

for Creekside PP, LLC, the owner of the vacant properties north of the Creekside Crossing 

development and adjacent vacant properties to the west to be known as The Vista at 

Creekside. 

 

Recommendation: On January 28, 2019 the Plan Commission held a public hearing 

and recommended that the Village Board conditionally approve the Conceptual Plan 

subject to the comments and conditions of the February 18, 2019 Village Staff 

Report. 

 

 

 

AS PART OF THE CONDITIONAL APPROVAL BY THE PLAN COMMISSION, THE 

COMMISSION RECOMMENDED THAT THE STAFF WORK WITH THE DEVELOPER TO 

ADDRESS THE CONCERNS OF THE NEIGHBORS.  SINCE THE PUBLIC HEARING AND 

THE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC HEARING THE VILLAGE STAFF HAS PUT 

TOGETHER ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE PROJECT FOR VILLAGE 

BOARD CONSIDERATION—SEE ATTACHED MEMO DATED FEBRUARY 13, 2019. 



2 

 

VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF FEBRUARY 18, 2019 

Consider an Amendment (Ord. #19-06) to a portion of the Whittier Creek 

Neighborhood Plan, a component of the Village Comprehensive Plan, generally located 

north of 93rd Street and east of Old Green Bay Road 

Consider a Conceptual Plan for the request of Dan Szczap of Bear Development LLC, agent 

for Creekside PP, LLC, the owner of the vacant properties north of the Creekside Crossing 

development and adjacent vacant properties to the west to be known as The Vista at 

Creekside. 

 

THESE ITEMS ARE PROPOSED TO BE DISCUSSED AT THE SAME TIME HOWEVER 

SEPARATE ACTIONS ARE REQUIRED. 

 

THESE ARE THE COMMENTS AND CONDITIONS PRESENTED AND CONDITIONALLY 

APPROVED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION AT THEIR JANUARY 28, 2019 MEETING.  

SEE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROVIDED BY STAFF SINCE THE PUBLIC 

HEARING IN A SEPARATE STAFF MEMORANDUM DATED FEBRUARY 13, 2019 AS 

ATTACHED. 

 

The petitioner is proposing to develop 43 single family lots, one (1) two family lot, 7-20 unit 

apartment buildings and a clubhouse on the approximately 62 acres of vacant lands 

generally located north of the Creekside Crossing development and adjacent vacant 

properties to the west for a project to be known as The Vista at Creekside (Tax Parcel 

Numbers 92-4-122-153-0070, 92-4-122-153-0080, 92-4-122-153-0090; 92-4-122-153-

0092, 92-4-122-153-0727, 92-4-122-153-0728 and 92-4-122-153-0729).  The items being 

considered at the meeting for approval include an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan 

(Whittier Creek Neighborhood Plan) and a Conceptual Plan for the development. 

Background: 

The Creekside Crossing condominium (including 8 unit, 4 unit and 2 unit buildings) and 

single family residential development were initially developed in several phases by 

Mastercraft Builders from 2005-2010.  Portions of the development were then sold to other 

contractors and units were constructed from 2010-2014.  The original development 

anticipated 24 single family lots; 34 2-unit condominium buildings, 17 4-unit condominium 

buildings and 19 8-unit condominium buildings.   All of the single family lots have since 

been developed and all of the condominium units with the exception of two 8-unit buildings 

have been built within the existing platted condominium area.  The undeveloped land 

proposed to be developed for condominium purposes would have included a total of 158 

additional condominium units (11-8 unit buildings, 6-4 unit buildings and 23-2 unit 

buildings).  

Due to the recession, this area had remained vacant for several years until its purchase by 

Creekside PP, LLC who intended to develop the vacant properties.  On August 17 , 2015 the 

Village Board conditionally approved a Conceptual Plan to develop the remaining vacant 

land north and west of the Creekside Subdivision and the Creekside Crossing Subdivision 

and Condominium development adjacent to 89th, 90th and 91st Streets, 90th Place, 62nd 

Avenue, and Creekside Circle for 64 single family lots and one (1) two family lot.  The 

Creekside PP, LLC developers, after re-evaluation could not move forward with this single 

family/two family proposal due to the high cost of Creekside Circle and bridge public 

improvements, thus the plan did not move forward.   



3 

 

At this time a new development plan is being proposed for the remaining Creekside vacant 

properties (approximately 58 acres) and additional vacant properties (4 acres) on the south 

side of the proposed 91st Street east of Old Green Bay Road.  The proposed development 

includes 43 single family lots, one (1) two family lot, 7-20 unit apartment buildings and a 

clubhouse with about 31 acres of the 62 acre development site would remain as open space.  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT (Ord. #19-06):  The petitioner is requesting an 

amendment of a portion of the Whittier Creek Neighborhood Plan in Appendix 9-3 as a 

result of the proposed development of the remainder of the Creekside Crossing 

development (the project is referred to as The Vista at Creekside).   

The entire Whittier Creek Neighborhood is bounded by STH 31 (Green Bay Road) on the 

west, 85th Street on the north, Cooper Road on the east and 93rd Street on the south.  This 

amendment is only for a portion of the southwest corner of this Neighborhood. 

Neighborhood Plans, which are a component of the Village’s Comprehensive Plan, are 

intended to provide the community with a means of reviewing the patterns of existing and 

probable future development in and around the area proposed for land development, 

evaluating access to the land development and the feasibility of developing certain land 

uses and lot layouts, roadways and parkways, open green spaces and preservation areas, 

schools, municipal facilities and municipal services to serve the neighborhood.  The 

Neighborhood Plan sets forth a guide for future development when a willing landowner 

wishes to develop his land.   

In accordance with the Village Comprehensive Plan, the Whittier Creek Neighborhood is 

classified as being within a Low-Medium Density Residential land use category having lot 

areas ranging from 12,000 square feet to 19,000 square feet or more per dwelling unit.  

This range allows for some areas of the Neighborhood to have larger lots while other areas 

to have smaller lots to accommodate a variety of housing types.   

As land continues to be developed, the Village evaluates proposals and amendments to 

Neighborhood Plans based on other elements of the Comprehensive Plans as well.  For 

primarily residential neighborhoods like the Whittier Creek Neighborhood, the Housing 

Element of the Village Comprehensive Plan is used for guidance.  The Village’s housing goal 

is to “provide a diverse housing supply that meets the Village’s future population needs.  

This includes homes for new residents without prejudice as well as for long-time residents 

whose housing requirements might have changed because of age, household growth or 

decline, income or disability.”  

To meet this comprehensive planning goal several objectives are set forth including: 

 Promote the provision of an adequate number of housing units and allocate sufficient 

land area for housing demands to accommodate current and future populations. 

 Encourage a full range of housing structure types and sizes, including single-family, two-

family, and multi-family dwelling units, in sewer service areas to provide affordable 

housing options for households of all income levels, ages, and special needs projected 

for the Village in 2035. 

 Allocate sufficient land for residential development to accommodate future populations. 

 Encourage new residential areas to be located in neighborhoods served by public 

sanitary sewer and water and contain, within reasonable walking and biking distances, 

necessary supporting services such as parks, schools, and shopping areas.  Residents 

should have reasonable access to employment centers, community and major shopping 

centers, cultural and government centers, and secondary schools and higher educational 

facilities. 



4 

 

 Encourage the use of flexible zoning techniques to accommodate a variety of housing 

options. Such techniques may include, live-work units, planned unit developments 

(PUDs), planned development districts (PDDs), cluster development and conservation 

subdivisions. 

 To the extent practicable, residential and employment-generating land uses should be 

located so as to provide opportunities for living close to work. 

 Promote a range of affordable housing choices for Village residents. 

 Encourage the development of “life-cycle” housing for Village residents. 

 Promote a safe and attractive built environment within the Village. 

 Residential development should be located and designed to minimize impacts on the 

natural resource base.  

 Prevent the encroachment of incompatible land uses and minimizing adverse impacts on 

the environment. 

The Comprehensive Plan sets forth recommendations to achieve the housing goals 

and objectives.  Some of these recommendations include: 

 Develop land use plan maps that accommodate the projected growth in population, 

households, and employment for the community through the comprehensive plan design 

year 2035. 

 Provide sufficient housing options so all income levels in the Village can afford housing 

utilizing a maximum of 30% of their gross household income.  

 Continue to support a variety of housing types and sizes, and continue to designate 

appropriate areas for single-family, two-family, and multi-family housing development 

on detailed neighborhood plans that are consistent with the Village 2035 Land Use Plan. 

 The Village Zoning Ordinance should continue to allow for a full range of housing types 

and sizes to ensure the provision of housing units that are affordable for households of 

all income levels in the Village. 

 Continue to administer and enforce the Village Zoning Ordinances, Land Development 

Control Ordinance, Stormwater Management Ordinance and other Village Ordinances 

and consider amendments to the Village Ordinances as necessary to implement this 

Plan. 

The proposed amendments to the Neighborhood Plan provided in the attached Plan 

Commission Resolution #19-05 continue to support the Village’s goals, objectives and 

recommendations to provide a variety of affordable housing types for all residents that 

chose to live and work in the Village. 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT IN THE NEIGHBORHOOD:  The amendments add about 5 

acres to the residential land area within the neighborhood, therefore approximately 350 

acres of land within the Neighborhood are proposed to be developed for residential uses.   

Within the entire neighborhood (based on this amendment) there are approximately: 

 392 existing dwelling units: 

o 258 existing single family lots  

o 134 existing platted multi-family condominium units in the neighborhood 

(Creekside Crossing Condominiums located north of 93rd Street between 63rd 

and 66th Avenue (of the 134 units, 2-8 unit buildings have not been 

constructed to date), six (6) existing multi-family condominium units located 



5 

 

on Old Green Bay Road south of Jerome Creek and eight (8) two unit building 

locate on Old Green Bay Road north of Jerome Creek. 

 396 proposed dwelling units: 

o 254 proposed single family lots 

o 1 proposed duplex (2 units) 

o 140 proposed multi-family rental units (7-20 unit apartment buildings) that 

would provide affordable workforce housing for those employed within the 

Village  

In accordance with the Village Comprehensive Plan, the overall net density for the 

Neighborhood is recommended to be within the Lower-Medium Density Residential land use 

category with the average lot area being between 12,000 square feet 18,999 square feet 

per dwelling unit.  The variety of housing types and sizing in this neighborhood provides a 

net density of 19,348 square feet per dwelling unit.  The net density with the amendment 

falls outside the higher range of the density; therefore, the overall density is lower than 

required by the Village Comprehensive Plan. 

POPULATION PROJECTIONS FOR THE NEIGHBORHOOD:  The vacant portions of this 

Neighborhood will not develop until the property owners wish to develop their land; which 

makes Neighborhood planning essential for the orderly growth of the community and 

establishes a framework as to how development should occur, if and when it occurs.  The 

Neighborhood Plan is a guide for property owners and developers—therefore the population 

will increase on an incremental basis as the Neighborhood develops over time.  

Population calculations are based on numbers from the 2010 Census information for the 

Village of Pleasant Prairie.  In Pleasant Prairie, the average number of persons per 

household is 2.71 and school age children between the ages of 5 and 19 make up 22.6% of 

the population.  The Village provides copies of proposed developments to the Kenosha 

Unified School District (KUSD) to assist in their long range planning.  Pursuant to the 

information provided by the KUSD for Pleasant Prairie, 42% of the new dwelling units will 

have new students that will attend public schools). 

Current population within the Neighborhood based on the current 392 dwelling units is 

1,063 (which includes 240 school age children with 164 children attending public school).  

Projected population within the Neighborhood based on the total proposed 788 dwelling 

units would be 2,136 persons (which includes a potential of 483 school age children with 

331 children attending public school).  

THE VISTA AT CREEKSIDE CONCEPTUAL PLAN:  The petitioner is requesting approval of 

a Conceptual Plan for The Vista at Creekside development, which would include 43 single 

family lots, one (1) two family lot, 7-20 unit apartment buildings and a clubhouse on the 

approximately 62 acres of vacant lands generally located north of Creekside Crossing 

development and adjacent vacant properties to the west to be known as The Vista at 

Creekside (Tax Parcel Numbers 92-4-122-153-0070, 92-4-122-153-0080, 92-4-122-153-

0090; 92-4-122-153-0092, 92-4-122-153-0727, 92-4-122-153-0728 and 92-4-122-153-

0729).  In addition, 31 acres of the 61 acre development site will remain as open space. 

SINGLE FAMILY LOTS:  The 43 single family lots range in size from 12,721 square feet to 

25,694 square feet per lot with the average lot size of 16,475 square feet.  All lots would be 

a minimum of 12,500 square feet with 80 feet of frontage (the frontage can be reduced to 

45 feet on a curve or cul-de-sac).  All lots would have a lot depth of at least 125 feet.  A 

majority of the lots abut up to open space, retention basins, wetlands or floodplain.  It is 

proposed that the homes will range from $400,000 to $525,000 and would be comparable 



6 

 

to the current Arbor Ridge Subdivision under construction by the petitioner in the Prairie 

Ridge development south of the Froedtert South main hospital which is adjacent to existing 

apartment buildings and a senior apartment building. 

TWO FAMILY LOT: The Developer is proposing to create one (1) additional two-family lot 

at the end of 62nd Avenue adjacent to the existing two-family condominiums.  This duplex 

will include 2 ranch style units that are similar to the existing adjacent 2 unit buildings.   

MULTI-FAMILY BUILDINGS:  The Conceptual Plan provides for two apartment building 

areas with a club house for a total of 7-20 unit buildings (140 units).  Each of the apartment 

buildings provides for 8 units on the first floor and 12 units on the second floor that range in 

size from 713 square feet to 1,325 square feet with 8 units in each building having an 

attached garage.  All units are considered condominium style in that all units will have an 

individual entry from the exterior of the building (no common hallways or shared 

entrances).  Revised elevations have been submitted and are attached that show a variety 

of building materials including stone, brick and hardiboard siding with a grey/blue tone 

colors.   

Each building provides a variety of options including: 

 11-1 bedroom with 1 bathroom 

 1-2 bedroom with 1 bathroom 

 6-2 bedroom with 2 bathrooms 

 2-3 bedroom with 2 bathrooms 

The entire multi-famly development will includes: 

 77-1 bedroom units (average size of 700 sq. ft.) with rents between $700-$970 

 49-2 bedroom units (average size of 1,040 sq. ft.) with rents between $840-$1,175 

 14-3 bedroom units (average size 1,300 sq. ft.) with rents between $970 and $1,425 

Pursuant to the applicant, these rental rates are in-line with market rate rents.  The 

petitioner has submitted and successfully received an award of Housing Tax Credits to fund 

a portion of the development for Workforce Housing.  There are many types of tax credits 

used to construct a variety of housing types.  The Housing Tax Credits awarded to this 

project are not for Low Income Housing but for Workforce Housing, and there is a 

difference.  Low Income housing typically serves area median incomes at or about the 30% 

area median income. The housing development being proposed is not low income, but it is 

income restricted as Workforce Housing that provides for rental rates that are very similar 

to current market rate area rents.  

Workforce Housing is designed for active individuals and families with working parents or 

single working professionals.  These units are dedicated to those not typically understood to 

be the targets of affordable housing. The Workforce Housing requirements mandate a 

maximum rental rate as well as the maximum income of residents.   All tenants must have 

at a minimum three-times their total monthly rent in income to qualify for any unit within 

the proposed development.  Therefore, for a $700 one bedroom unit the tenant must have a 

monthly income of at least $2,100 (gas and electric utilities are not included in the rent).  

The goal of these units is to offer efficient and sustainable housing solutions that enable 

individuals in moderate income vocations or emerging professionals, such police officers, 

firefighters, teachers, health professionals, and service workers to live in the communities in 

which they work.   

As a result of a neighborhood meeting the developer had with the property owners in 

November, with the existing residents within the Creekside development, they acquired 

additional land to the west and moved some of the apartments and the club house to this  

 



7 

 

area adjacent to Old Green Bay Road and 91st Street, which also provided a main entrance 

for the development. 

The new main entrance to the development will be from Old Green Bay Road and 91st 

Street.  At this entrance is the club house with 28 parking spaces.  The club house will have 

a leasing/management office, community gathering space and a small exercise room.   

Adjacent to the club house on the south side of 91st Street 2-20 unit buildings with 8 

attached garages in each building, a detached garage building with 28 garage spaces, and 8 

surface parking spaces (total of 52 parking spaces) are proposed.  Further east on the north 

side of Creekside Circle will be 5-20 unit buildings with 8 attached garages in each building, 

3 detached garage buildings with 24 garage spaces (72 spaces), and 74 surface parking 

spaces (total of 186 parking spaces).  The parking space calculations, by ordinance, do not 

count a parking space behind each of the attached garages.  However, in reality, a 

designated parking space is located behind each of the 8 garages that would not encroach 

into the drive aisles.  The Village will be required that a minimum of one (1) enclosed 

parking space per unit be provided and is being provided. 

POPULATION PROJECTIONS:  Based on the 2010 Census information for the Village of 

Pleasant Prairie, the average number of persons per household is 2.71 and school age 

children between the ages of 5 and 19 make up 22.6% of the population. 

Therefore, based on the currently shown 43 single family lots, one (1) two-unit building and 

7- 20 unit apartment buildings (140 units) for a total of 185 dwelling units, it is projected 

that 502 persons will be added to the population upon full build-out of this development.  

Pursuant to the information provided by the Kenosha Unified School District for Pleasant 

Prairie (.42 x number of dwelling units), 77 public school age children are likely to come 

from this development at full build out.  [Note:  The Village continues to provide copies of 

proposed developments to the Kenosha Unified School District to assist in their school 

enrollment projections, school facility planning efforts and school boundary adjustments.]   

FLOODPLAIN BOUNDARY ADJUSTMENT:  On October 20, 2003 the Village Board 

adopted Resolution #03-42 to approve the Floodplain Boundary Adjustment for the 

Creekside development.  In January 2005, the Developer of Creekside Crossing obtained the 

required Permits from FEMA to begin the floodplain adjustment work.   The floodplain 

boundary adjustment work had begun in the area that is already developed and had not 

been completed for the entire project.  The FEMA approval is still valid and will be 

completed by the petitioner as originally designed and approved by the Village, DNR and 

FEMA.  

WETLANDS:  The wetlands shown within the outlots will remain undisturbed and protected 

during construction.  Two small wetland areas totaling 0.214 acres (9,321.84 square feet) 

are proposed to be filled within Creekside Circle and 91st Street.  Fill permits will be required 

to be obtained by the WI DNR and the US ACOE prior to approval of the Final Plat.   A 

portion of Wetland 5 is located within a future right-of-way that will be dedicated but not 

constructed at this time. In the future if the adjacent properties are developed to the north 

and east, those future developers will be required to obtain any fill permits from the WI DNR 

and US ACOE and extend the public improvements. 

SITE ACCESS:  The primary access for The Vista development will be from Old Green Bay 

Road at 91st Street; however, Creekside Circle will be completed (bridge and roadway 

pavement) that also connects to 93rd Street at 63rd and 66th Avenues.  91st Street via Old 

Green Bay Road will also be the construction access and haul roadway for the primary 

development of the subdivision infrastructure and the residential development.  Temporary 

“No Construction Access” signs will be required at the entrances at 93rd Street during the 

duration of the development prior to commencing the public improvements.   



8 

 

However, in the next few months the developer is requesting approval to allow for 

approximately 9,500 cubic yard of clay fill material from a nearby residential construction 

site be hauled on to the development site and placed in the northeast portion of the site to 

provide for the additional fill material needed for the development.  It is likely that 20-25 

trucks per day could deliver the material.  If this is approved, the Village Public Works 

Department would closely monitor the activities and any damage to the roadway would be 

the responsibility of Bear Development.  The developer has explored several ways to get the 

material that will be available shortly including using the future 91st Street from Old Green 

Bay Road; however, the path from Old Green Bay Road to the site’s low area would require 

a temporary permit from the WI DNR to cross Jerome Creek and would require the 

installation of 2,300 feet of a stone haul road.  According to the Developer route is 

logistically and financially impractical.   

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS: All public and private improvements shall be made by the 

Developer, at the Developer’s expense. The entire development shall be provided with and 

serviced by municipal roadways, sanitary sewer, water and storm sewer.  In particular, 

Municipal roadways:  Public roadways shall be extended throughout the 

development pursuant to the Village’s new development standard. 

Sidewalks and Pedestrian ways:  Public sidewalks shall be extended on Creekside 

Circle, 90th Street, 62nd Avenue and 91st Street and private pedestrian paths 

connecting public sidewalks on 62nd Avenue and Creekside Circle will be provided as 

shown on the attached drawing.  The sidewalks and pedestrian pathways will be 

installed by the developer at the developers cost and will not be assessed to the 

existing property owners/condominium association.  However, sidewalk maintenance 

and snow removal on the sidewalks would be the responsibility of the abutting land 

owners.  

Municipal water and sanitary sewer: Municipal water shall be extended 

throughout the development and shall connect to the existing municipal water in 

Creekside Crossing development and extended in 91st Street to Old Green Bay Road.  

Municipal sanitary sewer shall be extended from the existing sewer located in 

Creekside Crossing development to service the entire remaining development area. 

ZONING MAP AND TEXT AMENDMENT: 

The development site will need to be rezoned as follows:  The single family lots would be 

rezoned into the R-4, Urban Single Family Residential District; the two family lot would be 

rezoned into the R-8 Two Family Residential District; the Lots with the apartment buildings 

and clubhouse would be rezoned into the R-11, Multi-family Residential District; all wetland 

would be rezoned into the C-1, Lowland Resource Conservancy District; the outlots 

(excluding the wetland areas) would be rezoned into the PR-1, Neighborhood Park and 

Recreational District; the 100 year floodplain, after floodplain boundary adjustment is 

completed would be located within the FPO, Floodplain Overlay District; and the entire 

development will be located within a PUD, Planned Unit Development Overlay District.  

[Note:  The rezoning of the 100-year floodplain cannot be completed until the floodplain 

adjustment is complete, as-built plans are submitted and FEMA CLOMR-F is approved by 

FEMA.]  The Comprehensive Land Use Plan would also need to be amended to reflect the 

above noted zoning changes to ensure that the Land Use Plan and the Zoning Map are 

consistent. 

The PUD, would allow for some dimensional flexibility provided that there is a defined 

community benefit.  Some of the PUD variations that are proposed included:  to allow for 

more than one multi-family building per parcel, to provide a minimum lot size of the single 

family lots to a minimum of 12,500 square feet with a minimum frontage of 80 feet with a 



9 

 

minimum average lot size of 15,000’; and to provide for a minimum lot size of 17,500 

square feet for the two family lot.  Part of the community benefit is to provide fire sprinklers 

within the apartment buildings, to install sidewalk connections to the existing park on the 

south side of the Creekside development, to add additional park equipment to the public 

park, to provide enhanced architectural details for the buildings and enhanced landscaping 

within the apartments development areas.  In addition, the multi-family areas will be 

required to be equipped with a Digital Security Imaging System (DSIS) pursuant to the 

Chapter 410 of the Village Municipal Code.  The required DSIS Agreement with the camera 

location plan and camera specifications will be considered as part of the required Residential 

Development Plans in the PUD Ordinance. 

Plan Commission recommends approval of the Whittier Heights Neighborhood Plan 

Amendment pursuant to Ord. #19-06 as presented. 

Plan Commission recommends conditional approval of the Conceptual Plan subject 

to the above comments and the following conditions: 

1. Further discussion to allow for approximately 15,000 cubic yard of clay fill material 

from a nearby residential construction site be hauled on to the development site and 

placed in the northeast portion of the site to provide for the additional fill material 

needed for the development as requested by the petitioner is warranted.  

2. See attached comments from the Village Engineer dated December 6, 2018. 

3. See attached comments from the Community Development Department dated 

January 11, 2019. 

4. See attached comments for the Village Fire and Rescue Department dated January 

15, 2019. 

5. Additional right-of-way shall be dedicated to the Village on Old Green Bay Road (50 

feet from center, currently 33 feet is dedicated. 

6. See attached current list of government agency contact to be updated and 

corrected on the cover sheet. 

7. All wetlands and 100 year floodplain (after the adjustment) shall be located within 

outlots.  Legal descriptions of the wetlands with the area of each wetland area shall 

be provided on the Plat.  All storm water facilities will be required to be located 

within outlots except for the Basins 2 and 5 that will be on the multi-family lots 

which will require easements. 

8. All outlots with stormwater basins, wetlands, 100-year floodplain shall also have 

easements granted to the Village for the same Floodplain Preservation and 

Protection, Wetland Preservation and Protection, Access and Maintenance Purposes. 

9. The single family lots shall all be a minimum of 12,500 square feet with an average 

lot size 15,000 square feet.  All lots shall be not less than 80 feet in width unless 

located on a cul-de-sac or curve, in which case the lot frontage may be reduced to 

45 feet of frontage, provided that there is at least 80 feet of width at the required 

building setback line.  Verify that this is being met after lots are adjusted as noted in 

these comments. 

10. The Residential Lot data Chart shall be revised to list each development type 

separately.  For the multi-family, provide the amount of open space and % of open 

space within those areas as well. 

11. Provide a chart with parking ratios for the multi-family development sites.  At a 

minimum 1 enclosed parking space per unit will be required. 



10 

 

12. Show locations and sign details of any proposed signage on the plans.  Easements 

will need to be shown on the Preliminary and Final Plats. 

13. All building plans and elevations shall be submitted for the apartments, detached 

garages and clubhouse.  Provide more architectural details for the clubhouse.  

Further discussion is warranted.  See initial comments attached related to the 

revised elevations.  

14. Detailed Residential Development Plans will be required to be submitted for the 

multi-family development sites.  These should include detailed site grading and 

drainage plans, landscaping plans, building plans (for the apartments, garages and 

clubhouse), parking lot and building lighting plans and details, site details including 

fences, garage dumpster and signage.  In addition, the required camera layout and 

specifications pursuant to Chapter 410 of the Village Municipal Code shall be 

submitted so that the DSIS Agreement and DSIS Access Easement can be drafted. 

The Residential Development Plans will be referenced in the required PUD Ordinance 

and shall be finalized prior to consideration of the PUD and the Final Plat). 

15. The legal description of the wetlands and the square footage of each wetland area 

shall be included on the Preliminary and Final Plats.  Permits from the WI DNR and 

the US ACOE for the wetland areas that are proposed to be filled shall be submitted. 

16. The Landscaping Plan shall be revised and shall include at a minimum: 

a. The base map for the Landscaping Plans shall be the grading plan with street 

names shown and all existing and proposed easements. 

b. The Conceptual Landscaping for the buildings area shall be enhanced and 

additional landscaping is required within the outlot areas. 

c. The Landscape Plan shall include detailed plantings in all cul-de-sac islands. 

d. Details shall be provided for all landscaping around the apartment buildings and 

garages.  (This will also be part of the required Residential Development Plans.) 

e. Stone islands will not be accepted in the parking lot islands. 

f. Provide a note and detail on the Landscape Plan identifying the park 

improvements that are being provided. 

g. The Landscape Plan shall show the location and details of the fences (around 

the dog park and adjacent to the single family homes south of 91st Street if 

required). 

h. The Landscape Plan shall provide an undulating 3 foot high berm with 

staggered Austrian Pines and other headlight screening adjacent to the surface 

parking lots. 

i. Add additional landscaping east of the 24 unit garage and surface parking along 

the eastern most garage, 

j. A minimum of 2 or 3 gallon planting sizes for annual/perennials will be 

required. 

k. The public street tree pattern shall be revised.  There shall be minimum 

groupings of 3-4 of the same tree type on the same side of the street. 

l. Show the entire Creekside Circle and the required sidewalks.  Locate existing 

trees and not any that need to be relocated as a result of the sidewalk 

installation. 



11 

 

17. All easements shall be shown on the Preliminary and Final Plats, Engineering Plans, 

Residential Development Plans, and Landscaping Plans. 

18. Review and revise the attached draft Declaration of Restrictions, Covenants and 

Easements.  In addition, no fences shall be allowed adjacent to Creekside Circle.  

This should be in the Declarations and will also be a PUD requirement. 

19. The Conceptual Plan approval shall be valid for a period of one (1) year.  

Prior to the expiration of the Conceptual Plan, the Preliminary Plat, which 

satisfies the conditions of the Conceptual Plan approval shall be submitted 

and considered by the Plan Commission and Village Board.   

20. Upon approval of the Conceptual Plan the following documents (3 full size 

copies and a pdf) shall be submitted to the Village for staff review prior to 

the Village accepting the Preliminary Plat application and application fee:  

a. Draft of Preliminary Plat.   

b. Revised Declaration of Restrictions, Covenants and Easements. 

c. Residential Development Plans (as discussed above) for the Multi-Family areas 

including building material/sample color boards.  In addition, a list of proposed 

dimensional variations being requested to be included in the PUD. 

d. Revised Landscaping Plan. 

e. Revised Engineering Plans, Profiles and Specifications. 

21. Upon staff review of the above draft plans in condition #20, the Preliminary Plat 

application, application fee and items listed in the application shall be submitted for 

the Village to schedule the required public hearing for consideration of the 

Preliminary Plat. 

22. The exact location and size of utility easements shall be verified with We Energies 

and included on the Preliminary and Final Plats.  All utility easements shall be labeled 

as “Dedicated Utility Easements”.  The developer and other homeowners are 

collectively responsible for the ongoing maintenance and facility usage charges as 

imposed by We Energies.  Pursuant to current Village procedures, the Village will 

coordinate the billing for these charges to the Association/homeowners. 

23. The Preliminary Plat shall only be valid for two (2) years from the Village Board’s 

conditional approval, during which all conditions must be satisfied and the Final Plat 

shall be submitted.  If the property is not final platted within the two (2) years of the 

Village Board's approval, the Village shall require that the Plat be resubmitted for a 

new Preliminary Plat approval along with the appropriate filing fees. 

24. Upon approval of the Preliminary Plat the following documents (3 full size 

copies and a pdf) shall be submitted to the Village for staff review prior to 

the Village accepting the Final Plat application and application fee:  

a. Draft Final Plat.   

b. Residential Development Plans (as discussed above) for the Multi-Family areas 

including building material/sample color boards.  In addition, a list of proposed 

dimensional variations being requested to be included in the PUD. 

c. A revised draft of the Declarations of Restrictions, Covenants and Easements. 

This document shall be in final form prior to consideration of the Final Plat by 

the Plan Commission. 

d. Landscaping Plan. 



12 

 

e. Engineering Plans, Profiles and Specifications.  

f. Public Street Lighting Plan, including a copy of the We Energies electrical 

distribution system plan and contract. 

g. Ownership verification documents. 

h. Operating documents for the property owner. 

25. Upon Village staff review of the draft Final Plat and other documents as specified 

above in condition #26, the following shall be submitted so that the required public 

hearings can be scheduled and the Development Agreement can be drafted: 

a. Final Plat application, application fee and related documents.  

b. The Zoning Text and Map Amendment Applications, application fee, the 

Residential Development Plans (3 full size and a pdf) and a letter outlining the 

request dimensional variations to be included in the PUD. 

c. The Comprehensive Plan Amendment Application to amend the Land Use Map 

Amendment and the fee. 

26. Upon Village approval of the Engineering Plans, Profiles and Specifications, the 

Developer shall submit two (2) copies of the final Village approved plans and 

specifications so that the Village can request approval from the Kenosha Water Utility 

(KWU).   

27. Upon written utility plan approval from the KWU, the Developer shall obtain written 

approval from the WI DNR.   

28. Upon Village approval of the Final Engineering Plans and Specifications, 

Landscaping Plan and Street Lighting Plan the following shall be submitted 

to the Village for staff review so that the Development Agreement can be 

finalized by the Village.  The number of copies required are noted below, in 

addition pdf’s of all documents and plans shall be submitted.  All documents 

shall be in final form prior to Village Board consideration of the Final Plat, 

Development Agreement and PUD. 

a. Final Memorandum of Development Agreement (to be drafted by the Village 

and reviewed by the Developer). 

b. Final Development Agreement (to be drafted by the Village and reviewed by the 

Developer). 

c. Recorded Articles of Incorporation for the Homeowner’s Association. 

d. Final Declaration of Restrictions, Covenants and Easements. 

e. Final Homeowner’s Association By-Laws. 

f. Verification of taxes and outstanding special assessments being paid.  Any 

outstanding taxes, special assessments or invoices shall be paid prior to 

recording the Final Plat and Memorandum of Development Agreement. 

g. A copy of the required wetland fill, N.O.I. Chapter 30 permits from the WI DNR 

and ACOE. 

h. A copy of the public sanitary sewer and water approval letters from the KWU, 

WI DNR, and SEWRPC. 

i. A copy of the signed contracts, certificates of insurance, and performance and 

payment bonds.  The contracts shall have the Developer’s name as shown on 



13 

 

the title of the property.  The certificates of insurance shall also list the Village 

of Pleasant Prairie as an insured party. 

j. A Policy of Title Commitment equal to the cost of public improvements.  The 

title policy shall indicate that the right-of-way is being dedicated free and clear 

of any encumbrance liens or judgments.  The Title Report Commitment shall be 

updated the day before closing and again within 7 days after closing and 

recording of the documents. 

k. A copy of the signed public street tree/landscaping contract, Street 

Tree/Landscaping Plan and certificate of insurance. 

l. A copy of the signed We Energies contract and Street Lighting Plan. 

m. Erosion Control Permit application and plans and related fees (fees to be 

calculate by the Engineering Department). 

n. Work in the Right-of-Way application, plans and related $150.00 fee. 

o. The Street Sweeping Cash Deposit - $2,000. 

p. Five (5) paper copies of the Final Plat. 

q. Five (5) paper copies of the approved Engineering Plans, Profiles and 

Specifications.   

r. Five (5) paper copies of the Landscaping Plan. 

s. Five (5) paper copies of the Street Lighting Plan, including a copy of the We 

Energies electrical distribution system plan. 

t. Five (5) paper copies of the Residential Development Plans 

u. A “draft” LOC shall be provided to the Village for staff review.     

29. A one year minimum Irrevocable Letter of Credit (LOC) to the Village, in the amount 

of 115% of the total cost of public related improvements, including street trees, 

street lights, street signs, field staking, inspections and construction related services 

(including sanitary sewer, and storm sewer cleaning and televising), shall be 

submitted to the Village.  The Itemized Cost Breakdown Exhibit will be prepared by 

the Village staff to determine the amount of the Letter of Credit and the cash 

payments. IMPORTANT:  A draft Letter of Credit equal to the cost breakdown 

analysis (need to verify proper format and dollar amount of Letter of Credit prior 

submitting the Original Letter of Credit.  The Cash payments and the “Final” LOC 

shall be provided prior to the Village at the closing.   

30. If any of the houses are proposed to be used as a model or marketing office, a 

Conditional Use Permit application will be required to be submitted for consideration 

by the Plan Commission.  

31. Upon Village Board approval of the Final Plat and within seven (7) days of said 

approval the Village will host a closing to have the Plat and all of the Development 

Agreement documents signed.  The Developer shall be responsible for recording all 

required documents at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office and provide 

proof of recording to the Village within 72 hours of closing with the Village.   

32. Following the closing, the Developer’s engineer shall conduct a pre-construction 

meeting at the Village with all of the contractors, utilities and Village on-site 

inspectors (meeting is required prior to public improvement field work commencing).  

Contact Jean Werbie-Harris to coordinate the pre-con meeting. 



14 

 

33. This development shall be in compliance with the Village Land Division and 

Development Control Ordinance, the Village Municipal and Zoning Codes, the Village 

Construction Site Maintenance and Erosion Control Ordinance and the State of 

Wisconsin Statutes. 

34. All Village fees incurred by the Village Engineer and/or expert assistant required by 

the Village throughout the development process will be billed directly to the 

Developer.  Such fees shall be paid in a timely manner.  

35. All Village fees incurred by the Village Community Development Department and/or 

expert assistant required by the Village throughout the development process will be 

billed directly to the Developer.  Such fees shall be paid in a timely manner.   

36. Impact fees are due at the time building permits are issued.  Currently, these fees 

are $1,490 per housing unit.   

37. All public and private improvements shall be completed, inspected, and Village 

approved including having sanitary sewer and storm sewer televised, water sampled 

with safe samples, roadways completed, electric and gas utilities installed, signage 

installed and as-built utility and grading plans submitted prior to the issuance of any 

building permits in accordance with the Development Agreement on file with the 

Village. 

DEV1811-005 
CODE1811-003 



VILLAGE STAFF MEMO OF FEBRUARY 13, 2019 

At the Plan Commission public hearing held on January 28, 2019, it was staff’s opportunity to 

hear first-hand from the Creekside Crossing residents on The Vista at Creekside development 

proposed by Bear Development.  Although the Plan Commission recommended conditional 

approval of the proposed plan, that motion included direction to the Village staff to work with the 

developer to address the resident concerns presented at the public hearing held by the Plan 

Commission on January 28, 2019.   

Generally the following concerns were brought up at the public hearing: 

 Rental units are now proposed where owner occupied units were presented in the original 

Creekside development. 

 Location of the apartments within the Creekside development. 

 Management and management practices of the rental units including long term 

maintenance of the apartments and the grounds. 

 Increased crime 

 Traffic congestion within and adjacent to the development when additional units are 

constructed and speeding currently in the neighborhood. 

 Property values with nearby apartments.  

 Public sidewalk location, maintenance and costs. 

 Loss of a proposed Neighborhood Park on the north side of the development. 

After the public hearing the Community Development Director met with the Plan Commission 

Chairman, Village staff and the Creekside Crossing Condo Association President Bill Demo to 

better understand and discuss the concerns of the residents and how the project could best 

address the issues or how the development could be improved.  The Village Administrator and 

Community Development Director then had further discussions with the Developer regarding 

possible plan changes. 

The Developer then submitted various alternatives for the Village staffs review.  These 

alternatives are being presented by the Village staff in the event that the Village Board does not 

approve the Conceptual Plan that was conditionally approved by the Plan Commission at their 

meeting on January 28, 2019.  Upon direction from the Village Board, the Village Plan 

Commission could hold another public hearing on March 11, 2019 to discuss these three 

development Options. 

If referred by the Village Board back to the Plan Commission, the following Options would be 

evaluated at the March 11, 2019 public hearing held by the Plan Commission: 

 Option 1: is the development plan that was presented by the Developer at the Creekside 

neighborhood meeting held in November of 2018, which included 37 single family lots, 2-

two family lots and 7-20 unit apartment buildings with a club house. 

 Option 2: is the development plan that was presented at the Plan Commission public 

hearing on January 28, 2019, which included 43 single family lots, 1-two family lot and 7-

20 unit apartment buildings with a club house. 

 Option 3: is the development plan as prepared by the Developer, with additional input by 

the Village staff, wherein the developer would acquire an additional 5.6 acres of land north 

of the proposed 91st Street for the development, which would provide for 55 single family 

lots and 7-20 unit apartment buildings with a clubhouse.  

These three options have been discussed by staff and evaluated for compliance with the 

Village Comprehensive Plan, planning and engineering principals and policy decisions 

need to be further discussed to provide additional feedback to the developer and 

neighbors and Plan Commission: 



1. Comprehensive Plan Compliance:  All three options meet the goals and objectives of 

the various components of the Comprehensive Plan including the housing goals, objectives 

and recommendations in Chapter 3 of the Comprehensive Plan and all alternatives meet 

the land use density requirements of the Comprehensive Plan pursuant to Map 9.9 of the 

Comprehensive Plan.  [In accordance with the Village Comprehensive Land Use Plan, the 

Whittier Creek Neighborhood is classified as being within a Low-Medium Density 

Residential land use category having lot areas ranging from 12,000 square feet to 19,000 

square feet or more per dwelling unit.  This range allows for some areas of the 

Neighborhood to have larger lots while other areas to have smaller lots to accommodate a 

variety of housing types.] 

2. Village Park Plan:  The initial Creekside Crossing development plan originally approved 

in 2005 identified a neighborhood park in the northern portion of this development.  

However, since the initial Conceptual Plan was approved, Ingram Park, a 30-acre 

Community Park located within the Whittier Creek Neighborhood was dedicated to the 

Village for public park purposes; therefore, pursuant to the Village Park and Open Space 

Plan, this smaller public neighborhood park was eliminated.  [Note:  The dog park as 

proposed in Option 2 by the Developer would have been a private park owned and 

maintained privately for the benefit of the residents.]  In addition, the Developer will be 

installing sidewalk to the park along the entire inner circle of Creekside Circle that will 

meet ADA standards and will be adding park equipment to the Creekside Park. 

3. Location of the Apartments:  The various options show various locations of 4-20 unit 

apartment buildings.  Option 1 provides two apartment locations within the original 

Creekside development area including 4 buildings on the east side of Jerome Creek and 3 

buildings on the west side of the Creek with a club house between each grouping.  Option 

2 provides 5 buildings on the east side of the Creek and 2 buildings and the club house 

outside of the original Creekside development area on 91st Street at Old Green Bay Road.  

Option 3 would require the developer to purchase an additional 5.6 acres of land north of 

91st Street and for 6 apartment buildings to be located on 91st Street at Old Green Bay 

Road and 1 apartment building to be located along the west side of the original Creekside 

development area.  Option 3 would require an amendment to the approved floodplain 

boundary adjustment to allow for additional single family lots on both sides of Creekside 

Circle. 

4. Rental vs. Owner Occupied units:  The Village Zoning Ordinance cannot and does not 

regulate the type of ownership for any residential dwellings.  The Ordinance regulates the 

building, size, setback, materials and general requirements for development but cannot 

regulate ownership.  In cases where a Planned Unit Development Overlay District is 

considered, the Village in the past has encouraged the developer to place percentages of 

renter or owner restrictions on the units.  This was the case in the existing Creekside 

Crossing Condominium development.  This requirement was placed in the Declarations for 

the Creekside development by the original developer and in the Village PUD Ordinance as 

agreed by the original developer prior to any of the existing condominium units were built.  

In recent years, the state legislature has been limiting the amount of regulation that the 

Village and enforce in multi-family developments. 

Based on the current zoning of the undeveloped Creekside Crossing development area 

could be development with 102 multi-family rental units when public improvements are 

installed (roadways, sewer and water).  Specifically, the R-8, Two Family Residential 

District areas on the east and northeast portions of the site could be development with 21-

2 unit buildings, the R-9, Multi-Family District in the west portion of the site could be 

developed 3-4 unit buildings and the R-10, Multi-Family District in the central portion of 

the site on both sides of the Creek could be developed with 6-8 unit buildings.  There is 

currently no portion of the undeveloped land within the original Creekside development 

area that is zoned for single family development.   

  



5. Public Infrastructure:  Village ordinance and policy requires that developments be 

interconnected and multiple means of roadway access be provided for development.  

Therefore, the original Creekside Crossing Development included multiple access points to 

93rd Street with an access to Old Green Bay Road via 91st Street, a looped roadway known 

as Creekside Circle and additional future connections to the north and east as additional 

vacant farm lands develop.  The Development on the east side of the Jerome Creek will 

not be approve by the Village until there is another roadway connection either to the west 

by the completion of Creekside Circle and 91st Street to Old Green Bay Road or connection 

to the east (about 1400 feet) to the existing pubic roadway (Ingram Park Drive) located 

within Ingram Park. 

Creekside Circle and 91st Street have been dedicated by the original developer and 

municipal sanitary sewer was extended in a portion of Creekside Circle to service the 

existing development and future development within the vacant areas east of the Creek. 

In addition, the original developer has received, Village, WI DNR and FEMA approval to 

amend the 100-year floodplain.  This grading work to amend the 100-year floodplain 

including the installation of the existing bridge on the south side of the development has 

been completed and the remainder of the grading work and the second bridge crossing on 

the north side of the development along with the construction of the remainder of 

Creekside Circle needs to be completed so that the 100-year floodplain boundary 

adjustment as-built drawings can be approved by WI DNR and FEMA and the official 100-

year floodplain maps amended. 

6. Sidewalks:  In 2016, the Village Board adopted new ordinance requiring the installation of 

sidewalks in residential developments.  The Village Administrator, along with staff have 

been evaluating and preparing a policy on how new sidewalks adjacent to existing 

development without sidewalks.  The current policy is to complete loops or neighborhood 

blocks and minimize dead ends mid -block.  The alternative is to have the developer install 

sidewalks only adjacent to the area being developed and creating dead ends now and then 

at a later date sidewalks are extended at the cost of the existing property owners as a 

Village assessed project.   

The Village staff is recommending that within the Creekside development sidewalks and 

pedestrian pathways are installed by the developer at the developers cost as shown on the 

attached drawings.   In all options it is recommended that the developer install concrete 

sidewalks around the interior area of Creekside Circle.  This interior connection provides 

pedestrian access that meets ADA standards to the existing Creekside Park.  The sidewalk 

maintenance and snow removal would be the responsibility of the abutting land owners.  

The original Creekside development plan included a pedestrian path adjacent to the creek 

within the multi-family area connection the north and south side of Creekside Circle.  The 

Options now show single family along the creek placing a pedestrian trail along the creek 

in the backyards of the single family lots is not desirable; therefore, the pedestrian 

connection would be sidewalks adjacent to public roadways. 

7. Traffic:  Providing multiple public road connections to and through the development 

allows traffic to be dispersed. Residents living in the neighborhood will travel the easiest 

path to get to their destination.  Most of the new residents will likely exit the development 

through 91st Street and travel north or south on Old Green Bay Road.  Pursuant to the 

Village Engineer, the proposed development and the total number of units does not 

warrant a traffic study.  When the 200 acres of vacant land on the south side of 93rd 

Street/Dabbs Farm drive is proposed to be developed a Traffic Study will be required.  As 

part of the Main Street Market development on the corner of STH 165 and Old Green Bay 

Road, the Traffic Impact Analysis completed required that a dedicated right turn lane be 

added to Dabbs Farm Drive between Old Green Bay Road and STH 31.  This new lane will 

be added within the next 5 years. 

 



Speeding that is currently occurring in the neighborhood can be remedied a number of 

ways.  Since this development does not provide access to any other development at this 

time, the Association should remind it residents to slow down and abide by the speed limit.  

The police could set up a digital speed sign in the neighborhood, or if the speeding 

happens during certain periods of the day, a squad car could be present in the 

neighborhood and citations could be issued.   

8. Crime:  The Village Police Department is proactive in preventing and solving crimes within 

the Village.  In addition, the Village Security Ordinance (Chapter 410) requires that all 

commercial developments since 2005 and all multi-family (more than 3 units per building) 

developments since 2013 provide for outside camera systems that provide a live-feed back 

to the Village Police Department.  The Village currently has close to 500 cameras 

monitoring development in monitoring development the Village.  While these digital 

camera systems are not monitored 24/7 by the Police Department, many of the cameras 

can be even be viewed/transmitted to an officer within their vehicle in the event that they 

are responding to a call. 

9. Management of Apartments:  The success or failure of any multi-family development, 

whether rental or owner occupied is its management.  Most Village code violations that 

Village received are for owner occupied properties.  The rental apartment properties in the 

Village are well managed and have no ongoing issues with code violations.  Bear 

Development has a very good management record and intends to own and manage these 

apartments for the long term.  In this case a minimum of 15 years as part of their 

portfolio. They have policies and practices in place to ensure that the exterior of the 

building and the site continues to be well maintained.  In addition, they have rental 

policies and practices to ensure that the tenants take care of their units.  

10. Property values:  Based on information provided by the Village Assessment Office, the 

apartment development based on the proposed rents would be valued at about $58,300 

per unit or $8,162,000 for the complete 7-20 apartment buildings (140 units).  The 

proposed single family would be valued similarly to the existing single family homes within 

Creekside Crossing Subdivision which have an average 2018 value of $300,000 per unit.  

The existing two unit buildings average $250,000 per unit and the existing condominiums 

units in Creekside Crossing average $175,000 per unit. 

 



;------------.- -------
! I 
I I 
I I I 

r------------~ 
I I I 

I------- i r -----1 
I I 

L____ i I ---------! 

I i 
j I , ____________ _L __ 
I i ------------------
1 : 

I \ 
I i 
r---------------J 
I 
I 

j----------------
1 

I 1--
1 
I 
I 
I 
I 

170.111 - - 85.00 85.00 &5.00--~ 85.00 

I 41--1 ~ ,~--1 r-----, - ---, 
I I .,.! I I I I I I r--, r-----1 

~ 115.5085.F. 1 ~ t I 1l I I I I 1 I ~ '1Et::M---a ~t I 1: I I ~ 7 40~\ ll II \\ I 
I I 8 115,058 SI) I . \ I 1 ; I I I I I l!i L J i 39 l g 38 $. l 37 J, : 36 I 

~ f--J.________ -;;:;- ,\.2A.JIHF~ f"101 5.F~ \z<,0'6 SJ~ \24,0IO 5.F.\ 
1 1 1 ~ :r : : : : : 1 
I I I I : 1 I I I 
I I I I I I I I l I I 
I 1 l \I 1 \ I \ I 
L I I ~------' L __ _J I I I I --ti ________ J__ M.911 L..-;z.-.--' L-----

I 

r------------------, 
I 
I 

8Ull 

OUTLOT 1 
978,137 ~. 

PASSIVE 
RECREATION 

200' 

OPTION 1 

I 

I 
I 
I 
I 

~ I 
i I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
L __ ---i 

900ISTREET 

100' O' 

SCALE 1 "=100' 

100' 200' 

rrb 
<D 
0 ~ 

~ 
<t "' 

Q) 
V1 "' c: 

"' 
II") u 

_Q 0 __: "' 
>- ~ 

..0 
~ w E 
ra > .; c: 

"' co ::> c: it 
Vl 0 it 

+ "' ~ 0 "' 
c z 0 ~ < 0 

Q) --1 N "' ..0 

(/) 0 .~ 
., 

-0 z ~ 
<( 

~ 

ra Vl 

"' 
2: 

Ill ..,; co 

"' > "' w "' w co ... 
c z c:"' 

Q) t.'J 0 "' ... -
z N 

Vl ~ "' 
.GJ 

~N 
co 

"' z > Ill 

u 
<t "' .... ..... 

z 
w v; 

z 
Cl 0 

u - Vl 

V') z ~ 
~ <( :.: 

..... 
w ....J u z 

w 0... .....J ::> 

UJ .....J 8 

0:: I- ,<( 

u Q.. I 
(/) 0... C3 z .... ....J <( n:: UJ UJ 

<( oo "" ~ u. _ !!:!" 

<( I- V) !!:: 
0... ~ <( 

.... UJ UJ g: 
u UJ ..... 

V') z 0::: ~ - u ~ > 0 UJ 

u _J 
0.. 

w u. 
0 

:c UJ 
\!J .... '.5 
_J 

> 

PROJ.MGR: 

DRAFTED: 
OAT£: 

CHECKED: 
DATE: 

2014.0030.07 

1 
SHEET 

OF 1 



;- ------------.-~--------

! I 
I I 
I I I 
L____ I 
I ---------1 
I I I 

L____ \ r --------1 
I I 

I 
L____ I 
I ---------1 
I \ 

~------------l __ I T------------------
1 \ 

I \ 
I ~ I 
r---------------J 
I 
I 
~-----------------

! 
I 1--
1 

I 
I 
I 
I 

OUTLOT 1 
81~S.F. 

BASIN1 

" li 

d 

OUTLOT 3. 
439,547 SI. 

BASIN 4 

OPTION 2 

nu 
"' 0 ~ 

!.... 
<t .. 

Q) "' "' c 
a: U'l :;: 

_Q 0 
>- ~ 

.0 

!.... w E 
m > ,; c 

co a: ~ ::::> c 

"' u ;: 

+ "' ;: 
0 ex: 

c z 0 2 
-0: 0 

Q) --' N "' .0 

Vl 0 ~ <lJ 

-0 z 
" 
~ 

m -0: "' co 

~ "' 
-0 co 

a: > 
.,.. 

UJ 
.,.. 

UJ "' ... c z c "' 
Q) (!) 

0 "' 
z .~ "' Vl ~ 

"' UJ 0 
"' Q) :i: 

co .. z > .,.. 
u 

<t .. .... f--

g7J3 

I 

I 
I 
I 
I 

2l I 
i I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
L __ -i 

90lhSTRffi I ,---
I 

r- - --~ 
I --1 

z 
w :r: 

Vi 

c z 
I-

0 
u 

V)' 0::: 
V') 

§ 

~ ~ ,,: 
f--

w uz 

w z _J :::i 

_J 8 
a: <t: ,-.: 

u _J 0.. :i: 
0.. 

V') 

0.. 0 

I- w z 
I-

a: UJ UJ 

<( V) 
~o ~-

<( _J 
V> ~ 

<t: 
~ ;2 

I-
UJ a. 

'.:) UJ f--

U') I- c:::: ~ - 0... u ~ > w UJ 

u _J 
a. 

w z u. 
0 

::c 0 UJ 

I- u (.!) 

:) 
_J 

> 



N 89'53'14" W 20Z.88 

I I 
1 - - 11-ent'26'-W-
f--l- - - - ..l!6.00.. - -t---,.---; 

I I N 89"53'15' w 85.b 
I I • 
I I I g )\l 
I I :liel 
L--\- - - -- - ---.L---"' I z 

I N 89'53'14• W 
85.00 

s 89'45'10· w 330.17 
S 02·32•25• E 
50.00 

~------------------------ , 
I \ 
I \ 
I \ 
I +:'0\?\1 2 S t&J> ll.)4)z._.. \ 

; I 
-L- -------- -1 

I I 
I I 

\ ~ ) IJ//_./..,t. ~ /~s~h-A1°\ 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I --------------------J 
I l 
L-r---------- --,-~~--~~~~-4 

1 

I 
I 
I 
I 

I I 
I L __________ __ .J 

OUTLOT 1 
9Sl.l4S u. 

OUTLOT 2 
i0-\.H7S.F. 

PROPOSED 
RETENTION 

BASIN 

\ 

..... -----------
' : 
: 

~I 55,sa2 s.r. 

~ \ I 

l 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I I L __ _, 
90th STREET 

-- - - ..J._ __ 

200' 100 ' O' 

SCALE 1"=100' 

OPTION 3 

100' 200' 

n'"b 
I.-

GJ 
...0 
I.-

cu 
co 
+ 
c 
GJ 
V) 

-0 
cu 
~ 
c 
GJ 
V) 

GJ 
z 

w 
c -V') 
~ 
w 
w 
0:: 
u 
I
<( 
<( 
I
V') -> 
w 
:I: 
I-

ci z 

Vl 
0:: 
0 
>-
UJ 

> 
0:: 
::> 
Vl 

0 
z 
<( 
~ 

0 
z 
<( 

Vl 
0:: 
UJ 
UJ 

z 
' \.? 
z 
UJ 

> 
u 

PROJ.MGR: 
DRAFTED: 
DATE: 

CHECXED: 
DATE: 

\D 
0 ~ 

"' <!> 

"' c 
Vl u 

~ 

3: ..0 

E 
.; c 

;i c 
·;:; ~ 

"' ~ 
0:: 

o' QJ 

0 
~ N ..0 

~ "' $: 
" Vl 00 
,j 00 

"' > 
"' "' ~ c "' 0 \D 

N 
N 

~ \D 
0 

"' :c 
00 

"' "' "' QJ 

..... I-

_...MQE 

_--1Jl: 

---1'1Ulll!l 

2014.0030.07 
SHEET 

1 OF 1 



ORD. # 19-06 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND  
THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN  

2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 390 OF THE  

VILLAGE MUNICIPAL CODE 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees, Kenosha 
County, Wisconsin, that Neighborhood Plan 32 of Appendix 9-3 the Whittier Creek 
Neighborhood in the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan is 
hereby amended as shown in the Exhibit A. 

The Village Community Development Director is hereby directed to record this Amendment 
to the Comprehensive Plan on the appropriate pages of said Plan and to update Appendix A 
in Chapter 390 of the Village Municipal Code to include said Amendment. 
 

Adopted this 18th day of February, 2019. 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
ATTEST: 

 
  
John P. Steinbrink 
Village President 

  
Jane C. Snell 
Village Clerk 
 
Ayes: ___ Nayes:  ___    Absent: ____ 

 
Posted:    
 
Ord #19-06 

 



Appendix 9-3 
 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

793 

Neighborhood Plan 32 of Appendix 9-3 
Whittier Creek Neighborhood 

The Whittier Creek Neighborhood Plan was prepared and adopted by the Plan Commission on 
March 12, 2007 by Resolution #07-10 and the Village Board adopted a Resolution of support of 
on March 19, 2007 by Resolution #07-11.  On June 21, 2010 a portion of the Whittier Creek 
Neighborhood Plan was amended by Ordinance #10-37 to include Ingram Park within the south-
central portion of the Neighborhood.  On August 17, 2015 a portion of the Whittier Creek 
Neighborhood Plan was amended by Ordinance #15-31 for a portion of the southwest section of 
the Neighborhood as shown on Map 32-a 

The Whittier Creek Neighborhood is bounded by STH 31 (Green Bay Road) on the west, 93rd 
Street on the south, Cooper Road on the east and 85th Street on the north.  In 1994, a 
Neighborhood Plan was prepared for a portion of the Whittier Creek Neighborhood generally 
located east of STH 31 west of approximately 57th Avenue, south of 85th Street and north of 93rd 
Street; and in 2002 the Neighborhood Plan was re-evaluated and on March 25, 2002 the Plan 
Commission adopted a revised Neighborhood Plan (Resolution #02-05) for a portion of the 
Whittier Creek Neighborhood generally located east of STH 31 west of approximately 57th Avenue, 
south of 85th Street and north of 93rd Street.  On April 1, 2002 the Village Board adopted 
Resolution #02-14 to concur with and support the Neighborhood Plan as approved by the Plan 
Commission. 

In 2007 a Neighborhood Plan has been prepared for the entire Whittier Creek Neighborhood.  In 
2007 this neighborhood was primarily farm land with a number of home sites adjacent to the 
arterial roadways with the exception of the Whittier Heights Development and Wil-Char 
Subdivision in the northeast portion of the neighborhood and Creekside Crossing mixed 
residential development in the southwest portion of the Neighborhood. 

The Village 2010 Comprehensive Plan indicates that an Elementary School Site-Whittier 
Elementary School at 8542 Cooper Road, two Neighborhood Parks, and the remainder of the land 
within the neighborhood would be developed as residential uses with the preservation of 
environmental corridors and the isolated natural areas in the neighborhood.  The 2035 Land Use 
Plan indicates that a Community Park be located within the south central portion of the 
neighborhood. 

In 2015, the Neighborhood Plan was amended for the undeveloped portion of the Creekside 
development in the southwestern portion of the neighborhood to reflect current wetland 
delineations and to convert the 158 condominium units (11-8 unit buildings, 5-4-unit buildings 
and 25-2 unit buildings) that were originally proposed to include 65 single family lots building. 

In 2019, the Neighborhood Plan was amended for the undeveloped portion of the Creekside 
development (The Vista at Creekside) and adjacent lands in the southwestern portion of the 
neighborhood to provide for a total of 168 single family lots, 1 duplex lot, and 7-20 unit apartment 
buildings for a total of 310 units) an increase of 126 dwelling units from the current neighborhood 
plan that was amended in 2015 that included 184 single family lots.  In addition, about 5 
additional acres of residential area was added as approved by Plan Commission on January 28, 
2019 by Resolution #19-05 and the Village Board adopted Ord. #19-06 on February 18, 2019. 

The Whittier Creek Neighborhood Plan includes:   

GOVERNMENT/INSTITUTIONAL AREA:  Approximately 7.4 acres of land within the 
neighborhood is identified as Institutional use, including: the existing Whittier Elementary 
School located at 8542 Cooper Road and the Holy Family Catholic Book Store located at 9249 
93rd Street.  

TRANSPORTATION/UTILITIES:  Approximately 8.6 acres of this neighborhood is located 
within a Utility Easement with electric transmission towers generally located at 57th Avenue.   

Exhibit A 



Appendix 9-3 
 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

794 

ACCESS TO ARTERIAL ROADS:  Pursuant to the Village Comprehensive Plan 85th Street, 
93rd Street, Cooper Road and Old Green Bay Road are classified as local arterial roadways and 
89th Street is identified as a local collector roadway.  In addition, the long-range transportation 
plan indicates that Old Green Bay Road, 85th Street, Cooper Road and 93rd Street should be 
improved or widened when traffic counts/new developments warrant such improvements.  
93rd Street will be widened into a three (3) lane urban cross section (one travel lane in each 
direction and a center turn lane).  Cooper Road is proposed to be further evaluated related to 
the timing and roadway profile required.  Due to the environmental constraints within the 
neighborhood, 89th Street will no longer connect from Cooper Road to Old Green Bay Road.  
However 89th Street will connect to Creekside Circle which will connect to 91st Street to Old 
Green Bay Road. A single lane roundabout will be constructed at the intersection of Cooper 
Road and 93rd Street when Cooper Road is constructed south of 93rd Street within the 
proposed Devonshire Development.  New driveway access to the arterial and collector 
roadways will be limited and new roadways are aligned with existing or proposed roadways 
on the opposite side of the street.  At the time that any portion of the neighborhood is 
proposed to be developed, proper access will be required to adequately service the proposed 
development.   

[Note:  A detailed traffic study was conducted by Wayne Higgins with Traffic Engineering 
Services, Inc. to determine the profile for 93rd Street and to examine if the traffic warrants 
a four-way stop, a signalized intersection, or a roundabout at the intersection of 93rd Street 
and Cooper Road.  At the February 26, 2007 Plan Commission meeting and the March 5, 
2007 Village Board Meeting Mr. Higgins presented his the report and the Village Board 
approved a single lane roundabout at 93rd Street and Cooper Road and a three lane urban 
profile for 93rd Street (one travel lane in each direction and a center turn lane) rather than 
a four lane profile (two travel lane in each direction) on 93rd Street. 

A signalized intersection at Cooper Road and 93rd Street would require the same or more 
right-of-way at this location for the existing properties than would a the single lane 
roundabout would.  The signalized intersection would be more problematic for the existing 
properties at the northeast and northwest corners to continue to utilize their existing 
driveways.  Traffic would not be stopped at the intersection with a roundabout thus 
allowing the existing driveway to remain with full access.   

The roundabout is proposed to be 120 feet in diameter which will allow for semi-trucks, 
fire trucks, school buses, garbage trucks, snow plows etc. maneuvering space and a 25 
foot diameter green space island would be constructed in the center.   

The three (3) lane urban profile roadway on 93rd Street would allow for less right-of-way 
being required from properties on the north side of 93rd Street.  This design would allow 
for easy and safe access to the existing residential homes that will have driveways on 93rd 
Street because of the designated center turn lane.  The three lanes would provided for 
two 12 foot travel lanes and a 14 foot center turn lane. 

The full improvement on 93rd Street as a three (3) lane urban roadway and the roundabout 
at Cooper Road and 93rd Street will be constructed as part of the second phase of the 
required public improvements for the second stage of the Devonshire Development.  The 
cost for improvements to 93rd Street and the roundabout is proposed to be shared between 
the developers of the land adjacent to 93rd Street.  In addition, the Village staff is 
proposing to apply for grants to assist in the project costs.  It is anticipated that a grant 
application be submitted in April of 2007 for improvements to 93rd Street between 63rd 
Avenue and 48th Avenue, including the roundabout at Cooper Road.] 

OPEN SPACE:  This Neighborhood Plan identified approximately 279 acres or 37% of the 
lands within the neighborhood are proposed to remain as open space.  This open space 
includes approximately 190.4 acres of floodplain, 30.2 acres of wetlands, 39 acres of a 



Appendix 9-3 
 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

795 

Community Park, 3.5 acres for a Neighborhood Parks and 16 acres of other open space 
throughout the neighborhood.  

 FLOODPLAIN AREAS:  The 100-year floodplain is currently located adjacent to north 
and south branches of Jerome Creek.  Prior to consideration of any Conceptual Plans 
on these properties, the 100-year floodplain shall be field verified in accordance with 
the Village floodplain maps and ordinance regulations.  Development in the floodplain 
is restricted to open spaces that do not interrupt the natural flow of the water.  Any 
development that constricts the flow of water or significantly reduces floodplain 
storage volumes and may create upstream and/or downstream flooding problems or 
reduce the capacity of the floodplain to store water.  In some instances property can 
be removed from the floodplain provided proper approvals are obtained from the 
Village and several other agencies including the Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources (DNR) and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).  Any area 
removed from the floodplain through the placement of fill must be contiguous to (next 
to) land lying outside the floodplain.  In addition, the volume of floodplain removal 
must be created in the vicinity of the filled area on a one-to-one basis.  The land that 
is removed from the floodplain must be filled to an elevation at least two (2) feet above 
the elevation of the 100-year regional flood elevation.  The Neighborhood Plan 
indicates that floodplain adjustments will be required and that approximately 190.4 
acres of land would be located within the 100-year floodplain after the adjustments 
are made. 

 WETLAND AREAS:  The Neighborhood Plan identifies approximately 30 acres of land 
as wetlands.   Prior to consideration of any Conceptual Plans, the wetlands shall be 
field verified by a certified biologist in accordance with the Village wetland regulations 
and approved by the DNR.  Some of the wetlands within the undeveloped area have 
been field verified.  Upon field verification of wetlands the Neighborhood Plan may 
need to be altered to reflect actual conditions.  The wetland areas are intended to be 
preserved and protected from Development. 

 COMMUNITY PARK:  In late December of 2008, the Village of Pleasant Prairie 
received a 30.73-acre land donation for the creation of a new park from John and 
Dorothy Ingram located at 5726 93rd Street that all residents will be able to enjoy.  
Schreiber/Anderson Associates (SAA) was selected to prepare a master plan for the 
development of this Community Park.  SAA facilitated the process to help guide the 
Ingram’s dream of a public park.  On June 21, 2010 the Village Board approved an 
amendment to the Village of Pleasant Prairie Park and Open Space Plan 2006-2011 to 
include a Conceptual Plan for Ingram Park (totaling approximately 47.3 acres, 
including 5.4-acres within the ATC transmission line easement area along the east side 
of park and 2.9-acres of wetlands and floodplain within the park area) to be developed 
in Phases. 

 NEIGHBORHOOD PARKS AND PEDESTRIAN TRAILS:  Pursuant to the Village’s 

Park and Open Space Plan (2018-23) component of the Village Comprehensive Plan 
two (2) one (1) neighborhood parks located within the Neighborhood and a number of 
pedestrian trails are proposed pursuant to the Village of Pleasant Prairie 2010 Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Trails Plan (this plan is being updated in 2019).  A 1.46 acre 
neighborhood park (excluding any wetland and 100 year floodplain) within the first 
stage of the Creekside Development has been dedicated to the Village and the second 
1.07 acre neighborhood park (excluding any wetland and 100 year floodplain) will be 
dedicated to the Village with the next stage of the Creekside Development.  In addition, 
pursuant to the Village’s Park and Open Space Plan pedestrian trails will begin at 

Whittier School and 57th Avenue, continue south on 57th Avenue to 89th Street continue 



Appendix 9-3 
 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

796 

west on 89th Street to the northern park in Creekside.  At the park in Creekside the 
trail will continue south through Creekside Development into the Highpoint 
Neighborhood and will continue west on 89th Street to Old Green Bay Road then north 
to 85th Street and into the Country Home Neighborhood.  

 OTHER OPEN SPACE:  The Neighborhood Plan identifies approximately 16 acres of 
other open space within the Neighborhood which includes retention facilities and other 
open space surrounding the retention facilities, and other non-wetland, non-floodplain 
areas throughout the neighborhood.  In addition, approximately 12.6 acres of 
woodlands are proposed to be preserved in the neighborhood. 

The Whittier Creek Neighborhood is located with the Des Plaines River Watershed 
therefore all the storm water drains to the Des Plaines River.   The Neighborhood Plan 
existing retention facilities within the developed areas and indicates potential location 
where for future storm water management facilities could be located.  At the time that 
any Conceptual Plans are to be considered for any portion of the neighborhood, the 
developer’s engineer will be required to evaluate the development site, based on actual 

field conditions and shall present a storm water management facility plan which meets 
the Village requirements.  

RESIDENTIAL AREA:  Approximately 345 acres of land (excluding existing and future rights-
of-way, Government/Institutional, Transportation/Utilities, Public Park, 100-year floodplain 
and wetlands) within the Neighborhood are proposed to be developed as Residential. [The 
345 acres of land includes approximately 16 acres of the other open space and approximately 
12.6 acres of woodlands to be preserved as described above.].   

There are 258 existing single family lots within the Neighborhood and these existing 
residential developments include:  Whittier Heights Subdivision, Whittier Heights Addition #1, 
Whittier Heights Addition #2, Whittier Heights Addition #3, Wil-Char Subdivision, Creekside 
Crossing Subdivision, development on 91st Street and 63rd Avenues south of 100th Street; 
residential development along Cooper Road, 85th Street, Old Green Bay Road and 93rd Street.  
A total of 327 additional single family lots are proposed to be developed within the 
neighborhood. 

There are 134 existing platted multi-family condominium units in the neighborhood known as 
Creekside Crossing Condominiums located north of 93rd Street between 63rd and 66th Avenue 
(of the 134 units, 2-8 unit buildings and 2-2 unit buildings have not been constructed to date) 
and six (6) existing multi-family condominium units located on Old Green Bay Road south of 
Jerome Creek and eight (8) two unit building locate on Old Green Bay Road north of Jerome 
Creek.  The Neighborhood Plan proposes a total of 585 single family lots and 150 multi-family 
units (2 or more units per building) for a total of 735 dwelling units.  The reconfiguration of 
the southwest portion of the Neighborhood Plan pursuant to the 2019 amendment increases 
the residential acres by about 5 acres to approximately 350 acres and also increases the 
number of dwelling units from 184 to 310 units which includes 168 single family lots, 1-2 unit 
lot and 7-20 unit apartment for a total of 788 dwelling units. 

In accordance with the Village Comprehensive Plan, the overall net density for the 
Neighborhood is recommended to be within the Lower-Medium Density Residential land 
use category with the average lot area being between 12,000 square feet 18,999 square 
feet per dwelling unit.  This allows for some areas of the Neighborhood to have larger lots 
while some areas have smaller lots.  The net density of the Neighborhood as shown on 
the proposed Neighborhood Plan would be 20,447 square feet per dwelling unit (345 net 
residential acres multiplied by 43,560 square feet in an area divided by 735 dwelling 
units). This density is lower than required by the Village Comprehensive Plan.  The changes 
in the Whittier Creek Neighborhood Plan (including the 2010, 2015 and the 2019 
amendments) provides for an slight increase in the residential units within the entire 



Appendix 9-3 
 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

797 

Neighborhood from 735 dwelling units to 788 units, thus adjusting the net density to 
19,348 square feet per dwelling unit (350 net residential acres multiplied by 43,560 square 
feet in an area divided by 788 dwelling units). This density is lower than the recommended 
net density for the Neighborhood which is identified to be developed within the Low-
Medium Residential land use category with the average lot area being between 12,000 
square feet 18,999 square feet.   

AGRICULTURAL AREA:  The property owner of the approximately 29 acre property located 
at 6109 85th Street in the past has participated in the State’s Agricultural Preservation 

Program and did not intend to develop the land for urban purposes so the area will remain as 
Agricultural Land designation until the owner proposed further development.  The 
neighborhood plan would need to be re-evaluated at such time as this property is proposed 
to be developed for urban purposes.  The 2019 Amendment shows about 5 acres of the land 
be developed as single family residential development. 

POPULATION PROJECTIONS FOR THE NEIGHBORHOOD:  The vacant portions of this 
Neighborhood will not develop until the property owners wish to develop their land; which makes 
Neighborhood planning essential for the orderly growth of the community and establishes a 
framework as to how development should occur and, if and when it occurs.  The Neighborhood 
Plan is a guide for property owners and developers—therefore the population will increase on an 
incremental basis as the Neighborhood develops over time. 

Current population within the Neighborhood: 

 392  dwelling units 
 1063 persons (which includes 240 school age children) 

Projected population within the neighborhood is based on the total number of households 
proposed for this neighborhood when fully developed: 

 735 dwelling units 
 1,992 persons (which includes 450 school age children) 

Based on the 2010 Census information for the Village of Pleasant Prairie, the average number 
of persons per household is 2.71 and school age children between the ages of 5 and 19 make 
up 22.6% of the population.  The Village provides copies of proposed developments to the 
Kenosha Unified School District (KUSD) to assist in their long range planning.  Pursuant to the 
information provided by the KUSD for Pleasant Prairie, 42% of the new dwelling units will have 
new students that will attend public schools or a total of 390 students.   

The changes in the Whittier Creek Neighborhood Plan (including the 2010, 2015 and the 2019 
amendments) adjusts to proposed populations as well: 

 Current population within the neighborhood based on the current 392 dwelling units is 
1,063 (which includes 240 school age children with 164 children attending public 
school).  

 Projected population within the neighborhood based on the total proposed 788 
dwelling units is 2,136 persons (which includes 483 school age children with 331 
children attending public school).  

  



Appendix 9-3 
 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

798 

 

Neighborhood Plan Map 32 

Whittier Creek Neighborhood 
Adopted by Plan Commission Resolution #07-10 and Village Board Resolution #07-11 

and amended by the Village Board on June 21, 2010 by Ord. #10-37. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  



Appendix 9-3 
 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

799 

Neighborhood Plan Map 32-a 
Whittier Creek Neighborhood 

Amendment adopted by Plan Commission Resolution #15-15 and Village Board  
Ordinance #15-31 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Appendix 9-3 
 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

800 

Neighborhood Plan Map 32-b 
Whittier Creek Neighborhood 

Amendment adopted by Plan Commission Resolution #19-05 on January 28, 2019 and by the 

Village Board on February 18, 2019 as Ord. # 19-06. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  
 

9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948.8951    Fax 262.925.6796   PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

 

Office of the Village Engineer 
Matthew J. Fineour, P.E.     MEMORANDUM 

 TO:    Peggy Herrick, Assistant Planner / Zoning Administrator 
 
FROM:  Matthew Fineour, P.E.,Village Engineer 
 
  SUBJ:  The Vista at Creekside – Conceptual Plan 
    
 DATE:  December 6, 2018 
 

 
Peggy, 
 
The Engineering Department has reviewed the submitted concept plans for the proposed residential 
development. We have the following comments listed below and noted on the attached mark-up plan. Refer to 
both this memo and mark-up plan sheets for all engineering comments.  
 
The engineering plan review was cursory to identify overall conceptual concepts.  Additional review comments 
will be provided as further detailed engineering plans are submitted. 
 
See comments on attached mark-up plan sheets.   

 
1. Only plan sheets with comments are included. 

 
2. Comments that apply to multiple locations are not repeated for every occurrence. 

 
Floodplain Adjustment and Compensatory Storage 
 

3. A floodplain adjustment was instigated by the original Creekside Crossing Development, which includes 
areas within this proposed development.  A floodplain analysis of Jerome Creek Tributary #4 and 
Compensatory Storage Evaluation report was prepared by Hey and Associates.  The Developer of 
Vista at Creekside shall complete the floodplain adjustment.  The following shall be provided and/or 
confirmed: 
 

a. Identify who the engineer of record is that will be assuming responsibility of the floodplain 
adjustment, floodplain modeling, and compensation storage?   
 

b. The engineer of record shall ensure that they obtain a copy of the floodplain adjustment study 
and model that was submitted to the WDNR and FEMA for the CLOMR.  Identify the report date 
and provide a copy the floodplain adjustment study to the Village. 
 

c. The engineer of record shall provide an updated report / memorandum regarding their 
assessment of the previous study and as well as provide the following information: 
 

i. The engineer of record shall confirm that they have reviewed the study and modeling 
and concur with the work of the previous engineer.  Any items that the engineer does not 



P a g e  | 2 
Memo – Vista at Creekside 
December 6, 2018 
 

9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948.8951    Fax 262.925.6796   PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

 

agree or concur with shall be addressed to ensure the successful completion of the 
floodplain adjustment. 
 

ii. The engineer of record shall evaluate the existing as-built / site conditions and grading 
completed in the previous development phases and how that compares to the previous 
study requirements and modeling.  Address any variances. 
 

iii. Provide a summary of work to be completed as part of the Vista at Creekside 
Development to complete the floodplain adjustment. 

 
4. Lots and buildings located within the existing regulatory floodplain boundary cannot be developed until 

the floodplain adjustment is completed, a FEMA LOMR is obtained, and the Village Zoning Map has 
been amended.  A map showing the effected lots / buildings shall be provided for concurrence and 
understanding between the Village and Developer. 

 
Grading / Storm Water Management 
 

5. Large-scale grading and erosion control plan(s) were not submitted and not reviewed.  Submit in the 
next submittal for review. 
 

6. The storm water management is using the correct peak discharge and water quality standard 
requirements.  A detailed review will be completed with the grading plan review.  Show all offsite 
drainage areas (complete limits) in the post-developed condition drainage map. 
 

7. Ponds are required to have aerators / fountains.  Include in plans. 
 

8. Provide pond cross-sections for each pond. 
 

9. Storm water easement(s) and maintenance agreement provisions are required for the private storm 
water retention basins and storm sewer facilities. 
 

10. Earthwork calculations shall be provided with the engineer’s estimate of the amount of import or export 
of fill needed for the site grading plan. 

 
Roadway 
 

11. Provide a detailed sidewalk plan for the new and existing development.  Additional survey pick-up is 
required to show existing utilities, topography, driveways, street trees, etc.  
 

12. Provide a geotechnical report, including geotechnical recommendations for the roadway design, bridge, 
and sanitary sewer access maintenance path.   Borings shall be performed in 500-foot intervals along 
the roadway, at the bridge location, along the sewer access path, and at pond locations. 
 

i. The sanitary access path shall be designed to support the a sanitary sewer Vac-Truck. 
 

13. Provide a street light plan. 
 

14. Provide a street signage plan or include information in the plans. 
 



P a g e  | 3 
Memo – Vista at Creekside 
December 6, 2018 
 

9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948.8951    Fax 262.925.6796   PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

 

15. Provide a street tree landscaping plan. Address tree removals and replanting, as may be needed, for 
the overall sidewalk plan. 
 

16. Provide roadway cross-sections. 
 

17. Provide a concrete joint layout plan or note in the plans to require submittal by the Contractor. 
 

18. Confirm that the entire project is being completed in 1 phase.  If phasing, is being proposed then show 
and design phasing limits for roadways, grading, and utilities. 

 
Public Sanitary Sewer and Water 
 

19. See plan mark up.  General alignment and sizing was reviewed. 
 

Private Sanitary Sewer and Water 
 

20. See plan mark up.  General concept layout was provided and reviewed. 
  

21. Private Access and Maintenance Easement(s) shall be provided along with a maintenance agreement 
provisions. 

 
General / Other 
 

22. A project construction and specification manual (project manual) shall be provided. 
 

23. We-energies gas and electric plans will need to be provided for review. 
 

24. Show and label applicable storm sewer easements on the plan(s). 
 
The engineering plans have been reviewed for conformance with generally accepted engineering practices and 
Village policies.  Although the data has been reviewed, the design engineer is responsible for the 
thoroughness and accuracy of plans and supplemental data and for their compliance with all state and local 
codes, ordinances, and procedures.  Modifications to the plans, etc. may be required should errors or changed 
conditions be found at a future date and as additional information is provided. 
 
Attachment:  Plan Mark Up 



CONSTRUCTION
MANAGER

VOPP ENG REVIEW
PLAN MARK UP

DECEMBER 6, 2018

NOTE: CONCEPTUAL PLAN
SUBMITTAL CURSORY REVIEW 

ADD NOTE:  EACH CONTRACTOR SHALL HAVE A COPY OF THE
VILLAGE APPROVED PLANS, PROJECT MANUAL, AND VILLAGE
CONSTRUCTION SPECIFICATIONS ON-SITE DURING TIMES OF
CONSTRUCTION.  THE CONSTRUCTION SPECIFICATIONS ARE
AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE CIVIL ENGINEERING PLANS.

DELETE
"DEPUTY"



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

344 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

200'

SCALE 1"=100'

100' 0' 100' 200'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 CO

N
CE

PT
U

AL
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

 (N
O

RT
H)

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

62
nd

 AV
EN

UE

90th STREET

62
nd

 A
VE

NU
E

90th STREET

90th PLACE

91st STREET

20 UNITS
20 UNITS

24 GARAGE
SPACES

24 GARAGESPACES

36' x 87'

OL
D 

GR
EE

N 
BA

Y 
RO

AD

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

DOG PARK

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
820

 U
N

IT
S

20
 U

N
IT

S

28
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

BASIN 1

BASIN 4

BASIN 5

BASIN 6

BASIN 3

BASIN 2

24
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

20
 U

N
IT

S

SHOW
EXISTING
HOUSE(S) AND
DRIVEWAYS

ADDRESS ACCESS
TO EXISTING
HOUSE.  ALSO
PROXIMITY TO
20-UNIT IS A
CONCERN.

MISSING
EXISTING
PRIVATE
ROADWAY
(SHOW)

SHOW ADACENT
BUILDIINGS/
STRUCTURES

SHOW BOTH EXISTING
AND PROPOSED
FLOODPLAIN LINES
THROUGH ENTIRE
DEVELOPMENT.DUMPSTER LOCATION IN

FRONT OF EXISTING
RESIDENCE? GET CD INPUT RE
LOCATION

SHOW/ LABEL
PROPOSED
SEWER
ACCESS PATH

IDENTIFY / LABEL
LINES.  ALSO
CARRY THROUGH
ENTIRE
DEVELOPMENT AS
APPLICABLE

SHOW  OLD
GREEN BAY
ROAD
ENTIRE
ROADWAY

SHOW
EXISTING
STRUCTURE
S AND
DRIVEWAYS

mfineour
Note



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

345 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

200'

SCALE 1"=100'

100' 0' 100' 200'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 CO

N
CE

PT
U

AL
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

 (S
O

U
TH

)
FO

R
CR

EE
KS

ID
E 

PP
, L

LC
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

OL
D 

GR
EE

N 
BA

Y 
RO

AD

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

90th PLACE

62nd COURT

63rd AVE

66th COURT

92nd PLACE

93rd STREET

BASIN 4

BASIN 5

BASIN 6

INSTALL SIDEWALK PER
VILLAGE DETAIL WHERE SHOWN

INSTALL SIDEWALK PER
VILLAGE DETAIL WHERE SHOWN

MORE DETAIL WILL NEED TO
BE PROVIDED FOR SIDEWALK: 
PLAN TO SHOW EXISTING
STREET TREES; UTILITIES;
STURUCTURES, ETC.

ADD MISSING
PRIVATE
ROADWAYS AND
ADJACENT
STURCTURES

IDENTIFY EXISTING
PARK AREA / SHOW
EXISTING PATH TO
PLAY AREA

SHOW ADJACENT
STRUCTURES/ PARKING
AREA, RETAINING WALL AND
REAR YARD LANDSCAPING. 
IS RETAINING WALL AND
LANDSCAPING 
ENCROACHING INTO LOT?

ADDRESS

SHOW EXISTING
DRAINAGE WAY;
EXISTING AND
PROPOSED FLOODPLAIN,
THROUGH ENTIRE
DEVELOPMENT

EXISTING CREEKSIDE
CROSSING CONDOMINIUM

DISCUSS ACCEPTABILITY
REGARDING  PROXIMITY TO
EXISTING MULTI-FAMILY
WITH CD

SHOW BRIDGE.  A DETAIL OF THE
SIDWALK ACROSS BRIDGE WILL
NEED TO BE PROVIDED.  ALSO, A
RAILING WILL NEED TO BE
PROVIDED ALONG THE BRIDGE
HEADWALL AND WINGWALLS



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

346 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

60'

SCALE 1"=30'

30' 0' 30' 60'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 M

U
LT

I-F
AM

IL
Y 

N
O

RT
H

DI
M

EN
SI

O
N

ED
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

24 GARAGE
SPACES

24 GARAGESPACES

20 UNITS

20 UNITS

20 UNITS

20 UNITS

DOG PARK

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

BASIN 1

BASIN 2

20
 U

N
IT

S

24
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

LABEL
PROPOSED
FLOODPLAIN
LINE

VERIFY THAT
FIRE TRUCK
CAN MAKE
THIS TURN

SITE DRIVE AND
PARKING AREAS
SHALL BE CURB AND
GUTTERED.  SHOW
AND LABEL C&G.FOUNTAIN

/AIRATOR
REQUIRED
(DEPICT AND
NOTE)

WILL DOG PARK BE
FENCED?  SHOW
FENCE LOCATION
AND INDICATE
FENCE STYLE /
HEIGHT / MATERIAL

CARRY
THROUGH
AND SHOW
PATH / LOT / 
SHOW TO
62ND IF
POSSIBLE

10 ft

DIMENSION PATH
TO PARK.
CONCRETE OR
ASPHALT?

SHOW
NORTH LOT
LINE

EXPAND VIEW LIMITS TO SHOW
ENTIRE CONDO AREA PROPERTY /
DOG PARK / SIDEWALK CROSSING

ETC.



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

347 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

60'

SCALE 1"=30'

30' 0' 30' 60'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 M

U
LT

I-F
AM

IL
Y 

W
ES

T
DI

M
EN

SI
O

N
ED

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN
FO

R
CR

EE
KS

ID
E 

PP
, L

LC
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

28 GARAGE
SPACES

91st STREET

20 UNITS

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

CLUBHOUSE

20 UNITS

BASIN 5

SHOW
ADJACENT /
NEARBY
STRUCTURE
S ETC.

ADDRESS
ACCESS TO
THIS LOT

DISCUSS PROXIMITY TO
20-UNIT AND DUMPSTER
LOCATIONS WITH CD

SHOW ADJACENT
DEVELOPMENT

SITE DRIVES AND
PARKING AREAS TO
BE CURB AND
GUTTERED.  SHOW
AND LABEL C&G.

EXTEND LIMITS TO
SHOW OLD GREEN BAY
ROAD ALONG
DEVELOPMENT AREA

LABEL /
IDENTIFY
LINES (TYP)

LABLEL ROW

SHOW / NOTE
POND
FOUTAIN /
AERATOR

THERE APPEARS TO BE A
25-FOOT EASMENT PER
PREVIOUS PROPERTY
SURVEYS.  VERIFY, SHOW IN
PLANS, AND ADDRESS



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

348 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

200'

SCALE 1"=100'

100' 0' 100' 200'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 M

AS
TE

R 
U

TI
LI

TY
 P

LA
N

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

62
nd

 AV
EN

UE

90th STREET

62
nd

 A
VE

NU
E

90th STREET

90th PLACE

91st STREET

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

24 GARAGE
SPACES

24 GARAGESPACES

CLUB
HOUSE

OL
D 

GR
EE

N 
BA

Y 
RO

AD

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

DOG PARK

UTILITY LEGEND

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

BASIN 1

BASIN 2

BASIN 3

BASIN 5

BASIN 6

BASIN 4

28
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

20
 U

N
IT

S

20
 U

N
IT

S

24
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

20
 U

N
IT

S

ROUTE WATER
AND SANITARY
AROUND BRIDGE
STURUCTURE

SHOW OLD GREEN
BAY ROAD.  HAS
SURVEY PICK UP
BEEN DONE ALONG
THIS ROUTE?

EXISTING 12"
WATER MAIN

&

&

kj

kj

kj

kj kj kj kj

kjkj kj

kj kj kj kj

kj kj kj kj

!

!

!

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

??

?

?
PROVIDE MORE
DETAILED SURVEY OF
WATER MAIN ROUTE. 
ROADWAY, EXISTING
UTILITES, ETC.

SHOW
MAINTENANCE
ACCESS PATH

PROVIDE MASTER SIDEWALK PLAN.  AS
PART OF THE PLAN MAINETENANCE
RESPOSIBILITES SHALL BE CLEARLY

NOTED /CODED REGARDING AREAS TO BE
MAINTAINED BY EACH ASSOCIATIONS VS.

INDIVIDUAL LOT OWNERS FRONTING
SIDEWALK



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

349 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

60'

SCALE 1"=30'

30' 0' 30' 60'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 M

U
LT

I-F
AM

IL
Y 

N
O

RT
H

M
AS

TE
R 

U
TI

LI
LT

Y 
PL

AN
FO

R
CR

EE
KS

ID
E 

PP
, L

LC
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

24 GARAGE
SPACES

24 GARAGESPACES

20 UNITS

20 UNITS

20 UNITS

20 UNITS

UTILITY LEGEND

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

BASIN 2

BASIN 1
24

 G
AR

AG
E

SP
AC

ES

20
 U

N
IT

S

PROVIDE
SAMPLING
MANHOLE

PRIVATE ACCESS AND
MAINTENANCE
EASEMENT(S) WILL NEED
TO BE PROVIDED OVER
THE PRIVATE SANITARY
AND WATER SERVICE
MAINS



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3410 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

60'

SCALE 1"=30'

30' 0' 30' 60'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 M

U
LT

I-F
AM

IL
Y 

CE
N

TE
R

M
AS

TE
R 

U
TI

LI
LT

Y 
PL

AN
FO

R
CR

EE
KS

ID
E 

PP
, L

LC
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

28 GARAGE
SPACES

91st STREET

20 UNITS

UTILITY LEGEND

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

CLUBHOUSE

20 UNITS

BASIN 5
SAMPLING
MH'S
REQUIRED.
COORDINATE
WITH DPW RE
LOCATION

ROOF DRAINS TO BE CONNECTED TO THE
INTERNAL STORM SEWER SYSTEM;  SHOW

AND NOTE



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3411 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

200'

SCALE 1"=100'

100' 0' 100' 200'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SI

TE
 G

RA
DI

N
G,

 D
RA

IN
AG

E 
&

 E
RO

SI
O

N
CO

N
TR

O
L 

PL
AN

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

62
nd

 AV
EN

UE

90th STREET

62
nd

 A
VE

NU
E

90th STREET

90th PLACE

91st STREET

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

24 GARAGE
SPACES

24 GARAGESPACES

OL
D 

GR
EE

N 
BA

Y 
RO

AD

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

DOG PARK

PROPOSED 100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN

75' SHORELAND
SETBACK

BASIN 1

BASIN 4

BASIN 5

EXISTING SPOIL PILES SHALL BE
REMOVED OR INCORPORATED

INTO THE EARTHWORK

8' x 15' x 1.5'

8' x 15' x 1.5'

8' x 15' x 1.5'

8' x 15' x 1.5'

8' x 15' x 1.5'

TRIBUTARY TO JEROME CREEK

BASIN 6

INSTALL FLOOD CONTROL
STRUCTURE PER DETAIL

INSTALL 10'-WIDE
GRAVEL ACCESS ROAD

SITE GRADING & EROSION CONTROL LEGEND

1
29

UTILITY NOTE
EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY
AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL INCLUSIVE.
CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE
AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY
FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE
THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL “DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY
CONSTRUCTION. IS

S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

REFERENCES
EROSION CONTROL, EARTHWORK, SITE GRADING AND PAVEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
"STATE OF WISCONSIN, STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION", 2019 EDITION, HEREIN
REFERRED TO AS THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS".

EROSION CONTROL
ALL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES AND DEVICES SHALL BE INSPECTED BY THE CONTRACTOR AS REQUIRED IN
THE WISCONSIN ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (SPS 360.21) AND MAINTAINED PER SPS 360.22:

1.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CHECK THE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES FOR MAINTENANCE NEEDS AT ALL
THE FOLLOWING INTERVALS UNTIL THE SITE IS STABILIZED:

     (A)   AT LEAST WEEKLY.
(B)   WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER A RAINFALL EVENT OF 0.5 INCHES OR GREATER.  A RAINFALL EVENT SHALL BE CONSIDERED
TO BE THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF RAINFALL RECORDED IN ANY CONTINUOUS 24-HOUR PERIOD.

2.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN A MONITORING RECORD WHEN THE LAND DISTURBING CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY
INVOLVES ONE OR MORE ACRES.  THE MONITORING RECORD SHALL CONTAIN AT LEAST THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:
(A)   THE CONDITION OF THE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES AT THE INTERVALS SPECIFIED ABOVE.
(B)   A DESCRIPTION OF THE MAINTENANCE CONDUCTED TO REPAIR OR REPLACE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL
PRACTICES.

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL INSPECTIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS MAY BE CONDUCTED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF
SAFETY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE OR THEIR AUTHORIZED AGENTS DURING AND
AFTER THE CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT.

ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES SHALL BE INSTALLED PRIOR TO COMMENCING EARTH DISTURBING ACTIVITIES.
CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES UNTIL THE SITE HAS ESTABLISHED A VEGETATIVE COVER
AND IS STABILIZED.  ADDITIONAL EROSION CONTROL MAY BE REQUIRED BY THE OWNER, ENGINEER OR MUNICIPALITY TO
MEET FIELD CONDITIONS.

INSTALL SILT FENCE PER SECTION 628 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS" AND WDNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1056 AT THE
LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE PLAN.  ERECT SILT FENCE PRIOR TO STARTING A CONSTRUCTION OPERATION THAT MIGHT CAUSE
SEDIMENTATION OR SILTATION AT THE SITE OF THE PROPOSED SILT FENCE.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
INSTALLATION, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL OF ALL REQUIRED SILT FENCE MATERIAL.

ALL PROPOSED STORM SEWER STRUCTURES AND ADJACENT EXISTING STORM INLETS SHALL HAVE A LAYER OF GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC (TYPE "FF") INSTALLED BETWEEN THE FRAME & GRATE TO PREVENT SEDIMENT OR SILT FROM ENTERING THE SYSTEM.
THE FILTER FABRIC SHALL BE INSPECTED BY THE CONTRACTOR AND REPLACED IF NECESSARY EVERY 14 DAYS AND AFTER
EACH RAINFALL.

A MINIMUM 18' WIDE X 50' LONG TRACKING PAD (3-6 INCH STONE) SHALL BE INSTALLED AT THE ENTRANCE TO THE SITE (AS
SHOWN) TO PREVENT SOIL FROM BEING TRACKED ONTO ADJACENT PAVEMENTS AND PUBLIC ROADS.  INSTALLATION AND
MAINTENANCE OF THE TRACKING PAD SHALL BE PERFORMED ACCORDING TO WDNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1057. ALL
TRACKED SOIL FROM THE CONSTRUCTION SITE SHALL BE COLLECTED FROM PAVED STREETS AT THE END OF EACH WORKING
DAY.  PERIODIC STREET SWEEPING SHALL BE CONDUCTED BY THE CONTRACTOR TO KEEP THE PUBLIC AND/OR PRIVATE
ROADWAYS FREE OF DUST AND DIRT.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR CONTROLLING WIND EROSION (DUST) DURING CONSTRUCTION AT HIS/HER EXPENSE
(WHEN NECESSARY OR AS REQUIRED BY LOCAL INSPECTORS).

SITE GRADING & SUB-GRADE PREPARATION
ALL EXISTING TOPSOIL AND OTHER NON-STRUCTURAL MATERIAL WITHIN THE PROPOSED BUILDING PADS, PAVEMENT
SECTIONS AND STRUCTURAL FILL AREAS SHALL BE STRIPPED AND STOCKPILED AT A LOCATION DETERMINED BY THE GENERAL
CONTRACTOR AND OWNER.

EXCAVATE, GRADE & SHAPE SUBGRADE TO THE LINES AND GRADES SHOWN ON THE PLANS. SEE TYPICAL SECTIONS FOR
PAVEMENT THICKNESS AND MATERIALS. PREPARE AND COMPACT SUBGRADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GEOTECHNICAL
REPORT.

UPON COMPLETION OF THE GRADING AND COMPACTION OF THE SUBGRADE, A PROOF ROLL SHALL BE CONDUCTED BY THE
CONTRACTOR ON ALL SUBGRADES TO RECEIVE DENSE AGGREGATE BASE COURSE.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A
FULLY LOADED QUAD-AXLE TRUCK (18 TON MINIMUM LOAD) TO PERFORM THE PROOF ROLL.  CONTRACTOR SHALL
COORDINATE THE PROOF ROLL WITH THE OWNER OR HIS REPRESENTATIVES TO ENSURE THEY ARE PRESENT.

TEMPORARY SEEDING IS REQUIRED FOR ALL STOCKPILES AND OTHER EXPOSED LAND AREAS IF NOT UTILIZED WITHIN 30 DAYS.
AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PAVEMENT WORK, RE-SPREAD SALVAGED TOPSOIL TO PROVIDE A MINIMUM SIX-INCH (6") LAYER
IN ALL LANDSCAPE AND LAWN AREAS.  ALL DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE SEEDED, FERTILIZED AND MULCHED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH SECTIONS 627, 629 AND 630 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS" OR RESTORED PER SPECIFIC DETAILS IN THE SITE
LANDSCAPE PLAN.

AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND DISPOSE OF ALL ABANDONED, EXCESS, WASTE,
STOCKPILED AND SPOIL MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 205.3.12 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS". THIS WORK
SHALL BE DONE AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

3
27

2
29

5
29

6
29

BASIN 3

BASIN 2

36' x 87'

20
 U

N
IT

S

20
 U

N
IT

S

28
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

10' x 12' x 1.5'

24
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

20
 U

N
IT

S

GRADING NOT REVIEWED: REVIEW TO BE
COMPLETED UPON SUBMITTAL OF LARGE SCALE/

DETAIL GRADING PLAN SHEETS

EXTEND
SURVEY PICK
UP BEYOND
PROPERTY
(TYP)

EXTEND SURVEY PICK
UP (TYPICAL AROUND
PARIMETER)

REVIEW

ADDRESS / PROVIDE
INFORMATIOIN REGARDING
FLOODPLAIN
COMPENSATORY STORAGE
AS PLANNED BY ORIGINAL
DEVELOPMENT

CHANGE TO
12-FEET

PROVIDE ADEQUATE
TURNAROUND AREA

EXTEND
SURVEY PICK
UP. (FOR
GRADING AND
SIDEWALK
PURPOSES

EXTEND
TOPGRAPHIC
SURVEY. DEFINE
OFFSITE DRAINAGE
ROUTE



CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3412 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SA

N
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER
 &

 W
AT

ER
 M

AI
N

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
CI

RC
LE

ST
A 

0+
00

 T
O

 S
TA

 1
2+

00
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

91
ST

 ST
RE

ET

HYDRANT #1
STA. 1+67.58- 23.5' RT.
13.8' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX
ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 699.30
IE. 6" 691.07

HYDRANT #3
STA. 5+31.17 - 23.5' RT.
12.4' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX
ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 695.30
IE. 6" 686.74

SAN MH 7

SAN MH 6

SAN MH 5 SAN MH 4

SAN MH 3

SAN MH 2

SAN MH 1

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

HYDRANT #2
STA. 5+79.24 - 23.5' RT.

10.5' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX

ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 694.85
IE. 6" 686.11

PLACE 5' BOC
TYP  (21.5)

NOTE HYDRANT
BURY DEPTH (TYP)

VALVE EACH
LEG

ADDRESS
ALGINMENT
ADJUSTMENT



CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3413 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SA

N
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER
 &

 W
AT

ER
 M

AI
N

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
CI

RC
LE

ST
A 

11
+0

0 
TO

 S
TA

 2
3+

00
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

90TH STREET

HYDRANT #3
STA. 11+66.23 - 23.5' LT.

12.4' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX

ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 695.30
IE. 6" 686.74

HYDRANT #4
STA. 15+40.02 - 23.5' LT.

15.2' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX

ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 693.60
IE. 6" 684.54

HYDRANT #5
STA. 18+60.23 - 23.5' LT.

12.5' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX

ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 695.65
IE. 6" 687.07

EX. SAN MH 4

EX. SAN MH 5

EX. SAN MH 6

EX. SAN MH 7
EX. SAN MH 8

EX. SAN MH 9

EX. SAN MH 10

SAN MH 1

EXISTING SERVICES NOTE:
CONTRACTOR TO EXPOSE EXISTING 4" PVC SANITARY
LATERAL AND CONFIRM SUFFICIENT DEPTH FOR
BASEMENT SERVICE FOR LOTS 21-23. LATERAL SHALL
BE REPLACED IF NECESSARY.

WATER SERVICES FOR LOTS 21-23 SHALL BE PROVIDED
BY EXISTING 1 1/4" HDPE SERVICES. CONTRACTOR
SHALL CONFIRM SERVICES ARE FUNCTIONAL AND
REPLACE IF NECESSARY.  DUPLICATE WATER SERVICES
SHALL BE REMOVED.

EXISTING WATER SERVICES
TO BE REMOVED.

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

BASIN 3

HYDRANT #6
STA. 21+64.30 - 23.5' LT.
WITH G.V. AND BOX
CONNECT TO EXISTING
6" WATER SERVICE

ROUTE SEWER AND
WATER AROUND
BRIDGE; PROVIDE
LAYOUT FOR REVIEW
WITH GRADING PLAN

SHOW BRIDGE
STRUCTURE IN
PROFILE

HORIZONTAL BENDS? 
CLARIFY IS THIS BEING
DONE BY DEFLECTIONS?

PROVIDE SERVICE
BRANCH VALVE

WHY GRADE
BREAK? 
ELIMINATE IF
POSSIBLE

7 ft

72 ft

EXISTING 7.5' RISER AND
LATERAL PER RECORD
DRAWINGS...ARE YOU
USING THIS?  CLARIFY

EXISTING
LATERAL



CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3414 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SA

N
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER
 &

 W
AT

ER
 M

AI
N

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
CI

RC
LE

ST
A 

22
+0

0 
TO

 S
TA

 3
4+

00
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

90
TH

 P
LA

CE

90TH STREET

62ND AVENUE

EX. SAN MH 11

EX. SAN MH 10

EX. SAN MH 13EX. SAN MH 12

EX. SAN MH 14

SAN MH 20

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

SHOW
EXISTING
RISERS PER
RECORD
DRAWINGS



62ND AVENUE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3415 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SA

N
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER
 &

 W
AT

ER
 M

AI
N

FO
R

62
N

D 
AV

EN
U

E
ST

A 
99

+0
0 

TO
 S

TA
 1

04
+0

0
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

62ND AVENUE

HYDRANT #7
STA. 102+26.76 - 10.6' RT.
13.0' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 0.75%
WITH G.V. AND BOX
ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 694.85
IE. 6" 685.68

EX. SAN MH 20

SAN MH 20.1

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

EXTEND
SANITARY
FURTHER
NORTH. 

WHAT IS THE PLAN
FOR SUMP PUMPS
ON THES LOTS? 
DISCUSS / ADDRESS

PROVIDE SANITARY
LATERAL CLEAN OUT
(LATERAL OVER
100-FEET)



90TH PLACE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3416 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

62
ND

 AV
EN

UE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

90TH PLACE

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SA

N
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER
 &

 W
AT

ER
 M

AI
N

FO
R

90
TH

 P
LA

CE
ST

A 
19

9+
00

 T
O

 S
TA

 2
11

+0
0

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

HYDRANT #9
STA. 200+11.50

13.0' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX

ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 698.80
IE. 6" 688.61

SAN MH 20

SAN MH 21

HYDRANT #8
STA. 203+60.22 - 22.6' LT.

12.6' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX

ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 694.20
IE. 6" 685.40

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

686.73

686.40

36" RCP STORM
SEWER

8" WATER MAIN

1.67'

WATER MAIN OFFSET DETAIL

8" WATER MAIN

EXISTING HYDRANT TO BE
REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED

AT A PROPOSED LOCATION

EXISTING HYDRANT LEAD
AND VALVE TO BE REMOVED

DID 90TH PLACE SHIFT
FROM ORIGINAL
PLANS?  THIS
APPEARS TO BE THE
8-INCH TEE. ABANDON
MAIN PER DPW
REQUIRMENTS AND
PLUG AT TEE.

DON'T REUSE..NEW
HYDRANTS WITH
STORZ
CONNECTION
REQUIRED

VERIFY THAT THERE IS
NO SANITARY STUB
THAT WAS PLACED FOR
THE ORIGINAL 90TH
PLACE EXTENSION.

PROVIDE TEMPORARY
PLUG. TO REMAIN IN
PLACE UNTIL
AUTHORIZED TO BE
REMOVED (TYP)



90TH STREET

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3417 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SA

N
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER
 &

 W
AT

ER
 M

AI
N

FO
R

90
TH

 S
TR

EE
T

ST
A 

29
9+

00
 T

O
 S

TA
 3

11
+0

0
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

62
ND

 AV
EN

UE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
CI

RC
LE

90TH STREET

90TH STREET

HYDRANT #11
STA. 300+13.42 - 15.7' RT.

11.5' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX

ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 701.05
IE. 6" 690.77

SAN MH 30

HYDRANT #10
STA. 303+93.26 - 22.0' LT.

11.9' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX

ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 696.10
IE. 6" 687.46

SAN MH 31

EX. SAN MH 12

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

CORRECT TO
MATCH INVERT.
CHECK AND  VERIFY
IF THERE IS AN
EXISTING STUB

IS THERE A REASON
FOR THE GRADE
BREAK..ELIMINATE IF
POSSIBLE

VERIFY IF THERE IS AN
EXISTING SANITARY
STUB.

RECONFIGURE
TO ELIMINATE
BEND, IF
POSSIBLE

ELIMINATE
CONNECTION
TO STORM



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3418 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

91ST STREET

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SA

N
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER
 &

 W
AT

ER
 M

AI
N

FO
R

91
ST

 S
TR

EE
T

ST
A 

39
9+

00
 T

O
 S

TA
 4

11
+0

0
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
CI

RC
LE

91ST STREET

OLD GREEN BAY ROAD

HYDRANT #15
STA. 400+37.61 - 21.50' LT.
11.5' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX
ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 700.25
IE. 6" 691.30

SAN MH 43

HYDRANT #14
STA. 402+88.0- 21.50' LT.
11.5' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX
ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 697.65
IE. 6" 688.80

HYDRANT #13
STA. 406+31.48 - 21.50' LT.
8.9' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX
ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 692.85
IE. 6" 683.55 HYDRANT #12

STA. 409+47.05 - 21.50' LT.
10.5' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%

WITH G.V. AND BOX
ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 693.40

IE. 6" 684.66

SAN MH 42

SAN MH 41
SAN MH 40

SAN MH 3

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

BASIN 5

THE NEED TO PROVIDE
LATERALS TO "FUTURE"
LOTS TO THE NORTH TO
AVOID FUTURE ROAD
OPENINGS NEEDS TO BE
FURTHER REVIEWED.PROVIDE 12-INCH

WATER MAIN ALONG
OLD GREEN BAY AND
91ST ST

12-INCH

VALVE EACH
LEG

ADJUST TO SHIFT
WATER FARTHER
FROM CURB ON
CURVE



OLD GREEN BAY ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

3419 OF

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SA

N
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER
 &

 W
AT

ER
 M

AI
N

FO
R

O
LD

 G
RE

EN
 B

AY
 R

O
AD

ST
A 

49
9+

00
 T

O
 S

TA
 5

11
+0

0
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

91
ST

 S
TR

EE
T

HYDRANT #16
STA. 500+98.6- 28.1' RT.
13.2' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX
ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 700.30
IE. 6" 691.98

OLD GREEN BAY ROAD

HYDRANT #17
STA. 506+50.00- 28.1' RT.
13.2' - 6" HYD. LEAD @ 1.00%
WITH G.V. AND BOX
ELEV. CTR. LRG. CPL. 697.00
IE. 6" 688.49

PROVIDE MORE BASE
SURVEY DATA ALONG
ROUTE. ROADWAY,
DRIVEWAYS,
UTILITIES, ETC.

SHOW EXISTING
SANITARY LINE AND
LATERALS.  IDENTIFY
ANY LATERALS TO BE
ABANDONED



CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3422 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 RO

AD
W

AY
 &

 S
TO

RM
 S

EW
ER

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
CI

RC
LE

ST
A 

0+
00

 T
O

 S
TA

 1
2+

00
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

91
ST

 ST
RE

ET

MH 58.0

CB 57.0

CB 57.1 (48" DIA.)
RIM = 693.65

IE. 15" (NE) 689.72
133 LF - 15" RCP @ 0.25%

CB 57.2 (24" X 30")
STA. 3+53.81 - 18.5' RT.
F/L = 695.27
IE. 12" (SW) 690.17
33 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

MH 56.0

CB 55.0 (24 X 30)
STA 7+50.76 - 18.5' LT.

F/L = 691.32
IE. 18" (E) 687.89
IE. 15" (S) 687.99
IE. 12" (N) 688.09

27 LF - 18" RCP @ 0.25%

CB 55.1 (24 X 30)
STA. 7+58.54 - 18.5' LT.

F/L = 691.32
IE. 12" (S) 688.17

8 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

CB 51.1 (24 X 30)
STA 7+59.00 - 18.5' RT.
F/L = 691.32
IE. 12" (S) 687.88
8 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

CB 51.0 (24 X 30)
STA. 7+50.76 - 18.5' RT.

F/L = 691.32
IE. 24" (E) 687.60

IE. 24" (W) 687.70
IE. 12" (N) 687.80

240 LF - 24" RCP @ 0.25%

CB 54.1 (24 X 30)
STA 9+28.23 - 18.5 LT.
F/L = 692.12
IE. 12" (SE) 688.63
33 LF - 12" RCP @ 0.25%

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

MH 52.0

MH 53.0

CB 54.0

EW 50.0

BASIN 5

DIMENSION TAPER /
PROVIDE STATION OF
ROADWAY WIDTH
TRANSITION

EXISTING ASPHALT
PAVMENT SECTION

NEW ROADWAY:
COMPOSITE
PAVEMENT
SECTION

NOTE MATERIAL
(RCP) AND CLASS
(TYP)

PROVIDE PLAN/
PROFILE FOR ALL
PUBLIC STORM
SEGEMENTS.  ALSO,
SHOW AND LABEL
EASEMENTS. (TYP)

MH?

33
 ft

66
 ft



CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3423 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 RO

AD
W

AY
 &

 S
TO

RM
 S

EW
ER

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
CI

RC
LE

ST
A 

11
+0

0 
TO

 S
TA

 2
3+

00
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

91ST STREET

INSTALL BRIDGE
PER DETAILS ON
SHEET 31 OF 31

CB 42.1 (24" X 30")
STA. 16+05.68 - 18.5' LT.

F/L = 691.32
IE. 12" (NE) 687.27

8 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

CB 42.0 (24" X 30")
STA. 16+13.92 - 18.5' LT.
F/L = 691.32
IE. 12" (SE) 687.11
IE. 12" (SW) 687.21
33 LF - 12" RCP @ 0.50%

CB 41.1 (24" X 30")
STA. 16+05.68 = 18.5' RT.

F/L = 691.32
IE. 12" (NE) 687.02

8 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

CB 41.0 (24" X 30")
STA. 16+13.92 - 18.5' RT.
F/L = 691.32
IE. 15" (SE) 686.84
IE. 12" (NW) 686.94
IE. 12" (SW) 686.94
68 LF - 15" RCP @ 0.50%

EW 40.0

EW 10.0

MH 11.0 (60" DIA.)
RIM = 691.20

IE. 30" (W) 686.48
IE. 24" (E) 686.6±

264 LF - 30" RCP @ 0.18%

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

BASIN 3

SHOW BRIDGE
IN PROFILE

PROVIDE UNDERDRAINS AT
ALL LOW POINTS (100-FEET
MIN); ADDITIONAL
UNDERDRAIN LOCATIIONS AND
LENGTHS MAY BE NEEDED
UPON REVIEW OF THE
GEOTECHNICAL REPORT



CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3424 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 RO

AD
W

AY
 &

 S
TO

RM
 S

EW
ER

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
CI

RC
LE

ST
A 

22
+0

0 
TO

 S
TA

 3
4+

00
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

90
TH

 P
LA

CE

90TH STREET

62ND AVENUE

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

RESET EXISTING
FRAME & GRATE

REPLACE EXISTING FRAME &
GRATE W/ NEENAH R-3067-C

FRAME AND GRATE

DEFINE ROAD SECTION
TRANSITIONS (I.E.
COMPOSITE PAVEMENT
VS EXISTING ASPHALT)
TYP). ASLO CLARIFY
ROADWAY WIDTH
TRANISTIONS

CROSSING TO
BE 5-FOOT
CONCRETE
SIDWALK
WITHIN ROW;
LOT 20

STREET TREE
CONFLICTS WILL NEED
TO BE DISCUSSED
AND ADDRESSED

PROPOSED NEW
SIDEWALK

NOTE / DEPICT
HANDICAP RAMPS
AND DETECTABLE
WARNING FIELDS,
WHERE NEEDED
(TYP)

33 ft

37
 ft

CURRENT
EXISTNG CURB
RETURNS SET
FOR 37' BOC?



62ND AVENUE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3425 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 RO

AD
W

AY
 &

 S
TO

RM
 S

EW
ER

FO
R

62
N

D 
AV

EN
U

E
ST

A 
22

+0
0 

TO
 S

TA
 3

4+
00

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

62ND AVENUE

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

62
N

D
   

   
A

V
E

N
U

E

62
N

D
   

   
AV

EN
U

E

89TH STREET

IS THERE A TERRACE
AREA PRIOR TO
SLOPING?  SLOPE 4:1?
FURTHER INFO
NEEDED. 

VILLAGE STAFF TO
DISCUSS IF CUL DE SAC
CAN BE AN ASPHALT
SECTION VS.
COMPOSITE SECTION

LABEL RADII

SHOW POTENTIAL ROADWAY
EXTENSION AND PLANNED
MODIFICATIONS IF EXTENDED.

IF ROADWAY EXTENDS TO
NORTH OR EAST; EVALUATE
AND ADDRESS  FUTURE
DRAINAGE FOR THIS ROAD
PORTION AND ADJACENT
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT IN
SWMP



90TH PLACE

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3426 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

62
ND

 AV
EN

UE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

90TH PLACE

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 RO

AD
W

AY
 &

 S
TO

RM
 S

EW
ER

FO
R

90
TH

 P
LA

CE
ST

A 
19

9+
00

 T
O

 S
TA

 2
11

+0
0

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

MH 36.0 (X" DIA.)
RIM = 693.60
IE. 30" (N) 687.73 (PROPOSED)
IE. 27" (E) 687.9± (EXISTING)
34 LF - 30" RCP @ 0.25%

MH 33.0 CB 35.1 (24" X 30")
STA. 203+43.35' - 16.5' RT.

F/L = 692.23
IE. 12" (E) 688.12

8 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

CB 35.0 (60" DIA)
F/L = 692.23

STA. 203+51.35 - 16.5' RT.
IE. 30" (N) 687.64
IE. 30" (S) 687.64
IE. 12" (W) 688.04

7 LF - 30" RCP @ 0.25%

MH 34.0

CB 34.1.1 (24" X 30")
STA. 203+43.35 - 16.5' LT.

F/L = 692.23
IE. 12" (E) 688.26

8 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

CB 34.1 (24" X 30")
STA. 203+51.35 - 16.5' LT.

F/L = 692.23
IE. 12" (S) 688.08

IE. 12" (W) 688.18
26 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

MH 32.0

CB 33.2 (48" DIA.)
RIM 691.75
IE. 15" (N) 687.77
194 LF - 15" RCP @ 0.25%

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

CB 33.1 (48" DIA.)
RIM 691.25

IE. 15" (S) 687.81
211 LF - 15" RCP @ 0.25%

RESET EXISTING
FRAME & GRATE

REPLACE EXISTING FRAME &
GRATE W/ NEENAH R-3067-C
FRAME AND GRATE

MH?



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3428 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

SCALES:
HORZ. 1"=40'
VERT. 1"=4'

91ST STREET

MDE
JEG

2014.0030.07

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 RO

AD
W

AY
 &

 S
TO

RM
 S

EW
ER

FO
R

91
ST

 S
TR

EE
T

ST
A 

39
9+

00
 T

O
 S

TA
 4

11
+0

0
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
CI

RC
LE

91ST STREET

OLD GREEN BAY ROAD

CB 64.1 (24" X 30")
STA. 403+50.00 - 16.5' LT.

F/L = 695.04
IE. 12" (S) 691.37

27 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

CB 61.1 (24" X 30")
STA. 407+58.11
F/L = 689.67
IE. 12" (W) 686.28
8 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

MH 64.0

CB 64.2 (24" X 30")
STA. 403+50.00 - 16.5' RT.
F/L 695.04
IE. 12" (W) 691.16
6 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

MH 63.0

MH 62.0

CB 62.1 (24" X 30")
STA. 407+50.00 - 16.5' LT.

F/L = 689.67
IE. 12" (S) 686.19
IE. 12" (E) 686.29

27 LF - 12" RCP @ 0.25%

CB 62.1.1 (24" X 30")
STA. 407+57.89 - 16.5' LT.
F/L = 689.67
IE. 12" (W) 686.37
8 LF - 12" RCP @ 1.00%

MH 61.0 (24" X 30")
STA. 407+50.00 - 16.5' RT.

F/L = 689.67
IE. 18" (S) 686.10
IE. 18" (N) 686.10
IE. 12" (E) 686.20

40 LF - 18" RCP @ 0.25%

EW 60.0

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

BASIN 5

ACCELL/ DECELL TAPERS
REQUIRED.  SHOW THE ENTIRE
OLD GREEN BAY ROAD

IS THERE AN
EXISTING
ROAD DITCH /
DRAINAGE TO
ADDRESS?

STORM SUMP LATERAL MAIN
MAY NEED TO BE EXTENDED.
 TO BE FURTHER REVIEWED.



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3432 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 TY

PI
CA

L 
SE

CT
IO

N
S 

&
CO

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

 D
ET

AI
LS

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

REDUCE TO 4"
MAX SPACING;
CONSIDER CONE
TRASH RACK



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3434 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 TY

PI
CA

L 
SE

CT
IO

N
S 

&
CO

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

 D
ET

AI
LS

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

PROVIDE
RAILINGS ON
HEADWALL AND
WINGWALLS. 
POWDER
COATED
BLACK. SEE
ATTACHED



BRIDGE BID ITEM SHALL INCLUDE

POWDER COATED BLACK AND
AND CONFIRMED BY THE OWNER.

10 OF BR 10

RAILING
ATTACHMENT



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

344 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

200'

SCALE 1"=100'

100' 0' 100' 200'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 CO

N
CE

PT
U

AL
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

 (N
O

RT
H)

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

62
nd

 AV
EN

UE

90th STREET

62
nd

 A
VE

NU
E

90th STREET

90th PLACE

91st STREET

20 UNITS
20 UNITS

24 GARAGE
SPACES

24 GARAGESPACES

36' x 87'

OL
D 

GR
EE

N 
BA

Y 
RO

AD

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

DOG PARK

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
820

 U
N

IT
S

20
 U

N
IT

S

28
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

BASIN 1

BASIN 4

BASIN 5

BASIN 6

BASIN 3

BASIN 2

24
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

20
 U

N
IT

S

12
-4

-1
8

RE
VI

SE
D 

PE
R 

VI
LL

AG
E 

CO
M

M
EN

TS
JJ

C
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,088 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,580 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,265 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25,694 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,244 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,623 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
23,540 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20,975 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20,536 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,003 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,836 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,165 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,195 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
22,723 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,001 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,821 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
19,939 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,936 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,511 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,825 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,509 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,919 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,447 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,786 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,170 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
19,164 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,240 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,971 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,742 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,344 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
17,539 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
818,322 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
439,547 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,048 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,906 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,180 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,772 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,522 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,864 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,744 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,168 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,721 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,089 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,020 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,748 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,021 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
97,856 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
439,547 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
329,241 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
183,652 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7:29:36 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Tuesday, December 04, 2018

pherrick
Polygon

pherrick
Callout
Align lot lines

pherrick
Polygon

pherrick
Callout
Lots need to be adjusted to allow for an outlot to be located south of Lot 39 to allow for the retaining wall and land surrounding the 4 unit to be  maintained.  The exact size of the outlot will be determined when additional information is provided.

pherrick
Callout
label as clubhouse and show all setbacks.

pherrick
Callout
The setback for the buildings along 91st Street shall be a minimum of 40 feet from back of curb since the right-of-way is greaters than 66 feet.  Show setback from the back of the curb and from the property line.

pherrick
Callout
This is not accetpable--by moving the building and parking lots further north this will be moved further north. Also remove dumpster.

pherrick
Rectangle

pherrick
Rectangle

pherrick
Rectangle

pherrick
Rectangle

pherrick
Rectangle

pherrick
Callout
a 3 foot undulating berm will be required with 6'8' Austrian pines staggered on the berm or a 6 foot high privacy fence shall be installed.

pherrick
Callout
Consider buying this house that improvements encroach on your property.

pherrick
Text Box
On all courner lots show the no driveway access requirements--and note 100 feet from center line of driveway to center line of intersection.Also show no dirvet driveway access to Creekside Circle for lots 1, 10, 11, 18-20.

pherrick
Polygon

pherrick
Callout
this is not acceptable.  One entrance to creekside circle will be allowed.  It can be a blvc. entrance however, only one way in and one way out.  Maximum opening is 35 feet

pherrick
Line

pherrick
Text Box
relocate dumpster

pherrick
Callout
remove cross through here and add parking

pherrick
Callout
show setback to wetlands from back of curb--if less than 25 feet this will be included in the PUD.

pherrick
Callout
what is this line--note on the plans

pherrick
Callout
show setback to wetlands from back of curb--if less than 25 feet this will be included in the PUD.

pherrick
Callout
Club house seback shall be minium of 50 feet from property line adjacent to Old Green Bay Rd.

pherrick
Line

pherrick
Text Box
CD Comments 1-11-19



 

 

 

 

8044 88th Avenue  Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2015  Phone 262.694.8027  Fax 262.697.1901  pleasantprairiewi.gov 

 

Office of the Chief of Fire & Rescue  
Craig Roepke 

 
 
 

VILLAGE STAFF MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director 

FROM:  Craig Roepke, Chief Fire & Rescue 

CC:  Peggy Herrick, Assistant Planner, Community Development 

SUBJECT: Review of Vista at Creekside Concept Plan 

Trakit/Permit#: DEV1811-005 

DATE:  January 15, 2019 

 

These are initial comments for the Conceptual Plan received for Vista at Creekside Concept Plan. The plans et is 
dated 12/4/2018. 

 

The Fire & Rescue Department have the following comments regarding the above project. 

1. Each multi-tenant building/project shall be its own review. 

2. The shared Fire FDCs as depicted sheet 9 of 34 (Multi-tenant North) are acceptable. 

3. Discuss concern for single entry access on all North multi-tenant drives. Removing or changing the 
configuration of the parking spaces at the end of the garage spaces would allow for a turn around and 
dual access. 

4. Discuss adding additional shared hydrant at each end of the garage space as shown below. (contingent on 
#3) 

5. The conceptual FDC location for Multi-tenant South depicted on sheet 10 of 34 may require additional 
discussion as to the ability to indent or create a small pull-off area so that the driveway is still passable by 
other apparatus. 

6. In each multi-tenant presented, please confirm that the riser room access is towards the FDC location. 
(Example where the riser room would be on the opposite side of the incoming water line) 

7. Confirm discussions held as to passable access road requirement while initial construction is in progress 
on both the North and South multi-tenant locations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Review of conceptual plan for Vista at Creekside 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

 

Add hydrant at each end 



pherrick
Callout
show these roof a minimum of 5/12 pitch (6/12 is preferred if works with roof lines)

pherrick
Line

pherrick
Line

pherrick
Callout
Provide more shack shingles a further on all the peaked elements on the north and south elevations.

pherrick
Line

pherrick
Callout
add brick on both east and west elevations

pherrick
Line

pherrick
Text Box
When providing elevations remove the interior views through the windows so that the window details can be seen



pherrick
Callout
Add a brick base a minimum of 3 feet from grade on all four building sides

pherrick
Line

pherrick
Line

pherrick
Callout
Add some additional detail on this side--Option add a vertical siding in the darker color 

pherrick
Rectangle

pherrick
Text Box
If the garage doors are proposed to be numbered, shown location on plans.

pherrick
Text Box
Show location of downspouts on all building which shall be interconnected to storm sewer system.

pherrick
Text Box
Show location of all light fixtures on the buildings and provide cut sheets.



!/"t/l'I 

Declaration of Restrictions, Covenants and Easements 

This Declaration of Restrictions, Covenants and Easements ("Declaration") is made by 
Creekside PP, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company ("Developer"). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Developer is the owner of the real property loca d in the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie, County of Kenosha, State of Wisconsin (hereinafter the 'Village"), known as 

Creekside, a subdivision; and ok~P ";,-m, 
WHEREAS, the Developer desires to/reekside~eribed on the attached Exhibit A, 

including Lots 1 through 45 and Outlots 1 through 3 as shown on the final plat, which is made a 
J,t.l' \ part hereof and described in Article IT of this Declaration ("Property"), to condit1ons, covenants, 
~ \. ""' restrictions, easements, liens and charges (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Covenants") set 
0-J~,o l forth in this Declaration, each and all of which is and are for the benefit of the Property, the 

(.... t ,/? Developer, the Village and for each owner thereof and shall pass with ownership of such Property, 
~ and each and every parcel and lot thereof, and shall apply to and bind the successors in interest 

f:Jf-r\ and any owner thereof; and 

,~o.CL 

r-l"'r ~ 
LDt~ 

o~ 
~ . 

WHEREAS, it is the Developer's intention to initially develop the Property into forty-three 
(43) single-family lots and two (2) multi-family areas) (0 4-fq1" "'J 5C..tt:f\ ( 1J) b"t1 l c.IJ llJJ ~f 

'" 0 a(lf r ~" ifs. DECLARATION 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Developer hereby declares that the Property is and shall be held, 
used, transfetTed, sold and conveyed subject to the Covenants hereinafter set forth. 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

The following words when used in this Declaration (unless the context shall prohibit) shall 
have the following meanjngs: 

1. 1 "Developer" shall mean Creekside PP, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability 
company, or any affiliate of Creekside PP, LLC who has been assigned the rights of the Developer 
as set forth hereunder. The "Developer" may also mean the Architectural Control Committee and 
vice versa, with respect to any required approval and review process under the Declaration. 

G1 \)t) +. f l\) ! 
_ Lot 2~ ~ SF 

(VO lot a ~JtUl J\+ 



mean and refer to Creekside Subdivision Homeowners 

1.3 "Property'' shall mean and refer to all existing properties as are subject to this 
Declaration. ~ 

1.4 "Common Areas" shall m ean Outlots 1 through 3,~n on the Plat. 

1.5 "Lot" shall mean and refer to Lots l through'!(® 

1.6 "Owner" shall mean and refer to the record owner, whether one or more persons or 
entities, of the fee simple title to any Lot; except that as to any Lot which is the subject of a land 
contract wherein the purchaser is in possession, the term "Owner" shall refer to such person instead 
of the vendor. 

1.7 "Member" shall mean and refer to al1 those Owners who are Members of the 
Association as provided in Article IV hereof. 

ARTICLE II 
PROPERTY SUBJECT TO THIS DECLARATION .l.lt "~ \ 

,/ ()1\ \(~' 
2.1 Existing Property. The Property, more particularly described on Exhibit A attached 

hereto as shown on the final plat, which is and shall be held, used, transfen-ed, sold, conveyed and 
occupied subject to this Declaration is located in Kenosha County, Wisconsin. The term "Existing 
Property" as used in this Declaration shall refer to a ll property which is subject to the provisions 
hereof. 

2 



ARTICLE III 
GENERAL PURPOSES AND CONDITIONS 

3. 1 General Purpose. The Property is subjected to this Declaration to insure the best 
use and the most appropriate development and improvement; to protect the Owners against such 
improper use of the Property as will depreciate the value thereof; to preserve, so far as practicable, 
the natural beauty of the Property; to provide for an entrance to the Property; to guard against 
erection of poorly designed or propo1t ioned structures, and structures built of improper or 
unsuitable materials; to guard against an excess of similar architectural styles and thereby avoid 
housing monotony, to obtain harmonious color schemes; to insure an appropriate development of 
the Prope1ty; to encourage and secure the erection of attractive, substantial homes, with appropriate 
locations on Lots; to prevent haphazard and inharmonious improvement of Lots; to secure and 
maintain the Village approved setbacks from street and adequate free space between structures as 
defined in the PUD for the Subdivision; to encourage, secure and maintain attractive and 
ha1monious landscaping of Lots and Common Areas; and in general to provide adequately for an 
appropti ate type and quality of improvement in the Property and thereby to enhance the value of 
investments made by purchasers of Lots. 

3.3 Land Use and Building Type. No Lot shall be used for any purpose except for 
s ingle-family residential purposes as permitted by the Village zoning ordinance and multi-family. 
buildings as shown. No building shall be erected, altered, placed, or permitted to remain on any 
Lot other than one single~family dwelling not exceeding two (2) stories or thirty-five (35) feet in 
heigh~nd a private attached garage. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, 
t]J.e-Oeveloper and its designee may use such Lots for purposes of building model homes open to 

"'- o.\./the public for inspection and/or sale subject to the requirements set forth herein; subject to Village 
~('~(\"\ , approval. 

\lll)L 3.4 Architectural Control. No building, driveway, deck, sidewalk, landscaping, or 
other structure or improvement of any type (including antennae of any size or shape, whether 
freestanding or attached to another structure) shall be commenced, erected, or maintained upon 
any Lot, nor shall any exterior addition or improvement to or change or alteration on any Lot 
(including without limitation, adding a deck, patio, or sidewalk, repainting or landscaping changes 
for existing homes for which plans have previously been approved) be made until the plans, 
spcl:ifi cations and plot plan showing the nature, kind, shape, height, materials, color and location 
of the same and the landscape layout described in section 3.4 hereof shall have been submitted to 
and approved in writi11g as to quality, materials, harmony of exterior design and location in relation 
to other structures and compliance with the provisions of this Declaration, by the Board of 
Directors of the Association, or by an Architectural Control Committee (hereinafter 'ACC") 
composed of three (3) representatives appointed by the Board (in either case hereinafter called the 
"Architectural Control Committee"). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, as long as the 
Developer owns one or more Lots the Developer reserves the right to carry out the functions of 
the ACC. No Owner shall request or obtain a building pennit for a Lot from the Village without 
first obtaining the written approval ofthe plans and specifications from the ACC. ln the event the 

3 



? 
• 

~approve or disapprove within tl1irty (30) days after the plans and specifications have 
een submitted to it, or if no suit to enjoin the addi6on, alteration, or change or to require the 

removal thereof has been commenced before one (l ) year from the date of completion thereof, 
then approval will not be required and this section will be deemed to have been ful ly complied 
with. The ACC shall have the sole discretion to determine which of the dwelling size requirements 
of th.is Declaration applies to a particular proposed dwelling and whether the same has been met. 
The provisions of this Declaration are minimum requirements and the Developer, or ACC, may in 
its discretion, require stricter standards or, conversely, may relax standards on a case by case basis 
if it reasonably determines that such modified standards are required for the benefit of the entire 
Property, provided such variance is not in conflict with the dedications and restrictive covenants 
running with the land as described on the final plat or the obligations imposed by this Declaration 
~-t::hln'TPfnn-the · gu.irements of the Village ordinances. Further, the Developer may require 
reasonable alterations to be made to any of the plans to be submitted under this Declaration and 

· all be binding upon each and every Owner. 

3.5 New Construction Only. No building shall be placed or pennitted to remain on any 
Lot other than buildings newly constructed on the Lot; no previously constructed dwelling or 
structures shall be relocated to or situated upon any Lot without the written approval of the ACC. 

3.6 Dwelling Size. No dwelling shall be erected on any Lot having a ground area within 
the petimeter of the main building, or at or above finish grade elevation (exclusive of garages, 
porches, patios, breezeways and similar additions), measured along the exterior walls, of less than 
the fo llowing areas: 

(a) Not less than 1,800 square feet for a one-story dwelling; 

(b) Not less than 2,000 square feet for a one and a half or two story dwelling 
with a minimum first floor area of l 000 square feet; 

(c) With respect to all other types of dwellings, not less than such areas, 
detennined by the ACC, as are consistent with the foregoing and with other 
provisions hereof. 

However, the ACC, in its sole discretion, reserves the right to make any deviation from the above 
requirements. 

3.7 Grading, Building, Location and Lot Area. 

(a) Any grading of a Lot must conform to the last approved Master Grading 
and Drainage Plans ("Grading Plans") on file with the Village. All Lots shall have setbacks 
from the front lot line and from the interior lot lines of distances determined by tJ1e Planned 

4 

- PJc~>t ' ~".Ji.(y ho\J yo"'- {.(rt etdd~.SJIAJ 
(Vlgf\0~/\ '/ bf ho~Jf/\' ~ W1 c. lt\I IA-htA.> "' co)ors? 



Unit Development (PUD) Zoning District Overlay for the Subdivision as approved by and 
on fil e with the Village. 

< 
(b) Within each set of building construction plans submitted to the ACC for 

~ , , \ ' approval, shall be a plat of survey showing the placement of the proposed dwelling with 
' l\Q the existing ground grade shown at all comers together with all easements as shown on lhe 

\ 
M.J final plat. Upon written petition of an Owner to the ACC and the Village Engineer, the 

\) l\ llr~ S · ACC, with the written approval of the Village Engineer, may make modifications to the 
('(.-~"'l'l- tlJ". final first floor grade of the proposed dwelling. The landscaping and drainage of the Lot 
,.l\Q,C, , r shall confonn to Grading Plans. 
.... +"$ 
l \cJa; ~f 

'-1( 
,~'f · 
~ 

(c) Each Owner shall be responsible for insuring that drainage from said 
Owner's Lot adheres to the existing drainage patterns as set forth in the Grading Plans and 
that the Owner's construction and other building activity does not interfere with or disrupt 
the existing or planned drainage patterns. The existing drainage pattern on a Lot shall not 
be changed, and no change to the drainage pattern on other lands within the Property shall 
be caused by an Owner which varies from the Grading plans as these plans are amended 
by the Developer from time to time, subject to Village approval. Minor changes from said 
Grading Plans, where these changes do not violate the purpose, spirit and intent of said 
Grading Plans, shall be reviewed and may if, for good and sufficient reasons, be approved 
by the ACC and the Village; in all other cases, the approved grades shall be strictly adhered 
to. Lot owners shall beheld responsible for any violation that will cause additional expense 
to the Developer or any other Owner to correct any grading problems. 

(d) Upon the approval of the building grades by the ACC, the applicant shall 
file the approved grades with the Vi!Jage for its review and approval prior to commencing 
any grading. Further, an as built grade survey shall be provided for review and approval 
by the Lot Owner prior to occupancy. 

(e) Any excess fill from excavations shall be hauled off site and disposed, at 
the Lot Owner's cost and in accordance with applicable Village Ordinances. 

(t) The setbacks for residences constructed on Lots that contain Village 
easements arc restricted from any encroachments, such as, but not limited to, rooflincs, 
bay/bow windows, architectural extensions and fireplaces into the setback areas. The 
easements are absolute in width. 

(g) The Village of Pleasant Prairie is not responsible for damage to landscaping 
that may be damaged or destroyed when accessing its easement rights to maintain 
infrastructure. 

5 



3.8 Completion. All construction of dwellings and other incidental structures shall be 
completed within one (1) year from date of issuance of building permit. Paving of driveways, 
construction of walkways, landscaping (except topsoil and grass) shall be completed within one 
(1) year from issuance of verbal occupancy from the Village under Section 370-13(B) of the Code 
of the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 

6 



11t( v o+~ ~ + I 

Easements/Dedicatio.ns/Obligations. Cf (( f( jj Jt 3.9 

(a) Eascm t's-General. Certain Easements affecting tbe Property are recorded 
on the final plat for · in the office of the Register of Deeds of Kenosha County, 
Wisconsin and as follows: 

(i) B ~ 
Each such Lot sha11 be subject to any easement, dedication, restiictive covenant, or 

any other restriction granted (and/or retained) by the Developer on such final plat or 
hereafter to be granted (and/or retained) by the Developer or its successors and assigns to 
the Village, or to the Association, or public or semi-public utility companies, for the 
e1·cction, construction and maintenance of all poles, wires, pipes and conduits for the 
transmission of electricity, telephone, cable TV and for other purposes, and for sewers, 
storm water drains, gas mains, water pipes and mains, and similar services, for performing 
any public or quasi-public uti lity functjon or for any other purpose that Developer or its 
successors and assigns may deem fit and proper for the improvement and benefit of the 
Property and for any other purpose as set forth in dedications and restrictive covenants on 
the final plat. The Owner of any Lot on which such easement area(s) are located may use 
such areas, together with the area between the roadway and their lot, for grass, plantings, 
driveways and other such uses as are described on the final plat and shall otherwise care 
for and maintain such area provided such uses shall not interfere with the improvements, 
their uses and purposes, and the uses and purposes of the Village; nor shall any 
improvements be placed within such areas without the prior written consent of the 
Developer, Village and/or any other party having an interest in the respective easement 
area. Notwithstanding the foregoing1 no such impediments or encroaclunents such as, but 
not limited to> roof overhangs, fireplaces, bay/bow windows or architectural projections, 
other than grass> may be located within any storm water drainage easement areas. 

(b) Setbacks. The minimum front or street setback, side yard, rear yard, 
wetland yard and on other such areas ("Setback Areas") are and shall be reserved for the 
use of nonexclusive easements for utiliUes service, in whole or in part, the Propc1ty or any 
Lot or Outlot located therein. By accepting title to a Lot and if not delineated on a final 
plat, each Owner hereby agrees that such Setback Areas may be subjected to easements for 
utility lines for elecbicity, sewer, water, gas, telephone, cable television, or other similar 
utilities. Within fifteen (15) days of written request therefor by the Developer, or, after 
creation of the Association as provided herein, each Owner, if necessary and if not 
previously obtained, shall grant specific easements (and cause their lenders to agree to a 
nondisturbance of such casements) upon such terms as may reasonably be requested. No 
stmcturcs or other improvements may be constructed in the Setback Areas except 
landscaping in accordance with approved landscaping p lans or as otherwise specifically 
pem1itted by the ACC and subject to any additional restrictions as set faith in the final plat. 

7 



~II-' Jt'~ ~v '~ J'o\tS 
1
· ,\~ 

• \ (~~ (.l:i ~~ ?~~I( 1)0~ ~~ 
\ti\\~ ~ ( c) Dedications Eascmcn and Covenants for Stormwater 

/ ~ ,\ ~ etention Areas an ublic Pedestrian Walkwa /Bike Path. he fee interest in 
y..V' the areas shown on the final pla ttllors-r;-2 an een eaicated, given, granted 

\/)~ and conveyed by the Developer to the Association. T hese OuUots are subject to the 

Outlots I and 3 are to be utilized by the Developer and the Association for stonn water 
(

easements, dedications and to the restrictive covenants imposed by the final plat. Further, 

retention ponds. Outlot 2 shalJ be transferred to the Association for open space and public~d 
~eaestr~ and maintenance access. The Developer and the Association lq 
shall be responsible for completing all related construction, installation, necessary repairs, {JI).!'/(.~ 
alterations, snow removal, and all required maintenance to these Outlots. No filling other .. JJ 
activity or condition detrimental to their function as stonnwater drainage facilities shall 0 V'f1n 
occur or exist within such Outlot or on the surrounding lands without the written approval 
of the Developer and the Village. From time to time in the Village's discretion, the Village 
shall have the right to inspect such areas. The obligations contained within this section and 
as imposed by the final plat shall run with the land, shall be binding upon the Developer, 
its successors, assigns and successors in title in their capacity as Owners and shall benefit 
and be enforceable by the Village, the Developer and the Association. The Developer, its 
successors, assigns, and successors in title thereof shall be relieved of any preservation, 
protection, or maintenance obligations they may have as Owners to the extent that the 
Association perfonns the required preservation, protection and maintenance functions to 

Hf" \} ('). the satisfaction of the Village. The Association and its Members shall be bound by the 
'j p tC>P"';.., j above mentioned covenants and such similar covenants as are contained in the final plat. 

b1 r .. 11a 4 

3 .10 Zoning Laws, Etc. In addition to the provisions contained within this Declaration, 
all Lots and improvements thereon shall be subject to Village ordinances, the PUD for the 
Subdivision as approved by the Village and applicable state and federal laws, as may be am ended 
from time to time (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Laws"). No Lot shall be further divided 
or combined without the approval of the Village except for lot line adjustments permitted under 
Village ordinances. The requirements under Village ordinances are not stated herein and, 
therefore, it shall be the sole responsibility of every Owner to understand and insure compliance 
with Village ordinances as the same may be amended from time to time. In the event of a conflict 
between the provisions of this Declaration and the Village ordinances and the Village ordinance is 
more strict than the provision contained herein, the Village ordinance shall control. Failure to 
mention a requirement, with respect to any Lot or other necessary approval in this Declaration, 
shall not imply that no such requirement exists with the Village and shall not constitute a waiver 
of such Village requirement and/or approval. 

3. t 1 Grading and Landscape Requirements. All plans for dwellings shall include a 
detailed grading and landscape plan which shall be subject to the approval of the ACC, shall be 
submitted in three (3) copies for approval prior to submission to the Village of the building plans 
for the dwelling and shall conform with the Grading and Landscape Standards. Such landscape 
plan shall include driveway, deck, patio, walkways and plantings such that a pleasing park-11ke 

8 

2 



appearance shall ultimately be accomplished in the Property and a uniform line of planting is 
avoided. Landscape planting for any dwelling as approved by the ACC shall be completed within 
six (6) months from the date of issuance of verbal occupancy from the Village under Section 370-
13(B) of the Code of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, except as set forth herein, and shall be properly 
maintained thereafter. In the event the grading or landscaping is not maintained properly, in the 
opinion of the ACC, upon notification, the Owner of the Lot shall take adequate measures to 
properly maintain the grading and landscaping. Refusal to comply with the maintenance 
requirement shall be considered a violation of this section 3 .11 of this Declaration. Any alterations 
to the approved landscape plan for a Lot shall be subject to the approval of the ACC. No trees, 
landscaping, or other plantings existing on a Lot, except those in the location of the proposed 
dwelling, patio, walkways and driveways, shall be altered or removed without prior written 
approval of the ACC. Each Owner shall be responsible for any necessary re-planting and other 
maintenance and care of the street trees abutting each respective Owner's Lot. Further, each 
Owner shall be responsible for repair, replacement as necessary and the clearing of snow and ice 
from the sidewalks adjacent to each respective Owner's Lot. 

3.12 Nuisances, Etc. No noxious or offensive activity shall be carried on upon any Lot 
nor shall anything be done thereon which may be or may become a nuisance to the neighborhood. 

(a) Trash, garbage, or other wastes shall not be kept except in sanitary 
containers and all such materials or other equipment for disposal of same shall be properly 
stored inside of garages and outside of public view. Outside incinerators, outdoor 
fireplaces and fire pits are not permitted. 

(b) No vehicle, truck, trailer, tent, shack, shed, garage, barn, or other 
outbuilding or living quarters of atemporary character shall be permitted on any Lot at any 
time. There shall be no outside parking of boats, buses, trailers, commercial advertising 
trucks, commercial vans or recreational type vehicles; such property must be stored in 
garages. No trucks, buses, or vehicles other than private passenger cars, station wagons, 
pickup trucks, passenger vans, or similar private vehicles shall be parked in private 
driveways or on any Lot for purposes other than in the normal course of construction or for 
services rendered to a dwelling or Lot. 

( c) No external antennae, including satellite dishes (excepting satellite dishes 
of not greater than 24" in diameter), television antenna or radio towers of any type for any 
purpose, shall be permitted on any Lot at any time without the prior written approval of the 
Architectural Control Committee. Cellular towers, HAM Radio antennae or other such 
antennae of any kind shall not be permitted. 

( d) Swimming, fishing, ice skating, canoeing or other boating activity shall be 
prohibited in Outlots. 

9 



• T+ "jl>-' µrM rt- ti£.M -'! oA ly '" tdJ 

( 
1"'<- , 14'{r,.r,JJ tWf 'Jtk ~" 

3.1 3 Accessory Structures. Accessory structures (other than decks attached to a r(,A.f 1 .iJ 
residence) may not be constructed. No storage shed or other accessory structure may be sfd.L,.., 
constructed on any lot at any time. I\ 
3.14 Animals. No animals, livestock, or poultry of any kind shall be raised, bred, or kept 
on any Lot, except that not more than a total of two dogs or cats, or as otherwise approved 
by the ACC may be kept in a manner which will not disturb the type and quality oflife and 
the enviromnent of the Property provided that no animals shall be kept, bred, or maintained 
for any commercial purposes. Dog runs, outside dog houses, or other such outside animal 
shelters are prohibited. Electric undergrow1d fences are pennittcd. 

3.15 Garages; Parking and Concrete Driveway Approaches. 

(a) Each Single Family Lot shall have a private, attached, enclosed garage for 
onsite storage of not less than 2 and not more than 3 stalls for each one (1) family dwelling 
built upon such Lot and shall be connected to the street by a properly surfaced concrete, 
paver, stone, or brick driveway (such driveway shall be installed and completed within one 
[1 ] year from the date of issuance of any verbal occupancy permit). 

(b) The location of garage door(s), whether front or side entry, and the location 
of any driveway and its intersection with the street shall be subject to the approval of the 

ACC. 5~ rtH'ivtfrd Gll{(}j Jil pto~/M I fy ffJ 
3.16 Roofing Material and Construction. (JOO') /t'\ik.fXt.ntlf.J• 

(a) All dwellings proposed to be erected, altered, or modified shall specify on 
the construction plans roofing materials acceptable in quality to the ACC and the 
construction shall be carried out with such roofing material as approved by the ACC. Metal 
roofs, as the primary roofing mate1ial are prohibited in residential areas. 

(b) 
the ACC. 

All dwellings shall have minimum roof pitches of 6:12 or as approved by 

fCAJ.,(,J - ,Jo {f t\l!J Shq l l 
---;-(X r,.... 1 llrd .., b .... ~A-) 

rrr ( ll J1 '4 c '' 'Le · 

10 Poo( s 1 
• 

v1( 
CfCI\ 

o\\)\. J>> 



3.17 Exterior Building Materials and Dwelling Quality. 

(a) All dwellings proposed to be erected, altered, or modified shall, on the 
construction plans, denote exterior building materiaJ(s) proposed to be used; i.e.: brick, 
stone, wood, cement board, hardi-plank, vinyl, or insulated aluminum siding or other 
simjlar materials acceptable to the ACC and the construction shall be carried out with the 
material(s) as approved by the ACC. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the front facade of 
each residence shall contain not less than 30 % of brick or stone and each side of th~ 
residence shall contain no less than two (2) windows. VJW'Sftc ,{ t>J11\.d ~ 

(b) The design, layout and exterior appearance of each dwelling proposed to be 
erected, altered, or modified shall be such that, in the opinion of the ACC at the time of 
approving of the building plans, the dwelling will be of a high quality and will have no 
substantial adverse effect upon property values. 

(c) The proposed color schemes for a dwelling to be erected, altered, modified, 
or repainted with a new color scheme shall be submitted to the ACC for approvaJ prior to 
painting or staining. It shall be the aim of the ACC to harmonize colors for not only the 
dwelling proposed, but to consider the effect of these colors and materials as they relate to 
other dwellings. No garish or fluorescent colors shall be permitted. 

(d) All color schemes, including the color of siding, roof, brick, or stone 
samples must be submitted for approval before installation on the dwelling. 

ARTICLE IV 
MEMBERSHrP AND VOTING RlGHTS 

4.1 Membership and Voting Rights. Each Owner shall be a Member of the 
Association. Such Membership shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership 
of a Lot. Every Member of the Association shall have one ( l) vote in the Association for each Lot 
owned by the Member. When more than one (1) person or entity holds an interest in a Lot, the 
vote shall be exercised as they themselves shall detennine. Any Member who is delinquent in the 
payment of charges, assessments and special assessments charged to or levied against his Lot shall 
not be entitled to vote until all of such chaJges and assessments have been paid. Members shall 
vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by the Member. No proxy shall be valid after six 
(6) months from the date of its execution. 

4.2 Directors. 

(a) Until the first meeting of the Members or until the Developer designates 
otherwise, the initial Board of Directors named in the Articles of Incorporation of the 
Association shall serve as the Board of Directors. 

11 



(b) When the Developer no longer owns one (1) or more Lots, or at the end of 
fifteen (15) years from the date of sale of the first Lot sold by the Developer (whichever 
occurs first), the Developer shall cause the Directors designated by the Developer to resign 
effective as of the first annual meeting of Members described in the Bylaws of the 
Association. The Board of Directors thereafter consisting of three (3) members shall be 
elected by the Members at each annual meeting of Members. The Members of such elected 
Board of Directors shall serve for staggered terms of three (3) years, or until their respective 
successors shall have been elected by the Members. The members of the Board of 
Directors shall not be entitled to any compensation for their services as members. 

ARTICLEV 
PROPERTY RIGHTS IN THECOMMON AREAS 

5 .1 Owner's Easement of Enjoyment. Subject to the provisions herein, every Owner 
shall have a right and easement of benefit and/or enjoyment in any Common Areas acquired by 
the Association which shall be appurtenant to and shall pass with the title to every Lot. 

5.2 Title to and Maintenance of Outlots. Title to Outlots shall be conveyed to the 
Association by quit claim deed from the Developer. Members shall have the rights and obligations 
imposed by this Declaration with respect to such Common Areas. The Association shall be 
responsible for the due care and maintenance of all such Outlots as well as the payment of real 
estate taxes levied against such Outlots by the local assessing authority. 

5.3 Extent of Owner's Easements. The rights and easements of benefit and/or 
enjoyment created hereby shall be subject to the following: 

(a) The right of the Association, but subject to the prior written approval of the 
Village to dedicate or transfer all or any part of any Common Areas to any public agency, 
authority, or utility for such purposes and subject to such conditions as may be agreed to 
by the Board of Directors; and 

(b) The right of the Association, but subject to prior written approval of the 
Village, to mortgage any or all of the Common Areas and facilities constructed on the 
Common Areas for the purposes of constructing or maintaining improvements or repair to 
Association land or facilities pursuant to approval of the Board of Directors. 

5.4 Damage or Destruction of Common Areas by Owner. In the event any Common 
Area or any portion of the water, drainage, or sanitary sewer systems servicing the Property is 
damaged or destroyed by an Owner or any of his guests, tenants, licensees, agents, or members of 
his family, such Owner does hereby authorize the Association or the Village to repair said damaged 
areas; the Association or the Village shall repair said damaged area in a good workmanlike manner 
in conformance with the original plans and specifications of the area involved, or as the area may 

12 



have been modified or altered subsequently by the Association in the discretion of the Association 
but subject to Village approval. The amount necessary for such repairs, together with twenty-five 
percent (25%) for overhead, shall be a special assessment upon the Lot of said Owner and shall 
accrue interest at the annual rate of eighteen percent (18%) unless paid in full within fifteen (15) 
days after notice to pay. Any such damage not caused by an Owner shall be the responsibility of 
the Association. 

5.5 Right to Enter and Maintain. The Developer and the Association are hereby granted 
an easement and, consequently, shall have the right to enter upon any Outlot and/or Lot, at 
reasonable notice to the Owner, for the purpose of repairing, maintaining, renewing, or 
reconstructing any utilities, facilities, retention basin areas, drainage systems, sewer and water 
systems, impoundments or other improvements which benefit other Outlots or Lots. If such Lot 
contains public utilities or facilities having an area-wide benefit which are maintained by the 
Village, the Village may, maintain such facilities in good working order and appearance, enter 
upon any Lot in order to repair, renew, reconstruct, or maintain such facilities or utilities and may 
assess the cost, if such cost is not traditionally assumed by the Village and/or prior to acceptance 
of such public improvements, to the Owners. No prior written notification shall be required for 
emergency repairs. 

5.6 Disclaimer. The Developer shall convey the above mentioned Outlots to the 
Association "as is" and without warranty, express or implied, of condition, quality of construction, 
fitness for a particular use or otherwise. The Association shall be responsible for obtaining 
adequate liability insurance for the Common Areas. The Developer shall have no liability for 
damage or injury to any persons or property arising from the existence or use of the Common 
Areas. The Association shall indemnify and hold the Developer harmless against any and all 
claims relating to the Common Areas. 

ARTICLE VI 
COVENANT FOR ASSESSMENTS 

6.1 Creation of the Lien and Personal Obligation of Assessments. The Developer 
hereby covenants and each Owner of any Lot by acceptance of the deed thereof, whether or not it 
shall be so expressed in such deed, is deemed to covenant, assume and agree to pay to the 
Association (1) annual general assessments or charges; (2) special assessments for capital 
improvements and repairs to the Common Areas; (3) special assessments for exterior maintenance 
to Lots and repairs to Common Areas; and ( 4) other special assessments as provided herein. All 
such assessments, together with interest thereon and costs of collection thereof, including actual 
attorney's fees incurred by the Developer or the Association, as the case may be, shall be (a) a 
charge on the land and a continuing lien upon the Lot against which such assessment is made and 
(b) the personal obligation of the person who was the Owner of such property at the time of the 
assessment. 

13 



Notwithstanding any other provision in this Declaration to the contrary, the Developer shall 
not be liable to the Association for the assessments provided for in this Article VI of the 
Declaration, for any Lot owned by the Developer in the Subdivision. Every subsequent Owner, 
who has purchased a Lot from the Developer or any other Owner, shall be subject to said 
assessment and shall pay the same or prorated amount in the year of closing to the Association. 
Any deficiency may be assessed against all of the Owners in the form of a special assessment 
under this Article VI. 

6.2 Annual General Assessment. 

(a) Purpose of Assessment. The annual general assessment levied by the 
Association each year shall be used exclusively to promote the health, safety and welfare 
of the Owners and, in particular, for the improvement, construction, maintenance, policing, 
preservation and operation of the Common Areas, in accordance with the requirements set 
forth herein and those obligations and restrictive covenants set forth on the final plat 
including, but not limited to, the cost of labor, equipment, materials, insurance, 
management and supervision thereof and fees paid for auditing the books of the 
Association, costs of monthly electric costs and maintenance charges related to street lights 
within the Subdivision, as billed to the Association by the Village from WE Energies and 
for necessary legal and accounting services to the Board of Directors. 

(b) Determination of the Assessment. The Board of Directors shall prepare and 
annually submit to the Members a budget of expenses· for the ensuing year for payment of 
all costs contemplated within the purposes of the annual general assessment described in 
Section 6.2(a). Upon adoption and approval of the annual budget by a majority of the 
Members, the Board shall determine the assessment by dividing the amount of the budget 
among all fully improved Lots equally. 

( c) Method of Assessment. The assessment for each Lot shall be levied at the 
same time once in each year. The Board shall declare the assessments so levied due and 
payable at any time after. thirty (30) days from the date of such levy (with an option for 
payment in quarterly monthly installments if approved by the Board), and the Secretary or 
other officer shall notify the Owner of every Lot so assessed of the action taken by the 
Board, the amount of the assessment of each Lot owned by such Owner and the date such 
assessment becomes due and payable. Such notice shall be mailed to the Owner at last 
known post office address by United States mail, postage prepaid. 

( d) Date of Commencement of Annual General Assessments. Annual general 
assessments shall commence on the date as determined by Developer in its sole discretion 
and shall be levied annually thereafter by the Developer or the Association, as the case may 
be. 

14 



6.3 Special Assessment for Capital Improvement and Repairs to Drainage System. In 
addition to the annual general assessments authorized above, the Association may levy in any 
assessment year a special assessment applicable to that year and not more than the next two 
succeeding years (or longer if deemed necessary in the reasonable discretion of the Board) for the 
purpose of defraying, in whole or in part, the cost of any construction, reconstruction, repair, or 
replacement of capital improvements upon the Common Areas, including fixtures and personal 
property related thereto, and extraordinary expenses incurred in the maintenance and operation of 
the Common Areas and facilities. Special assessments may also be levied to all Lot owners, in 
order to defray the costs of maintaining the retention basins, replacing or repairing all pipes, drains, 
grates and other appurtenances located within any storm water drainage easement area. 

6.4 Subordination of the Lien to Mortgages. The lien of the assessments provided for 
herein shall be subordinated to the lien of any first mortgage on the Lot. 

6.5 Exempt Property. The following property subject to this Declaration shall be 
exempt from the Homeowner's Association assessments, charges and liens created herein: (i) all 
properties not within any Lot to the extent of any easement or other interest therein dedicated and 
accepted by the local public authority and devoted to public use; (ii) all Common Areas; and (iii) 
all properties exempted from taxation by state or local governments upon the terms and to the 
extent of such legal exemption. Notwithstanding any provisions herein, no land or improvements 
devoted to dwelling use shall be exempt from the assessments, charges, or liens. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, all such areas remain subject to all applicable municipal taxes, fees and assessments. 

6.6 Joint and Several Liability of Grantor and Grantee. Upon any sale, transfer, or 
conveyance, the grantee of a Lot shall be jointly and severally liable with the grantor for all unpaid 
assessments against the grantor as provided in this Article up to the time of the conveyance, 
without prejudice to the grantee's right to recover from the grantor the amount paid by the grantee 
therefor. However, any such grantee shall be entitled to a statement from the Association setting 
forth the amount of such unpaid assessments and any such grantee shall not be liable for, nor shall 
the Lot be conveyed subject to a lien for, any unpaid assessment against the grantor pursuant to 
this Article in excess of the amount therein set forth. If the Association does not provide such a 
statement within fifteen (15) business days after the grantee=s request, it is barred from claiming 
under any lien which was not filed prior to the request for the statement against the grantee. 

6.7 Interest on Unpaid Assessment. Any assessment under this Article VI which is not 
paid when due shall thereafter, until paid in full, bear interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) 
per annum. In addition to the interest charges, a late charge of up to Fifty Dollars ($50.00) per day 
may be imposed by the Board of Directors against an Owner if any balance in common expenses 
remains unpaid more than thirty (30) days after payment is due. 

6.8 Effect of Nonpayment of Assessments: Remedies of the Association. No Owner 
may waive or otherwise escape liability for assessments by non-use of the Common Areas or 

15 



abandonment of his Lot. If the Association has provided for collection of assessments in 
installments, upon default on the payment of any one or more installments, the Association may 
accelerate payment and declare the entire balance of said assessment due and payable in full. If 
the assessment levied against any Lot remains unpaid for a period of sixty ( 60) days from the date 
oflevy, then the Board may, in its discretion, file a claim for maintenance lien against such Lot in 
the office of the Clerk of Circuit Court for Kenosha County within six ( 6) months from the date of 
levy. Such claim for lien shall contain a reference to the resolution authorizing such levy and date 
thereof, the name of the claimant or assignee, the name of the person against whom the assessment 
is levied, a description of the Lot and a statement of the amount claimed and shall otherwise 
comply in form with the provisions of Section 779.70 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Foreclosure of 
such lien shall be in the manner provided for foreclosure of maintenance liens in said statute or 
any successor statute. 

6.9 Reduction of Assessments. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the 
contrary, the Developer and/or Association shall not have the power to discontinue the collection 
of assessments and charges or reduce such assessments or charges to a level which, in the opinion 
of the Village, would impair the ability of the Developer, Association, or the Owner to perform 
the functions as set forth herein and in the final plat. 

ARTICLE VII 
ENFORCEMENT, TERMINATION, MODIFICATION 

7 .1 Right to Enforce. Except as otherwise set forth herein, this Declaration and the 
covenants contained herein and on the final plat are enforceable only by the Developer, the Village, 
an Owner, and/or the Association, or such person or organization specifically designated by the 
Developer, in a document recorded in the office of the Kenosha County Register of Deeds, as its 
assignee for the purpose thereof. 

7.2 Manner of Enforcement. This Declaration and the covenants contained herein and 
on the final plat shall be enforceable by the Developer and its assigns, and/or the Association, 
and/or an Owner, and/or the Village (but the Village shall have no obligation to enforce the same 
and may do so in its discretion) in any manner provided by law or equity, including but not limited 
to one or more of the following: 

(a) Injunctive relief; 

(b) Action for specific performance; 

( c) Action for money damages as set forth in this Declaration; and 

( d) Performance of these covenants by the Developer, the Association, or the 
Village on behalf of any party in default thereof for more than thirty (3 0) days, after receipt 
by such party of notice from the Developer, the Association, or the Village describing such 

16 



default. In such event, the defaulting Owner shall be liable to the Developer, the 
Association, or the Village for the actual costs (plus fifteen percent [15%] for overhead) 
related to or in connection with performing these covenants. 

7 .3 Reimbursement. Any amounts expended by the Developer, the Association, and/or 
the Village in enforcing these covenants, including reasonable attorney fees, and any amounts 
expended in curing a default on behalf of any Owner or other party, shall constitute a lien against 
the subject real property until such amounts are reimbursed to the Developer or the Association, 
with such lien to be in the nature of a mortgage and enforceable pursuant to the procedures for 
foreclosure of a mortgage. In the case of enforcement by the Village, such charges shall be levied 
as a special assessment in accordance with applicable law, against the subject real property until 
such amounts are reimbursed to the Village. 

7.4 Failure to Enforce Not a Waiver. Failure of the Developer or assigns, the 
Association, an Owner, and/or the Village to enforce any provision contained herein shall not be 
deemed a waiver of the right to enforce these covenants in the event of a subsequent default. 

7 .5 Right to Enter. The Developer, the Association, and/or the Village shall have the 
right to enter upon any building site or Lot within the Subdivision for the purpose of ascertaining 
whether the Owner of a Lot, or an Outlot, is complying with these covenants and if the Developer, 
the Association, and/or the Village so elects under Section 7.2( d) for the purpose of performing 
obligations hereunder on behalf of an Owner in default hereof. 

7.6 Dedications/Restrictive Covenants/Easements. Each and every Owner of a Lot 
shall be subject to and bound by the easements, dedications and restrictive covenants as are set 
forth on the final plat. 

ARTICLE VIII 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

8.1 Term and Amendment. Unless amended as herein provided, this Declaration shall 
run with the Property and be binding upon all persons claiming under the Developer and shall be 
for the benefit of and be enforceable solely by the Association for a period of twenty-five (25) 
years from the date this Declaration is recorded and shall automatically be extended for successive 
periods of twenty-five (25) years unless an instrument signed by the Owners of two-thirds (2/3) of 
the Lots has been recorded, agreeing to terminate this Declaration in whole or in part. For the first 
fifteen (15) years following the date this Declaration is recorded, this Declaration may be amended, 
subject to the Village's written approval, at any time by written declaration, executed in such 
manner as to be recordable, setting forth such annulment, waiver, change, modification, or 
amendment executed: (a) solely by the Developer until such time as Developer conveys all Lots 
to other Owners (other than by multiple sale of Lots to a successor developer), and thereafter (b) 
by owners of seventy-five percent (75%) of the Lots (such Owners and percentage to be 
determined as provided in Article IV), provided the written consent of the Developer or its 

17 



successors and assigns is first obtained, so long as the Developer, or its successors and assigns 
shall own any Lots. Subsequent to such fifteen ( 15) year period, this Declaration may be amended 
by written declaration executed by at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the Lots subject to this 
Declaration provided the prior written approval of the Village is obtained. Such written declaration 
shall become effective upon recording in the office of the Register of Deeds of Kenosha County, 
Wisconsin. All amendments shall be consistent with the general plan of development embodied 
in this Declaration. 

8.2 Notices. Any notice required to be sent to any Member or Owner under the 
provisions of this Declaration shall be deemed to have been properly sent when mailed, postpaid, 
to the last known address of the person who appears as Member or Owner on the records of the 
Association at the time of such mailings. 

8.3 Enforcement. To the extent that other specific remedies are not provided herein, 
upon the occurrence of a violation of the covenants, conditions and restrictions set forth in this 
Declaration, the Association shall give the Owner written notice of the violation and if such 
violation is not remedied within five (5) days after notice, or if a second occurrence of such 
violation shall occur within six (6} months of the original notice of such violation from the 
Association, the Association may levy a fine inthe amount of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) and 
an additional fine of One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) for each day thereafter the violation 
continues. All fines levied by the Association shall constitute a special assessment and a lien on 
the Lot of the Owner who caused the violation and if a fine is not paid within fifteen (15) days 
after written notice of such fine, the amount due shall accrue interest at the rate of eighteen percent 
(18%) annually. Enforcement of these covenants and restrictions shall be by any proceeding at 
law or in equity against any person or persons violating or attempting to violate any covenant or 
restriction, either to restrain violation or recover damages, and against the land to enforce any lien 
created by these covenants. Failure of the Association to enforce any covenant or restriction herein 
contained shall in no event be deemed a waiver ofthe right to do so thereafter. 

8.4 Severability. Invalidation of any of the provisions of this Declaration, whether by 
court order or otherwise, shall in no way affect the validity or the remaining provisions which shall 
remain in full force and effect. Said invalid or illegal provision will be modified to reflect, as close 
as possible, the original intent of the former invalid or illegal provision, but in such a manner so 
as to make said provision valid and legal. 

18 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument has been duly executed this ___ day of 

-------' 2018. 

State of ------- ) 
) SS. 

______ County ) 

DEVELOPER: 

Creekside PP, LLC 

By 
Stephen R. Mills, Authorized Member 

Personally came before me this day of , 2018, to me known to 
be such persons and members who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledge that they 
executed the same as the authorized member on behalf of the Developer, by its authority. 

This instrument drafted by 
Bear Development, LLC 
4011 80th Street 
Kenosha, WI 53142 

Name: 
---------------~ 

Notary Public, State of _________ _ 
My commission expires _________ _ 

19 



EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description 

20 

attach \!~ tt \ 
o{(stf' (J-hOf\ 5 



Governing Agency Contacts 
 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE HALL 
 9915 39TH STREET 
 PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WI  53158 
 OFFICE: (262) 694-1400 
 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 JEAN WERBIE-HARRIS, DIRECTOR PLANNING, ZONING ADMINISTRATOR       
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6718 
 EMAIL: jwerbie-harris@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 
 PEGGY HERRICK 

ASSISTANT PLANNER & ZONING ADMINISTRATOR 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6716 
 EMAIL: pherrick@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 

AARON KRAMER 
DEPUTY PLANNER & ZONING ADMINISTRATOR 

 OFFICE: (262) 925-6711 
 EMAIL: akramer@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 
  ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 
 MATT FINEOUR, P.E. 
           VILLAGE ENGINEER 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6778 
 EMAIL: mfineour@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 
 KURT DAVIDSEN, P.E. 

ASSISTANT VILLAGE ENGINEER 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6728 
 EMAIL: kdavidsen@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 
  PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 
 JOHN STEINBRINK, JR., P.E.  
 DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS 

ROGER PRANGE MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
 8600 GREEN BAY ROAD 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6768 
           EMAIL: jsteinbrink@pleasantprairiewi.gov 

 
 STEVE WLAHOVICH 

CONSTRUCTION MANAGER 
 OFFICE: (262) 925-6767 
 EMAIL: swlahovich@pleasantprairiewi.gov  
 
  

mailto:jwerbie-harris@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:pherrick@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:akramer@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:mfineour@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:kdavidsen@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:jsteinbrink@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:swlahovich@pleasantprairiewi.gov


BUILDING INSPECTION DEPARTMENT 
 SANDRO PEREZ 

BUILDING INSPECTION SUPERINTENDENT  
 OFFICE: (262) 694-9304 
 DIRECT: (262) 925-6722 
 EMAIL: sperez@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 

DONALD KOEHNE 
BUILDING INSPECTOR 
OFFICE:  (262) 694-9304 
EMAIL:  dkoehne@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 
MICHAEL KAPRELIAN 
BUILDING INSPECTOR 
OFFICE: (262) 694-9304 
EMAIL:  mkaprelian@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 

FIRE & RESCUE DEPARTMENT  
 CRAIG ROEPKE,  
 CHIEF OF FIRE & RESCUE 
 8044 88TH AVENUE 
 OFFICE: (262) 694-8027  
 EMAIL: croepke@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 
 AARON LONGRIE 
 ASSISTANT FIRE CHIEF  
 OFFICE: (262) 694-8027 
 EMAIL: alongrie@pleasantprairiewi.gov 

 

Public Utility Contacts 
 
AMERICAN TRANSMISSION COMPANY   

BRIAN MCGEE 
 OFFICE: (262) 506-68955 
 EMAIL: bmcgee@atcllc.com 

EMERGENCY NUMBER: (800) 972-5341 
 
WISCONSIN DOT 
 ART BAUMANN 
 TRAFFIC OPERATIONS ENGINEER 
 OFFICE: (262) 548-6707 
 EMAIL: art.baumann@dot.wi.gov 
  

KEVIN KOEHNKE, P.E. 
PERMITS COORDINATOR 

 OFFICE: (262) 548-5891  
 EMAIL: kevin.koehnke@dot.wi.gov  
 
  

mailto:sperez@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:dkoehne@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:mkaprelian@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:croepke@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:alongrie@pleasantprairiewi.gov
mailto:art.baumann@dot.wi.gov
mailto:kevin.koehnke@dot.wi.gov


AT&T 
 MIKE TOYEK 
 OFFICE: (262) 636-0549 
 EMAIL: mt1734@att.com  
 
TDS TELECOM 
 SOUTHEAST WISCONSIN 
 OFFICE: (877) 483-7142 
 
TIME WARNER CABLE/SPECTRUM 
 STEVE CRAMER 
 UTILITY COORDINATOR 
 OFFICE: (414) 277-4045 
 EMAIL: steve.cramer@twcable.com  

EMERGENCY NUMBER:  (800) 627-2288 
 
WEC ENERGY GROUP 

JOEL BUROW 
 CEM MANAGER 
 OFFICE: (414) 221-3192 

EMAIL: joel.burrow@wecenergygroup.com 
 

WE-ENERGIES 
ALLIE KLAWINSKI 
SR. SERVICE MANAGER 
OFFICE: (262) 552-3227 
EMAIL: allie.klawinski@we-energies.com 
 
MICHAEL BAKER 
CUSTOMER SERVICE MANAGER 
OFFICE: (262) 886-7041 
EMAIL: michael.baker@we-energies.com 
 
HUSSAIN BIYAWERWALA 
SENIOR ENGINEER 
OFFICE: (262) 886-7074 
EMAIL: hussain.biyawerwala@we-energies.com 
 
BRANDON ERTS 
GAS ENGINEERING 
OFFICE: (414) 221-3654 
EMAIL: Brandon.erts@we-energies.com 
 

 NATURAL GAS EMERGENCY: (800) 261-5325  
 

ELECTRICAL EMERGENCY:  (800) 662-4797  

 
  

mailto:mt1734@att.com
mailto:steve.cramer@twcable.com
mailto:joel.burrow@wecenergygroup.com
mailto:allie.klawinski@we-energies.com
mailto:michael.baker@we-energies.com
mailto:hussain.biyawerwala@we-energies.com
mailto:Brandon.erts@we-energies.com


WI Department Of Natural Resources 
 
 TRAVIS SCHROEDER  

WATER MANAGEMENT SPECIALIST  
 OFFICE: (262) 574-2171 
 EMAIL: travis.schroeder@wisconsin.gov 
 

PETER WOOD, P.E. 
 WATER RESOURCES ENGINEER  
 OFFICE: (262) 884-2360 
 EMAIL: peter.wood@wisconsin.gov 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rev 11-2018 

mailto:peter.wood@wisconsin.gov


CONCEPTUAL PLAN APPLICATION 

Development Name: The Vista at Creekside 
General Location of Development: Vacant lnads along Creekside Circle 

Tax Parcel Number( 
5
): 02-4-122-1s3-0121. e2-4-122-1s3.012e, s2-4-122-1s3.ooe2, 92-4-122-1s3-ooao and e2-4-t22-1s3-0010 

Number of Lots: 43 SF, 2 Duples 2 MF Number of Outlots: _5 ________ _ 

Size of Development: 61.79 acres 

Select All that Apply: 

iiiil The Development will be constructed in _2 __ phase(s) 

D The Development abuts or adjoins State Trunk Highway ___________ _ 

D The Development abuts or adjoins County Trunk Highway __________ _ 

D The Development abuts the Kenosha County Bike Trail 

The following number and types of plans shall be submitted with this application: 

D Three (3) full size and a PDF copy of the Conceptual Plan, which shall include at a 
minimum: 
o Detailed and Dimensioned Site Plan 
o Conceptual Engineering Plans 
o Phasing Plan (if applicable) 
o Floor Plans and Elevations (for all uses except single family) 
o Proposed Zoning District Change(s) 

El Application Fee 
D Draft of Declarations, Covenants, Restrictions and any Easement Documents 
D Any other information as specified by the Village 

I (We), have contacted the Community Development Department to arrange a pre-application 
meeting to discuss the proposed request with the Village staff to determine whether additional 
information may be needed to consider the request. 

I (We), hereby certify that all the above statements and attachments submitted herewith are true 
and correct to the best of my knowledge. 

PROPERTY OWNER: APPLICANT/ AGENT: 

Print Name: Creekside PP, LP 

Signature: fr 
" 

Address: 4011 Both Street 

Kenosha, WI 
(City) (State) 

Phone: {262) 842-0556 

53142 

(Zip) 

Fax: ______________ _ 

Email: dan@beardevelopment.com 

Date 11/20/2018 

Signature: -~tf~~t;J~~t:,IJ:-=---
Address: 4011 80th Street 

Kenosha WI 53142 

(City) (State) (Zip) 

Phone: {262) 842-0556 

Fax:, ________________ _ 

Email: dan@beardevelopment.com 

Date: 11/20/2018 

Community Development Department, 9915 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie WI 53158 262-925-6717 

Rev 1-17 

pherrick
Text Box
43 SF and 1 2F

pherrick
Typewritten Text
Development also includes 7-20 unit apartment buildings and a club house

pherrick
Typewritten Text
application revised 12-18-18

pherrick
Typewritten Text



updated floor plans and energy efficient mechanicals and appliances. The development 
plans call for enhanced landscaping and on-site storm water detention. 

We are extremely pleased to introduce Creekside as a development to facilitate the 
completion of Creekside Crossing and to enhance an underutilized property and 
address the need for affordable housing in the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 

Upon favorable hearing, Bear Development intends to submit a Planned Unit 
Development to address certain flexibility that will be required to construct the 
Creekside Concept Plan. 

Please find the following exhibits: 

• Creekside Conceptual Engineering Plans 
• Stormwater Management Plan 
• Architectural Elevations 
• Preliminary Floor Plans 

Should you have any questions regarding this request, please do not hesitate to 
contact me. I can be reached at (262) 842-0556 or by email, 
dan@beardevelopment.com 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

Sincerely, 

%t1Wt-
Daniel Szczap 
Bear Development, LLC 

Cc: S.R. Mills 



a~ 
DEVELOPMENT 
4011 801h Street, Kenosha, WI 53142 

Phone: (262) 842-0556 Fax: (262) 842-0557 

December 18, 2018 

Jean M. Werbie-Harris 
Community Development Director 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 
9915 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 

Dear Ms. Werbie-Harris: 

Bear Development is pleased to submit this letter and the accompanying plans as formal application for 
Conceptual Plan review and approval for a mixed residential development at Creekside Crossing. 

Vista at Creekside 

The proposed development is located on approximately 62 acres, consisting of 43 single family homes, 

one two-family site as well as a 140-unit multifamily community. The primary development site, 

consisting of 58 acres was previously approved for 158 multifamily units, however during the 2008 real 

estate downturn the development stalled and was eventually foreclosed on by the lender. Bear 

subsequently purchased the development parcel from the lender, as well as additional adjacent 

property. Bear's proposa l on the original, previously approved development site, includes 140 

multifamily units, one two-family site and 43 single family homes totaling 145 total homes. This 

equates to 9% less density than that of the originally approved for 172 multifamily units. Based on 

feedback from the neighbors and municipality, Bear acquired additional property to the west and 

repositioned a portion of the multifamily to this parcel, adjacent to Old Green Bay Road. We believe this 

will help alleviate neighbor concerns of additional traffic to the south as we ll as providing an additional 

point of ingress I egress for existing residents. It was conveyed to Bear that completing Creekside Circle 

and creating a second connection point (9151 Street) directly to Old Green Bay Road was of significant 

importance for police and fire safety concerns as well as efficient snowplowing and garbage collection 

consistent with long-range transportation planning goals. 

Bear is proposing to create 43 single family homes that will range from $400,000 to $525,000. The 

subd ivision quality would be comparable to the recently started Arbor Ridge, located south of Froedtert 

South main hospital. 

The multifamily development consists of 140 condominium style homes, meaning each home shall have 

an individual front door, entryway and porch. The units sha ll comprise primarily of one-bedroom and 

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Rectangle



two-bedroom units with only 10% of the units as three-bedrooms. All homes will be spacious and 

constructed of high-quality materials as detailed in the specific submittals. 

Unit Type 
One Bedroom 
Two Bedroom 

Three Bedroom 

Number of Units 
77 
49 
14 

Avg.Sq. Ft. 
700 
1040 
1300 

Rental Range 
$700 - $970 

$840 - $1175 
$970 - $1,425 

As detailed above the rental rates shall be in-line with market rate rents. We have submitted and 

successfully received an award of Housing Tax Credits for to fund a portion of the development. As 

there are many types of tax credits, used to construct a variety of housing types, it's imperative that we 

draw the distinction between Low Income Housing and Workforce Housing. Low Income housing 

typically serves area median incomes at or around the 30% area median income. The product we are 

proposing is not low income, it is income restricted as workforce housing. However, as detailed above 

the rental rates are very similar to current market rate area rents. Workforce housing is designed for 

active individuals and families with working parents or single working professionals, these units are 

dedicated to those not typically understood to be the targets of affordable housing. These units may be 

filled by police officers, firefighters, teachers, health professionals, and service workers. The workforce 

housing requirements mandate a maximum rental rate as well as the maximum income of residents. All 

tenants must have, at minimum, three-times their total monthly rent in income to qualify for any unit 

within the proposed development. The goal of these units is to offer efficient and sustainable housing 

solutions that enable individuals in moderate income vocations or emerging professionals to continue to 

live in the communities in which they work. 

The Vista at Creekside includes a variety of amenities for future residents including a community 

clubhouse and a large dog park. Also, the existing Creekside neighborhood park will be enhanced with 

additional playground equipment. 

We are extremely pleased to introduce Creekside as a development to facilitate the completion of 
Creekside Crossing and to enhance an underutilized property and address the need for affordable 
housing in the Village of Pleasant Prairie. Upon favorable hearing, Bear Development intends to submit a 
Planned Unit Development to address certain flexibility that will be required to construct the Creekside 
Concept Plan. 

Should you have any questions regarding this request, please do not hesitate to contact me. I can be 
reached at (262) 842-0556 or by email, dan@beardevelopment.com 

Thank you for your time and consideration . 

Sincerely, 

~ 
S.R. Mills 
Bear Deve lopment, LLC 



CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

62
nd

 AV
EN

UE

90th STREET

62
nd

 A
VE

NU
E

90th STREET

90th PLACE

91st STREET

OL
D 

GR
EE

N 
BA

Y 
RO

AD 91st STREET

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

11 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

200'

SCALE 1"=100'

100' 0' 100' 200'

MDE
JJC/SCB

11-16-2018
MDE

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 C

O
N

CE
PT

U
AL

 P
LA

N
FO

R
CR

EE
KS

ID
E 

PP
, L

LC
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N
14

58
 H

or
izo

n 
Bl

vd
. S

ui
te

 2
00

, R
ac

in
e,

 W
I. 

53
40

6
Te

le
: (

26
2)

63
4-

55
88

  W
eb

sit
e:

 w
w

w
.n

m
bs

c.
ne

t

RESIDENTIAL
LOT DATA

75' ORDINARY HIGH
WATER MARK

SETBACK

PROPOSED 100-YEAR
FLOODPLAIN

ZONING NOTE

PROPERTY INFORMATION
WETLAND NOTE

LEGEND

12
-4

-1
8

RE
VI

SE
D 

PE
R 

VI
LL

AG
E 

CO
M

M
EN

TS
SC

B
1

1-
14

-1
9

RE
VI

SE
D 

LO
T 

DA
TA

SC
B

2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED RETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING RETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING RETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(DEDICATED PUBLIC STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,088 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,580 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,265 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25,694 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,244 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,623 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
23,540 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20,975 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20,536 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,003 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,836 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,165 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,195 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
22,723 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,001 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,821 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
19,939 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,936 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,511 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,825 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,509 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,919 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,447 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,786 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,170 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
19,165 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,241 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,971 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,742 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,344 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
17,539 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
818,322 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
439,547 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,048 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,906 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,180 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,772 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,520 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,863 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,744 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,168 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,721 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,089 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,020 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,748 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,021 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
97,856 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
439,547 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
329,241 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
183,654 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED RETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED RETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED RETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
Wetland Fill 0.041 ac

AutoCAD SHX Text
Wetland Fill 0.173 ac

AutoCAD SHX Text
Wetland Fill 0.004 ac

AutoCAD SHX Text
8:47:23 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Monday, January 14, 2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLOT NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uAREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uFRONTAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
121.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
90.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
240.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
18003

AutoCAD SHX Text
22723

AutoCAD SHX Text
15001

AutoCAD SHX Text
18821

AutoCAD SHX Text
19939

AutoCAD SHX Text
16936

AutoCAD SHX Text
15511

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
250.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
90.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
121.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
16195

AutoCAD SHX Text
15165

AutoCAD SHX Text
15836

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
93.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
283.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
15623

AutoCAD SHX Text
15244

AutoCAD SHX Text
18265

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
23540

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL LOT AREA:  1,238,858 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uOUTLOT NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uAREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uFRONTAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
345.71

AutoCAD SHX Text
97856

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL DEVELOPED AREA: 2,594,583 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
459.54

AutoCAD SHX Text
439547

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
390.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
149.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
20536

AutoCAD SHX Text
20975

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
111.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
13509

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
25694

AutoCAD SHX Text
201.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
16919

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
92.24

AutoCAD SHX Text
15825

AutoCAD SHX Text
14088

AutoCAD SHX Text
14850

AutoCAD SHX Text
90.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
90.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
594.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
271.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
246.99

AutoCAD SHX Text
14748

AutoCAD SHX Text
14020

AutoCAD SHX Text
329241

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
107.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
86.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
80.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
86.99

AutoCAD SHX Text
81.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
175.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
90.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
14522

AutoCAD SHX Text
13864

AutoCAD SHX Text
12744

AutoCAD SHX Text
13168

AutoCAD SHX Text
12721

AutoCAD SHX Text
18089

AutoCAD SHX Text
14021

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
113.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
80.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
80.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
101.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
15574

AutoCAD SHX Text
15344

AutoCAD SHX Text
14048

AutoCAD SHX Text
12906

AutoCAD SHX Text
14180

AutoCAD SHX Text
14772

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
17539

AutoCAD SHX Text
18447

AutoCAD SHX Text
1050.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
818322

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE CROSSING ADD. NO. 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.S.M.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2580

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE CROSSING CONDOMINIUMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AMENDMENT TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE CROSSING CONDOMINIUMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE CROSSING CONDOMINIUMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE CROSSING CONDOMINIUMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 02%%D32'26" W 1005.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. LINE OF SW 1/4 OF SEC. 15-1-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
1327.285

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 89%%D59'33" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEC. 15-1-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 205,804.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
E 2,570,204.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 1/4 CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEC. 15-1-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEC. 15-1-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 203,130.27

AutoCAD SHX Text
E 2,570,329.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 203,130.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
E 2,567,674.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
1327.315

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 89%%D59'33" E 2654.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. LINE OF W 1/2 OF W 1/2 OF SE 1/4 OF SEC. 15-1-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE CROSSING CONDOMINIUMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2ND AMENDMENT TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' DEDICATED PUBLIC SANITARY SEWER, PUBLIC WATERMAIN, ACCESS AND MAINTENANCE EASEMENT (PER CREEKSIDE CROSSING FINAL PLAT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
85TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4 & SE 1/4 OF SECTION 15-1-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
93RD STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
DABBS FARM ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREEN BAY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
51ST AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
62ND AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
91ST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
Current Property Zoning is R-4, R-8(UHO), R-9(UHO) and R-10(UHO), PR-1(UHO) and C-1.   The proposed zoning will be   R-4, R-4.5, R-8(PUD), R-11(PUD), PR-1, FPO and C-1.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concept Plan for Proposed Divisions  -of the- PREMISES KNOWN AS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX KEY NO. 92-4-122-153-0070 TAX KEY NO. 92-4-122-153-0080 TAX KEY NO. 92-4-122-153-0092 TAX KEY NO. 92-4-122-153-0727 TAX KEY NO. 92-4-122-153-0728 TAX KEY NO. 92-4-122-153-0729 - * -  SE1/4 & SW1/4 Section 15-1-22  VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE KENOSHA COUNTY, WIS. - * - DEVELOPER  Bear Development, LLC.  4011 80th Street, Kenosha, WI 53142 - * - OWNER  Creekside PP. LLC.  4011 80th Street, Kenosha, WI 53142

AutoCAD SHX Text
The wetlands were delineated by Heather Patti of R.A. Smith National, Inc. between October 13, 2014 and October 24, 2014.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proposed 100yr Floodplain Boundary

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetlands

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.377 AC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.884 AC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.954 AC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.164 AC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
92.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
13971

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
80.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
18240

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
80.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
19164

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
80.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
18170

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
80.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
16786

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
1093.27

AutoCAD SHX Text
183652

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proposed Wetland Fill



-- PRIVATE SIDEWALKS 

-- ASPHALT PATH 

J L A THE VISTA AT CREEKSIDE 
A R c H I T E c T s CONCEPTUAL MASTERPLAN - PEDESTRIAN PATH NETWORK 

DECEMBER 04, 2018 c19 
1"= 300' @11 xl 7 



1

11 14

10

8 7

218 4426

11 13

1919

8

21

171614

19 16

910520 17 19 15

ROOF TRUSS BEARING

119'-3"

SECOND FLOOR

111'-1 7/8"

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

21 22

5

11

23

22

9

3 34 110

87

18 4 2 6

11

19

817 16 14

1916

5 20171915

2122

5

11

23

34

ROOF TRUSS BEARING

119'-3"

SECOND FLOOR

111'-1 7/8"

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

231515

EX T ER IO R  M A T ER IA LS  SC H ED U LE

M A RK D ESC R IPT IO N M A N U FA C TU RER TY PE  /  STY LE D IM EN S IO N S C O LO R N O TES

1 A RC H ITE C TU RA L  A S PH A LT  SH IN G LES O W EN S  C O RN IN G  -  O R  EQ U A L D R IFT W O O D

2 6 " C O M P O S ITE  T R IM  BO A RD JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC T IC  W H ITE

3 6  " C O M P O S IT E  F R IEZ E  BO A RD JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC T IC  W H ITE

4 C O M P O S IT E  D O O R  &  W IN D O W  T R IM JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC T IC  W H ITE

5 H O R IZO N TA L  LA P  S ID IN G  -  1 JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) C O BBLE STO N E

6 H O R IZO N TA L  LA P  S ID IN G  -  2 JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) G RA Y  SLA TE

7 M A SO N RY  V EN EER  -  B R IC K G LEN  G ERY U T IL ITY  S IZE SM O K EY  Q U A RTZ

8 PREC A ST  C O N C RET E  S ILL PRA IR IE  STO N E (O R  S IM ILA R ) SEE  PRE C A ST  PR O F ILES G R IS

9 PREC A ST  C O N C RE TE  L IN TEL PRA IR IE  STO N E (O R  S IM ILA R ) G R IS

10 C O M PO S ITE  D EC K  BO A RD S A M ER IH A RT W IN C H EST ER  G RA Y

11 M A SO N RY  VEN EER  -  M A N U F A C T U RED  ST O N E C O U N TY  M A TE R IA LS REFLE C T IO N  ST O N E ST ILLN ESS

12 PREF IN ISH E D  A LU M IN IU M  G A RA G E D O O R W A Y N E D A LT O N  -  O R  EQ U A L TO  M A TC H  M O N T ERR EY  TA U PE

13 F IBER G LA S S  EN TRY  D O O R JELD -W EN A U R O R A TO  M A TC H  M O N T ERR EY  TA U PE

14 W O O D  W RA PPED  C O LU M N 1x6 TO  M A T C H  TR IM

15 W A LL  M O U N T ED  U N IT  N U M B ERS TBD M IN . 3 .5 " H E IG H T TBD

16 V IN Y L  W IN D O W S PLY G E M  W IN D O W S A N D  D O O RS V IN Y L SEE  PLA N W H ITE

17 PREC A ST  C O N C RET E  BA N D -  PRO F ILE  #1 PRA IR IE  STO N E (O R  S IM ILA R ) SEE  PRE C A ST  PR O F ILES G R IS

18 PREF IN IS H ED  M ET A L RA IL IN G TBD A LU M IN U M SEE  PLA N S BRO N ZE  o r s im ilar

19 V IN Y L S L ID IN G  PA T IO  D O O R PLY G E M  W IN D O W S A N D  D O O RS W H ITE

20 C O R N ER  TR IM JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC ITC  W H ITE

21 VERT IC A L  S ID IN G JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) G RA Y  SLA TE

22 SH A K E  S ID IN G JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) IRO N  G R A Y

23 W A LL M O U N TED  BU ILD IN G  A D D RESS  N U M BERS TBD A S  R EQ U IRED  BY  M U N IC IPA L ITY TBD

JLA PROJECT NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

DATE OF ISSUANCE

These documents reflect progress and intent and may be 

subject to change, including additional detail. These are 

not final construction documents and should not be used 

for final bidding or construction-related purposes.

PROGRESS DOCUMENTS

MADISON   :   MILWAUKEE

jla-ap.com

1
/

1
5

/
2

0
1

9
 2

:
1

4
:5

0
 
P

M

EXTERIOR
ELEVATIONS

18-0918

THE VISTA AT
CREEKSIDE

DECEMBER 19, 2018

A200

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS
SET

1/8" = 1'-0"
6

North / Front Elevation

1/8" = 1'-0"
16

Side East Elevation

REVISION SCHEDULE

Mark Description Date

SHEET REVISED JANUARY 15, 2019



ROOF TRUSS BEARING

119'-3"

SECOND FLOOR

111'-1 7/8"

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

11

14

102 184 21 2 5

13

19 1921

17

2216

9 10

2118

11

22

9

33

48 12 1315 9 77

10 182125 19

17

22 1621 18

11

3

41213 1597 7

ROOF TRUSS BEARING

119'-3"

SECOND FLOOR

111'-1 7/8"

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

23 15 15

EX T ER IO R  M A T ER IA LS  SC H ED U LE

M A RK D ESC R IPT IO N M A N U FA C TU RER TY PE  /  STY LE D IM EN S IO N S C O LO R N O TES

1 A RC H ITE C TU RA L  A S PH A LT  SH IN G LES O W EN S  C O RN IN G  -  O R  EQ U A L D R IFT W O O D

2 6 " C O M P O S ITE  T R IM  BO A RD JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC T IC  W H ITE

3 6  " C O M P O S IT E  F R IEZ E  BO A RD JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC T IC  W H ITE

4 C O M P O S IT E  D O O R  &  W IN D O W  T R IM JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC T IC  W H ITE

5 H O R IZO N TA L  LA P  S ID IN G  -  1 JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) C O BBLE STO N E

6 H O R IZO N TA L  LA P  S ID IN G  -  2 JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) G RA Y  SLA TE

7 M A SO N RY  V EN EER  -  B R IC K G LEN  G ERY U T IL ITY  S IZE SM O K EY  Q U A RTZ

8 PREC A ST  C O N C RET E  S ILL PRA IR IE  STO N E (O R  S IM ILA R ) SEE  PRE C A ST  PR O F ILES G R IS

9 PREC A ST  C O N C RE TE  L IN TEL PRA IR IE  STO N E (O R  S IM ILA R ) G R IS

10 C O M PO S ITE  D EC K  BO A RD S A M ER IH A RT W IN C H EST ER  G RA Y

11 M A SO N RY  VEN EER  -  M A N U F A C T U RED  ST O N E C O U N TY  M A TE R IA LS REFLE C T IO N  ST O N E ST ILLN ESS

12 PREF IN ISH E D  A LU M IN IU M  G A RA G E D O O R W A Y N E D A LT O N  -  O R  EQ U A L TO  M A TC H  M O N T ERR EY  TA U PE

13 F IBER G LA S S  EN TRY  D O O R JELD -W EN A U R O R A TO  M A TC H  M O N T ERR EY  TA U PE

14 W O O D  W RA PPED  C O LU M N 1x6 TO  M A T C H  TR IM

15 W A LL  M O U N T ED  U N IT  N U M B ERS TBD M IN . 3 .5 " H E IG H T TBD

16 V IN Y L  W IN D O W S PLY G E M  W IN D O W S A N D  D O O RS V IN Y L SEE  PLA N W H ITE

17 PREC A ST  C O N C RET E  BA N D -  PRO F ILE  #1 PRA IR IE  STO N E (O R  S IM ILA R ) SEE  PRE C A ST  PR O F ILES G R IS

18 PREF IN IS H ED  M ET A L RA IL IN G TBD A LU M IN U M SEE  PLA N S BRO N ZE  o r s im ilar

19 V IN Y L S L ID IN G  PA T IO  D O O R PLY G E M  W IN D O W S A N D  D O O RS W H ITE

20 C O R N ER  TR IM JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC ITC  W H ITE

21 VERT IC A L  S ID IN G JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) G RA Y  SLA TE

22 SH A K E  S ID IN G JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) IRO N  G R A Y

23 W A LL M O U N TED  BU ILD IN G  A D D RESS  N U M BERS TBD A S  R EQ U IRED  BY  M U N IC IPA L ITY TBD

JLA PROJECT NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

DATE OF ISSUANCE

These documents reflect progress and intent and may be 

subject to change, including additional detail. These are 

not final construction documents and should not be used 

for final bidding or construction-related purposes.

PROGRESS DOCUMENTS

MADISON   :   MILWAUKEE

jla-ap.com

1
/

1
5

/
2

0
1

9
 2

:
1

4
:5

0
 
P

M

EXTERIOR
ELEVATIONS

18-0918

THE VISTA AT
CREEKSIDE

DECEMBER 19, 2018

A201

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS
SET

1/8" = 1'-0"
6

South / Rear Elevation

1/8" = 1'-0"
16

Side 2 West Elevation

REVISION SCHEDULE

Mark Description Date

SHEET REVISED JANUARY 15, 2019



GARAGE

11

GARAGE

22

GARAGE

33

GARAGE

44

GARAGE

55

GARAGE

66

GARAGE

77

GARAGE

88

GARAGE

99

GARAGE

1010

GARAGE

1111

GARAGE

1212

GARAGE

1313

GARAGE

1414

GARAGE

1515

GARAGE

1616

GARAGE

1717

GARAGE

1818

GARAGE

1919

GARAGE

2020

GARAGE

2121

GARAGE

2222

GARAGE

2323

GARAGE

2424

11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '-9 "

5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '-1 1  1 /2 "

13 5 '- 11  1/ 2 "

11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '- 3  1 /2 " 11 '-9 "

13 5 '- 11  1/ 2 "

5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '- 6 " 5 '-9  1 /2 " 5 '-1 1  1 /2 "

2
1

'-
9

 1
/

4
"

5
 1

/
2

"
2

1
'-

9
 1

/
4

"

4
4

'-
0

"

2
1

'-
9

 1
/

4
"

5
 1

/
2

"
2

1
'-

9
 1

/
4

"

2
1

'-
9

 1
/

4
"

5
 1

/
2

"
2

1
'-

9
 1

/
4

"

4
4

'-
0

"

ROOF TRUSS BEARING

109'-1 1/8"

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

1

20 5

ROOF TRUSS BEARING

109'-1 1/8"

FIRST FLOOR

100'-0"

12

20

21

5

3

12 124

1 2

20

21

5

3

1212 4

JLA PROJECT NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

DATE OF ISSUANCE

These documents reflect progress and intent and may be 

subject to change, including additional detail. These are 

not final construction documents and should not be used 

for final bidding or construction-related purposes.

PROGRESS DOCUMENTS

MADISON   :   MILWAUKEE

jla-ap.com

1
/

1
5

/
2

0
1

9
 2

:
1

4
:5

1
 
P

M

GARAGE PLANS &
ELEVATIONS

18-0918

THE VISTA AT
CREEKSIDE

DECEMBER 19, 2018

A210

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS
SET

REVISION SCHEDULE

Mark Description Date

SHEET ADDED JANUARY 15, 2019

1/8" = 1'-0"
17

FIRST FLOOR PLAN - GARAGE

PLAN NORTH

1/8" = 1'-0"
9

Side Elevation - Garage

1/8" = 1'-0"
3

Front Elevation - Garage

EX T ER IO R  M A T ER IA LS  SC H ED U LE

M A RK D ESC R IPT IO N M A N U FA C TU RER TY PE  /  STY LE D IM EN S IO N S C O LO R N O TES

1 A RC H ITE C TU RA L  A S PH A LT  SH IN G LES O W EN S  C O RN IN G  -  O R  EQ U A L D R IFT W O O D

2 6 " C O M P O S ITE  T R IM  BO A RD JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC T IC  W H ITE

3 6  " C O M P O S IT E  F R IEZ E  BO A RD JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC T IC  W H ITE

4 C O M P O S IT E  D O O R  &  W IN D O W  T R IM JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC T IC  W H ITE

5 H O R IZO N TA L  LA P  S ID IN G  -  1 JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) C O BBLE STO N E

6 H O R IZO N TA L  LA P  S ID IN G  -  2 JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) G RA Y  SLA TE

7 M A SO N RY  V EN EER  -  B R IC K G LEN  G ERY U T IL ITY  S IZE SM O K EY  Q U A RTZ

8 PREC A ST  C O N C RET E  S ILL PRA IR IE  STO N E (O R  S IM ILA R ) SEE  PRE C A ST  PR O F ILES G R IS

9 PREC A ST  C O N C RE TE  L IN TEL PRA IR IE  STO N E (O R  S IM ILA R ) G R IS

10 C O M PO S ITE  D EC K  BO A RD S A M ER IH A RT W IN C H EST ER  G RA Y

11 M A SO N RY  VEN EER  -  M A N U F A C T U RED  ST O N E C O U N TY  M A TE R IA LS REFLE C T IO N  ST O N E ST ILLN ESS

12 PREF IN ISH E D  A LU M IN IU M  G A RA G E D O O R W A Y N E D A LT O N  -  O R  EQ U A L TO  M A TC H  M O N T ERR EY  TA U PE

13 F IBER G LA S S  EN TRY  D O O R JELD -W EN A U R O R A TO  M A TC H  M O N T ERR EY  TA U PE

14 W O O D  W RA PPED  C O LU M N 1x6 TO  M A T C H  TR IM

15 W A LL  M O U N T ED  U N IT  N U M B ERS TBD M IN . 3 .5 " H E IG H T TBD

16 V IN Y L  W IN D O W S PLY G E M  W IN D O W S A N D  D O O RS V IN Y L SEE  PLA N W H ITE

17 PREC A ST  C O N C RET E  BA N D -  PRO F ILE  #1 PRA IR IE  STO N E (O R  S IM ILA R ) SEE  PRE C A ST  PR O F ILES G R IS

18 PREF IN IS H ED  M ET A L RA IL IN G TBD A LU M IN U M SEE  PLA N S BRO N ZE  o r s im ilar

19 V IN Y L S L ID IN G  PA T IO  D O O R PLY G E M  W IN D O W S A N D  D O O RS W H ITE

20 C O R N ER  TR IM JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) A RC ITC  W H ITE

21 VERT IC A L  S ID IN G JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) G RA Y  SLA TE

22 SH A K E  S ID IN G JA M ES  H A R D IE  (O R  LP  EQ U IVA LEN T ) IRO N  G R A Y

23 W A LL M O U N TED  BU ILD IN G  A D D RESS  N U M BERS TBD A S  R EQ U IRED  BY  M U N IC IPA L ITY TBD



1/8" = 1'-0"
8

FIRST FLOOR  PLAN

JLA PROJECT NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

DATE OF ISSUANCE

These documents reflect progress and intent and may be 

subject to change, including additional detail. These are 

not final construction documents and should not be used 

for final bidding or construction-related purposes.

PROGRESS DOCUMENTS

MADISON   :   MILWAUKEE

jla-ap.com

1
2

/
1

9
/
2

0
1

8
 
1

2
:
4

7
:1

8
 
P

M

FIRST FLOOR  PLAN

18-0918

THE VISTA AT

CREEKSIDE

DECEMBER 19, 2018

A103

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS

SET

REVISION SCHEDULE

Mark Description Date



JLA PROJECT NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

DATE OF ISSUANCE

These documents reflect progress and intent and may be 

subject to change, including additional detail. These are 

not final construction documents and should not be used 

for final bidding or construction-related purposes.

PROGRESS DOCUMENTS

MADISON   :   MILWAUKEE

jla-ap.com

1
2

/
1

9
/
2

0
1

8
 
1

2
:
4

7
:2

0
 
P

M

SECOND FLOOR

PLAN

18-0918

THE VISTA AT

CREEKSIDE

DECEMBER 19, 2018

A104

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS

SET

REVISION SCHEDULE

Mark Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"
8

SECOND FLOOR  PLAN



JLA PROJECT NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

DATE OF ISSUANCE

These documents reflect progress and intent and may be 

subject to change, including additional detail. These are 

not final construction documents and should not be used 

for final bidding or construction-related purposes.

PROGRESS DOCUMENTS

MADISON   :   MILWAUKEE

jla-ap.com

1
2

/
1

9
/
2

0
1

8
 
1

2
:
4

7
:2

1
 
P

M

BUILDING DATA

18-0918

THE VISTA AT

CREEKSIDE

DECEMBER 19, 2018

A105

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS

SET

REVISION SCHEDULE

Mark Description Date

3/32" = 1'-0"
7

BUILDING DATA



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

343 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

200'

SCALE 1"=100'

100' 0' 100' 200'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SI

TE
 D

EM
O

LI
TI

O
N

 P
LA

N
FO

R
CR

EE
KS

ID
E 

PP
, L

LC
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

62
nd

 AV
EN

UE

90th STREET

62
nd

 A
VE

NU
E

OL
D 

GR
EE

N 
BA

Y 
RO

AD

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER TO BE
REMOVED (TO THE NEAREST JOINT)

STORM SEWER TO BE REMOVED

CLEARING & GRUBBING

REMOVE ASPHALT PAVEMENT & BASE

TRIBUTARY TO JEROMECREEK

PROPOSED WETLAND FILL
7,536 S.F.

PROPOSED WETLAND DISTURBANCE
155 S.F.

PROPOSED WETLAND FILL
1,774 S.F.

REMOVE EXISTING
GRAVEL TURN AROUND

REMOVE CURB & GUTTER
TO NEAREST JOINT

REMOVE 139 L.F. OF EXISTING
12" RCP STORM SEWER

REMOVE 366 L.F. OF EXISTING
24" RCP STORM SEWER

SITE DEMOLITION LEGEND
SAW CUT (FULL DEPTH)

REMOVE CURB & GUTTER
TO NEAREST JOINT

EXISTING HYDRANT TO BE
REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED

AT A PROPOSED LOCATION

REMOVE 5 L.F. OF EXISTING
27" RCP STORM SEWER

EXISTING HYDRANT TO BE
REMOVED AND RE-INSTALLED

AT A PROPOSED LOCATION

EXISTING HYDRANT LEAD
AND VALVE TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING CATCH BASIN TO BE
ADJUSTED PER STORM SEWER PLAN

REMOVE CURB & GUTTER
TO NEAREST JOINT

REMOVE CURB & GUTTER
TO NEAREST JOINT

REMOVE CURB & GUTTER
TO NEAREST JOINT

REMOVE CURB & GUTTER
TO NEAREST JOINT

REMOVE GRAVEL

EXISTING CULVERT TO BE REMOVED
AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT

AND THE CREEK BANK RESTORED

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

REMOVE EXISTING
GRAVEL

REMOVE EXISTING
CULVERT

REMOVE EXISTING
GRAVEL

REMOVE EXISTING
CONCRETE APRON ENDWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
42" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
IE. 685.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
IE. 685.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
3:34:14 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Friday, November 16, 2018



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

346 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

60'

SCALE 1"=30'

30' 0' 30' 60'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 M

U
LT

I-F
AM

IL
Y 

N
O

RT
H

DI
M

EN
SI

O
N

ED
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

24 GARAGE
SPACES

24 GARAGESPACES

20 UNITS

20 UNITS

20 UNITS

20 UNITS

DOG PARK

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

BASIN 1

BASIN 2

20
 U

N
IT

S

24
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
3:34:43 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Friday, November 16, 2018



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

347 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

60'

SCALE 1"=30'

30' 0' 30' 60'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 M

U
LT

I-F
AM

IL
Y 

W
ES

T
DI

M
EN

SI
O

N
ED

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN
FO

R
CR

EE
KS

ID
E 

PP
, L

LC
VI

LL
AG

E 
O

F 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

PR
AI

RI
E,

 K
EN

O
SH

A 
CO

U
N

TY
, W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

28 GARAGE
SPACES

91st STREET

20 UNITS

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

CLUBHOUSE

20 UNITS

BASIN 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
3:34:53 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Friday, November 16, 2018



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

348 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

200'

SCALE 1"=100'

100' 0' 100' 200'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 M

AS
TE

R 
U

TI
LI

TY
 P

LA
N

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

62
nd

 AV
EN

UE

90th STREET

62
nd

 A
VE

NU
E

90th STREET

90th PLACE

91st STREET

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

24 GARAGE
SPACES

24 GARAGESPACES

CLUB
HOUSE

OL
D 

GR
EE

N 
BA

Y 
RO

AD

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

DOG PARK

UTILITY LEGEND

IS
S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

BASIN 1

BASIN 2

BASIN 3

BASIN 5

BASIN 6

BASIN 4

28
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

20
 U

N
IT

S

20
 U

N
IT

S

24
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

20
 U

N
IT

S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
3:35:03 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Friday, November 16, 2018

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC STORM SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVATE WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVATE SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVATE STORM SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORM SEWER



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

3411 OF

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

200'

SCALE 1"=100'

100' 0' 100' 200'

MDE
JEG

11-16-2018
JJC

11-16-2018

2014.0030.07

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TH
E 

VI
ST

A 
AT

 C
RE

EK
SI

DE
 SI

TE
 G

RA
DI

N
G,

 D
RA

IN
AG

E 
&

 E
RO

SI
O

N
CO

N
TR

O
L 

PL
AN

FO
R

CR
EE

KS
ID

E 
PP

, L
LC

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

PL
EA

SA
N

T 
PR

AI
RI

E,
 K

EN
O

SH
A 

CO
U

N
TY

, W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

CREEKSIDE CIRCLE

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

CR
EE

KS
ID

E C
IR

CL
E

62
nd

 AV
EN

UE

90th STREET

62
nd

 A
VE

NU
E

90th STREET

90th PLACE

91st STREET

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

24 GARAGE
SPACES

24 GARAGESPACES

OL
D 

GR
EE

N 
BA

Y 
RO

AD

20 UNITS 20 UNITS

DOG PARK

PROPOSED 100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN

75' SHORELAND
SETBACK

BASIN 1

BASIN 4

BASIN 5

EXISTING SPOIL PILES SHALL BE
REMOVED OR INCORPORATED

INTO THE EARTHWORK

8' x 15' x 1.5'

8' x 15' x 1.5'

8' x 15' x 1.5'

8' x 15' x 1.5'

8' x 15' x 1.5'

TRIBUTARY TO JEROME CREEK

BASIN 6

INSTALL FLOOD CONTROL
STRUCTURE PER DETAIL

INSTALL 10'-WIDE
GRAVEL ACCESS ROAD

SITE GRADING & EROSION CONTROL LEGEND

1
29

UTILITY NOTE
EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY
AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL INCLUSIVE.
CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE
AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY
FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE
THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL “DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY
CONSTRUCTION. IS

S
U
E
 F

O
R
 R

E
V
IE

W
 -
 1

1
-1

6
-2

0
1
8

REFERENCES
EROSION CONTROL, EARTHWORK, SITE GRADING AND PAVEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
"STATE OF WISCONSIN, STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION", 2019 EDITION, HEREIN
REFERRED TO AS THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS".

EROSION CONTROL
ALL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES AND DEVICES SHALL BE INSPECTED BY THE CONTRACTOR AS REQUIRED IN
THE WISCONSIN ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (SPS 360.21) AND MAINTAINED PER SPS 360.22:

1.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CHECK THE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES FOR MAINTENANCE NEEDS AT ALL
THE FOLLOWING INTERVALS UNTIL THE SITE IS STABILIZED:

     (A)   AT LEAST WEEKLY.
(B)   WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER A RAINFALL EVENT OF 0.5 INCHES OR GREATER.  A RAINFALL EVENT SHALL BE CONSIDERED
TO BE THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF RAINFALL RECORDED IN ANY CONTINUOUS 24-HOUR PERIOD.

2.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN A MONITORING RECORD WHEN THE LAND DISTURBING CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY
INVOLVES ONE OR MORE ACRES.  THE MONITORING RECORD SHALL CONTAIN AT LEAST THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:
(A)   THE CONDITION OF THE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES AT THE INTERVALS SPECIFIED ABOVE.
(B)   A DESCRIPTION OF THE MAINTENANCE CONDUCTED TO REPAIR OR REPLACE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL
PRACTICES.

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL INSPECTIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS MAY BE CONDUCTED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF
SAFETY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE OR THEIR AUTHORIZED AGENTS DURING AND
AFTER THE CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT.

ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES SHALL BE INSTALLED PRIOR TO COMMENCING EARTH DISTURBING ACTIVITIES.
CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES UNTIL THE SITE HAS ESTABLISHED A VEGETATIVE COVER
AND IS STABILIZED.  ADDITIONAL EROSION CONTROL MAY BE REQUIRED BY THE OWNER, ENGINEER OR MUNICIPALITY TO
MEET FIELD CONDITIONS.

INSTALL SILT FENCE PER SECTION 628 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS" AND WDNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1056 AT THE
LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE PLAN.  ERECT SILT FENCE PRIOR TO STARTING A CONSTRUCTION OPERATION THAT MIGHT CAUSE
SEDIMENTATION OR SILTATION AT THE SITE OF THE PROPOSED SILT FENCE.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
INSTALLATION, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL OF ALL REQUIRED SILT FENCE MATERIAL.

ALL PROPOSED STORM SEWER STRUCTURES AND ADJACENT EXISTING STORM INLETS SHALL HAVE A LAYER OF GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC (TYPE "FF") INSTALLED BETWEEN THE FRAME & GRATE TO PREVENT SEDIMENT OR SILT FROM ENTERING THE SYSTEM.
THE FILTER FABRIC SHALL BE INSPECTED BY THE CONTRACTOR AND REPLACED IF NECESSARY EVERY 14 DAYS AND AFTER
EACH RAINFALL.

A MINIMUM 18' WIDE X 50' LONG TRACKING PAD (3-6 INCH STONE) SHALL BE INSTALLED AT THE ENTRANCE TO THE SITE (AS
SHOWN) TO PREVENT SOIL FROM BEING TRACKED ONTO ADJACENT PAVEMENTS AND PUBLIC ROADS.  INSTALLATION AND
MAINTENANCE OF THE TRACKING PAD SHALL BE PERFORMED ACCORDING TO WDNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1057. ALL
TRACKED SOIL FROM THE CONSTRUCTION SITE SHALL BE COLLECTED FROM PAVED STREETS AT THE END OF EACH WORKING
DAY.  PERIODIC STREET SWEEPING SHALL BE CONDUCTED BY THE CONTRACTOR TO KEEP THE PUBLIC AND/OR PRIVATE
ROADWAYS FREE OF DUST AND DIRT.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR CONTROLLING WIND EROSION (DUST) DURING CONSTRUCTION AT HIS/HER EXPENSE
(WHEN NECESSARY OR AS REQUIRED BY LOCAL INSPECTORS).

SITE GRADING & SUB-GRADE PREPARATION
ALL EXISTING TOPSOIL AND OTHER NON-STRUCTURAL MATERIAL WITHIN THE PROPOSED BUILDING PADS, PAVEMENT
SECTIONS AND STRUCTURAL FILL AREAS SHALL BE STRIPPED AND STOCKPILED AT A LOCATION DETERMINED BY THE GENERAL
CONTRACTOR AND OWNER.

EXCAVATE, GRADE & SHAPE SUBGRADE TO THE LINES AND GRADES SHOWN ON THE PLANS. SEE TYPICAL SECTIONS FOR
PAVEMENT THICKNESS AND MATERIALS. PREPARE AND COMPACT SUBGRADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GEOTECHNICAL
REPORT.

UPON COMPLETION OF THE GRADING AND COMPACTION OF THE SUBGRADE, A PROOF ROLL SHALL BE CONDUCTED BY THE
CONTRACTOR ON ALL SUBGRADES TO RECEIVE DENSE AGGREGATE BASE COURSE.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A
FULLY LOADED QUAD-AXLE TRUCK (18 TON MINIMUM LOAD) TO PERFORM THE PROOF ROLL.  CONTRACTOR SHALL
COORDINATE THE PROOF ROLL WITH THE OWNER OR HIS REPRESENTATIVES TO ENSURE THEY ARE PRESENT.

TEMPORARY SEEDING IS REQUIRED FOR ALL STOCKPILES AND OTHER EXPOSED LAND AREAS IF NOT UTILIZED WITHIN 30 DAYS.
AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PAVEMENT WORK, RE-SPREAD SALVAGED TOPSOIL TO PROVIDE A MINIMUM SIX-INCH (6") LAYER
IN ALL LANDSCAPE AND LAWN AREAS.  ALL DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE SEEDED, FERTILIZED AND MULCHED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH SECTIONS 627, 629 AND 630 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS" OR RESTORED PER SPECIFIC DETAILS IN THE SITE
LANDSCAPE PLAN.

AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND DISPOSE OF ALL ABANDONED, EXCESS, WASTE,
STOCKPILED AND SPOIL MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 205.3.12 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS". THIS WORK
SHALL BE DONE AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

3
27

2
29

5
29

6
29

BASIN 3

BASIN 2

36' x 87'

20
 U

N
IT

S

20
 U

N
IT

S

28
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

10' x 12' x 1.5'

24
 G

AR
AG

E
SP

AC
ES

20
 U

N
IT

S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
W-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 40 FYG= 699.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 41 FYG=698.1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 42 FYG=697.1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 44 FYG=695.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 45 FYG=694.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 46 FYG=693.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12 FYG=697.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 11 FYG=696.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 13 FYG=698.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 14 FYG=699.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 15 FYG=700.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 16 FYG=701.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 17 FYG=701.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 18 FYG=700.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19 FYG=699.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20 FYG=697.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 9 FYG=695.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2 FYG=695.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 8 FYG=697.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 7 FYG=698.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 6 FYG=699.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 5 FYG=699.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4 FYG=699.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3 FYG=697.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21 FYG=695.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 22 FYG=696.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 23 FYG=695.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 25 FYG=695.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 24 FYG=694.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1 FYG=694.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 10 FYG=694.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 43 FYG=696.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 30 FYG=694.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 31 FYG=694.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 32 FYG=693.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 33 FYG=693.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 34 FYG=694.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 35 FYG=695.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 36 FYG=697.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 37 FYG=698.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 38 FYG=699.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 39 FYG=700.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 29 FYG=695.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 28 FYG=694.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 27 FYG=693.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
3:35:36 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Friday, November 16, 2018

AutoCAD SHX Text
EROSION BALES

AutoCAD SHX Text
GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEDIUM RIP RAP W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE "R"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED CONTOURS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONTOURS

AutoCAD SHX Text
702

AutoCAD SHX Text
692

AutoCAD SHX Text
\\

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILT FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL TRACKING PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM INLET PROTECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET CONTROL STRUCTURE NORMAL WATER LEVEL: 686.00 1 - 12" ORIFICE @ 686.00 48" STANDPIPE @ 688.50 322' - 24" RCP @ 0.09% * 2 YR. STORM - HWM: 687.49 * 100 YR. STORM - HWM: 689.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET CONTROL STRUCTURE NORMAL WATER LEVEL: 687.07 555' - 24" RCP @ 0.19% * 2 YR. STORM - HWM: 687.89 * 100 YR. STORM - HWM: 689.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET CONTROL STRUCTURE NORMAL WATER LEVEL: 687.00 1 - 3.5" ORIFICE @ 687.00 48" STANDPIPE @ 690.00 136' - 12" RCP @ 0.37% * 2 YR. STORM - HWM: 687.53 * 100 YR. STORM - HWM: 688.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET CONTROL STRUCTURE NORMAL WATER LEVEL: 686.00 TWO (2) 82' - 24" RCP @ 0.30% * 2 YR. STORM - HWM: 687.20 * 100 YR. STORM - HWM: 688.97

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET CONTROL STRUCTURE NORMAL WATER LEVEL: 691.00 326' - 12" RCP @ 0.82% * 2 YR. STORM - HWM: 692.00 * 100 YR. STORM - HWM: 694.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET CONTROL STRUCTURE NORMAL WATER LEVEL: 686.00 1 - 8" ORIFICE @ 686.00 48" STANDPIPE @ 689.00 46' - 12" RCP @ 1.00% * 2 YR. STORM - HWM: 687.23 * 100 YR. STORM - HWM: 688.90



    

9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948.8951    Fax 262.925.6796    PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

 

Office of the Village Engineer 
Matthew J. Fineour, P.E. 

     MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:    Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator 
 
FROM:    Matthew Fineour, Village Engineer 
 
     CC:    Jane Snell, Village Clerk 
 
  SUBJ:   47th Avenue Sewer and Water Extension 
    Design Services Agreement 
 
 DATE:    February 11, 2019 
 

 
Background:   
 

The sanitary sewer is being extended approximately 400-feet to serve 11127 47th 

Avenue, which is being redeveloped with a new single-family house.  The current home 

has a working well which will remain, however, the septic system is failing and will be 

abandoned with the home connected to the municipal sewer system.  

The water main is being extended approximately 870-feet to complete the water system 

loop along 47th Avenue.  This improvement is being initiated as a system improvement. 

Prior to construction, an assessment will be levied for the sewer and water main 

improvements.  The sewer assessment for 11127 47th Avenue will be an active 

assessment and the water main assessment will be deferred for all fronting properties 

until a connection is made. 

The design service agreement is a time and material contract with an estimated total cost of 
$26,100. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
It is recommended that the Village Board approve the Professional Service Agreement with 
Clark-Dietz, Inc. for $26,100.  The project is budgeted from both the sewer and water utilities. 
 
Attachments:    Project Overview Map 
    Professional Service Agreement 
   

 



!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

#*

#*
#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*
#*

#* #*

#*

?
?

?

?

?

?

?
?

? ?

??

??

?

?

?

?

??

10899

10928

10882
4434 10881

4467 
4445 

10825

10859

10953

10930

10920

10830

4411 

4439 
4451 4499 

4517 

4549 

4600 

4550 

4500 
4424 

11097

11137

11179

11281

11203

4404 

11254

11218

11186

11152

11124

11080

4370 

4360 

4350 

10856

10840
10837

10927

11315

11303

11127

11107

11029

11009

10820

I1 inch = 150 feet

0 300150 Feet

S
A

N
S

A
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
W

M
W

M
W

M
W

M
W

M
W

M
W

M
W

M
W

M
W

M

SANITARY SEWER
EXTENSION

WATER MAIN
EXTENSION

47
T

H
 A

V
E

113TH
 ST

47TH AVE SEWER AND
WATER EXTENSION



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

Project Name ("Project") 

47th Ave Sewer and Water Extension 

This Agreement is by and between 

Village of Pleasant Prairie ("Client") 
9915 391

" Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 

and 

Clark Dietz, Inc. ("Clark Dietz") 
625 51" Street, (}"Floor 
Kenosha, WI 53140 

Who agree as follows: 

Client hereby engages Clark Dietz to perform the services set f01th in PART I - SERVICES BY CLARK 
DIETZ, and Clark Dietz agrees to perform the Services for the compensation set forth in PART III -
COMPENSATION. Clark Dietz shall be authorized to commence the Services upon execution of this 
Agreement and written or verbal authorization to proceed from Client. Client and Clark Dietz agree that 
this signature page, together with Parts I - N and attachments referred to therein, constitute the entire 
Agreement between them relating to the Project. 

Agreed to by Client Agreed to by Clark Dietz 

By:~~~~~~~~~~~~- By:~~-· _.-_ ·~b==· =--
Title: V 1 llt~ e. Vres~Jeot Title: Senior Vice President 

Date: Date: Februru.y 6, 2019 

1 January 2019 



PART I 
SERVICES BY CLARK DIETZ 

A. Project Description 
The Client is retaining Clark Dietz for engineering design services of the 4 7th Ave Water Main and 
Sewer Extension. This project will consist of water and sewer extension along 47th Ave from 11009 47th 
Ave to a point 150 feet north of the intersection of 47th Ave and 113th Street. 

Work includes: 
1. Watermain design, 
2. Sanitaiy sewer design, 
3. Easement document preparation, and 
4. Wetland delineation 

Watennain design will include approximately 900 feet of watermain to provide a loop to the existing 
system, from the north property line of 11009 4 7th Ave, south to the southern property line of 1112 7 4 7th 
Ave. The new watermain will be 12-inches in diameter. There are no private connections anticipated; 
however, services will be extended the limits of right-of-way/easement to support future connections to 
properties along 47t11 Ave. The watermain is intended to be located within or adjacent to the existing 
right-of-way while avoiding any wetland disturbance. A permanent easement along the length of the 
watermain will be required. 

The new sanitary sewer main will extend from the northern property line of 1112 7 4 7th Ave, south 
approximately 400 feet to an existing manhole at the intersection of 4 7th Ave and 113 th St. The sanitaiy 
sewer will be 8-inches in diameter and allow for future sewer connections. The sewer main is intended 
to be within the existing right-of-way and possibly below the existing edge of pavement. There are no 
private connections anticipated; however, laterals will be extended the limits ofright-of-way/easement 
to support future connections to properties along 4 7tli Ave. An easement is not expected to be required 
for sewer. 

B. Scope 
Clark Dietz will perform the Project as described below: 

1. TITLE SEARCH/EASEMENT DOCUMENTATION 

a. A title search will be performed for each of the following eight (8) properties. Infmmation 
from the title search will be incorporated onto the plan set. 
1) 92-4-122-264-0071 
2) 92-4-122-264-0040 
3) 92-4-122-264-0030 
4) 92-4-122-264-0021 
5) 92-4-122-264-0011 
6) 92-4-122-263-0010 
7) 92-4-122-262-0125 
8) 92-4-122-261-0513 

b. Easements are anticipated to be necessary along the proposed watermain alignment. 
Therefore, one exhibit and corresponding legal descriptions will be prepared for the 
following five (5) properties, once easement location is determined. 
1) 92-4-122-264-0071 
2) 92-4-122-264-0040 
3) 92-4-122-264-0030 
4) 92-4-122-264-0021 
5) 92-4-122-264-0011 

2 Januaiy 2019 



2. FIELD SURVEY 

a. Perform field survey and field investigation (base design survey) for the preparation of 
plans and specifications. Survey will be performed along the entire length of project within 
the right-of-way, extending 50' east of the easternmost right-of-way line, and 20' west of 
the westernmost right-of-way line. 

b. A DIGGERS field locate will be called and all survey will include any utility markings and 
approximately atlas locations, as available. 

c. A tree survey within the limits of survey will be performed. This will include DBH 
(diameter at breast height). 

d. Survey shall include any property monumentation discovered in the field to help determine 
boundary limits (property line and right of way). 

3. DESIGN SERVICES 

a. Prepare construction plans, special provision specifications, bidding documents, and an 
opinion of construction cost for the work. 

b. Prepare easement metes and bound legal descriptions and exhibits for needed easement 
acquisitions (see scope item 1. above). 

c. Submit plans and special provision specifications to the Village for review and approval. 
Submittals will include bid tab and Engineer's Opinion of Probable Cost. 

d. Client will obtain all permits and assessments for the project. Client will prepare all permit 
applications for submittal. Clark Dietz will supply project information, as necessary, to help 
support these applications. 

e. Attend meetings as follows: 
1) Project kick-off meeting 
2) 30-percent plan review meeting (review basic alignments and constructability issues) 
3) 75-percent plan review meeting 
4) 90-percent plan review meeting 

f. Provide plan set and bidding documents to Client for review and comment/concurrence at 
75-percent and 90-percent milestones. 

4. WETLAND DELINEATION 

a. A wetland delineation will be performed within the project limits on the east side of 47t1i 
Ave only. 

b. Wetland delineation will be performed by an Assured Delineator. 

c. Growing season is expected to begin between April 15-May 1st, weather dependent. 

d. The wetland delineation may occur after preparation of the plans has been completed. No 
disturbance of the wetlands are expected for this project. 

3 January 2019 



C. Schedule 
The following schedule will be agreed upon mutually between the Client and Clark Dietz. The information 
below is related to the intervals associated with completion of design. Clark Dietz is committed to 
beginning the project within 10 days ofreceived a signed contract, and intervals are achievable as long as 
weather permits topographic survey of the project. 

Begin project 
Wetland Delineation 

within 10 day of receiving a signed contract 
during 2019 growing season* 

Final delivery of bid documents 8 weeks total duration 

*Dependent on backlog of subconsultant at time of receiving signed contract 

D. Assumptions/Conditions (if applicable) 
This agreement is subject to the following assumptions/conditions: 

1. Easement acquisition and assessment roles or schedules will be perfonned by the Client. 

2. Wetland delineation will be performed once weather conditions allow. Delineation will be 
performed by an Assured Delineator. No disturbance activities are assumed on this project. 
Field survey and revisions to the plan set will be necessary once delineation has taken place. 
Schedule does not reflect unforeseen wetland delineation delay. 

3. The Village will obtain all construction bids and conduct bidding. A final bid package will be 
provided to the Village upon completion and acceptance of the design for the Client to use for 
these purposes. 

4. This Agreement and any legal actions concerning its validity, interpretation and performance 
shall be governed by the laws of the State of Wisconsin. 

5. Local permits for this project will be obtained by the Client with information provided by Clark 
Dietz. All pe1mit fees will be paid by the Client. Applications and submittals will be handled by 
the Village. 

6. State permits for this project will be obtained by the Client with info1mation provided by Clark 
Dietz. All permit fees will be paid by the Client. 

7. No Federal permits are anticipated for this project. 

The tasks below can be performed for an additional fee: 

1. Bidding services, including recommendation of bids, analysis of bid tab, and solicitation of 
bidders. 

2. Construction inspection services. 

3. Geotechnical investigations; 

4. Contaminated site Phase I or Phase II environmental assessment investigations or remediation 
activities; 

5. Cultural, historic, archeological, or wetland assessment investigations or remediation activities. 

The list above is not all-inclusive. 

4 January 2019 



PART II 
CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

Client shall, at its expense, do the following in a timely manner so as not to delay the Services: 

A. Information/Reports 
Provide Clark Dietz with reports, studies, site characterizations, regulatory decisions and similar 
information relating to the Services that Clark Dietz may rely upon without independent verification 
unless specifically identified as requiring such verification. 

B. Representative 
Designate a representative for the project who shall have the authority to transmit instmctions, receive 
information, interpret and define Client's requirements and make decisions with respect to the Services. 
The Client representative for this Agreement will be Kurt Davidsen, P .E., Assistant Village 
Engineer. 

C. Decisions 
Provide all criteria and full information as to Client's requirements for the Services and make timely 
decisions on matters relating to the Services. 

5 January 2019 



A. Compensation 

PART III 
COMPENSATION 

1. Compensation to Clark Dietz for services rendered by employees worldng on the Project in 
accordance with PART I - SERVICES BY CLARK DIETZ of this Agreement will be at the 
hourly billing rates shown in the attachment, "Schedule of General Billing Rates". The total 
compensation authorized by this Agreement will not exceed $26,100.00, and shall include the 
following: 
a. Payment for outside consulting and/or professional services perfonned by a subconsultant 

will be at actual invoice cost to Clark Dietz. Clark Dietz will obtain written Client approval 
before authorizing these services. 

b. Payment for expenses incmTed directly on behalf of the Project at actual cost to Clark Dietz. 
Direct project expenses will be as defined in the attachment, "Schedule of Project Related 
Expenses". 

B. Billing and Payment 

1. Timing/Format 
a. Invoices shall be submitted monthly for Services completed at the time of billing. Invoices 

shall be considered past due if not paid within 45 calendar days of the date of the invoice. 
Such invoices shall be prepared in a form supported by documentation required by the Client. 

b. If payment in full is not received by Clark Dietz within 45 calendar days of the date of invoice, 
invoices shall bear interest at one-and-one-half (1.5) percent of the past due amount per 
month, which shall be calculated from the date of the invoice. 

c. If the Client fails to make payments within 45 calendar days of the date of invoice or 
otherwise is in breach of this Agreement, Clark Dietz may suspend performance of services 
upon seven (7) calendar days' notice to the Client. Clark Dietz shall have no liability to the 
Client for any costs or damages as a result of suspension caused by any breach of this 
Agreement by the Client. Upon payment in full by the Client, Clark Dietz shall resume 
services under this Agreement, and the time schedule and compensation shall be equitably 
adjusted to compensate for the period of suspension plus any other reasonable time and 
expense necessary for Clark Dietz to resume performance. 

2. Billing Records 
Clark Dietz shall maintain accounting records of its costs in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices. Access to such records will be provided during normal business hours with 
reasonable notice during the term of this Agreement and for 3 years after completion. 

6 January 2019 



PART IV 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. STANDARD OF CARE. Services shall be performed in accordance with the standard of professional practice ordinarily exercised 
by the applicable profession at the time and within the locality where the services are pe1formed. No warranty or guarantee, express or 
implied is provided, including warranties or guarantees contained in any unifo1m commercial code. 

2. CHANGE OF SCOPE. The Scope of Se1vices set foiih in this Agreement is based on facts known at the time of execution of this 
Agreement, including, if applicable, information supplied by Clark Dietz and Client. Clark Dietz will promptly notify Client of any 
perceived changes of scope in writing and the parties shall negotiate modifications to this Agreement. 

3. DELAYS. If events beyond the control of Clark Dietz, including, but not limited to, fire, flood, explosion, riot, strike, war, process 
shutdown, act of God or the public enemy, and act or regulation of any government agency, result in delay to any schedule established in 
this Agreement, such schedule shall be extended for a period equal to the delay. In the event such delay increases the cost or time required 
for Clark Dietz to perform its services, Clark Dietz shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in compensation and extension of time. 

4. TERMINATION/SUSPENSION. Either paiiy may te1minate this Agreement upon 30 days wiitten notice to the other pmiy in the 
event of substantial failure by the other party to perf01m in accordance with its obligations under this Agreement through no fault of the 
terminating paiiy. Client shall pay Clark Dietz for all Se1vices, including profit relating thereto, rendered prior to te1mination, plus any 
expenses of termination. 

5. REUSE OF INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE. All reports, drawings, specifications, computer data, field data notes and other 
documents prepared by Clark Dietz as instruments of service shall remain the property of Clark Dietz. Clark Dietz shall retain all common 
law, statutory and other reserved rights, including the copyright thereto. Reuse of any instruments of service including electronic media, 
for any purpose other than that for which such documents or deliverables were originally prepared, or alteration of such documents or 
deliverables without written authorization or adaptation by Clark Dietz for the specific purpose intended, shall be at Client's sole risk. 

6. ELECTRONIC MEDIA. In accepting and utilizing any drawings, reports ai1d data on any form of electronic media generated and 
furnished by Clai·k Dietz, the Client agrees that all such electronic files are instruments of service of Clark Dietz, who shall be deemed the 
author, and shall retain all common law, statutory law and other rights, without limitation, including copyrights. 

The Client agrees not to reuse these electronic files, in whole or in pati, for any purpose other than for the Project. The Client agrees not to 
transfer these electronic files to others without the ptior written consent of Clm·k Dietz. 111e Client further agrees that Clark Dietz shall 
have no responsibility or liability to Client or others for any changes made by anyone other than Clark Dietz or for any reuse of the electronic 
files without the prior written consent of Clark Dietz. 

Any changes to the electronic specifications by either the Client or Clark Dietz are subject to review and acceptance by the other party. If 
Clark Dietz is required to expend additional effort to incorporate changes to the electronic file specifications made by the Client, these 
efforts shall be compensated for as Additional Services. 

In addition, the Client agrees, to the fullest extent pern1itted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless Clark Dietz, its officers, directors, 
employees and subconsultants (collectively, Clark Dietz) against all damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees and 
defense costs, arising from any changes made by anyone other than Clark Dietz or ftom any use or reuse of the electronic files without the 
prior written consent of Clark Dietz. 

The Client is aware that differences may exist between the electronic files delivered and the printed hard-copy construction documents. In 
the event of a conflict between the signed construction documents prepared by Clark Dietz and electronic files, the signed or sealed hard
copy construction documents shall govern. 

7. OPINIONS OF CONSTRUCTION COST. Any opinion of construction costs prepared by Clark Dietz is supplied for the general 
guidance of the Client only. Since Clark Dietz has no contr·ol over competitive bidding or mm·ket conditions, Clm·k Dietz cannot guarantee 
the accuracy of such opinions as compm·ed to contr·act bids or actual costs to Client. 

8. SAFETY. Clm·k Dietz specifically disclaims any authority or responsibility for general job site safety and safety of persons other 
than Clm·k Dietz employees. 

9. RELATIONSHIP WITH CONTRACTORS. Clm·k Dietz shall serve as Client's professional representative for the services and may 
make recommendations to Client concerning actions relating to Client's contractors. Clm·k Dietz specifically disclaims any authority to 
direct or supe1vise the means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of construction selected by Client's contractors. 

10. THIRD PARTY CLAIMS. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual relationship with or a cause of action in 
favor of a third paiiy against either the Client or Clark Dietz. Clm·k Dietz's se1vices under this Agreement m·e being perfo1med solely for 
the Client's benefit, and no other patty or entity shall have any claim against Clark Dietz because of this Agreement or the perfo1mance or 
nonperf01mance of services hereunder. The Client and Clm·k Dietz agree to require a similar provision in all contracts with contractors, 
subcontractors, subconsultants, vendors and other entities involved in this Project to carry out the intent of this provision. 

7 January 2019 



11. MODIFICATION. This Agreement, upon execution by both parties hereto, can be modified only by a written instrument signed by 
both pmiies. 

12. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION. Information relating to the Project, unless in the public domain, shall be kept confidential by 
Clm·k Dietz and shall not be made available to third pmiies without written consent of Client, unless so required by coUii order. 

13. INSURANCE. Clm·k Dietz will maintain insmance coverage for Professional, Comprehensive General, Automobile, Worker's 
Compensation and Employer's Liability in amounts in accordance with legal, and Clm·k Dietz business requirements. Certificates 
evidencing such coverage will be provided to Client upon request. For projects involving constmction, Client agrees to require its 
construction contractor, if any, to include Clark Dietz as an additional insured on its commercial general liability policy relating to the 
Project, and such coverages shall be primary. 

14. INDEMNITIES. Clm·k Dietz agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold hmmless the Client, its officers, 
directors mid employees against all damages, liabilities or costs, to the extent caused by Clm·k Dietz' negligent performance of professional 
services under this Agreement and that of its subconsultants or anyone for whom Clark Dietz is legally liable. 

The Client agrees, to the fullest extent pennitted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless Clark Dietz, its officers, directors, employees and 
subconsultants against all damages, liabilities or costs, to the extent caused by the Client's negligent acts in co1111ection with the Project 
and that of its contractors, subcontractors or consultants or anyone for whom the Client is legally liable. 

Neither the Client nor Clm·k Dietz shall be obligated to indemnify the other pmiy in any manner whatsoever for the other pmiy's own 
negligence. 

15. LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY. In recognition of the relative risks and benefits of the Project to both the Client and Clark Dietz, 
the risks have been allocated such that the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to limit the liability of Clark Dietz and their 
officers, directors, pa1iners, employees, shm·eholders, owners and subconsultants for any mid all claims, losses, costs, damages of miy nature 
whatsoever or claims expenses from any cause or causes, including attorneys' fees and costs and expert-witness fees and costs, so that the 
total aggregate liability of Clark Dietz and their officers, directors, pminers, employees, shareholders, mvners and subconsultants shall not 
exceed Clark Dietz's total fee for services rendered on this Project, or$ 26.100 , whichever is greater. It is intended that this limitation 
apply to any and all liability or cause of action however alleged or arising, unless otherwise prohibited by law. 

16. CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. Notwithstanding any other provision of this agreement, and to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, neither the Client nor Clark Dietz, their respective officers, directors, pminers, employees, contractors or subconsultants shall be liable 
to the other or shall make any claim for any incidental, indirect or consequential damages arising out of or connected in any way to the 
Project or to this Agreement. This mutual waiver of consequential damages shall include, but is not limited to, loss of use, loss of profit, 
loss of business, loss of income, loss of reputation mid any other consequential damages that either party may have incurred from any cause 
of action including negligence, strict liability, breach of contract and breach of strict or implied warranty. Both the Client and Clark Dietz 
shall require similar waivers of consequential damages protecting all the entities or persons nmned herein in all contracts and subcontracts 
with others involved in this project. 

17. ACCESS. Client shall provide Clark Dietz safe access to the project site necessary for the perfonnance of the services. 

18. ASSIGNMENT. The rights and obligations of this Agreement cannot be assigned by either pa1iy without written permission of the 
other pmiy. This Agreement shall be binding upon and insme to the benefit of any permitted assigns. 

19. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. Clark Dietz mid Clark Dietz' consultants shall have no responsibility for discove1y, presence, 
handling, removal or disposal of or exposure of persons to hazardous materials in any fo1m at the project site, including but not limited to 
asbestos, asbestos products, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) or other toxic substmices. If required by law, the client shall accomplish all 
necessmy inspections and testing to dete1mirle the type and extent, if any, of hazm·dous materials at the project site. Prior to the stmi of 
services, or at the em·liest time such info1mation is lemned, it shall be the duty of the Client to advise Clark Dietz (in writing) of any known 
or suspected hazm·dous materials. Removal and proper disposal of all hazm·dous materials shall be the responsibility of the Client. 

20. REMODELING AND RENOVATION. For Clm·k Dietz' services provided to assist the Client in mal<lng changes to an existing 
facility, the Client shall furnish documentation and infonnation upon which Clm·k Dietz may rely for its accuracy and completeness. Unless 
specifically authorized or confinned in writing by the Client, Clm·k Dietz shall not be required to perform or have others perfonn destructive 
testing or to investigate concealed or unlmown conditions. The Client shall indemnify and hold hmmless Clark Dietz, Clark Dietz' 
consultants, and their employees from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses which arise as a result of documentation and 
infmmation furnished by the Client. 

21. CLIENT'S CONSULTANTS. Contracts between the Client and other consultants retained by Client for the Project shall require 
the consultants to coordinate their drawings and other instmments of service with those of Clark Dietz and to advise Clm·k Dietz of any 
potential conflict. Clark Dietz shall have no responsibility for the components of the project designed by the Client's consultants. The 
Client shall inde11111ify and hold hm1nless Clm·k Dietz, Clm·k Dietz' consultants and their employees from and against claims, damages, 
losses and expenses arising out of services performed for this project by other consultants of the Client. 

22. NO WAIVER. No waiver by either pmiy of miy default by the other pmiy in the performance of any pmiiculm· section of this 
Agreement shall invalidate another section of this Agreement or operate as a waiver of any furore default, whether like or different in 
chm·acter. 

8 January 2019 



23. SEVERABILITY. The various terms, provisions and covenants herein contained shall be deemed to be separate and severable, and 
the invalidity or unenforceability of any of them shall not affect or impair the validity or enforceability of the remainder. 

24. STATUTE OF LIMITATION. To the fullest extent pennitted by law, parties agree that, except for claims for indemnification, the 
time period for bringing claims under this Agreement shall expire one year after Project Completion. 

25. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. In the event of a dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the services to be rendered 
hereunder, Clark Dietz and the Client agree to attempt to resolve such disputes in the following manner: First, the pa1iies agree to attempt 
to resolve such disputes through direct negotiations between the appropriate representatives of each paiiy. Second, if such negotiations are 
not fully successful, the paiiies agree to attempt to resolve any remaining dispute by formal nonbinding mediation conducted in accordance 
with rnles and procedures to be agreed upon by the paiiies. 

9 January 2019 



SCHEDULE OF PROJECT RELATED EXPENSES 

CLARK DIETZ INC. 

Vehicles 
Autos 
Field Vehicles 
Survey Van 

Robotic Survey Equipment 

GPS Survey Equipment 

Nuclear Soils Compaction Gauge 

CADD Usage 

Drone Usage 

Regular Format Copies* (8.5"x11" or 11"x17") 
Color Copies* (8.5"x11") 
Color Copies* (11"x17") 

Large Format Plotting and/or Copying* 
(12"x18") 
(22"x34" or 24"x36") 
(30"x42") 
(36"x48") 

Large Format Scanning* 
(12"x18") 
(22"x34" or 24"x36") 
(30"x42") 
(36"x48") 

Hotels & Motels 
Meals 
Federal Express & UPS 
Public Transportation 
Film and Development 
Supplies 

Notes: 

January 1, 2019 

$0.545/mile 
$60.00/day or $0.545/mile (per agreement) 
$80.00/day or $0.75/mile (per agreement) 

$20.00/hour 

$30.00/hour 

$50.00/day 

$20.00/hour 

$35.00/hour 

$0.10/copy 
$0.50/copy 
$1.50/copy 

$0.50/sheet 
$1.75/sheet 
$2.50/sheet 
$3.00/sheet 

$.30/sheet 
$1.00/sheet 
$1.50/sheet 
$2.00/sheet 

At Cost 

The rates in this schedule are subject to review and will be adjusted as necessary, but not sooner than six 
months after the date listed above. Certain rates listed with * are for in-house production. Larger quantities 
will be sent to an outside vendor. All project related expenses and subconsultants will be billed at 110% of 
actual costs to cover handling and administrative expenses. 



Principal 

Engineer 8 

Engineer 7 

Engineer 6 

Engineer 5 

Engineer 4 

Engineer 3 

Engineer 2 

Engineer 1 

Technician 6 

Technician 5 

Technician 4 

Technician 3 

Technician 2 

Technician 1 

Clerical 

Notes: 

SCHEDULE OF GENERAL BILLING RATES 

CLARK DIETZ, INC. 

January 1, 2019 

HOURLY RATE 

$240.00 

220.00 

200.00 

190.00 

170.00 

150.00 

135.00 

120.00 

110.00 

170.00 

145.00 

135.00 

115.00 

95.00 

90.00 

85.00 

The rates in this schedule will be reviewed and adjusted as necessary but not sooner than six months after the 
date listed above. Rates include actual salaries or wages paid to employees of Clark Dietz plus payroll taxes, 
FICA, Worker's Compensation insurance, other customary and mandatory benefits, and overhead and profit. All 
project related expenses and subconsultants will be billed at 110% of actual cost to cover handling and 
administrative expenses. 



Purchase Order

Purchase 
Order #

THIS NUMBER MUST APPEAR ON ALL INVOICES,
PACKAGES AND SHIPPING PAPERS.

Fiscal Year

Date Ordered

Vendor Phone Number

Date Required Freight Method/TermsVendor Number Department/Location

Vendor Fax Number Requisition Number Contact Name

Page of

Item# Description/Part No. Unit Price Extended PriceUOMQty

ByBy
Village Administrator

V
E
N
D
O
R

S
H
I
P

T
O

PO Total

B
I
L
L
 
T
O

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39TH AVENUE
PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WI 53158
262-694-1400

2019 1 1

190320-00

CLARK DIETZ INC
125 W. CHURCH ST.
CHAMPAIGN IL 61820

Village of Pleasant Prairie
9915 39th Ave
Pleasant Prairie WI 53158

217-373-8900 217-373-8923 374 Kristina Bastainelli

02/08/2019 498 Engineering

$26,100.00

47 Ave Sewer & Water Extension

The Above Purchase Order Number Must Appear On
All Correspondence - Packing Sheets And Bills Of
Lading

Remember to give PO# when ordering.

  1 1.0 EACH $26,100.000 $26,100.0047th Avenue Sewer and Water Extension Professional  
Services Agreement with Clark Dietz  

 



   
 

8600 Green Bay Road • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-2709 • Phone 262.925.6765 • Fax 262.694.2941 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 
 

Office of the Direct of Public Works 
John Steinbrink Jr., P.E. 

 

 

To: Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator and Members of the Village Board 

From: John Steinbrink Jr., Director of Public Works 

Subject: Village of Pleasant Prairie 2019 Annual Paving Program – Project #94101 

Date: February 12, 2019 

 

Sealed bids for the above referenced project were received until 2:00 p.m. on Tuesday,  
February 12th, 2019, at the Village of Pleasant Prairie Public Works Dept.; 8600 Green 
Bay Rd., Pleasant Prairie, WI. 53158. The bids were publicly opened and read aloud.  

 

The 2019 Paving Project, as bid, consists of sixteen (16) work sections generally described 
as follows: 

 
• Section 1:  93rd Street, Cooper road to 39th Avenue – (Pulverize & Relay) – Pulverize 

existing asphalt and base, grade and compact, furnish and place 5‐inches of new 
asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (11,560 square 
yards, est. qty.) 

 

• Section 2: 72nd Avenue, STH 165 to STH 31 - (Microsurface) – Asphalt and concrete 
base repair, spot curb & gutter replacement, furnish and place 1/4‐inch of 
microsurface pavement. (11,920 square yards, est. qty.) 
 

• Section 3: 47th Avenue, CTH ML to 113th Street – (2‐inch Overlay) – Spot asphalt 
patching and base repair, furnish and place 2‐inches of new asphaltic pavement, 
manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (6,300 square yards, est. qty.) 

 
• Section 4:  47th Avenue, 113th Street to 116th Street – (Pulverize & Relay) – Pulverize 

existing asphalt and base, grade and compact, furnish and place 5‐inches of new 
asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (4,200 square 
yards, est. qty.) 
 

• Section 5:  120th Street & 45th Avenue, Terra Heights – (Pulverize & Relay) – 
Pulverize existing asphalt and base, grade and compact, furnish and place 5‐inches 
of new asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (6,450 
square yards, est. qty.) 
 



 2019 Annual Paving Program Memo 
 Page 2 

8600 Green Bay Road • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-2709 • Phone 262.925.6765 • Fax 262.694.2941 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 
 

• Section 6:  67th Street, CTH H to West Termini – (Pulverize & Relay) – Pulverize 
existing asphalt and base, grade and compact, furnish and place 5‐inches of new 
asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (2,665 square 
yards, est. qty.) 
 

• Section 7: Becker Park – (2‐inch Overlay) – Spot asphalt patching and base repair, 
furnish and place 2‐inches of new asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and 
road shouldering. (5,640 square yards, est. qty.) 
 

• Section 8: 20th Avenue, 89th Place, 90th Street – (2‐inch Overlay) – Spot asphalt 
patching and base repair, furnish and place 2‐inches of new asphaltic pavement, 
manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (8,305 square yards, est. qty.) 
 

• Section 9:  120th Street, 43rd Avenue to 44th Avenue – (Pulverize & Relay) – 
Pulverize existing asphalt and base, grade and compact, furnish and place 5‐inches 
of new asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (810 
square yards, est. qty.) 

 
• Section 10: 72nd Avenue, STH 165 to STH 31 - (Microsurface) – Asphalt and 

concrete base repair, spot curb & gutter replacement, furnish and place 1/4‐inch of 
microsurface pavement. (9,040 square yards, est. qty.) 
 

• Section 11: 7th Avenue – (2‐inch Overlay) – Spot asphalt patching and base repair, 
widening for new bike lane, furnish and place 2‐inches of new asphaltic pavement, 
manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (17,525 square yards, est. qty.) 

 
• Section 12: 109th Street, Old Green bay Road to East Termini – (2‐inch Overlay) – 

Spot asphalt patching and base repair, furnish and place 2‐inches of new asphaltic 
pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (4,060 square yards, est. 
qty.) 

 
• Section 13:  28th Avenue, STH 165 to 450’ North of STH 165 – (Pulverize & Relay) 

– Pulverize existing asphalt and base, grade and compact, furnish and place 5‐
inches of new asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. 
(1,000 square yards, est. qty.) 

 
• Section 14: 28th Avenue, 450’ North of STH 165 to North Termini – (2‐inch Overlay) 

– Spot asphalt patching and base repair, furnish and place 2‐inches of new 
asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. (4,510 square 
yards, est. qty.) 

 
• Section 15:  107th Street, Old Green Bay Road to East Termini – (Pulverize & Relay) 

– Pulverize existing asphalt and base, grade and compact, furnish and place 5‐
inches of new asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. 
(1,990 square yards, est. qty.) 

 
• Section 16:  110th Street, Old Green Bay Road to East Termini – (Pulverize & Relay) 

– Pulverize existing asphalt and base, grade and compact, furnish and place 5‐
inches of new asphaltic pavement, manhole adjustments, and road shouldering. 
(1,800 square yards, est. qty.) 



 2019 Annual Paving Program Memo 
 Page 3 

8600 Green Bay Road • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-2709 • Phone 262.925.6765 • Fax 262.694.2941 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 
 

A total of two (2) bids were received for this project: 
  

Contractor Bid (as read) 

Payne & Dolan, Inc. $2,207,136.25 

Stark Asphalt Paving $2,383,238.55 

 
The low bidder, Payne & Dolan, Inc. has completed several pavement projects for the 
Village in the past, including the 2016, 2017, and 2018 Paving Program project. 
 

The 2019 General Fund budget is $1,825,272.00. It is recommended that the Village 
award this project to Payne & Dolan, Inc. in the amount of $2,207,136.25. The project 
breakdown is as follows: 
 
 

PROJECT NUMBER 94101 56102 56705 
 

DESCRIPTION  Paving 
Program (General 

Fund) 

Paving Sewer 
Adjustments 

Clean Water 
Utility 

TOTAL 

BUDGET   $1,825,272.00   $170,000.00   $120,000.00   $2,115,272.00  

ORIGINAL BID   $1,976,240.39   $207,581.02  $23,314.84   $2,207,136.25  

 

Staff will execute change orders to ensure the project is completed within budget. 

 



AG-1 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between the Village of Pleasant Prairie (hereinafter called Owner) 
and _Payne & Dolan__ (hereinafter called Contractor). 
 
Owner and Contractor, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, agree as 
follows: 
 
ARTICLE 1.  WORK 
 
1.01 Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents.  

The Work is generally described as follows: 
 
Furnishing all labor, equipment, tools, supervision, machinery, supplies, and materials 
necessary to complete the Work on the 2019 Paving Program project. 

 
ARTICLE 2.  THE PROJECT 
 
2.01 The Project for which the Work under Contract Documents may be the whole or only part 

of is generally described as follows. 
 

2019 PAVING PROGRAM 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

 
ARTICLE 3.  ENGINEER 
 
3.01   The Engineer for this project as referenced in the agreement is the Owner or it’s designee 

as represented by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Department of Public Works who is to 
act as Owner’s representative, assume all duties and responsibilities and have the rights 
and authority assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents in connection with 
completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
ARTICLE 4.  CONTRACT TIMES 
 
4.01 Time of the Essence. 
 

A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, substantial completion, and final completion 
and readiness for final payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the 
essence of the Contract. 

 
4.02 Dates for Substantial Completion and Final Completion. 

 



AG-2 
 

A. The Work shall not start on any section of the Project prior to April 22nd, 2019 
without written permission from the Owner.  The Work shall be completed in a 
continuous manner without interruption until all Work is finished. The Work shall 
be substantially completed on or before November 1st, 2019. Final completion of 
the Work including all punch list items shall be completed on or before November 
15th, 2019.  Contractor shall make their application for final payment with all 
accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents in 
accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions within 90 days of the 
final completion date. 

 
4.03 Liquidated Damages. 
 

A. Owner and Contractor recognize that time is of the essence of this Agreement and 
that Owner will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed in a continuous 
manner or within the times and as specified in the Paragraph 4.02 above, plus any 
extension thereof allowed in accordance with Article 11 of the General Conditions.  
They also recognize the delays, expense and difficulties involved in proving in a legal 
or arbitration preceding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the Work is not 
completed on time.  Accordingly, instead of requiring such proof, Owner and 
Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty) 
Contractor shall pay Owner $500, for each day that expires after the time specified 
in Paragraph 4.02 above for Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially 
complete. 

 
After Substantial Completion, if Contractor shall neglect, refuse or fail to complete 
the remaining Work within the time specified in paragraph 4.02 above for 
completion and readiness for final payment or any proper extension thereof granted 
by Owner, Contractor shall pay OWNER $500, for each day that expires after the 
time specified in Paragraph 4.02 above for completion and readiness for final 
payment.   
 
After final completion of the Work including all punch list items, if Contractor shall 
neglect, refuse, or fail to make their application for final payment with all 
accompanying documentation within the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 for 
application for final payment, Contractor shall pay Owner $500, for each day that 
expires after the time specified in Paragraph 4.02. 

 
4.04 Permitting Contractor or Surety to continue and finish the Work or any part of the Work 

after the times specified for completion, or after the date which the times for completion 
may have been extended, shall in no way operate as a waiver on the part of the Owner of 
its rights under the Contract. 

 
 
 



AG-3 
 

ARTICLE 5.  CONTRACT PRICE 
 
5.01 Owner shall pay Contractor for the completion of the Work in accordance with the 

Contract Documents an amount in current funds equal to the sum of the amounts 
determined pursuant to Paragraphs 5.01.A and B below: 

 
A. For all Work, at the prices stated in the Contractor’s Bid. 

 
B. The Bid prices for Unit Price Work set forth as the Effective Date of the Agreement 

are based on estimated quantities.  As provided in Paragraph 13.03 of the General 
Conditions, estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and determinations of actual 
quantities and classifications are to be made by Engineer as provided in Paragraph 
10.06 of the General Conditions. 
 
1. Base Bid:   $2,207,136.25  

 
2. Alternates:   None 

 
3. Combination Bid:  None 

 
4. Final Contract Amount: $2,207,136.25 

 
ARTICLE 6.  PAYMENT PROCEDURES 
 
6.01  Submittal and Processing Payments. 
  

A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 15 of the 
General Conditions.  Application for Payment will be processed by the Engineer as 
provided in the General Conditions. 
 

B. Owner reserves the right to make payments to the Contractor and its subcontractors 
in accordance with Wis. Statute 779.14(1)(1m)(d). 

 
6.02 Progress Payments; Retainage. 
 

A. Owner will make monthly progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the 
basis of Contractor’s  Application for Payment as recommended by Engineer each 
month during the construction as provided below.  All progress payments will be on 
the basis of the progress of Work measured by the schedule of values established in 
Paragraph 2.05 of the General Conditions (and in the case of Unit Price Work based 
on the number of units completed) or, in the event there is no schedule of values, as 
provided in the General Requirements.   

 



AG-4 
 

B. After each Application for Payment has been found acceptable by the Owner, 
Owner will pay 95% of the estimated value less any previous payments to Contractor 
until the project is 50% complete.  At 50% completion, further progress payments 
will be made in full to Contractor and no additional amounts will be retained unless 
Engineer determines that the character and progress of the Work is not proceeding 
satisfactorily.  Amounts previously retained shall not be paid to Contractor.  At 50% 
completion or any time thereafter when the character and progress of the Work is 
not satisfactory, additional amounts may be retained but in no event shall the total 
retainage be more than 10% of the value of the Work completed. 

 
C. Upon Substantial Completion of the Work, the amount retained may be reduced.  

When the Work has been Substantially Completed except for Work which cannot 
be completed because of weather conditions, lack of materials or other reason 
which, in the judgment of Owner are valid reasons for non-completion, Owner may 
make additional payments, retaining at all times an amount sufficient to cover the 
estimated cost of the work still to be completed or corrected. 

 
6.03 Final Payment. 
 

A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with Paragraph 
15.06.B.1 of the General Conditions, Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract 
Price as recommended by Engineer as provided in said Paragraph 15.06.B.1, less 
liquidated damages as provided in Paragraph 4.03 above.  

 
ARTICLE 7.  CONTRACTORS REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.01 Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents (including the 

Addenda listed in Article 8) and other related data identified in the Bidding Documents. 
 
7.02 Contractor has visited the site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, 

local, and site conditions that may affect cost, progress, performance and furnishing of 
Work. 

 
7.03 Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and 

Regulations that may affect cost, progress, performance, and furnishing of the Work. 
 
7.04 Contractor has carefully studied all reports of explorations and tests of subsurface 

conditions at or contiguous to the site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating 
to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the site (except 
underground facilities) which have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as 
provided in Paragraph 5.03.A of the General Conditions.  Contractor accepts the 
determination set forth in Paragraph SC 5.03 of the Supplementary Conditions of the 
extent of the “technical data” contained in such reports and drawings upon which 
Contractor is entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 5.03 of the General Conditions.  



AG-5 
 

Contractor acknowledges that such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents 
and may not be complete for Contractor’s purposes.  Contractor acknowledges that 
Owner and Engineer do not assume responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of 
information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to 
Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site.  Contractor has obtained and carefully 
studied (or assumes responsibility for having done so) all such additional supplementary 
examinations,  investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data concerning conditions 
(surface, subsurface, and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the site or otherwise 
which may affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the Work or which relate 
to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures or 
construction to the employed by Contractor and safety precautions and programs 
incident thereto.  Contractor does not consider that any additional examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance and 
furnishing of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times and in accordance 
with the other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 

 
7.05 Contractor has correlated the information known to Contractor, information and 

observations obtained from visits to the site, reports, and drawings identified in the 
Contract Documents and all additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, 
studies and data with the Contract Documents. 

 
7.06 Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities or 

discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents and the written 
resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor, and the Contract Documents 
are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions 
for performance and furnishing of the Work. 

 
7.07 Contractor hereby covenants and agrees to pay all claims for labor, services, materials, 

plans, or specifications performed, furnished, procured, used, or consumed that pertains 
to the public improvement or public work. 

 
7.08 Contractor agrees to extent practicable, to maintain a list of all subcontractors, suppliers, 

and service providers performing, furnishing, or procuring labor, services, materials, 
plans, or specifications under the Contract. 

 
7.08.1 Subcontractor, supplier, or service provider means the following:  Any person who has 

direct contractual relationship, expressed or implied, with the Prime Contractor or with 
any subcontractor of the Prime Contractor to perform, furnish, or procure labor, services, 
materials, plans, or specifications. 

 
ARTICLE 8.  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
8.01 The Contract Documents which comprise the entire Agreement between Owner and 

Contractor concerning the Work consists of the following: 



AG-6 
 

 
A. This Agreement. 
 
B. Exhibits to this Agreement (bid form, documentation submitted by Contractor 

prior to Notice of Award). 
 
C. Performance, Payment and other Bonds. 
 
D. Notice of Award. 
 
E. Notice to Proceed. (issued separately) 
 
F. General Conditions. 
 
G. Supplemental Conditions. 
 
H. Special Provisions. 
 
I. Drawings. 
 
J. Addenda number _1_, inclusive.  
 
K. State and local forms. 

 
L. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the 

Agreement and are not attached hereto: Work Change Directives, and Change 
Order(s). 

 
ARTICLE 9.  MISCELLANEOUS 
 
9.01 All references to the General Conditions in any Contract Document shall be interpreted 

to include reference to the corresponding Article of Supplementary Conditions, whether 
stated or unstated in such reference. 

 
9.02 Terms used in this Agreement which are defined in Article 1 of the General Conditions will 

have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions. 
 
9.03 No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under of interests in the Contract 

Documents will be binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the 
party sought to be bound; and specifically but without limitation, moneys that may 
become due and moneys that are due may not be assigned without such consent (except 
to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless 
specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment no assignment 



AG-7 
 

will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract 
Documents. 

 
9.04 Owner and Contractor each bind itself, its partners, successors, assigns and legal 

representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns and legal 
representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements and obligations contained in the 
Contract Documents. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, OWNER and CONTRACTOR have signed this Agreement in duplicate.  One 
counterpart each has delivered to OWNER and CONTRACTOR.  All portions of the Contract 
Documents have been signed, initialed or identified by OWNER and CONTRACTOR. 
 
 
This Agreement will be effective on    (which is the effective Date of the 
Agreement). 
 
Attest: 
 
OWNER:      CONTRACTOR: 
 
____________________________________  ____________________________________ 
 
By: John P. Steinbrink, Jr.    By: _________________________________ 
 
Title: Director of Public Works   Title:________________________________ 
       (If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, or  
       a joint venture, attach evidence of authority to  
       sign.) 
 
 
Attest: _________________________________   Attest: _________________________________ 
 
Title:___________________________________  Title:___________________________________ 
 
Address for giving notices:    Address for giving notices: 
 
Village of Pleasant Prairie    _______________________________________ 
 
9915 39th Avenue_______________________  _______________________________________ 
 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 5318___________________ _______________________________________ 
 



Page 1 of 2 
 

ADDENDUM NO. 1 
 

2019 PAVING PROGRAM 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

 
CONTRACT NO. 94101 

 
 

BIDS CLOSE:  February 12th, 2019 @ 2:00 P.M., LOCAL TIME 
 

 
TO ALL BIDDERS BIDDING ON THE ABOVE CONTRACT: 
 
All Bidders submitting Bids on the above Contract shall carefully read this Addendum and give it 
consideration in preparation of their Bid.  The signed and completed Addendum shall be enclosed with 
the Bidding Documents and shall be acknowledged on Bid Form in applicable location. 
 

 
 

1) Project Manual 
 
a) Bid Form. 

 
A. Replace the Article 5 unit price schedule, pages BF-4 to BF-17, with the attached. Bid items 

and/or sections which were revised, added, or deleted by this Addendum are identified with 
red text. 

 
B. Insert the following paragraph immediately before Article 6 on page BF-18: 
 

The preceding Unit Price Schedule is divided into Sections representing distinct portions of 
the Work.  It is the Owner’s intent to receive bids on all Sections and to award a single 
Contract for the entire project including all sections of Work.  Owner reserves the right to 
delete one or more Sections of the Work without affecting unit prices for the remaining 
Work.  Owner will award a single Contract for the entire project and will modify the Contract 
by Change Order if he determines it appropriate to delete one or more Sections of Work.   

 
b) Special Provisions. 

 
A. Replace paragraph 1646.B.1., page SP-63, with the following:  
 

1. Pavement marking material shall be epoxy conforming to Subsection 646.2 of the “State 
Specifications”. 

 
c) Appendix. 

 
A. Add note “EXISTING ROADWAY PAVEMENT SHALL BE PULVERIZED” on detail A-10. 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

B. Replace details A-11 and A-19 with the attached. 
 
C. Insert attached detail A-12.1. 

 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 
 
 

Kurt Davidsen      2/6/19 
Kurt Davidsen, P.E.      Date 
Assistant Village Engineer 
 
The Bidder hereby acknowledges receipt of this Addendum by his signature affixed hereto in the space 
below and by inserting the signed and completed Addendum in the Bid Form. 
 
 

CONTRACTOR’S FIRM NAME            

PRINCIPAL            

DATE            

 



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

1
Pulverize and Relay Asphaltic Pavement and Base Course, as 

specified:
SY 11,560

2 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 665

3 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 120

4 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 60

5
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 120

6
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Lower Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 1,970

7
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 1,320

8
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 115

9 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 430

10 Pavement Marking, Epoxy 4", furnished and installed as specified: LF 15,000

11 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 1

12
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 14

13 Sanitary Manhole Reconstruction, as specified: EA 6

14 Relocate Mailbox, as specified: EA 10

15 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

16 Lawn Restoration, as specified: SY 200

17 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 1 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 1 THRU 17, INCLUSIVE:

2019 PAVING PROGRAM

ADDENDUM 1 UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE

SECTION 1 - 93RD STREET (COOPER RD TO 39TH AVENUE) PULV & RELAY (11560 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-4



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

18 Mill and Asphalt Patching 1-3/4-inch, as specified: SY 960

19 Composite Roadway Patching, as specified: SY 144

20 Base Repair 6-inch, as specified: SY 144

21 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 60

22
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 120

23 Micro-surface, type II, furnished and placed as specified: SY 11,920

24 Curb & Gutter spot repairs, as specified: LF 325

25 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

26 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 2 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 18 THRU 26, INCLUSIVE:

Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

27 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 310

28 Asphalt Patching 5-inch, as specified: SY 510

29 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 100

30 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 50

31
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 100

32
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 720

33
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 50

34 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 115

35 Pavement Marking, Epoxy 4", furnished and installed as specified LF 9,800

36 Pavement Marking, Epoxy 18", furnished and installed as specified LF 11

37 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

38 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 3 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 27 THRU 38, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 2 - 72ND AVENUE (STH 165 TO STH 31) MICROSURFACE (11920 SY)

SECTION 3 - 47TH AVENUE (CTH ML TO 113TH STREET) 2" OVERLAY (6300 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-5



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

39
Pulverize and Relay Asphaltic Pavement and Base Course, as 

specified:
SY 4,200

40 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 115

41 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 50

42 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 25

43
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 50

44
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Lower Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 720

45
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 480

46
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 13

47 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 180

48 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 2

49
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 23

50 Sanitary Manhole Reconstruction, as specified: EA 1

51 Relocate Mailbox, as specified: EA 6

51.1 Pavement Marking, Epoxy 4", furnished and installed as specified LF 6,660

51.2 Pavement Marking, Epoxy 18", furnished and installed as specified LF 11

52 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

53 Lawn Restoration, as specified: SY 100

54 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 4 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 39 THRU 54, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 4 - 47TH AVENUE (113TH STREET TO 116TH STREET) PULV & RELAY (4200 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-6



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

55 Common Excavation, as specified: CY 540

56
Pulverize and Relay Asphaltic Pavement and Base Course, as 

specified:
SY 6,380

57 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 370

58 Concrete Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 32

59 Brick Paver Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 14

60 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 100

61 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 50

62
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 100

63
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Lower Layer, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 1,260

64
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 730

65
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Upper Layer (driveways), 

furnished and installed as specified:
TON 72

66
Base Aggregate Dense, 1-1/4”, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 550

67
Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 265

68 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 6

69
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 65

70 Sanitary Manhole Reconstruction, as specified: EA 6

71 Relocate Mailbox, as specified: EA 15

72
Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as 

specified:
LS 1

73
Ditch checks, furnished, installed, and maintained as 

specified:
SY 8

74 Lawn Restoration, as specified: SY 1,170

75 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 5 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 55 THRU 75, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 5 - 120TH STREET & 45TH AVENUE (TERRA HEIGHTS) PULV & RELAY (6450 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-7



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

76
Pulverize and Relay Asphaltic Pavement and Base Course, as 

specified:
SY 2,665

77 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 52

78 Concrete Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 250

79 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 50

80 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 25

81
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 50

82
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Lower Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 460

83
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 310

84
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 52

85 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 145

86 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 2

87
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 19

88 Sanitary Manhole Reconstruction, as specified: EA 2

89 Relocate Mailbox, as specified: EA 10

90 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

91 Lawn Restoration, as specified: SY 200

92 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 6 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 76 THRU 92, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 6 - 67TH STREET (W. OF CTH H) PULV & RELAY (2665 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-8



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

93 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 460

94 Asphalt Patching 5-inch, as specified: SY 100

95 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 50

96 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 25

97
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 50

98
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 650

99
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer (driveways & parking 

lots), furnished and installed as specified:
TON 50

100 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 160

101 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 16

102
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 32

103 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

104 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 7 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 93 THRU 104, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 7 - BECKER PARK 2" OVERLAY (5640 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-9



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

105 Asphalt Patching 5-inch, as specified: SY 670

106 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 385

107 Concrete Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 390

108 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 80

109 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 40

110
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 80

111
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 950

112
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 75

113 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 145

114 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 3

115
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 32

116 Sanitary Manhole Reconstruction, as specified: EA 7

117 Storm Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 2

118
Storm Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and installed 

as specified:
V-IN 11

119 Pavement Marking, Epoxy 18", furnished and installed as specified: LF 55

120 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

121 Lawn Restoration, as specified: SY 200

122 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 8 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 105 THRU 122, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 8 - 20TH AVENUE, 89TH PLACE, 90TH STREET 2" OVERLAY (8305 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-10



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

123
Pulverize and Relay Asphaltic Pavement and Base Course, as 

specified:
SY 810

124 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 100

125 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 50

126
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 100

127
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Lower Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 150

128
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 100

129 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 34

130 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 1

131
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 5

132 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

133 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 9 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 123 THRU 133, INCLUSIVE:

Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

134 Mill and Asphalt Patching 1-3/4-inch, as specified: SY 730

135 Composite Roadway Patching, as specified: SY 144

136 Base Repair 6-inch, as specified: SY 144

137 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 25

138
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 50

139 Micro-surface, type II, furnished and installed as specified: SY 9,040

140 Curb & Gutter spot repairs, as specified: LF 115

141 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

142 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 10 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 134 THRU 142, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 9 - 120TH STREET (43RD AVE TO 44TH AVE) PULV & RELAY (810 SY)

SECTION 10 - 72ND AVENUE (STH 165 TO STH 31 N.) MICROSURFACE (9040 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-11



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

143 Common excavation, as specified: CY 1,330

144 Asphalt Patching 5-inch, as specified: SY 1,410

145 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 10

146 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 150

147 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 75

148
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 150

149
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Lower Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 560

150
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 2,400

151
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 5

152 Base Aggregate Dense, 1-1/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 2,160

153 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 260

154 Pavement Marking, Epoxy 4", furnished and installed as specified: LF 23,150

155
Pavement Marking Arrows Bike Lane, Epoxy, furnished and 

installed as specified
EA 6

156
Pavement Marking Symbols Bike, Epoxy, furnished and installed as 

specified:
EA 6

156.1
Pavement Marking Words Bike, Epoxy, furnished and installed as 

specified:
EA 3

157
Pavement Marking Railroad Crossing, Epoxy, furnished and 

installed as specified:
EA 2

158 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

159 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 11 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 143 THRU 159, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 11 - 7TH AVENUE (91ST STREET TO N. VILLAGE LIMITS) 2" OVERLAY (17525 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-12



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

160 Asphalt Patching 5-inch, as specified: SY 340

161 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 350

162 Concrete Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 40

163 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 50

164 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 25

165
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 50

166
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 470

167
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 45

168 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 80

169 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 5

170
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 45

171 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

172 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 12 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 160 THRU 172, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 12 - 109TH STREET (OLD GB RD TO E. TERMINI) 2" OVERLAY (4060 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-13



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

173
Pulverize and Relay Asphaltic Pavement and Base Course, as 

specified:
SY 1,000

174 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 76

175 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 100

176 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 50

177
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 100

178
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Lower Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 180

179
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 120

180
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 15

181 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 55

182 Sanitary Manhole Reconstruction, as specified: EA 1

183 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

184 Lawn Restoration, as specified: SY 50

185 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 13 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 172 THRU 185, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 13 - 28TH AVENUE (STH 165 TO 450' N. OF STH 165) PULV & RELAY (1000 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-14



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

186 Asphalt Patching 5-inch, as specified: SY 400

187 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (driveways), as specified: SY 300

188 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 100

189 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 50

190
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 100

191
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 515

192
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 35

193 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 100

194 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 2

195
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 26

196 Sanitary Manhole Reconstruction, as specified: EA 1

197 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

198 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 14 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 186 THRU 198, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 14 - 28TH AVENUE (450' N. OF 165 TO N. TERMINI)  2" OVERLAY (4510 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-15



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

199
Pulverize and Relay Asphaltic Pavement and Base Course, as 

specified:
SY 1,990

200 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (Driveways), as specified: SY 6

201 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 100

202 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 50

203
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 100

204
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Lower Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 340

205
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 230

206
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 4

207 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 105

208 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 1

209
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 28

210 Sanitary Manhole Reconstruction, as specified: EA 2

211 Relocate Mailbox, as specified: EA 4

212 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

213 Lawn Restoration, as specified: SY 100

214 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 15 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 199 THRU 214, INCLUSIVE:

SECTION 15 - 107TH STREET (OLD GB ROAD TO E. TERMINI) PULV & RELAY (1990 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-16



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total

215
Pulverize and Relay Asphaltic Pavement and Base Course, as 

specified:
SY 1,800

216 Asphaltic Pavement Removal (Driveways), as specified: SY 55

217 Base Repair 12-inch, as specified: SY 100

218 Excavation Below Subgrade, as specified: CY 50

219
Granular Backfill for Excavation below Subgrade, furnished and 

installed as specified:
TON 100

220
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Lower Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 310

221
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 2" Upper Layer, furnished and installed as 

specified:
TON 205

222
HMA Pavement, Type LT, 3" Upper Layer (driveways), furnished 

and installed as specified:
TON 12

223 Base Aggregate Dense, 3/4”, furnished and installed as specified: TON 115

224 Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, as specified: EA 1

225
Sanitary Manhole Adjustment, adjusting rings, furnished and 

installed as specified:
V-IN 12

226 Relocate Mailbox, as specified: EA 10

227 Traffic Control, furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1

228 Lawn Restoration, as specified: SY 100

229 Mobilization, as specified: LS 1

SECTION 16 SUBTOTAL - ITEMS 215 THRU 229, INCLUSIVE:

SECTIONS 1 -16 TOTAL - ITEMS 1 THRU 229, INCLUSIVE:

END BID FORM

SECTION 16 - 110TH STREET (OLD GB ROAD TO E. TERMINI) PULV & RELAY (1800 SY)

2019 PAVING PROGRAM-ADDENDUM 1
BF-17



1
D
W
G
 
1 
O
F
 
 
 
D
W
G
S

S
C

A
LE

: 1
"-

20
'

12
0T

H
 S

TR
E

E
T 

C
U

L-
D

E
-S

A
C

 S
E

C
TI

O
N

 5
20

19
 P

A
V

IN
G

 P
R

O
G

R
A

M

D
E
S
I
G
N
E
D
 
B
Y
:
 
 
 
K
D

D
R
A
W
N
 
B
Y
:
 
 
 
 
 
 
T
P
K

C
H
E
C
K
E
D
 
B
Y
:
 
 
 
 
 

D
A
T
E
 
C
H
E
C
K
E
D
:
 
 
0
1
/
2
1
/
1
9

S
TO

R
M

 S
E

W
E

R
 P

LA
N

725.30

725.5

726.6

725.8

726.82
726.02

725.72

725.52

725.30

724

725.2

725

725.5

724.8

726.6

725

724.8

725.1

722.8
723.3

725

725.20

725.05

724.8

724.95

723.8

724

722

724.3

724.8

725.42
725.20

725.72

725.4

725.5

725.20

723.7

723.55

723.45
725.02

725

724.5

725.02
725.22

725.1

724.9

725.44

725.20

725.27

725.05

RELOCATE MAILBOX

12" CULVERT 
(BY OTHERS)
(TYP)

RELOCATE MAILBOX12" RCP STORM (BY OTHERS)

12" RCP STORM (BY OTHERS)

CROWN (TYP.)

RELOCATE MAILBOX

DITCH CHECK (TYP)

REMOVE CULVERT 
(BY OTHERS)

REMOVE CULVERT
(BY OTHERS)
(TYP)

STANDARD PULVERIZE 
& RELAY

STANDARD PULVERIZE & RELAY

REMOVE EXISTING ROADWAY PAVEMENT
BY PULVERIZING

STORM INLET (BY
OTHERS)

DITCH (TYP)

EXISTING EDGE
OF PAVEMENT

A-11



 

5" HMA PAVEMENT
 2" UPPER LAYER
 3" LOWER LAYER

12" OF 11
4 INCH BASE AGGREGATE DENSEEX. GRADE

3/4" BASE AGGREGATE DENSE
5" THICK

4V:1H TYP.
(VARIES)

6'

LAWN RESTORATION

11' 11' 11' 11'

6" OF 11
4 INCH BASE AGGREGATE DENSE

3" HMA DRIVEWAY

MATCH EXISTING

VARIES
1' MIN.

VARIES
(46' MAX.)

A-12.1



7TH AVE

85TH ST

82ND ST

85TH ST

T h e  V i l l a g e  o f  P l e a s a n t  P r a i r i e  m a k e s  n o  r e p r e s e n t a i o n sT h e  V i l l a g e  o f  P l e a s a n t  P r a i r i e  m a k e s  n o  r e p r e s e n t a i o n s
c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  a c c u r a c y  o r  v a l i d i t y  p r e s e n t e d  o n  t h i s  m a p .c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  a c c u r a c y  o r  v a l i d i t y  p r e s e n t e d  o n  t h i s  m a p .

I n f o r m a t i o n  i s  f o r  g e n e r a l  i n f o r m a t i o n a l  p u r p o s e  o n l y  a n d  i sI n f o r m a t i o n  i s  f o r  g e n e r a l  i n f o r m a t i o n a l  p u r p o s e  o n l y  a n d  i s
n o t  t o  b e  u s e d  f o r  s y s t e m  d e s i g n  p u r p o s e s  b y  o t h e r s .n o t  t o  b e  u s e d  f o r  s y s t e m  d e s i g n  p u r p o s e s  b y  o t h e r s . /0 230 460115

Feet
1 inch = 200 feet 1:2,400

7TH AVE

90TH ST

SECTION 11: 7TH AVENUE 
VILLAGE LIMIT TO 91ST STREET

A-19

ENDS LA
NE BIK

E

BIKE LANE WORDS
(4' TALL), WHITE
EPOXY

MARKING
RAILROAD
CROSSING,
WHITE
EPOXY

BIKE LANE ARROW,
WHITE EPOXY
(TYP)

BIKE LANE
SYMBOL, WHITE
EPOXY (TYP)

END PAVEMENT
MARKINGS

4" DOUBLE
CENTER LINE,
YELLOW EPOXY
(TYP)

4" EDGE LINE,
WHITE EPOXY
(TYP)

BIKE LANE ARROW,
WHITE EPOXY
(TYP)

BIKE LANE
SYMBOL, WHITE
EPOXY (TYP)

4" DOUBLE
CENTER LINE,
YELLOW EPOXY
(TYP)

4" EDGE LINE,
WHITE EPOXY
(TYP)



MEMORANDUM 

To:        Village Board 

From:   Nathan R. Thiel 

Date:    February 18, 2019 

Re:        Comprehensive Fire/EMS Assessment 

 

 

9915 39th Avenue • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-6504 • Phone 262.925.6721 • Fax 262.694.4734 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 

 

Office of the Village Administrator 

The Village of Pleasant Prairie recently solicited proposals from qualified consulting firms to conduct a Comprehensive 

Fire/EMS Assessment.  The purpose of the study is to evaluate current service delivery and the Villages capacity to meet 

community service needs, both current and future. The study includes evaluation of staffing, deployment, call volume, 

fiscal restraints, apparatus & equipment, and station locations. The consultant will evaluate the current response level, 

incident trends, department deficiencies, and community risks, in order to identify methods to mitigate against trends 

and deficiencies.  

The Village received two proposals from qualified consulting firms with national experience. Below are the basic terms 

of their proposals: 

McGrath Consulting Group: 

 Headquartered: Chicago IL 

 Study Cost: $28,900 (not to exceed) 

 Travel Cost: $0.00 (included) 

 Time of Delivery: 5 Months 

Center for Public Safety Management 

 Headquartered: Washington DC 

 Study Cost: $42,900 (with ICMA discount) 

 Travel Cost: $4,500 (not to exceed) 

 Time of Delivery: 5 Months

The Village in 2019 budgeted a one-time $30,000 expense for a Fire/EMS study. The Fire Chief, Assistant Village 

Administrator, and Village Administrator have reviewed the proposals and at this time recommend approval of the 

McGrath Consulting Group Proposal for an amount not to exceed $28,900.  



 

 

 

Proposal To 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

for the 
 

 

               
                                            

 

 

 

 

 

Submitted by 
 

          
     

February 2019 

Village of Pleasant Prairie  



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 2 
 

 

 

 

        
February 6, 2019 

 

Village of Pleasant Prairie 

Attn: Mr. Nathan R. Thiel, Village Administrator 

9915 39th Avenue 

Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158-6504 

 

 

Dear Mr. Thiel, 

 

McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. is pleased to submit a proposal to conduct a Comprehensive 

Assessment of the Pleasant Prairie Fire Department. The intent of the study is to highlight areas 

of service delivery excellence and identify opportunities to address current and long-term future 

resource needs to align with fiscal resources.   

 

We are confident we can develop and provide a quality report that addresses the current and 

future fire/EMS needs for the Pleasant Prairie Fire Department.  This proposal outlines the 

project work plan, study methodology, consulting team assigned to this project, and other study 

objectives. This analysis becomes the foundation for the assessment of the Pleasant Prairie Fire 

Department, which in turn, identifies areas of excellence, current and future challenges, and 

opportunities in providing the highest level of future fire/EMS protection in the most cost-

effective manner.  

 

McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. utilizes consultants who are highly skilled individuals with both 

educational credentials and work experiences in the areas outlined in this proposal.  Our 

consultants have an extensive understanding of the Fire/EMS service and utilize proven study 

methodologies. Our project manager will communicate regularly with your designated individual 

to ensure a timely response to issues, questions, or requests you might have.  Our project team 

will remain intact during the duration of this project.    

 

Our firm will partner with our subsidiary company McGrath Human Resources Group to address 

opportunities/issues related to Human Resource matters.  Dr. Victoria McGrath brings her 

expertise in dealing with the human element of the project, federal and state compliances, and 

compensation issues.  Dr. Victoria McGrath has been involved in past fire/EMS studies since the 

inception of our corporation.   

 

 

 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 3 
 

 

 

We understand the importance of this project and look forward to the opportunity of working 

with Village officials, Fire Department leadership and members, and other identified 

stakeholders.  We have conducted many fire and/or EMS assessments including guidance in 

future delivery of fire/EMS services.   

 

After review of the study objectives sent to the Village Administrator it was determined that the 

following objectives would not be included in the study.  

 

• Communication/Dispatch 

• Training 

• Fire Prevention 

• Community Safety Education 

 

The consultants believe that the Training Objective” needs to be included; therefore, it will be 

part of the study, but the firm will conduct that objective at no costs to the client.  

 

 

Sincerely, 

Tim McGrath, Ph.D. 
Dr. Tim McGrath  

CEO 

  



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 4 
 

 

Table of Contents 
Firm Background .......................................................................................................................... 5 

Firm Identification & Qualifications .......................................................................................... 5 

Understanding of the Project ....................................................................................................... 5 
Stakeholder Input ......................................................................................................................... 6 

Unique Approach ........................................................................................................................ 6 
Scope of Services ........................................................................................................................... 6 

Objective - Development of Project Work Plan ..................................................................... 7 

Objective - Review of Background Information and Data ..................................................... 7 
Objective - Governance & Management Component ............................................................. 7 

Objective - Fire/EMS Department Overview/Operations ....................................................... 8 
Objective - Fire Suppression/Prevention and EMS System Operations ................................. 8 
Objective - National Standards Comparison ........................................................................... 8 
Objective - Technical Rescue Services Support and Resource Capability ............................. 9 

Objective - Staffing ................................................................................................................. 9 
Objective - Personnel Management ........................................................................................ 9 
Objective – Public Safety Facilities: Distribution and Concentration .................................. 10 

Objective - Apparatus/Vehicles/Equipment.......................................................................... 10 
Objective - Community Risk Analysis ................................................................................. 11 
Objective - Training /Certifications ...................................................................................... 11 

Objective - Short and Medium Term Strategies ................................................................... 11 

Objective - Recommended Long -Term Strategy ................................................................. 12 
Objective - Fiscal/Capital Analysis ...................................................................................... 12 
Objective - Draft Master Plan Report ................................................................................... 12 

Objective - Final Review/Assessment Study Plan ................................................................ 13 
Consultation Team Organization Chart ................................................................................... 13 

Project Consulting Team Members .......................................................................................... 14 
Dr. Tim McGrath – Project Manager .................................................................................... 14 
Chief Mike Stried – Fire/EMS Consultant ............................................................................ 15 

Chief Gregg Cleveland – Fire/EMS Consultant ................................................................... 15 
Chief Don Markowski – Fire/EMS Consultant .................................................................... 16 

BC. Larry Pieniazek – Fire/EMS Consultant ........................................................................ 17 
Mr. Robert Harrison – Fiscal Analysis/Administration ........................................................ 18 
Dr. Victoria McGrath – Human Resources ........................................................................... 18 

Ms. Malayna Halvorson Maes – Human Resources Consultant ........................................... 19 
References .................................................................................................................................... 20 
Services Expected from the Village, Fire/EMS Department .................................................. 21 
Proposed Project Schedule ......................................................................................................... 21 
Study Costs .................................................................................................................................. 22 

Insurance ..................................................................................................................................... 23 
Final Word ................................................................................................................................... 23 

 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 5 
 

 

Firm Background 

McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. was founded in May of 2000 with a mission to assist municipal 

agencies that wish to provide cost-effective, high quality services in public safety. 

 

Address:  McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. 

  P.O. Box 190 

  Wonder Lake, IL 60097 

 

Office:  Wonder Lake, IL 

 

Contact: Phone: (815) 728-9111 

  Fax: (815) 331-0215 

  Cell:  (815) 307-2780 

  Web:  www.mcgrathconsulting.com   

     Email:   tim@mcgrathconsulting.com  

 

Federal Tax I.D. #:     01-0774070 

 

CEO: McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. - Dr. Tim McGrath 

CEO: McGrath Human Resources Group – Dr. Victoria McGrath 

 

Firm Identification & Qualifications 

McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. specializes in public sector consulting predominately in the 

fields of fire, EMS, police, and human resource management.  The principals of the company 

have over 50 years of public sector experience.  McGrath Consulting employs approximately 27 

staff members (principals, consultants, and clerical) who may be used on any study depending on 

the area of expertise required. 

 

McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. has conducted a number of review/assessment studies 

addressing effectiveness, governance, leadership, dispatch, facility location, staffing 

methodologies, resource deployment, personnel management, partnerships, and a department’s 

operations in providing quality services within the Village’s fiscal capabilities.  Our firm has 

clients in 36 states and prides itself on its innovative recommendations that maximize service in 

the most cost-effective manner.   

 

Understanding of the Project 

The Pleasant Prairie Village Board is performing their due diligence in their commitment in the 

oversight of taxpayers’ investment into the fire department providing emergency fire/EMS 

services.  

 

The Village within its proposal include a comprehensive list of items to be evaluated. The 

objectives listed in this proposal will encompass all of the items outlined in the Village’s 

“Introduction” section of the Request For Proposal document.  

http://www.mcgrathconsulting.com/
mailto:tim@mcgrathconsulting.com


McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 6 
 

 

 

The Village is requesting that the completed study will provide recommendations for a future 

organizational model for the delivery of fire/EMS as relevant to best practices, benchmarks and 

accepted standards for Fire/EMS services.  The Village is requesting that the study 

recommendations will include various service delivery options and the costs associated with 

those options.  

 

Stakeholder Input 

The consultants will strive to obtain input and gather information by conducting interviews with 

both key external and internal stakeholders.  The interviews will be utilized as one method of 

gathering information from all stakeholders regarding their satisfaction with the current level of 

Fire/EMS services being provided, as well as to determine their future expectations related to 

service delivery.   

 

The consultant project team will interview key stakeholders that may be associated with the 

outcome of the project as well as interview appropriate Village officials, administrative officials, 

fire department leadership team, members of the department, and other stakeholders identified by 

the client and/or project team as necessary (e.g. Village officials).   

 

Stakeholder input is critical to the project’s success; therefore, considerable amount of time will 

be dedicated to this endeavor.  These meetings and interviews will provide the consulting team 

the ability to identify the culture of the organization, opportunities to improve existing services, 

identify service delivery options; and explore opportunities for more cost-effective service 

delivery. All stakeholder’s interviews will be kept confidential with the consultants recapping the 

major themes discovered without the identification of a specific stakeholder.  

 

Unique Approach 

Our firm does not utilize a cut-and-paste approach to our clients; rather, we take the time needed 

to learn the culture of the municipality as well as the service providers.  Learning the culture of 

the services providers sounds nice, but what does it mean and why does it make a difference in 

the outcome of a study? 

 

Basically, organizational culture is the personality of the organization comprised of the 

assumptions, values, norms, and tangible signs (artifacts) of organization members and their 

behaviors.  Each department has its own culture, most often both an espoused culture and an 

enacted culture; which might or might not align with the perceived culture of those who govern 

and its administration. Our firm believes that understanding the culture is essential to identifying 

opportunities for change.  We seek to understand the culture by viewing it at different levels. 

 

Scope of Services 

The study will address the following topics which are briefly described below.  Each objective 

has considerable depth and this outline is intended to illustrate the scope of work – not the 

breadth of the topic.  



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 7 
 

 

 

Objective - Development of Project Work Plan 
▪ Develop a project work plan based on the scope of work 

▪ Conduct an initial meeting with the Village’s project team 

▪ Gain an understanding of the organization's background, goals and expectations for the 

project 

▪ Establish working relationships, make logistical arrangements, determine communication 

process and finalize contract arrangements 

▪ Identify work plan specifics 

o Primary tasks to be performed 

o Person(s) responsible for each task 

o Time table for each task to be complete 

o Method of evaluating results 

o Resources to be utilized 

o Possible obstacles or problem areas associated with the accomplishment of each 

task 

 

Objective - Review of Background Information and Data 
▪ Review and analyze pertinent information, data, maps and previous studies 

▪ Assess and evaluate the information provided to the consultant by the Village, fire 

department, and dispatch 

▪ Utilize the appropriate information, data, maps and other information in the development 

of the fire/EMS service delivery plan 

 

 Objective - Governance & Management Component 
▪ Review and evaluate the fire/EMS department's management processes including 

mission, vision, strategic planning, goals and objectives 

▪ Assess and evaluate the functionality of the fire/EMS department's Organizational 

Structure  

▪ Examine fire/EMS department's leadership effectiveness   

▪ Determination of the managerial leadership philosophy: 

o Alignment with the governing strategic initiatives  

o Best practices to ensure a unified department team in providing services  

o Assess the cooperation between other public safety departments 

▪ Gain an understanding of past management practices and impact on the culture of the 

organization 

▪ Review and evaluate the fire/EMS department critical issues and future challenges 

▪ Evaluate the effectiveness of both internal and external communication processes 

▪ Review and assess the fire/EMS department policies and/or procedures for reporting and 

record keeping including document control and security processes  

▪ Review existing policies and procedures of the department – evaluate against industry 

best practice: 

o Standard Operating Guidelines/Procedures – emergency and non-emergency 

services 

▪ Evaluate the use of information technology within the fire/EMS department 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 8 
 

 

 

Objective - Fire/EMS Department Overview/Operations  
▪ Assess the current overall fire/EMS department operations for efficiency and 

effectiveness – information used as the basis for recommendations 

▪ Gain an understanding of the history and culture of the organization 

▪ Provide a general overview of the department and protection area  

▪ Assess the current department operation including fire, EMS, fire prevention, and safety 

education activities 

▪ Analyze the department’s organizational structure, design and administration 

▪ Review foundational policy documents 

▪ Evaluate the department’s operations for compliance with commonly accepted standards 

▪ Review of current trends in emergency and non-emergency demands 

 

Objective - Fire Suppression/Prevention and EMS System Operations 
• Determine trends using data collection for the last three years to determine trends in: 

o Emergency responses 

▪ Analyze current emergency operations: 

o Types of emergency incidents 

o Response times 

o Time of emergency alarms   

o Day of the week of emergency  

o Calls by month  

o Simultaneous call data 

o Location of responses 

▪ Assess existing department strategic plan 

▪ Review current deployment strategy and identify any gaps  

▪ Review alternative station re-location opportunities 

▪ Analyze current workload of individual companies  

▪ Assess actual system reflex time performance of individual companies 

▪ Review and assess incident control and management in terms of performance 

▪ Determine water supply capabilities and effectiveness of utilization by the department 

▪ Evaluate emergency medical services delivery and support functions 

▪ Evaluate emergency medical non-emergency patient transports services (if provided) 

▪ Assess current mutual aid and automatic response agreement(s) with surrounding 

jurisdictions 

 

Objective - National Standards Comparison 
▪ Impact of national emergency response trends 

▪ Evaluate significance of national, state, and local fire service standards:  

o National Fire Protection Association (NFPA)  



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 9 
 

 

o Insurance Service Offices, Inc. (ISO) rating significance to the community 

o Insurance Advisory Organization 

o Commission on Accreditation of Ambulance Services (CAAS) 

o Center for Public Safety Excellence (CPSE) – formerly the Commission of Fire 

Accreditation International (CFAI)  

▪ Assessment of the department’s compliance with industry standards 

 
Objective - Technical Rescue Services Support and Resource Capability 

▪ Evaluate the department s capabilities in regards to technical rescue incident responses to 

include, but not limited to the following: 

o Review of physical and personnel resources 

o Review of training and educational compliance 

o Review of historical staffing performance in regards to technical rescue responses 

 

Objective - Staffing 
▪ Review and evaluate administration and support staffing levels  

▪ Review and evaluate operational staffing levels 

▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of staffing methods, numbers, and distribution of personnel 

o Administrative and support staff 

o Suppression staff including shift and fire company levels 

o Emergency medical technician and paramedic staff 

o Fire Prevention staff 

o Safety education staff 

▪ Review staff scheduling methodology 

o Career 

o Part time: Paid-on-Premise 

o Part time: Paid-on-Call 

o Contractual  

o Volunteer 

▪ Assess staffing deployment in station, on apparatus, and hospital including distribution, 

concentration and performance for incidents 

▪ Review the firefighter and EMS staff distribution 

▪ Evaluate the effectiveness of the first response assignment 

▪ Evaluate the responsibilities and activity levels of personnel 

▪ Assess span of control of officers 

▪ Evaluate department’s staffing levels compared to national standards  

 

Objective - Personnel Management 
▪ Audit of fire/EMS department human resource policies and practices 

▪ Assessment of employees record management systems  



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 10 
 

 

▪ Assessment of current compensation, payroll, and benefits  

▪ Examination of compensation practices as it relates to the Fair Labor Standards Act 

▪ Examination of current collective bargaining agreements if applicable  

▪ Assessment of management/labor relationship 

▪ Examination of recruiting and hiring practices 

▪ Assessment of employee retention programs 

▪ Appraisal of the promotional process 

▪ Review existing ranks and titles of the leadership team 

▪ Review disciplinary process 

 

Objective – Public Safety Facilities: Distribution and Concentration 
▪ Evaluate the current facilities locations and distribution – utilizing GIS mapping 

▪ Evaluate the current facilities and limitations – both support and emergency 

appropriateness 

▪ Illustrate travel time/distance utilizing GIS mapping from the current stations 

▪ Determine if the existing public safety facilities are located in the most advantageous 

location 

▪ Assess compliance of existing facilities to industry safety standards (i.e. ADA) 

▪ Identify future facility needs (including additional, reduction, or relocation of facility(ies) 

▪ Analyze the potential for consolidation of the facilities based on concentration, 

distribution, reliability and cost benefit 

▪ Review compliance of existing facilities for code compliance and industry safety 

standards 

▪ Evaluate current facilities for safety, efficiency and environmental issues 

▪ Determine future viability of current public safety facilities and identify future facility 

needs  

 

Objective - Apparatus/Vehicles/Equipment 
• Assess and evaluate the current condition and limitations of 

apparatus/vehicles/equipment 

• Assessment of types of apparatus/vehicle, age, and appropriateness for the department 

• Evaluation of the apparatus replacement plan – if needed develop a replacement plan  

• Identification of the department’s current and future vehicle/apparatus and equipment 

needs; including reduction of apparatus/equipment if warranted 

• Assess the distribution and deployment of apparatus/vehicles 

• Evaluate and assess the department’s current maintenance operations in terms of costs 

effectiveness and compliance with regulations 

  



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 11 
 

 

Objective - Community Risk Analysis 
▪ Assess future emergency and non-emergency service needs based on population growth, 

historical incident rates, future incident rate projections 

▪ Review future geographic growth projections based on population history 

▪ Review and evaluate census-based and community planning-based growth projections 

▪ Review current demographics and future projections for population growth including 

aging populations, increase density projections and occupancy types 

▪ Assess community land use regulations and maps 

▪ Assess zoning maps and future land usage plans 

▪ Identify and evaluate future transportation implications and traffic congestion issues 

▪ Develop vision of future emergency responses 

o Response times 

o Adequate staffing 

o Adequate resources 

This does not result in a Community Risk Reduction document 

 

Objective - Training /Certifications 
▪ Evaluate training/certifications records for the past three years 

▪ Assess the training program and professional development opportunities  

o Facilities 

o Resources  

o Programs/Curriculums 

o Schedules 

o Records 

▪ Certificates  

▪ Record keeping procedures 

▪ Assess and evaluation of training facilities 

▪ Evaluate the training program administration and outcomes 

▪ Evaluate the department Safety Program and develop recommendations as determined 

 

Objective - Short and Medium Term Strategies  
▪ Develop recommendations for improving system delivery and efficiency prior to long-

term strategies being implemented in areas such as the following: 

o Agency management and organization 

o Staffing and personnel deployment 

o Service delivery methods 

o Training programs 

o Prevention programs 

o Safety education programs 

o Enhanced cooperative service agreements with other communities or agencies 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 12 
 

 

o System funding and cost recovery 

o Other areas as determined to be appropriate and necessary 

 
Objective - Recommended Long -Term Strategy  

▪ Develop recommendations for long-term options for resource deployment that will 

improve the department’s level of service and system efficiency 

▪  Develop recommendations will include but not limited to the following: 

o Any relocations of existing facilities 

o General locations of existing and future necessary facilities 

o Selection and deployment of apparatus/vehicle by type 

o Deployment of operations personnel 

o Future administrative and support personnel 

o Deployment special units or resources 

o Additional infrastructure or facilities for administration and support programs 

 

Objective - Fiscal/Capital Analysis 
▪ Analyze the department’s current fiscal condition   

▪ Evaluate the operational and capital budgets   

▪ Review funding, fees, taxation and other financial resources 

▪ Review current capital assets and analyze future needs based on existing conditions 

▪ Review historical data (3-years) of the department’s revenue and expenses 

▪ Analyze the department’s fiscal efficiency  

▪ Identify future fiscal forecast and associated challenges 

▪ Identify potential savings and costs both short and long term 

▪ Identify future funding options for Fire/EMS 

▪ Identify cost recovery programs/options  

▪ Identify future (short and long term) capital programs 

▪ Identify methods for financing capital needs 

▪ Identify funding methods for apparatus/vehicle replacement 

 
Objective - Draft Master Plan Report 

▪ Develop draft report and produce a PDF document for review by Village administration 

and department head, who will provide feedback 

▪ The report will include: 

o Detailed narrative analysis of each report component structured in easy-to-read 

sections and accompanied by explanatory support to encourage understanding by 

both staff and civilian readers 

o Clearly designated recommendations highlighted by easy reference and cataloged 

as necessary in a report appendix 

o Supportive charts, graphs and diagrams where appropriate 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 13 
 

 

o Supportive maps, utilizing GIS analysis as necessary 

 

Objective - Final Review/Assessment Study Plan 
▪ Revise draft report as necessary and prove a PDF disk copy of the final versions of the 

report.  Conduct a formal presentation for elected officials, staff and/or general public as 

necessary 

▪ Assure that the formal presentation includes the following 

o Summary of the nature of the report, the methods of analysis, the primary findings 

and critical recommendations 

o Supportive audio-visual presentation 

o A review and explanation of primary supportive charts, graphs, diagrams and 

maps 

o Provide an opportunity for questions and answers 

o Provide all materials, files, graphics and written material to the department at the 

conclusion of the presentation  

 

Consultation Team Organization Chart 

Dr. Tim McGrath

Project Manager

Mr. Harrison

Fiscal/Administration

Dr. Victoria McGrath

Human Resources -CEO

Chief Stried

Fire/EMS

Chief Cleveland

Fire/EMS

Chief Maekowski

Fire/EMS

BC Pieniazek

Fire/EMS

Ms. Halvorson/Maes

Human Resources

 
 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 14 
 

 

Project Consulting Team Members 

McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. employs approximately twenty-seven staff members 

(principals, consultants, and clerical).  The following consultants will be assigned throughout the 

duration of this project.  

 

Dr. Tim McGrath – Project Manager  
As CEO of McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. Dr. Tim McGrath is the visionary of the 

organization.  His 33 years of experience in Fire and EMS as well as his ability to develop 

innovative solutions makes McGrath Consulting different than other firms.  Dr. McGrath started 

his career as a volunteer firefighter, and went through the transition of an informal group of civic 

minded individuals to an integral department within the Village of Gurnee, IL.  During his tenure 

with Gurnee, the Village rapidly grew from a small bedroom community to one that hosts a Six 

Flag Great America, and at the time, the world’s largest shopping center – 2.2 million square feet 

under one roof.  Dr. McGrath was in administrative positions during both of the ventures, so he 

understands the opportunities and challenges growth brings to the fire service. 

 

Dr. McGrath was part of the first paramedic pilot program in the State of Illinois.  Through his 

leadership, he brought in the first non-education based paramedic training program in the City of 

Brookfield fire department.  Thus, the City of Brookfield Fire Department became a profit center 

training all paramedic personnel for Waukesha County, WI. 

 

Dr. McGrath’s passion is in consolidation of services.  This can entail a wide range of 

relationships from simply sharing resources to full consolidation and integration of services.  

Thus, conducting an analysis of each department, Dr. McGrath is able to identify the areas for 

greater cooperative efforts that continue to provide quality services in a cost-efficient manner. 

 

Through his experience and innovative mind set, Dr. McGrath is able to identify and address key 

issues – current and future.  It is through this combination of education and work experience, as 

well as working with over 350 organizations in 36 states, he brings a vast amount of first-hand 

knowledge to the assessment of emergency services.   

 

Education Background 

Walden University 

Doctorate – Administrative Management 

Dissertation:  Attitudes on Consolidation in the Fire Service 

Webster University 

Master of Arts – Public Administration & Management 

University of Wisconsin – Stout 

Bachelor of Science – Industrial Education 

College of Lake County 

Associate Degree – Fire Science Technology 

 

 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 15 
 

 

Chief Mike Stried – Fire/EMS Consultant 
Chief Stried has been with McGrath Consulting Group for more than ten years and has been a 

tremendous asset to all our public safety fire/EMS studies.  Chief Stried has over 37 years in the 

fire service, starting as a volunteer firefighter/EMT and joining a career department while he 

continued to serve as the Chief of a volunteer fire/EMS department.  Thus, Chief Stried brings an 

advantageous perspective of a volunteer/combination department as well as a career department. 

 

During his career in the fire service, Chief Stried has worked in a variety of positions – 

firefighter/paramedic, rescue diver, safety officer, fire prevention director, and fire inspector as 

well as many officer level positions.  He has worked on a referendum to establish a paramedic 

program, has written and obtained grants, and developed budgets, policies and procedures.  Chief 

Stried brings a unique perspective in understanding all of the fundamentals of sound policies, 

procedures and best practices in volunteer and career fire and EMS organizations. 

 

Chief Stried has served as an adjunct instructor for the National Fire Academy teaching in a 

number of courses and has served as a field instructor for the Illinois Fire Service Institute.  He is 

a graduate of the National Fire Academy’s Executive Fire Officer Program and earned the Chief 

Fire Officer Designation.  He is also a member of the Illinois Firefighters Association, 

Metropolitan Fire Chiefs Association of Illinois, and International Association of Fire Chiefs. 

 

Education Background 

National Fire Academy 

Executive Fire Officer 

Southern Illinois University 

Bachelor of Science – Fire Science Management 

College of Lake County 

Associates Degree – Fire Science Management 

 

 

Chief Gregg Cleveland – Fire/EMS Consultant 
Chief Cleveland recently retired from the La Crosse Fire Department (LCFD) Wisconsin. He 

became a career Fire Chief in a combination fire department and retired with nearly 40 years of 

experience. La Crosse fire is a career fire/EMS department consisting of 4 stations, 110 

personnel, and a 11 million-dollar budget.  

 

While Fire Chief of the LCFD the department received International Accreditation from the 

Center for Public Safety Excellence – Commission on Fire Accreditation International. Chief 

Cleveland also merged the City’s Building Inspections department into the fire department.  

 

Currently Chief Cleveland is Chairman of the Wisconsin Fire Sprinkler Coalition, and member 

of the Emergency Responder Advisory Committee for the National Fire Protection Association 

(NFPA). He is currently the Vice Chairman for the National Fire Protection Association’s Fire 

Service Executive Board and former President of the Wisconsin State Fire Chiefs Association. 

He has served on the fire service advisory board for Factory Mutual Insurance and as technical 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 16 
 

 

panel member for the Fire Protection Research Foundation of NFPA.  Chief Cleveland has also 

served as a peer reviewer for the Assistance to Fire Fighter Grant program. 

 

Chief Cleveland worked with numerous state and local legislative council, boards, and 

committees on a variety of fire and EMS related issues and worked extensively to adopt 

Wisconsin’s first fire prevention code. 

 

Chief Cleveland has a passion for data; using a variety of performance measures to develop, 

implement, and evaluate public policy for fire and EMS agencies.   

 

A strong proponent of cooperation and collaboration allowed him to create Central Wisconsin’s 

1st municipal paramedic service covering approximately 13 different municipalities 

encompassing 360 square miles while fire chief in Marshfield, WI.  He has utilized this approach 

in the development and implementation of numerous other programs that include a dive rescue, 

hazardous materials, and neighborhood services teams, and to address issues such as the opioid 

crisis, homeless, and maintain safe and affordable housing to communities.   

 

 Educational Background: 

University of Wisconsin Oshkosh 

Masters, Public Administration 

Lakeland College 

Bachelors of Art, Business Administration 

Fox Valley Technical College 

Associate Degree in Applied Science – Fire Protection 

National Fire Academy 

Graduate of Executive Fire Officer program 

 

 

Chief Don Markowski – Fire/EMS Consultant 
Chief Don Markowski is a senior consultant with McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. he has forty 

years of fire and EMS service experience and Chief of two large Fire Protection Districts in 

suburbs of Chicago. He has moved through the ranks from firefighter/EMT to Fire 

Chief/Administrator having experienced numerous service growth challenges.  

 

Chief Markowski, has worked with volunteer, paid-on-call and career firefighters/paramedics 

during his tenue with the fire districts. He has developed and managed budgets in excess of 13 

million dollars. He has been very successful with organized labor having completed union 

contracts on-time and without mitigation or arbitration. Prior to joining McGrath Consulting 

Group, Inc. he has served as a consultant with another firm which conducted fire/EMS studies and 

executive searches.  

 

Chief Markowski, was a founding member and president of an Insurance COOP, a self-insurance 

pooling group for fire districts: medical, dental, prescription, vision, and life insurance for 18 area 

fire districts representing 15 million dollars in annual premiums.  

 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 17 
 

 

 
Chief Markowski has been successful in obtaining a number of FEMA, state, and private grants. 

He has developed fire/EMS training curriculums including competency documentation. In 

addition, he has been involved in all stages of facility renovation and new satellite facilities. 

Chief Markowski has been very active on the board of the Mutual Aid Box Alarm System 

(MABAS) of which Minnesota is interested in adopting. The Chief continues to present 

programs related to fire/EMS issues nationwide, and was awarded Fire Chief of the Year in 

2016. He remains active with the National Fallen Fire Fighters Foundation and other civic 

groups. 
 

Educational Background: 

National-Louis University   

Master Degree in Business Management 

Southern Illinois University 

Bachelor Degree in Fire Science Management 

College of DuPage  

Associates Degree in Fire Science 

Center for Public Safety Excellence 

Accredited Chief Fire Officer 

 

 

BC. Larry Pieniazek – Fire/EMS Consultant 
Battalion Chief Pieniazek has been with McGrath Consulting Group almost since its inception.  

He has been a critical component to all of our studies, specializing in the development and 

analyzing of data; station and apparatus evaluation, and assessment of the department’s training 

program.  Battalion Chief Pieniazek has spent over 33 years in the fire service starting as a paid 

on call firefighter and working up the ranks to a career Battalion Chief.  Thus, Battalion Chief 

Pieniazek brings the perspective of a volunteer/combination department as well as a career, 

unionized department. 

 

Battalion Chief Pieniazek specialized in fire prevention, instructing and ensuring compliance 

with inspections, pre-plans and all associated records; and was instrumental in achieving an ISO 

review and ISO class 2 rating, as well as preparing for accreditation through the International 

Fire Chief Certification Program.  Thus, he brings a unique perspective in understanding all of 

the fundamentals of sound policies, procedures, and best practices. 

 

Battalion Chief Pieniazek was actively involved in the training division for 30 years being the 

training coordinator for six years.  This included training with career, paid on call, and 

combination departments.  He was responsible to ensure appropriate training to auto aid 

departments.  Battalion Chief Pieniazek has been the coordinator of EMS disaster drills; 

coordinator of interdepartmental training at O’Hare International Airport regarding fuselage spill 

firefighting and passenger rescue. 

 

He was also a team of three which oversaw maintenance of apparatus and equipment in the 

department; ISO preparation consultant; and coordinator of a multi departmental high rise 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 18 
 

 

firefighting scenario.  He is also an active member of the Illinois Firefighters Association and the 

Metropolitan Fire Chiefs Association of Illinois. 

 

Educational Background: 

National Louis University 

Masters of Business Administration 

Southern Illinois University 

Bachelor of Fire Science 

College of DuPage 

Associate in Applied Science 

 

 

Mr. Robert Harrison – Fiscal Analysis/Administration 
Mr. Harrison is a consultant with McGrath Consulting that brings an Administrator/Fiscal 

perspective to our studies.  Mr. Harrison has over 20 years of experience in municipal 

management.  Mr. Harrison is currently the City Administrator of Issaquah, WA which is a full 

service City that has grown from 4,000 population 15 years ago to 31,500 today.  He served as 

City Manager of Wyoming, Ohio for 12 years, which is a full service residential suburban city on 

the border of Cincinnati, Ohio.  In addition, he has served in City management positions with the 

City of Mosinee, WI and City of Wauwatosa, WI. 

 

Through introduction of the Balanced Score Card evaluation, Mr. Harrison has effectively 

developed strategic plans that have resulted in economic growth to the community, as well as 

accountability within the organization.  He has received GFOA awards as well as the State 

Auditors Award for excellence in financial reporting.  He has implemented a successful LEAN 

initiative in the City of Issaquah directed at improving service and reducing costs. 

 

Educational Background: 

University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee 

Master of Arts – Public Administration 

Marquette University 

Bachelors of Arts 

 

 

Dr. Victoria McGrath – Human Resources  
Dr. Victoria McGrath serves as CEO of this subsidiary organization of McGrath Consulting 

Group, Inc.  She brings over 29 years of experience in all phases of human resources. Dr. 

McGrath has an extensive background in the field of human resources predominately in the 

public sector; but also has extensive experience in the private sector having worked in health 

care, banking, and education.  Recognizing a need and ability to serve organizations beyond 

public safety, McGrath Human Resources Group was formed in 2012 to great success.   

  

Dr. Victoria McGrath’s professional experience includes serving as the Human Resources 

Director for the City of Brookfield, WI, which had more than 500 employees, including 5 labor 

unions; the Elmbrook School District, WI – the 2nd largest school district in Wisconsin, also with 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 19 
 

 

5 labor unions; and Citicorp Bank.  As such, she has specialized in labor/employee relations; 

policy, procedure and labor compliance; benefits and compensation; and recruitment and staff 

development in addition to other human resources elements. 

 

As a labor negotiator, Dr. McGrath has represented management while utilizing consensus style 

bargaining for a variety of public sector unions. Due to consensus style bargaining approach this 

allowed for the entire re-write of the Fire IAFF union contract; which lead to the successful 

establishment of the first paramedic training center located outside an educational institution in 

the State of Wisconsin. 

 

Through her education and experience working in and consulting for human resources, Dr. 

McGrath has developed an extensive skillset in the analysis and development of compensation 

systems, overtime analysis and FLSA compliance, labor contract analysis, and development of 

integrated human resource systems – recruitment, compensation, policies & procedures, and 

performance management.  In addition to evaluating all aspects of a department/organization’s 

personnel systems, she has also worked with department supervisory personnel to ensure 

efficiency in job responsibilities either within a single department or across organizational 

departments.  When requested, she has integrated these recommended position changes within 

the organization’s compensation system to quickly facilitate critically effective change. 

 

In addition to her role as CEO of McGrath Human Resources Group, Dr. McGrath is an adjunct 

professor at Northwestern University teaching in the Masters of Public Policy program.  She is 

also a member of the Society for Human Resource Management; Wisconsin City/County 

Management Association; International Public Management Association for Human Resources; 

and World at Work. 

 

Educational Background: 

University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee 

Ph.D. Administrative Leadership 

Dissertation:  The Learning Organization:  Lessons and implications for municipal 

government 

Cardinal Stritch College 

Masters of Management 

University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee 

Bachelor of Science – Industrial Relations/ Finance 

Federal Labor Relations Administration 

Labor/Management Relations Training 

 

 

Ms. Malayna Halvorson Maes – Human Resources Consultant 
Malayna Halvorson Maes has served as a human resource professional in both the private and 

public sectors for over 20 years. She worked previously in health care human resources, then as 

the Human Resources Director and senior advisor for a large county in northern Wisconsin. 

Thus, she has direct experience with the many challenges facing municipal employers.  

 



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 20 
 

 

During her time in county government, Ms. Maes advised the organization through the 

significant changes at the State. This included the most sweeping change which reduced the legal 

authority of organized labor in the public sector. This resulted in a reduction from five (5) 

collective bargaining units to one (1) unit in her County.   

 

As a change agent, she facilitated the development of significant policy changes for the 

organization.  This included conducting a complete evaluation of the compensation system for 

the county which resulted in a rewrite of all job descriptions and the implementation of a pay for 

performance evaluation system.  This system was created through the work of a combined 

employee – manager committee and included the implementation of a performance management 

software system to streamline the 360-evaluation process.  Thus, she brings a practical 

understanding to the development and implementation of pay-for-performance compensation 

systems. 

 

As a former municipal Human Resources Director, she is knowledgeable of all facets of local 

government, including police, public works, engineering, health services, and more.  She has 

been active in a number of professional organizations including SHRM, Chippewa Valley 

Society of Human Resource Management; WIPFLE Senior HR Forum; Wisconsin Association 

of County Personnel Directors, and the National Public Employer Labor Relations Association.  

In addition, she has served on the WACPD training Committee, Chair of the Legislative Affairs 

Committee, a Board of Director member as well as a member of the Services Committee for 

WPELRA; thus, she takes an active role in defining the profession. 

 

Educational Background: 

Luther College, Iowa 

 Bachelor of Arts – Psychology 

 

References 

South Shore Fire Department, WI 

Contact: Chief Robert Stedman (262) 995-1210 Email: rstedman@mtpleasantwi.gov.  A Full 

Consolidation of the Mt. Pleasant Fire Department and the Sturtevant Fire Department, both 

municipal City departments.   

Project: The State of Wisconsin does not allow consolidated departments to become their own 

taxing authority; therefore, a funding and governance model had to be developed and 

implements.  The consolidation has been very cost effective with the closing of one fire station 

and a significant decrease in overtime.  

 

City of Sun Prairie, WI 

Contact: Mr. Aaron Oppenheimer, City Administrator – office (608) 825-1193, fax (608) 825-

6879, email: aoppenheimer@cityofsunprairie.com  

Project: Fire Department Review/Assessment (Master Plan) 

 

Cloquet Area Fire District, MN 

Contact: Kevin Schroeder, Fire Chief, CFO, (218) 499-4274, kschroeder@cloquetafd.com.  

mailto:rstedman@mtpleasantwi.gov
mailto:aoppenheimer@cityofsunprairie.com
mailto:kschroeder@cloquetafd.com


McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 21 
 

 

Project: Multiple projects. Comprehensive Fire Department Master Plan, emphasis placed on 

facilities, resource deployment, staffing, and training. Assessment of progress (one-year) of 

Master Plan. Officer training.  

 

City of O’Fallon, IL 

Contact: Ms. Pamala Funk – Assistant City Administrator Ret. – (618) 971-8662 email: 

pamalafunk@charter.net or Fire Chief Brent Saunders – (618) 622-1461 email: 

bsaunders@ofallon.org  

Projects: (multiple projects) Comprehensive fire department audit and master plan; fire station 

location master plan; executive search Fire Chief; master plan EMS (3rd service). 

 

Cy-Fair Volunteer Fire Department, TX 

Contact: Chief Amy Ramon – Fire Chief (ESD General Manager at time of study) – office (281) 

550-9649, fax (281) 550-7288, aramn@hcesd9.org or Mr. David Manley – President of ESD 

Board @ dmanleylaw@aol.com.  

Project: Fire Department Review & Assessment (Master Plan) May – Executive Search – Fire 

Chief  

 

Cypress Creek EMS, TX 

Contact: Mr. Bradley England – Executive Director – office (281) 378-0800, fax (281) 655-

0414, email: bengland@ccems.com. Or Mr. Lynn LeBouef – ESD 11- Board President, email: 

lynn.lebouef@comcast.net (home phone) (281) 290-6538. 

Project: Operational Assessment/Master Plan of both the ESD 11 Board and EMS provider 

Cypress Creek EMS.    

 

 

Services Expected from the Village, Fire/EMS Department 

The consulting team anticipates cooperation with the Fire/EMS Departments personnel in 

obtaining the necessary data.  A list of the type of data required will be sent to the appropriate 

individual well in advance of the first site visit by the consulting team.  In almost all cases, the 

data requested is readily available from previous department reports or computer activity logs.  

Minimum help is required in the initial identification of stakeholders; however, assistance in 

scheduling interviews will be needed. 

 

Proposed Project Schedule 

 Month 

Task 1st. 2nd. 3rd. 4th. 5th.  

Contract Completion/Signing            

Data Request to Service Provider            

(allow 2 - 3 weeks)            

First Site Visit            

Data Review on Site            

mailto:pamalafunk@charter.net
mailto:bsaunders@ofallon.org
mailto:aramn@hcesd9.org
mailto:dmanleylaw@aol.com
mailto:bengland@ccems.com
mailto:lynn.lebouef@comcast.net


McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 22 
 

 

 Month 

Task 1st. 2nd. 3rd. 4th. 5th.  

Key Stakeholder Interviews            

     Elected Officials            

     Village Administration            

     Fire Leadership            

     Other Stakeholders             

On Site Assessments            

Data Analysis            

Second Site Visit            

Stakeholder Interviews            

Assessment Service Providers            

PSAP (Dispatch)            

National Standards Comparison            

Develop Report Components            

Develop Options            

Third Site Visits (optional)            

Clarification Questions            

Address Unique Challenges            

Off-Site            

Review Notes            

Analyze Data            

Write Draft Report            

Submit Draft Report            

Address Draft Input            

Compose Final Report            

Proofreader            

Submit Final Report            

On-Site            

Report Presentation            

 

Study Costs 

The total cost for the items/objectives outlined in the proposal is $28,900 which includes 

professional staff time, transportation and expenses, PDF draft reports for review, PDF disk copy 

of the report.  The study cost is guaranteed not to exceed the above quoted figure. 

 

The Village will be invoiced in three (3) payments: 15% ($4,335.00) upon receipt of a signed 

contract; 75% ($21,675.00) upon completion and submission of the draft report; and the balance 

of 10% ($2,890.00) upon submission of the final report and presentation.  The proposal price is 

good for 60 days from submittal.  Payment is due within 30 days of receipt of invoice.  



McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  Page 23 
 

 

 

Insurance  

Professional Liability 

Admiral Insurance Company  

 

General Liability  

State Farm Insurance 

 

Worker’s Compensation  

State Farm Insurance 

 

Final Word 

Our company will develop recommendations that ensure high quality services within the fiscal 

capabilities of the Village of Pleasant Prairie. We approach each project as a new opportunity to 

identify opportunities for both the Village and emergency service provider to improve services 

and prepare for future service needs.  

 

The consulting team consists of fire and EMS professionals who have years of experience in 

career and combination fire/ and EMS departments.  The expertise of our fiscal and human 

resource professionals will integrate the abilities of the personnel to the opportunities identified 

in the study, and bring field experience in dealing with employee issues.  The entire consulting 

team has extensive experience in conducting previous studies and developing reports involving 

Fire/EMS, departments. 

 

Please feel free to contact us if you have any questions regarding this proposal. 

 

Sincerely, 

Tim McGrath,  
Tim McGrath, Ph.D.  

CEO McGrath Consulting Group, Inc.  

 
 


	Village Board Agenda February 18, 2019
	Walt Graeber_Resolution
	Village Board Minutes February 4, 2019
	8A.  Park Plan Ord 19-05
	VB Memo
	Ord 19-05
	Exhibit 1 Park and Open Space Plan
	Chpt 1 - Intro
	Chpt 2- Inventory
	Chpt 3 - Recommendations
	Mini Parks
	Neighborhood Parks
	Community Parks
	Regional Parks
	Special-Use Parks
	Conservancy Parks

	Chpt 4 - Implementation
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E



	8B. and C.  The Vista at Creekside items
	VB memo
	2019-01-13 Village Staff Memo
	Option 1
	Option 2
	Option 3

	Ord #19-06
	2018-12-06 Eng Review
	2019-01-11 CD Comments
	2019-01-15 Fire Department Comments
	Building Elevation Comments
	Declartion Comments
	Government Agency Contacts November 2018
	Conceptual Applications and Partial Plans
	Partial Plans
	Pedestrian Path Network



	8D.  47th Avenue Sewer and Water Extension
	Memorandum 47th Avenue Sewer and Water Extension
	Project Map 47th Avenue Sewer and Water Extension
	Clark Dietz Professional Services Agreement 47th Avenue Sewer and Water Extension
	Purchase Order Clark Dietz for 47th Avenue Sewer and Water Extension

	8E.  2019 Annual Paving Program
	Memo to Board 2019 Paving Program Award of Contract (DRAFT)
	12 AGREEMENT
	ADDENDUM NO 1

	8F.  Proposal McGrath Consulting - Fire and Rescue Study
	Fire EMS Study Cover Memo 02-18-19
	Proposal McGrath Consulting - Fire and Rescue Study




